# Evidence-based on health benefits: Probiotics, micronutrients, and edible plants

Edited by

Surasak Saokaew, Piyameth Dilokthornsakul, Bey Hing Goh and Learn-Han Lee

**Published in** Frontiers in Nutrition





#### FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-3720-6 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-3720-6

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

## Evidence-based on health benefits: Probiotics, micronutrients, and edible plants

#### **Topic editors**

Surasak Saokaew — University of Phayao, Thailand Piyameth Dilokthornsakul — Chiang Mai University, Thailand Bey Hing Goh — Monash University Malaysia, Malaysia Learn-Han Lee — Sunway University, Malaysia

#### Citation

Saokaew, S., Dilokthornsakul, P., Goh, B. H., Lee, L.-H., eds. (2023). *Evidence-based* on health benefits: *Probiotics, micronutrients, and edible plants*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-3720-6



# Table of contents

- 05 Editorial: Evidence-based on health benefits: probiotics, micronutrients, and edible plants Learn-Han Lee, Bey-Hing Goh, Piyameth Dilokthornsakul and
- 09 Association Between Dietary Zinc Intake and Metabolic Syndrome. A Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies Jun Ding, Qi Liu, Ze Liu, Hongbin Guo, Jieyu Liang and Yi Zhang
- 19 Associations of Dietary Copper, Selenium, and Manganese Intake With Depression: A Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies

Jun Ding and Yi Zhang

Surasak Saokaew

32 Association Between Dietary Total Antioxidant Capacity and Diet Quality in Adults

Asma Salari-Moghaddam, Saeedeh Nouri-Majd, Ammar Hassanzadeh Keshteli, Fatemeh Emami, Ahmad Esmaillzadeh and Peyman Adibi

- 39 Potential Antimicrobial Properties of Coffee Beans and Coffee By-Products Against Drug-Resistant Vibrio cholerae Anchalee Rawangkan, Achiraya Siriphap, Atchariya Yosboonruang, Anong Kiddee, Grissana Pook-In, Surasak Saokaew, Orasa Sutheinkul and Acharaporn Duangjai
- 53 The Use of Probiotic Therapy in Metabolic and Neurological Diseases

Shirley H. F. Lee, Siti R. Ahmad, Ya C. Lim and Ihsan N. Zulkipli

61 Experimental and Clinical Studies on the Effects of Natural Products on Noxious Agents-Induced Lung Disorders, a Review

> Saeideh Saadat, Sima Beigoli, Mohammad Reza Khazdair, Fatemeh Amin and Mohammad Hossein Boskabady

- 82 Effects of Synbiotics, Probiotics, and Prebiotics on Liver Enzymes of Patients With Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: A Systematic Review and Network Meta-Analysis Sukrit Kanchanasurakit, Chayanis Kositamongkol, Kamonnat Lanoi, Monnaree Nunta, Thaksaporn Saetuan, Nathorn Chaiyakunapruk, Surasak Saokaew and Pochamana Phisalprapa
- 95 Effects of Oral Multi-Vitamin Multi-Mineral Supplement Formulations on Laboratory Outcomes and Quality of Life: A Quasi-Experimental Study

Nawin Jittat, Krit Pongpirul, Bhakanij Tepwituksakit, Pratchayada lammaleerat, Julia Heath, Palita Lungchukiet, Nimit Taechakraichana and Artirat Charukitpipat

106 Association of Retinol and Carotenoids Content in Diet and Serum With Risk for Colorectal Cancer: A Meta-Analysis Xiaoyong Han, Rangyin Zhao, Guangming Zhang, Yajun Jiao, Yongfeng Wang, Da Wang and Hui Cai



123	Vitamin C Intake and Ischemic Stroke
	Xiaolong Tang, Hanguang Liu, Yuan Xiao, Lei Wu and Peng Shu
132	Association between vitamins and risk of brain tumors. A

# 132 Association between vitamins and risk of brain tumors: A systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of observational studies

Weichunbai Zhang, Jing Jiang, Yongqi He, Xinyi Li, Shuo Yin, Feng Chen and Wenbin Li

146 Effects of probiotic and magnesium co-supplementation on mood, cognition, intestinal barrier function and inflammation in individuals with obesity and depressed mood: A randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial Sepideh Mahboobi, Marzieh Ghasvarian, Haleh Ghaem,

Hamzeh Alipour, Shohreh Alipour and Mohammad Hassan Eftekhari

- **159 Iodine nutrition and papillary thyroid cancer** Xueqi Zhang, Fan Zhang, Qiuxian Li, Chuyao Feng and Weiping Teng
- 168 Antioxidative potential and ameliorative effects of green lentil (*Lens culinaris* M.) sprouts against CCl<sub>4</sub>-induced oxidative stress in rats

Hassan Barakat, Saleh I. Alshimali, Abdulkarim S. Almutairi, Raghad I. Alkhurayji, Sarah M. Almutiri, Thamer Aljutaily, Reham M. Algheshairy, Raghad M. Alhomaid, Rashed A. Aljalis, Mohammed F. Alkhidhr and Ahmed A. H. Abdellatif

182 Vitamin D deficiency increases the risk of bacterial vaginosis during pregnancy: Evidence from a meta-analysis based on observational studies

Lirong Ma, Zhuoran Zhang, Liyang Li, Lijie Zhang, Zhijuan Lin and Hao Qin

194 The effect of fiber supplementation on the prevention of diarrhea in hospitalized patients receiving enteral nutrition: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials with the GRADE assessment

> Apichat Kaewdech, Pimsiri Sripongpun, Panu Wetwittayakhlang and Chaitong Churuangsuk

205 Impact of vitamin D on the prognosis after spinal cord injury: A systematic review

Lei Wang, Jinlu Gan, Jingnan Wu, Yingchun Zhou and Deqiang Lei

220 Micronutrients and risks of three main urologic cancers: A mendelian randomization study

Yi Lu, Hao Su, Yutao Wang and Hongjun Li

Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Muhammad Bilal Sadiq, Forman Christian College, Pakistan

\*CORRESPONDENCE Learn-Han Lee I leelearnhan@yahoo.com Surasak Saokaew Saokaew@gmail.com

RECEIVED 04 August 2023 ACCEPTED 21 September 2023 PUBLISHED 02 October 2023

#### CITATION

Lee L-H, Goh B-H, Dilokthornsakul P and Saokaew S (2023) Editorial: Evidence-based on health benefits: probiotics, micronutrients, and edible plants. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1272456. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1272456

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Lee, Goh, Dilokthornsakul and Saokaew. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Editorial: Evidence-based on health benefits: probiotics, micronutrients, and edible plants

# Learn-Han Lee<sup>1\*</sup>, Bey-Hing Goh<sup>2,3</sup>, Piyameth Dilokthornsakul<sup>4</sup> and Surasak Saokaew<sup>5,6,7\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Sunway Microbiome Centre, School of Medical and Life Sciences, Sunway University, Sunway City, Malaysia, <sup>2</sup>Sunway Biofunctional Molecules Discovery Centre (SBMD), School of Medical and Life Sciences, Sunway University, Sunway City, Malaysia, <sup>3</sup>College of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China, <sup>4</sup>Center for Medical and Health Technology Assessment (CM-HTA), Department of Pharmaceutical Care, Faculty of Pharmacy, Chiang Mai University, Chiang Mai, Thailand, <sup>5</sup>Division of Social and Administrative Pharmacy, Department of Pharmaceutical Care, School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Phayao, Phayao, Thailand, <sup>6</sup>Centre of Health Outcomes Research and Therapeutic Safety (Cohorts), School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Phayao, Thailand, <sup>7</sup>Unit of Excellence on Clinical Outcomes Research and Integration (UNICORN), School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Phayao, Phayao, Thailand

#### KEYWORDS

probiotics, micronutrients, edible plants, health benefits, evidence-based, SDG 3 good health and wellbeing

#### Editorial on the Research Topic

Evidence-based on health benefits: probiotics, micronutrients, and edible plants

Nutrition is critical in preventing, treating, and prognosis acute and chronic disorders. The field of nutritional epidemiology, which has emerged from public health sciences, has been the cornerstone of nutrition research for several decades, significantly influencing dietitian practices and dietary counseling worldwide (1). Evidence-based nutrition involves a conscientious approach, working with patient's preferences and values to help them address physical, mental, and social health challenges by integrating the best available nutrition evidence with clinical expertise. In recent years, there has been growing interest in understanding the therapeutic role of probiotics, micronutrients and bioactive compounds derived from edible plants in various health conditions (2–4).

This Research Topic aims to consolidate the literature on the efficacy of probiotics, micronutrients, and edible plants in managing acute and chronic diseases. A total of 18 studies have been published on this Research Topic. Primarily, these studies contribute to the growing body of research exploring the potential benefits of nutrition-based interventions and their impact on human health. Notably, numerous research investigated the associations between dietary components and specific health outcomes, shedding light on potential interventions and preventive measures. The overarching area of interest for these 18 studies is the exploration of how dietary components influence various health conditions. Researchers have focused on examining micronutrients like zinc, copper, selenium, and manganese, as well as vitamins and antioxidants. Additionally, studies have looked at the effects of probiotics, prebiotics, and synbiotics on liver enzymes, neurological diseases, and metabolic disorders. The use of natural products derived from edible plants to ameliorate health conditions has also been a common theme. These studies utilized different methodologies, including meta-analyses, systematic reviews, experimental studies, and quasi-experimental designs, to investigate the relationships between nutrition and specific health conditions.

Nutrition plays a central role in the context of the discussed studies on the healing potential of edible plants and their bioactive natural compounds (5, 6). In this Research Topic, four research papers emphasized the importance of consuming a well-balanced diet rich in nutrients, including vitamins, minerals, antioxidants, and other bioactive compounds found in edible plants. For instance, Salari-Moghaddam et al. identified that the dietary total antioxidant capacity (TAC) could be considered a proper measure for assessing diet quality, highlighting that antioxidants are among the important nutrients in foods included in a high-quality diet. Rawangkan et al. investigated the antimicrobial activity of coffee beans and coffee by-products against drug-resistant Vibrio cholerae. The study shows that various phytochemicals, such as caffeic acid and chlorogenic acid, are effective in treating multidrug-resistant V. cholerae infections. Barakat et al. demonstrated lentils (Lens culinaris M.) as a superfood rich in bioactive phytochemicals that could potentially confer antioxidative, hepatoprotective, and nephroprotective effects. Meanwhile, Saadat et al. consolidated an extensive list of preclinical and clinical evidence on the effects of natural products derived from various plant sources against noxious agents-induced lung injuries, highlighting their therapeutic potential in the clinical management of lung disorders.

There are six publications that investigated the impact of vitamins, namely vitamins C and D, on various health outcomes. These studies focused on their supplementation, dietary intake, and deficiency in relation to various health risks, including colorectal cancer, brain tumor, ischemic stroke, bacterial vaginosis during pregnancy and spinal cord injury recovery. Han et al. conducted a meta-analysis, suggesting that dietary high intake of  $\beta$ -carotene may have a protective effect against colorectal cancer. Zhang W. et al. reviewed the evidence on vitamins and brain tumors, finding that higher intake or serum concentration of vitamins C, β-carotene, and folate may significantly reduce brain tumor risk, providing new perspectives on prevention. Tang et al. reviewed the evidence on vitamin C and ischemic stroke risk, highlighting its protective effects through various mechanisms, including regulating vascular tone and reducing oxidative stress. Ma et al. conducted a meta-analysis, finding that vitamin D deficiency is positively associated with the risk of bacterial vaginosis during pregnancy. Wang et al. reviewed the literature on vitamin D and spinal cord injury (SCI), revealing a high prevalence of vitamin D insufficiency in SCI patients, which may impair functional restoration. Vitamin D supplemental treatment could potentially aid post-injury rehabilitation and has neuroprotective effects.

Lastly, Jittat et al. conducted a quasi-experimental study, finding that oral multi-vitamin multi-mineral (MVMM) supplement formulations, (1) Hydro-Cell-Key (HCK) granule and (2) VTL-7 capsule, increased serum levels of vitamin D and  $\beta$ -carotene. The study suggested that these formulations could be a good reference for future studies on micronutrient supplementation, primarily benefitting those individuals with vitamin A or D deficiency. Collectively, these research papers contribute valuable insights into the potential roles of vitamins in promoting health and preventing diseases. These findings underscore the importance of ensuring adequate vitamin intake for overall wellbeing and highlight potential avenues for therapeutic interventions. However, further research and well-designed clinical trials are necessary to establish definitive causal relationships and optimize vitamin-based interventions for specific health conditions.

The significance of micronutrients cannot be overstated in the realm of nutrition and their impact on overall human health. These essential elements, found in trace amounts within our diets, play a vital role in the proper functioning of our bodies and contribute to overall wellbeing. There were four studies that shed light on the associations between micronutrients and various health outcomes, ranging from thyroid cancer and metabolic syndrome to depression and urologic cancers.

Zhang X. et al. explored the association between iodine nutrition and papillary thyroid cancer (PTC) based on evidence from epidemiological and experimental studies investigating the prevalence, distribution and aggressiveness of PTC in relation to iodine intake. The findings illustrated the U-shaped relationship between iodine and papillary thyroid cancer, indicating the importance of maintaining an optimal and balanced intake of iodine to mitigate potential health risks. Meta-analyses were performed on observational studies to examine the associations between dietary micronutrient intake and metabolic syndromes and depression. Ding et al. unveiled the inverse associations between dietary zinc intake and metabolic syndrome. Similarly, Ding and Zhang demonstrated the negative relationship between dietary copper, selenium, and manganese with depression. These studies provide valuable insights into the potential benefits of these micronutrients in promoting metabolic health and emotional wellbeing.

In contrast, Lu et al. revealed differential roles of micronutrients (copper, iron, and zinc) in influencing the risk for urologic cancers using a two-sample Mendelian randomization study. The study genetically predicted that the increase in serum copper and iron levels was causally associated with an increased risk of renal cell carcinoma (RCC). Meanwhile, an increase in serum zinc level was related to decreased risks of RCC but increased risk of prostate cancer. Evidently, these findings indicate that further exploration and well-designed prospective cohort studies are essential in unraveling the intricate roles of micronutrients in health and disease. By gaining a deeper understanding of the roles and interactions of these trace elements, we can refine our nutritional approaches to support health and wellbeing. Empowering individuals with evidencebased information will enable them to make informed dietary choices, ensuring adequate intake of essential micronutrients. Together, micronutrients hold immense potential to be developed into targeted and personalized nutritional interventions, becoming a cornerstone of public health preventive and therapeutic strategies.

The gut microbiome is a key player in mediating the effects of dietary interventions on various health outcomes (7). The gut microbiome refers to the diverse community of microorganisms, including bacteria, viruses, fungi, and other microbes, that reside in the gastrointestinal tract (8). It plays a critical role in various aspects of health, including digestion, metabolism, immune function, and even mental health (9). Probiotics have been shown to modulate the gut-brain axis, the bidirectional communication system between the gut and the brain (10). In the study by Mahboobi et al., the researchers evaluated the effects of probiotic and magnesium cosupplementation on mood, cognition, intestinal barrier function, and inflammation in individuals with obesity and depressed mood. The randomized, double-blind placebo-control trial concluded that probiotic and magnesium co-supplementation resulted in reduced serum C reactive protein in obese and depressed patients. Similarly, Lee et al. reviewed the use of probiotic therapy in metabolic and neurological diseases, emphasizing the role of the gut microbiome in influencing health outcomes.

Besides that, Kanchanasurakit et al. systematically evaluated the effects of synbiotics, probiotics, and prebiotics on liver enzymes and other clinical parameters in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). The gut microbiome has been linked to the pathogenesis of NAFLD, and these interventions have the potential to alter the gut microbial community, leading to improvements in liver function. Lastly, Kaewdech et al. explored the effect of fiber supplementation on the prevention of diarrhea in hospitalized patients receiving enteral nutrition. Fiber serves as a prebiotic that nourishes beneficial gut bacteria and confers positive effects on colonocytes. The meta-analysis highlighted that specific fiber types, such as mixed soluble/insoluble fiber and hydrolysed guar gum, are associated with a more evident reduction of diarrhea among hospitalized patients receiving enteral nutrition. Therefore, these studies reveal that gut microbiota modulationbased nutritional interventions are promising avenues for disease prevention and management.

While these research papers contribute valuable insights, there are some potential gaps that future studies could address. First, many of these studies are based on observational data, which can show associations but not causation. Future research should focus more on well-designed randomized controlled trials to establish the therapeutic efficacy of specific dietary components or interventions for various acute and chronic diseases. Moreover, the studies predominantly focus on specific dietary components, but the synergistic effects of a balanced diet on overall health remain to be explored further. Another potential gap is the lack of representation of diverse populations in some of the studies. Nutrition and health outcomes can be influenced by genetic, cultural, and lifestyle factors, which could vary across different populations. Conducting research on diverse populations would provide a more comprehensive understanding of the relationships between nutrition and health (11, 12). Furthermore, the studies primarily focused on the impact of dietary components on disease risk or progression. Exploring the mechanisms by which these components exert their effects at the molecular and cellular levels would enhance our understanding of the underlying biology and facilitate targeted interventions.

In summary, the collection of publications reviewed in this Research Topic sheds light on the intricate relationship between dietary factors and various health conditions. By translating these findings into practice and conducting further research in emerging directions, we can harness the power of nutrition to address global health challenges effectively. While providing valuable insights, these studies also highlight potential gaps in knowledge that warrant further investigation. Future research in this area should aim to establish causal relationships, consider diverse populations, explore mechanisms of action, and emphasize the importance of a balanced diet for overall health and disease prevention. Such endeavors would pave the way for more effective and personalized nutritional interventions to improve public health outcomes.

## Author contributions

L-HL: Conceptualization, Validation, Writing—original draft. B-HG: Conceptualization, Validation, Writing—review and editing. PD: Conceptualization, Validation, Writing—review and editing. SS: Conceptualization, Validation, Writing—review and editing.

## **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The author(s) declared that they were an editorial board member of Frontiers, at the time of submission. This had no impact on the peer review process and the final decision.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

## References

1. Wingrove K, Lawrence MA, McNaughton SA. A systematic review of the methods used to assess and report dietary patterns. *Front Nutr.* (2022) 9:892351. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.892351

2. Tay K-C, Tan LT-H, Chan CK, Hong SL, Chan K-G, Yap WH, et al. Formononetin: a review of its anticancer potentials and mechanisms. *Front Pharmacol.* (2019) 10:820. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2019.00820

3. Goh JXH, Tan LT-H, Goh JK, Chan KG, Pusparajah P, Lee L-H, et al. Nobiletin and derivatives: functional compounds from citrus fruit peel for colon cancer chemoprevention. *Cancers.* (2019) 11:867. doi: 10.3390/cancers110 60867

4. Lim WQ, Cheam JY, Law JW-F, Letchumanan V, Lee L-H, Tan LT-H. Role of garlic in chronic diseases: focusing on gut microbiota modulation. *Progr Microb Molec Biol.* (2022) 5:a0000271. doi: 10.36877/pmmb.a0000271

5. Tang C, Hoo PC-X, Tan LT-H, Pusparajah P, Khan TM, Lee L-H, et al. Golden needle mushroom: a culinary medicine with evidenced-based biological activities and health promoting properties. *Front Pharmacol.* (2016) 7:474. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2016.00474

6. Ma DSL, Tan LT-H, Chan K-G, Yap WH, Pusparajah P, Chuah L-H, et al. Resveratrol—potential antibacterial agent against foodborne pathogens. *Front Pharmacol.* (2018) 9:102. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2018.00102

7. Lim J-M, Letchumanan V, Tan LT-H, Hong K-W, Wong S-H, Ab Mutalib N-S, et al. Ketogenic diet: a dietary intervention via gut microbiome modulation for the treatment of neurological and nutritional disorders (a narrative review). *Nutrients.* (2022) 14:3566. doi: 10.3390/nu14173566

8. Lau AWY, Tan LT-H, Ab Mutalib N-S, Wong SH, Letchumanan V, Lee L-H. The chemistry of gut microbiome in health and diseases. *Progr Microb Molec Biol.* (2021) 4:a0000175. doi: 10.36877/pmmb.a0000175

9. Ang W-S, Law JW-F, Letchumanan V, Hong KW, Wong SH, Ab Mutalib NS, et al. A keystone gut bacterium christensenella—a potential biotherapeutic agent for obesity and associated metabolic diseases. *Foods*. (2023) 12:2485. doi: 10.3390/foods12132485 10. Kong GY-E, Letchumanan V, Tan LT-H, Law JW-F. Gut microbiome in obsessive compulsive disorder: potential of probiotics as an adjuvant therapy. *Progr Microb Molec Biol.* (2022) 5:a0000272. doi: 10.36877/pmmb.a0000272

11. Chong H-Y, Tan LT-H, Law JW-F, Hong K-W, Ratnasingam V, Ab Mutalib N-S, et al. Exploring the potential of human milk and formula milk on infants' gut and health. *Nutrients.* (2022) 14:3554. doi: 10.3390/nu14173554

12. Lee JK-F, Hern Tan LT, Ramadas A, Ab Mutalib N-S, Lee L-H. Exploring the role of gut bacteria in health and disease in preterm neonates. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:6963. doi: 10.3390/ijerph171 96963





# Association Between Dietary Zinc Intake and Metabolic Syndrome. A Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies

Jun Ding<sup>1</sup>, Qi Liu<sup>2,3</sup>, Ze Liu<sup>2,3</sup>, Hongbin Guo<sup>2,3</sup>, Jieyu Liang<sup>2,3</sup> and Yi Zhang<sup>2,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Changsha Social Work College, Changsha, China, <sup>2</sup> Department of Orthopaedics, Xiangya Hospital, Central South University, Changsha, China, <sup>3</sup> National Clinical Research Center for Geriatric Disorders, Xiangya Hospital, Central South University, Changsha, China

**Background:** Epidemiological studies have investigated the association between dietary zinc intake and metabolic syndrome (MetS). However, their results are conflicting. This meta-analysis was therefore employed to investigate the associations further.

OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Surasak Saokaew, University of Phayao, Thailand

#### Reviewed by:

Reza Rastmanesh, American Physical Society, United States Sukrit Kanchanasurakit, University of Phayao, Thailand

> \***Correspondence:** Yi Zhang zhangyi0205@csu.edu.cn

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 30 November 2021 Accepted: 07 January 2022 Published: 03 February 2022

#### Citation:

Ding J, Liu Q, Liu Z, Guo H, Liang J and Zhang Y (2022) Association Between Dietary Zinc Intake and Metabolic Syndrome. A Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies. Front. Nutr. 9:825913. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.825913 **Methods:** A comprehensive literature search was employed by using the electronic database of PubMed, Web of Science, and Embase up to November 2021. The pooled relative risk (RR) of MetS for the highest vs. lowest dietary zinc intake category, and the weighted mean difference (WMD) of dietary zinc intake for MetS vs. control subjects as well as their corresponding 95% confidence interval (CI) were calculated.

**Results:** A total of 13 observational studies (18,073 participants) were identified in this meta-analysis. The overall multi-variable adjusted RR demonstrated that the dietary zinc intake was inversely associated with MetS (RR = 0.75, 95%CI: 0.61 to 0.93; P = 0.009). The subgroup analysis confirmed such findings in cross-sectional (RR = 0.70, 95%CI: 0.55 to 0.87; P = 0.002), NCEP-ATP III (RR = 0.64, 95%CI: 0.48 to 0.84; P = 0.002), adult (RR = 0.77, 95%CI: 0.62 to 0.96; P = 0.02), dietary recall method (RR = 0.70, 95%CI: 0.64 to 0.99; P = 0.002), respectively. On the other hand, the overall combined WMD showed that the dietary zinc intake in MetS was also lower than that in control subjects (WMD = -0.21, 95%CI: -0.42 to 0.00; P = 0.05).

**Conclusions:** Our results suggest that the dietary zinc intake is negatively associated with MetS. However, due to the limitation of available evidence. More well-designed prospective cohort studies are still needed.

Keywords: dietary zinc intake, metabolic syndrome, meta-analysis, observational studies, clinical nutrition

## INTRODUCTION

Metabolic syndrome (MetS) is defined as a cluster of elevated fasting blood glucose, triglycerides, blood pressure, waist circumference, and decreased high-density lipoprotein cholesterol (at least three of the above metabolic abnormalities) (1). Metabolic syndrome is closely associated with diabetes mellitus, stroke and coronary heart disorders (2–4). The global prevalence of MetS is

9

between 11.6 and 62.5%, which is still progressively growing (5). The etiology of MetS is not well-understood yet. However, the dietary factors are deemed to be significantly involved in MetS (6-10).

As the second most common trace metal in the body, zinc is associated with DNA replication and transcriptions, protein synthesis, and cellular division and differentiation (11). Zinc is an important antioxidant, which stabilizes membrane, prevents cellular apoptosis, and is also important for endothelial integrity (12, 13). It is widely accepted that zinc improves chronic inflammation, oxidative stress, and insulin resistance (14, 15), which is closely associated with the pathogenesis of MetS. Moreover, epidemiological data have indicated a negative relationship between dietary zinc intake and MetS-related context (e.g., diabetes) (16). Therefore, the dietary zinc intake is speculated to be inversely associated with MetS.

As far as we know, a number of observational studies have explored the association between dietary zinc intake and MetS (17-29). However, their results are still conflicting. Thus, this meta-analysis of observational studies is employed to investigate the issue further. It is hypothesized that the dietary zinc intake is inversely associated with MetS.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Search Strategy**

Our meta-analysis was employed according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses (PRISMA) guidelines (30). Combine the keywords that related to MetS ("metabolic syndrome") and zinc ("zinc," "zn"), the electronic database of PubMed, Web of Science, and Embase were searched up to November 2021. No language restriction was set in the search strategy. The titles and abstracts of all articles were screened firstly, and the full articles were then read to identify the eligible studies.

## **Study Selection**

The titles, abstracts and full texts of all retrieved studies were comprehensively reviewed by two researchers independently. Disagreements were resolved by discussions. The included studies were required to meet the following criteria: (1) the study design is observational study; (2) the association between dietary zinc intake and MetS; (3) the relative risk (RR), odds ratio (OR), or weighted mean difference (WMD) with 95% confidence interval (CI) were reported. The exclusion criteria were listed as follows: (1) duplicated or irrelevant articles; (2) randomized controlled trials; (3) reviews, letters, or case reports; (4) nonhuman studies.

## **Data Extraction**

The effect estimates from each included studies were extracted by two researchers independently, and disagreements were resolved by discussion. The information about the first author, year of publication, location, age, gender, sample size, study design, adjustments, dietary zinc assessment, exposure, effect estimates, and diagnostic criteria of MetS, was collected. The corresponding effect estimates of MetS for the highest vs. lowest dietary zinc intake category that adjusted for the maximum number of confounding variables were extracted for analysis. Moreover, the dietary zinc intake in MetS vs. control was also extracted to calculate the WMD (mean  $\pm$  SD).

## **Quality Assessment**

We employed a quality assessment according to the Newcastle-Ottawa (NOS) criteria for non-randomized studies, which is based on three broad perspectives: the selection process of study cohorts, the comparability among different cohorts, and the



 TABLE 1 | Characteristics of the individual studies included in this meta-analysis.

References	Location	Age years	Gender	Sample size	Study design	Adjustments	Dietary zinc assessment	Exposure	Effect estimates	Diagnostic criteria of MetS	NOS
Kim (17)	Korea	Middle-aged	Both	688	Cross- sectional	NA	FFQ	Control MetS Control MetS	Dietary zinc intake Male 5.50 (5.38, 5.62) 5.60 (5.46, 5.74) Female 5.80 (5.66, 5.94) 5.50 (5.36, 5.64)	NCEP-ATP III	6
Bruscato (18)	Brazil	69.3 ± 6.3	Female	284	Cross- sectional	Age, smoking, ye of education, physical activity, a dietary fiber	-	Dietary zinc intake Quartiles 1 Quartiles 2 Quartiles 3 Quartiles 4 Control MetS	1.00 0.73 (0.36, 1.47) 0.54 (0.25, 1.13) 0,98 (0.47, 2.00) Dietary zinc intake 11.40 (10.65, 12.15) 11.00 (9.83, 12.17)	IDF	7
Kouki (19)	Finland	57–78	Both	1334	Cross- sectional	Age, alcohol consumption, smoking, educatio and VO <sub>2</sub> max	Dietary recall	Dietary zinc intake Male Per mg/day Female Per mg/day Male Control MetS Female Control MetS	0.97 (0.90, 1.06) 0.99 (0.94, 1.05) 5.50 (5.38, 5.62) 5.60 (5.46, 5.74) 5.80 (5.66, 5.94) 5.50 (5.36, 5.64)	NCEP-ATP III	6
Otto (20)	US	45–84	Both	3828	Cohort	Energy intake, ag sex, race-ethnicity education, study center, alcohol intake, physical activity, BMI, fiber intake, cigarette smoking, dietary supplement use ti ratio of polyunsaturated fat intake saturatu fat intake and mutual adjustmen for Mg, heme iron, ar antioxidant intake	y, he ed it i,	Dietary zinc intake Quintiles 1 Quintiles 2 Quintiles 3 Quintiles 4 Quintiles 5	1.00 (0.78, 1.28) 1.20 (0.93, 1.55) 1.13 (0.85, 1.49) 1.33 (0.97, 1.82)	АНА	8

Dietary Zinc and MetS

Ding et al.

#### TABLE 1 | Continued

References	Location	Age years	Gender	Sample size	Study design	Adjustments	Dietary zinc assessment	Exposure	Effect estimates	Diagnostic criteria of MetS	NOS
Al-Daghri (21)	UK	19–60	Both	185	Cross- sectional	Age, BMI, and physical activity	Dietary recall	Dietary zinc intake Quartiles 1 Quartiles 2 Quartiles 3 Quartiles 4	1.00 0.11 (0.04, 0.31) 0.17 (0.06, 0.50) 0.20 (0.07, 0.57) Dietary zinc intake	IDF	7
								Control MetS	7.1 (6.5, 7.7) 6.1 (5.3, 6.6)		
Bian (22)	China	30–70	Both	258	Cross- sectional	NA	Dietary recall	Control MetS	Dietary zinc intake 11.9 (11.5, 12.3) 12.5 (12.0, 13.0)	NCEP-ATP III	7
Li (23)	China	18–65	Both	550	Cross- sectional	Age, sex, and energy intake	Dietary recall	Dietary zinc intake Quartiles 1 Quartiles 2 Quartiles 3 Quartiles 4 Control	1.00 0.33 (0.20–0.56) 0.34 (0.20–0.57) 0.18 (0.10–0.32) Dietary zinc intake 8.01 (7.64, 8.38)	NCEP-ATP III	7
Motamed (24)	Iran	35-65	Both	3800	Cross- sectional	Sex, age, physical activity level, smoking, past medical history, energy intake, and BMI;	Dietary recall	MetS Dietary zinc intake Quintiles 1 Quintiles 2 Quintiles 3 Quintiles 4 Quintiles 5 Male Control MetS Female Control MetS	7.22 (6.85, 7.59) 1.00 1.06 (0.80, 1.30) 1.37 (1.09, 1.70) 1.19 (0.90, 1.40) 1.20 (0.97, 1.50) Dietary zinc intake 7.07 (6.87, 7.27) 7.02 (6.82, 7.22) Dietary zinc intake 6.98 (6.95, 7.01) 7.15 (7.03, 7.27)	IDF	8
Suarez (25)	Colombia	11–16	Both	1311	Cross- sectional	Age, BMI, socioeconomic status, and intakes of fat, carbohydrates, protein, and ascorbic acid	Dietary recall	Dietary zinc intake Male Tertiles 1 Tertiles 2 Tertiles 3 Female Tertiles 1 Tertiles 2 Tertiles 3	1.00 NA 0.20 (0.05, 0.80) 1.00 NA 1.29 (0.56, 2.97)	Ferranti's criteria	7
Lim (26)	Korea	52.5	Both	143	Cross- sectional	NA	Dietary recall	Control MetS	Dietary zinc intake 8.50 (7.89, 9.11) 8.10 (7.41, 8.79)	NCEP-ATP III	6

Frontiers in Nutrition | www.frontiersin.org

(Continued)

References	Location	Age vears	Gender	Sample size	size Study design	Adjustments	Dietary zinc assessment	Exposure	Effect estimates	Diagnostic criteria of MetS	SON
Zhu (27)	Ohina	. <del>κ</del>	Both	233	Cross- sectional	Age, sex, region, years of education, physical activity level, intended physical exercises, smoking status, alcohol use, daily energy intake, iron, and magnesium		Dietary zinc intake Quartiles 1 Quartiles 2 Quartiles 4	1.00 0.76 (0.63, 0.92) 0.55 (0.44, 0.69) 0.46 (0.35, 0.61)	NCEP-ATP III	~
Batista (28)	Brazil	<del>v</del>	Both	327	Cross- sectional	Sex, age, maternal education, family income, physical activity, and alcohol intake	Dietary recall , r	Dietary zinc intake Tertiles 1 Tertiles 3 Tertiles 3	1.00 0.54 (0.21, 1.37) 0.46 (0.13, 1.63)	Cook's criteria	$\succ$
Zaeemzadeh (29) Iran	29) Iran	18-40	Both	42	Case-control NA	ol NA	FFQ	Control MetS	Dietary zinc intake 10.46 (8.68, 12.24) 6.76 (3.05, 10.47)	NCEP-ATP III	Ŋ

identification of either the exposure or outcome of study cohorts. Disagreements were resolved by discussion.

## **Statistical Analyses**

The RR for MetS and WMD for dietary zinc intake were the outcome measures in the present study. The  $I^2$  statistic was employed to measure the heterogeneity by the percentage of total variation across studies ( $I^2 > 50\%$  was considered as heterogeneity). If significant heterogeneity was observed among the studies, the random-effects model was used; otherwise, the fixed effects model was accepted. Begg's test was employed to assess the publication bias (31). A *p*-value < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant. Moreover, a subgroup analysis was performed for study design, diagnostic criteria of MetS, population, exposure assessment, and sample size, respectively.

## RESULTS

## **Study Identification and Selection**

**Figure 1** presented the flow diagram of study identification and selection. Initially, a total of 711 articles (PubMed: 223, Embase: 298, and Web of Science: 190) were retrieved from the database during the literature search. After eliminating 309 duplicated articles, 402 articles were screened according to the titles and abstracts. Thereafter, 246 irrelevant studies were removed. Then, 81 reviews, case reports or letters, 51 non-human studies, 11 randomized controlled trials studies were excluded. Eventually, a total of 13 studies were identified for this meta-analysis.

## **Study Characteristics**

The main characteristics of the identified studies were presented in Table 1. These studies were published between 2008 and 2021. Seven of them were employed in Asian countries [China (22, 23, 27), Korea (17, 26), and Iran (24, 29)], and the other six ones were conducted in Brazil (18, 28), US (20), UK (21), Finland (19), and Columbia (25), respectively. Most studies considered both male and female participants, whereas Bruscato's study only recruited females (18). The sample size ranged from 42 to 5,323 for a total of 18,073. The dietary zinc intake was assessed by foodfrequency questionnaire (FFQ) in three studies (17, 20, 29), and dietary recall method in 10 studies (18, 19, 21-28). The criteria for MetS were National Cholesterol Education Program-Adult Treatment Panel III (NCEP ATP III) (17, 19, 22, 23, 26, 27, 29), International Diabetes Federation (IDF) (18, 21, 24), and American Heart Association (AHA) (20) in 7, 3, and 1 studies, respectively. Moreover, the Ferranti's (32) and Cook's (33) criteria were employed for adolescent population (25, 28).

## Relative Risk of MetS for the Highest vs. Lowest Dietary Zinc Intake Category

The overall multi-variable adjusted RR showed that the dietary zinc intake was inversely associated with MetS (RR = 0.75, 95%CI: 0.61 to 0.93; P = 0.009) (**Figure 2**). A substantial level of heterogeneity was observed among the various studies ( $P < 0.001, I^2 = 89.4\%$ ). No evidence of publication bias was observed among the included studies according to Begg's rank-correlation test (P = 0.276). The results of subgroup analysis were presented



in **Table 2**. Such findings were confirmed in cross-sectional (RR = 0.70, 95%CI: 0.55 to 0.87; P = 0.002), NCEP-ATP III (RR = 0.64, 95%CI: 0.48 to 0.84; P = 0.002), adult (RR = 0.77, 95%CI: 0.62 to 0.96; P = 0.02), dietary recall method (RR = 0.70, 95%CI: 0.55 to 0.87; P = 0.002), and >500 sample sized study (RR = 0.79, 95%CI: 0.64 to 0.99; P = 0.002), but not cohort (RR = 1.33, 95%CI: 0.97 to 1.82), other criteria of MetS (RR = 0.83, 95%CI: 0.55 to 1.26; P = 0.38), adolescent (RR = 0.55, 95%CI: 0.18 to 1.66; P = 0.29), FFQ (RR = 1.33, 95%CI: 0.97 to 1.82), and <500 sample sized (RR = 0.47, 95%CI: 0.17 to 1.29; P = 0.14) study.

## Weighted Mean Difference of the Dietary Zinc Intake for MetS vs. Control Subjects

The combined WMD demonstrated that the dietary zinc intake in MetS was lower than that in control subjects (WMD = -0.21, 95%CI: -0.42 to 0.00; P = 0.05) (**Figure 3**). A substantial level of heterogeneity was observed among the various studies (P =0.001,  $I^2 = 65.1$ %). No evidence of publication bias was observed according to Begg's rank-correlation test (P = 0.304).

## DISCUSSION

In this study, a total of 13 observational studies are identified for meta-analysis. The results show that the dietary zinc intake is inversely associated with MetS. Moreover, the dietary zinc intake in MetS is lower than that in control either.

It is well known that both oxidative stress and inflammation plays significant role in the pathophysiology of MetS (34),

and the antioxidant and anti-inflammatory property of zinc may mainly account for the negative relationship between dietary zinc intake and MetS. Consistently, several randomized controlled trials have revealed that zinc supplementation improves insulin resistance, oxidative stress, and inflammation in MetS subjects (35, 36). Moreover, zinc supplementation also leads to a higher level of TNF- $\alpha$  bound monocytes, which may benefit the immune response system (37). On the other hand, some fundamental experimental evidence indicates that long term zinc supplementation directly improves MetS in animal model (38), and decreases several metabolic disorder makers, lipid accumulation, and toxicity (39–41). Above all, the existing clinical and experimental data are strongly consistent with our results.

Interestingly, the inverse relationship between dietary zinc intake and MetS is only obtained in cross-sectional studies. Nevertheless, the number of cohort studies is rather small (only one), which may inevitably reduce the reliability. Moreover, the inconsistent result with regard to diagnostic criteria of MetS, exposure assessment and sample size is also acquired. It is speculated that NCEP ATP III criteria, dietary recall method, and lager sample size (>500) are more precise and suitable for this analysis. On the other hand, our findings only exist in adult, but not adolescent population. Indeed, the adolescent is a less concerned population for MetS (MetS is a chronic disorder, and only two studies are identified for adolescent). Our results preliminarily suggest a potential effect of age on the relationship between dietary zinc intake and MetS. Taken together, more TABLE 2 | Subgroup analysis of MetS for the highest vs. lowest dietary zinc intake category.

Stratification	Number of studies	Pooled RR	95% CI	P-value	Heterogeneity
All studies	9	0.75	0.61, 0.93	P = 0.009	$P < 0.001; I^2 = 89\%$
Study design					
Cross-sectional	8	0.70	0.55, 0.87	P = 0.002	$P < 0.001; I^2 = 90\%$
Cohort	1	1.33	0.97, 1.82	/	/
Diagnostic criteria of MetS					
NCEP-ATP III	3	0.64	0.48, 0.84	P = 0.002	$P < 0.001; I^2 = 96\%$
Other	6	0.83	0.55, 1.26	P = 0.38	$P = 0.003; I^2 = 70\%$
Population					
Adult	7	0.77	0.62, 0.96	P = 0.02	$P < 0.001; I^2 = 92\%$
Adolescent	2	0.55	0.18, 1.66	P = 0.29	$P = 0.06; l^2 = 64\%$
Exposure assessment					
FFQ	1	1.33	0.97, 1.82	/	/
Dietary recall method	8	0.70	0.55, 0.87	P = 0.002	$P < 0.001; I^2 = 90\%$
Sample size					
<500	3	0.47	0.17, 1.29	P = 0.14	$P = 0.05; I^2 = 67\%$
>500	6	0.79	0.64, 0.99	P = 0.04	$P < 0.001; I^2 = 92\%$



well-designed prospective cohort study with the specification of population age (adult/adolescent) is still needed.

Several similar meta-analysis studies should also be noted. Capdor et al. find that zinc supplementation reduces glucose

concentrations and HbA1c, which may contribute to the management of hyperglycemia in individuals with MetS (42). Moreover, Khazdouz et al. further indicates that zinc supplementation has beneficial effects on glycemic indices and

lipid profile, which contributes to a reduction in risk of atherosclerosis (43). In addition, Karamali et al. demonstrates that 30 mg/day zinc supplementation for 6 weeks has beneficial effects on metabolic profiles in gestational diabetes subjects (44). These evidences strongly suggest a potential beneficial effect of zinc supplementation on MetS, which is a significant supplement for our results.

The relationship between serum zinc level and MetS has been deeply discussed in our previous work (45). It demonstrates that the serum zinc level in MetS is slightly higher than that in control, and an increased serum zinc level might be associated with a higher risk of MetS. However, these results seem to be limited by available evidence. More importantly, the development of MetS is associated with the chronic inflammation and oxidative stress (46-48), which lead to a lower serum zinc level. In turn, zinc can also reduce inflammatory cytokine production and oxidative stress (14, 45). As a consequence, the level of serum zinc might be dynamic in MetS condition. Alternatively, the dietary zinc intake is also served as a valid and reliable indicator for zinc status (49-53). Interestingly, a negative relationship between dietary zinc intake and MetS was obtained in our present study, which may encourage to build a collaboration between physicians and nutritionists to reinforce the dietary education in MetS subjects. Nevertheless, the toxicity of excess zinc intake should not be ignored neither. Excess zinc intake leads to the aggravation of renal function and an increase in systemic blood pressure predominantly through the oxidative stress (54). Moreover, excess dietary zinc intake may have negative impacts on epithelial signaling pathways, barrier function, and luminal ecology in the intestine, which may have long-term consequences on intestinal health (55). Therefore, a careful clinical validation is still needed before its application.

Our study has several strengths. First, this is the first metaanalysis of observational studies on the association between dietary zinc intake and MetS. Second, the included studies are analyzed based on the adjusted results and large samples. Third, our results may be beneficial for the nutritional management in MetS. The limitations of the present study should also be acknowledged. First, the reliability of our results might be influenced by the substantial level of heterogeneity. Second, due

## REFERENCES

- Maury E, Brichard SM. Adipokine dysregulation, adipose tissue inflammation and metabolic syndrome. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2010) 314:1–16. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2009.07.031
- Gurka MJ, Guo Y, Filipp SL, DeBoer MD. Metabolic syndrome severity is significantly associated with future coronary heart disease in type 2 diabetes. *Cardiovasc Diabetol.* (2018) 17:17. doi: 10.1186/s12933-017-0647-y
- DeBoer MD, Gurka MJ, Golden SH, Musani SK, Sims M, Vishnu A, et al. Independent associations between metabolic syndrome severity and future coronary heart disease by sex and race. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2017) 69:1204–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2016.10.088
- Decker JJ, Norby FL, Rooney MR, Soliman EZ, Lutsey PL, Pankow JS, et al. Metabolic syndrome and risk of ischemic stroke in atrial fibrillation: ARIC study. *Stroke*. (2019) 50:3045–50. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.119.025376

to the limitation in the relevant literature, only one prospective cohort study is identified (precludes causal relationships). Third, the classification of exposure varies greatly among individuals. Fourth, the selection of adjusted factors and definition of MetS are not uniform. Finally, only two studies have considered the adolescent population. These limitations may weaken the significance of this study.

## CONCLUSIONS

Our results suggest that the dietary zinc intake is negatively associated with MetS. However, due to the limited evidence, more well-designed prospective cohort study with the specification of population age is still needed to elaborate the issues examined in this study.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary materials, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

YZ was the guarantor of the overall content, conceived the idea, and assessed each study. JD and YZ drafted this study. ZL and QL performed the statistical analysis. HG and JL selected and retrieved relevant papers. All authors revised and approved the final manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## FUNDING

This study was supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China (82102581), National Postdoctoral Science Foundation of China (2021M693562), Provincial Outstanding Postdoctoral Innovative Talents Program of Hunan (2021RC2020), Provincial Natural Science Foundation of Hunan (2019JJ40517), Young Investigator Grant of Xiangya Hospital, Central South University (2020Q14), and FuQing Postdoc Program of Xiangya Hospital, Central South University (176).

- Ranasinghe P, Mathangasinghe Y, Jayawardena R, Hills AP, Misra A. Prevalence and trends of metabolic syndrome among adults in the asiapacific region: a systematic review. *BMC Public Health.* (2017) 17:101. doi: 10.1186/s12889-017-4041-1
- Marventano S, Salomone F, Godos J, Pluchinotta F, Del Rio D, Mistretta A, et al. Coffee and tea consumption in relation with non-alcoholic fatty liver and metabolic syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Clin Nutr.* (2016) 35:1269–81. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2016.03.012
- Lee M, Lim M, Kim J. Fruit and vegetable consumption and the metabolic syndrome: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. *Br J Nutr.* (2019) 122:723–33. doi: 10.1017/S000711451900165X
- Hidayat K, Zhu WZ, Peng SM, Ren JJ, Lu ML, Wang HP, et al. The association between meat consumption and the metabolic syndrome: a cross-sectional study and meta-analysis. Br J Nutr. (2021). 2021:1–15. doi: 10.1017/S0007114521002452

- Karimi G, Heidari Z, Firouzi S, Haghighatdoost F, A. systematic review and meta-analysis of the association between fish consumption and risk of metabolic syndrome. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2020) 30:717–29. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2020.02.001
- Sarrafzadegan N, Khosravi-Boroujeni H, Lotfizadeh M, Pourmogaddas A, Salehi-Abargouei A. Magnesium status and the metabolic syndrome: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutrition*. (2016) 32:409–17. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2015.09.014
- Frederickson CJ. Neurobiology of zinc and zinc-containing neurons. Int Rev Neurobiol. (1989) 31:145–238. doi: 10.1016/S0074-7742(08)60279-2
- Powell SR. The antioxidant properties of zinc. J Nutr. (2000) 130:1447S-54S. doi: 10.1093/jn/130.5.1447S
- Hennig B, Wang Y, Ramasamy S, McClain CJ. Zinc deficiency alters barrier function of cultured porcine endothelial cells. J Nutr. (1992). 122:1242–7. doi: 10.1093/jn/122.6.1242
- Seo JA, Song SW, Han K, Lee KJ, Kim HN. The associations between serum zinc levels and metabolic syndrome in the Korean population: findings from the 2010 Korean national health and nutrition examination survey. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e105990. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0105990
- Ahn BI, Kim MJ, Koo HS, Seo N, Joo NS, Kim YS. Serum zinc concentration is inversely associated with insulin resistance but not related with metabolic syndrome in nondiabetic Korean adults. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2014) 160:169– 75. doi: 10.1007/s12011-014-0045-1
- Fernández-Cao J, Warthon-Medina M, Moran V, Arija V, Doepking C, Serra-Majem L, et al. Zinc intake and status and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:1027. doi: 10.3390/nu11051027
- Kim WY, Kim JE, Choi YJ, Huh HB. Nutritional risk and metabolic syndrome in Korean type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Asia Pac J Clin Nutr.* (2008) 17(Suppl 1):47–51.
- Bruscato N, Vieira J, Nascimento N, Canto M, Stobbe J, Gottlieb M, et al. Dietary intake is not associated to the metabolic syndrome in elderly women. N Am J Med Sci. (2010) 2:182–8. doi: 10.4297/najms.2010.2182
- Kouki R, Schwab U, Hassinen M, Komulainen P, Heikkilä H, Lakka T, et al. Food consumption, nutrient intake and the risk of having metabolic syndrome: the DR's EXTRA study. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2011) 65:368–77. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2010.262
- Otto M, Alonso A, Lee DH, Delclos GL, Bertoni AG, Rui Jiang R, et al. Dietary intakes of zinc and heme iron from red meat, but not from other sources, are associated with greater risk of metabolic syndrome and cardiovascular disease. *J Nutr.* (2012) 142:526–33. doi: 10.3945/jn.111.149781
- Al-Daghri N, Khan N, Alkharfy KM, Al-Attas OS, Alokail MS, Alfawaz HA, et al. Selected dietary nutrients and the prevalence of metabolic syndrome in adult males and females in Saudi Arabia: a pilot study. *Nutrients.* (2013) 5:4587–604. doi: 10.3390/nu5114587
- Bian S, Gao Y, Zhang M, Wang X, Liu W, Zhang D, et al. Dietary nutrient intake and metabolic syndrome risk in Chinese adults: a case-control study. *Nutr J.* (2013) 12:106. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-12-106
- Li Y, Guo H, Wu M, Liu M. Serum and dietary antioxidant status is associated with lower prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in a study in Shanghai, China. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr. (2013). 22:60–8. doi: 10.6133/apjcn.2013.22.1.06
- Motamed S, Ebrahimi M, Safarian M, Mobarhan M, Mouhebati M, Azarpazhouh M, et al. Micronutrient intake and the presence of the metabolic syndrome. N Am J Med Sci. (2013) 5:377–85. doi: 10.4103/1947-2714.1 14171
- Suarez-Ortegón MF, Ordoñez-Betancourth JE, Plata CA. Dietary zinc intake is inversely associated to metabolic syndrome in male but not in female urban adolescents. *Am J Hum Biol.* (2013) 25:550–4. doi: 10.1002/ajhb.22408
- Lim HS, Shin EJ, Yeom JW, Park YH, Kim SK. Association between nutrient intake and metabolic syndrome in patients with colorectal cancer. *Clin Nutr Res.* (2017) 6:38–46. doi: 10.7762/cnr.2017.6.1.38
- Zhu Z, He Y, Wu F, Zhao L, Wu C, Lu Y, et al. The associations of dietary iron, zinc and magnesium with metabolic syndrome in China's mega cities. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:659. doi: 10.3390/nu12030659
- Batista CC, Nascimento LM, Lustosa L, Rodrigues B, Campelo V, Frota K. Metabolic syndrome in adolescents and antioxidant nutrient intake: a cross-sectional study. *Rev Assoc Med Bras.* (2021) 67:918–25. doi: 10.1590/1806-9282.20200733

- Zaeemzadeh N, Sadatmahalleh SJ, Ziaei S, Kazemnejad A, Movahedinejad M, Mottaghi A, et al. Comparison of dietary micronutrient intake in PCOS patients with and without metabolic syndrome. *J Ovarian Res.* (2021) 14:10. doi: 10.1186/s13048-020-00746-0
- Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JP, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. *BMJ*. (2009) 339:b2700. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2700
- Begg CB, Mazumdar M. Operating characteristics of a rank correlation test for publication bias. *Biometrics*. (1994) 50:1088–101. doi: 10.2307/2533446
- de Ferranti SD, Gauvreau K, Ludwig DS, Neufeld EJ, Newburger JW, Rifai N. Prevalence of the metabolic syndrome in American adolescents: findings from the Third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. *Circulation.* (2004) 110:2494–7. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.0000145117.40114.C7
- Cook S, Weitzman M, Auinger P, Nguyen M, Dietz WH. Prevalence of metabolic syndrome phenotype in adolescents: findings from the third National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, 1988–1994. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med. (2003) 157:821–27. doi: 10.1001/archpedi.157.8.821
- Wong SK, Chin KY, Ima-Nirwana S. Vitamin C: a review on its role in the management of metabolic syndrome. *Int J Med Sci.* (2020) 17:1625–38. doi: 10.7150/ijms.47103
- 35. Kelishadi R, Hashemipour M, Adeli K, Tavakoli N, Movahedian-Attar A, Shapouri J, et al. Effect of zinc supplementation on markers of insulin resistance, oxidative stress, and inflammation among prepubescent children with metabolic syndrome. *Metab Syndr Relat Disord.* (2010) 8:505–10. doi: 10.1089/met.2010.0020
- Hashemipour M, Kelishadi R, Shapouri J, Sarrafzadegan N, Amini M, Tavakoli N, et al. Effect of zinc supplementation on insulin resistance and components of the metabolic syndrome in prepubertal obese children. *Hormones (Athens).* (2009) 8:279–85. doi: 10.14310/horm.2002.1244
- Meksawan K, Sermsri U, Chanvorachote P. Zinc supplementation improves anticancer activity of monocytes in type-2 diabetic patients with metabolic syndrome. *Anticancer Res.* (2014) 34:295–9.
- Taneja S, Mandal R, Girhotra S. Long term excessive Zn-supplementation promotes metabolic syndrome-X in Wistar rats fed sucrose and fat rich semisynthetic diet. *Indian J Exp Biol.* (2006) 44:705–18.
- Nour S, Taha A, Fahmy M, Mansour M. Effects of oral zinc supplementation in early neonatal live on development of obesity and metabolic syndrome in albino rats. *Int J Pharmaceut Sci Res.* (2021) 12:1433–41. doi: 10.13040/IJPSR.0975-8232.12(3).1433-41
- Mustafa Z, Ali R, Ali D, Abdulkarimi R, Abdulkareem N, Akbari A. The combination of ginger powder and zinc supplement improves the fructoseinduced metabolic syndrome in rats by modulating the hepatic expression of NF-κB, mTORC1, PPAR-α SREBP-1c, and Nrf2. *J Food Biochem.* (2021) 45:e13546. doi: 10.1111/jfbc.13546
- Naito Y, Yoshikawa Y, Yoshizawa K, Takenouchi A, Yasui H. Beneficial effect of bis(hinokitiolato)Zn complex on high-fat diet-induced lipid accumulation in mouse liver and kidney. *In Vivo.* (2017) 31:1145–51. doi: 10.21873/invivo.11181
- Capdor J, Foster M, Petocz P, Samman S. Zinc and glycemic control: a metaanalysis of randomized placebo controlled supplementation trials in humans. *J Trace Elem Med Biol.* (2013) 27:137–42. doi: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2012.08.001
- Khazdouz M, Djalalinia S, Zadeh SS, Hasani M, Shidfar F, Ataie-Jafari A, et al. Effects of zinc supplementation on cardiometabolic risk factors: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2020) 195:373–98. doi: 10.1007/s12011-019-01870-9
- 44. Karamali M, Heidarzadeh Z, Seifati SM, Samimi M, Tabassi Z, Hajijafari M, et al. Zinc supplementation and the effects on metabolic status in gestational diabetes: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *J Diabetes Complications*. (2015) 29:1314–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2015.07.001
- Zhang Y, Zhang D-Z. Relationship between serum zinc level and metabolic syndrome: a meta-analysis of observational studies. J Am Coll Nutr. (2018) 37:708–15. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2018.1463876
- Roberts CK, Sindhu KK. Oxidative stress and metabolic syndrome. *Life Sci.* (2009) 84:705–12. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2009.02.026
- Sutherland J, McKinley B, Eckel RH. The metabolic syndrome and inflammation. *Metab Syndr Relat Disord.* (2004) 2:82–104. doi: 10.1089/met.2004.2.82

- Balaşoiu M, Balaşoiu AT, Stepan AE, Dinescu SN, Avrămescu CS, Dumitrescu D, et al. Proatherogenic adipocytokines levels in metabolic syndrome. *Rom J Morphol Embryol.* (2014) 55:29–33.
- Gao JW, Zhang SL, Hao QY, Huang FF, Liu ZY, Zhang HF, et al. Association of dietary zinc intake with coronary artery calcium progression: the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). *Eur J Nutr.* (2021) 60:2759–67. doi: 10.1007/s00394-020-02452-5
- Joo YS, Kim HW, Lee S, Nam KH, Yun HR, Jhee JH, et al. Dietary zinc intake and incident chronic kidney disease. *Clin Nutr.* (2021) 40:1039–45. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2020.07.005
- Hajianfar H, Mollaghasemi N, Tavakoly R, Campbell MS, Mohtashamrad M, Arab A. The association between dietary zinc intake and health status, including mental health and sleep quality, among Iranian female students. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2021) 199:1754–61. doi: 10.1007/s12011-020-02316-3
- 52. Vasseur P, Dugelay E, Benamouzig R, Savoye G, Hercberg S, Touvier M, et al. Dietary zinc intake and inflammatory bowel disease in the french NutriNet-Santé cohort. Am J Gastroenterol. (2020) 115:1293–7. doi: 10.14309/ajg.00000000000688
- Dharamdasani DH, Mitchell P, Russell J, Burlutsky G, Liew G, Gopinath B. Dietary zinc intake is associated with macular fluid in neovascular age-related macular degeneration. *Clin Exp Ophthalmol.* (2020) 48:61–8. doi: 10.1111/ceo.13644
- 54. Yanagisawa H, Miyazaki T, Nodera M, Miyajima Y, Suzuki T, Kido T, et al. Zinc-excess intake causes the deterioration of renal function accompanied by an elevation in systemic blood pressure primarily through

superoxide radical-induced oxidative stress. Int J Toxicol. (2014) 33:288–96. doi: 10.1177/1091581814532958

 Podany A, Rauchut J, Wu T, Kawasawa YI, Wright J, Lamendella R, et al. Excess dietary zinc intake in neonatal mice causes oxidative stress and alters intestinal host-microbe interactions. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2019) 63:e1800947. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201800947

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Ding, Liu, Liu, Guo, Liang and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Associations of Dietary Copper, Selenium, and Manganese Intake With Depression: A Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies

Jun Ding<sup>1</sup> and Yi Zhang<sup>2,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Changsha Social Work College, Changsha, China, <sup>2</sup> Department of Orthopaedics, Xiangya Hospital, Central South University, Changsha, China, <sup>3</sup> National Clinical Research Center for Geriatric Disorders, Xiangya Hospital, Central South University, Changsha, China

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Surasak Saokaew, University of Phayao, Thailand

#### Reviewed by:

Zbigniew Stanislaw Krejpcio, Poznan University of Life Sciences, Poland Tommaso Filippini, University of Modena and Reggio Emilia, Italy Monica Cattafesta, Federal University of Espirito Santo, Brazil

> \*Correspondence: Yi Zhang zhangyi0205@csu.edu.cn

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 14 January 2022 Accepted: 17 February 2022 Published: 15 March 2022

#### Citation:

Ding J and Zhang Y (2022) Associations of Dietary Copper, Selenium, and Manganese Intake With Depression: A Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies. Front. Nutr. 9:854774. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.854774 **Objective:** To comprehensively summarize the evidence on the associations of dietary copper, selenium, and manganese intake with depression based on a meta-analysis of observational studies.

**Methods:** The electronic database of PubMed, Web of Science, and Embase were searched up to January 7, 2022, for observational studies on the associations of dietary copper, selenium and manganese intake with depression (no restriction was set for the initiate time). The pooled relative risk (RR) of depression for the highest vs. lowest dietary copper, selenium, and manganese intake category were calculated.

**Results:** A total of 11 observational studies (61,430 participants) were identified as meeting the inclusion criteria. Specifically, five studies were related to the dietary copper intake. The overall multi-variable adjusted RR demonstrated that dietary copper intake was inversely associated with depression (RR = 0.63, 95% CI: 0.52–0.76; P < 0.001;  $l^2 = 2.4\%$ ). With regard to the dietary selenium intake, six studies were identified for meta-analysis. The overall multi-variable adjusted RR showed that dietary selenium intake was also negatively associated with depression (RR = 0.63, 95% CI: 0.54–0.74; P < 0.001;  $l^2 = 37.8\%$ ). In addition, four studies were specified for the dietary manganese intake, and the overall multi-variable adjusted RR indicated a negative relationship between dietary manganese intake and depression (RR = 0.71, 95% CI: 0.58–0.86; P < 0.001;  $l^2 = 0.0\%$ ).

**Conclusions:** Our results suggest a negative relationship between dietary copper, selenium and manganese intake and depression, respectively. However, due to the limited prospective evidence, our results are restricted to cross-sectional design that precludes causal relationships. More well-designed prospective cohort studies are still needed.

Keywords: dietary copper intake, dietary selenium intake, dietary manganese intake, depression, meta-analysis, observational studies

19

## INTRODUCTION

Depression is one of the most common global mental disorders (affecting females twice as much as males) (1), which usually presents as exhaustion, sadness, and lack of interest in daily activities (2). As a global burden of disease affecting  $\sim$ 300 million people (3), depression is estimated to be the leading cause of disability worldwide by 2030 (4). Nevertheless, the current treatment for depression may be limited to the following issues: costly pharmacotherapy, adverse side effects and unsatisfactory curative effect (5). Emerging evidence suggests that dietary factors are associated with depression (6, 7). Thus, the identification of modifiable dietary factors for depression appears to be an important step in its clinical prevention and management.

Micronutrients are important factors for cellular biochemical functions. Among them, copper, selenium, and manganese are considered to be significant ones. As a component of extracellular superoxide dismutase (8), copper is essential for iron uptake and signaling in energy metabolism, reactive oxygen species detoxification and eukaryotic organisms (9). In addition, copper plays a significant role in signaling involving mitophagy, bioenergetics, and dynamics and mitochondrial function, which determine cellular fate by metabolic reprogramming (9). In addition, selenium is severed as an essential micronutrient that maintain the different cellular functions, such as immuneendocrine function and signaling transduction pathways (10). Moreover, selenium incorporates into selenoproteins and selenium-dependent enzymes (e.g., glutathione peroxidases), which is closely related to intracellular redox regulation and modulation (11). On the other hand, as another essential nutrient for the body, manganese is an important component of manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD, SOD-2), which is the primary antioxidant enzyme that protects cells from oxidative stress (catalyze the dismutation of superoxide to hydrogen peroxide and oxygen in the mitochondria) (12). Since the oxidative stress is considered to play a significant role in the pathophysiology of depression (13, 14), the dietary copper, selenium, and manganese intake is considered to be beneficial to depression.

As far as we know, a number of observational studies have been employed to investigate the associations of dietary copper, selenium, and manganese intake with depression (15–25). However, their results are still conflicting. Thus, this meta-analysis of observational studies is employed to investigate the issues further. It is hypothesized that the dietary copper, selenium, and manganese intake is inversely associated with depression, respectively.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

### Search Strategy

Our meta-analysis was performed according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-analyses (PRISMA) guidelines (26). The electronic database of PubMed, Web of Science and Embase were searched up to January 7, 2022 (no restriction was set for the initiate time) by using a combination of keywords that related to depression ("depression," "depressive"), copper ("copper"), selenium ("selenium"), and manganese ("manganese"). No language restriction was set in the search strategy. We screened the titles and abstracts of all articles, and then read the full articles to identify the eligible studies.

## **Study Selection**

Two researchers reviewed the titles, abstracts, and full texts of all retrieved studies independently. Disagreements were resolved by discussions. The inclusion criteria were listed as follows: (1) observational studies; (2) the associations of dietary copper, selenium and manganese intake with depression; and (3) relative risk (RR) or odds ratio (OR) with 95% confidence interval (CI) was reported. The exclusion criteria were listed as follows: (1) duplicated or irrelevant articles; (2) reviews, letters, or case reports; (3) randomized controlled trials; and (4) nonhuman studies.

## **Data Extraction**

The data was extracted by two researchers independently, and disagreements were resolved by discussions. The information about the first author and year of publication, location, age, sex, sample size, study design, adjustments, exposure assessment, category of exposure, effect estimates, and diagnostic criteria of depression, was collected. The corresponding effect estimates of depression with 95% CIs for the highest vs. lowest dietary copper, selenium and manganese intake category were extracted (adjusted for the maximum number of confounding variables).

## **Quality Assessment**

The Newcastle-Ottawa (NOS) criteria for non-randomized studies was employed to assess the quality of each included study. NOS is based on three broad perspectives: (1) the selection process of study cohorts; (2) the comparability among different cohorts; (3) the identification of exposure or outcome of study cohorts. Disagreements with respect to the methodological quality were resolved by discussion.

## **Statistical Analyses**

The RR for depression were the outcome measures in this meta-analysis. The  $I^2$  statistic, which measures the percentage of total variation across studies due to heterogeneity, was examined ( $I^2 > 50\%$  was considered heterogeneity). If significant heterogeneity was observed among the studies, the random-effects model was used; otherwise, the fixed effects model was accepted. Begg's test was employed to assess the publication bias (27). Moreover, subgroup analysis for sex, geographical region, sample size, diagnostic criteria of depression, exposure assessment, population, and study design were employed.

## RESULTS

## **Study Identification and Selection**

The detailed flow diagram of the study identification and selection were presented in **Figure 1**. Initially, a total of 755 potentially relevant articles (179 for PubMed, 198 for Embase,



and 378 for Web of Science) were retrieved during the literature search. After eliminating 353 duplicated articles, 402 articles were screened according to the titles and abstracts, and then, 240 irrelevant studies were excluded. Thereafter, 79 reviews, case reports or letters, 61 non-human studies, 11 randomized controlled trials studies were removed. Eventually, 11 studies were selected for this meta-analysis (15–25).

## **Study Characteristics**

The main characteristics of the included studies were presented in **Table 1**. These studies were published between 2012 and 2022. Among them, five studies were performed in Asian countries [Japan (17, 21, 22), China (23) and Korea (16)], and the other six ones were from US (19, 20), Brazil (24, 25), Spain (18), and Australia (15). Four articles included only females (15–17, 23), and the other seven studies recruited both males and females (18–22, 24, 25). With regard to the study design, nine studies were cross-sectional/case-control (16, 17, 19–25) and two ones were prospective cohort (15, 18) studies. The sample size ranged from 316 to 14,834 for a total number of 61,430. The dietary micronutrients were assessed by food-frequency questionnaire (FFQ) in eight studies (15–18, 21–23, 25), and recall method in three studies (19, 20, 24). The diagnostic criteria of depression were Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-IV (DSM-IV) (15, 18), Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) (19, 20), Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) (17, 23), Beck Depression Inventory (BDI) (16), Kessler's sixitem psychological distress scale (K6) (21), Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS) (22), Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview (MINI) (24), and Clinical Interview Schedule Revised (CIS-R) (25), respectively.

## RR of Depression for the Highest vs. Lowest Dietary Copper Intake Category

The overall multi-variable adjusted RR showed that the dietary copper intake was inversely associated with depression (RR = 0.63, 95% CI: 0.52–0.76; P < 0.001; **Figure 2**). No substantial level of heterogeneity was obtained among various studies (P = 0.401,  $I^2 = 2.4\%$ ). No evidence of publication bias existed according to the Begg's rank-correlation test (P = 0.707). **Table 2** presented the results of subgroup analysis. The above findings were confirmed in female (RR = 0.60, 95% CI: 0.40–0.80; P < 0.001), but not in male (RR = 0.64, 95% CI: 0.36–1.11).

## RR of Depression for the Highest vs. Lowest Dietary Selenium Intake Category

The overall multi-variable adjusted RR showed that the dietary selenium intake was inversely associated with depression (RR =

References	Location	Age (years)	Sex	Sample size	Study design	Adjustments	Exposure assessment	Category of exposure	Effect estimates	Diagnostic criteria of depression	NOS
Pasco et al. (15)	Australia	20–89	Female	316	Cohort	Age and socioeconomic status	FFQ	Selenium Low intake High intake	1.00 0.34 (0.12, 0.96)	DSM-IV	7
Kim et al. (16)	Korea	12–18	Female	849	Case- control	Menstrual regularity and energy	FFQ	Copper Tertile 1 Tertile 2 Tertile 3	1.00 0.78 (0.48, 1.38) 0.41 (0.17, 0.96)	BDI	7
Miyake et al. (17)	Japan	31	Female	1,745	Cross- sectional	Age, gestation, region of residence, number of children, family structure, history of depression, family history of depression, smoking, secondhand smoke exposure at home and at work, employment, household income, education, BMI, intake of saturated fatty acids, eicosapentaenoic acid plus docosahexaenoic acid, calcium, vitamin D and isoflavones	FFQ	Copper Quartile 1 Quartile 2 Quartile 3 Quartile 4 Manganese Quartile 1 Quartile 2 Quartile 3 Quartile 4	1.00 0.74 (0.57, 0.96) 0.80 (0.60, 1.06) 0.73 (0.51, 1.05) 1.00 0.93 (0.72, 1.19) 0.94 (0.73, 1.21) 0.74 (0.56, 0.97)	CES-D	6
Sánchez-Villegas et al. (18)	Spain	38	Both	13,983	Cohort	Sex, age, physical activity, BMI, energy intake, special diets, smoking, alcohol intake and prevalence of CVD, HTA, or T2DM	FFQ	Selenium Inadequacy Adequacy	1.00 0.78 (0.57, 1.07)	DSM-IV	8
Li et al. (19)	US	>18	Both	14,834	Cross- sectional	Age, gender, BMI, race, educational level, smoking status, family income, work activity, recreational activity, hypertension, diabetes, and total daily energy intake	Recall method	Copper Quartile 1 Quartile 2 Quartile 3 Quartile 4 Selenium Quartile 1 Quartile 2 Quartile 3 Quartile 4	1.00 0.81 (0.65, 1.03) 0.78 (0.62, 0.98) 0.68 (0.49, 0.94) 1.00 0.69 (0.53, 0.91) 0.52 (0.39, 0.69) 0.46 (0.32, 0.67)	PHQ-9	8

 TABLE 1 | Characteristics of the individual studies included in this meta-analysis.

(Continued)

Copper, Selenium, Manganese, and Depression

TABLE 1 | Continued

References	Location	Age (years)	Sex	Sample size	Study design	Adjustments	Exposure assessment	Category of exposure	Effect estimates	Diagnostic criteria of depression	NO
Ghimire et al. (20)	US	>18	Both	7,725	Cross- sectional	Age, sex, race ethnicity, marital status, educational status, family poverty income ratio, BMI, smoking, alcohol use, physical activity, and use of dietary supplements, diabetes, kidney disease, cancer, and heart disease and total energy intake	Recall method	Selenium Quintile 1 Quintile 2 Quintile 3 Quintile 4 Quintile 5	1.00 0.64 (0.48, 0.85) 0.69 (0.49, 0.96) 0.57 (0.36, 0.90) 0.60 (0.39, 0.94)	PHQ-9	8
Nakamura et al. (21)	Japan	18–79	Both	2,089	Cross- sectional	Age, sex, smoking, alcohol drinking, BMI, shift work, and intake of Vitamin C, B6, B12, folic acid, PUFA, medications for hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetes	FFQ	Copper Quartile 1 Quartile 2 Quartile 3 Quartile 4 Manganese Quartile 1 Quartile 2 Quartile 3 Quartile 3	1.00 0.60 (0.31, 1.16) 0.52, (0.28, 0.97) 0.43 (0.22, 0.84) 1.00 0.56 (0.27, 1.16) 0.51 (0.27, 0.96) 0.51, (0.24, 1.08)	K6	7
Nguyen et al. (22)	Japan	>65	Both	1,423	Cross- sectional	Age, BMI, living status, having a job status, married status, smoking status, alcohol consumption, total energy, hypertension, diabetes, and hyperlipidemia	FFQ	Male Copper Quartile 1 Quartile 2 Quartile 3 Quartile 4 Manganese Quartile 1 Quartile 2 Quartile 3 Quartile 4 Female Copper Quartile 1 Quartile 2 Quartile 3 Quartile 3 Quartile 4 Manganese Quartile 1 Quartile 2 Quartile 3 Quartile 3	1.00 0.78 (0.42, 1.42) 0.78 (0.43, 1.41) 0.78 (0.42, 1.42) 1.00 1.21 (0.67, 2.18) 1.51 (0.84, 2.71) 0.83 (0.45, 1.53) 1.00 0.81 (0.49, 1.34) 0.61 (0.36, 1.02) 0.43 (0.25, 0.77) 1.00 1.08 (0.65, 1.82) 0.80 (0.47, 1.37) 0.75 (0.43, 1.30)	GDS	7

Ding and Zhang

Copper, Selenium, Manganese, and Depression

_		_	_	
	s			

TABLE 1	Continued
---------	-----------

References	Location	Age (years)	Sex	Sample size	Study design	Adjustments	Exposure assessment	Category of exposure	Effect estimates	Diagnostic criteria of depression	NOS
Li et al. (23)	China	42–52	Female	2,993	Cross- sectional	Energy intake, saturated fatty acids intake, unsaturated fatty acids intake, <i>n</i> -3 PUFA intake, vitamin B6 intake, vitamin B12 intake, vitamin D intake, calcium intake, copper intake, zinc intake, age, race/ethnicity, education, income, financial strain, physical activity, BMI, VMS, chronic stress, use of antidepressant, estradiol, testosterone, and SHBG	FFQ	Manganese Early perimenopausal Quartile 1 Quartile 2 Quartile 3 Quartile 4 Premenopausal Quartile 1 Quartile 2 Quartile 3 Quartile 4	1.00 0.87 (0.58, 1.31) 0.79 (0.49, 1.27) 0.80 (0.46, 1.39) 1.00 0.97 (0.66, 1.43) 0.71 (0.45, 1.11) 0.51 (0.29–0.91)	CES-D	7
Almeida et al. (24)	Brazil	18–59	Both	736	Cross- sectional	Gender, marital status, socioeconomic class, alcohol consumption, and pesticide poisoning	Recall method	Selenium Low intake High intake	1.00 0.46 (0.24, 0.90)	MINI	7
Ferriani et al. (25)	Brazil	35–74	Both	14,737	Cross- sectional	Age, race, total cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, systolic blood pressure, antihypertensive drug, diabetes, and smoking, cardiovascular disease, physical activity, and calorie	FFQ	Selenium Quintile 1 Quintile 2 Quintile 3 Quintile 4 Quintile 5	1.00 0.88 (0.69, 1.12) 0.80 (0.62, 1.03) 0.76 (0.59, 0.98) 0.72 (0.56, 0.94)	CIS-R	8

BMI, Body mass index; FFQ, Food frequency questionnaire; CVD, Cardiovascular disease; HDL, High density lipoprotein; HTA, Hypertension; T2DM, Type 2 diabetes mellitus; PUFA, Polyunsaturated fatty acid; VMS, Vasomotor symptoms; SHBG, Sex hormone binding globulin; DSM-IV, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-IV; PHQ-9, Patient Health Questionnaire-9; CES-D, Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale; BDI, Beck Depression Inventory; K6, Kessler's six-item psychological distress scale; GDS, Geriatric Depression Scale; MINI, Mini-International Neuropsychiatric Interview; CIS-R, Clinical Interview Schedule Revised.

March 2022 | Volume 9 | Article 854774

Ding and Zhang



FIGURE 2 | Forest plot of meta-analysis: overall multi-variable adjusted RR of depression for the highest vs. lowest category of dietary copper intake.

Stratification	Number of studies	Pooled RR	95% CI	P-value	Heterogeneity
All studies	5	0.63	0.52, 0.76	P < 0.001	$P = 0.40; I^2 = 2\%$
Sex					
Male	1	0.77	0.42, 1.43	/	/
Female	3	0.60	0.40, 0.80	P < 0.001	$P = 0.21; l^2 = 36\%$
Geographical region					
Asia	4	0.60	0.47, 0.76	P < 0.001	$P = 0.31; I^2 = 16\%$
Non-Asia	1	0.68	0.49, 0.94	/	/
Sample size					
<2,000	3	0.63	0.49, 0.82	P < 0.001	$P = 0.30; I^2 = 18\%$
>2,000	2	0.62	0.46, 0.84	P = 0.002	$P = 0.23; l^2 = 31\%$
Exposure assessment					
FFQ	4	0.60	0.47, 0.76	P < 0.001	$P = 0.31; I^2 = 16\%$
Recall method	1	0.68	0.49, 0.94	/	/
Population					
Adolescent	1	0.41	0.17, 0.99	/	/
Middle aged and elderly	4	0.64	0.52, 0.78	P < 0.001	$P = 0.38; I^2 = 4\%$

TABLE 2 | Subgroup analysis of depression for the highest vs. lowest dietary copper intake category.

RR, Relative risk; Cl, Confidence interval; FFQ, Food frequency questionnaire.

0.63, 95% CI: 0.54–0.74; P < 0.001) (**Figure 3**). No substantial level of heterogeneity was obtained among various studies (P = 0.154,  $I^2 = 37.8\%$ ). No evidence of publication bias existed according to the Begg's rank-correlation test (P = 0.260). **Table 3** 

presented the results of subgroup analysis. The above findings were confirmed in female (RR = 0.63, 95% CI: 0.47–0.85; P = 0.003), PHQ-9 (RR = 0.51, 95% CI: 0.39–0.68; P < 0.001), cross-sectional (RR = 0.60, 95% CI: 0.51–0.72; P < 0.001) studies, but



FIGURE 3 | Forest plot of meta-analysis: overall multi-variable adjusted RR of depression for the highest vs. lowest category of dietary selenium intake.

Stratification	Number of studies	Pooled RR	95% CI	P-value	Heterogeneity
All studies	6	0.63	0.54, 0.74	P < 0.001	$P = 0.15; l^2 = 38\%$
Sex					
Male	1	0.64	0.36, 1.11	/	/
Female	2	0.63	0.47, 0.85	P = 0.003	$P = 0.22; I^2 = 33\%$
Diagnostic criteria of depression					
DSM-IV	2	0.60	0.28, 1.28	P = 0.19	$P = 0.13; I^2 = 55\%$
PHQ-9	2	0.51	0.39, 0.68	P < 0.001	$P = 0.36; I^2 = 0\%$
Geographical region					
US	2	0.51	0.39, 0.68	P < 0.001	$P = 0.36; I^2 = 0\%$
Brazil	2	0.68	0.54, 0.86	P = 0.001	$P = 0.21; I^2 = 37\%$
Sample size					
<2,000	2	0.42	0.24, 0.73	P = 0.002	$P = 0.63; I^2 = 0\%$
>2,000	4	0.66	0.56, 0.77	P < 0.001	$P = 0.14; I^2 = 46\%$
Exposure assessment					
FFQ	3	0.72	0.60, 0.88	P = 0.001	$P = 0.33; I^2 = 11\%$
Recall method	3	0.51	0.39, 0.65	P < 0.001	$P = 0.62; I^2 = 0\%$
Study design					
Cross-sectional	4	0.60	0.51, 0.72	P < 0.001	$P = 0.19; I^2 = 36\%$
Cohort	2	0.60	0.28, 1.28	P = 0.19	$P = 0.13; I^2 = 55\%$

RR, Relative risk; CI, Confidence interval; FFQ, Food frequency questionnaire; DSM-IV, Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders-IV; PHQ-9, Patient Health Questionnaire-9.



not in male (RR = 0.77, 95% CI: 0.42–1.43; P = 0.001), DSM-IV (RR = 0.60, 95% CI: 0.28–1.28; P = 0.19) and prospective cohort studies (RR = 0.60, 95% CI: 0.28–1.28; P = 0.19).

## RR of Depression for the Highest vs. Lowest Dietary Manganese Intake Category

The overall multi-variable adjusted RR showed that the dietary manganese intake was inversely associated with depression (RR = 0.71, 95% CI: 0.58–0.86; P < 0.001; **Figure 4**). No substantial level of heterogeneity was obtained among various studies (P = 0.778,  $I^2 = 0.0\%$ ). No evidence of publication bias existed according to the Begg's rank-correlation test (P = 1.000). **Table 4** presented the results of subgroup analysis. The above findings were confirmed in female (RR = 0.71, 95% CI: 0.58–0.88; P = 0.002) and CES-D (RR = 0.71, 95% CI: 0.56–0.89; P = 0.003) studies, but not in male (RR = 0.83, 95% CI: 0.45–1.53) and other criteria studies (RR = 0.71, 95% CI: 0.49–1.02; P = 0.06).

## DISCUSSION

A total of 11 observational studies were identified in the present meta-analysis. The pooled results demonstrated a negative relationship between dietary copper, selenium, and manganese intake and depression, respectively.

The pathophysiology of depression is involved in oxidative stress, whereas copper, selenium, and manganese are served as important antioxidants that act against oxidative stress. Copper is a cofactor of the copper/zinc superoxide dismutase, a protein located in both the cytosol and mitochondrial inner membrane space to relieve the electron transport chain-generated reactive oxygen species (9). On the other hand, copper may drive the activity of the two neurotrophic factors Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and nerve growth factor (NGF) (28), which further influence the activity-dependent neural plasticity and neural network (29). Indeed, experimental evidence demonstrates that low-dose copper exacerbates depression-like behavior in ApoE4 transgenic mice (30). Differently from other metals, selenium incorporates into selenoproteins (glutathione per-oxidases and thioredoxin reductases) and protects from lipoperoxidation and oxidative cell damage (the glutathione antioxidant system is implicated in the pathophysiology of mood disorders) (31). Consistently, the selenocompound 1-methyl-3-(phenylselany1)-1H-indole attenuates depressionlike behavior, oxidative stress, and neuroinflammation in streptozotocin-treated mice (32). Moreover, manganese is an important component of MnSOD, an antioxidant mitochondrial metalloenzyme that protects cells from oxidative stress (12, 33). Reduced MnSOD activity due to manganese deficiency might contribute to the development of depression. These above may significantly account for the major findings of our study.

TABLE 4 | Subgroup analysis of depression for the highest vs. lowest dietary manganese intake category.

Stratification	Number of studies	Pooled RR	95% CI	P-value	Heterogeneity
All studies	4	0.71	0.58, 0.86	P < 0.001	$P = 0.78; l^2 = 0\%$
Sex					
Male	1	0.83	0.45, 1.53	/	/
Female	3	0.71	0.58, 0.88	P = 0.002	$P = 0.68; I^2 = 0\%$
Diagnostic criteria of depression					
CES-D	2	0.71	0.56, 0.89	P = 0.003	$P = 0.48; I^2 = 0\%$
Other	2	0.71	0.49, 1.02	P = 0.06	$P = 0.60; I^2 = 0\%$
Geographical region					
Japan	3	0.73	0.58, 0.91	P = 0.005	$P = 0.79; l^2 = 0\%$
China	1	0.65	0.43, 0.96	/	/
Sample size					
<2,000	2	0.75	0.60, 0.95	P = 0.02	$P = 0.95; I^2 = 0\%$
>2,000	2	0.61	0.43, 0.87	P = 0.007	$P = 0.48; I^2 = 0\%$

RR, Relative risk; Cl, Confidence interval; FFQ, Food frequency questionnaire; CES-D, Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale.

Interestingly, our findings are only confirmed in females, but not males. It suggests that some genetic sexual differences with the diet-related pathology of depression should be considered. For example, the genetic contributions of the serotonin transporter in depression may be different (34), and the process of some serotonin systems may be more apparent in females than that in males either (35). Importantly, the inverse relationship between dietary selenium intake and depression is lost in prospective cohort study, which might be attributed to the potential reversed causality (e.g., depressive subjects may consume less dietary copper, selenium and manganese due to the reduced appetite). Moreover, the diagnostic criteria of depression vary greatly among individuals, which may also influence the reliability of subgroup analysis. Overall, very small number of studies are qualified for subgroup analysis, and the corresponding results should be considered very carefully. More welldesigned prospective cohort studies with sexual specification are still needed.

It should also be noted that a very recent meta-analysis study has investigated the role of selenium in depression (36). The authors fail to demonstrate any significant differences in serum selenium levels between depressive and healthy subjects. On the contrary, they find the selenium supplementation significantly reduces depressive symptoms. The inconsistent results may be explained as follow: (1) The selenium in serum may not reflect the issues of dietary selenium intake (37). In fact, demographic variables, health status, and some other factors may also influence serum selenium levels (38), and only one study has adjusted these confounding variables (39). (2) Given that the long-term exposure to low serum selenium level may impair brain function (40), the duration of low selenium intake is ignored in most studies. Importantly, their overall OR result shows no significant relationship between dietary selenium intake and depression. However, their search was performed on June 30, 2020 (updated on April 12, 2021) and two recent published studies were not specified for analysis (24, 25). Moreover, the category of exposure was unclear in one included study either (excluded in the present meta-analysis) (41). Most importantly, the effect estimates for the highest vs. lowest and lowest vs. highest (inadequate vs. adequate) exposure category was also pooled directly. Above all, our study is an important advance and supplement to their study.

Another relevant meta-analysis study has also comprehensively evaluated the relationship between body burden of copper and depression (42). They demonstrate that the blood copper level in depressive subjects is higher than that in controls, which implies that blood copper may be served as a biomarker for depression. On this basis, our study further demonstrates that dietary copper intake is inversely associated with depression either. Interestingly, Johnson et al. further found an inverse relationship between selenium level in household groundwater and depression, and GPX1 gene is related to depression risk and significantly influences the protective impact of selenium (43), which indicates a gene-environment interaction.

Although our findings may encourage to build an awareness with the collaboration between physicians and nutritionists, our results might be influenced by environmental and medical treatment factors, the interaction of multiple dietary factors, and the reversed causality (depressed individuals may have irregular/inadequate nutrition patterns that lead to nutritional inadequacy of these micronutrients intake). Moreover, the toxicity of these micronutrients should also be recognized. For instance, excess copper intake is reported to induce oxidative stress, damage to the mitochondrial, and leads to apoptosis, DNA damage and inflammatory responses (44, 45). In addition, selenium exposure is associated with increased risk for type 2 diabetes (46). Elevated selenium exposure has also been suspected to be a risk factor for the development of several neurodegenerative and neuropsychiatric diseases (47, 48). Moreover, long-term exposure to manganese may have adverse effects on mood state, neurobehavior, and peripheral neurotransmitters (49). Therefore, a careful validation by highquality randomized controlled trial/prospective cohort study is still needed.

Our study has several strengthens. First, this is the first metaanalysis of observational studies on the associations of dietary copper, selenium, and manganese intake with depression. In addition, the included studies are analyzed based on the adjusted results and large samples. Moreover, the limited heterogeneity level may reflect a decent reliability of our results. Finally, our findings may provide significant information to better consider the dietary effects on depression. The limitations of our study should also be acknowledged. First, only two prospective cohort studies were identified due to the limited relevant literature, which precludes causal relationships (depressive subjects may consume less dietary copper, selenium, and manganese due to the reduced appetite). Second, the classification of exposure and diagnostic criteria of depression varies greatly among individuals. Third, the adjusted factors were not uniform. Fourth, the environmental and medical treatment factors are considered in few studies, their impact cannot be clearly clarified and our topic might be over-simplified (the interaction of multiple dietary factors). Last but not the lease, the circulating level of these micronutrients is not considered due to the limited evidence, and the issue of microelement deficiency cannot be addressed. These limitations may weaken the significance of our study.

## CONCLUSIONS

Our results suggest a negative relationship between dietary copper, selenium, and manganese intake and depression, respectively. However, due to the limited prospective evidence, our results are restricted to cross-sectional design that precludes causal relationships. More well-designed prospective cohort studies with sexual specification are still needed.

## REFERENCES

- 1. Kessler RC. Epidemiology of women and depression. J Affect Disord. (2003) 74:5–13. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0327(02)00426-3
- Yary T, Aazami S. Dietary intake of zinc was inversely associated with depression. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2012) 145:286– 90. doi: 10.1007/s12011-011-9202-y
- Jung A, Spira D, Steinhagen-Thiessen E, Ilja Demuth I, Norman K. Zinc deficiency is associated with depressive symptoms-results from the Berlin Aging Study II. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. (2017) 72:1149– 54. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glw218
- Mathers CD, Loncar D. Projections of global mortality and burden of disease from 2002 to (2030). *PLoS Med.* (2006) 3:e442. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0030442
- Mauskopf JA, Simon GE, Kalsekar A, Nimsch C, Dunayevich E, Cameron A. Nonresponse, partial response, and failure to achieve remission: humanistic and cost burden in major depressive disorder. *Depress Anxiety.* (2009) 26:83– 97. doi: 10.1002/da.20505
- Lai JS, Hiles S, Bisquera A, Hure AJ, McEvoy M, Attia J. A systematic review and meta-analysis of dietary patterns and depression in community-dwelling adults. Am J Clin Nutr. (2014) 99:181–97. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.113.069880

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

YZ and JD conceived the idea, drafted this manuscript, selected and retrieved relevant papers, and assessed each study. JD performed the statistical analysis. YZ was the guarantor of the overall content. All authors revised and approved the final manuscript.

## FUNDING

This study was supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China (82102581), National Postdoctoral Science Foundation of China (2021M693562), Provincial Outstanding Postdoctoral Innovative Talents Program of Hunan (2021RC2020), Young Investigator Grant of Xiangya Hospital, Central South University (2020Q14), and FuQing Postdoc Program of Xiangya Hospital, Central South University (176).

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2022. 854774/full#supplementary-material

**Supplementary Figure 1** | Funnel plot with pseudo 95% confidence limits for the analysis of dietary copper intake and depression.

Supplementary Figure 2 | Funnel plot with pseudo 95% confidence limits for the analysis of dietary selenium intake and depression.

Supplementary Figure 3 | Funnel plot with pseudo 95% confidence limits for the analysis of dietary manganese intake and depression.

- Zhang Y, Yang Y, Xie MS, Ding X, Li H, Liu ZC, et al. Is meat consumption associated with depression? A meta-analysis of observational studies. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2017) 17:409. doi: 10.1186/s12888-017-1540-7
- Ma XY, Jiang S, Yan SM, Li M, Wang CG, Pan YG, et al. Association between copper, zinc, iron, and selenium intakes and TC/HDL-C ratio in US adults. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2020) 197:43–51. doi: 10.1007/s12011-019-01979-x
- Ruiz LM, Libedinsky A, Elorza AA. Role of copper on mitochondrial function and metabolism. *Front Mol Biosci.* (2021) 8:711227. doi: 10.3389/fmolb.2021.711227
- Gorini F, Sabatino L, Pingitore A, Vassalle C. Selenium: an element of life essential for thyroid function. *Molecules*. (2021) 26:7084. doi: 10.3390/molecules26237084
- Ding J, Zhang Y. Relationship between the circulating selenium level and stroke: a meta-analysis of observational studies. J Am Coll Nutr. (2021). 1–9. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2021.1902880
- Rodríguez-Barranco M, Lacasaña M, Aguilar-Garduño C, Alguacil J, Gil F, González-Alzaga B, et al. Association of arsenic, cadmium and manganese exposure with neurodevelopment and behavioural disorders in children: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sci Total Environ.* (2013) 454–455:562–77. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013. 03.047

- Bajpai A, Verma AK, Srivastava M, Srivastava R. Oxidative stress and major depression. J Clin Diagn Res. (2014) 8:CC04– 7. doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2014/10258.5292
- Liu T, Zhong SM, Liao XX, Chen J, He TT, Lai SK. A metaanalysis of oxidative stress markers in depression. *PLoS One.* (2015) 10:e0138904. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0138904
- Pasco JA, Jacka FN, Williams LJ, Evans-Cleverdon M, Brennan SL, Kotowicz MA, et al. Dietary selenium and major depression: a nested case-control study. *Complement Ther Med.* (2012) 20:119–23. doi: 10.1016/j.ctim.2011.12.008
- Kim TH, Choi JY, Lee HH, Park YS. Associations between dietary pattern and depression in Korean adolescent girls. J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol. (2015) 28:533–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jpag.2015.04.005
- Miyake Y, Tanaka K, Okubo H, Sasaki S, Furukawa S, Arakawa M. Manganese intake is inversely associated with depressive symptoms during pregnancy in Japan: Baseline data from the Kyushu Okinawa Maternal and Child Health Study. J Affect Disord. (2017) 211:124–29. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.01.016
- Sánchez-Villegas A, Pérez-Cornago A, Zazpe I, Santiago S, Lahortiga F, Martínez-González MA. Micronutrient intake adequacy and depression risk in the SUN cohort study. *Eur J Nutr.* (2018) 57:2409–19. doi: 10.1007/s00394-017-1514-z
- Li ZY, Wang WJ, Xin XL, Song XX, Zhang DF. Association of total zinc, iron, copper and selenium intakes with depression in the US adults. J Affect Disord. (2018) 228:68–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.12.004
- Ghimire S, Baral BK, Feng D, Sy FC, Rodriguez R. Is selenium intake associated with the presence of depressive symptoms among US adults? Findings from National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2011-2014. Nutrition. (2019) 62:169–76. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2018.12.007
- Nakamura M, Miura A, Nagahata T, Shibata Y, Okada E, Ojima T. Low zinc, copper, and manganese intake is associated with depression and anxiety symptoms in the Japanese working population: findings from the eating habit and well-being study. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:847. doi: 10.3390/nu11040847
- 22. Nguyen T, Miyagi S, Tsujiguchi H, Kambayashi Y, Hara A, Nakamura H, et al. Association between lower intake of minerals and depressive symptoms among elderly Japanese women but not men: findings from Shika study. *Nutrients.* (2019) 11:389. doi: 10.3390/nu11020389
- 23. Li D, Wu Q, Xu WZ, Zheng HY, Tong YQ, Li Y. Dietary manganese intake is inversely associated with depressive symptoms in midlife women: a cross-sectional study. J Affect Disord. (2020) 276:914–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.07.070
- Almeida TLF, Petarli GB, Cattafesta M, Zandonade E, Bezerra OMPA, Tristão KG, et al. Association of selenium intake and development of depression in Brazilian farmers. *Front Nutr.* (2021) 8:671377. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021.756637
- Ferriani LO, Silva DA, Molina M, Mill JG, Brunoni AR, da Fonseca M, et al. Associations of depression and intake of antioxidants and vitamin B complex: Results of the Brazilian Longitudinal Study of Adult Health (ELSA-Brasil). J Affect Disord. (2022) 297:259–68. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2021.10.027
- Liberati A, Altman DG, Tetzlaff J, Mulrow C, Gøtzsche PC, Ioannidis JP, et al. The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate healthcare interventions: explanation and elaboration. *BMJ*. (2009) 339:b2700. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2700
- Begg CB, Mazumdar M. Operating characteristics of a rank correlation test for publication bias. *Biometrics*. (1994) 50:1088–101. doi: 10.2307/2533446
- Travaglia A, Mendola DL, Magri A, Nicoletti VG, Pietropaolo A, Rizzarelli E. Copper, BDNF and Its N-terminal domain: inorganic features and biological perspectives. *Chemistry*. (2012) 18:15618–31. doi: 10.1002/chem.201202775
- Stuke H, Hellweg R, Bermpohl F. The development of depression: the role of brain-derived neurotrophic factor. *Nervenarzt.* (2012) 83:869– 77. doi: 10.1007/s00115-011-3374-8
- Xu J, He KW, Zhang KQ, Yang C, Nie LL, Dan D, et al. Low-dose copper exposure exacerbates depression-like behavior in ApoE4 transgenic mice. Oxid Med Cell Longev. (2021) 2021:6634181. doi: 10.1155/2021/ 6634181
- Roman M, Jitaru P, Barbante C. Selenium biochemistry and its role for human health. *Metallomics*. (2014) 6:25–54. doi: 10.1039/C3MT00185G

- 32. Bampi SR, Casaril AM, Fronza MG, Domingues M, Vieira B, Begnini KR, et al. The selenocompound 1-methyl-3-(phenylselanyl)-1H-indole attenuates depression-like behavior, oxidative stress, and neuroinflammation in streptozotocin-treated mice. *Brain Res Bull.* (2020) 161:158–65. doi: 10.1016/j.brainresbull.2020.05.008
- Horning KJ, Caito SW, Tipps KG, Bowman AB, Aschner M. Manganese is essential for neuronal health. *Annu Rev Nutr.* (2015) 35:71–108. doi: 10.1146/annurev-nutr-071714-034419
- 34. Chang CC, Chang HA, Fang WH, Chang TC, Huang SY. Gender-specific association between serotonin transporter polymorphisms (5-HTTLPR and rs25531) and neuroticism, anxiety and depression in well-defined healthy Han Chinese. J Affect Disord. (2017) 207:422–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.08.055
- Wurtman JJ. Depression and weight gain: the serotonin connection. J Affect Disord. (1993) 29:183–92. doi: 10.1016/0165-0327(93)90032-F
- 36. Sajjadi SS, Foshati S, Haddadian-Khouzani S, Rouhani MH. The role of selenium in depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis of human observational and interventional studies. *Sci Rep.* (2022) 12:1045. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-05078-1
- Duffield AJ, Thomson CD. A comparison of methods of assessment of dietary selenium intakes in Otago, New Zealand. Br J Nutr. (1999) 82:131– 8. doi: 10.1017/S0007114599001282
- Conner TS, Richardson AC, Miller JC. Optimal serum selenium concentrations are associated with lower depressive symptoms and negative mood among young adults. J Nutr. (2015) 145:59– 65. doi: 10.3945/jn.114.198010
- Ekramzadeh M, Mazloom Z, Sagheb M. Association of depression with selenium deficiency and nutritional markers in the patients with end-stage renal disease on hemodialysis. J Ren Nutr. (2015) 25:381– 7. doi: 10.1053/j.jrn.2014.12.005
- Gao SJ, Jin YL, Unverzagt FW, Liang CK, Hall KS, Cao JX, et al. Selenium level and depressive symptoms in a rural elderly Chinese cohort. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2012) 12:72. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-12-72
- Banikazemi Z, Mirzaei H, Mokhber N, Mobarhan MG. Selenium intake is related to Beck's depression score. *Iran Red Crescent Med J.* (2016) 18:e21993. doi: 10.5812/ircmj.21993
- Ni MM, You YP, Chen JY, Zhang LS. Copper in depressive disorder: a systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *Psychiatry Res.* (2018) 267:506–15. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2018.05.049
- Johnson LA, Phillips JA, Mauer C, Edwards M, Balldin VH, Hall JR. The impact of GPX1 on the association of groundwater selenium and depression: a Project FRONTIER study. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2013) 13:7. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-13-7
- 44. Huo HH, Wang SZ, Bai YM, Liao JZ, Li XR, Zhang H, et al. Copper exposure induces mitochondrial dynamic disorder and oxidative stress via mitochondrial unfolded protein response in pig fundic gland. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf.* (2021) 223:112587. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2021.112587
- 45. Guo HR, Wang YQ, Cui HM, Ouyang YJ, Yang TY, Liu CY, et al. Copper induces spleen damage through modulation of oxidative stress, apoptosis, DNA damage, and inflammation. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2022) 200:669– 77. doi: 10.1007/s12011-021-02672-8
- 46. Vinceti M, Filippini T, Wise LA, Rothman KJ. A systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of exposure to environmental selenium and the risk of type 2 diabetes in nonexperimental studies. *Environ Res.* (2021) 197:111210. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2021.111210
- Naderi M, Puar P, Zonouzi-Marand M, Chivers DP, Niyogi S, Kwong R. A comprehensive review on the neuropathophysiology of selenium. *Sci Total Environ.* (2021) 767:144329. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144329
- Adani G, Filippini T, Michalke B, Vinceti M. Selenium and other trace elements in the etiology of Parkinson's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis of case-control studies. *Neuroepidemiology*. (2020) 54:1– 23. doi: 10.1159/000502357
- Yuan H, He SC, He MW, Niu Q, Wang L, Wang S. A comprehensive study on neurobehavior, neurotransmitters and lymphocyte subsets alteration of Chinese manganese welding workers. *Life Sci.* (2006) 78:1324–8. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2005.07.008

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may

be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Ding and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## Association Between Dietary Total Antioxidant Capacity and Diet Quality in Adults

Asma Salari-Moghaddam<sup>1</sup>, Saeedeh Nouri-Majd<sup>2</sup>, Ammar Hassanzadeh Keshteli<sup>3</sup>, Fatemeh Emami<sup>4</sup>, Ahmad Esmaillzadeh<sup>2,5,6\*</sup> and Peyman Adibi<sup>7</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Biochemistry, School of Medicine, Ilam University of Medical Sciences, Ilam, Iran, <sup>2</sup> Department of Community Nutrition, School of Nutritional Sciences and Dietetics, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, <sup>3</sup> Department of Medicine, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada, <sup>4</sup> Ebnesina Hospital, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, <sup>5</sup> Department of Community Nutrition, School of Nutrition and Food Science, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran, <sup>6</sup> Obesity and Eating Habits Research Center, Endocrinology and Metabolism Molecular-Cellular Sciences Institute, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran, <sup>7</sup> Isfahan Gastroenterology and Hepatology Research Center, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Isfahan, Iran

**Background:** Diet quality is a major contributor to human health. In addition, antioxidants have a great contribution to several chronic conditions. The purpose of this study was to evaluate if dietary total antioxidant capacity (TAC) can be considered as a measure of diet quality in a Middle Eastern country.

### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Learn-Han Lee, Monash University Malaysia, Malaysia

#### Reviewed by:

Viduranga Y. Waisundara, Australian College of Business and Technology, Sri Lanka Emmanouela Sdona, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden

> \*Correspondence: Ahmad Esmaillzadeh a-esmaillzadeh@tums.ac.ir

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 18 December 2021 Accepted: 21 February 2022 Published: 04 April 2022

#### Citation:

Salari-Moghaddam A, Nouri-Majd S, Keshteli AH, Emami F, Esmaillzadeh A and Adibi P (2022) Association Between Dietary Total Antioxidant Capacity and Diet Quality in Adults. Front. Nutr. 9:838752. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.838752 **Methods:** In this cross-sectional study on 6,724 Iranian adults, we used a validated food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) to assess dietary intakes. Data derived from the FFQ was used to calculate dietary TAC and well-known diet quality scores including alternate healthy eating index (AHEI) and dietary diversity score (DDS). Dietary TAC was calculated based on the ferric reducing-antioxidant power (FRAP) values reported in earlier publications. AHEI and DDS have also been constructed based on previous publications. Cross-classification was used to examine the agreement between these measures.

**Results:** Mean age and BMI of study participants were  $36.89 \pm 8.08$  y and  $24.97 \pm 3.87$  kg/m<sup>2</sup>, respectively. We found that individuals in the highest tertile of dietary TAC had higher scores of AHEI ( $57.53 \pm 0.20$  vs.  $52.03 \pm 0.20$ , P < 0.001) and DDS ( $5.56 \pm 0.03$  vs.  $4.15 \pm 0.03$ , P < 0.001) compared with those in the lowest tertile. Participants' distribution on the basis of the cross-classification analysis indicated that the classifications were in exact agreement for 42.6%, within an adjacent tertile for 33.05%, and in gross misclassification for 20% of individuals. When this was examined between dietary TAC and DDS, we found that exact agreement in the classifications was for 59.2% of participants. Notably, a very low proportion of gross misclassification was seen in this regard such that only 6% of participants were classified in the opposing tertiles, indicating additional support for a good agreement.

**Conclusion:** We found that dietary TAC might be considered as a proper measure for the assessment of diet quality because it was well correlated with well-known measures of diet quality including DDS and AHEI scores.

Keywords: total antioxidant capacity, diet quality, dietary diversity score, alternate healthy eating index, TAC

## INTRODUCTION

Diet quality is a major determinant of the increased incidence of chronic diseases (1). It has been well-established that individuals with greater diet quality had a lower risk of cancer (2), diabetes (3) and cardiovascular diseases (4). Although several studies examined diet quality in relation to chronic conditions, the characteristics of a high-quality diet are not well established. Diets with a high quality include high amounts of fruit and vegetables, nuts, fish, legumes, and whole grains (5, 6). The beneficial effects of such diets in disease prevention cannot be attributed to a single nutrient and their effects are likely due to the interactions of all nutrients (7). Antioxidants are among important nutrients in foods included in the high quality diets. Most previous studies examining diet-disease relations have focused on a single antioxidant; however, dietary total antioxidant capacity (TAC) has been developed to assess cumulative, synergic and protective activities of all the antioxidants present in the diet (8). Similar to diets with a high quality, high dietary TAC was also inversely associated with stroke (9, 10), various types of cancer (11-14), cardiovascular diseases (15), diabetes (16), metabolic syndrome (17), and inflammation (18). Therefore, it seems that the effect of high quality diets on disease prevention might be mediated through its high dietary TAC.

Previous studies found a positive association between dietary TAC and dietary quality scores (19, 20). The application of suggested scoring methods for definition of high quality diets is important in the Middle Eastern countries, where the people's dietary intakes have its own characteristics. Given the different nature of diets in different geographical regions along with lack of information in the understudied region of the Middle East, the present study was done to investigate the association between dietary TAC and diet quality in a large sample of Iranian adults.

## METHODS AND MATERIALS

## **Study Design and Population**

This cross-sectional study was performed based on data from the Study on the Epidemiology of Psychological, Alimentary Health and Nutrition (SEPAHAN) project, which was a cross-sectional study looking at the prevalence of functional gastrointestinal disorders (FGIDs) and their relationship with lifestyle factors and psychological disorders. Details about SEPAHAN project have been published earlier (21). This study was performed among Iranian general adults working in 50 different healthcare centers affiliated to Isfahan University of Medical Sciences (IUMS) across Isfahan province. To collect information about anthropometric measures, demographic and lifestyle factors, including dietary intakes and physical activity, self-administered questionnaires were distributed among 10,087 subjects, and 8,691 participants returned the completed questionnaires (response rate: 86.16%). In the current analysis, we excluded subjects who reported their total daily energy intake outside the range of 800-4,200 kcal/d. We also excluded those who had missing data on any relevant variable. These exclusions resulted in a dataset of 6,724. All participants provided written inform consent forms. Although the protocol of SEPAHAN study was approved by the Regional Bioethics Committee of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, the current study was separately approved by the Research Council of School of Nutritional Sciences and Dietetics of Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran (Ethics code: IR.TUMS.VCR.REC.1398.131).

## **Dietary Intakes Assessment**

A self-administered, Willett-format, Dish-based, 106- item Semiquantitative Food Frequency Questionnaire (DS-FFQ), was used to assess dietary intakes. The questionnaire was designed and validated for use in Iranian adults. Details on design, foods included, and the validity of this questionnaire has been reported elsewhere (22). Briefly, we provided a comprehensive list of foods and dishes commonly consumed by Iranian adults. Then, those foods that were nutrient-rich, often consumed, or contributed to between-person variation were selected. Eventually, this process led to remaining of the 106 food items in 5 various categories in the questionnaire: (1) mixed dishes (cooked or canned, 29 items); (2) grains (different types of bread, biscuits, cakes and potato, 10 items); (3) dairy products (dairy, butter and cream, 9 items); (4) fruits and vegetables (22 items); and (5) miscellaneous food items and beverages (including fast foods, nuts, sweets, desserts and beverages, 36 items). In order to provide precise and accurate estimates, the portion size of foods and mixed dishes as a unit with the same perception were given to all people. Nine multiple choice frequency response categories ranging from "never or <1/month" to ">12/day" were provided for reporting dietary intakes of participants. The number of response categories for the food list varied from 6 to 9 choices. For foods consumed infrequently, we omitted the high-frequency categories, while the number of multiple choice categories increased for common foods with a high intake. Finally, daily intake of all food items was computed and then converted to grams per day using household measures (23). Daily nutrient intakes of each participant were estimated based on the US Department of Agriculture's (USDA) national nutrient databank (24). The validity of DS-FFQ was examined in a subgroup of 200 participants randomly selected for the SEPAHAN project. All participants in the validation study completed the DS-FFQ at study baseline and 6 months later. During this validation study, participants provided three detailed dietary records that were used as the gold standard. As shown in earlier studies (22), it seems that this questionnaire provides reasonably valid measures of long-term dietary intakes. Also, some recent studies have shown that FFQ was a valid questionnaire for assessing dietary quality scores (25).

## **Dietary TAC Assessment**

Dietary TAC was obtained from previous studies, based on the ferric reducing-antioxidant power (FRAP) values of 100 food items from the 106 selected food items. The food parameters that were not included in the TAC construction included salt, pepper, sugar, sugar loaf, gaz and nabat (traditional Iranian sweets), because the TAC value for these dietary factors was zero. The FRAP assay is a tool measuring the ability of dietary antioxidants to reduce ferric to ferrous ions. The FRAP values express as mmol per 100 grams of foods (mmol/100 g) (26). For similar food items

TAC and Diet Quality

in Iranian culture (e.g., several types of breads), we calculated the overall mean value. Finally, the frequencies of consumption of each food item were multiplied by their related FRAP values and then summed up to obtain dietary TAC for each participant.

## **Dietary Diversity Score**

A method described by Kant et al. (27, 28) was used for scoring dietary diversity. This method was based on five groups including grains, vegetables, fruits, meats, and dairy, all food groups in the USDA food guide pyramid. The grains group was composed of seven components: refined bread, macaroni, whole grain bread, corn flakes, rice, biscuit, and refined flour. As we had no data about intake of corn flakes, we decided to consider six components. Fruit was defined by summing up fruit and fruit juice, berries, and citrus fruits. In terms of vegetables, we summed up mixed vegetables, potato, tomato, other starchy vegetables, legumes, yellow vegetables, and green vegetables. The group of meat was composed of red meat, poultry, fish, and eggs and the group of dairy was composed of milk, yogurt, and cheese.

Participants were considered as a "consumer," and scored as 1, for each component of food groups if they had intakes higher than median levels; otherwise they were given the score of 0. Then the scores for components in each food group were summed up to have total score of that food group. Then, we divided total scores obtained in each group to the number of components in that group. This value was then multiplied by 2. Total DDS for each participant was then computed by summing up the figures for food groups. For example, in the grains group, if a person had dietary intakes of whole grain bread, macaroni, and rice higher than the median values, her or his score was calculated as  $(3/6) \times 2 = 1$ . Therefore, the diversity score for the grains group would be 1 for that person. After computing the diversity score for the other four groups in that person, total DDS was computed. Therefore, minimum and maximum scores of total dietary diversity for each participant were between 0 and 10.

## Alternate Healthy Eating Index

To calculate AHEI-2010, a method designed by Kennedy et al. was used (29-31). AHEI-2010 consisted of eleven components: fruit, vegetables, whole grains, nuts and legumes, long-chain n-3 fats (DHA and EPA), PUFA, alcohol consumption, sugarsweetened drinks and fruit juice, red and processed meats, transfat and sodium. In the current study, alcohol consumption was not included into the score, because of the lack of information in the original dataset. To construct the index, first we obtained energy-adjusted intakes of the above-mentioned components by using the residual method (32). Next, participants were classified based on decile categories of energy-adjusted intakes of these components. As scoring by deciles would be least prone to misclassification, we used decile categories of components instead of other classifications. Individuals in the highest deciles of fruits, vegetables, whole grains, nuts and legumes, long-chain n-3 fats and PUFA were given a score of 10, and those in the lowest decile of these items were given a score of 1. Individuals in the other deciles of these components were assigned the corresponding scores. Regarding sugar-sweetened drinks and fruit juice, red and processed meat, trans-fatty acids, and sodium intake, the lowest decile was given a score of 10 and the highest decile was given a score of 1. Those in deciles 9, 8, 7, 6, 5, 4, 3, and 2 of these components were given scores of 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9, respectively. The whole AHEI-2010 was computed through summing up the scores of its components ranging from 10 to 100.

## Assessment of Other Variables

Required information on other variables including age, sex, marital status, smoking status, and education was obtained from demographic and medical history questionnaires. Physical activity was assessed using the General Practice Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPPAQ) (18). Based on participants' responses, they were classified into 4 categories; (1) inactive, (2) moderately inactive, (3) moderately active, (4) active. However, in the current study, due to low number of subjects in some of the above-mentioned categories, individuals in the "inactive" and "moderately inactive" groups were combined and were defined as those with "sedentary physical activity". Similarly, individuals in the "moderately active" and "active" categories were combined and then defined as "physically active". Anthropometric measures including weight and height were assessed using a self-administered questionnaire. Body Mass Index (BMI) was calculated by dividing weight (kg) to height (m<sup>2</sup>). The correlation coefficient for computed BMI from selfreported values, and the one from measured values was 0.70 (P < 0.001).

## **Statistical Analysis**

We classified participants based on tertiles cut-off points of dietary TAC. General characteristics of study participants across tertiles of dietary TAC were presented as means  $\pm$  SDs for continuous variables and percentages for categorical variables. To examine the differences across tertiles, we used ANOVA for continuous variables and chi-square test for categorical variables. The multivariable-adjusted means for AHEI and DDS across tertiles of dietary TAC were computed and compared using ANCOVA. In these analyses, energy intake was controlled for in the first model. Further adjustments were made for age (continuous) and sex (male/female) in the second model. BMI (continuous) was controlled for in the third model. Crossclassification of participants across tertiles of TAC, DDS and AHEI was examined. In this analysis, exact agreement was defined when individuals were classified in the same tertiles based on TAC and DDS or AHEI. When individuals were classified in the opposing tertiles, this was considered as gross misclassification. All statistical analyses were done using the Statistical Package for Social Sciences (version 20; SPSS Inc.). P < 0.05 was considered as statistically significant.

## RESULTS

Median and range of TAC, DDS, and AHEI was 2010.68 (range: 418.09–5,247.56), 4.92 (range: 0–10), and 55 (range: 26–90), respectively. General characteristics of study participants across tertiles of dietary TAC are shown in **Table 1**. Participants in the top tertile of dietary TAC were more likely to be older, physically

#### **TABLE 1** | General characteristics of study participants across tertiles of dietary TAC.

	Tertiles of dietary TAC				
	T <sub>1</sub>	T <sub>2</sub>	T <sub>3</sub>	P-value <sup>a</sup>	
	(418.1–1,720.4)	(1,720.5–2,332.4)	(2,333.2–5,247.5)		
Age, y	$36.48 \pm 8.05$	36.61 ± 7.87	37.58 ± 8.29	<0.001	
BMI, kg/m <sup>2</sup>	$24.92 \pm 3.93$	$24.88 \pm 3.80$	$25.10 \pm 3.86$	0.12	
Energy intake, kcal/d	$1,616.5 \pm 473$	$2,375.5 \pm 572$	$3,122.9 \pm 631$	< 0.001	
Female, %	62.5 (1,401)	59.7 (1,339)	54.8 (1,229)	< 0.001	
Married, %	83.3 (1,820)	82.8 (1,816)	82.5 (1,811)	0.46	
Physically active ( $\geq 1$ h/week), %	32.5 (663)	32.4 (675)	36.0 (752)	0.02	
Overweight or obese, %	45.6 (1,018)	45.9 (1,026)	48.6 (1,083)	0.08	
Current smokers, %	3.0 (58)	3.3 (64)	5.3 (105)	< 0.001	
Education (university graduate), %	56.3 (1,234)	63.5 (1,393)	60.8 (1,330)	<0.001	

Data are mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD) or percent (number).

<sup>a</sup>Obtained from ANOVA or chi-square test, where appropriate.

TAC, total antioxidant capacity.

 TABLE 2 | Mean scores of AHEI and DDS across tertiles of dietary TAC.

	Те			
	T <sub>1</sub>	T <sub>2</sub>	T <sub>3</sub>	<i>P</i> -value <sup>a</sup>
Subjects, n	2,241	2,242	2,241	
AHEI				
Crude	$52.06\pm0.16$	$54.87\pm0.16$	$57.52\pm0.16$	< 0.001
Model I	$51.99\pm0.20$	$54.87\pm0.16$	$57.58\pm0.20$	<0.001
Model II	$52.00\pm0.20$	$54.87\pm0.16$	$57.57\pm0.20$	<0.001
Model III	$52.03\pm0.20$	$54.87\pm0.16$	$57.53\pm0.20$	<0.001
DDS				
Crude	$3.33\pm0.03$	$5.03\pm0.03$	$6.37\pm0.03$	<0.001
Model I	$4.15\pm0.03$	$5.03\pm0.02$	$5.56\pm0.03$	<0.001
Model II	$4.15\pm0.03$	$5.03\pm0.02$	$5.55\pm0.03$	<0.001
Model III	$4.15\pm0.03$	$5.03\pm0.02$	$5.56\pm0.03$	< 0.001

Т	ABLE 3   Participants'	distribution	across	tertiles	of dietary	TAC, AHEI	, and [	DDS.

	Te			
	Τ <sub>1</sub>	T <sub>2</sub>	T <sub>3</sub>	<i>P</i> -value <sup>a</sup>
AHEI				<0.001
T <sub>1</sub>	47.7 (1,070)	33.6 (753)	21.4 (479)	
T <sub>2</sub>	33.7 (755)	34.3 (769)	32.8 (735)	
T <sub>3</sub>	18.6 (416)	32.1 (719)	45.8 (1,027)	
DDS				< 0.001
T <sub>1</sub>	68.1 (1,525)	24.7 (553)	7.7 (173)	
T <sub>2</sub>	27.6 (619)	44.3 (993)	27.0 (605)	
T <sub>3</sub>	4.3 (97)	31.0 (696)	65.3 (1,463)	

Data are percent (number).

<sup>a</sup>Obtained from chi-square test.

AHEI, alternate healthy eating index; DDS, dietary diversity score; TAC, total antioxidant capacity.

Participants' distribution on the basis of cross-classification analysis between tertiles of dietary TAC and AHEI indicated that the classifications were in exact agreement for 42.6%, within an adjacent tertile for 33.05%, and in gross misclassification for 20% of individuals. When this was examined between dietary TAC and DDS, we found that exact agreement in the classifications was for 59.2% of participants. Notably, a very low proportion of gross misclassification was seen in this regard such that only 6% of participants were classified in the opposing tertiles, indicating additional support for a good agreement (**Table 3**).

## DISCUSSION

In this cross-sectional study, we investigated if dietary TAC can be considered as a measure for healthy eating. We found that participants in the highest tertiles of dietary TAC had higher scores of AHEI and DDS as well. Given the proper agreements

Data are mean	$\pm$	standard	error	(SE).
---------------	-------	----------	-------	-------

<sup>a</sup>Obtained from ANCOVA.

Model I: adjusted for energy intake.

Model II: additionally, adjusted for age and sex.

Model III: additionally, adjusted for BMI.

AHEI, alternate healthy eating index; DDS, dietary diversity score; TAC, total antioxidant capacity.

active, current smokers, and university graduated and less likely to be female. No significant difference was found in terms of other variables.

Crude and multivariable-adjusted means for AHEI and DDS across tertiles of dietary TAC are shown in **Table 2**. After controlling for energy intake, age, sex, and BMI, we found that individuals in the highest tertile of dietary TAC had higher scores of AHEI compared with those in the lowest tertile (57.53  $\pm$  0.20 vs. 52.03  $\pm$  0.20, P < 0.001). In the fully adjusted model, individuals in the top tertile of dietary TAC had higher scores of DDS (5.56  $\pm$  0.03 vs. 4.15  $\pm$  0.03, P < 0.001) compared with those in the bottom tertile.
between dietary TAC and AHEI and DDS, we concluded that dietary TAC can be a good and appropriate measure for healthy eating.

Dietary TAC was used to assess dietary antioxidants. It was associated with reduced risk of various chronic diseases (9, 10, 14-17). On the other hand, indicators of healthy eating were also previously linked with a lower risk of mortality and several chronic conditions. Therefore, we assumed that dietary TAC might be a good indicator for diet quality as well. Poor diet quality has been associated with increased risk of chronic diseases (33). Identification of nutrients involved in increasing the quality of the diet might help individuals to make accurate food choices. Investigating the association between dietary TAC and diet quality is a novel concept and few studies have been done in this regard so far. We found that high quality diets contained greater dietary TAC. In line with our study, Ha et al. reported that high dietary TAC was correlated with greater adherence to the diet quality index scores (DQIS) including Healthy Eating Index (HEI), Alternative Healthy Eating Index (AHEI), alternate Mediterranean Diet (aMED), and Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) (20). Similar findings were also reported by Puchau et al. in which dietary TAC was positively associated with dietary quality scores including HEI, AHEI, Diet Quality Index-International (DQII), Diet Quality Index-Revised (DQIR), Mediterranean Diet Score (MDS), Alternate Mediterranean Diet Score (AMDS), Modified Mediterranean Diet Score (MMDS), Quantitative Index for Dietary Diversity (QIDD), and Recommended Food Score (RFS) (19). Overall, it seems that dietary TAC can be considered as a measure of diet quality. In other words, recommending general population to increase their dietary antioxidants intake might result in increased quality of their diet, as measured by indicators of diet quality.

An imbalance between antioxidants and pro-oxidants in the body leads to oxidative stress, which is the basis for several diseases. Oxidative stress occurs when there is an overproduction of ROS or an enzymatic or non-enzymatic deficiency of antioxidants in the body. Fruits and vegetables as rich sources of antioxidants in the diet can act as anti-aging agents and are beneficial for health (34). Greater dietary TAC, as compared with a low dietary TAC, has been associated with lower levels of inflammation, as measured by high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (35). In addition, dietary TAC was positively associated with food group intake including fruits, vegetables, whole grains, legumes, nuts, seeds, and seafood, and inversely related to red and processed meat consumption (20). Therefore, it seems that dietary TAC is a good measure to classify food groups in terms of their contribution to human health and may also be considered to measure the quality of the diet. Application of TAC assessment might be that, instead of the whole diet assessment, we can assess limited numbers of dietary factors to assess peoples' adherence to a healthy diet.

The use of cross-classification of participants in terms of dietary TAC and AHEI and large sample size of the study might be considered as some strengths of this study. In addition, it

must be kept in mind that these findings came from a region where data on dietary information and dietary measurements by valid methods are scarce. Given the unique characteristics of diet in Middle Eastern countries, having information about appropriate measures to define quality diets in this area is of importance. However, this study has some limitations that should be considered when interpreting our results. Due to the application of FFQ for dietary assessment, measurement errors and misclassification of participants is unavoidable. However, we used a validated FFQ for assessment of dietary intakes to minimize the bias in dietary assessments. In addition, we did not examine the validity of this questionnaire for assessment of dietary TAC. However, earlier publications based on this questionnaire have revealed that data on dietary TAC from this questionnaire can be used to predict the chronic conditions (36). Moreover, some components of DDS and AHEI including corn flakes and alcohol consumption were not considered in this study, because of the lack of data in the original data set. The usage of FRAP to assess the TAC of the food items is another limitation. This essay has an inherent error where the reagents react with atmospheric Oxygen, thereby, rendering the values interfered.

In conclusion, we found that dietary TAC might be considered as a proper measure for assessment of diet quality, because it was well correlated with well-known measures of diet quality including DDS and AHEI scores.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, via email request to the corresponding author.

## ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Regional Bioethics Committee of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AS-M, SN-M, FE, and AK: conceptualization, formal analysis, writing—original draft, and writing—review and editing. AE: supervision, conceptualization, methodology, investigation, funding acquisition, formal analysis, writing—original draft, and writing—review and editing. PA: conceptualization, investigation, and methodology. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are thankful to participants of SEPAHAN project and authorities of Isfahan University of Medical Sciences for their excellent cooperation.

## REFERENCES

- McCullough ML, Feskanich D, Stampfer MJ, Giovannucci EL, Rimm EB, Hu FB, et al. Diet quality and major chronic disease risk in men and women: moving toward improved dietary guidance. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2002) 76:1261– 71. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/76.6.1261
- Couto E, Boffetta P, Lagiou P, Ferrari P, Buckland G, Overvad K, et al. Mediterranean dietary pattern and cancer risk in the EPIC cohort. *Br J Cancer*. (2011) 104:1493–9. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2011.106
- Chiuve SE, Fung TT, Rimm EB, Hu FB, McCullough ML, Wang M, et al. Alternative dietary indices both strongly predict risk of chronic disease. J Nutr. (2012) 142:1009–18. doi: 10.3945/jn.111.1 57222
- Reedy J, Krebs-Smith SM, Miller PE, Liese AD, Kahle LL, Park Y, et al. Higher diet quality is associated with decreased risk of all-cause, cardiovascular disease, and cancer mortality among older adults. J Nutr. (2014) 144:881– 9. doi: 10.3945/jn.113.189407
- Neelakantan N, Koh W-P, Yuan J-M, van Dam RM. Diet-quality indexes are associated with a lower risk of cardiovascular, respiratory, and all-cause mortality among Chinese adults. J Nutr. (2018) 148:1323– 32. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxy094
- Mandalazi E, Drake I, Wirfält E, Orho-Melander M, Sonestedt E. A high diet quality based on dietary recommendations is not associated with lower incidence of type 2 diabetes in the Malmö diet and cancer cohort. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2016) 17:901. doi: 10.3390/ijms170 60901
- Tapsell LC, Neale EP, Satija A, Hu FB. Foods, nutrients, and dietary patterns: interconnections and implications for dietary guidelines. *Adv Nutr.* (2016) 7:445–54. doi: 10.3945/an.115.011718
- Prior RL. Oxygen radical absorbance capacity (ORAC): new horizons in relating dietary antioxidants/bioactives and health benefits. J Funct Foods. (2015) 18:797–810. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2014.12.018
- Del Rio D, Agnoli C, Pellegrini N, Krogh V, Brighenti F, Mazzeo T, et al. Total antioxidant capacity of the diet is associated with lower risk of ischemic stroke in a large Italian cohort. J Nutr. (2011) 141:118–23. doi: 10.3945/jn.110.1 25120
- Colarusso L, Serafini M, Lagerros YT, Nyren O, La Vecchia C, Rossi M, et al. Dietary antioxidant capacity and risk for stroke in a prospective cohort study of Swedish men and women. *Nutrition.* (2017) 33:234– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2016.07.009
- La Vecchia C, Decarli A, Serafini M, Parpinel M, Bellocco R, Galeone C, et al. Dietary total antioxidant capacity and colorectal cancer: a large casecontrol study in Italy. *Int J Cancer*. (2013) 133:1447–51. doi: 10.1002/ijc. 28133
- Lucas AL, Bosetti C, Boffetta P, Negri E, Tavani A, Serafini M, et al. Dietary total antioxidant capacity and pancreatic cancer risk: an Italian case-control study. *Br J Cancer*. (2016) 115:102–7. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2016.114
- Serafini M, Jakszyn P, Lujan-Barroso L, Agudo A, Bas Bueno-de-Mesquita H, van Duijnhoven FJ, et al. Dietary total antioxidant capacity and gastric cancer risk in the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition study. *Int J Cancer*. (2012) 131:E544–54. doi: 10.1002/ijc.27347
- Parohan M, Sadeghi A, Khatibi SR, Nasiri M, Milajerdi A, Khodadost M, et al. Dietary total antioxidant capacity and risk of cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis on observational studies. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol.* (2019) 138:70–86. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2019. 04.003
- Rautiainen S, Levitan EB, Mittleman MA, Wolk A. Total antioxidant capacity of diet and risk of heart failure: a population-based prospective cohort of women. *Am J Med.* (2013) 126:494–500. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2013. 01.006
- Psaltopoulou T, Panagiotakos DB, Pitsavos C, Chrysochoou C, Detopoulou P, Skoumas J, et al. Dietary antioxidant capacity is inversely associated with diabetes biomarkers: the ATTICA study. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2011) 21:561–7. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2009. 11.005
- 17. Bahadoran Z, Golzarand M, Mirmiran P, Shiva N, Azizi F. Dietary total antioxidant capacity and the occurrence of metabolic syndrome and its

components after a 3-year follow-up in adults: Tehran Lipid and Glucose Study. *Nutr Metab.* (2012) 9:70. doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-9-70

- Brighenti F, Valtuena S, Pellegrini N, Ardigo D, Del Rio D, Salvatore S, et al. Total antioxidant capacity of the diet is inversely and independently related to plasma concentration of high-sensitivity C-reactive protein in adult Italian subjects. *Br J Nutr.* (2005) 93:619–25. doi: 10.1079/BJN20051400
- Puchau B, Zulet MA, de Echavarri AG, Hermsdorff HH, Martinez JA. Dietary total antioxidant capacity: a novel indicator of diet quality in healthy young adults. J Am Coll Nutr. (2009) 28:648–56. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2009.10719797
- Ha K, Kim K, Sakaki JR, Chun OK. Relative validity of dietary total antioxidant capacity for predicting all-cause mortality in comparison to diet quality indexes in US adults. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:1210. doi: 10.3390/nu120 51210
- Adibi P, Keshteli AH, Esmaillzadeh A, Afshar H, Roohafza H, Bagherian-Sararoudi R, et al. The study on the epidemiology of psychological, alimentary health and nutrition (SEPAHAN): overview of methodology. *J Res Med Sci.* (2012) 17:S292–8.
- 22. Keshteli AH, Esmaillzadeh A, Rajaie S, Askari G, Feinle-Bisset C, Adibi P. A dish-based semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaire for assessment of dietary intakes in epidemiologic studies in Iran: design and development. *Int J Prevent Med.* (2014) 5:29.
- 23. Ghaffarpour M, Houshiar-Rad A, Kianfar H. The manual for household measures, cooking yields factors and edible portion of foods. *Tehran: Nashre Olume Keshavarzy.* (1999) 7:42–58.
- 24. Haytowitz D LL, Pehrsson P, Exler J, Patterson K, Thomas R, et al. USDA National Nutrient Database for Standard Reference, Release 24. Washington, DC: US Department of Agriculture (2011).
- 25. Yue Y, Yuan C, Wang DD, Wang M, Song M, Shan Z, et al. Reproducibility and validity of diet quality scores derived from foodfrequency questionnaires. Am J Clin Nutr. (2021). doi: 10.1093/ajcn/n qab368
- Haytowitz DB, Bhagwat S. USDA database for the oxygen radical absorbance capacity (ORAC) of selected foods, Release 2. US Dept Agric. (2010) 54:10–48.
- Kant AK, Schatzkin A, Ziegler RG. Dietary diversity and subsequent cause-specific mortality in the NHANES I epidemiologic follow-up study. J Am Coll Nutr. (1995) 14:233–8. doi: 10.1080/07315724.1995.10 718501
- Kant AK, Block G, Schatzkin A, Ziegler RG, Nestle M. Dietary diversity in the US population, NHANES II, 1976-1980. J Am Dietetic Assoc. (1991) 91:1526–31. doi: 10.1016/S0002-8223(21)01428-0
- 29. Kennedy E. Putting the pyramid into action: the healthy eating index and food quality score. *Asia Pacific J Clin Nutr.* (2008) 17 (Suppl. 1):70–4.
- Kennedy ET, Ohls J, Carlson S, Fleming K. The healthy eating index: design and applications. J Am Dietetic Assoc. (1995) 95:1103–8. doi: 10.1016/S0002-8223(95)00300-2
- Akbaraly TN, Ferrie JE, Berr C, Brunner EJ, Head J, Marmot MG, et al. Alternative healthy eating index and mortality over 18 y of follow-up: results from the Whitehall II cohort. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2011) 94:247– 53. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.111.013128
- Willett WC, Howe GR, Kushi LH. Adjustment for total energy intake in epidemiologic studies. Am J Clin Nutr. (1997) 65 (4 Suppl.):1220S-8S. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/65.4.1220S
- 33. Fanelli SM, Jonnalagadda SS, Pisegna JL, Kelly OJ, Krok-Schoen JL, Taylor CA. Poorer diet quality observed among US adults with a greater number of clinical chronic disease risk factors. J Prim Care Commun Health. (2020) 11:2150132720945898. doi: 10.1177/2150132720945898
- Sotler R, Poljšak B, Dahmane R, Jukić T, Pavan Jukić D, Rotim C, et al. Prooxidant activities of antioxidants and their impact on health. *Acta Clinica Croatica*. (2019) 58:726–36. doi: 10.20471/acc.2019.58.04.20
- 35. Valtueña S, Pellegrini N, Franzini L, Bianchi MA, Ardigo D, Del Rio D, et al. Food selection based on total antioxidant capacity can modify antioxidant intake, systemic inflammation, and liver function without altering markers of oxidative stress. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2008) 87:1290–7. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/87.5.1290
- 36. Sasanfar B, Toorang F, Maleki F, Esmaillzadeh A, Zendehdel K. Association between dietary total antioxidant capacity and breast cancer: a case-control

study in a Middle Eastern country. *Public Health nutr.* (2021) 24:965–72. doi: 10.1017/S1368980019004397

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Salari-Moghaddam, Nouri-Majd, Keshteli, Emami, Esmaillzadeh and Adibi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## Potential Antimicrobial Properties of Coffee Beans and Coffee By-Products Against Drug-Resistant Vibrio cholerae

## Anchalee Rawangkan<sup>1,2</sup>, Achiraya Siriphap<sup>1</sup>, Atchariya Yosboonruang<sup>1</sup>, Anong Kiddee<sup>1</sup>, Grissana Pook-In<sup>1</sup>, Surasak Saokaew<sup>3,4,5</sup>, Orasa Sutheinkul<sup>6</sup> and Acharaporn Duangjai<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> School of Medical Sciences, University of Phayao, Phayao, Thailand, <sup>2</sup> Unit of Excellence in Research and Product Development of Coffee, Division of Physiology, School of Medical Sciences, University of Phayao, Phayao, Thailand, <sup>3</sup> Division of Social and Administrative Pharmacy, Department of Pharmaceutical Care, School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Phayao, Phayao, Thailand, <sup>4</sup> Center of Health Outcomes Research and Therapeutic Safety (Cohorts), School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Phayao, Phayao, Thailand, <sup>5</sup> Unit of Excellence on Clinical Outcomes Research and IntegratioN (UNICORN), School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Phayao, Phayao, Thailand, <sup>6</sup> Faculty of Public Health, Mahidol University, Bangkok, Thailand

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Luigi Castaldo, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Niramol Punbusayakul, Burapha University, Thailand Min Cao, Clemson University, United States

#### \*Correspondence:

Acharaporn Duangjai achara.phso@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 30 January 2022 Accepted: 21 March 2022 Published: 25 April 2022

#### Citation:

Rawangkan A, Siriphap A, Yosboonruang A, Kiddee A, Pook-In G, Saokaew S, Sutheinkul O and Duangjai A (2022) Potential Antimicrobial Properties of Coffee Beans and Coffee By-Products Against Drug-Resistant Vibrio cholerae. Front. Nutr. 9:865684. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.865684

Vibrio cholerae is the causative organism of the cholera epidemic, and it remains a serious global health problem, particularly the multidrug-resistant strain, despite the development of several generic drugs and vaccines over time. Natural products have long been exploited for the treatment of various diseases, and this study aimed to evaluate the in vitro antibacterial activity of coffee beans and coffee by-products against V. cholerae antimicrobial resistant strains. A total of 9 aqueous extracts were investigated, including light coffee (LC), medium coffee (MC), dark coffee (DC), dried green coffee (DGC), dried red coffee (DRC), fresh red coffee (FRC), Arabica leaf (AL), Robusta leaf (RL), and coffee pulp (CP). The influential coffee phytochemicals, i.e., chlorogenic acid (CGA), caffeic acid (CA), and caffeine, were determined using HPLC. The antibacterial properties were tested by agar well-diffusion techniques, and the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) and minimum bactericidal concentration (MBC) were further determined against 20 V. cholerae isolates. The results revealed that all tested strains were sensitive to coffee extracts, with MIC and MBC values in the range of 3.125-25.0 mg/mL and 12.5-50.0 mg/mL, respectively. With a MIC of 6.25 mg/mL, DGC, DRC, and CP appeared to be the most effective compounds against 65, 60, and 55% of clinical strains, respectively. The checkerboard assay revealed that the combination of coffee extract and tetracycline was greater than either treatment alone, with the fractional inhibitory concentration index (FICI) ranging from 0.005 to 0.258. It is important to note that CP had the lowest FICI (0.005) when combined with tetracycline at 60 ng/mL, which is the most effective dose against V. cholerae six-drug resistance strains (azithromycin, colistin, nalidixic acid, sulfamethoxazole, tetracycline, and trimethoprim), with a MIC of 47.5  $\mu$ g/mL (MIC alone = 12.5 mg/mL). Time killing kinetics analysis suggested that CA might be the most effective treatment for drug-resistant V. cholerae as it reduced bacterial growth by 3 log<sub>10</sub> CFU/mL at a concentration of 8 mg/mL within 1 h, via disrupting membrane permeability, as confirmed by scanning electron microscopy (SEM). This is the first report showing that coffee beans and coffee by-product extracts are an alternative for multidrug-resistant *V. cholerae* treatment.

Keywords: antimicrobial activity, coffee by-products, coffee extract, drug-resistant, Vibrio cholerae

## INTRODUCTION

Cholera is an acute diarrheal infection caused by the consumption of contaminated food or water containing the gram-negative bacteria *Vibrio cholerae*, especially the serogroups O1 and O139, which are capable of causing cholera outbreaks that can kill within hours if left untreated. Seven cholera pandemics have already been reported throughout the world (1). According to the most recent global burden estimate, there are approximately 1.3–4.0 million cholera cases per year, with 21,000–143,000 deaths worldwide (2). Despite the availability of a vaccine, 923,037 cases were reported from 31 countries in 2019, with 1,911 deaths (a mortality rate of 0.2%) (3). According to World Health Organization (WHO) reports, a global cholera control strategy called "Ending Cholera: A Global Roadmap to 2030" was created with the goal of reducing the mortality rate by 90% (4).

Oral rehydration therapy, supplemented with antibiotics such as tetracycline, fluoroquinolones, and azithromycin, is the primary treatment for V. cholerae (5). Due to its extraordinary genomic plasticity, treatment failures have become more common in recent years, with the recurrence of antimicrobial resistant V. cholerae (6-11). The rise of drug-resistant V. cholerae is a major public health concern because the illnesses that occur are often more severe and difficult to treat. Infections with drug-resistant V. cholerae lead to greater mortality rates, longer hospital stays, more secondary infections, and higher medical expenses (12). In Thailand, 61.5% (48 of 78 isolates) of V. cholerae isolates between 1991 and 2013 were reported to be antimicrobial resistant strains, with 56.3% of them being multidrug-resistant (MDR) and conferring resistance to three or more antimicrobial classes (13). It is important to note that the development of antibiotic resistance outpaces the development of new drugs, resulting in a global problem with long-term negative consequences. Therefore, the development of new anti-Vibrio compounds, particularly those derived from plants, has become critical.

Natural compounds against *V. cholerae* have been shown to inhibit bacterial growth or the secreted cholera toxin, including catechins from green tea (*Camellia sinensis*) (14), procyanidins from *Guazuma* (*Guazuma ulmifolia*) (15), gallate analogs from Daio (*Rhei rhizoma*) (16), apelphenon from apple (*Malus* spp.) (17), procyanidins from hop (*Humulus lupulus*) (18), oil (diallyl sulfides) from elephant garlic (*Allium ampeloprasum*) (19), and capsaicin from red chili (*Capsicum annum*) (20, 21). Piperidine, chlorogenic acid (CGA), and eugenyl acetate derived from *Piper betel* have also been shown to be equally effective against MDR strains of *V. cholerae* (22–24). Carvacrol, a major essential oil fraction of Oregano (*Origanum vulgare*), inhibited the virulence of *V. cholerae* by inhibiting mucin penetration, adhesion, and the expression of virulence-associated genes (*tcpA*, *ctxB*, *hlyA*, and *toxT*), resulting in reduced fluid accumulation (25). On the other hand, cranberry (*Vaccinium macrocarpon*) extract inhibited *V. cholerae* biofilm formation, possibly by modulating the cyclic dimeric guanosine monophosphate (c-di-GMP) level (26). Furthermore, methanolic extracts of basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.), nopal cactus (*Opuntia ficus-indica* var. Villanueva L.), sweet acacia (*Acacia farnesiana* L.), and white sagebrush (*Artemisia ludoviciana* Nutt.) were found to be the most active against *V. cholerae* via cell membrane disruption (27). However, there has been no mention of coffee extract.

Coffee (Coffea L.) is one of the world's most valuable primary products (28). C. arabica L. cv. Caturra (Arabica) is the most popular and preferred coffee cultivar worldwide. Coffee processing generates a large amount of solid by-products during coffee cultivation and preparation, such as spent coffee grounds, the by-products of coffee fruit and bean processing (coffee husks, peel, pulp), and so on (29). Recently, we revealed that coffee beans or coffee by-product extract, which are high in phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity, seem to have a wide-range of health benefits, including anti-hyperglycaemic and anti-hyperlipidaemic activities (30), anti-adipogenic and lipolytic properties (31), anti-diabetic, cholesterol-lowering, and antihepatic steatosis activity (32-34), anti-hepatic steatosis activity (35, 36), as well as antibacterial activity against both grampositive and gram-negative bacteria (37). Therefore, the use of coffee extracts with medicinal properties could be an alternative treatment for various diseases.

Coffee beans contain a variety of compounds with powerful bioactive activities, i.e., caffeine, CGA, diterpenes, and trigonelline (38). Several studies have shown that coffee extracts have strong antibacterial activity (39–42). Flavonoids, CGA, caffeic acid (CA), trigonelline, caffeine, and protocatechuic acid play a key role as potential natural antimicrobial agents against enteric bacteria (40, 43, 44), but there is no relevant data on *V. cholerae*. Nevertheless, the efficacy varies, depending on the species, degree of roasting, brewing procedure, and decaffeination (45). Coffee varieties from various origins differ significantly in terms of their constituents, and multiple agricultural geography conditions of the coffee plant, such as the soil type, altitude, and harvest season, as well as the preand post-harvest management practices, influence coffee bean bioactivity (46, 47).

For the first time, we shed light on the potential antimicrobial properties of coffee beans and coffee by-products against MDR *V. cholerae* in health improvement treatments. With this goal,

this work seeks (1) to examine the antimicrobial activity of coffee beans, classified by temperature and roasting time, as well as coffee by-product extracts, such as coffee fruits and leaf extracts, and coffee pulp (CP) extract, (2) to investigate the synergistic effects of the crude extract compounds of coffee with the antibiotic tetracycline, and (3) to assess the pharmacological mode of action of coffee bioactive molecules with respect to potential disruption in the membrane of microorganisms and their effect on bacterial morphology, which may be helpful to bring about new opportunities in complementary and alternative medicine.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## Preparation and Phytochemical Characterization of Coffee Beans and Coffee By-Products

#### Plant Materials and Extract Preparation

The Chao-Thai-Pukao Factory (Chiang Mai, Thailand) provided coffee beans and coffee by-products. As indicated in the previous report, NU003806 was the coffee tree's voucher number (30).

## Roasted Coffee Extracts: Light Coffee, Medium Coffee, and Dark Coffee

The roasted coffee extracts were prepared from green coffee beans (*Coffea arabica* L.), with the degree of roasting performed in accordance with previous studies (30, 48). Light coffee (LC), medium coffee (MC), and dark coffee (DC) are classified by the roasting temperature and roasting time (176.7–232.2°C and 10–20 min). The roasted coffee was extracted with water (1:5; w/v) using an ultrasonic bath at 35 kHz at 40°C for 5 min. The filtered samples were dried using a freeze dryer (CoolSafe 110-4 Pro, LaboGeneTM, Allerød, Denmark), and the LC, MC, and DC extracts were then stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C for further study.

## Coffee Fruit Extracts: Dried Green Coffee, Dried Red Coffee, and Fresh Red Coffee

Coffee fruit extracts were prepared according to previous studies (31, 32). Briefly, fresh and dried coffee fruits were extracted with boiling distilled water for 30 min (1:10; w/v). The aqueous solution was dried by a freeze dryer (CoolSafe 110-4 Pro, LaboGeneTM, Allerød, Denmark), and the powder of dried green coffee (DGC), dried red coffee (DRC), and fresh red coffee (FRC) were stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C until use.

#### Coffee Leaf Extracts: Arabica Leaf and Robusta Leaf

*Coffea arabica* L. cv. Caturra (Arabica) and *C. canephora* var. robusta (Robusta) leaves were extracted with boiling water (1:5; w/v) for 10 min. This step was repeated three times, and then the filtered solutions were freeze dried. The powder was stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C until further examination.

#### Coffee Pulp Extract

The coffee pulp (CP) was extracted according to a previous study (37). Briefly, dried pulps were extracted with boiling water (1:5; w/v) for 10 min. This step was repeated twice before the solutions

were freeze dried. The pulp powder was stored at  $-20^\circ\text{C}$  for later use.

#### Determination of Coffee Phytochemical Content by Chromatographic Analysis

Six coffee extracts were subjected to high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) to determine the levels of CGA, CA, and caffeine, according to previous studies (31, 48). In brief, the HPLC separation of the LC, MC, DC, CP, AL, and RL extracts was performed on a C18 column ( $4.6 \times 150$  mm,  $5 \mu$ m) using mobile phase A (15% methanol) and mobile phase B (85% methanol:distilled water [30:70], 2% acetic acid; pH 3.4). The flow rate was set at 0.5 mL/min for 30 min, with detection at 280 and 320 nm for CA, caffeine, and CGA. The peaks were identified by the reference standards. DGC, DRC, and FRC extracts were run with 0.1% formic acid in water (mobile phase A) and 0.1% formic acid in acetonitrile (mobile phase B) using HPLC and coupled to LC-ESI-Q-TOF-MS according to previously reported (31).

## **Bacterial Strains and Growth Conditions**

The clinical strains of 20 representative isolates of *V. cholerae* serogroups O1 and O139 were obtained from previous studies (13), in which they were isolated from feces and rectal swabs of patients in Thailand between 1994 and 2004. The 7th pandemic *V. cholerae* N16961 strain from Bangladesh in 1975 was used as a standard reference strain. The antibiotic resistance pattern of all strains has previously been characterized and can be found in **Supplementary Table 1**.

To perform the preliminary antimicrobial screening of the effect of each crude extract on V. cholerae growth inhibition, the N16961 strain was grown overnight in Mueller Hinton Broth (MHB) containing 1% NaCl at 37°C. The 0.5 McFarland turbidity standard cultures  $(1-1.5 \times 10^8 \text{ colony-forming units; CFU})$  were spread onto Mueller Hinton Agar (MHA) plates using sterile cotton swabs, according to the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) guidelines (49). The extracted compounds were diluted in MHB. Then, 50 µL of filtered extracts were allowed to diffuse into a 6-mm cork borer well in MHA containing 1% NaCl medium at 500 mg/mL. The plates were kept at room temperature for 30 min to allow diffusion of the test solution into the surrounding media. The plates were then incubated at 37°C for 18 h. Each plate was examined for the inhibition zone. Tetracycline, the first line treatment for cholera disease, was used as a positive control at a concentration of  $30 \,\mu$ g/mL, and media solution was used as a negative control (50).

#### Determination of the Minimum Inhibitory Concentration and the Minimum Bactericidal Concentration

The minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) values were determined using a 96-well microtiter plate and the CLSI protocol (51, 52). Freshly prepared stock solutions of the extracts or their phytochemical compounds were serially diluted twice using MHB with 1% NaCl. All wells were inoculated with *V. cholerae* at a final volume of 100  $\mu$ L of bacterial inoculum (5  $\times$  10<sup>5</sup> CFU/mL). After incubation for 24 h at 37°C, 1 mg/mL resazurin was added to all wells (10  $\mu$ L per well), and the plates

were further incubated for 4 h to observe the color change. On completion of the incubation, columns with no color change (blue resazurin color remained unchanged) were scored as being above the MIC value (53).

The MBC was determined using the MHA plates with 1% NaCl by dropping 10  $\mu$ L of test solution directly into the content of the wells that had concentrations higher than the MIC value, and then incubating at 37°C for 24 h. The MBC value was determined when there was no colony growth from the contents of the 10  $\mu$ L directly-plated wells. In addition, the contents of the wells showing indications of growth inhibition were serially diluted to quantify the end-point killing of the bacteria, as detailed in the results section.

## **Antimicrobial Synergy Testing**

The checkerboard assay was used to determine the potential synergistic activity of the extracts and tetracycline on V. cholerae N16961 and P48 V. cholerae El Tor Ogawa strains, which are a reference and tetracycline resistance strain, respectively (54). The extract compounds were serially diluted to 1/128 MIC, while the drug was serially diluted to 1/516 MIC. Compounds and antibiotics were prepared in 96-well microtiter plates using 2-fold serial dilutions based on the MIC of each substance. A final bacterial suspension at 5  $\times$  10<sup>5</sup> CFU/mL was added to each well. After incubation for 24 h at 37°C, the wells were visually inspected, and the synergistic MIC (compound in combination with antibiotic) was determined as the first well with no visible turbidity. The observed MIC values were used to calculate the fractional inhibitory concentration index (FICI), which allows evaluation of the combined effects of an antibiotic and a compound according to the following formula: FICI = FIC (a) + FIC (b), where FIC (a) = MIC of extract in the combination/MIC of extract alone, and FIC (b) = MIC of tetracycline in the combination/MIC of tetracycline alone. These values were interpreted as follows: for FICI  $\leq 0.5$ : a synergistic effect; for FICI >0.5 and <4: an additive effect; and for FICI >4: an antagonistic effect (55, 56).

## **Time-Kill Kinetics Assay**

The killing kinetics of the potent coffee phytochemical compounds, including CGA, CA, and caffeine, at 1x, 2x, 4x, and 8x MIC values were determined using the method described previously (57-59), with slight modifications. Different concentrations of compounds were added to reach the final volume of 100  $\mu L$  with 1  $\times$  10  $^5$  CFU/mL of V. cholerae N16961 reference stain grown in MHB containing 1% NaCl and kept at 37°C. Bacterial growth was monitored over a time-course of 24 h (0, 1, 2, 4, 8, 16, 24 h). A sample without the compound served as a growth control. To evaluate the survival of the pandemic strains during the observation period, aliquots of serial dilutions of the bacterial suspensions were determined by a spread plate technique on MHA with 1% NaCl, and the plates were incubated at 37°C for 24 h to evaluate the viable bacterial colony counts. Data was analyzed as killing curves by plotting the log<sub>10</sub> CFU/mL vs. time (h), and the change in bacterial concentration was determined. The viable bacterial cell count for the time-kill end point determination, i.e., bactericidal activity, was defined as a reduction of  $\geq 3 \log_{10}$  CFU/mL relative to the initial inoculum, whereas bacteriostatic activity corresponded to a  $< 3 \log_{10}$  CFU/mL decrease relative to the initial inoculum (60).

#### Outer Membrane Permeabilization Analysis Determination of Nucleotide and Protein Leakage

The leakage of cytoplasmic elements from the cell was used to evaluate the integrity of the cell membrane using the method described by Lou et al. (61), with some modifications. In brief, the V. cholerae N16961 cells were cultured overnight at 37°C, and the cells were washed and resuspended at a concentration of  $1 \times 10^7$  CFU/mL in phosphate buffer saline (PBS), pH 7.2. Then, 1 mL of these suspensions was incubated with CGA, CA, and caffeine at concentrations of 1, 2, 4, and 8x MIC at 37°C for 1 h. After centrifugation, the supernatant samples were immediately filtered through a  $0.2 \,\mu$ m organic membrane, and the optical density measured at 260 nm using a NANO-400A Micro Spectrophotometer, to determine the amounts of DNA released from the cytoplasm. The cell integrity was further examined by determining the release of proteins into the supernatant. The Bradford dye-binding reagent of the Bio-Rad DC Protein Assay kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc., USA) was used to determine the amount of protein by measuring the optical density of the resulting solution at 750 nm within 5 min. The protein quantity of each sample was determined from the equation of the best-fit linear regression obtained from the Bovine Serum Albumin (BSA) standard curve. Triton X-100 (0.1%; v/v) was used as a positive control, while PBS inoculated with the same inoculum was used as a negative control.

#### Determination of Outer Membrane Disruption

The effect of the potent coffee phytochemical compounds on the bacterial outer membrane permeability was determined using an N-Phenyl-1-naphthylamine (NPN) uptake assay (62, 63). Briefly, V. cholerae N16961 cells were treated with 0, 1, 2, 4, and 8 MIC at a final volume of 1 mL and incubated for 1 h at 37°C. The cell suspensions were then washed and resuspended in 1 mL of 0.5% NaCl. NPN solution (TCI, Japan) in ethanol (100 mM) was added to 200 µL of cells to give a final concentration of 0.75 mM. The background fluorescence was recorded for subtraction, using the Cytation 5 Cell Imaging Multi-Mode Reader with an excitation wavelength of 350 nm and an emission wavelength of 420 nm at room temperature. As the outer membrane permeability increased due to the addition of the coffee phytochemical compound, NPN incorporated into the membrane resulted in an increase in fluorescence. Triton X-100 (0.1%; v/v) was used as a positive control for the 100% maximum dye leakage release. Values were converted to % NPN uptake using the following equation: % NPN uptake = (Fobs-F0)/(F100-F0)x100, where Fobs is the observed fluorescence at a given compound concentration, F0 is the initial fluorescence of NPN with the cells in the absence of compound, and F100 is the fluorescence of NPN with the cells upon addition of TritonX-100 (64).

#### **Determination of Cell Membrane Potential**

To measure the changes in membrane polarity caused by the coffee, bioactive compounds were adapted through the incorporation of Rhodamine 123 (Rh123) (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) (65–67). *V. cholerae* N16961 cells were treated with 0, 1, 2, 4, and 8 MIC at a final volume of 1 mL and incubated for 1 h at 37°C. The cell suspension was mixed with a freshly-prepared Rh123 solution (final Rh123 concentration,  $5 \mu g/mL$ ), kept at 37°C for 10 min, and centrifuged at 1,500 rpm for 10 min. The cell pellets were then diluted in 0.5% NaCl, and the fluorescence signal measured at the excitation and emission wavelengths of 480 and 530 nm, respectively. The fluorescence intensity were calculated using the equation: Relative fluorescence intensity = F1/F0 × 100%, where F0 is the fluorescence intensity of untreated cells, and F1 is the fluorescence intensity of CA-treated cells.

#### Analysis of Scanning Electron Microscopy

*Vibrio cholerae* N16961 was treated with CA at a concentration of 8x MIC for 2 h at 37°C. The appropriate treatment was harvested by centrifugation at 5,000 rpm for 5 min, washed with PBS, dropped onto a filter membrane of  $0.2 \,\mu$ m, and air dried. The samples were fixed using 2.5% (v/v) glutaraldehyde in PBS at 4°C overnight. Thereafter, the bacteria were washed with 0.1M PO<sub>4</sub> buffer and re-fixed with 1% OsO<sub>4</sub> for 1 h. After dehydration with a graded ethanol series (50, 70, 90, and 100%) for 10 min each, the bacterial samples were transferred to absolute ethanol for 20 min. After drying by critical-point drying (CPD), the bacterial sample was mounted and coated with gold, before examination by scanning electron microscopy (SEM) (JSM 5910 LV, Oxford Instrument) (62).

## **Statistical Analysis**

Values are presented as the mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD) of three independent experiments. The significance of differences between the average values of different experimental treatments and controls was assessed by ANOVA, considering that statistical significance was set at a p < 0.05. When ANOVA revealed significant differences among treatments, *post-hoc* tests were carried out with Dunnett's Multiple Comparison Test from GraphPad Prism 5.01 (GraphPad Software, Inc., La Jolla, CA, USA).

## RESULTS

# Characterization of Coffee Beans and Coffee By-Products

As indicated in **Table 1**, coffee beans and coffee by-products including the roasted beans, fruits, leaves, and pulp extracts, represented bioactive substances with CGA, CA, and caffeine. Calibration curves were linear over a large concentration range of  $3.125-400 \,\mu$ g/mL for caffeine and CGA, and  $3.125-200 \,\mu$ g/mL for CA, and exhibited good linear regressions ( $r^2 = 0.9997$  for caffeine,  $r^2 = 0.9989$  for CGA,  $r^2 = 0.9986$  for CA), data not shown. CGA was found to be more abundant in CP (13.45 mg/g extract), DGC (12.56 mg/g extract), and RL (12.04 mg/g extract) than in the other extracts. Additionally, roasted coffee had higher levels of CA than coffee leaves, pulp, and fruits. CA (2.66 mg/g

 TABLE 1 | The phytochemical profile of the extracts of coffee beans and coffee by-products.

Samples	CGA	CA	Caffeine
	(mg/g extract)	(mg/g extract)	(mg/g extract)
Roasted coffe	e extracts		
LC	11.21	2.66	23.39
MC	5.53	1.20	26.80
DC	2.69	1.01	22.77
Coffee fruit ex	tracts*		
DGC	12.56*	0.25*	ND
DRC	7.21*	0.21*	ND
FRC	6.97*	0.08*	ND
Coffee leaf ex	tracts		
AL	1.99	0.80	17.72
RL	12.04	1.85	13.08
CP extract	13.45	1.10	16.88

LC, light coffee; MC, medium coffee; DC, dark coffee; DGC, dried green coffee; DRC, dried red coffee; FRC, fresh red coffee; AL, Arabica leaf; RL, Robusta leaf; CP, coffee pulp; CGA, chlorogenic acid; CA, caffeic acid; ND, not determined. \*Our previous report (31).

extract) was detected in higher concentrations in LC than in the other extracts. Interestingly, all extracts, especially MC, had a high caffeine content (13.08–26.80 mg/g extract).

As a result, the extract of coffee beans and coffee by-products containing coffee phytochemicals were used to determine the biological activity of the antibacterial analysis in future studies.

### The Extracts of Coffee Beans and Coffee By-Products Inhibit Drug Resistant *V. cholerae* Strains

The 7th pandemic N16961 reference strain was used to screen the growth inhibition effect of each extract on *V. cholerae.* **Table 2** shows the diameter of the inhibition zones in treatments with 500 mg/mL of the extract. The inhibition zones range from 10.67  $\pm$  3.79 to 16.67  $\pm$  1.15 mm in the agar well-diffusion assay. Treatment with AL extract inhibited bacterial growth the most effectively, followed by CP and MC, respectively. The inhibition zones of AL, CP, and MC were 16.67  $\pm$  1.15, 13.33  $\pm$  1.53, and 13.00  $\pm$  1.00 mm, respectively, which is approximately half that of tetracycline (26.00  $\pm$  1.73 mm). Therefore, the extracts may have the potential to act as natural antibiotics.

We then investigated the MIC and MBC of the extracts on the representatives of 20 *V. cholerae* clinical strains that maintain an antibiotic resistant pattern, such as streptomycin (STM), colistin (COL), nalidixic acid (NAL), sulfamethoxazole (SMX), tetracycline (TET), trimethoprim (TMP), ciprofloxacin (CIP), and azithromycin (AZI). The results, which were expressed as MIC and MBC values in **Table 3**, show that all of the extracts were active against all of the strains. The most effective against the representative clinical strains had a MIC of 6.25 mg/mL, referring to DGC (65%), DRC (60%), and CP (55%), respectively.

As part of roasted coffee extracts, the trend of MIC and MBC values were determined to be 12.5 (mean  $83.33 \pm 10.41\%$ ) and 50.0 (mean  $86.67 \pm 15.28\%$ ) mg/mL, respectively. The

findings of this research show that 95% of the tested strains were sensitive to DC, followed by LC (80%), and MC (75%), respectively. Furthermore, treating P36 *V. cholerae* El Tor Ogawa, which carried five drug resistances, i.e., COL, NAL, SMX, TET, and TMP, with DC gave a MIC value of 6.25 mg/mL (**Supplementary Table 2**). Similarly, the results also revealed that two of three coffee fruit extracts (DGC and DRC) efficiently suppressed the growth of pathogens, with the MIC at 6.25 mg/mL (65% for DGC and 60% for DRC), while 55% of treated strains expressed a MIC of 25.0 mg/mL after treatment with

**TABLE 2** Diameters of inhibition zones obtained with coffee beans and coffee by-products at 500 mg/mL on the 7th pandemic *V. cholerae* O1 El Tor N16961 strain.

Samples	Diameters of inhibition zones (mm)
Roasted coffee extracts	
LC	$12.33 \pm 0.58^{**}$
MC	$13.00 \pm 1.00^{**}$
DC	$11.67 \pm 1.15^{*}$
Coffee fruits extracts	
DGC	$11.33 \pm 4.04^{*}$
DRC	$11.00 \pm 2.65$
FRC	$10.67 \pm 3.79$
Coffee leaf extracts	
AL	16.67 ± 1.15***
RL	$12.00 \pm 1.00^{*}$
CP extract	$13.33 \pm 1.53^{**}$
Controls	
Tetracycline	26.00 ± 1.73***
MHB	$6.00 \pm 0$

LC, light coffee; MC, medium coffee; DC, dark coffee; DGC, dried green coffee; DRC, dried red coffee; FRC, fresh red coffee; AL, Arabica leaf; RL, Robusta leaf; CP, coffee pulp; MHB, Mueller Hinton Broth. Values are means of triplicate determination (n = 3)  $\pm$  standard deviations. Significant differences are as follows: \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, and \*\*\*p < 0.01 compared with negative control (MHB).

FRC. Treatment of P46 *V. cholerae* El Tor Ogawa with FRC gave the lowest MIC value at 3.125 mg/mL, despite carrying five drug resistance genes, namely AZI, NAL, SMX, TET, and TMP. Furthermore, Arabica and Robusta coffee leaf extracts with MICs of 12.5 mg/mL suppressed *V. cholerae* growth conditions by 75% (AL) and 70% (RL), respectively, whereas the MIC of CP extract was 6.25 (55%), 12.5 (40%), and 25 (5%) mg/mL. These results suggest that the effects of coffee beans and coffee by-product extracts on antimicrobial activities are varied depending on the extract and the *V. cholerae* clinical strain.

Regarding MDR V. cholerae O1, which is a major public health concern, we investigated the synergistic effect of each extract and tetracycline in the N16961 and P48 V. cholerae El Tor Ogawa strains, a reference and six-drug resistance strain (AZI, COL, NAL, SMX, TET, and TMP), respectively. In double-dose response (checkerboard) experiments, the extract combinations were used to determine the nature of their interaction with tetracycline. Table 4 shows the evaluation of the synergistic effect of the extracts and antibiotics. In both standard and multidrug resistance strains, the combination effect on bacterial growth appeared to be greater than treatment alone, with FICI ranging from 0.005 to 0.258. It is important to note that CP had the lowest FIC index (0.005) when combined with 47.5 µg/mL and tetracycline 60 ng/mL. These results indicate that combining the extracts with tetracycline might be a more effective treatment for V. cholerae infection.

#### Analysis of Bacterial Killing Kinetics

Considering the main bacteriostatic activity of coffee bioactive compounds, the standard CGA, CA, and caffeine, were applied to the N16961 reference strain. **Table 5** shows the MIC and MBC data. The MIC for CGA was 0.5 mg/mL, while CA and caffeine had MICs of 1 mg/mL. In contrast, the MBC of all compounds was >4 mg/mL.

We then investigated the time kill kinetics of each coffee phytochemical on the viability of *V. cholerae*, in order to define the bactericidal level using a 1- to 8-fold MIC treatment. **Figure 1** 

**TABLE 3** The susceptibility of a total of 20 *V. cholerae* clinical strains to the extracts of coffee beans and coffee by-products.

Coffee beans or coffee by-products			No. o	f strains (%)		
	MIC [mg/mL]				MBC [mg/mL]	.]
	6.25	12.5	25	12.5	25	50
LC	2 (10.0)	16 (80.0)	2 (10.0)	0	2 (10.0)	18 (90.0)
MC	4 (20.0)	15 (75.0)	1 (5.0)	0	6 (30.0)	14 (70.0)
DC	1 (5.0)	19 (95.0)	0	0	0	20 (100.0)
DGC	13 (65.0)	4 (20.0)	3 (15.0)	0	14 (70.0)	6 (30.0)
DRC	12 (60.0)	7 (35.0)	1 (5.0)	4 (20.0)	9 (45.0)	6 (30.0)
FRC	1 (5.0)	8 (40.0)	11 (55.0)	5 (25.0)	5 (25.0)	10 (50.0)
AL	3 (15.0)	15 (75.0)	2 (10.0)	0	17 (85.0)	3 (15.0)
RL	6 (30.0)	14 (70.0)	0	0	0	20 (100.0)
CP	11 (55.0)	8 (40.0)	1 (5.0)	0	18 (90.0)	2 (10.0)

LC, light coffee; MC, medium coffee; DC, dark coffee; DGC, dried green coffee; DRC, dried red coffee; FRC, fresh red coffee; AL, Arabica leaf; RL, Robusta leaf; CP, coffee pulp. The bold values indicates MIC and MBC.

TABLE 4 | Synergistic effect of coffee beans and coffee by-products in combination with tetracycline against standard and multidrug-resistant V. cholerae.

Samples	MIC (mę	g/mL) of extracts [a]	FIC a	MIC (mg/r	nL) of tetracycline [b]	FIC b	FICI	Outcome
	Alone	Combination		Alone	Combination			
N16961 V. c	holerae El Tor	01						
LC	12.50	0.095	0.0076	0.00039	0.000012	0.031	0.038	Synergistic
MC	6.25	0.046	0.0073	0.00039	0.000048	0.123	0.130	Synergistic
DC	12.50	0.095	0.008	0.00039	0.000006	0.015	0.023	Synergistic
DGC	6.25	0.048	0.0076	0.00039	0.0000975	0.250	0.258	Synergistic
DRC	12.50	0.095	0.0076	0.00039	0.0000038	0.001	0.009	Synergistic
FRC	12.50	0.095	0.0076	0.00039	0.000048	0.123	0.131	Synergistic
AL	25.00	0.190	0.0076	0.00039	0.0000038	0.001	0.009	Synergistic
RL	12.50	0.095	0.0076	0.00039	0.0000038	0.001	0.009	Synergistic
CP	12.50	3.125	0.25	0.00039	0.0000038	0.001	0.251	Synergistic
P48 V. chole	erae El Tor O1	Ogawa						
LC	12.50	0.090	0.0072	0.0625	0.0078	0.125	0.132	Synergistic
MC	6.25	0.090	0.0144	0.0625	0.0039	0.062	0.077	Synergistic
DC	12.50	0.090	0.0072	0.0625	0.000006	0.008	0.015	Synergistic
DGC	6.25	0.0475	0.0076	0.0625	0.0019	0.030	0.038	Synergistic
DRC	12.50	0.0475	0.0038	0.0625	0.0039	0.062	0.066	Synergistic
FRC	12.50	0.090	0.0072	0.0625	0.00012	0.002	0.009	Synergistic
AL	25.00	0.090	0.0036	0.0625	0.0000038	0.016	0.019	Synergistic
RL	12.50	0.090	0.0072	0.0625	0.0000038	0.004	0.011	Synergistic
CP	12.50	0.0475	0.0038	0.0625	0.00006	0.001	0.005	Synergistic

LC, light coffee; MC, medium coffee; DC, dark coffee; DGC, dried green coffee; DRC, dried red coffee; FRC, fresh red coffee; AL, Arabica leaf; RL, Robusta leaf; CP, coffee pulp; FIC, fractional inhibitory concentration; FICI, fractional inhibitory concentration index.

**TABLE 5** | The MIC and MBC values of coffee phytochemicals of the V. choleraeO1 El Tor N16961.

Phytochemical	MIC (mg/mL)	MBC (mg/mL)
CGA	0.5	>4
CA	1	>4
Caffeine	1	>4

CGA, chlorogenic acid; CA, caffeic acid.

demonstrates the time-killing curve analysis. The kill kinetic profiles of the bacterial cultures had no effect when treated with CGA at a concentration of 8x MIC (4 mg/mL) (**Figure 1A**) or 16x MIC (8 mg/mL), data not shown. Whereas, CA demonstrated rapid bactericidal activity, with an approximate reduction of CFU by 3 log units in viable cell count relative to the initial inoculum at all tested concentrations within 1 h (**Figure 1B**), 8x MIC (8 mg/mL) of caffeine demonstrated a dose-dependent killing property after 16 h (**Figure 1C**). As a result, CA may be the most potent bioactive compound in coffee against *V. cholerae*.

# CA Disrupts *V. cholerae* Membrane Permeability

To investigate the mechanism of CA on the damaged bacterial cell membrane, an effective drug permeability barrier of the gram-negative cell wall, we measured nucleotide and protein leakage, NPN uptake, and Rh123 incorporation, as shown in Figure 2. Bacterial cells were treated for 1 h with CA at concentrations of 1, 2, 4, and 8 mg/mL, referred to as 1x to 8x MIC.

The leakage of genetic materials, i.e., DNA, and the amount of proteins passing over the cell membrane was used to investigate the effect of CA on the integrity of the membrane via assessment of the absorbance in the CA-treated supernatant. The results are summarized as the DNA content and protein concentration, in **Figures 2A,B**, respectively, and indicate that the release of cell constituents increased significantly in a CA concentration-dependent manner. Indeed, 8 mg/mL of CA increased DNA and protein leakage more than 0.1% Triton X-100, by about 2.3- and 14.2-fold, respectively.

The NPN uptake assay was used to assess *V. cholerae* outer membrane permeabilization. NPN cannot normally insert into intact bacterial membranes (68); however, when CA disrupts the outer membrane, NPN penetrates the lipid layers, increasing the intensity of its fluorescence emission. CA easily permeabilized the outer membrane in a dose-dependent manner, as indicated by a rise in the intensity of NPN fluorescence (**Figure 2C**).

We also investigated the transmembrane potential activity by staining Rh123. Considering that Rh123 uptake was proportional to the membrane potential, the results showed that CA treatment increased membrane potential at all tested concentrations (**Figure 2D**). The highest fluorescence intensity of Rh123 was at 8 mg/mL CA concentration.



**FIGURE 1** | Effect of coffee phytochemical on the viability of *V. cholerae* O1 El Tor N16961. Time-kill kinetics of CGA (**A**), CA (**B**), and caffeine (**C**) at concentrations of 1–8 MIC against *V. cholerae* were investigated over a 24 h incubation period at 37°C. The MIC for CGA was 0.5 mg/mL, while the MICs for CA and caffeine were 1 mg/mL. MHB was used as the control instead of compound. Samples were taken at 1, 2, 4, 8, 16, and 24 h to determine viable bacterial numbers. The bactericidal level is indicated by the dashed lines.

These findings suggest that CA may increase membrane potential activity, resulting in increased membrane permeability, which causes intracellular ingredient leakage and cell death.

#### CA Altered the Morphological Characterization of *V. cholerae*

Finally, SEM was used to compare morphological changes in the appearance of cells with and without 8 mg/mL of CA exposure. Figure 3 shows the SEM images of bacterial cells at x10,000 and 20,000 magnifications. The untreated control bacteria had a smooth, compact surface with an intact cell membrane and no surface ruptures (Figures 3A,B). In contrast, after 2 h of exposure to CA, the cell was found to be severely disrupted (Figure 3C), with membrane corrugations due to withering wrinkling and damage, as indicated by the red circled portions in Figure 3D. Thus, CA treatment of bacterial cells typically interferes with the integrity of the cell membranes, resulting in morphological changes that allow for intracellular material leakage, cell membrane shrinkage, and ultimately cell death.

### DISCUSSION

The efficacy of antibiotics is currently decreasing due to an increase in bacterial antimicrobial resistance. According to a WHO report, antimicrobial resistance is one of the top 10 global public health threats facing humanity due to the misuse and overuse of drugs, including anti-cholera drugs (69). As a consequence, alternative therapeutic approaches are in high demand. Here, we have demonstrated that coffee beans and coffee by-products extract have anti-cholera properties, and CA showed the most effective treatment for *V. cholerae* by involving membrane permeability disruption.

Coffee and its bioactive compounds have been shown to have a variety of pharmacologically beneficial effects on humans. The phytochemical profiles of the extracts tend to vary considerably in terms of CGA and CA content, but not in terms of caffeine. It should be noted that CGA, which has potential anti-MDR *V. cholerae* activity (22–24), was found in the most abundant phenolic compounds in the CP extract, which is consistent with previous findings (70–72). The productivity, chemical composition, and biological activity of coffee extract are all known to be influenced by the brewing process (73). In the current study, three types of roasted coffee beans (light, medium, and dark) were extracted at different temperatures and time durations using ultrasonic-assisted extraction (UAE), an efficient method for retrieving natural antioxidants (30, 48).

Hence, we have demonstrated that roasting circumstances have a considerable impact on the features of the physicochemistry of CGA, but do not significantly affect caffeine thermally, which is consistent with the findings of most of the aforementioned studies (48, 74, 75), while this is the first report of a 2.5-fold decrease in CA in medium and dark coffee. Several studies have previously reported that CGA levels are lost during the roasting process of coffee beans.



**FIGURE 2** [Effect of CA on membrane permeability. *V. cholerae* O1 El for N16961 was treated with CA at a concentration of 1–8 mg/mL for 1 h at 37°C. The intracellular leakage of nucleotides (**A**) and proteins (**B**) were measured, and 0.1% Triton X-100 (TX) was used as a positive control. The outer membrane disruption and membrane potential dissipation were investigated by the percentages of NPN uptake (**C**) and Rh123 relative fluorescence intensity (**D**), respectively. Significant differences compared to untreated controls are indicated by asterisks (\*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, and \*\*\*p < 0.001).

Using high temperatures during the roasting process has been shown to convert CGA into CGA lactone due to the breaking of carbon-carbon bonds in the CGA structure, resulting in thermal degradation and isomerization (76–78). On the other hand, some studies claim that the level of caffeine increases as the degree of roasting increases, reaching a peak in light and medium-roasted coffee before beginning to decline in dark-roasted coffee. It is anticipated that increasing the temperature can reduce the water content of the coffee beans, thus helping to release volatile compounds (e.g., caffeine) from coffee; indeed, the caffeine levels were reduced significantly compared to the light and medium roast coffee after increasing the temperature to higher limits (dark roast) (79–81).

Our findings are consistent with previous studies, since we demonstrated that green beans (unripe) contain approximately twice as much CGA as red fruits (ripe). The variation in CA content, on the other hand, could be due to a difference in extract solvent: 95% ethanol yielded 38.73 and 26.70 mg/g of green and red fruits, respectively (82). Interestingly, with old coffee leaf, RL provided 6-fold more CGA than AL and 2.3-fold more CA. According to previous studies, Robusta has a higher total phenolic content than Arabica, and old leaf has a higher total phenolic content than young leaf (83–85). Nonetheless, the age of the coffee leaves and the method of processing have an impact on their phytochemical profiles and bioactivity (86).

Although several studies have reported anti-cholera activity with natural product extracts, to the best of our knowledge, this is the first report on the antibacterial activity of coffee beans and coffee-by products extract against V. cholerae, particularly with regard to the MDR strain. In this study, we have shown that DGC and DRC fruits, as well as their CP, are the most effective against V. cholerae. Furthermore, CP, the first by-product of coffee processing, has been shown to be very effective in the treatment of MDR strains in combination with tetracycline. The effects on antimicrobial activity varied depending on the sample and the clinical strain of V. cholerae. However, there is a scarcity of data on the antibacterial activity of coffee beans and coffee by-products extract against V. cholerae. Green coffee beans, in particular, had greater antimicrobial activity than roasted coffee. According to many studies, the differences in antibacterial activity between extracts are primarily due to the phenotype and genotype diversity of coffee plants, brewing conditions, roasting temperature, quality of field processing, laboratory extraction processes, and solvents utilized (45, 46, 87). The usefulness of determining the major active components against this bacterium led to a time-killing kinetics study, which revealed that CA had bactericidal activity against V. cholerae within 1 h of exposure. This is unexpected, because a previous study found that CGA from Piper betel plants had antimicrobial activity against MDR V. cholerae at a concentration of the MIC value of 5.5  $\pm$  0.5 mg/mL (22).



CA or 3,4-dihydroxy cinnamic acid, is a phenolic compound found in many plant products, including fruits, wine, coffee, olive oil, and legumes (88). It has been widely used as an alternative strategy to combat microbial pathogenesis and chronic infection caused by microbes such as bacteria, fungi, and viruses, via changing the membrane permeability, inhibition of enzyme activity, damage to the DNA and protein structure, and so on (44). However, the mechanism of antibacterial action of CA in V. cholerae has not yet been reported. Many virulent factors are involved in V. cholerae infection, including cholera toxin (hemolysins), toxin coregulated plus (TCP), adhesin factor (ACF), hemagglutination-protease (hap, mucinase), neuraminidase, siderophores and outer membrane proteins, and lipopolysaccharides (89). Therefore, the modes of action and target sites of CA might vary considerably. During bacterial infection, the outer membrane prevents the entry of noxious compounds into the cell, helping them recognize the host and facilitate colonization. This prompted us to speculate that CA may influence bacterial membrane permeabilization. As expected, CA disrupted the integrity of V. cholerae cell membranes by causing the intracellular material leakage of both proteins and nucleotides, resulting in cell membrane shrinkage and morphological changes that allow for cell death. Similar to a previous study, CA had an effect on the membrane by changing cell permeability, leaking intracellular components, causing membrane damage, and decreasing efflux activity, which has been found in both gram-negative and gram-positive bacteria, such as Escherichia coli, Pseudomonas aeruginosa, and Staphylococcus aureus (44, 90-92). It is worth noting that the bacterial cells were exposed to a higher concentration of CA (up to 8 mg/mL) than the extract. Because the extract contains CA in concentrations ranging from 0.08 to 2.66 mg/g of extract, the combination effect may be more potent than CA alone. Furthermore, an agar welldiffusion assay used to screen the effect of crude extract revealed that the AL treatment had the largest diameters of inhibition zones, despite the fact that it contained less CA (0.8 mg/g extract). It's possible that this is due to the synergistic effect of CA and other bioactive compounds in the extract. However, this critical point we need to confirm to future study. CA is an excellent synergy compound (93). In drug resistant Listeria monocytogenes, 1.5 mg/mL of CA in combination treatment with 50 mg/L of fosfomycin enhanced the antimicrobial activity from 5% of fosfomycin alone to 82% of the fosfomycin and CA combination, which might be by acting as the FosX gene inhibitor (94). Besides, CA treatment at 0.5 mg/mL in combination with UV-A LEDs effectively inhibited the survival of foodborne bacteria such as Escherichia coli O157: H7, Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium, and L. monocytogenes by inducing cell membrane damage (95).

The cell membrane is an active structure that regulates internal conditions for metabolism and energy transfer. It serves as a primary barrier between the cytoplasm and the extracellular medium. Once this barrier is breached, the bacterial cells cease to function (27). SEM, a powerful tool for investigating the effects of CA on bacterial cells, revealed its inhibitory effects, as confirmed by the severe morphological changes in the tested *V. cholerae*. Similar morphological alterations have also been observed in *V. cholerae* cells treated with the polyphenolic fraction of Kombucha or zinc oxide nanoparticles (96–98). One bacteriostatic mechanism of phenolic compounds is to cause irreversible changes in the cell membrane by altering hydrophobicity and causing local rupture or pore formation in the cell membrane, resulting in an increase in the permeability of the cell membrane, giving rise to the leakage of cellular contents, disrupting the proton-motive force and electron influx, and ultimately destroying cell integrity (99).

Our research has some limitations, because the number of clinical *V. cholerae* strains was small. Furthermore, since CA has synergistic effects with various pharmaceutical entities (93), antimicrobial activity in combination with CGA or caffeine could be tested. This work, however, was intended as a pilot screening, to assess the antibacterial potential of extract against *V. cholerae* clinical drug-resistant strains. For future studies, we need to investigate other modes of action, efficacy, and safety of coffee extracts in animal models and finally in clinical trials.

## CONCLUSION

The findings of the present study highlight the promising role of the extracts of coffee beans and coffee by-products, especially in combination treatment with tetracycline, as novel anti-cholera compounds, which can be promoted as an alternative therapeutic agent to treat drug-resistant *V. cholerae* infections.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**,

## REFERENCES

- Hu D, Liu B, Feng L, Ding P, Guo X, Wang M, et al. origins of the current seventh cholera pandemic. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2016) 113:E7730–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1608732113
- Ali M, Nelson AR, Lopez AL, Sack DA. Updated global burden of cholera in endemic countries. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2015) 9:e0003832. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0003832
- 3. World Health Organization. *Cholera Annual Report 2019 Weekly Epidemiological Record*. Vol. 95, Report No. 38 (2020). p. 441–8.
- World Health Organization. *Cholera Fact Sheet*. (2021). Available online at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/cholera (accessed January 4, 2022).
- Saha D, Karim MM, Khan WA, Ahmed S, Salam MA, Bennish ML. Singledose azithromycin for the treatment of cholera in adults. *N Engl J Med.* (2006) 354:2452–62. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa054493
- Verma J, Bag S, Saha B, Kumar P, Ghosh TS, Dayal M, et al. Genomic plasticity associated with antimicrobial resistance in *Vibrio cholerae. Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2019) 116:6226–31. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1900141116
- Shankar U, Jain N, Majee P, Kodgire P, Sharma TK, Kumar A. Exploring computational and biophysical tools to study the presence of G-quadruplex structures: a promising therapeutic solution for drug-resistant *Vibrio cholerae*. *Front Genet.* (2020) 11:935. doi: 10.3389/fgene.2020.00935

further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

The experiments were conceived and designed by AR, AS, AY, AK, GP-I, OS, SS, and AD. AR, AS, and AD contributed to the experimental design and data analysis. The first draft of the manuscript was written by AR. AR, AS, AY, AK, GP-I, OS, SS, and AD edited the manuscript draft. The published version of the manuscript has been read and approved by all authors.

#### **FUNDING**

This research was funded by the Unit of Excellence in Research and Product Development of Coffee (Grant No. FF64-UoE64002), and Unit of Excellence on Clinical Outcomes Research and IntegratioN (UNICORN) (Grant No. FF65-UoE005), University of Phayao, Thailand.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Dr. Supaporn Lamlertthon of Naresuan University for their stimulating discussions. We also thank Ms. Chatchaya Sumana from the University of Phayao for her technical assistance. We thank Emma Taylor, Ph.D., from the PRS Group (www.proof-reading-service.com/en/) for editing a draft of this manuscript.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2022. 865684/full#supplementary-material

- Rivard N, Colwell RR, Burrus V, Castanheira M. Antibiotic resistance in *Vibrio cholerae*: mechanistic insights from Incc Plasmid-Mediated Dissemination of a novel family of genomic Islands inserted at *trmE. mSphere.* (2020) 5:e00748–20. doi: 10.1128/mSphere.00748-20
- Das B, Verma J, Kumar P, Ghosh A, Ramamurthy T. Antibiotic resistance in *Vibrio cholerae*: understanding the ecology of resistance genes and mechanisms. *Vaccine*. (2020) 38:A83–92. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.06.031
- De R. Mobile genetic elements of Vibrio cholerae and the evolution of its antimicrobial resistance. Front Trop Dis. (2021) 2:691604. doi: 10.3389/fitd.2021.691604
- Garbern SC, Chu T-C, Yang P, Gainey M, Nasrin S, Kanekar S, et al. Clinical and socio-environmental determinants of multidrug-resistant *Vibrio cholerae* 01 in older children and adults in Bangladesh. *Int J Infect Dis.* (2021) 105:436– 41. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2021.02.102
- Sjölund-Karlsson M, Reimer A, Folster JP, Walker M, Dahourou GA, Batra DG, et al. Drug-resistance mechanisms in *Vibrio cholerae* O1 outbreak strain, Haiti, 2010. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2011) 17:2151–4. doi: 10.3201/eid1711.110720
- Siriphap A, Leekitcharoenphon P, Kaas RS, Theethakaew C, Aarestrup FM, Sutheinkul O, et al. Characterization and genetic variation of *Vibrio cholerae* isolated from clinical and environmental sources in Thailand. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0169324. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0169324
- 14. Toda M, Okubo S, Ikigai H, Suzuki T, Suzuki Y, Hara Y, et al. The protective activity of tea catechins against experimental infection

by Vibrio cholerae O1. Microbiol Immunol. (1992) 36:999–1001. doi: 10.1111/j.1348-0421.1992.tb02103.x

- Hör M, Rimpler H, Heinrich M. Inhibition of intestinal chloride secretion by proanthocyanidins from *Guazuma ulmifolia*. *Planta Med.* (1995) 61:208–12. doi: 10.1055/s-2006-958057
- Oi H, Matsuura D, Miyake M, Ueno M, Takai I, Yamamoto T, et al. Identification in traditional herbal medications and confirmation by synthesis of factors that inhibit cholera toxin-induced fluid accumulation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2002) 99:3042–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.052709499
- Saito T, Miyake M, Toba M, Okamatsu H, Shimizu S, Noda M. Inhibition by apple polyphenols of ADP-ribosyltransferase activity of cholera toxin and toxin-induced fluid accumulation in mice. *Microbiol Immunol.* (2002) 46:249–55. doi: 10.1111/j.1348-0421.2002.tb02693.x
- Morinaga N, Iwamaru Y, Yahiro K, Tagashira M, Moss J, Noda M. Differential activities of plant polyphenols on the binding and internalization of cholera toxin in vero cells. *J Biol Chem.* (2005) 280:23303–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M502093200
- Rattanachaikunsopon P, Phumkhachorn P. Antimicrobial activity of elephant garlic oil against *Vibrio cholerae in vitro* and in a food model. *Biosci Biotechnol Biochem.* (2009) 73:1623–7. doi: 10.1271/bbb.90128
- Chatterjee S, Asakura M, Chowdhury N, Neogi SB, Sugimoto N, Haldar S, et al. Capsaicin, a potential inhibitor of cholera toxin production in *Vibrio cholerae. FEMS Microbiol Lett.* (2010) 306:54–60. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.2010.01931.x
- Yamasaki S, Asakura M, Neogi SB, Hinenoya A, Iwaoka E, Aoki S. Inhibition of virulence potential of *Vibrio cholerae* by natural compounds. *Indian J Med Res.* (2011) 133:232–9.
- 22. Acosta-Smith E, Leon-Sicairos N, Tiwari S, Flores-Villaseñor H, Canizalez-Roman A, Kumavath R, et al. Piper betel compounds piperidine, eugenyl acetate, and chlorogenic acid are broad-spectrum anti-vibrio compounds that are also effective on MDR strains of the pathogen. *Pathogens.* (2019) 8:64. doi: 10.3390/pathogens8020064
- 23. Tiwari S, Barh D, Imchen M, Rao E, Kumavath RK, Seenivasan SP, et al. Acetate Kinase (AcK) is essential for microbial growth and betel-derived compounds potentially target AcK, PhoP and MDR proteins in *M. tuberculosis, V. cholerae* and pathogenic *E. coli:* an *in silico* and *in vitro* study. *Curr Top Med Chem.* (2018) 18:2731–40. doi: 10.2174/1568026619666190121105851
- Barh D, Barve N, Gupta K, Chandra S, Jain N, Tiwari S, et al. Exoproteome and secretome derived broad spectrum novel drug and vaccine candidates in *Vibrio cholerae* targeted by piper betel derived compounds. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e52773. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0052773
- Das S, Chourashi R, Mukherjee P, Kundu S, Koley H, Dutta M, et al. Inhibition of growth and virulence of *Vibrio cholerae* by carvacrol, an essential oil component of *Origanum* spp. *J Appl Microbiol.* (2021) 131:1147–61. doi: 10.1111/jam.15022
- Pederson DB, Dong Y, Blue LB, Smith SV, Cao M. Water-soluble cranberry extract inhibits *Vibrio cholerae* biofilm formation possibly through modulating the second messenger 3', 5' - cyclic diguanylate level. *PLoS ONE*. (2018) 13:e0207056. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0207056
- Sanchez E, García S, Heredia N. Extracts of edible and medicinal plants damage membranes of *Vibrio cholerae. Appl Environ Microbiol.* (2010) 76:6888–94. doi: 10.1128/AEM.03052-09
- Chemura A, Mudereri BT, Yalew AW, Gornott C. Climate change and specialty coffee potential in Ethiopia. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:8097. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-87647-4
- Oliveira G, Passos CP, Ferreira P, Coimbra MA, Gonçalves I. Coffee byproducts and their suitability for developing active food packaging materials. *Foods.* (2021) 10:683. doi: 10.3390/foods10030683
- Duangjai A, Trisat K, Saokaew S. Effect of roasting degree, extraction time, and temperature of coffee beans on anti-hyperglycaemic and anti-hyperlipidaemic activities using ultrasound-assisted extraction. *Prev Nutr Food Sci.* (2021) 26:338–45. doi: 10.3746/pnf.2021.26.3.338
- Duangjai A, Nuengchamnong N, Suphrom N, Trisat K, Limpeanchob N, Saokaew S. Potential of coffee fruit extract and quinic acid on adipogenesis and lipolysis in 3t3-L1 adipocytes. *Kobe J Med Sci.* (2018) 64:E84–92.

- Duangjai A, Pontip P, Sumhem S, Kaweekul W, Utsintong M, Ontawong A, et al. Phenolic acids from *Coffea arabica* L. suppress intestinal uptake of glucose and cholesterol. *Biomed Res.* (2020) 31:59–66. doi: 10.35841/0970-938X.31.3.59-66
- 33. Boonphang O, Ontawong A, Pasachan T, Phatsara M, Duangjai A, Amornlerdpison D, et al. Antidiabetic and renoprotective effects of *Coffea arabica* pulp aqueous extract through preserving organic cation transport system mediated oxidative stress pathway in experimental type 2 diabetic rats. *Molecules.* (2021) 26:1907. doi: 10.3390/molecules26071907
- Ontawong A, Duangjai A, Muanprasat C, Pasachan T, Pongchaidecha A, Amornlerdpison D, et al. Lipid-lowering effects of *Coffea arabica* pulp aqueous extract in Caco-2 cells and hypercholesterolemic rats. *Phytomedicine*. (2019) 52:187–97. doi: 10.1016/j.phymed.2018.06.021
- 35. Ontawong A, Pasachan T, Soodvilai S, Duangjai A, Pongchaidecha A, Amornlerdpison D, et al. Chlorogenic acid enriched in coffee pulp extract attenuates hepatic steatosis by modulating gene-regulated lipid metabolism and lipid transporters. *FASEB J.* (2018) 32(Suppl. 1):749.1. doi: 10.1096/fasebj.2018.32.1\_supplement.749.1
- Kositamongkol C, Kanchanasurakit S, Auttamalang C, Inchai N, Kabkaew T, Kitpark S, et al. Coffee consumption and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: an umbrella review and a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front Pharmacol.* (2021) 12:786596. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2021.786596
- Duangjai A, Suphrom N, Wungrath J, Ontawong A, Nuengchamnong N, Yosboonruang A. Comparison of antioxidant, antimicrobial activities and chemical profiles of three coffee (*Coffea arabica* L.) pulp aqueous extracts. *Integr Med Res.* (2016) 5:324–31. doi: 10.1016/j.imr.2016.09.001
- Nuhu AA. Bioactive micronutrients in coffee: recent analytical approaches for characterization and quantification. *ISRN Nutrition*. (2014) 2014:384230. doi: 10.1155/2014/384230
- Daglia M, Papetti A, Dacarro C, Gazzani G. Isolation of an antibacterial component from roasted coffee. J Pharm Biomed Anal. (1998) 18:219–25. doi: 10.1016/s0731-7085(98)00177-0
- Almeida AAP, Farah A, Silva DAM, Nunan EA, Glória MBA. Antibacterial activity of coffee extracts and selected coffee chemical compounds against enterobacteria. J Agric Food Chem. (2006) 54:8738–43. doi: 10.1021/jf0617317
- Khochapong W, Ketnawa S, Ogawa Y, Punbusayakul N. Effect of *in vitro* digestion on bioactive compounds, antioxidant and antimicrobial activities of coffee (*Coffea arabica* L.) pulp aqueous extract. *Food Chem.* (2021) 348:129094. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2021.129094
- Runti G, Pacor S, Colomban S, Gennaro R, Navarini L, Scocchi M. Arabica coffee extract shows antibacterial activity against *Staphylococcus epidermidis* and *Enterococcus faecalis* and low toxicity towards a human cell line. *LWT Food Sci Technol.* (2015) 62(1 Pt 1):108–14. doi: 10.1016/j.lwt.2014.12.039
- Naveed M, Hejazi V, Abbas M, Kamboh AA, Khan GJ, Shumzaid M, et al. Chlorogenic acid (CGA): a pharmacological review and call for further research. *Biomed Pharmacother*. (2018) 97:67–74. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2017.10.064
- 44. Khan F, Bamunuarachchi NI, Tabassum N, Kim Y-M. Caffeic acid and its derivatives: antimicrobial drugs toward microbial pathogens. J Agric Food Chem. (2021) 69:2979–3004. doi: 10.1021/acs.jafc.0c07579
- 45. Antonio AG, Moraes RS, Perrone D, Maia LC, Santos KRN, Iório NLP, et al. Species, roasting degree and decaffeination influence the antibacterial activity of coffee against *Streptococcus mutans*. *Food Chem.* (2010) 118:782–8. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2009.05.063
- 46. Tasew T, Mekonnen Y, Gelana T, Redi-Abshiro M, Chandravanshi BS, Ele E, et al. *in vitro* antibacterial and antioxidant activities of roasted and green coffee beans originating from different regions of Ethiopia. *Int J Food Sci.* (2020) 2020:8490492. doi: 10.1155/2020/8490492
- Bastian F, Hutabarat OS, Dirpan A, Nainu F, Harapan H, Emran TB, et al. From plantation to cup: changes in bioactive compounds during coffee processing. *Foods.* (2021) 10:2827. doi: 10.3390/foods101 12827
- Duangjai A, Saokaew S, Goh B-H, Phisalprapa P. Shifting of physicochemical and biological characteristics of coffee roasting under ultrasoundassisted extraction. *Front Nutr.* (2021) 8:724591. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2021. 724591

- CLSI. Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing; Twenty-Fifth Informational Supplement M100-S25. Wayne, PA: Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (2015).
- Ahmadi MH. Global status of tetracycline resistance among clinical isolates of Vibrio cholerae: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. (2021) 10:115. doi: 10.1186/s13756-021-00985-w
- Qaiyumi S. Macro-and microdilution methods of antimicrobial susceptibility testing. In: Schwalbe R, Steele-Moore L, Goodwin AC, editors. *Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing Protocols*. Boca Raton, FL: Taylor & Francis (2007) p. 75–9.
- Balouiri M, Sadiki M, Ibnsouda SK. Methods for *in vitro* evaluating antimicrobial activity: a review. *J Pharm Anal.* (2016) 6:71–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jpha.2015.11.005
- Elshikh M, Ahmed S, Funston S, Dunlop P, McGaw M, Marchant R, et al. Resazurin-based 96-well plate microdilution method for the determination of minimum inhibitory concentration of biosurfactants. *Biotechnol Lett.* (2016) 38:1015–9. doi: 10.1007/s10529-016-2079-2
- Magi G, Marini E, Facinelli B. Antimicrobial activity of essential oils and carvacrol, and synergy of carvacrol and erythromycin, against clinical, erythromycin-resistant group a Streptococci. *Front Microbiol.* (2015) 6:165. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2015.00165
- 55. Odds FC. Synergy, antagonism, and what the chequerboard puts between them. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. (2003) 52:1. doi: 10.1093/jac/dkg301
- Zimmermann S, Klinger-Strobel M, Bohnert JA, Wendler S, Rödel J, Pletz MW, et al. Clinically approved drugs inhibit the *Staphylococcus aureus* multidrug NorA efflux pump and reduce biofilm formation. *Front Microbiol.* (2019) 10:2762. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.02762
- 57. Sateriale D, Facchiano S, Colicchio R, Pagliuca C, Varricchio E, Paolucci M, et al. *In vitro* synergy of polyphenolic extracts from honey, myrtle and pomegranate against oral pathogens, *S. mutans* and *R. dentocariosa. Front Microbiol.* (2020) 11:1465. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2020.01465
- Soudeiha MAH, Dahdouh EA, Azar E, Sarkis DK, Daoud Z. In vitro evaluation of the colistin-carbapenem combination in clinical isolates of A. baumannii using the checkerboard, Etest, and time-kill curve techniques. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. (2017) 7:209. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2017.00209
- Foerster S, Unemo M, Hathaway LJ, Low N, Althaus CL. Time-kill curve analysis and pharmacodynamic modelling for *in vitro* evaluation of antimicrobials against *Neisseria gonorrhoeae. BMC Microbiol.* (2016) 16:216. doi: 10.1186/s12866-016-0838-9
- Petersen PJ, Jones CH, Bradford PA. In vitro antibacterial activities of tigecycline and comparative agents by time-kill kinetic studies in fresh Mueller-Hinton broth. Diagnostic Microbiol Infect Dis. (2007) 59:347–9. doi: 10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2007.05.013
- Lou Z, Wang H, Zhu S, Ma C, Wang Z. Antibacterial activity and mechanism of action of chlorogenic acid. J Food Sci. (2011) 76:M398–403. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3841.2011.02213.x
- 62. Lv Y, Wang J, Gao H, Wang Z, Dong N, Ma Q, et al. Antimicrobial properties and membrane-active mechanism of a potential  $\alpha$ -helical antimicrobial derived from cathelicidin PMAP-36. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e86364. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0086364
- Wang J, Chou S, Xu L, Zhu X, Dong N, Shan A, et al. High specific selectivity and membrane-active mechanism of the synthetic centrosymmetric A-helical peptides with Gly-Gly pairs. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:15963. doi: 10.1038/srep 15963
- 64. Datta A, Jaiswal N, Ilyas H, Debnath S, Biswas K, Kumar D, et al. Structural and dynamic insights into a glycine-mediated short analogue of a designed peptide in lipopolysaccharide micelles: correlation between compact structure and anti-endotoxin activity. *Biochemistry*. (2017) 56:1348– 62. doi: 10.1021/acs.biochem.6b01229
- 65. Matsuyama T. Staining of living bacteria with rhodamine 123. *FEMS Microbiol Lett.* (1984) 21:153–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1574-6968.1984.tb00202.x
- Leal AM, de Queiroz JD, de Medeiros SR, Lima TK, Agnez-Lima LF. Violacein induces cell death by triggering mitochondrial membrane hyperpolarization *in vitro. BMC Microbiol.* (2015) 15:115. doi: 10.1186/s12866-015-0452-2
- Darzynkiewicz Z, Staiano-Coico L, Melamed MR. Increased mitochondrial uptake of rhodamine 123 during lymphocyte stimulation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (1981) 78:2383. doi: 10.1073/pnas.78.4.2383

- Benfield AH, Henriques ST. Mode-of-action of antimicrobial peptides: membrane disruption vs. intracellular mechanisms. *Front Med Technol.* (2020) 2:610997. doi: 10.3389/fmedt.2020.610997
- 69. World Health Organization. *Antimicrobial Resistance*. (2021). Available online at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/antimicrobial-resistance (accessed January 12, 2022).
- da Silveira JS, Mertz C, Morel G, Lacour S, Belleville M-P, Durand N, et al. Alcoholic fermentation as a potential tool for coffee pulp detoxification and reuse: analysis of phenolic composition and caffeine content by HPLC-DAD-MS/MS. *Food Chem.* (2020) 319:126600. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2020.126600
- Loukri A, Tsitlakidou P, Goula A, Assimopoulou AN, Kontogiannopoulos KN, Mourtzinos I. Green extracts from coffee pulp and their application in the development of innovative brews. *Appl Sci.* (2020) 10:6982. doi: 10.3390/app10196982
- Myo H, Nantarat N, Khat-Udomkiri N. Changes in bioactive compounds of coffee pulp through fermentation-based biotransformation using *Lactobacillus plantarum* TISTR 543 and its antioxidant activities. *Fermentation.* (2021) 7:292. doi: 10.3390/fermentation7040292
- Cordoba Castro N, Fernandez-Alduenda M, Moreno F, Ruiz Y. Coffee extraction: a review of parameters and their influence on the physicochemical characteristics and flavour of coffee brews. *Trends Food Sci Technol.* (2020) 96:45–60. doi: 10.1016/j.tifs.2019.12.004
- Awwad S, Issa R, Alnsour L, Albals D, Al-Momani I. Quantification of caffeine and chlorogenic acid in green and roasted coffee samples using HPLC-DAD and evaluation of the effect of degree of roasting on their levels. *Molecules*. (2021) 26:7502. doi: 10.3390/molecules26247502
- Moon JK, Yoo HS, Shibamoto T. Role of roasting conditions in the level of chlorogenic acid content in coffee beans: correlation with coffee acidity. J Agric Food Chem. (2009) 57:5365–9. doi: 10.1021/jf900012b
- Pedan V, Stamm E, Do T, Holinger M, Reich E. HPTLC fingerprint profile analysis of coffee polyphenols during different roast trials. J Food Compos Anal. (2020) 94:103610. doi: 10.1016/j.jfca.2020.103610
- Vinson JA, Chen X, Garver DD. Determination of total chlorogenic acids in commercial green coffee extracts. J Med Food. (2019) 22:314–20. doi: 10.1089/jmf.2018.0039
- Farah A, de Paulis T, Trugo LC, Martin PR. Effect of roasting on the formation of chlorogenic acid lactones in coffee. J Agric Food Chem. (2005) 53:1505–13. doi: 10.1021/jf048701t
- Król K, Gantner M, Tatarak A, Hallmann E. The content of polyphenols in coffee beans as roasting, origin and storage effect. *Eur Food Res Technol.* (2020) 246:33–9. doi: 10.1007/s00217-019-03388-9
- Casal S, Oliveira M, Ferreira M. HPLC/diode-array applied to the thermal degradation of trigonelline, nicotinic acid and caffeine in coffee Food Chemistry. (2000) 68:481–5. doi: 10.1016/S0308-8146(99)00228-9
- Cuong T, Ling L, Quan G, Tiep T, Nan X, Qing C, et al. Effect of roasting conditions on several chemical constituents of Vietnam robusta coffee. Ann Univers Dunarea de Jos Galati Fascicle VI Food Technol. (2014) 38:43–56. doi: 10.2478/aucft-2014-0011
- Nattapon K, Orrapun S, Chanikan S, Natta L, Orapin K, Rittipun R. Phenolic compounds and biological activities of coffee extract for cosmetic product. SEATUC J Sci Eng. (2020) 1:71–6. doi: 10.34436/sjse.1.1\_71
- 83. Kristiningrum N, Cahyanti YN, Wulandari L. Determination of total phenolic content and antioxidant activity in methanolic extract of Robusta and Arabica coffee leaves. In: UNEJ e-Proceeding; Proceeding of 1st International Conference on Medicine and Health Sciences (ICMHS). Jember (2017).
- Nayeem N, Denny G, Mehta SK. Comparative phytochemical analysis, antimicrobial and anti oxidant activity of the methanolic extracts of the leaves of *Coffea arabica* and *Coffea robusta*. *Der Pharmacia Lett.* (2011) 3:292–7.
- Acidri R, Sawai Y, Sugimoto Y, Handa T, Sasagawa D, Masunaga T, et al. Phytochemical profile and antioxidant capacity of coffee plant organs compared to green and roasted coffee beans. *Antioxidants*. (2020) 9:93. doi: 10.3390/antiox9020093
- Chen X-M, Ma Z, Kitts DD. Effects of processing method and age of leaves on phytochemical profiles and bioactivity of coffee leaves. *Food Chem.* (2018) 249:143–53. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2017. 12.073

- Daglia M, Papetti A, Dacarro C, Gazzani G. Isolation of an antibacterial component from roasted coffee. J Pharm Biomed Anal. (1998) 18:219–25. doi: 10.1016/S0731-7085(98)00177-0
- Stojković D, Petrović J, Soković M, Glamočlija J, Kukić-Marković J, Petrović S. *In situ* antioxidant and antimicrobial activities of naturally occurring caffeic acid, P-coumaric acid and rutin, using food systems. *J Sci Food Agric*. (2013) 93:3205–8. doi: 10.1002/jsfa.6156
- Kishore RS, Meena KS, Ramesh C. 13 inhibition of virulence potential of Vibrio cholerae by herbal compounds. In: Sakharkar KR, Sakharkar M, Chandra R, editors. Post-Genomic Approaches in Drug and Vaccine Development. Gistrup: River Publishers (2015). p. 347-74.
- Andrade M, Benfeito S, Soares P, Magalhães e Silva D, Loureiro J, Borges A, et al. Fine-tuning of the hydrophobicity of caffeic acid: studies on the antimicrobial activity against *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Escherichia coli. RSC Adv.* (2015) 5:53915–25. doi: 10.1039/C5RA05840F
- Perumal S, Mahmud R, Ismail S. Mechanism of action of isolated caffeic acid and epicatechin 3-gallate from *Euphorbia hirta* against *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. *Pharmacogn Mag.* (2017) 13(Suppl. 2):S311–5. doi: 10.4103/pm.pm\_309\_15
- Gilbert AR, Alborzi S, Bastarrachea LJ, Tikekar RV. Photoirradiated caffeic acid as an antimicrobial treatment for fresh produce. *FEMS Microbiol Lett.* (2018) 365:fny132. doi: 10.1093/femsle/fny132
- Maity S, Kinra M, Nampoothiri M, Arora D, Pai KSR, Mudgal J. Caffeic acid, a dietary polyphenol, as a promising candidate for combination therapy. *Chem Papers*. (2022) 76:1271–83. doi: 10.1007/s11696-021-01947-7
- 94. Zhang F, Zhai T, Haider S, Liu Y, Huang ZJ. Synergistic effect of chlorogenic acid and caffeic acid with fosfomycin on growth inhibition of a resistant listeria monocytogenes strain. ACS Omega. (2020) 5:7537–44. doi: 10.1021/acsomega.0c00352
- 95. Park MY, Kang DH. Antibacterial activity of caffeic acid combined with UV-A light against *Escherichia coli* O157:H7, *Salmonella enterica* serovar Typhimurium, and *Listeria monocytogenes*. *Appl Environ Microbiol*. (2021) 87:e0063121. doi: 10.1128/aem.00631-21
- 96. Bhattacharya D, Ghosh D, Bhattacharya S, Sarkar S, Karmakar P, Koley H, et al. Antibacterial activity of polyphenolic fraction of kombucha against

Vibrio cholerae: targeting cell membrane. Lett Appl Microbiol. (2018) 66:145–52. doi: 10.1111/lam.12829

- Meza-Villezcas A, Gallego-Hernández AL, Yildiz FH, Jaime-Acuña OE, Raymond-Herrera O, Huerta-Saquero A. Effect of antimicrobial nanocomposites on *Vibrio cholerae* lifestyles: pellicle biofilm, planktonic and surface-attached biofilm. *PLoS ONE*. (2019) 14:e0217869. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0217869
- 98. Sarwar S, Chakraborti S, Bera S, Sheikh IA, Hoque KM, Chakrabarti P. The antimicrobial activity of ZnO nanoparticles against Vibrio cholerae: variation in response depends on biotype. Nanomedicine. (2016) 12:1499–509. doi: 10.1016/j.nano.2016. 02.006
- Chen G, Bei Q, Huang T, Wu Z. Tracking of pigment accumulation and secretion in extractive fermentation of *Monascus anka* GIM 3.592. *Microb Cell Factor*. (2017) 16:172. doi: 10.1186/s12934-017-0786-6

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Rawangkan, Siriphap, Yosboonruang, Kiddee, Pook-In, Saokaew, Sutheinkul and Duangjai. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## The Use of Probiotic Therapy in Metabolic and Neurological Diseases

Shirley H. F. Lee, Siti R. Ahmad, Ya C. Lim and Ihsan N. Zulkipli\*

Pengiran Anak Puteri Rashidah Sa'adatul Bolkiah (PAPRSB) Institute of Health Sciences, Universiti Brunei Darussalam, Gadong, Brunei

The human gut is home to trillions of microbes that interact with host cells to influence and contribute to body functions. The number of scientific studies focusing on the gut microbiome has exponentially increased in recent years. Studies investigating factors that may potentially affect the gut microbiome and may be used for therapeutic purposes in diseases where dysbioses in the gut microbiome have been shown are of particular interest. This review compiles current evidence available in the scientific literature on the use of probiotics to treat metabolic diseases and autism spectrum disorders (ASDs) to analyze the efficacy of probiotics in these diseases. To do this, we must first define the healthy gut microbiome before looking at the interplay between the gut microbiome and diseases, and how probiotics affect this interaction. In metabolic diseases, such as obesity and diabetes, probiotic supplementation positively impacts pathological parameters. Conversely, the gut-brain axis significantly impacts neurodevelopmental disorders such as ASDs. However, manipulating the gut microbiome and disease symptoms using probiotics has less pronounced effects on neurodevelopmental diseases. This may be due to a more complex interplay between genetics and the environment in these diseases. In conclusion, the use of microbebased probiotic therapy may potentially have beneficial effects in ameliorating the pathology of various diseases. Validation of available data for the development of personalized treatment regimens for affected patients is still required.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Surasak Saokaew, University of Phayao, Thailand

#### Reviewed by:

Anchalee Rawangkan, University of Phayao, Thailand Eric Banan-Mwine Daliri, Kangwon National University, South Korea

#### \*Correspondence:

Ihsan N. Zulkipli nazurah.zulkipli@ubd.edu.bn

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 01 March 2022 Accepted: 29 March 2022 Published: 03 May 2022

#### Citation:

Lee SHF, Ahmad SR, Lim YC and Zulkipli IN (2022) The Use of Probiotic Therapy in Metabolic and Neurological Diseases. Front. Nutr. 9:887019. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.887019 Keywords: therapy, microbes, obesity, probiotics, diabetes, neurodegenerative diseases

#### INTRODUCTION

The gut is a natural habitat for trillions of diverse microbes (anaerobic bacteria, yeasts, viruses, and bacteriophages) where the phyla Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, and Actinobacteria are the most common (1). The gut microbiome is a complex ecosystem where microbes and their metabolites interact with host cells to influence body functions. General health is associated with a "healthy" microbiome, defined by the diversity and types of species of bacteria within the gut.

Fecal microbiome analysis has shown that the gut microbiota composition is influenced by various factors such as age, genetics, types of food consumed, economic development, and immediate environment (2–7). Dysbiosis of the microbiome is associated with a reduction in the diversity of microbes within the gut. The altered diversity of gut microbes is correlated with various diseases such as metabolic diseases, autism spectrum disorders (ASDs), and other brain disorders (8–16). Changes in the microbiome have been also linked with infection risk and susceptibility (17), including COVID-19 (18).

53

Recently, products containing supposedly "healthy" bacteria are touted as being beneficial to health by restoring balance to the microbiome within the gut. These products are generally termed "probiotics," but have also generated other related products, all of which are proposed to act to enhance healthy bacteria within the gut. The term "probiotics" was coined in the 1970s while food containing beneficial bacteria have been consumed even earlier. Recently added interest in the commercialization of probiotic foods meant that there has been a need to define what can be claimed as a probiotic.

The generally accepted definition of probiotic was generated together by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) and WHO—"live microorganisms which when administered in adequate amounts confer a health benefit on the host" (19). Other related products include "prebiotics," "synbiotics," "postbiotics," and "metabiotics" (20–23). The term "live and active cultures" is sometimes used for fermented or functional foods with live microorganisms within them but those microorganisms may not prove to be probiotic yet (19).

With the plethora of probiotics and associated products now available commercially, it is no wonder that there have been many misconceptions regarding probiotics, their usage, and their health benefits, which we will address in the subsequent sections of this review.

#### **Constituents of Probiotics**

Specific health benefits have been ascribed to particular probiotic strains, and therefore, not all probiotic supplements are equal, even if they list the same species of probiotic bacteria. Therefore, it is essential to ensure that the correct strain is used to treat the underlying clinical issue. Additionally, supplements that contain multiple strains of bacteria may also lack the scientific evidence for the claimed benefits.

The most common bacterial species used in current probiotic products are lactic acid bacteria such as *Bifidobacterium* and *Lactobacillus* strains (24). However, recent studies have identified other species of bacteria that may also confer benefits when used as probiotics, such as *Akkermansia muciniphila* and *Faecalibacterium prausnitzii* (25), and the use of these bacteria in probiotic products is rising as well (26). The effectiveness of probiotic supplementation can be measured through the bacterial load in the feces, or other measures within the body (27, 28), and is essential to establish the efficacy of any treatment.

# Evidence of Therapeutic Effects of Probiotics

The benefits of probiotic supplementation result from either inhibition of pathogen growth in the large intestine or augmented immune response and intestinal barrier function in both small and large intestines (29). As most probiotics are beneficial bacteria found naturally within the gut, ingested probiotics within the gut interact with immune cells to sustain an immunologic balance within the gastrointestinal tract (30, 31). Therefore, the interplay between the gut microbiome, probiotics, and human health is *via* the modulation of immune responses at the epithelial cells constituting the mucosal interface between host and microorganisms.

The gut microbiome also produces a wide range of metabolites due to the anaerobic fermentation of undigested materials and endogenous compounds found within the microbes and host. The metabolites produced by the microbiome serve as agents that modulate the host cells' responses, thus its immune system and disease probability. Rooks and Garrett have reviewed how these metabolites modulate the immune responses and disease risk (32). We have summarized probiotic strains, their resulting metabolites, and their effects on health in **Table 1**.

Regular consumption of probiotic supplements and foods has ascribed numerous scientifically backed benefits, including effects on the gut such as amelioration of diarrhea and other digestive symptoms (33–38), reduction of inflammation (33, 39), as well as benefits to various conditions ranging from emotional imbalance to autoimmune diseases (40–45). Some groups have even shown the benefits of consuming probiotics for patients with cancer (28, 46, 47). However, it must be noted that while many clinical benefits have been rigorously tested, in many cases, probiotics cannot be considered an alternative to medicine, particularly in severe diseases.

### HEALTHY GUT MICROBIOME PROFILES AND CHANGES IN DISEASE

Knowledge of a healthy gut microbiome is necessary before addressing the diseases triggered by the dysregulation of the gut microbiome. Hou et al. (51) established three enterotypes comprising specific species and functional composition: Bacteroides, Blautia, and Prevotella enterotypes. These different gut microbiome diversity signatures have different risks for different diseases (48–50). Additionally, the efficacy of probiotic supplementation is also affected by enterotype (51). Therefore, these enterotypes may form a basal gut microbiome that is independent of geographical location as well as nutrition.

Gut community profiles have also shown that healthy preadolescents have more significant numbers of species and greater diversity than adults, with increased Firmicutes and Actinobacteria (52). Both Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes bacteria are SCFAs producers, specifically acetic acid and propionic acid by Bacteroidetes and butyric acid by Firmicutes (53). Functionally, the diversity of microbial genes detected in the gut microbiome in children was responsible for the ensuing growth and development, such as vitamin synthesis. In contrast, the enriched microbial genes detected in the gut microbiome of adults are associated with inflammation and fat deposition (52). Findings from a further study to understand the gut microbiome of pre-adolescents in different geographical areas and conditions showed that the distal guts of children living in the Bangladeshi slum have significantly higher bacterial gut microbiome diversity with enrichment in Prevotella, Butyrivibrio, and Oscillospira together with a depletion in Bacteroides (54). However, this microbial diversity was more prone to changes, unlike the microbiota found in children living in the suburban community.

TABLE 1 | List of probiotic strains and the metabolites produced and their effects.

Probiotic (bacterial) strain(s)	Metabolites produced	Effects	References
Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron	Acetate	Increase mucus production	(65)
Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron and Faecalibacterium prausnitzii	Acetate and Butyrate	Ensure maintenance of appropriate secretory cells proportion	(65)
Bifidobacterium longum	Acetate	Fortifies intestinal epithelial cells integrity and prevent toxins entry into circulation	(66)
Bifidobacterium dentium	Acetate γ-aminobutyric acid (GABA)	Stimulates MUC2 synthesis, Promotes autophagy and calcium mobilization to release mucus	(67)
Bifidobacterium Lactis sp. 420	Acetate Lactate	Modulate Cox expression profile, resulting in anti-inflammatory and anticarcinogenic properties	(68)
Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG and Saccharomyces cerevisiae boulardii	Butyrate Propionate Ethanol	Protects against pathogenic Escherichia coli	(69)
Lactobacillus casei	Butyrate Acetate	Increase secretion of Glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) and peptide YY (PYY) secretion	(70)
Lactobacillus. johnsonii L531	Butyrate Acetate Lactate	Reduces pathogen load	(71)
Lactobacillus gasseri	Butyrate	Exerts anti-obesity effects	(72)
Saccharomyces boulardii	Acetate	Antibiotic potency	(73)

A reference profile comprising the abundance and list of microbes in a healthy human was constructed, with 157 organisms classified as healthy gut microbes in the Fecal Biome Population Report (55). Additionally, Kong et al. (56) studied the gut microbiome of healthy centenarians as a benchmark for a healthy microbiome model. They found that short-chain fatty acids (SCFAs)-producing bacteria were more abundant in the long-living Chinese cohort. SCFAs such as butyrate, propionate, and acetate, produced by the gut microbiome, are beneficial for health. SCFAs act by stimulating the expansion of regulatory T cells, inhibiting inflammation *via* reducing histone deacetylase-9 gene expression (57). Thus, SCFAs maintain the gut barrier's integrity, stimulate immunity in the intestines, and prevent pathogen infection (32, 58). Hence, metabolites produced by the gut microbiome can also modulate a person's health status (59).

Interestingly, the follow-up study revealed that the long-living healthy people in the study (both Chinese and Italian cohorts) had more diverse microbiota structures than younger age groups (60). This result contrasts with previous studies whose results have suggested that gut microbiome diversity in a person tends to decrease as the person ages (61, 62). This suggests that the changes in your gut microbiome are not set in stone and can be modulated with environmental factors and diet.

The potential of the dysbiosis of the gut microbiome in the establishment of metabolic diseases should be obvious. However, the gut microbiome is also able to communicate with the nervous system *via* the gut-brain axis (GBA) and thus affects neurological diseases as well. The GBA involves bidirectional interaction between the central and the enteric nervous systems, connecting the cognitive and emotional centers of the brain with peripheral intestinal functions. Bacteria in the gastrointestinal (GI) tract influence the signaling of neural pathways and the central nervous system (CNS) (63–67). Evidence of microbiota-GBA communications emerged from the association of dysbiosis with central nervous disorders (63, 68, 69). From this, we note that healthy gut microbiota is essential for brain development and function.

Consequently, a healthy gut microbiome is essential for both metabolic and neurological health. In the following sub-sections, we will be addressing the use of probiotics in metabolic diseases (obesity and type II diabetes) and neurodegenerative diseases.

# Gut Dysbiosis and Probiotics and Obesity

Obesity is defined by excessive fat accumulation in the body, which may increase the risk of non-communicable diseases such as diabetes, cardiovascular diseases, some cancers, and hypertension (70). The gut microbiome and the composition of dietary intake are profoundly linked (71). For example, the intake of animal-based foods provided up to 5 consecutive days of increased bile-tolerant microbes (*Alistipes, Bilophila*, and *Bacteroides*) and reduced the amount of fiber-fermenting bacteria (72).

Gut microbiota profiles in overweight and obese individuals show higher amounts of *Bacteroides*, *Bifidobacteria*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, and *Lactobacilli Clostridia* (73, 74). Among overweight individuals, the baseline ratio of gut microflora, *Firmicutes* to *Bacteroidetes* was disturbed (75). *Firmicutes* bacteria potentially are able to affect the modulation of gene expression and hormones involved in metabolism (76). Therefore, the change in the ratio of different bacteria species may affect human metabolism, leading to obesity.

Probiotics may act as anti-obesity agents by various modes of action, including modulation of specific gut microbiota strains, gastrointestinal and immune system modulation, lowering insulin resistance, and greater satiety. The use of probiotics containing *Lactobacillus* and *Bifidobacterium* species in obesity treatment is promising (77). Some of the positive changes which resulted from the intake of probiotics include lower

waist circumference, lower body fat deposition, lower body weight, lower weight gain, and improved lipid profile. However, Vajro et al. showed that *L. salivalis* supplementation in obese adolescents led to no improvement in obesity parameters (78). Another study with the consumption of one capsule of *L. rhamnosus* G showed a lower weight gain at 1 year of life and up to 4 years old in children but observed no weight changes after that period (79). This difference in weight gain patterns may be due to the colonization of the gut microflora, which begins during the first few years of life (80, 81). Unless various scientific groups consistently match the age of controls and subjects, together with consistent bacterial strains utilized in probiotics, the conclusion derived from the comparison of these studies remains murky.

A. muciniphila is negatively correlated to obesity development, as well as other diseases such as type-2 diabetes and hypertension (82). A human clinical trial looking at the impact of A. muciniphila supplementation for over 3 months showed that the treatment led to improved insulin sensitivity, insulinemic, and reduction of total cholesterol (83). The evidence of A. muciniphila as a probiotic that confers a protective effect against metabolic disorders has been accumulating over the past few years (84) and may merit further study.

Hence, probiotics positively impact the reduction of relevant obesity parameters, although the effect varies across the different age groups and genders. More standardized studies are needed to investigate how the different mixtures of bacterial species in probiotics affect different age groups and genders.

## **Gut Dysbiosis, Probiotics, and Diabetes**

Type-2 diabetes is a metabolic disorder in which individuals display abnormally high blood glucose, resulting from inadequate insulin secretion and resistance (85). Type 2 diabetes results from the interaction between environmental factors and genetic factors (86). One of the primary risk factors of type-2 diabetes is being overweight or obese (87).

A change in the composition of the gut microbiota may result in increased susceptibility to prediabetic conditions such as insulin resistance (87–89). Reports have revealed that the intestinal microbiome of individuals with type-2 diabetes has reduced butyrate-producing bacteria (87, 90), a lower frequency of Firmicutes, and a higher frequency of Bacteroidetes and Proteobacteria (88). The metabolites produced by gut microbes also affect insulin sensitivity and glucose homeostasis, with metabolites like SCFA improving insulin secretion (91). Therefore, butyrate-producing bacteria affect insulin secretion and therefore, the blood sugar level of a person. Further exploration of the bacterial strain or administration of butyrate may be beneficial to a diabetic.

Probiotic intake, such as *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* GG, leads to improvement in intestinal integrity, reduced lipopolysaccharide level, reduced endoplasmic reticulum stress, and improved insulin sensitivity (91–93). Animal and clinical trials have shown that both single probiotic strains or mixtures of probiotics have the potential to improve type-2 diabetes parameters (87, 94). More research is required to dissect the most suitable species impacting gut metabolism, as well as exposure time, and dose.

# Gut Dysbiosis, Probiotics, and Autism Spectrum Disorder

Autism spectrum disorder is a group of neurodevelopmental disorders defined by deficits in communication and social interaction, and stereotyped behaviors (65). GI abnormalities are common among individuals with ASD (95, 96), with a strong correlation of GI symptoms with ASD severity (97).

The gut microbiota of children with ASD is less diverse, with decreased levels of health-promoting gut bacteria, and an increased abundance of species that produce neurotoxins (65). Metabolites from the gut microbiota may play vital roles in the pathogenesis of ASD (95, 96). Altered fecal SCFAs have been linked to constipation in ASD (97), where lower levels of acetic acid and butyrate and an elevated level of valeric acid have been reported in subjects with ASD (96). It has also been shown that SCFAs can induce autistic-like symptoms upon injection into rats (98).

Maternal immune activation (MIA) mouse models that display features of ASD have altered microbiota and GI barrier defects. Oral treatment of MIA offspring with the human commensal bacteria *Bacteroides fragilis* improves gut permeability, alters the microbial composition, and corrects behavioral defects in MIA animals. Therefore, it has been proposed that targeting the gut microbiota may be a potential therapy for specific symptoms in ASDs (95).

Probiotics potentially impact gut microbiota communities to alter the levels of harmful metabolites in ASD children, reducing GI inflammation and intestinal permeability (1, 99). However, the results of probiotic supplementation in individuals with ASD remain inconclusive and controversial. Current probiotics are mainly aerobic, short-lived, milk-derived cultures, which are not usually a significant part of the primarily anaerobic human gut microbiome (1). A review based on four studies concluded that current evidence does not support the use of probiotics to modify behavior in patients with ASD (100). Probiotics did not exert a significant effect to restore most of the beneficial bacteria upon assessment of stool samples from 58 individuals with ASD and 39 age-matched typically developing children (97). On the other hand, it has also been reported that probiotics treatment seems to improve ASD-associated behavioral symptoms (101).

Autism spectrum disorder individuals are highly selective eaters (102, 103); therefore dietary factors remain a strong confounding factor for these individuals. The complex interplay between host genetics, environment, and the microbiome although challenging to dissect are important factors to consider. Larger longitudinal trials as well as optimizing dosage, formulation (single vs. multispecies probiotics), timing (101), route of administration as well as toxicity concerns remain to be addressed to validate the efficacy of probiotics for ASD, taking into consideration age and population-specific differences in gut microbiota/metabolites produced (6, 7).

# Gut Dysbiosis and Probiotics in Neurodegenerative Diseases

It is well-established that age is a primary risk factor for neurodegenerative diseases due to increased insults including decreased neurotransmitter levels, chronic inflammation, oxidative stress, and apoptosis (104). There is also a high prevalence of GI comorbidities among patients with Parkinson's and Alzheimer's diseases (105, 106). Dysbiosis in the intestinal microbiota in the elderly may result in a leaky gut, and subsequently, promote systemic and neuroinflammation (107).

Gut microbiota secretes neurometabolites, which include neurotransmitters that regulate the signaling cascades of the CNS. A comprehensive review of neurotransmitters directly secreted by various probiotics has been published (105). Altered levels of neurotransmitters result in behavioral changes in neurodegenerative diseases. Restoring the balance of neurotransmitters by targeting gut microbiota is therefore central to the management of neurodegenerative disease.

Parkinson's disease (PD) is characterized by loss of dopaminergic neurons and intraneuronal alpha-synuclein accumulation, in the basal ganglia and at peripheral sites, including the gut (108). GI dysfunction has been reported to be a potential contributor to the pathogenesis of PD with evidence that alpha-synuclein inclusions appear early in the enteric nervous system and travel to the brain *via* the vagal nerves (109, 110). A review on altered gut microbiota compositions in patients with PD is available (111). Probiotics administration in independent studies improves GI symptoms and the metabolic profile of patients with PD (108, 111, 112).

Alzheimer's disease (AD) is one of the most common irreversible, neurodegenerative disorders in the elderly, which leads to cognitive decline and dementia. Inflammatory response at the site of beta-amyloid (one of the hallmark features of AD) accumulation in the brain has been linked to the gut microbiota (66). Current studies on the efficacy of probiotics in AD, although limited, seems promising. In a transgenic mice model of Alzheimer's Disease (AD), modulation of the gut microbiota through exercise and probiotic treatment alleviated the progress of AD (113). Rats injected with probiotics (L. acidophilus, L. fermentum, B. lactis, B. longum) for 8 weeks elicit an improvement in memory deficit and AD-associated pathology (114). However, it remains to be determined whether these findings are replicable in humans. Another randomized, doubleblind, and controlled clinical trial among 60 patients with AD revealed that a 12-week probiotic (L. acidophilus, L. casei, B. bifidum, and L. fermentum) consumption improved cognitive function and certain metabolic markers (115). There is also an ongoing clinical trial (randomized, placebo-controlled) to

#### REFERENCES

- Navarro F, Liu Y, Rhoads JM. Can probiotics benefit children with autism spectrum disorders? *World J Gastroenterol.* (2016) 22:10093–102. doi: 10. 3748/wjg.v22.i46.10093
- Karl PJ, Hatch AM, Arcidiacono SM, Pearce SC, Pantoja-Feliciano IG, Doherty LA, et al. Effects of psychological, environmental and physical stressors on the gut microbiota. *Front Microbiol.* (2018) 9:2013. doi: 10.3389/ fmicb.2018.02013
- Magrone T, Jirillo E. The interaction between gut microbiota and age-related changes in immune function and inflammation. *Immun Ageing*. (2013) 10:31. doi: 10.1186/1742-4933-10-31

investigate the effect of probiotics on 58 participants with dementia (116). Therefore, the efficacy of probiotics to restore gut dysbiosis in patients with AD awaits further validation.

A key limitation of current probiotic studies for PD and AD is the small sample sizes (n < 100). Consistent study designs in larger human trials with validated safety and efficacy are required before translation into clinical settings.

## **FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

Manipulation of the gut microbiota and microbial metabolites to address challenging questions in metabolic and brain disorders is difficult due to the complex relationship between host genetics and environmental factors to influence the gut microbiota. A healthy diet and exercise positively modify the gut microbiota (117–119), therefore it remains inevitable to tackle these key modifiable factors to ensure a healthy community of microbes.

Utilizing data from the NIH Human Microbiome Project (HMP) for resources and insights on the human microbiome provides an opportunity to further understand the complex relationship between human health and diseases, which will serve as a pedestal for novel approaches toward the development of therapeutics to tackle relevant diseases. Large scale, harmonized multi-center studies, and freely accessible data are imperative to validate the role of probiotics as potential therapeutics before translating research into clinical practice.

The long-term effects of probiotics and their corresponding metabolites/substances on health are needed to fully understand the mechanisms of each probiotic strain on health (120). Delineation of the precise role and effect of each probiotic strain may just be the beginning of introducing precise probiotic strain for an exact clinical disease. This delineation may be followed by combined efforts of various strains of probiotics. In short, the journey into the gut microbiome is just the tip of the iceberg at the moment.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

IZ provided the concept of the manuscript and finalized the manuscript. All authors wrote, provided revisions to the manuscript, read and approved the final manuscript, reviewed the manuscript, and consented for it to be sent for publication.

- Singh RK, Chang HW, Yan D, Lee KM, Ucmak D, Wong K, et al. Influence of diet on the gut microbiome and implications for human health. *J Transl Med.* (2017) 15:1–17. doi: 10.1186/s12967-017-1175-y
- 5. Biesalski HK. Nutrition meets the microbiome: micronutrients and the microbiota. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2016) 1372:53–64. doi: 10.1111/nyas.13145
- Odamaki T, Kato K, Sugahara H, Hashikura N, Takahashi S, Xiao J-Z, et al. Age-related changes in gut microbiota composition from newborn to centenarian: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Microbiol.* (2016) 16:90. doi: 10.1186/s12866-016-0708-5
- Yatsunenko T, Rey FE, Manary MJ, Trehan I, Dominguez-Bello MG, Contreras M, et al. Human gut microbiome viewed across age and geography. *Nature*. (2012) 486:222–7. doi: 10.1038/nature11053

- Ai D, Pan H, Han R, Li X, Liu G, Xia LC. Using decision tree aggregation with random forest model to identify gut microbes associated with colorectal cancer. *Genes (Basel)*. (2019) 10:112. doi: 10.3390/genes10020112
- Vivarelli S, Salemi R, Candido S, Falzone L, Santagati M, Stefani S, et al. Gut microbiota and cancer: from pathogenesis to therapy. *Cancers (Basel)*. (2019) 11:1–26. doi: 10.3390/cancers11010038
- Mills S, Stanton C, Lane JA, Smith GJ, Ross RP. Precision nutrition and the microbiome, part I: current state of the science. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:1–45. doi: 10.3390/nu11040923
- Mills S, Lane JA, Smith GJ, Grimaldi KA, Ross RP, Stanton C. precision nutrition and the microbiome part II: potential opportunities and pathways to commercialisation. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:1468. doi: 10.3390/nu11071468
- Dhar D, Mohanty A. Gut microbiota and covid-19– possible link and implications. *Virus Res.* (2020) 285:198018. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2020. 198018
- Ramalho R, Rao M, Zhang C, Agrati C, Ippolito G, Wang F, et al. Immunometabolism: new insights and lessons from antigen-directed cellular immune responses. *Semin Immunopathol.* (2020) 42:279–313. doi: 10.1007/ s00281-020-00798-w
- Garza DR, Taddese R, Wirbel J, Zeller G, Boleij A, Huynen MA, et al. Metabolic models predict bacterial passengers in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Metab.* (2020) 8:1–13. doi: 10.1186/s40170-020-0208-9
- Dai Z, Zhang J, Wu Q, Chen J, Liu J, Wang L, et al. The role of microbiota in the development of colorectal cancer. *Int J Cancer.* (2019) 145:2032–41. doi: 10.1002/ijc.32017
- John GK, Mullin GE. The gut microbiome and obesity. Curr Oncol Rep. (2016) 18:2–8. doi: 10.1007/s11912-016-0528-7
- Sood U, Bajaj A, Kumar R, Khurana S, Kalia VC. Infection and microbiome: impact of tuberculosis on human gut microbiome of indian cohort. *Indian J Microbiol.* (2018) 58:123–5. doi: 10.1007/s12088-018-0706-4
- Hussain I, Cher GLY, Abid MA, Abid MB. Role of gut microbiome in COVID-19: an insight into pathogenesis and therapeutic potential. *Front Immunol.* (2021) 12:765965. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.765965
- Hill C, Guarner F, Reid G, Gibson GR, Merenstein DJ, Pot B, et al. Expert consensus document: the international scientific association for probiotics and prebiotics consensus statement on the scope and appropriate use of the term probiotic. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2014) 11:506–14. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2014.66
- Gibson GR, Hutkins R, Sanders ME, Prescott SL, Reimer RA, Salminen SJ, et al. Expert consensus document: the international scientific association for probiotics and prebiotics (ISAPP) consensus statement on the definition and scope of prebiotics. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2017) 14:491–502. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2017.75
- Lee HL, Shen H, Hwang IY, Ling H, Yew WS, Lee YS, et al. Targeted approaches for in situ gut microbiome manipulation. *Genes (Basel)*. (2018) 9:351. doi: 10.3390/genes9070351
- 22. Patil S, Sawant S, Hauff K, Hampp G. Validated postbiotic screening confirms presence of physiologically-active metabolites, such as short-chain fatty acids, amino acids and vitamins in hylak<sup>®</sup> forte. *Probiotics Antimicrob Proteins*. (2019) 11:1124–31. doi: 10.1007/s12602-018-9497-5
- Sharma M, Shukla G. Metabiotics: one step ahead of probiotics; an insight into mechanisms involved in anticancerous effect in colorectal cancer. Front Microbiol. (2016) 7:1940. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.01940
- Luo G, Li B, Yang C, Wang Y, Bian X, Li W, et al. Major traditional probiotics: comparative genomic analyses and roles in gut microbiome of eight cohorts. *Front Microbiol.* (2019) 10:712. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.00712
- Kumari M, Singh P, Nataraj BH, Kokkiligadda A, Naithani H, Azmal Ali S, et al. Fostering next-generation probiotics in human gut by targeted dietary modulation: an emerging perspective. *Food Res Int.* (2021) 150:110716. doi: 10.1016/j.foodres.2021.110716
- 26. Saarela MH. Safety aspects of next generation probiotics. *Curr Opin Food Sci.* (2019) 30:8–13. doi: 10.1016/j.cofs.2018.09.001
- Yang J, McDowell A, Kim EK, Seo H, Yum K, Lee WH, et al. Consumption of a *Leuconostoc holzapfelii*-enriched synbiotic beverage alters the composition of the microbiota and microbial extracellular vesicles. *Exp Mol Med.* (2019) 51:87. doi: 10.1038/s12276-019-0288-1
- 28. Liu Z, Qin H, Yang Z, Xia Y, Liu W, Yang J, et al. Randomised clinical trial: the effects of perioperative probiotic treatment on barrier function

and post-operative infectious complications in colorectal cancer surgery – a double-blind study. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* (2011) 33:50–63. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2010.04492.x

- Madsen K. Probiotics and the immune response. J Clin Gastroenterol. (2006) 40:232–4. doi: 10.1097/00004836-200603000-00014
- Ricci A, Tagliacarne SC, Valsecchi C, Boggini T, Cattaneo F, Licari A, et al. PROBIOTICS AND INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASES. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents. (2015) 29:96–113.
- 31. Wilkins T, Sequoia J. Probiotics for gastrointestinal conditions: a summary of the evidence. *Am Fam Physician.* (2017) 96:170–8.
- Rooks MG, Garrett WS. Gut microbiota, metabolites and host immunity. Nat Rev Immunol. (2016) 16:341–52. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.42
- Lai HH, Chiu CH, Kong MS, Chang CJ, Chen CC. Probiotic Lactobacillus casei: effective for managing childhood diarrhea by altering gut microbiota and attenuating fecal inflammatory markers. Nutrients. (2019) 11:1105. doi: 10.3390/nu11051150
- 34. Eskesen D, Jespersen L, Michelsen B, Whorwell PJ, Müller-Lissner S, Morberg CM. Effect of the probiotic strain *Bifidobacterium animalis* subsp. lactis, BB-12<sup>®</sup>, on defecation frequency in healthy subjects with low defecation frequency and abdominal discomfort: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group trial. *Br J Nutr.* (2015) 114:1638–46. doi: 10.1017/S0007114515003347
- Hilton E, Kolakowski P, Singer C, Smith M. Efficacy of *Lactobacillus* GG as a diarrheal preventive in travelers. *J Travel Med.* (1997) 4:41–3. doi: 10.1111/j. 1708-8305.1997.tb00772.x
- Aggarwal S, Upadhyay A, Shah D, Teotia N, Agarwal A, Jaiswal V. Lactobacillus GG for treatment of acute childhood diarrhoea: an open labelled, randomized controlled trial. Indian J Med Res. (2014) 139:379–85.
- Salazar-Lindo E, Miranda-Langschwager P, Campos-Sanchez M, Chea-Woo E, Sack RB. *Lactobacillus casei* strain GG in the treatment of infants with acute watery diarrhea: a randomized, double-blind, placebo controlled clinical trial [ISRCTN67363048]. *BMC Pediatr.* (2004) 4:18. doi: 10.1186/1471-2431-4-18
- Lahtinen SJ, Forssten S, Aakko J, Granlund L, Rautonen N, Salminen S, et al. Probiotic cheese containing *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* HN001 and *Lactobacillus acidophilus* NCFM\$modifies subpopulations of fecal lactobacilli and *Clostridium difficile* in the elderly. *Age (Dordr)*. (2012) 34:133–43. doi: 10.1007/s11357-011-9208-6
- 39. Vaisberg M, Paixão V, Almeida EB, Santos JMB, Foster R, Rossi M, et al. Daily intake of fermented milk containing *Lactobacillus casei* shirota (lcs) modulates systemic and upper airways immune/inflammatory responses in marathon runners. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:1678. doi: 10.3390/nu1107 1678
- Takada M, Nishida K, Gondo Y, Kikuchi-Hayakawa H, Ishikawa H, Suda K, et al. Beneficial effects of *Lactobacillus casei* strain Shirota on academic stressinduced sleep disturbance in healthy adults: a double-blind, randomised, placebo-controlled trial. *Benef Microbes*. (2017) 8:153–62. doi: 10.3920/ BM2016.0150
- 41. Chao L, Liu C, Sutthawongwadee S, Li Y, Lv W, Chen W, et al. Effects of probiotics on depressive or anxiety variables in healthy participants under stress conditions or with a depressive or anxiety diagnosis: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Front Neurol.* (2020) 11:421. doi: 10.3389/ fneur.2020.00421
- Nishida K, Sawada D, Kuwano Y, Tanaka H, Rokutan K. Health benefits of Lactobacillus gasseri cp2305 tablets in young adults exposed to chronic stress: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study. Nutrients. (2019) 11:1859. doi: 10.3390/nu11081859
- Ansari F, Pourjafar H, Tabrizi A, Homayouni A. The effects of probiotics and prebiotics on mental disorders: a review on depression, anxiety, Alzheimer, and Autism spectrum disorders. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol.* (2020) 21:555–65. doi: 10.2174/1389201021666200107113812
- Parker EA, Roy T, D'Adamo CR, Wieland LS. Probiotics and gastrointestinal conditions: an overview of evidence from the cochrane collaboration. *Nutrition*. (2018) 45:125–134.e11. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2017.06.024
- Pham M, Lemberg DA, Day AS. Probiotics: sorting the evidence from the myths. *Med J Aust.* (2008) 188:304–8. doi: 10.5694/j.1326-5377.2008.tb01627. x
- 46. Bajramagic S, Hodzic E, Mulabdic A, Holjan S, Smajlovic SV, Rovcanin A. Usage of probiotics and its clinical significance at surgically treated patients

sufferig from colorectal carcinoma. *Med Arch.* (2019) 73:316–20. doi: 10. 5455/medarh.2019.73.316-320

- 47. Sasidharan BK, Ramadass B, Viswanathan P, Samuel P, Gowri M, Pugazhendhi S, et al. A phase 2 randomized controlled trial of oral resistant starch supplements in the prevention of acute radiation proctitis in patients treated for cervical cancer. J Cancer Res Ther. (2019) 15:1383–91. doi: 10. 4103/jcrt.JCRT\_152\_19
- Saji N, Niida S, Murotani K, Hisada T, Tsuduki T, Sugimoto T, et al. Analysis of the relationship between the gut microbiome and dementia: a crosssectional study conducted in Japan. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:1–9. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-018-38218-7
- Vascellari S, Melis M, Palmas V, Pisanu S, Serra A, Perra D, et al. Clinical phenotypes of Parkinson's disease associate with distinct gut microbiota and metabolome enterotypes. *Biomolecules*. (2021) 11:1–16. doi: 10.3390/ biom11020144
- Yang TW, Lee WH, Tu SJ, Huang WC, Chen HM, Sun TH, et al. Enterotypebased analysis of gut microbiota along the conventional adenoma-carcinoma colorectal cancer pathway. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:1–13. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-45588-z
- Hou Q, Zhao F, Liu W, Lv R, Khine WWT, Han J, et al. Probiotic-directed modulation of gut microbiota is basal microbiome dependent. *Gut Microbes*. (2020) 12:1736974. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2020.1736974
- Hollister EB, Riehle K, Luna RA, Weidler EM, Rubio-Gonzales M, Mistretta TA, et al. Structure and function of the healthy pre-adolescent pediatric gut microbiome. *Microbiome*. (2015) 3:36. doi: 10.1186/s40168-015-0101-x
- Macfarlane S, Macfarlane GT. Bacterial diversity in the human gut. Adv Appl Microbiol. (2004) 54:261–89. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2164(04)54010-8
- Lin A, Bik EM, Costello EK, Dethlefsen L, Haque R, Relman DA, et al. Distinct distal gut microbiome diversity and composition in healthy children from Bangladesh and the United States. *PLoS One.* (2013) 8:e53838. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053838
- 55. King CH, Desai H, Sylvetsky AC, LoTempio J, Ayanyan S, Carrie J, et al. Baseline human gut microbiota profile in healthy people and standard reporting template. *PLoS One.* (2019) 14:e0206484. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0206484
- Kong F, Hua Y, Zeng B, Ning R, Li Y, Zhao J. Gut microbiota signatures of longevity. *Curr Biol.* (2016) 26:R832–3. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2016.08.015
- Kieffer DA, Martin RJ, Adams SH. Impact of dietary fibers on nutrient management and detoxi fi cation organs?: gut. Am Soc Nutr. (2016) 7:1111– 21. doi: 10.3945/an.116.013219.fiber
- Venegas DP, De La Fuente MK, Landskron G, González MJ, Quera R, Dijkstra G, et al. Short chain fatty acids (SCFAs)mediated gut epithelial and immune regulation and its relevance for inflammatory bowel diseases. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:277. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00277
- Kadosh E, Snir-Alkalay I, Venkatachalam A, May S, Lasry A, Elyada E, et al. The gut microbiome switches mutant p53 from tumour-suppressive to oncogenic. *Nature*. (2020) 586:133–8. doi: 10.1038/s41586-020-2541-0
- Kong F, Deng F, Li Y, Zhao J. Identification of gut microbiome signatures associated with longevity provides a promising modulation target for healthy aging. *Gut Microbes*. (2019) 10:210–5. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2018.1494102
- Claesson MJ, Cusack S, O'Sullivan O, Greene-Diniz R, De Weerd H, Flannery E, et al. Composition, variability, and temporal stability of the intestinal microbiota of the elderly. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2011) 108(Suppl. 1):4586– 91. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1000097107
- Claesson MJ, Jeffery IB, Conde S, Power SE, O'connor EM, Cusack S, et al. Gut microbiota composition correlates with diet and health in the elderly. *Nature*. (2012) 488:178–84. doi: 10.1038/nature11319
- 63. Carabotti M, Scirocco A, Maselli MA, Severi C. The gut-brain axis: interactions between enteric microbiota, central and enteric nervous systems. *Ann Gastroenterol Q Publ Hell Soc Gastroenterol.* (2015) 28:203.
- Foster JA, McVey Neufeld K-A. Gut-brain axis: how the microbiome influences anxiety and depression. *Trends Neurosci.* (2013) 36:305–12. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2013.01.005
- Li Q, Han Y, Dy ABC, Hagerman RJ. The gut microbiota and autism spectrum disorders. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2017) 11:120. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2017.00120
- Cryan JF, Dinan TG. Mind-altering microorganisms: the impact of the gut microbiota on brain and behaviour. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2012) 13:701–12. doi: 10.1038/nrn3346

- Nicholson JK, Holmes E, Kinross J, Burcelin R, Gibson G, Jia W, et al. Host-gut microbiota metabolic interactions. *Science*. (2012) 336:1262–7. doi: 10.1126/science.1223813
- Mulak A, Bonaz B. Brain-gut-microbiota axis in Parkinson's disease. World J Gastroenterol. (2015) 21:10609. doi: 10.3748/WJG.V21.I37.10609
- Friedland RP. Mechanisms of molecular mimicry involving the microbiota in neurodegeneration. J Alzheimers Dis. (2015) 45:349–62. doi: 10.3233/JAD-142841
- 70. World Health Organization. *Fact Sheet Obesity and Overweight*. Geneva: World Health Organization (2011).
- Dabke K, Hendrick G, Devkota S. The gut microbiome and metabolic syndrome. J Clin Invest. (2019) 129:4050–7. doi: 10.1172/JCI129194
- David LA, Maurice CF, Carmody RN, Gootenberg DB, Button JE, Wolfe BE, et al. Diet rapidly and reproducibly alters the human gut microbiome. *Nature*. (2014) 505:559–63. doi: 10.1038/nature12820
- Collado MC, Isolauri E, Laitinen K, Salminen S. Distinct composition of gut microbiota during pregnancy in overweight and normal-weight women. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2008) 88:894–9. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/88.4.894
- Kalliomäki M, Carmen Collado M, Salminen S, Isolauri E. Early differences in fecal microbiota composition in children may predict overweight. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2008) 87:534–8. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/87.3.534
- Daniali M, Nikfar S, Abdollahi M. A brief overview on the use of probiotics to treat overweight and obese patients. *Expert Rev Endocrinol Metab.* (2020) 15:1–4. doi: 10.1080/17446651.2020.1719068
- Turnbaugh PJ, Ley RE, Mahowald MA, Magrini V, Mardis ER, Gordon JI. An obesity-associated gut microbiome with increased capacity for energy harvest. *Nature*. (2006) 444:1027. doi: 10.1038/nature05414
- Abenavoli L, Scarpellini E, Colica C, Boccuto L, Salehi B, Sharifi-Rad J, et al. Gut microbiota and obesity: a role for probiotics. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:2690. doi: 10.3390/nu11112690
- Vajro P, Mandato C, Licenziati MR, Franzese A, Vitale DF, Lenta S, et al. Effects of *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* strain GG in pediatric obesity-related liver disease. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. (2011) 52:740–3. doi: 10.1097/MPG. 0b013e31821f9b85
- Luoto R, Kalliomäki M, Laitinen K, Isolauri E. The impact of perinatal probiotic intervention on the development of overweight and obesity: followup study from birth to 10 years. *Int J Obes.* (2010) 34:1531–7. doi: 10.1038/ ijo.2010.50
- Palmer C, Bik EM, DiGiulio DB, Relman DA, Brown PO. Development of the human infant intestinal microbiota. *PLoS Biol.* (2007) 5:e177. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.0050177
- Jiménez E, Marín ML, Martín R, Odriozola JM, Olivares M, Xaus J, et al. Is meconium from healthy newborns actually sterile? *Res Microbiol.* (2008) 159:187–93. doi: 10.1016/j.resmic.2007.12.007
- Zhang X, Shen D, Fang Z, Jie Z, Qiu X, Zhang C, et al. Human Gut Microbiota Changes Reveal the Progression of Glucose Intolerance. *PLoS One.* (2013) 8:e71108. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0071108
- Depommier C, Everard A, Druart C, Plovier H, Van Hul M, Vieira-Silva S, et al. Supplementation with *Akkermansia muciniphila* in overweight and obese human volunteers: a proof-of-concept exploratory study. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:1096–103. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0495-2
- Zhang T, Li Q, Cheng L, Buch H, Zhang F. Akkermansia muciniphila is a promising probiotic. Microb Biotechnol. (2019) 12:1109–25. doi: 10.1111/ 1751-7915.13410
- Yazdani B, Shidfar F, Salehi E, Baghbani-arani F, Razmpoosh E, Asemi Z, et al. Probiotic plus low-calorie diet increase gene expression of Toll-like receptor 2 and FOXP3 in overweight and obese participants. *J Funct Foods*. (2018) 43:180–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2018.02.013
- Hansen T. Genetics of type 2 diabetes. Curr Sci. (2002) 83:1477–82. doi: 10.5005/jp/books/12626\_22
- Salgaço MK, Oliveira LGS, Costa GN, Bianchi F, Sivieri K. Relationship between gut microbiota, probiotics, and type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol.* (2019) 103:9229–38. doi: 10.1007/s00253-019-10156-y
- Roager HM, Vogt JK, Kristensen M, Hansen LBS, Ibrügger S, Mærkedahl RB, et al. Whole grain-rich diet reduces body weight and systemic low-grade inflammation without inducing major changes of the gut microbiome: a randomised cross-over trial. *Gut.* (2019) 68:83–93. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2017-314786

- Woldeamlak B, Yirdaw K, Biadgo B. Role of gut microbiota in type 2 diabetes mellitus and its complications: novel insights and potential intervention strategies. *Korean J Gastroenterol.* (2019) 74:314–20. doi: 10.4166/kjg.2019. 74.6.314
- Sabatino A, Regolisti G, Cosola C, Gesualdo L, Fiaccadori E. Intestinal microbiota in type 2 diabetes and chronic kidney disease. *Curr Diab Rep.* (2017) 17:16. doi: 10.1007/s11892-017-0841-z
- Zhai L, Wu J, Lam YY, Kwan HY, Bian ZX, Wong HLX. Gut-microbial metabolites, probiotics and their roles in type 2 diabetes. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2021) 22:12846. doi: 10.3390/ijms222312846
- Park KY, Kim B, Hyun CK. Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG improves glucose tolerance through alleviating ER stress and suppressing macrophage activation in db/db mice. J Clin Biochem Nutr. (2015) 56:240–6. doi: 10.3164/ jcbn.14-116
- Lim SM, Jeong JJ, Woo KH, Han MJ, Kim DH. Lactobacillus sakei OK67 ameliorates high-fat diet-induced blood glucose intolerance and obesity in mice by inhibiting gut microbiota lipopolysaccharide production and inducing colon tight junction protein expression. Nutr Res. (2016) 36:337–48. doi: 10.1016/j.nutres.2015.12.001
- Kobyliak N, Conte C, Cammarota G, Haley AP, Styriak I, Gaspar L, et al. Probiotics in prevention and treatment of obesity: a critical view. *Nutr Metab* (*Lond*). (2016) 13:14. doi: 10.1186/s12986-016-0067-0
- Hsiao EY, McBride SW, Hsien S, Sharon G, Hyde ER, McCue T, et al. Microbiota modulate behavioral and physiological abnormalities associated with neurodevelopmental disorders. *Cell.* (2013) 155:1451–63. doi: 10.1016/ J.CELL.2013.11.024
- Liu S, Li E, Sun Z, Fu D, Duan G, Jiang M, et al. Altered gut microbiota and short chain fatty acids in Chinese children with autism spectrum disorder. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:287. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-36430-z
- Adams JB, Johansen LJ, Powell LD, Quig D, Rubin RA. Gastrointestinal flora and gastrointestinal status in children with autism – comparisons to typical children and correlation with autism severity. *BMC Gastroenterol.* (2011) 11:22. doi: 10.1186/1471-230X-11-22
- Macfabe DF. Short-chain fatty acid fermentation products of the gut microbiome: implications in autism spectrum disorders. *Microb Ecol Health Dis.* (2012) 23:19260. doi: 10.3402/mehd.v23i0.19260
- Doenyas C. Novel personalized dietary treatment for autism based on the gut-immune-endocrine-brain axis. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). (2019) 10:508. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00508
- 100. Srinivasjois R, Rao S, Patole S. Probiotic supplementation in children with autism spectrum disorder. Arch Dis Child. (2015) 100:505–6. doi: 10.1136/ archdischild-2014-308002
- Umbrello G, Esposito S. Microbiota and neurologic diseases: potential effects of probiotics. J Transl Med. (2016) 14:298. doi: 10.1186/s12967-016-1058-7
- Cermak SA, Curtin C, Bandini LG. Food selectivity and sensory sensitivity in children with autism spectrum disorders. J Am Diet Assoc. (2010) 110:238–46. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2009.10.032
- 103. Bandini LG, Anderson SE, Curtin C, Cermak S, Evans EW, Scampini R, et al. Food selectivity in children with autism spectrum disorders and typically developing children. *J Pediatr.* (2010) 157:259–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jpeds.2010. 02.013
- 104. Hou Y, Dan X, Babbar M, Wei Y, Hasselbalch SG, Croteau DL, et al. Ageing as a risk factor for neurodegenerative disease. *Nat Rev Neurol.* (2019) 15:565–81. doi: 10.1038/s41582-019-0244-7
- 105. Westfall S, Lomis N, Kahouli I, Dia SY, Singh SP, Prakash S. Microbiome, probiotics and neurodegenerative diseases: deciphering the gut brain axis. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2017) 74:3769–87. doi: 10.1007/s00018-017-2550-9
- 106. Xiao J, Wang T, Xu Y, Gu X, Li D, Niu K, et al. Long-term probiotic intervention mitigates memory dysfunction through a novel H3K27me3based mechanism in lead-exposed rats. *Transl Psychiatry*. (2020) 10:25. doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-0719-8
- 107. Leblhuber F, Steiner K, Schuetz B, Fuchs D, Gostner JM. Probiotic supplementation in patients with Alzheimer's dementia an explorative

intervention study. Curr Alzheimer Res. (2018) 15:1106–13. doi: 10.2174/1389200219666180813144834

- Magistrelli L, Amoruso A, Mogna L, Graziano T, Cantello R, Pane M, et al. Probiotics may have beneficial effects in Parkinson's disease: in vitro evidence. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:969. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00969
- 109. Braak H, Rüb U, Gai WP, Del Tredici K. Idiopathic Parkinson's disease: possible routes by which vulnerable neuronal types may be subject to neuroinvasion by an unknown pathogen. J Neural Transm. (2003) 110:517– 36. doi: 10.1007/s00702-002-0808-2
- 110. Shannon KM, Keshavarzian A, Dodiya HB, Jakate S, Kordower JH. Is alpha-synuclein in the colon a biomarker for premotor Parkinson's disease? Evidence from 3 cases. *Mov Disord*. (2012) 27:716–9. doi: 10.1002/mds.25020
- 111. Gazerani P. Probiotics for Parkinson's disease. Int J Mol Sci. (2019) 20:4121. doi: 10.3390/ijms20174121
- 112. Barichella M, Pacchetti C, Bolliri C, Cassani E, Iorio L, Pusani C, et al. Probiotics and prebiotic fiber for constipation associated with Parkinson disease: an RCT. *Neurology*. (2016) 87:1274–80. doi: 10.1212/ WNL.000000000003127
- 113. Abraham D, Feher J, Scuderi GL, Szabo D, Dobolyi A, Cservenak M, et al. Exercise and probiotics attenuate the development of Alzheimer's disease in transgenic mice: role of microbiome. *Exp Gerontol.* (2019) 115:122–31. doi: 10.1016/j.exger.2018.12.005
- 114. Athari Nik Azm S, Djazayeri A, Safa M, Azami K, Ahmadvand B, Sabbaghziarani F, et al. Lactobacilli and bifidobacteria ameliorate memory and learning deficits and oxidative stress in β-amyloid (1–42) injected rats. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab.* (2018) 43:718–26. doi: 10.1139/apnm-2017-0648
- 115. Akbari E, Asemi Z, Daneshvar Kakhaki R, Bahmani F, Kouchaki E, Tamtaji OR, et al. Effect of probiotic supplementation on cognitive function and metabolic status in Alzheimer's disease: a randomized, double-blind and controlled trial. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2016) 8:256. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2016. 00256
- 116. NIH. Probiotics in Dementia. Bethesda, MD: NIH (2019).
- 117. Monda V, Villano I, Messina A, Valenzano A, Esposito T, Moscatelli F, et al. Exercise modifies the gut microbiota with positive health effects. Oxid Med Cell Longev. (2017) 2017:3831972. doi: 10.1155/2017/3831972
- Choi JJ, Eum SY, Rampersaud E, Daunert S, Abreu MT, Toborek M. Exercise attenuates PCB-induced changes in the mouse gut microbiome. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2013) 121:725–30. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1306534
- Daniel H, Gholami AM, Berry D, Desmarchelier C, Hahne H, Loh G, et al. High-fat diet alters gut microbiota physiology in mice. *ISME J.* (2014) 8:295–308. doi: 10.1038/ismej.2013.155
- 120. Hemarajata P, Versalovic J. Effects of probiotics on gut microbiota: mechanisms of intestinal immunomodulation and neuromodulation. *Therap Adv Gastroenterol.* (2013) 6:39–51. doi: 10.1177/1756283X1245 9294

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Lee, Ahmad, Lim and Zulkipli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## Experimental and Clinical Studies on the Effects of Natural Products on Noxious Agents-Induced Lung Disorders, a Review

Saeideh Saadat<sup>1,2†</sup>, Sima Beigoli<sup>1†</sup>, Mohammad Reza Khazdair<sup>3</sup>, Fatemeh Amin<sup>4,5</sup> and Mohammad Hossein Boskabady<sup>1,6\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Applied Biomedical Research Center, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran, <sup>2</sup> Department of Physiology, School of Medicine, Zahedan University of Medical Sciences, Zahedan, Iran, <sup>3</sup> Cardiovascular Diseases Research Center, Birjand University of Medical Sciences, Birjand, Iran, <sup>4</sup> Physiology-Pharmacology Research Center, Research Institute of Basic Medical Sciences, Rafsanjan University of Medical Sciences, Rafsanjan, Iran, <sup>5</sup> Department of Physiology and Pharmacology, School of Medicine, Rafsanjan University of Medical Sciences, Rafsanjan, Iran, <sup>6</sup> Department of Physiology, Faculty of Medicine, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Surasak Saokaew, University of Phayao, Thailand

#### Reviewed by:

Qiyun WU, Hong Kong University of Science and Technology, Hong Kong SAR, China Sontaya Sookying, University of Phayao, Thailand

#### \*Correspondence:

Mohammad Hossein Boskabady boskabadymh@mums.ac.ir; boskabady2@gmail.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors share first authorship

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 01 February 2022 Accepted: 16 March 2022 Published: 18 May 2022

#### Citation:

Saadat S, Beigoli S, Khazdair MR, Amin F and Boskabady MH (2022) Experimental and Clinical Studies on the Effects of Natural Products on Noxious Agents-Induced Lung Disorders, a Review. Front. Nutr. 9:867914. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.867914

The harmful effects of various noxious agents (NA) are well-known and there are reports regarding the induction of various lung disorders due to exposure to these agents both in animal and human studies. In addition, various studies have shown the effects of natural products (NP) on NA-induced lung disorders. The effects of various NP, including medicinal plants and their derivatives, on lung injury induced by NA, were reviewed in this study. The improving effects of various NP including medicinal plants, such as Aloe vera, Anemarrhena asphodeloides, Avena sativa, Crocus sativus, Curcuma longa, Dioscorea batatas, Glycyrrhiza glabra, Gentiana veitchiorum, Gentiopicroside, Houttuynia cordata, Hibiscus sabdariffa, Hochu-ekki-to, Hippophae rhamnoides, Juglans regia, Melanocarpa fruit juice, Mikania glomerata, Mikania laevigata, Moringa oleifera, Myrtus communis L., Lamiaceae, Myrtle, Mosla scabra leaves, Nectandra leucantha, Nigella sativa, Origanum vulgare L, Pulicaria petiolaris, Paulownia tomentosa, Pomegranate seed oil, Raphanus sativus L. var niger, Rosa canina, Schizonepeta tenuifolia, Thymus vulgaris, Taraxacum mongolicum, Tribulus Terrestris, Telfairia occidentalis, Taraxacum officinale, TADIOS, Xuebijing, Viola yedoensis, Zataria multiflora, Zingiber officinale, Yin-Chiao-San, and their derivatives, on lung injury induced by NA were shown by their effects on lung inflammatory cells and mediators, oxidative stress markers, immune responses, and pathological changes in the experimental studies. Some clinical studies also showed the therapeutic effects of NP on respiratory symptoms, pulmonary function tests (PFT), and inflammatory markers. Therefore, the results of this study showed the possible therapeutic effects of various NP on NA-induced lung disorders by the amelioration of various features of lung injury. However, further clinical studies are needed to support the therapeutic effects of NP on NA-induced lung disorders for clinical practice purposes.

Keywords: natural product, medicinal plants, bleomycin, cadmium, dust, lipopolysaccharide, sulfur mustard, lung injury

61

## INTRODUCTION

The respiratory function of the lung is critical and important for survival because oxygen is a vital molecule for the production of energy that is essential for the life of organisms (1). Studies have shown the effects of exposure to air pollutants on respiratory disorders such as COPD, asthma, and lung cancer (2). Specific alterations of passive and active non-respiratory functions generate functional or anatomical disorders that compromise breathing later. The basic scientific and clinical research of various diseases generated by alterations of these functions can produce knowledge on the pathophysiology, biochemistry, genetics and immunology (3).

Respiratory disorders such as COPD and asthma are related to immune and inflammatory reactions and the status of oxidants which were remarkably enhanced in respiratory disorders (4). Allergic disorders have increased in recent decades due to increased allergens and air pollutants in the environment and workplace (5). In allergic disorders such as skin and respiratory allergies, the reaction of the immune system to exposure and re-exposure to allergens releases allergy-related mediators (6).

Bleomycin (BLM) is a type of antibiotic used for cancer chemotherapy. This drug reduces or stops the growth of cancer cells in the body. It inhibits DNA metabolism and is used as an antineoplastic (anticancer) agent, especially for solid tumors. At high concentrations of the drug, protein production and cellular RNA are also inhibited. It has the least toxic effect on bloodforming tissues and the immune system. Unfortunately, due to the complication of pulmonary fibrosis (PF), the use of this drug is clinically limited (7).

Cadmium (Cd) is a naturally occurring toxic element. Several studies have shown that exposure to Cd from cigarette smoking and occupational resources causes lung disorders. There are reports regarding the involvement of pro-inflammatory chemokines and cytokines, such as interleukins, growth factors, and nuclear factor kappa B (NF- $\kappa$ B), a transcription factor that regulates the expression of genes of cytokines which play an important role in pulmonary fibrosis due to Cd exposure (8, 9).

Studies have shown that dust particles may penetrate deep into the lungs, throat, and airways and cause respiratory disorders. The entry of dust into the lung parenchymal macrophage cells leads to the chemical secretion of chemotaxis and inflammatory mediators, leukotrienes and thromboxane, causing the invasion of inflammatory cells from the vessels to the lung damage area. This process, in turn, stimulates the synthesis of the fibroblasts and causes fibrotic pulmonary parenchyma (10). It was also reported that lipopolysaccharide (LPS) causes lung damage (11) through several inflammatory mechanisms (12).

Paraquat (PQ) causes human or animal toxicity and the lungs are the primitive target organ due to being the main exposed organ to this toxin (13). The effects of PQ on the lung result in lung edema, hypoxia, and lung fibrosis (14, 15). Also, the effects of PQ on interleukin 6 (IL 6) and tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF  $\alpha$ ) in the macrophages have been reported (16, 17). It was also shown that the mechanisms of pulmonary injuries caused by the PQ are mainly related to the inflammatory and oxidative stress processes (18). Chemical agents such as sulfur mustard (SM) might cause acute and chronic injuries in the lung tissue (19) due to enhanced inflammatory oxidant stress mechanisms (20, 21).

Medicinal herbs are applied for the medical treatment of various disorders (22). People use different products from plant resources traditionally for the treatment of respiratory disorders including asthma and bronchitis (22). Several natural ingredients such as polyphenols, flavonoids, and alkaloids derived from medicinal plants showed potent anticancer activity (23).

Natural products (NP) can be considered as the alternative therapeutic potential for respiratory diseases caused by toxic agents since different inflammatory mediators are involved in these disorders and several NP showed anti-inflammatory effects. Most of the studies are pointing out the effects of NP on the inhibition of NF- $\kappa$ B and MAPK pathways, besides the antioxidant effects associated with these products. However, clinical trials using these compounds are scarce in the literature and the safety and efficacy should be confirmed for further studies.

Since no study has been done on the effect of NP on the noxious agents-induced lung disorders so far, this review article is to present available basic and clinical evidence about the efficacy of the mentioned NP and the herbal constituents in the prevention or treatment of lung disorders induced by the noxious agents-induced similar inflammatory and pathological changes in the lung as induced by BLM, Cd, dust, and LPS in experimental and SM in clinical models. Therefore, the effects of NP and their constituents on noxious agents-induced lung changes were also suggested in the present review to support their effect on lung changes induced by noxious agents in clinical studies.

## METHOD

In this review, the keywords including "chemical agent" and "medicinal plants" or "natural products" and "lung injury" or "respiratory system" were searched on different databases such as Web of Science, PubMed, and Scopus from 1989 to the end of September 2021.

In total, 224 articles were retrieved including 115 duplicates articles. Therefore, 109 articles (14 reviews, 4 book chapters, and 91 original articles) related to the described topic were included in this review article (**Figure 1**).

## RESULTS

#### Bleomycin-Induced Lung Disorders Experimental Studies

The prophylactic effect of common walnut (*Juglans regia*) (150 mg/kg) on rats exposed to BLM was shown by increased glutathione reductase (GR) and catalase (CAT) levels and decreased lung inflammation and apoptosis through regulation of NF- $\kappa$ B activity. The treatment with *Juglans regia* also causes modulated lung injury through markers of cellular injury including lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), alkaline phosphatase, and reduced glutathione (GSH) (24).

*Gentiana veitchiorum* treatment decreased collagen VI and improved the lung injury induced by BLM. The treatment with *Gentiana veitchiorum* also decreased the malondialdehyde



(MDA) level and increased the superoxide dismutase (SOD) and GSH activities, which correlated with oxidation resistance and scavenging of free radicals. Finally, *Gentiana veitchiorum* deceased the inflammatory lung damages through the alleviation of tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ) expression (25).

In the BLM-induced lung inflammation and pulmonary fibrosis (PF) mouse model, treatment with *Juglanin* (80 mg/kg), that was mainly divided from the green walnut husks of *Juglans mandshuric*, improved the survival rate in the treated mice. Also, the PF induced by the BLM was markedly attenuated by *Juglanin* with the decreasing of the expression of the transforming growth factor- $\beta$ 1 (TGF- $\beta$ 1), metallo-proteinase-9 (MMP-9),  $\alpha$ -smooth muscle actin ( $\alpha$ -SMA), and collagen I (26).

The treatment with a Japanese herbal medicine, Hochu-ekkito (TJ-41), in a mouse model of BLM-induced PF, for 2 months before and 1 month after receiving BLM, prevented PF through the modification of the Th<sub>1</sub>/Th<sub>2</sub> imbalance toward the Th<sub>2</sub> balance (27). *Feitai* is a Chinese herb used for the treatment of systemic inflammatory response syndrome (SIRS) and multiple organ dysfunction syndrome (MODS). In the BLM-induced pulmonary fibrosis in rats, *feitai* blocked lung p38 MAPK, NF- $\kappa$ B65, HIF-1 $\alpha$ , p-I $\kappa$ B- $\alpha$ , and TGF- $\beta$ 1 expression, and enhanced the Nrf2 and IkB expression (28).

The administration of *Rosmarinus officinalis* L. extract (75 mg/kg) protected against the BLM-induced acute lung injury in the animal model *via* declines in lung edema, septal thickening, alveolar subsidens, hemorrhage, and oxidative stress (29). The findings of the other study showed that apigenin (4, 5, 7-trihydroxyflavone) with doses 10, 15, and 20 mg/kg is a potent anti-inflammatory and antifibrotic agent against the BLM-induced PF (30).

The effects of indirubin, a compound derived from mollusks of the family Muricidae, on the BLM-induced

PF were examined by pathological staining, western blot, RT-PCR, and immunofluorescent staining. The treatment with indirubin protected the mice against the BLM-induced PF by alleviated fibroblast differentiation indicating its possible therapeutic effect on PF (31). In a model of PF induced by a single endotracheal injection of BLM, the extract of *Nigella sativa* (500 mg/kg) was effective for early and late prevention of PF and inflammation (32).

The administration of *Raphanus sativus L. var niger* (RSN), from the black radish plant, ameliorated the BLM-induced acute lung injury. The post-treatment of rats with intravenously administered RSN (75, 150, 300 mg/kg) protected the lung against the BLM-induced oxidative stress and reduced the number of neutrophils and lymphocytes as well as the IL-6, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and TGF- $\beta$ 1 levels (33). *Houttuynia cordata* (HC) has shown antioxidant activity, free radical scavenging capacity as well as anti-inflammatory and anticancer activities. These results suggested that *Houttuynia cordata* has a protective effect against BLM-induced PF (34).

The *Myrtus communis* L. extract (50 mg/kg) effectively inhibited the inflammation and fibrosis of lung parenchyma in a rat model of BLM-induced pulmonary injuries. This impact might be due to the decrement of tissue inflammation and inhibition of oxidative stress (35). The treatment with resveratrol (10 mg/kg), a phenolic compound, prevented the BLM-induced PF in the rats by the suppression of oxidative stress and endothelin-1 (ET-1) expression. The results demonstrated that resveratrol with its potent free radical scavenging and antioxidant properties seems to be a highly promising agent in protecting lung tissue against oxidative damage and in preventing PF due to BLM treatment (36).

Ganoderic acid A has been shown to mitigate the increment in NF- $\kappa$ B p65, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 mRNA expression, and improved the expression of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10 following the BLM injection. The treatment with ganoderic acid A (25 and 50 mg/kg, for 3 weeks) significantly improved the MPO activity and lung histopathology in the mice. Also, the protective effect of ganoderic acid A may be related to a decrease in TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and MDA and an increment of SOD (37). The gallic acid (75, 150, and 300 mg/kg, for 3 weeks) in an animal model of BLM-induced PF reduced the inflammation process to some extent and could exert its effects through TGF β1/Smad2-signaling pathway and balancing NOX4/factor erythroid-2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) (38). Yin-Chiao-San (YCS), a Kampo medicine, is widely applied for pulmonary diseases. The treatment of rats with YCS (1,000 mg/kg/day, i.v.) protected the lung against the BLM-induced and reduced the lung index, MDA, HP, and TNF- $\alpha$  as well as significantly enhanced the CAT activity (39).

Several reports have evaluated the effects of NP on the BLB-induced lung disorders in experimental models and it is suggested that the herbs and their active ingredients are a promising source of compounds that can play pivotal roles in the alternative adjuvant chemotherapy in reducing the pulmonary fibrosis of BLM. However, clinical trials in this field are not found and should be performed in the future. The therapeutic effects of



	he possible therapeutic effects of NP in the BLM-induced lung	iniuny
IADLE I	The possible inerapeutic effects of NF in the DLM-induced lung	ii ijury.

Study type	Study design	NP	Dose	Effects	References
n vivo	BLM-exposed rats	Juglans regia	150 mg/kg, for 14 days	↑ GR and CAT activities ↓ LDH, ALP, GSH Apoptosis via regulate the NF-κB signaling pathway	(24)
	BLM-exposed rats	Gentiana veitchiorum	-	↓ Inflammatory lung injury by decreasing TNF-α expression and MDA ↑ SOD, GSH	(25)
	BLM-exposed mice	Juglanin	80 mg/kg, i.p. for 4 weeks	$\downarrow$ Expression of TGF- $\beta$ 1, MMP-9, $\alpha$ -SMA, collagen I	(26)
	BLM-exposed mice	TJ-41	1g/kg, orally for 13 weeks	Prevented experimental lung fibrosis through the correction of the $Th_1/Th_2$ imbalance	(27)
	BLM-exposed rats	Feitai	-	$\downarrow$ Oxidative stress and lung inflammation	(28)
	BLM-exposed rats	Rosmarinus	75 mg/kg, i.p. 15 days	↓ Lung edema, septal thickening, alveolar subsidence, hemorrhage and oxidative stress	(29)
	BLM-exposed rats	Apigenin	10, 15 and 20 mg/kg, orally for 14 days	$\uparrow$ CAT, SOD activities, IL-10 and INF- $\gamma$	(30)
	BLM-exposed rats	Indirubin	12.5 mg/kg, or 25 mg/kg, i.p. for 14 days	Alleviated fibroblast differentiation	(31)
	BLM-exposed rats	Nigella sativa	500 mg/kg, i.p. for 14 days	Prevented pulmonary fibrosis and inflammation	(32)
	BLM-exposed rats	RSN	150 mg/kg, orally for 7 days	↓ TGF-β1 level	(33)
	BLM-exposed mice	HC	50 and 100 mg/kg, i.g. for 5 weeks	↓ Oxidative damage	(34)
	BLM-exposed mice	Resveratrol	10 mg/kg, orally for 14 days	↓ Oxidative damage Prevented pulmonary fibrosis	(36)
	BLM-exposed rats	Myrtus communis	50 mg/kg, i.g for 14 days	↓ Tissue inflammation Inhibition of oxidative stress	(35)
	BLM-exposed rats	Gallic acid	50, 100 and 200 mg/kg, orally for 14 days	$\downarrow$ Serum levels of IL-4, IL-17A, IFN $\gamma$	(40)
	BLM-exposed rats	GAA	25 and 50 mg/kg, i.g. for 21 days	↑ NF-κB, TNF-α, IL-1β and IL-6	(37)
	BLM-exposed rats	Gallic acid	75, 150 300 mg/kg, i.g. for 21 days	$\uparrow$ CAT, SOD activities, IL-10 and INF- $\gamma$	(38)
	BLM-exposed mice	YCS	1,000 mg/kg for 5 days i.p.	Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities and also inhibited collagen formation	(39)

NP, natural products; Ext, extract; BLM, bleomycin; TGF-β1, transforming growth factor-β1; MMP-9, metallo-proteinase-9; α-SMA, α-smooth muscle actin; TNF- α, tumor necrosis factor alpha; IFN<sub>Y</sub>, Interferon gamma; IL-10, Interleukin-10; IL-17, Interleukin-17; SOD, superoxide dismutase; CAT, catalase; RSN, Raphanus sativus L. var niger; HC, Houttuynia cordata; TJ-41, hochu-ekki-to; GR, glutathione reductase; GSH, glutathione; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase; ALP, alkaline phosphatase; GAA, Ganoderic acid A; i.g., intragastrically; YCS, Yin-Chiao-San.

The up arrow ( $\uparrow$ ) indicates an increase in the variable, and a down arrow ( $\downarrow$ ) indicates a decrease.

NP in the BLM-induced lung injury are summarized in **Table 1** and **Figure 2**.

#### Cadmium-Induced Lung Disorders Experimental Studies

The administration of *Nigella sativa* oil (1 ml/kg, i.p.) ameliorated the Cd-induced lung damage with the reduction of histopathological changes in the lung architecture (41). The treatment effects of *Tribulus Terrestris* against the Cd-induced toxicity in the mice showed that the alcoholic extract of *Tribulus Terrestris* fruit (200 mg/kg, for 10 days) eliminated the free radicals and increased the antioxidant enzymes expression as well as the down-regulation of pro-inflammatory markers in cellular injuries (42). The anti-inflammatory effects of the

phenolic compounds from grape seeds were associated with their regulatory effect on the expression of the pro-inflammatory genes, such as cyclooxygenase and lipoxygenase and also by acting on the NF- $\kappa$ B signaling and MAPK. The findings showed that the phenolic compounds of the grape seeds ameliorate the toxic impacts of Cd in the lung tissue *via* its free radical scavenging property, antioxidant activity, and antiapoptotic potential (43). In the rabbits challenged with Cd (6 mg/kg, i.p.) and treated with pomegranate seed oil (0.8 ml/kg), a significant decrease in the blood volume and hemoglobin was seen (44). Some herbs and NP exhibited significant protection on Cdinduced respiratory insults in experimental animal models and pre-clinical studies but the clinical studies were not found in this regard. The findings from these studies may lead to new

TABLE 2	The possible therapeutic effects of NP in the Cd-induced lung injury	6

Study type	Study design	NP	Dose	Effects	References
In vivo	Cd-exposed mice	Nigella sativa	1 ml/kg, i.p. for 28 days	Ameliorated Cd-induced lung damage with minimal histopathological changes in lung architecture	(41)
	Cd-exposed mice	Tribulus Terrestris	200 mg/kg, i.p. for 10 days	Eliminate free radicals ↓ Antioxidant enzymes expression, down-regulated proinflammatory markers in cellular injuries	(42)
	Cd-exposed mice	Grape seeds Ext	-	Improved hazard toxic effect on the lung tissue, antioxidant activity and anti-apoptotic potential	(43)
	Cd-exposed rabbits	Pomegranate seeds oil	0.8 ml/kg, for 30 days	$\downarrow$ Blood volume, hemoglobin, and improved lung function	(44)

NP, natural products; Ext, extract; Cd, Cadmium; i.p., intraperitoneal.

The up arrow ( $\uparrow$ ) indicates an increase in the variable, and a down arrow ( $\downarrow$ ) indicates a decrease.



therapeutic development for a new drug for the treatment of Cd-induced respiratory injuries. These studies may also guide other investigators to develop quality NP clinical trials in the future. The effects of NP on Cd-induced lung injury are summarized in **Table 2** and **Figure 3**.

# Environmental Dust-Induced Lung Disorders

#### **Experimental Studies**

Pneumoconiosis is a lung disease caused by certain kinds of dust particles in the workplace. In rats exposed to an inoculation inside the trachea, coal dust (3 mg/0.3 ml of saline), treatment with *Mikania glomerata* and *Mikania laevigata* extracts (100 mg/kg, s.c., for 2 weeks) prevented the increase in the total cell count and LDH activity in the bronchoalveolar lavage fluid (BALF), and diminished the lung inflammatory infiltration induced by the coal dust, as assessed by the histopathologic analyses. These findings suggested that both extracts showed a protective effect on the oxidation of thiol groups (45).

In rats exposed to uranium ore dust inhalation (period of 3, 7, 30, and 60 days), the administration of licorice (*Glycyrrhiza glabra*) aqueous extract normalized the pyruvic acid contents in the lung tissue during the study periods and decreased the lactic/pyruvic acid ratio (46).

In albino rats exposed to cement dust, the antioxidant activities of roselle (*Hibiscus sabdariffa*), moringa (*Moringa oleifera*), ginger (*Zingiber officinale*), and 'ugwu' (*Telfairia occidentalis*), fed with herbal extracts (400 mg/kg) for 6 months were evaluated. The lungs of non-treated rats showed severe interstitial fibrosis and cellular debris. Moderate fibrosis was seen

TABLE 3	The possible therapeutic effects of	medicinal herbs in the dust-induced lung	disorders in experimental studies.

Study design	NP	Dose	Effects	References
Coal dust-exposed rats	MGE and MLE Exts	100 mg/kg, for each Ext, s.c., for 2 weeks	↓ Total cell count and LDH activity ↑ Protein sulfhydryl content in lung	(45)
Uranium ore dust-exposed rats	Glycyrrhiza glabra aqueous Ext	100 mg/kg	Normalized pyruvic acids cand actic/pyruvic acids ratio in lung tissue	(46)
Cement dust-exposed rats	Hibiscus sabdariffa, Moringa oleifera, Zingiber officinale and Telfairia occidentalis ethanolic Ext	400 mg/kg, orally, for 180 days ratio 1:1:1:1	Decrease in lung fibrosis	(47)
Cement dust-exposed rats	Hibiscus sabdariffa, Moringa oleifera, Zingiber officinale and Telfairia occidentalis ethanolic Ext	400 mg/kg, orally, for 180 days (100 mg of each Ext)	↓ Serum protein, ALT, AST and ALP and lung histological changes ↓ Toxic elements accumulation in the lung	(48)
	Coal dust-exposed rats Uranium ore dust-exposed rats Cement dust-exposed rats Cement dust-exposed	Coal       MGE and MLE Exts         dust-exposed       adust-exposed         rats       Glycyrrhiza glabra aqueous Ext         Uranium ore       Glycyrrhiza glabra aqueous Ext         dust-exposed       adust-exposed         rats       Cement         dust-exposed       oleifera, Zingiber officinale and         rats       Telfairia occidentalis ethanolic Ext         Cement       Hibiscus sabdariffa, Moringa         dust-exposed       oleifera, Zingiber officinale and	Coal       MGE and MLE Exts       100 mg/kg, for each Ext, s.c., for 2 weeks         dust-exposed       adue ous Ext       100 mg/kg         rats       Glycyrrhiza glabra aqueous Ext       100 mg/kg         Uranium ore       Glycyrrhiza glabra aqueous Ext       100 mg/kg         dust-exposed       adue ous Ext       100 mg/kg         rats       Cement       Hibiscus sabdariffa, Moringa       400 mg/kg, orally, for         dust-exposed       oleifera, Zingiber officinale and       180 days ratio 1:1:1:1         rats       Telfairia occidentalis ethanolic Ext       400 mg/kg, orally, for         Cement       Hibiscus sabdariffa, Moringa       400 mg/kg, orally, for         dust-exposed       oleifera, Zingiber officinale and       400 mg/kg, orally, for         dust-exposed       oleifera, Zingiber officinale and       180 days (100 mg of	Coal dust-exposed rats       MGE and MLE Exts       100 mg/kg, for each Ext, s.c., for 2 weeks       ↓ Total cell count and LDH activity         Uranium ore dust-exposed rats       Glycyrrhiza glabra aqueous Ext       100 mg/kg       Normalized pyruvic acids cand actic/pyruvic acids ratio in lung tissue         Cement dust-exposed rats       Hibiscus sabdariffa, Moringa oleifera, Zingiber officinale and rats       400 mg/kg, orally, for 180 days ratio 1:1:1:1       Decrease in lung fibrosis         Cement dust-exposed dust-exposed dust-exposed       Hibiscus sabdariffa, Moringa oleifera, Zingiber officinale and rats       400 mg/kg, orally, for 180 days (100 mg of       Decrease in lung fibrosis

NP, natural products; Ext, extract; ALP, alkaline phosphates; ALT, alanine amino transferase; AST, aspartate amino transferase; MGE, Mikania glomerata; MLE, Mikania laevigata. The up arrow ( $\uparrow$ ) indicates an increase in the variable, and a down arrow ( $\downarrow$ ) indicates a decrease.

in the lung tissues of the rats treated with *Hibiscus sabdariffa* and *Moringa oleifera* extracts. The rats that were fed with the mixture of the extracts had mild septal fibrosis (47).

Treatment with Hibiscus sabdariffa, Moringa oleifera, Zingiber officinale, and Telfairia occidentalis in the rats exposed to cement dust showed moderate to normal biochemical parameters when compared with the non-treated rats. Higher hematological parameters were observed in the treated rats than in the nontreated rats. Overall, the mixture of extracts decreased the adverse effects of cement-dust exposure more than any individual extract alone. Individually, Telfairia occidentalis performed the best, followed by Zingiber officinale, Moringa oleifera, and Hibiscus sabdariffa (48). The elemental analysis of the cement dust shows that it contains 57% calcium, 23% silicon, 10.5% aluminum, 8.5 % chromium, and 8.0 % lead (47). The data of these studies indicated the antioxidant properties of the food plants which modulated the effects of cement dust. Hence, the plants could be used as supportive care in polluted environments to lower the health problems associated with cement-dust exposures. These experimental studies indicated that Hibiscus sabdariffa, Moringa oleifera, Zingiber officinale, Telfairia occidentalis, Mikania glomerata, Mikania laevigata, and Glycyrrhiza glabra might be candidates for the prevention of lung injury caused by swine barn, coal, uranium ore, and cement-dust exposure. These results suggested a potential role for oxidative stress pathways in mediating occupational lung diseases and antioxidants effect of the plants in reducing dust-mediated oxidative stress in lung disorders of exposed workers.

This review study indicates the therapeutic effect of NP on dust-induced lung disorders but more clinical studies are required to establish the clinical efficacy of these plants and their constituents on lung and allergic disorders. The therapeutic effects of NP including anti-inflammatory effects and reduction of airway responsiveness in the animal models of asthma and COPD were also illustrated. Different NP and their components were identified as anti-asthmatic components. We suggest the possible therapeutic effect of NP on lung disorders of dust-exposed patients *via* the decrement of inflammatory and enhanced anti-inflammatory mediators, and improved

pulmonary function tests. The effects of NP on dust-induced lung disorders are summarized in **Table 3**.

## Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Lung Disorders

#### Experimental Studies

The administration of the extract of *Paulownia tomentosa* stem bark (2.5, 5, 10, 20, and 40  $\mu$ g/ml, for 24 h), represses the release of IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  in the RAW 264.7 macrophages stimulated by LPS (49). In this cell line, dehydrodieugenol B from *Nectandra leucantha* (10, 20, 30, and 60  $\mu$ M) did not influence the cell viability but hindered the enhancement in IL-1 $\beta$  and IL-6 gene expression and NO release (50).

In vitro, Barbaloin (a major anthraquinone compound) (25, 50, or 100  $\mu$ M), decreased the expression of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , and IL-6 as well as the activation of ROS-mediated PI3K/AKT/NF- $\kappa$ B pathway dose-dependently (51). The ethanolic extract of the aerial parts of *Houttuynia cordata* (30, 50, 100, and 300  $\mu$ g/mL) also inhibited the iNOS-mediated NO release from the LPS-stimulated MH-S cells (a mouse alveolar macrophage cell line) concentration-dependently (52).

RAW264.7 Incubating the cells with LPS and alpinumisoflavone (1, 5, and 10 µg/mL, for 24 h), a plantderived pyranoisoflavone remarkably inhibited the release of NO, cytokines, and ICAM-1 protein expression. Treatment with alpinumisoflavone blocked the IkBa phosphorylation and degradation and decreased the phosphorylation of IKK and NF-ĸB. In addition, it effectively decreased the phosphorylation of ERK, Jc-Jun-NH2 terminal kinase (JNK), and p38. In LPS activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome, caspase-1, and IL-1β proteins were inhibited by alpinumisoflavone, especially at its high dose. The alpinumisoflavone treatment also remarkably decreased the IL-17A and iNOS protein expression but it did not block the LPS-induced cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) induction. Furthermore, alpinumisoflavone significantly enhanced the expression of antioxidant enzymes dose-dependently. The LPS induction of intracellular ROS production was also significantly inhibited by the treatment with alpinumisoflavone (53).

The treatment of LPS-stimulated and non-stimulated splenocytes with the aqueous extract of *Curcuma longa* (0.8–500  $\mu$ g/mL, for 48 h), remarkably enhanced NO, pro-inflammatory cytokines, tumor necrosis factor, interferon-gamma, and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1(MCP-1). The levels of IL-12 and PGE2 in the LPS-stimulated cells were also inhibited by the plant extract (54). In the LPS-activated epithelial cell line, the levels of NF- $\kappa$ B p52, NF- $\kappa$ B p65 transcription factors protein, IL-1ß, interleukin-8 (IL-8), and mucus secretion were significantly reduced by the hydroalcoholic extract of *Thymus vulgaris* (0.04–0.60%) (55).

Daidzein ( $100 \mu$ M,), a diphenolic isoflavone 15 min after LPS stimulation, obviously inhibited the expressions of myeloid differentiation factor 88 (MyD88), toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), and the activation of NF- $\kappa$ B in the A549 alveolar epithelial cells stimulated by  $10 \mu$ g/ml LPS (56). In the RAW264.7 cells, treatment with a mixture of *Taraxacum officinale* (a herbal formulation) (0.5, 1, and 2 mg/mL), repressed the LPS (100 ng/mL)-induced inflammatory responses (57). Also, the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines activated the Nrf2-HO-1 axis and oxidative stress was inhibited in the treated LPS-stimulated cells (57).

Eugenol and dehydrodieugenol B from *Nectandra leucantha* (30 mg/kg) in the mice with the LPS-induced ALI, decreased lung edema, inflammatory cells, and the IL-6 and IL-1  $\beta$  levels in the BALF as well as decreased inflammatory cell infiltration and those positive to iNOS, MMP-9, and TIMP-1, and decreased the collagen content and the 8-isoprostane expression in the lung tissue (50).

In LPS-challenged mice, treatment with thymol (30 and 100 mg/kg, i.p.), one of the primary active constituents derived from *Thymus vulgaris*, before or after the LPS challenge, significantly improved the pathological changes in the lung tissues. Thymol also inhibited the LPS-induced inflammatory cells influx and protein concentration in the BALF. Additionally, thymol markedly inhibited the LPS-induced elevation of MDA and MPO levels as well as reduction of the SOD activity. Thymol also effectively inhibited the NF- $\kappa$ B activation in the lung (58). In the LPS-induced ALI, treatment with methanolic extract of *Pulicaria petiolaris* (50 and 100 mg/kg, p.o., for 5 days) reduced pulmonary edema, ameliorated the LDH level in the BALF, improved the histopathological lesions in the lung tissue, and showed antioxidant capacity (59).

The administration of a single dose of cannabidiol (0.3, 1.0, 10, 20, 30, 40, and 80 mg/kg, i.p.), extracted from *Cannabis sativa*, before the LPS-induced ALI, decreased the migration of leukocytes into the lungs, albumin concentration in the BALF, production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, and MPO activity in the lung tissue. In addition, in the LPS-induced ALI, ZM241385 (a selective adenosine A2A receptor antagonist), inhibited all anti-inflammatory effects of cannabidiol which indicate the contribution of adenosine A2A receptor in the anti-inflammatory effects of cannabidiol (60).

The linalool (25 mg/kg, i.p.) treatment attenuated the production of LPS—decreased the changes in TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6 as well as lung histopathologic changes in the ALI mouse model (61). In the mice with the LPS-induced ALI, Barbaloin extracted

from *Aloe vera* ameliorated lung pathological changes such as infiltration of inflammatory cells, alveolar hyperemia, necrosis, and lung epithelial cell detachment (51).

The treatment with the aqueous extract of *Taraxacum mongolicum* Hand.-Mazz (5 and 10 g/kg, p.o.) inhibited the LPSinduced lung injury in female BALB/c mice by reducing the inflammatory cell infiltration in the BALF, lung protein levels and PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling. It also improved the activity of SOD and inhibited the MPO activity (62).

The *Portulaca oleracea* extract (50, 100, and 200 mg/kg, p.o., 1 h before LPS injection) suppressed the LPS-induced rat ALI by decreasing IL-6, IL- $\beta$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , TGF- $\beta$ , and, PGE2 but increasing IL-10 levels. *Portulaca oleracea* improved the levels of the white blood cells (WBC), MDA, MPO, and thiol as well as SOD and CAT activities. The lung wet/dry ratio (an index of interstitial edema) was also significantly reduced. Therefore, the *Portulaca oleracea* extract displayed antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activity dose-dependently on the LPS-induced ALI model in the rat model (63).

In the LPS-induced ALI, xanthohumol (10 or 50 mg/kg, i.p.), a prenylflavonoid extracted from the hop plants (*Humulus lupulus*) (0, 18, 35, and 70  $\mu$ mol/kg, i.p., for 30 min), showed a protective effect against oxidative stress and inflammatory damage by regulation of the Nrf2 pathway through AMPK/GSK3 $\beta$  activation, and suppression of LPS-activated Txnip / NLRP3 inflammation and the NF- $\kappa$ B signaling pathway (64). In LPS-induced lung inflammation in mice, pre-treatment with luteolin (0, 18, 35, and 70  $\mu$ mol/kg, i.p., for 30 min) decreased IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  levels and expression of COX-2 and iNOS. In addition, luteolin represses activation of NF $\kappa$ B and its upstream molecular factor, Akt (65).

The treatment of ALI mice with the ethanolic extract of *Glycyrrhiza glabra* (200 and 400 mg/kg, p.o., for 4 days) significantly reduced the exudation of protein and the total cell count into the BALF but increased the BALF SOD and CAT activities (66). The alcoholic extract of *Anemarrhena asphodeloides* decreased the inflammatory cells in the BALF and inhibited lung inflammation by its saponin-enriched fraction. The inflammatory markers in the LPS-induced ALI in mice were significantly inhibited by oral administration of timosaponin A-III (67).

The pre-treatment of mice exposed to LPS with crude extract of Eleusine indica (400 mg/kg) inhibited the lung neutrophil recruitment 98% dose-dependently. Vitexin (8-C-β-glucopyranosylapigenin) and schaftoside (6-C-βglucopyranosyl-8-C-α-arabinopyranosylapigenin) isolated from aerial parts (400 µg/kg), inhibited lung neutrophil influx, by 62 and 80%, respectively (68). The pre-treatment with astragalin (25, 50, and 75 mg/kg, p.o., 1 h before LPS challenge), a flavonoid from several medicinal plants, decreased inflammatory responses and improved survival in lethal endotoxemia of a murine model of the LPS-induced ALI. The anti-inflammatory effect of astragalin was correlated with the reduction of IL-1, IL-6, and TNF- $\alpha$  levels produced through the inactivation of NF- $\kappa$ B (69).

The Jojoba oil dry (400 mg, i.t., the air flow rate of 60 L/min for the duration of 7 s) nanoemulsion powders indicated more anti-inflammatory effects on the LPS-induced ALI than

dexame thasone with a detrimental effect on the total protein content and down-regulation of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-6, and NF- $\kappa$ B p65 (116).

Among carvone isomers, pre-treatment with D-carvone (25 and 50 mg/kg, i.g., 1 h before LPS challenge), significantly alleviated the LPS-induced lung injury by diminishing the lung wet/dry ratio and the number of inflammatory cells in the BALF. The serum pro-inflammatory cytokines were remarkably decreased in D-carvone-treated mice. The lung histopathological changes in the LPS-induced lung injury were improved by D-carvone. In addition, the comparable effects of D-carvone with those of dexamethasone were seen (70). Myricetin (10, 20, and 40 mg/kg, 30 min after the LPS challenge), a member of the flavonoid class of polyphenolic compounds, significantly decreased lung inflammation by reduction of the lungs' wet/dry weight ratio, protein levels in the BALF, cytokine levels, and migration of the inflammatory cells. The TLR4, MyD88, and NFκB expressions were also decreased and the activities of MPO, SOD, GPx, and CAT were increased in the mice exposed to LPS (71).

The administration of petroleum ether fraction of Viola yedoensis (2, 4, and 8 mg/kg, p.o.) in the LPS-induced ALI in mice significantly reduced the wet/dry weight ratio of the lung, total inflammatory cells, the activity of MPO, and protein levels in the BALF. The lung morphology improved, the complement deposition was markedly reduced, and the expression of proinflammatory cytokines was suppressed in the treated group (72) and pre-treated with rhamnazin (5, 10, and 20 mg/kg, i.p., 2 days before LPS) significantly reduced the inflammatory parameters, improved lung histopathology changes, activated Nrf2 pathway, and attenuated ROS as well as H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, MDA, and hydroxyl ion in the LPS-exposed rats (73). In the LPS-induced lung inflammation and oxidative stress model, the administration of Nigella sativa extract (100-400 mg/kg, i.p.) decreased the total and differential WBC counts, oxidative stress, and inflammatory (TGF-\u00b31, IFN- $\gamma$ , PGE2, and IL-4) markers in the BALF and serum as well as the pathological changes of the lung tissue in the rats (74).

Therefore, the experimental studies showed that pretreatment with various NP remarkably reduced the inflammatory markers and improved the lung histopathology in the LPSinduced ALI animal models, indicating the therapeutic effect of NP on ALI in the animal models due to their antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties. The underlying mechanisms of the anti-inflammatory action of NP are inhibition of the Nrf2-mediated antioxidative pathway. Among the biological activities of NP derived from plants anti-inflammatory, antiviral, antitumor, antiallergic, and antioxidant activities can be pointed out. Although many reports have evaluated the effects of these compounds in the experimental models, studies evaluating clinical trials are scarce in the literature. In this section, the effects of different NP on the LPS-induced lung disorders in the experimental models and some possible mechanisms of action were shown. Some experimental data suggest that supplementation with NP may be an effective treatment for patients with the LPS-induced respiratory disorders. The effects of NP on the LPS-induced lung disorders are summarized in Table 4.

## Paraquat-Induced Lung Disorders Experimental Studies

The treatment with *Zataria multiflora* (200 and 800 mg/kg) and carvacrol (20 and 80 mg/kg) improved the inhaled PQ-induced systemic oxidative stress and inflammation (75). Also, treatment with carvacrol reduced the WBC (total and differential) count, oxidant biomarkers, and inflammatory cytokines, but increased the antioxidants including CAT and SOD, and anti-inflammatory cytokines in the inhaled PQ-exposed rats similar to the effects of pioglitazone and dexamethasone (76).

The administration of the bark extract of Bathysa cuspidata (200 and 400 mg) was shown to protect against PQ-induced acute lung injury and mortality in the rats exposed to PQ as substantiated by the significant decreases in lung edema, septal thickening, alveolar collapse, hemorrhage, cell migration, malondialdehyde, and proteins carbonyl levels (77). In another similar study, salidroside (10 mg/kg), derived from Rhodiola rosea, alleviated the PQ-induced lung injury in the rats via downregulation of the TGF-\u00df1 expression (78). In an experimental study, the rats were exposed to a single dose of PQ and treated with pioglitazone (5 mg/kg), pioglitazone plus Zataria multiflora extract (200 mg/kg), pioglitazone plus carvacrol (20 mg/kg), and dexamethasone (0.03 mg/kg). The results indicated that the treatment of lung and systemic oxidative stress and inflammation induced by the inhaled PQ in the rats with a combination of pioglitazone plus Zataria multiflora or carvacrol showed more effect than the effect of pioglitazone or the plant and carvacrol alone (79).

In the rats exposed to PQ and treated with *Zataria multiflora*, the levels of IL-10, IL-4, TNF- $\alpha$ , and IFN- $\gamma$  were significantly increased and IL-6, IL-8, and IL-2 levels were decreased (80). The treatment with *Zataria multiflora* (200 and 800 mg/kg) markedly reduced the WBC (total and differential) counts, serum levels of NO<sub>2</sub>, MDA, IL-17, and TNF- $\alpha$  as well as improved the PQ-induced acute lung injuries (81). *Ligustrazine* (30 mg/kg, i.g.), an active substance extracted from the Umbelliferae plant *Ligusticum chuanxiong* (30 mg/kg, i.g.), improved the lipid peroxidation damage, improved the lung injury, and induced the concentrations of NK- $\kappa$ B and iNOS caused by acute poisoning with PQ (82). In the lung injury induced by sub-acute exposure with PQ, treatment with curcumin (30 mg/kg, i.g.) and nanocurcumin-attenuated lung fibrosis may be associated with their antioxidant properties (83).

Diosmin (50 and 100 mg/kg), in a mouse model of PQ-lung injury, showed antioxidant, anti-inflammatory, and antifibrotic effects (84). In a similar study, the PQ-exposed mice treated with the extract of *Rosa canina* fruits (200 and 400 mg/kg) improved the oxidant-antioxidant balance in the lung tissue (85). The treatment of PQ-exposed mice with apigenin (25, 50, and 100 mg/kg) significantly reduced lung injury by inhibition of oxidative stress and inflammation (86).

The studies have shown that NP have a variety of medicinal activities including anti-inflammatory, antioxidant, and anticancer. Due to their low water solubility, NP are significantly limited in clinical application. Many potential strategies are expected to be developed to improve their pharmacokinetic values and bioavailability. The experimental

Study type	Study design	NP	Dose	Effects	References
In vitro	LPS-stimulated mice RAW264.7 macrophages	<i>Paulownia tomentosa</i> methanolic Ext	2.5, 5, 10, 20 and 40 μg/ml, for 24 h	Suppressed IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$ production	(49)
	LPS-stimulated mice RAW264.7 macrophages	Dehydrodieugenol B from Nectandra leucantha	10, 20, 30 and 60 $\mu M$	No effect on cell viability Inhibited NO release and IL-1 $\beta$ and IL-6 gene expression	(50)
	LPS-stimulated mice RAW264.7 macrophages	Linalool	40, 80 and 120 $\mu g/mL$	↓ TNF-α and IL-6, blocked IκBα protein phosphorylation, p38, c-Jun terminal kinase, and extracellular signal-regulated kinase	(61)
	LPS-stimulated mice RAW264.7 macrophages	Barbaloin from Aloe vera	25, 50, or $100\mu\text{M}$	Inhibited IL-1β, IL-6, and TNF-α expression, ROS-mediated PI3K/AKT/NF-κB pathway activation	(51)
	LPS-stimulated mice RAW264.7 macrophages	Houttuynia cordata ethanolic Ext	30, 50, 100 and 300 μg/mL	Inhibited NO production	(52)
	LPS-stimulated mice RAW264.7 macrophages	Alpinumisoflavone	1, 5 and 10 μg/mL, for 24 h	↓ NO, TNF-α, IL-6, IL-1β, and ICAM-1 protein expression, IKK and NF-κB phosphorylation, NF-κB nuclei localization, ERK, JNK and p38 phosphorylation, IL-17A and iNOS expression Blocked IkBα phosphorylation and degradation, NLRP3 inflammasome, caspase-1 activation, and IL-1β proteins, ↑ CAT, HO-1, GPx, and SOD, Inhibited intracellular ROS generation	(53)
	LPS-stimulated RAW264.7 macrophages in mice	TADIOS ethanolic Ext	0.5, 1 and 2 mg/mL	↑ Relative luciferase units Suppressed IL-6 and IL-1β, and ROS production <i>in vivo</i>	(57)
	LPS-stimulated mice splenocytes and RAW264.7 macrophages	Curcuma longa aqueous Ext	0.8-500 µg/mL, for 48 h	↑ NO, IL-12, IL-10, IL-6, IL-2, TNF-α, IFN-γ and MCP-1 in non-stimulated mouse splenocytes and macrophages, Inhibited production of IL-12 and PGE2 in LPS-stimulated cells	(54)
	LPS-stimulated LECL and H460 CCL	<i>Thymus vulgari</i> s Hydroalcoholic Ext	0.04-0.60%	↓ NF-κB p52 and NF-κB p65 transcription factors protein, IL-1β, IL-8 and mucus s Induced necrotic cell death in human H460 lung cancer cell line	(55)
	LPS-stimulated A549 alveolar epithelial cells	Daidzein	100 $\mu$ M, 15 min after LPS stimulation	Inhibited expressions of TLR4 and MyD88 and the activation of NF- $\kappa B$	(56)
	LPS-induced ALI in mouse model	TADIOS	1000 mg/kg, orally	Neutrophil infiltration in BALF, inflammatory cell infiltration in lung tissue and thickening of the alveolar wall Activated Nrf2-HO-1 axis	(57)
In vivo	LPS-induced ALI in mouse model	Eugenol and Dehydrodieugenol B from <i>Nectandra leucantha</i>	30 mg/kg	↓ Lung edema, inflammatory cells, and IL-6 and IL-1 β levels in BALF, iNOS, MMP-9, and TIMP-1, collagen levels and the 8-isoprostane expression in lung tissue, Inhibited phosphorylation of JNK	(50)
	LPS-induced ALI in mouse model	Thymol from <i>Thymus vulgaris</i>	30 and 100 mg/kg, i.p.	Improved lung pathological changes ↓ Inflammatory cells influx, TNF-α and IL-6 protein, MDA and MPO I levels in BALF and NF-κB activation in lung ↑ SOD activity,	(58)
	LPS-induced ALI in mouse model	Pulicaria petiolaris methanolic Ext	50 and 100 mg/kg, p.o., for 5 days	↓ Lung wet/dry weight (W/D) ratio, total protein and LDH level in BALF, lung histopathological lesions, inflammatory cell infiltration, MDA and ↑ SOD and GSH	(59)

(Continued)

#### TABLE 4 | Continued

Study type	Study design	NP	Dose	Effects	References
	LPS-induced ALI in mouse model	Cannabidiol from Cannabis sativa	0.3, 1.0, 10, 20, 30, 40, and 80 mg/kg, i.p.	↓ Leukocyte and myeloperoxidase activity in lungs, albumin level in BALF, and TNF, IL-6, MCP-1 and MIP-2 production	(60)
	LPS-induced ALI in mouse model	Linalool	25 mg/kg, i.p.	↓ TNF-α and IL-6 production, total WBCs, neutrophils and macrophages in BALF Improved lung histopathologic changes	(61)
	LPS-induced ALI in mouse model	Barbaloin from Aloe vera	25, 50, and 100 mg/kg, i.p.	↓ Lung pathological changes, MPO activity and inflammatory neutrophil in lung tissue	(51)
	LPS-induced ALI in mouse model	<i>Taraxacum mongolicum</i> HandMazz aqueous Ext	5 and 10 g/kg, p.o.	↓ Inflammation cells in BALF, protein levels I3K/Akt/mTOR, MPO and inflammatory neutrophil accumulation in lung P ↑ SOD activity	(62)
	LPS-induced ALI in mouse model	Portulaca oleracea hydroethanolic Ext	50, 100 and 200 mg/kg, p.o., 1 h before LPS injection	$\downarrow$ IL-β, IL-6, TNF-α, PGE2, and TGF-β, and increased IL-10 levels, lung wet/dry ratio Improved the level of WBC, MPO, MDA, thiol, SOD and CAT,	(63)
	LPS-induced ALI in mouse model	Xanthohumol from <i>Humulus</i> <i>Iupulus</i>	10 or 50 mg/kg, i.p.	↓ Lung histopathological changes W/D ratio protein levels, neutrophil infiltration, MDA, MPO, SOD and GSH depletion, ROS, and cytokines levels, iNOS and HMGB1 expression, Txnip/NLRP3 inflammasome and NF-kB signaling pathway activation, t-BHP-stimulated cell apoptosis ↑ Anti-oxidative enzymes expression regulated by Keap1-Nrf2/ARE activation	(64)
	LPS-induced ALI in mouse model	Luteolin	0, 18, 35 and 70 µmol/kg, i.p., for 30 min	↓ Histological changes and lung tissue edema, vascular permeability, TNF-α and IL-6 levels in BALF, and expression of iNOS and COX-2 in lung, NFκB activation upstream molecular factor, Akt	(65)
	LPS-induced ALI in mouse model	<i>Glycyrrhiza glabra</i> Ethanolic Ext	200 and 400 mg/kg, p.o., for 4 days	↓ Lung wet/dry weight ratios, lung pathological changes. total cell and protein exudate in BALF, pro-inflammatory mRNA expression Improved SOD activity in BALF,	(66)
	LPS-induced ALI in mouse model	Anemarrhena asphodeloides, alcoholic Ext Saponin-enriched fraction, Timosaponin A-III	50 and 200 mg/kg, p.o. 10 and 50 mg/kg 25-50 mg/kg	↓ Total WBCs count, and inflammatory cell infiltration, neutrophil infiltration and macrophages in BALF, IL-1β and IL-6 production in BALF, STAT3 activation, alveolar wall thickness and infiltration of inflammatory cells	(67)
	LPS-induced ALI in mouse model	Eleusine indica, Schaftoside and vitexin	4, 40 and 400 mg/kg, i.p. 400 μg/kg, i.p.	Inhibited lung neutrophil influx	(68)
	LPS-induced ALI in mouse model	<i>Houttuynia cordata</i> ethanolic Ext Afzelin, hyperoside and Quercitrin	100 and 400 mg/kg, p.o. 100 mg/kg, p.o.	↓ Total cell numbers in BALF ↓ Neutrophils, macrophages and dendritic cells in BALF	(52)
	LPS-induced ALI in mouse model	Astragalin	25, 50 and 75 mg/kg, p.o., 1 h before LPS challenge	Improved animal survival rate, ↓ Lung pathological changes, lung W/D ratio, total protein levelin BALF, total WBC, neutrophils and macrophages in BALF, IκB degradation Down-regulated TNF-α, IL-1β and IL-6 production,	(69)
	LPS-induced ALI in mouse model	D-carvone	25 and 50 mg/kg, i.g., 1 h before LPS challenge	$\downarrow$ Lung wet/dry ratio, total cells, macrophages, and neutrophils in BALF, TNF-α, IL-1β, and IL-6 in serum	(70)
	LPS-induced ALI in mouse model	Myricetin	10, 20 and 40 mg/kg, 30 min after LPS challenge	↓ Lung wet/dry ratio, protein concentration in BALF, MPO activity, cytokine, and inflammatory cell migration, TLR4, MyD88 and NF-κB expression, ↑ SOD, GPx and CAT levels	(71)

(Continued)
#### TABLE 4 | Continued

Study type	Study design	NP	Dose	Effects	References
	LPS-induced ALI in mouse model	Petroleum ether fraction of Viola yedoensis	2, 4, and 8 mg/kg, p.o.,	↓ Lung wet/dry ratio, total cells, RBC, protein level, and MPO activity in BALF, histopathological damage, expression of TNF-α, IL-1β, and IL-6	(72)
	LPS-induced ALI in rat model	Rhamnazin	5, 10 and 20 mg/kg, i.p., 2 days before LPS	↓ Lung wet/dry ratio, protein level in BALF, LDH and MPO activities, cytokine and oxidative stress, and histopathological damage	(73)
	LPS-induced ALI in rat model	<i>Nigella sativa</i> hydroethanolic Ext	100-400 mg/kg, i.p.	↓ Total and differential WBC, MDA, TGF-β1, IFN-γ, PGE2 and IL-4 levels in BALF, and lung pathology ↑ thiol. SOD and CAT levels in BALF and serum	(74)

NP, natural products; Ext, extract; ALI, acute lung injury; BALF, bronchoalveolar lavage fluid; LECL, lung epithelial cell line; CCL, cancer cell line; COX-2, cyclooxygenase-2; GPx, glutathione peroxidase; GSH, glutathione; HO-1, heme oxygenase-1; i.g., intragastric; i.t., intratracheal; ICAM-1, intercellular adhesion molecule-1; JNK, Jc-Jun-NH2 terminal kinase; LDH, lactate dehydrogenase; MCP-1, monocyte chemoattractant protein-1; MDA, malondialdehyde; MPO, myeloperoxidase; MyD88, myeloid differentiation factor 88; Nrf2, nuclear factor erythroid 2–related factor 2; p.o., per os (by way of the mouth); PGE2, prostaglandin E2; RBC, red blood cells; ROS, reactive oxygen species; SOD, superoxide dismutase; TGF-β, transforming growth factor; TLR4, toll-like receptor 4; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; Taraxacum officinale F.H.Wigg; TADIOS, Dioscorea batatas Decaisne and Schizonepeta tenuifolia. The up arrow (<sup>↑</sup>) indicates an increase in the variable, and a down arrow (<sup>↓</sup>) indicates a decrease.

evidence supports the causal relationship between oxidative stress and various chronic diseases. Thus, numerous studies are focused on ameliorating the PQ-induced lung injury by decreasing oxidative stress. The experimental studies suggest that NP can combat oxidative stress and reduce the morbidity and mortality associated with PQ-induced lung injury. The effects of NP on PQ-induced lung injury are summarized in **Table 5** and **Figure 4**.

# Sulfur Mustard-Induced Lung Disorders

#### **Experimental Studies**

The aqueous extract of *Crocus sativus* (225, 450, and 900  $\mu$ g) decreased DNA damage and MDA but increased the GSH level in the SM-exposed macrophage cells (87).

The effects of antioxidants caffeic acid (CA) (250  $\mu$ M) and quercetin (100  $\mu$ M) on normal human epithelial keratinocytes (NHEKs) treated with SM (200  $\mu$ M) showed their protective effects on the cytotoxicity induced by SM. Also, CA improved cell viability at concentrations > 250  $\mu$ M dose-dependently. In addition, the treatment with CA and quercetin decreased the phosphorylation of p38 and p53 but increased the phosphorylation of JNK 1/2 induced by SM. Furthermore, CA and quercetin reduced the expression levels of cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2), inducible NO synthase (iNOS), and the induction of oxidative stress irrespective of the p38 and lipoxygenase pathway (88).

In female mice exposed to SM, ethanolic extract of *Hippophae rhamnoides* L. leaf (HL-EOH), water and ethanolic extract of *Hippophae rhamnoides* fruit (HF-W and HF-EOH), and *H. rhamnoides* flavone from fruit (HR-flavone) significantly protected the lethal effect of SM. Treatment with HL-EOH and HR-flavone markedly protected the bodyweight loss, levels of GSH, oxidized glutathione (GSSG), and MDA. The LD<sub>50</sub> of all extracts was more than 5 g/kg indicating their non-toxic property (89).

The *Nigella sativa* extract (0.08 g/day) in drinking water markedly decreased airway responsiveness to methacholine and

WBC count in the guinea pigs exposed to SM (90). Similarly, the *Nigella sativa* extract at the above dose for 2 weeks also remarkably reduced airway responsiveness, neutrophil, eosinophil, lymphocyte, and monocyte percentage in the SM-exposed guinea pigs and the effects of *Nigella sativa* were similar to the onset of dexamethasone (5 mg/kg, i.p.) (91). The therapeutic effects of *Salvia miltiorrhiza* and *Anemarrhena asphodeloides* mixture (MSTF) (30, 60, 120 mg/kg) after exposure of the rats to SM (3.5 mg/kg, s.c.) significantly enhanced the survival and diminished the SM-induced morphological changes in the liver, small intestine, and testis tissues. The administration of MSTF (60 and 120 mg/kg) markedly increased the GSH level and prevented the differential expression of genes in the SM-exposed rats (92).

#### **Clinical Studies**

In a case-control study, the treatment of patients with lung disorder due to SM exposure (n=20) with boiled extract of *Nigella sativa* (0.375 ml/kg) significantly improved the PFT values, and chest wheeze 30 and 60 days after treatment compared to the placebo-treated group (n=20) and also compared to the beginning of the study (93). The treatment effects of the *Avena sativa* plant (0.1% cream twice a day for 4 weeks) on chronic pruritus in the SM-exposed patients in a double-blind clinical trial were studied. A total of seventy-five patients were divided into 3 groups including *Avena sativa* ointment, placebo, and betamethasone groups. At the end of the study period, the pruritus severity was significantly reduced in groups A and B compared to group C. The *Avena sativa* ointment treatment also improved the quality of life and quality of sleep in the patients (94).

In a randomized clinical study, the treatment of patients with lung disorder due to SM exposure with a syrup made from *Zataria multiflora* (5 and 10 mg/kg) for 2 months) reduced the WBCs (total and different) and oxidant biomarker but increased thiol, SOD, and CAT activities, and increased the PFT values (20). In a similar study, the serum levels of inflammatory mediators

TABLE 5	The possible therapeutic effects of NP in the PQ-induced lung injury.	

Study type	Study design	NP	Dose	Effects	References
In vivo	PQ-exposed rats	Zataria multiflora	200 and 800 mg/kg, i.g. for 16 days	Improved systemic inflammation and oxidative biomarkers	(75)
	PQ-exposed rats	Carvacrol	20 and 80 mg/kg, i.g. for 16 days	↓ Total and differential WBC, MDA, NO2, IL-17 and TNF- $\alpha$ ↑ CAT, SOD activities, IL-10 and INF- $\gamma$	(76)
	PQ-exposed rats	Bathysa cuspidata	200 and 400 mg/kg, i.g.	↓Lung edema, septal thickening, alveolar collapse, hemorrhage, cell migration, malondialdehyde and proteins carbonyl levels	(77)
	PQ-exposed rats	Zataria multiflora, Carvacrol	200 mg/kg 20 mg/kg, i.g. for 16 days	↓ Total and differential WBC, MDA, NO2, IL-17 and TNF- $\alpha$ ↑ CAT, SOD activities, IL-10 and INF- $\gamma$	(79)
	PQ-exposed rats	Zataria multiflora	200 and 800 mg/kg, i.g. for 16 days	Improved lung inflammation and oxidative stress	(80)
	PQ-exposed rats	Zataria multiflora	200 and 800 mg/kg, i.g. for 16 days	↓ Total and differential WBC, IL-17, TNF- α ↑ IL-10, INF-γ	(81)
	PQ-exposed rats	Salidroside	10 mg/kg, i.p.	Suppressed TGF-β1 expression in rat lung injury	(78)
	PQ-exposed rats	ligustrazine	30 mg/kg, i.g.	Improve the lipid peroxidation damage $\downarrow$ Lung injury, NK- $\kappa$ B, and iNOS	(82)
	PQ-exposed rats	Curcumin	30 mg/kg, i.g.	↓ Total and differential WBC, IL-17, TNF- α ↑ IL-10, INF-γ	(83)
	PQ-exposed mice	Diosmin	50 and 100 mg/kg, i.p. for 10 or 24 days	Protective effects against PQ-induced lung injury	(84)
	PQ-exposed mice	Rosa canina	200 and 400 mg/kg, orally for 14 days	↓ IL-17, TNF- α ↑ IL-10, INF-γ	(85)
	PQ-exposed mice	Apigenin	25, 50 and 100 mg/kg, orally for 7 days	$\downarrow$ NF- $\kappa B$ , inflammation and oxidative stress	(86)

NP, natural products; Ext, extract; PQ, paraquat; WBC, white blood cell; MDA, malondialdehyde; NO<sub>2</sub>, nitrogen dioxide; IL-17, interleukin-17; TNF-α, tumor necrosis factor alpha; IFN-γ, interferon gamma; IL-10, interleukin-10; NF-κB, nuclear factor kappa B; iNOS, induced nitric oxide synthase; i.g., intragastrically; i.p., intrageritoneal.

The up arrow ( $\uparrow$ ) indicates an increase in the variable, and a down arrow ( $\downarrow$ ) indicates a decrease.

were reduced but the PFT values were increased due to a 2month treatment with *Zataria multiflora* in the patients with lung disorders due to SM exposure (95). The treatment with *Zataria multiflora* extract in these patients also diminished cytokines, and respiratory symptoms, but increased some PFT values (96).

The 2-month treatment of the patients with lung disorder for a long time (27–30 years) exposing to SM with carvacrol (1.2 mg/kg) significantly enhanced the CAT and SOD activities, thiol level, and PEF values, but, declined the MDA level, total WBC and neutrophil count (21). The 2-month treatment with carvacrol in similar patients also remarkably reduced the respiratory symptoms and serum levels of IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, EGF, and VEGF, but incremented the IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-10 levels in the serum. In addition, the carvacrol treatment increased MEF25, 50, and 75 (maximum expiratory flow at 25, 50, and 75% of vital capacity) and MMEF (maximum mid-expiratory flow) values after 2 months of treatment (97, 98).

In the patients exposed to SM with chronic pruritic skin lesions (n = 96) treated by curcumin (1 g/d) or placebo for 4 weeks, the serum levels of high-sensitivity C-reactive protein (hs-CRP) and IL-8 were reduced in both groups. However, a higher effect of curcumin was observed compared to the placebo group and only treatment with curcumin reduced the calcitonin

gene-related peptide (CGRP) level. In addition, in the curcumin group, IL-8 was correlated with the dermatology life quality index (DLQI) change (99). The treatment with curcumin in SMinduced chronic pruritus also improved the antioxidant status, quality of life (QoL), and pruritus (100).

The treatment of the patients with pulmonary complications induced by SM, with curcuminoids (500 mg) for 4 weeks, increased FEV1/FVC compared to placebo-treated patients. The inflammatory mediators (IL-6, IL-8, TGF $\beta$ , TNF $\alpha$ , hs-CRP, substance P, CGRP, and MCP-1 also improved remarkably greater than the placebo group. Therefore, in patients with SM-induced chronic pulmonary disorders, short-term curcuminoids treatment reduced lung and systemic inflammation (101).

In the other study, the SM-exposed patients were treated with standard drugs plus curcuminoids and piperine (1,500 and 15 mg/day, respectively) or placebo for 4 weeks. The serum level of GSH was increased but that of MDA decreased and the healthrelated quality of life (HRQoL) was significantly improved at the end of the study in both groups. However, GSH, MDA, and the HRQoL changes in the curcuminoids-piperine-treated group were markedly greater than the placebo group (102).

The above studies showed the protective effect of NP on the cell viability, inflammation, and pathological changes in



the experimental studies that were exposed to SM. The clinical studies also indicated that NP improve the quality of life, PFT values, respiratory symptoms inflammatory mediators, and oxidative stress markers of SM-induced lung disorder. The therapeutic effects of NP in SM-induced lung injury are summarized in **Table 6** and **Figure 5**. The molecular mechanism of SM-induced toxicity is shown in **Figure 5**.

# Other Noxious Agents-Induced Lung Disorders

#### **Experimental Studies**

The pre-treatment with *Origanum vulgare* extract (50, 100, 200, and 400 mg/kg) protected the lung tissues from cyclophosphamide (CP)-induced pulmonary damage and suggested a role for oxidative stress in the pathogenesis of the lung disease induced by CP (103). In the rats challenged with methotrexate (MTX) (20 mg/kg) and treated with alpha-lipoic acid (ALA) after MTX administration, the levels of IL-1 $\beta$ , MDA, GSH, TNF- $\alpha$ , MPO, and sodium potassium-adenosine triphosphatase (Na+/K+ATPase) were improved due to the ALA treatment (104).

In a rat model of amiodarone-induced lung insult, the serum levels of TGF- $\beta$ 1 and TNF- $\alpha$  markedly increased. The treatment with grape seed extract (150 mg/kg) ameliorated oxidative and fibrotic damages in the lung of the amiodarone-treated rats (105). The aqueous extract of caffeic acid phenethyl ester (5 and 10  $\mu$ mol /day) significantly attenuated the acute lung injury induced by amiodarone (7.5 UI/kg). The activities of myeloperoxidase and SOD enzymes were significantly decreased in the group which was treated with caffeic acid phenethyl ester (106). In the amiodarone-induced lung toxicity, two phenolic acids, ferulic acid and gallic acid, showed a protective effect on the inflammatory biomarkers and oxidative stress (107).

A protective effect of *A. melanocarpa* fruit juice against amiodarone-induced pulmonary toxicity was shown by the reduction of amiodarone-induced direct toxic damage signs, oxidative stress, and fibrosis (108). Treatment with grape seed and Ginkgo biloba (100 mg/kg) ameliorated the histopathological structure, increased the contents of glycogen, and improved the ultrastructure alternations of the lung tissue in the rats exposed to a single dose of amiodarone (40 mg/kg). Grape seed was markedly more effective than Ginkgo biloba in protecting the TABLE 6 | The possible therapeutic effects of medicinal plants and their derivatives in the SM-induced lung injuries.

Study type	Study design	NP	Doses	Effects	References
In vivo	Macrophage	Crocus sativus	225, 450 and 900 μg	↓ DNA damage and MDA ↑ GSH level in macrophage cells exposed to SM.	(87)
	SM-exposed NHEKs	Caffeic acid and quercetin	250 and 100 $\mu M$	↓ p38 and p53 phosphorylation, expression levels of COX2 and iNOS and oxidative stress ↑ JNK 1/2 phosphorylation	(88)
	SM-exposed Swiss female mice	<i>Hippophae rhamnoide</i> s ethanolic Ext	1g/kg; 3 doses; p.o	Protected the body weight loss ↑ GSH, and GSSG levels ↓ MDA w	(89)
	SM-exposed guinea pigs	Nigella sativa	0.08 g/day	$\downarrow$ TR to methacholine, total and differential WBC count	(90)
	SM-exposed guinea pigs	Nigella sativa	0.08 g/day	↑ TR and lung in?ammation similar to the effect of dexamethasone	(91)
	SM-exposed Sprague Dawley rats	Salvia miltiorrhiza Anemarrhena asphodeloides	30, 60, 120 mg/kg	↑ Survival levels of rats ↓ The SM-induced morphological changes in the testis, small intestine and liver tissues	(92)
Clin	SM-exposed patients	Nigella sativa aqueous Ext	0.375 mL/kg	Improved chest wheeze, PFT values	(93)
	SM-exposed patients	Avena sativa	%5 w/w	Improved disease severity, quality of life and quality of sleep	(94)
	SM-exposed patients	Zataria multiflora	5 and 10 mg/kg	↓ Total and different WBC, MDA ↑ Thiol, CAT, SOD, FVC and PEF	(20)
	SM-exposed patients	Zataria multiflora	-	Improved serum levels of various cytokines, chemokine's and PFT values	(95, 96)
	SM-exposed patients	Carvacrol	-	↑ Thiol level, CAT and SOD activity and PE $\downarrow$ Total WBC and MDA	(21)
	SM-exposed patients	Carvacrol	1.2 mg/kg/day	↓ Respiratory symptoms, EGF, VEGF, IL-8, IL-2, IL-6 and IL-4 in the serum, ↑ Serum levels of IL-10 and IFN-γ and PFT values	(97, 98)
	SM-exposed patients	Curcumin	-	$\downarrow$ hs-CRP, CGRP and IL-8 serum levels and DLQI	(99)
	SM-exposed patients	Curcumin	1 g/day	Improved HQoL, pruritus, and antioxidant status	(100)
	SM-exposed patients	Curcuminoids	500 mg	Improved FEV1/FVC, IL-6, IL-8, TGF $\beta$ , TNF $\alpha$ , hs-CRP, SP, CGRP and MCP-1. Also	(101)
	SM-exposed patients	Curcuminoids + piperine	1500 and 15 mg/day	Improved HRQoL, GSH, MDA	(102)

NP, natural products; Clin, clinical; Ext, extract; SM, sulfur mustard; NM, nitrogen mustard; TR, tracheal responsiveness; WBC, white blood cells; GSH, glutathione; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; NO, nitric oxide; MDA, malondialdehyde; GSH, glutathione; GSSG, oxidized glutalthione; SOD, superoxide dismutase; CAT, catalase; IL, Interleukin; IFN<sub>γ</sub>, interferon <sub>γ</sub>; TNF<sub>α</sub>, turnor necrosis factor-<sub>α</sub>; COX-2, cyclooxygenase-2; iNOS, inducible nitric oxide synthase; SIL-BS, silibinin-bis-succinat; PFT, pulmonary function test; FEV1, volume in one second; MMEF, maximal mid expiratory Low; FVC, forced volume capacity; hs-CRP, high-sensitivity C-reactive protein; CGRP, calcitonin gene-related peptide; VEGF, vascular endothelial growth factor; EGF, epidermal growth factor; DLQI, dermatology life quality index; HRQoL, health-related quality of life; SP, substance P. The up arrow (<sup>↑</sup>) indicates an increase in the variable, and a down arrow (<sup>↓</sup>) indicates a decrease.

rats against amiodarone (109). The therapeutic effects of NP in the other noxious agents-induced lung injury are summarized in **Table 7** and **Figure 3**.

#### DISCUSSION

The induction of various lung disorders due to exposure to NA of the general environment or in the workplace was shown, both in animal and human studies. Among the most important NA, exposure to BLM, Cd, environmental dust, LPS, PQ, SM, and amiodarone can cause lung diseases. Exposure to these NA usually leads to PF and COPD but it also can induce various

other lung disorders such as emphysema. The induction of lung disorders due to exposure to NA is accomplished with lung pathological changes, wet/dry lung weight disturbance, oxidative stress in the lung, lung inflammation indicated by increased inflammatory mediators, and immune dysregulation indicated by the changes in the cytokine levels and other immune markers in the BALF or lung tissues.

The results of this review study showed the pharmacological and therapeutic effects of different NP including medicinal plants and their derivatives on lung disorders both in the experimental and clinical studies. The experimental studies indicated the effects of different medicinal plants



TABLE 7   The effect of other noxious ag	gents-induced lung disorders.
--	-------------------------------

Study type	Study design	NP	Dose	Effects	References
In vivo	CP-exposed mice	Origanum vulgare	50, 100, 200 and 400 mg/kg, i.p. for 7 days	$\downarrow$ IL-6, IL-8, mRNA, protein expression and NF- $\kappa B$ activity	(103)
	MTX-exposed rats	Alpha-lipoic acid	60 mg/kg, i.p. for 16 days	↓ IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-8 ↑ IL-10, IFN-γ, IFN-γ/IL-4 ratio	(104)
	AM-exposed rats	Grape seed Ext	150 mg/kg, i.p for 14 days	↓ Serum levels of IL-4, IL-17A, IFN $\gamma$ ↑ TGFβ	(105)
	AM-exposed rats	Caffeic acid phenethyl ester	5 and 10 μmol /day, i.p. for 3 weeks	↓ MDA level and the activity of myeloperoxidase ↑ SOD	(106)
	AM-exposed rats	ferulic acid, gallic acid	200 and 100 mg/kg, i.g., for 6 weeks	Improved inflammatory biomarkers and oxidative stress	(107)
	AM-exposed rats	A. melanocarpa fruit juice	5 and 10 mL/kg, orally for 10 days	$\downarrow$ Oxidative stress, inflammation, and fibrosis	(108)
	AM-exposed rats	Grape seed and ginkgo biloba	100 mg/kg, i.g. for 8 weeks	↓ Antioxidant's and histopathological structure ↑ The contents of glycogen	(109)

NP, natural products; Ext, extract; CP, cyclophosphamide; MTX, methotrexate; AM, Amiodarone; MDA, Malondialdehyde; SOD, superoxide dismutase; IL, Interleukin; NF-κB, Nuclear factor kappa B; IFN-γ, Interferon gamma; TGFβ, Transforming growth factor beta; i.g., intragastrically; i.p., intraperitoneal. The up arrow (↑) indicates an increase in the variable, and a down arrow (↓) indicates a decrease.

Frontiers in Nutrition | www.frontiersin.org

including Aloe vera, Anemarrhena asphodeloides, Avena sativa, Crocus sativus, Curcuma longa, Dioscorea batatas, Glycyrrhiza glabra, Gentiana veitchiorum, Gentiopicroside, Houttuvnia cordata, Hibiscus sabdariffa, Hochu-ekki-to, Hippophae rhamnoides, Juglans regia, Melanocarpa fruit juice, Mikania glomerata, Mikania laevigata, Moringa oleifera, Myrtus communis L., Lamiaceae, Myrtle, Mosla scabra leaves, Nectandra leucantha, Nigella sativa, Origanum vulgare L, Pulicaria petiolaris, Paulownia tomentosa, Pomegranate seed oil, Raphanus sativus L. var niger, Rosa canina, Schizonepeta tenuifolia, Thymus vulgaris, Taraxacum mongolicum, Tribulus Terrestris, Telfairia occidentalis, Taraxacum officinale, TADIOS, Xuebijing, Viola yedoensis, Zataria multiflora, Zingiber officinale, Yin-Chiao-San, and their derivatives on the lung injury induced by NA. The treatment with NP in NA-induced lung disorders ameliorated all lung changes induced by NA such as lung pathological changes, lung oxidative stress, lung inflammation, and immune dysregulation. In clinical studies, the effects of medicinal plants and their derivatives such as Avena sativa, Curcuma longa, Nigella sativa, and

# REFERENCES

- 1. Semenza GL. Oxygen sensing, homeostasis, and disease. *N Engl J Med.* (2011) 365:537–47. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1011165
- Kim D, Chen Z, Zhou LF, Huang SX. Air pollutants and early origins of respiratory diseases. *Chronic Dis Transl Med.* (2018) 4:75–94. doi: 10.1016/j.cdtm.2018.03.003
- Alvarado A, Arce I. Metabolic functions of the lung, disorders and associated pathologies. J Clin Med Res. (2016) 8:689. doi: 10.14740/jocmr 2668w
- Sethi GS, Dharwal V, Naura AS. Immunological Basis of Oxidative Stress-Induced Lung Inflammation in Asthma and COPD. Oxidative Stress in Lung Diseases. Springer: Springer (2019). p. 195–223.
- Kawai M, Hirano T, Higa S, Arimitsu J, Maruta M, Kuwahara Y, et al. Flavonoids and related compounds as anti-allergic substances. *Allergol Int.* (2007) 56:113–23. doi: 10.2332/allergolint.R-06-135
- Singh A, Holvoet S, Mercenier A. Dietary polyphenols in the prevention and treatment of allergic diseases. *Clin Exp Allergy*. (2011) 41:1346–59. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2222.2011.03773.x
- Phan SH, Thrall RS, Williams C. Bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis: effects of steroid on lung collagen metabolism. *Am Rev Respir Dis.* (1981) 124:428–34. doi: 10.1164/arrd.1981.124.4.428
- Wormser U, Nir I. Effect of age on cadmium-induced metallothionein synthesis in the rat. Arch Toxicol. (1988) 62:392–4. doi: 10.1007/BF002 93629
- Go Y-M, Orr M, Jones DP. Actin cytoskeleton redox proteome oxidation by cadmium. Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol. (2013) 305:L831–L43. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00203.2013
- Jindal SK, Aggarwal AN, Gupta D. Dust-induced interstitial lung disease in the tropics. *Curr Opin Pulm Med.* (2001) 7:272–7. doi: 10.1097/00063198-200109000-00004
- Ingenito EP, Mora R, Cullivan M, Marzan Y, Haley K, Mark L, et al. Decreased surfactant protein-B expression and surfactant dysfunction in a murine model of acute lung injury. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* (2001) 25:35–44. doi: 10.1165/ajrcmb.25.1.4021
- 12. Orfanos S, Mavrommati I, Korovesi I, Roussos C. Pulmonary endothelium in acute lung injury: from basic science to the critically ill. *Appl Physiol Intens Care Med.* (2006) 30:171–83. doi: 10.1007/3-540-37363-2\_30
- Bismuth C, Hall A, Wong A. Paraquat Poisoning: Mechanisms-Prevention-Treatment. New York, NY: Marcel Dekker (1995). 10:195–210.

*Zataria multiflora* on SM-induced lung disorders were shown by reducing respiratory symptoms, oxidative stress markers, inflammatory mediators, and cytokine levels as well as increasing PFT.

The results of this review study showed the possible therapeutic effects of various NP on NA-induced lung disorders by amelioration of various features of lung injury. However, further clinical studies, especially on the effect of NP on lung diseases induced by BLM, Cd, environmental dust, LPS, PQ, and other noxious agents are needed to support the therapeutic effect on NP on NA-induced lung disorders for clinical practice purposes.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SS, SB, and MK prepared the first draft of the manuscript and helped in the revision of the final version of the manuscript. MB designed the study, critically edited, and revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

- Sato S. Human Paraquat Toxicology: Prognostic Factors. Paraquat Poisoning: Mechanisms-Prevention-Treatment. New York, NY: Marcel Dekker (1995). p. 267–74.
- Suzuki K, Takasu N, Arita S, Maenosono A, Ishimatsu S, Nishina M, et al. A new method for predicting the outcome and survival period in paraquat poisoning. *Hum Toxicol.* (1989) 8:33–8. doi: 10.1177/096032718900800106
- Bianchi M, Fantuzzi G, Bertini R, Perin L, Salmona M, Ghezzi P. The pneumotoxicant paraquat induces IL-8 mRNA in human mononuclear cells and pulmonary epithelial cells. *Cytokine*. (1993) 5:525–30. doi: 10.1016/1043-4666(93)90045-7
- Liu MW, Su MX, Zhang W, Wang YQ, Chen M, Wang L, et al. Protective effect of Xuebijing injection on paraquat-induced pulmonary injury viadown-regulating the expression of p38 MAPK in rats. BMC Complement Altern Med. (2014) 14:1–14. doi: 10.1186/1472-6882-14-498
- Reshetnikov V, Hahn J, Maueröder C, Czegley C, Munoz LE, Herrmann M, et al. Chemical tools for targeted amplification of reactive oxygen species in neutrophils. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1827. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01827
- Emad A, Rezaian G, Hosseini K, Ghayyoomi S. Chronic pulmonary sequelae of sulfur mustard gas exposure in man: a report of 36 Cases. *Irn J Med Sci.* (1995) 20:1–4.
- 20. Khazdair MR, Rajabi O, Balali-Mood M, Beheshti F, Boskabady MH. The effect of Zataria multiflora on pulmonary function tests, hematological and oxidant/antioxidant parameters in sulfur mustard exposed veterans, a randomized doubled-blind clinical trial. *Environ Toxicol Pharmacol.* (2018) 58:180–8. doi: 10.1016/j.etap.2018.01.006
- 21. Khazdair M, Alavinezhad A, Boskabady M. Carvacrol ameliorates haematological parameters, oxidant/antioxidant biomarkers and pulmonary function tests in patients with sulphur mustard-induced lung disorders: a randomized double-blind clinical trial. *J Clin Pharm Ther.* (2018) 43:664–74. doi: 10.1111/jcpt.12684
- Kayani S, Ahmad M, Zafar M, Sultana S, Khan MPZ, Ashraf MA, et al. Ethnobotanical uses of medicinal plants for respiratory disorders among the inhabitants of Gallies–Abbottabad, Northern Pakistan. *J Ethnopharmacol.* (2014) 156:47–60. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2014.08.005
- 23. Singh V, Kumar K, Purohit D, Verma R, Pandey P, Bhatia S, et al. Exploration of therapeutic applicability and different signaling mechanism of various phytopharmacological agents for treatment of breast cancer. *Biomed Pharmacother.* (2021) 139:111584. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2021.111584
- 24. Beigh S, Rashid H, Sharma S, Parvez S, Raisuddin S. Bleomycininduced pulmonary toxicopathological changes in rats and its

prevention by walnut extract. Biomed Pharmacother. (2017) 94:418-29. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2017.07.124

- Liang X, Tian Q, Wei Z. Liu Fe, Chen J, Zhao Y, et al. Effect of Feining on bleomycin-induced pulmonary injuries in rats. *J Ethnopharmacol.* (2011) 134:971–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2011.02.008
- Sun SC, Han R, Hou SS, Yi HQ, Chi SJ, Zhang AH. Juglanin alleviates bleomycin-induced lung injury by suppressing inflammation and fibrosis viatargeting sting signaling. *Biomed Pharmacother*. (2020) 127:110119. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2020.110119
- 27. Tajima S, Bando M, Yamasawa H, Ohno S, Moriyama H, Terada M, et al. Preventive effect of hochu-ekki-to, a Japanese herbal medicine, on bleomycin-induced lung injury in mice. *Respirology.* (2007) 12:814–22. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1843.2007.01146.x
- Gong LK, Li XH, Wang H, Zhang L, Cai Y, Qi XM, et al. Feitai attenuates bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis in rats. *Biol Pharmac Bull.* (2004) 27:634–40. doi: 10.1248/bpb.27.634
- Bahri S, Ben Ali R, Gasmi K, Mlika M, Fazaa S, Ksouri R, et al. Prophylactic and curative effect of rosemary leaves extract in a bleomycin model of pulmonary fibrosis. *Pharm Biol.* (2017) 55:462–71. doi: 10.1080/13880209.2016.1247881
- Chen L, Zhao W. Apigenin protects against bleomycin-induced lung fibrosis in rats. *Exp Ther Med.* (2016) 11:230–4. doi: 10.3892/etm.2015.2885
- Wang Q, Yu J, Hu Y, Chen X, Zhang L, Pan T, et al. Indirubin alleviates bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis in mice by suppressing fibroblast to myofibroblast differentiation. *Biomed Pharmacother*. (2020) 131:110715. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2020.110715
- 32. Poursalehi HR, Fekri MS, Far FS, Mandegari A, Izadi A, Mahmoodi R, et al. Early and late preventive effect of Nigella sativa on the bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis in rats: an experimental study. *Avicenna J Phytomed.* (2018) 8:263.
- Asghari MH, Hobbenaghi R, Nazarizadeh A, Mikaili P. Hydro-alcoholic extract of Raphanus sativus L. var niger attenuates bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis via decreasing transforming growth factor β1 level. *Res Pharm Sci.* (2015) 10:429.
- Ng LT, Yen FL, Liao CW, Lin CC. Protective effect of Houttuynia cordata extract on bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis in rats. *Am J Chin Med.* (2007) 35:465–75. doi: 10.1142/S0192415X07004989
- 35. Samareh Fekri M, Mandegary A, Sharififar F, Poursalehi HR, Nematollahi MH, Izadi A, et al. Protective effect of standardized extract of Myrtus communis L. (myrtle) on experimentally bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis: biochemical and histopathological study. *Drug Chem Toxicol.* (2018) 41:408–14. doi: 10.1080/01480545.2018.1459670
- Sener G, Topaloglu N, Sehirli AÖ, Ercan F, Gedik N. Resveratrol alleviates bleomycin-induced lung injury in rats. *Pulm Pharmacol Ther*. (2007) 20:642– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.pupt.2006.07.003
- Wen G, Li T, He H, Zhou X, Zhu J. Ganoderic acid A inhibits bleomycin-induced lung fibrosis in mice. *Pharmacology*. (2020) 105:566–73. doi: 10.1159/000505297
- Rong Y, Cao B, Liu B, Li W, Chen Y, Chen H, et al. A novel Gallic acid derivative attenuates BLM-induced pulmonary fibrosis in mice. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2018) 64:183–91. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2018.08.024
- Yen FL, Wu TH, Liao CW, Lin CC. A kampo medicine, Yin-Chiao-san, Prevents bleomycin-induced pulmonary injury in rats. *Phytother Res.* (2007) 21:251–8. doi: 10.1002/ptr.2056
- Nikbakht J, Hemmati AA, Arzi A, Mansouri MT, Rezaie A, Ghafourian M. Protective effect of gallic acid against bleomycin-induced pulmonary fibrosis in rats. *Pharmacol Rep.* (2015) 67:1061–7. doi: 10.1016/j.pharep.2015.03.012
- El-Ebiary AA, El-Ghaiesh S, Hantash E, Alomar S. Mitigation of cadmiuminduced lung injury by Nigella sativa oil. *Environ Sci Pollut Res.* (2016) 23:25356–63. doi: 10.1007/s11356-016-7603-3
- Alsammak M. Effect of Cadmium Chloride on the Histological Structure of Lung in Adult Male Mice with and without Parsley Oil. Open Access Macedonian J Med Sci. (2021) 9:676–9. doi: 10.3889/oamjms.2021.6207
- Baiomy A. Protective role of grape seeds extract against cadmium toxicity in the lung of male wistar rats. J Cytol Histol S. (2016) S5:004. doi: 10.4172/2157-7099.S5-004
- 44. AL-Kraie NIH, Dalas IS, Razooqi QA. The Toxic Effect of Cadmium Chloride on Lung Function and Tissue and the Protective Role of

Pomegranate Seed Oil in Female Rabbits. Indian J Forensic Med Toxicol. (2020) 14:275.

- 45. Freitas TP, Silveira PC, Rocha LG, Rezin GT, Rocha J, Citadini-Zanette V, et al. Effects of Mikania glomerata Spreng. and Mikania laevigata Schultz Bip ex Baker (Asteraceae) extracts on pulmonary inflammation and oxidative stress caused by *acute coal dust exposure. J Med Food.* (2008) 11:761–6. doi: 10.1089/jmf.2008.0051
- 46. Kalibekova A, Mustafina RK, Kazymbet P, editors. The impact of prolonged uranium dust inhalation in small doses to the ratio of the end product of glycolysis in the lung tissues of rats, corrective effects of licorice roots extracts. In: *Materials of 4 International Theoretical and Practical Conference* 'Medical-biological and Radio-Ecological Problems on Uranium-and Oilproducing Regions' (2010).
- 47. Yahaya T, Okpuzor J, Ajayi T. Antioxidant activity of Roselle (Hibiscus sabdariffa), Moringa (Moringa oleifera), Ginger (Zingiber officinale) and 'Ugwu'(Telfairia occidentalis) in the lungs of Albino rats (Rattus norvegicus) exposed to cement dust. Ann Res Rev Biol. (2014) 4:736–46. doi: 10.9734/ARRB/2014/5440
- Yahaya T. Efficacy of Selected Phytonutrients on Rats Exposed to Cement Dust. PhD diss (2014).
- 49. Lee JW, Seo KH, Ryu HW, Yuk HJ, Park HA, Lim Y, et al. Antiinflammatory effect of stem bark of Paulownia tomentosa Steud. in lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-stimulated RAW264 7 macrophages and LPSinduced murine model of acute lung injury. J Ethnopharmacol. (2018) 210:23–30. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2017.08.028
- Bittencourt-Mernak MI, Pinheiro NM, da Silva RC, Ponci V, Banzato R, Pinheiro AJ, et al. Effects of Eugenol and Dehydrodieugenol B from Nectandra leucantha against Lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-Induced Experimental Acute Lung Inflammation. J Nat Prod. (2021) 84:2282–94. doi: 10.1021/acs.jnatprod.1c00386
- Jiang K, Guo S, Yang C, Yang J, Chen Y, Shaukat A, et al. Barbaloin protects against lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced acute lung injury by inhibiting the ROS-mediated PI3K/AKT/NF-κB pathway. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2018) 64:140–50. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2018.08.023
- Lee JH, Ahn J, Kim JW, Lee SG, Kim HP. Flavonoids from the aerial parts of Houttuynia cordata attenuate lung inflammation in mice. *Arch Pharm Res.* (2015) 38:1304–11. doi: 10.1007/s12272-015-0585-8
- 53. Li PY, Liang YC, Sheu MJ, Huang SS, Chao CY, Kuo YH, et al. Alpinumisoflavone attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury by regulating the effects of anti-oxidation and anti-inflammation both in vitro and in vivo. *RSC Adv.* (2018) 8:31515–28. doi: 10.1039/C8RA 04098B
- Chandrasekaran CV, Kannan Sundarajan JRE, Gururaja GM, Mundkinajeddu D, Agarwal A. Immune-stimulatory and anti-inflammatory activities of Curcuma longa extract and its polysaccharide fraction. *Pharmacognosy Res.* (2013) 5:71. doi: 10.4103/0974-8490.110527
- 55. Oliviero M, Romilde I, Beatrice MM, Matteo V, Giovanna N, Consuelo A, et al. Evaluations of thyme extract effects in human normal bronchial and tracheal epithelial cell lines and in human lung cancer cell line. *Chem Biol Interact.* (2016) 256:125–33. doi: 10.1016/j.cbi.2016.06.024
- Feng G, Sun B. Li TZ. Daidzein attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury via toll-like receptor 4/NF-kappaB pathway. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2015) 26:392–400. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2015.04.002
- Lee W, Lee CH, Lee J, Jeong Y, Park JH, Nam IJ, et al. Botanical formulation, TADIOS, alleviates lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-Induced acute lung injury in mice via modulation of the Nrf2-HO-1 signaling pathway. *J Ethnopharmacol.* (2021) 270:113795. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2021.113795
- Wan L, Meng D, Wang H, Wan S, Jiang S, Huang S, et al. Preventive and therapeutic effects of thymol in a lipopolysaccharideinduced acute lung injury mice model. *Inflammation*. (2018) 41:183–92. doi: 10.1007/s10753-017-0676-4
- Ahmed N, Aljuhani N, Salamah S, Surrati H, El-Agamy DS, Elkablawy MA, et al. Pulicaria petiolaris effectively attenuates lipopolysaccharide (LPS)induced acute lung injury in mice. *Arch Biol Sci.* (2018) 70:699–706. doi: 10.2298/ABS180510033A
- 60. Ribeiro A. Ferraz-de-Paula V, Pinheiro ML, Vitoretti LB, Mariano-Souza DP, Quinteiro-Filho WM, et al. Cannabidiol, a non-psychotropic plant-derived cannabinoid, decreases inflammation in a murine model of acute lung injury:

role for the adenosine A2A receptor. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2012) 678:78–85. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2011.12.043

- Huo M, Cui X, Xue J, Chi G, Gao R, Deng X, et al. Anti-inflammatory effects of linalool in RAW 264.7 macrophages and lipopolysaccharide-induced lung injury model. *J Surg Res.* (2013) 180:e47–54. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2012.10.050
- Ma C, Zhu L, Wang J, He H, Chang X, Gao J, et al. Antiinflammatory effects of water extract of Taraxacum mongolicum hand. -Mazz on lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammation in acute lung injury by suppressing PI3K/Akt/mTOR signaling pathway. *J Ethnopharmacol.* (2015) 168:349–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2015.03.068
- Baradaran Rahimi V, Rakhshandeh H, Raucci F, Buono B, Shirazinia R, Samzadeh Kermani A, et al. Anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidant activity of Portulaca oleracea extract on LPS-induced rat lung injury. *Molecules*. (2019) 24:139. doi: 10.3390/molecules24010139
- 64. Lv H, Liu Q, Wen Z, Feng H, Deng X, Ci X. Xanthohumol ameliorates lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced acute lung injury via induction of AMPK/GSK3β-Nrf2 signal axis. *Redox Biol.* (2017) 12:311–24. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2017.03.001
- 65. Li YC, Yeh CH, Yang ML, Kuan YH. Luteolin suppresses inflammatory mediator expression by blocking the Akt/NFκB pathway in acute lung injury induced by lipopolysaccharide in mice. *Evid Based Complement Altern Med.* (2012) 2012:383608. doi: 10.1155/2012/383608
- Shen Y, Han N, Chen H, Zhang M, Cai W. Evaluation of lipopolysaccharideinduced acute lung injury attenuation in mice by Glycyrrhiza glabra. *Pharmacogn Mag.* (2020) 16:92. doi: 10.4103/pm.pm\_189\_19
- Park BK, So KS, Ko HJ, Kim HJ, Kwon KS, Kwon YS, et al. Therapeutic potential of the rhizomes of Anemarrhena asphodeloides and timosaponin A-III in an animal model of lipopolysaccharide-induced lung inflammation. *Biomol Ther.* (2018) 26:553. doi: 10.4062/biomolther.2017.249
- De Melo GO, Muzitano MF, Legora-Machado A, Almeida TA, De Oliveira DB, Kaiser CR, et al. C-glycosylflavones from the aerial parts of Eleusine indica inhibit LPS-induced mouse lung inflammation. *Planta Med.* (2005) 71:362–3. doi: 10.1055/s-2005-864104
- Soromou LW, Chen N, Jiang L, Huo M, Wei M, Chu X, et al. Astragalin attenuates lipopolysaccharide-induced inflammatory responses by downregulating NF-kB signaling pathway. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2012) 419:256–61. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.02.005
- Zhao M, Du J. Anti-inflammatory and protective effects of D-carvone on lipopolysaccharide (LPS)-induced acute lung injury in mice. J King Saud Univ Sci. (2020) 32:1592–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jksus.2019.12.016
- Mao M, Huang M. Myricetin attenuates lung inflammation and provides protection against lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury by inhibition of NF-κB pathway in rats. *Trop J Pharm Res.* (2017) 16:2585–93. doi: 10.4314/tjpr.v16i11.3
- 72. Li W, Xie JY, Li H, Zhang YY, Cao J, Cheng ZH, et al. Viola yedoensis liposoluble fraction ameliorates lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury in mice. Am J Chin Med. (2012) 40:1007–18. doi: 10.1142/S0192415X12500747
- 73. Wu G, Dai X, Li X, Jiang H. Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory effects of Rhamnazin on lipopolysaccharide-induced acute lung injury and inflammation in rats. *Afr J Trad Complement Altern Med.* (2017) 14:201–12. doi: 10.21010/ajtcam.v14i4.23
- 74. Mokhtari-Zaer A, Norouzi F, Askari VR, Khazdair MR, Roshan NM, Boskabady M, et al. The protective effect of Nigella sativa extract on lung inflammation and oxidative stress induced by lipopolysaccharide in rats. J Ethnopharmacol. (2020) 253:112653. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2020.112653
- Amin F, Roohbakhsh A, Memarzia A, Kazerani HR, Boskabady MH. Paraquat-induced systemic inflammation and increased oxidative markers in rats improved by Zataria multiflora extract and carvacrol. *Avicenna J Phytomed.* (2020) 10:513.
- Amin F, Memarzia A, Kazemi Rad H, Shakeri F, Boskabady MH. Systemic inflammation and oxidative stress induced by inhaled paraquat in rat improved by carvacrol, possible role of PPARγ receptors. *BioFactors*. (2021) 2021. doi: 10.1002/biof.1761
- 77. Novaes RD, Gonçalves RV, Cupertino MC, Marques DC, Rosa DD, Peluzio MdCG, et al. Bark extract of Bathysa cuspidata attenuates extra-pulmonary acute lung injury induced by paraquat and reduces mortality in rats. *Int J Exp Pathol.* (2012) 93:225–33. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2613.2012.00808.x

- Zhang Z, Ding L, Wu L, Xu L, Zheng L, Huang X. Salidroside alleviates paraquat-induced rat acute lung injury by repressing TGF-β1 expression. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol.* (2014) 7:8841.
- Amin F, Memarzia A, Kazerani HR, Boskabady MH. Carvacrol and Zataria multiflora influenced the PPARγ agonist effects on systemic inflammation and oxidative stress induced by inhaled paraquat in rat. *Iran J Basic Med Sci.* (2020) 23:930. doi: 10.22038/ijbms.2020.45962.10648
- Heydari M, Mokhtari-Zaer A, Amin F, Memarzia A, Saadat S, Hosseini M, et al. The effect of Zataria multiflora hydroalcoholic extract on memory and lung changes induced by rats that inhaled paraquat. *Nutr Neurosci.* (2021) 24:674–87. doi: 10.1080/1028415X.2019.1668173
- Amin F, Memarzia A, Roohbakhsh A, Shakeri F, Boskabady MH. Zataria multiflora and Pioglitazone Affect Systemic Inflammation and Oxidative Stress Induced by Inhaled Paraquat in Rats. *Mediators Inflamm*. (2021) 2021:5575059. doi: 10.1155/2021/5575059
- Liu H, Zhao Y, Cui Y, Chen C. Therapeutical effect of ligustrazine to acute lung injury induced by paraquat in rats. *Shandong Med J.* (2009) 49:32–4.
- Hosseini A, Rasaie D, Soleymani Asl S, Nili Ahmadabadi A, Ranjbar A. Evaluation of the protective effects of curcumin and nanocurcumin against lung injury induced by sub-acute exposure to paraquat in rats. *Toxin Rev.* (2021). 40:1233–41. doi: 10.1080/15569543.2019.16 75707
- Mirzaee S, Mansouri E, Shirani M, Zeinvand-Lorestani M, Khodayar MJ. Diosmin ameliorative effects on oxidative stress and fibrosis in paraquatinduced lung injury in mice. *Environ Sci Pollut Res.* (2019) 26:36468–77. doi: 10.1007/s11356-019-06572-2
- Amirshahrokhi K. The Effect of Rosa canina Extract Against Paraquatinduced Lung Injury. J Ardabil Univ Med Sci. (2020) 19:400–9. doi: 10.29252/jarums.19.4.400
- Luan RL, Meng XX, Jiang W. Protective effects of apigenin against paraquat-induced acute lung injury in mice. *Inflammation*. (2016) 39:752–8. doi: 10.1007/s10753-015-0302-2
- Zarei Mahmoudabadi A, Sharif F, Jafari M. Effect of Crocus sativus L. marine extract on genotoxicity of Syrian mouse macrophages. *Kowsar Med J.* (2011) 16:79–86.
- Kim S, Jeong KJ, Cho SK, Park JW, Park WJ. Caffeic acid, morin hydrate and quercetin partially attenuate sulfur mustard-induced cell death by inhibiting the lipoxygenase pathway. *Mol Med Rep.* (2016) 14:4454–60. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2016.5766
- Vijayaraghavan R, Gautam A, Kumar O, Pant S, Sharma M, Singh S, et al. Protective Effect of Ethanolic and Water Extracts of Sea Buckthorn (Hippophae rhamnoides L.) Against the Toxic Effects of Mustard Gas. Indian J Exp Biol. (2006) 44:821–31.
- Hossein BM, Nasim V, Sediqa A. The protective effect of Nigella sativa on lung injury of sulfur mustard-exposed Guinea pigs. *Exp Lung Res.* (2008) 34:183–94. doi: 10.1080/01902140801935082
- Boskabady MH, Vahedi N, Amery S, Khakzad MR. The effect of Nigella sativa alone, and in combination with dexamethasone, on tracheal muscle responsiveness and lung inflammation in sulfur mustard exposed guinea pigs. *J Ethnopharmacol.* (2011) 137:1028–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2011. 07.030
- 92. Li J, Chen L, Wu H, Lu Y, Hu Z, Lu B, et al. The mixture of salvianolic Acids from Salvia miltiorrhiza and total flavonoids from Anemarrhena asphodeloides attenuate sulfur mustard-induced injury. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2015) 16:24555–73. doi: 10.3390/ijms161024555
- 93. Boskabady MH, Farhadi J. The possible prophylactic effect of Nigella sativa seed aqueous extract on respiratory symptoms and pulmonary function tests on chemical war victims: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. J Altern Complement Med. (2008) 14:1137–44. doi: 10.1089/acm.2008.0049
- Shohrati M, Davoud M, Rezazadeh S, Najafian B. Clinical efficacy of topical Avena sativa versus Betamethasone in chronic pruritus due to sulfur mustard exposure. J Med Plants. (2017) 16:68–77.
- 95. Khazdair MR, Ghorani V, Alavinezhad A, Boskabady MH. The effect of Zataria multiflora on the levels of serum cytokine and pulmonary function tests in sulfur mustard induced lung disorders, a randomized doubled-blind clinical trial. *J Ethnopharmacol.* (2020) 248:112325. doi: 10.1016/j.jep.2019.112325

- Khazdair MR, Rezaeetalab F, Rafatpanah H, Boskabady MH. The effect of Zataria multiflora on inflammatory cytokine and respiratory symptoms in veterans exposed to sulfur mustard. *Environ Sci Pollut Res.* (2020) 27:22451–60. doi: 10.1007/s11356-020-08855-5
- Khazdair MR, Boskabady MH. A double-blind, randomized, placebocontrolled clinical trial on the effect of carvacrol on serum cytokine levels and pulmonary function tests in sulfur mustard induced lung injury. *Cytokine*. (2019) 113:311–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2018.07.031
- Khazdair MR, Boskabady MH. The effect of carvacrol on inflammatory mediators and respiratory symptoms in veterans exposed to sulfur mustard, a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. *Respir Med.* (2019) 150:21–9. doi: 10.1016/j.rmed.2019.01.020
- Panahi Y, Sahebkar A, Parvin S, Saadat A. A randomized controlled trial on the anti-inflammatory effects of curcumin in patients with chronic sulphur mustard-induced cutaneous complications. *Ann Clin Biochem.* (2012) 49:580–8. doi: 10.1258/acb.2012.012040
- 100. Panahi Y, Sahebkar A, Amiri M, Davoudi SM, Beiraghdar F, Hoseininejad SL, et al. Improvement of sulphur mustard-induced chronic pruritus, quality of life and antioxidant status by curcumin: results of a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *Br J Nutr.* (2012) 108:1272–9. doi: 10.1017/S0007114511006544
- 101. Panahi Y, Ghanei M, Bashiri S, Hajihashemi A, Sahebkar A. Shortterm Curcuminoid Supplementation for Chronic Pulmonary Complications due to Sulfur Mustard Intoxication: Positive Results of a Randomized Double-blind Placebo-controlled Trial. *Drug Res.* (2014) 65:567–73. doi: 10.1055/s-0034-1389986
- 102. Panahi Y, Ghanei M, Hajhashemi A, Sahebkar A. Effects of curcuminoidspiperine combination on systemic oxidative stress, clinical symptoms and quality of life in subjects with chronic pulmonary complications due to sulfur mustard: a randomized controlled trial. *J Diet Suppl.* (2014) 13:93–105 doi: 10.3109/19390211.2014.952865
- 103. Shokrzadeh M, Ahmadi A, Chabra A, Naghshvar F, Salehi F, Habibi E, et al. An ethanol extract of Origanum vulgare attenuates cyclophosphamideinduced pulmonary injury and oxidative lung damage in mice. *Pharm Biol.* (2014) 52:1229–36. doi: 10.3109/13880209.2013.879908
- 104. Arpag H, Gül M, Aydemir Y, Atilla N, Yigitcan B, Cakir T, et al. Protective effects of alpha-lipoic acid on methotrexate-induced oxidative lung injury

in rats. J Investig Surg. (2018) 31:107–13. doi: 10.1080/08941939.2017.12 96513

- Madkour NK, Ahmed M. Amelioration of amiodarone-induced lung fibrosis in rats by grape seed extract. J Appl Sci Res. (2013) 9:3698–707.
- 106. Zaeemzadeh N, Hemmati A, Arzi A, Jalali M, Rashidi I. Protective effect of caffeic acid phenethyl ester (CAPE) on amiodarone-induced pulmonary fibrosisin rat. *Iran J Pharm Res.* (2011) 10:321.
- Alazragi R. Protective Role of Ferulic acid and/or Gallic acid Against Pulmonary Toxicity Induced by Amiodarone in Rats. Arch Pharm Pract. (2020) 11:83–91.
- 108. Valcheva-Kuzmanova S, Stavreva G, Dancheva V, Terziev L, Atanasova M, Stoyanova A, et al. Effect of Aronia melanocarpa fruit juice on amiodarone-induced pneumotoxicity in rats. *Pharmacogn Mag.* (2014) 10:132. doi: 10.4103/0973-1296.1 31024
- 109. Galaly SR, Abdul-Hamid M, Mahmoud H, Mostafa F. Ameliorative effect of grape seed and ginkgo biloba against pulmonary damage induced by amiodarone in male albino rats. J Adv Pharm Edu Res. (2018) 8:33–42.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Saadat, Beigoli, Khazdair, Amin and Boskabady. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# GLOSSARY

Ach: acetylcholine AHR: hyperresponsiveness BALF: Broncho-alveolar lavage fluid CAT: catalase CGRP: calcitonin gene-related peptide COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease CW: Chemical warfare DLQI: Dermatology Life Quality Index DOX: Doxycycline EPO: peroxidase FDA: Food and Drug Administration FEV1: Forced expiratory volume in the first second FVC: Forced vital capacity GSH: glutathione HDAC: Histone deacetylase complex hPBMCs: human peripheral blood mononuclear cells HRQoL: health-related quality of life hs-CRP: high-sensitivity C-reactive protein IFNy: Interferon-gamma Ig: immunoglobulin IL: Interleukin iNOS: induced nitric oxide synthase IPF: idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis LPS: Lipopolysaccharide LTC<sub>4</sub>: leukotriene C<sub>4</sub> MCHC: mean corpuscular hemoglobin concentration MCP-1: monocyte chemotactic protein-1 MCV: mean corpuscular volume

MDA: malondialdehyde mMCP-1: mouse mast cell protease-1 MMEF: maximum mid-expiratory flow MMPs: matrix metalloproteinase NAC: N-Acetylcysteine NFkB: nuclear transcription factor NK cells: natural killer cells NO: oxide production OVA: Ovalbumin PaCO2: arterial blood carbon dioxide PE: pulmonary embolism PEF: peak expiratory flow PF: pulmonary fibrosis PFT: Pulmonary function tests PQ: paraquat QoL: quality of life ROS: Reactive oxygen species SaO<sub>2</sub>: arterial blood oxygenation saturation SIL-BS: silibinin-bis-succinat SM: Sulfur mustard SOD: superoxide dismutase TAT: Thrombin anti-thrombin TFPI: Tissue factor pathway inhibitor TGF-β1: transforming growth factor beta1 TNFα: Tumor necrosis factor-α tPA: Tissue plasminogen activator TR: tracheal responsiveness TSM: tracheal smooth muscle UV: ultraviolet WBC: White blood cells.



#### OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Pietro Vajro, University of Salerno, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Anna Alisi, Bambino Gesù Children's Hospital (IRCCS), Italy Michele Malaguarnera, Principe Felipe Research Center (CIPF), Spain

#### \*Correspondence:

Surasak Saokaew surasak.sa@up.ac.th Pochamana Phisalprapa coco\_a105@hotmail.com

#### <sup>†</sup>ORCID:

Sukrit Kanchanasurakit orcid.org/0000-0002-1268-2665 Chayanis Kositamongkol orcid.org/0000-0001-7182-0733 Monnaree Nunta orcid.org/0000-0003-1243-7798 Nathorn Chaiyakunapruk orcid.org/0000-0003-4572-8794 Surasak Saokaew orcid.org/0000-0002-1382-0660 Pochamana Phisalprapa orcid.org/0000-0003-1995-4405

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 20 February 2022 Accepted: 13 April 2022 Published: 20 May 2022

#### Citation:

Kanchanasurakit S, Kositamongkol C, Lanoi K, Nunta M, Saetuan T, Chaiyakunapruk N, Saokaew S and Phisalprapa P (2022) Effects of Synbiotics, Probiotics, and Prebiotics on Liver Enzymes of Patients With Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: A Systematic Review and Network Meta-Analysis. Front. Nutr. 9:880014. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.880014

# Effects of Synbiotics, Probiotics, and Prebiotics on Liver Enzymes of Patients With Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: A Systematic Review and Network Meta-Analysis

Sukrit Kanchanasurakit<sup>1,2,3,4,5†</sup>, Chayanis Kositamongkol<sup>6†</sup>, Kamonnat Lanoi<sup>4</sup>, Monnaree Nunta<sup>4†</sup>, Thaksaporn Saetuan<sup>4</sup>, Nathorn Chaiyakunapruk<sup>7,8†</sup>, Surasak Saokaew<sup>1,2,3,9\*†</sup> and Pochamana Phisalprapa<sup>6\*†</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Unit of Excellence on Clinical Outcomes Research and IntegratioN (UNICORN), School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Phayao, Phayao, Thailand, <sup>2</sup> Center of Health Outcomes Research and Therapeutic Safety (Cohorts), School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Phayao, Phayao, Thailand, <sup>3</sup> Unit of Excellence on Herbal Medicine, School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Phayao, Phayao, Thailand, <sup>4</sup> Division of Clinical Pharmacy, Department of Pharmaceutical Care, School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Phayao, Phayao, Thailand, <sup>6</sup> Division of Pharmaceutical Care, Department of Pharmacy, Phrae Hospital, Phrae, Thailand, <sup>6</sup> Division of Ambulatory Medicine, Department of Medicine, Faculty of Medicine Siriraj Hospital, Mahidol University, Bangkok, Thailand, <sup>7</sup> Department of Pharmacotherapy, College of Pharmacy, University of Utah, Salt Lake City, UT, United States, <sup>8</sup> IDEAS Center, Veterans Affairs Salt Lake City Healthcare System, Salt Lake City, UT, United States, <sup>9</sup> Division of Social and Administrative Pharmacy, Department of Pharmaceutical Care, School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Phayao, Phayao, Thailand

**Background:** A systematic review and network meta-analysis was primarily conducted to compare the effects of synbiotics, probiotics, and prebiotics on aspartate aminotransferase (AST) and alanine aminotransferase (ALT). Moreover, their effects on body mass index (BMI), waist circumference (WC), lipid profile, fasting blood sugar (FBS), and homeostatic model assessment-insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) of patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) were investigated and analyzed as secondary outcomes.

**Methods:** The randomized controlled trials (RCTs), limited to the English language, were searched through PubMed, the Web of Science, Embase, CLINAHL Plus, and the Cochrane Library from inception to February 2, 2022. The eligible studies were reviewed and their risk-of-bias and heterogeneity were assessed. Both direct and indirect evidence were assembled using a random-effects model. The effects of the intervention were presented as weighted mean differences (WMD) with 95% confidence interval (95% Cl).

**Results:** Of 3,864 identified records, a total of 1,389 patients with NAFLD from 26 RCTs were included in the analyses. Among these, 241 were diagnosed with non-alcoholic steatohepatitis. The quality assessment reported a moderate risk of bias from most studies. Among adult patients with NAFLD, when compared with placebo, synbiotics provided the largest effect on reductions of AST (-12.71 IU/L; 95% CI: -16.95, -8.47), WC (-2.26 cm; 95% CI: -2.98, -1.54), total cholesterol (-22.23 mg/dl; 95% CI:

-29.55, -14.90), low-density lipoproteins (-17.72 mg/dl; 95% CI: -25.23, -10.22), and FBS (-6.75 mg/dl; 95% CI: -10.67, -2.84). Probiotics lowered ALT (-14.46 IU/L; 95% CI: -21.33, -7.59) and triglycerides (-20.97 mg/dl; 95% CI: -40.42, -1.53) the most. None had significant impact on BMI, high-density lipoproteins, and HOMA-IR changes.

**Conclusion:** Synbiotics and probiotics are likely to be the most potential effective treatments for AST and ALT reduction in adult patients with NAFLD, respectively. Although liver enzymes cannot exactly define the severity of NAFLD, unlike the results from biopsy or imaging tests, they are important indicators that can monitor the status of the disease and provide benefits for clinical management.

**Systematic Review Registration:** [https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_reco rd.php?ID], identifier [CRD42020200301].

Keywords: non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH), meta-analysis, synbiotic, probiotic, prebiotic, liver enzymes

## INTRODUCTION

Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD) is a chronic fatty liver disease found in approximately 25% of the population worldwide (1). The incidence of NAFLD varied from 19 to 86 per 1,000 person-year (2). Patients with a metabolic syndrome are considered a high-risk group facing NAFLD (3). NAFLD covers both non-alcoholic fatty liver (NAFL) and non-alcoholic steatohepatitis (NASH). NAFL is defined as the presence of hepatic steatosis without hepatocellular injury, whereas NASH is a NAFL with hepatocellular injury which may involve fibrosis. NAFLD can lead to other severe diseases such as cirrhosis, liver failure, liver cancer, and non-liver-related conditions, e.g., cardiovascular diseases, chronic kidney disease, etc. (3-7). In order to prevent complications and treat the disease, the etiology and pathophysiology of it should be understood. The mechanism of NAFLD involves various pathways, including gut microbiota. Its association with liver disease has been demonstrated through animal models. The samples that were intervened with antimicrobials and controls were compared to investigated gut microbial metabolic phenotypes. Notably, more than 200 microbial-related metabolites were identified in fingerprints of urine and feces of animals exposed to antimicrobials (8). Some of microbiota-derived metabolites may trigger hepatic metabolism alteration and inflammatory reaction (9). Although the issue on a relationship between liver and intestine is not fully clarified, various studies showed that dysbiosis results in malfunction of hepatic fat deposition (10, 11).

Currently, the only treatments for NAFLD recommended in the guidelines (3, 5, 6) are lifestyle modifications including diet control, exercise, and weight reduction. These methods, especially weight reduction, are hard to achieve and maintain. All other pharmacological treatments are reserved for patients with biopsy-proven NASH and liver fibrosis. According to previous studies, numerous pathophysiologic mechanisms relating the gut microbiome and NAFLD have been indicated, including the dysbiosis-induced dysregulation of the gut endothelial barrier function that allows for the translocation of bacterial components, leading to the accumulation fat and hepatic inflammation (12, 13). Thus, using microbial therapy, including synbiotics, probiotics, and prebiotics, may help to restore the unbalanced microbiomes. Also, as proven by many randomized controlled trials (RCTs), microbial therapy is classified as one of the non-pharmacological treatments which may provide the clinical benefit of slowing down the progression of NAFLD. Nevertheless, the recommendation of using these agents in clinical practice is still inconclusive (5). The primary objective of this study was to compare the effects among synbiotics, probiotics, and prebiotics by focusing on the modification of liver enzymes, including aspartate aminotransferase (AST) and alanine aminotransferase (ALT), in patients with NAFLD. Moreover, for the secondary objectives, we explored the effects of microbial therapies on body mass index (BMI), waist circumference (WC), lipid profile, fasting blood sugar (FBS), and homeostatic model assessment-insulin resistance (HOMA-IR) in patients with NAFLD.

#### **METHODS**

#### **Protocol and Registration**

A systematic review and network meta-analysis (NMA) were performed and reported according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) extension statement for NMA (14). This study was registered with the trial registration

Abbreviations: ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; BMI, body mass index; CI, confidence interval; FBS, fasting blood sugar; HDL, high-density lipoproteins; HOMA-IR, homeostatic model assessmentinsulin resistance; LDL, low-density lipoproteins; NAFL, non-alcoholic fatty liver; NAFLD, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; NASH, non-alcoholic fatty liver; NAFLD, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease; NASH, non-alcoholic statohepatitis; PRISMA, preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses; RCTs, randomized controlled trails; SUCRA curves, surface under the cumulative ranking curves; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglycerides; WC, waist circumference; WMD, weighted mean difference.

number CRD42020200301 under the international prospective register of systematic reviews (PROSPERO: www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO).

#### **Eligibility Criteria**

The RCTs that included participants with NAFLD and that which compared the effects of synbiotics, probiotics, or prebiotics against each other or with a placebo were included in the analysis. The diagnosis method of NAFLD was not restricted only to liver biopsy. Reliable imaging techniques such as ultrasound, transient elastography (Fibroscan), and proton density fat fraction on magnetic resonance imaging (MRI-PDFF) were also acceptable to include in the analyses. The primary interested effects of the interventions were the reduction of AST and ALT since they were basic biomarkers that could be used to monitor the severity of the disease. Furthermore, the studies that showed the results in other secondary outcomes that consisted of BMI, WC, lipid profile, FBS, and/or HOMA-IR were included. Our protocol had no limitations on the length of follow-up period for each trial in the inclusion criteria. We excluded studies that consisted of only abstracts presented at conferences, along with editorials, any type of reviews, and meta-analyses.

# Information Sources and Search Strategy

We searched for relevant published articles from five electronic databases, namely, PubMed, the Web of Science, Embase, CLINAHL Plus, and the Cochrane Library, from the inception of the databases to February 2, 2022. The keywords included "synbiotic," "probiotic," "Lactobacillus\*," "Bifidobacterium\*," "Enterococcus faecium," "Streptococcus thermophiles," "Bacillus clausii," "Saccharomyces cerevisiae," "Saccharomyces boulardii," "Escherichia coli Nissle 1917," "prebiotic," "FOS," "Fructooligosaccharide\*," "Fructo-oligosaccharide"," "GOS," "Galactooligosaccharide"," "Galacto-oligosaccharide"," "XOS," "Xylo-oligosaccharide"," "TOS," "Xylooligosaccharide"," "Transgalactooligosaccharide"," "Trans-galactooligosaccharide"," "Inulin," "Lactitol," "Lactulose," "Lactosucrose," "Soy oligosaccharide\*," "NAFLD," "NASH," "Fatty liver\*," "Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease," "Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease," "Non-alcoholic fatty liver disease," "Non-alcoholic fatty liver\*," and "Non-alcoholic steatohepati\*." Bibliographic lists of related articles were also explored. The complete search strategy is provided in the Supplementary Appendix 1.

# **Study Selection**

Four investigators independently screened the titles and the abstracts of the retrieved citations to identify potentially eligible studies. Only English articles were included. Any conflict was resolved through a subsequent team discussion and an expert consultation. Adults and children with the disease have different characteristic (15). Also, the interventions might act differently regarding age of the patients and there was a limited number of studies in children. Our network meta-analysis would only include adult patients with NAFLD. The data from

studies involving with pediatric patients would be extracted, summarized, and reported descriptively.

# **Data Extraction and Study Appraisal**

Each potentially relevant study was accessed in a full-text manner against the eligible criteria and then adopted in a data-extraction process by the same four investigators. Any inconsistent opinion along this process was settled through a discussion. We extracted the data, including the study design, the details of the interventions, such as the regimens and treatment durations, the study size, and the population characteristics and treatments' outcomes, i.e., the reported mean and/or standard deviation (SD) values of age, AST, ALT, BMI, WC, total cholesterol (TC), triglycerides (TG), low-density lipoproteins (LDL), highdensity lipoproteins (HDL), FBS, and HOMA-IR, which were the representative parameters of the effects of the interventions. When mean and/or SD were not reported, continuous outcomes were estimated by using the reported statistics (e.g., median, interquartile range, etc.) (16). Furthermore, we had contacted study authors to acquire the missing outcomes of pertinent studies. However, if the authors did not respond within a month, the study was, then, excluded from the analyses.

#### **Risk-of-Bias Assessments**

The risk of bias in each individual study was assessed independently by four investigators using the instructions from the revised Cochrane risk-of-bias tool for randomized trials (RoB 2.0) (17). This tool addresses specific bias domains, including methods for generating the random sequence, allocation concealment, blinding of participants and investigators, blinding of the outcome assessment, incompleteness of the outcome data, and selective outcome reporting. Each item is adjudicated within each study, and the results are represented in the riskof-bias summary graph and risk-of-bias summary itself. The adjudication of the risk of bias was achieved by answering prespecified questions about the methods reported by each study in relation to the risk domain, such that the conclusion consists of a low risk of bias, an unclear risk of bias, or a high risk of bias. All disagreements among four investigators were resolved by consensus or with the consultation of the expert.

# **Outcomes and Definitions**

The primary outcomes were the effects of synbiotics, probiotics, and prebiotics on the reduction of the AST and ALT levels in patients with NAFLD. The secondary outcomes were the effects of synbiotics, probiotics, and prebiotics on patients' BMI, WC, lipid profiles (i.e., TC, TG, LDL, and HDL), FBS, and HOMA-IR. The definitions of NASH that would be later used to classify patients for sensitivity analyses were given according to what was defined in the included studies. Those studies which did not obviously specify that they included patients with NASH in the trial would be categorized as the studies which were conducted in patients with NAFLD (5).

# Synthesis and Statistical Analysis

First, we conducted pairwise meta-analyses by using the DerSimonian and Laird random effects model (18) to estimate

the outcomes. Then, we reported them in weighted mean differences and 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs). We assessed the statistical heterogeneity in each pairwise comparison by using I-squared statistic and Chi-squared statistic. Heterogeneity was indicated when the *p*-value was less than 0.1. We also performed a random-effects NMA to combine direct and indirect evidence of all relative options effects by using the network command in the Stata Statistical Software: Release 16 (StataCorp LP, College Station, TX, United States) and the methods of the NMA described by Lu and Ades (19). To rank the options hierarchy of competing for intervention in the NMA, the rankogram, the surface under the cumulative ranking (SUCRA) curves, the mean ranks, and the league tables were used (20). Network inconsistency between direct and indirect evidence was assessed using a global inconsistency test (p-value  $\geq$  0.05 indicated consistency). We also used a comparison-adjusted funnel plot to detect any small-study effects and publication bias.

In addition, to determine whether the results were affected by the variety in the studies' characteristics, we also performed sensitivity analyses, focusing on the above-mentioned outcomes of synbiotics, probiotics, and prebiotics. Multiple sensitivity analyses were performed to assess the robustness of the findings. These were based on (1) the subgroup of participants with liver biopsy-proven NASH and (2) the duration of treatment that were less than and at least 12 weeks in patients with NAFLD and patients with NASH. We use two-sided statistical testing with *p*-values < 0.05 to indicate the statistical significance.

# RESULTS

A total of 3,864 articles were identified from PubMed, the Web of Science, Embase, CLINAHL Plus, and the Cochrane Library. Seven-hundred and forty-nine duplicated articles were removed. The full texts of 159 articles were assessed and 134 studies were excluded due to the reasons described in **Figure 1**. In addition, 1 RCT identified from reference lists was included. Ultimately, we obtained 26 eligible articles: 22 RCTs were performed focusing on the adult patients with NAFLD (21–42), and the other 4 RCTs were performed concerning the pediatric patients with NAFLD (43–46; **Table 1**). The study-selection-process flow is summarized in the PRISMA flow diagram (**Figure 1**).

# Characteristics and Quality of the Included Studies

The included studies are comprised of 1,389 participants with NAFLD (1,230 adults, age  $\geq$  18 years and 159 children, age 6–18 years). Of 1,230 adults with NAFLD, 241 were confirmed as NASH by either liver biopsy or ultrasound. Liver biopsy was done in 8 of 26 RCTs (21–23, 29, 36, 39, 42, 44). Others were diagnosed the disease by ultrasound (13 studies), Fibroscan (4 studies), and MRI-PDFF (1 study). Four studies that involved pediatric patients (age < 18 years) focused only on the effects of probiotics (43–46). Otherwise, the studies involving adult patients focused on probiotics, prebiotics, or synbiotics. The probiotics assessed in this systematic review



Kanchanasurakit
₽,
<u>a</u>

Outcomes

# Frontiers in Nut 2

ID

TABLE 1 | Details of included trials.

First author,

Jtrit		publication year		population			
utrition	1	Aller et al. (21)	Spain	Adults, NAFLD	29–60	Liver biopsy	Double-blin
www.frontiersin.org	2	Vajro et al. (43)	Italy	Children, NAFLD	$11\pm2$	Ultrasound	Pilot double-b
rontier	3	Malaguarnera et al. (22)	Italy	Adults, NASH	30–65	Liver biopsy	Double-blin
sin.org	4	Wong et al. (23)	Hong Kong	Adults, NASH	18–70	Liver biopsy	Open-labe
	5	Alisi et al. (44)	Italy	Children, NAFLD	6–12	Liver biopsy	Double-blin
	6	Eslamparast et al. (24)	Iran	Adults, NAFLD	≥18	Fibroscan	Double-blin

Studied Age (years)

Diagnosis

Study design

Interventions

Country

t al. (21) et al. (43) uarnera et al. (22) et al. (23) al. (44) parast et al. (24) eli et al. (45) eh et al. (25)	Spain Italy Italy Hong Kong Italy Iran Italy	Adults, NAFLD Children, NAFLD Adults, NASH Adults, NASH Children, NAFLD Adults, NAFLD	29-60 11 ± 2 30-65 18-70 6-12	Liver biopsy Ultrasound I Liver biopsy Liver biopsy	Double-blind RCT Pilot double-blind RCT Double-blind RCT Open-label RCT	Probiotics Placebo Probiotics Placebo Synbiotics Placebo	14 14 10 10 34 32	12 8 24	AST, ALT, BMI, TC, TG, LDL, HDL, FBS, HOMA-IR ALT, BMI AST, ALT, BMI, TC, TG, LDL, HDL, FBS, HOMA-IR
uarnera et al. (22) et al. (23) al. (44) parast et al. (24) eli et al. (45)	Italy Hong Kong Italy Iran	Adults, NASH Adults, NASH Children, NAFLD	30–65 18–70	Liver biopsy	Double-blind RCT	Probiotics Placebo Synbiotics Placebo	10 10 34		
uarnera et al. (22) et al. (23) al. (44) parast et al. (24) eli et al. (45)	Italy Hong Kong Italy Iran	Adults, NASH Adults, NASH Children, NAFLD	30–65 18–70	Liver biopsy	Double-blind RCT	Placebo Synbiotics Placebo	10 34		
et al. (23) al. (44) parast et al. (24) eli et al. (45)	Hong Kong Italy Iran	Adults, NASH Children, NAFLD	18–70			Synbiotics Placebo	34	24	AST, ALT, BMI, TC, TG, LDL, HDL, FBS, HOMA-IR
et al. (23) al. (44) parast et al. (24) eli et al. (45)	Hong Kong Italy Iran	Adults, NASH Children, NAFLD	18–70			Placebo		24	AST, ALT, BMI, TC, TG, LDL, HDL, FBS, HOMA-IR
al. (44) parast et al. (24) eli et al. (45)	Italy Iran	Children, NAFLD		Liver biopsy	Open-label RCT		32		
al. (44) parast et al. (24) eli et al. (45)	Italy Iran	Children, NAFLD		Liver biopsy	Open-label RCT	Ducktotics			
parast et al. (24) eli et al. (45)	Iran		6–12			Probiotics	10	24	AST, ALT, BMI, WC, TC, TG, LDL, HDL, FBS
parast et al. (24) eli et al. (45)	Iran		6–12			Placebo	10		
eli et al. (45)		Adults, NAFLD		Liver biopsy	Double-blind RCT	Probiotics	22	16	ALT, BMI, TG, HOMA-IR
eli et al. (45)		Adults, NAFLD				Placebo	22		
	Italv		≥18	Fibroscan	Double-blind RCT	Synbiotics	26	28	AST, ALT, HOMA-IR
	Italv					Placebo	26		
eh et al. (25)		Children, NAFLD	6-12	Ultrasound	Double-blind RCT	Probiotics	15	16	AST, ALT, BMI, TC, TG, LDL, HDL, FBS, HOMA-IR
eh et al. (25)						Placebo	16		
	Iran	Adult, NAFLD	18-65	Ultrasound	Double-blind RCT	Probiotics	21	8	FBS, HOMA-IR
						Placebo	21		
zadeh et al. (26)	Iran	Adults, NAFLD	18–77	Fibroscan	Double-blind RCT	Prebiotics	38	10	AST, ALT, BMI, WC
						Placebo	37		
rian et al. (27)	Iran	Adults, NAFLD	18-60	Ultrasound	Double-blind RCT	Synbiotics	38	8	AST, ALT, BMI, WC
						Placebo	36		
i et al. (28)	Iran	Adults, NAFLD	25-64	Ultrasound	Double-blind RCT	Synbiotics	15	8	AST, ALT, BMI, WC, TC, TG, LDL, HDL, FBS, HOMA-IR
						Placebo	15		
et al. (29)	Brazil	Adults, NASH	25-74	Liver biopsy	Double-blind RCT	Synbiotics	27	12	AST, ALT, BMI, WC, TC, TG, LDL, HDL, FBS
						Placebo	23		
rian et al. (30)	Iran	Adults, NAFLD	18–60	Ultrasound	Double-blind RCT	Synbiotics	38	8	BMI, WC, TC, TG, LDL, HDL, FBS
						Placebo	36		
uz et al. (31)	Iran	Adults, NAFLD	20-60	Ultrasound	Double-blind RCT	Probiotics	30	12	BMI, FBS, HOMA-IR
						Prebiotics	29		
						Placebo	30		
uri et al. (46)	Iran	Children, NAFLD	10–18	Ultrasound	Triple-blind RCT	Probiotics	32	12	AST, ALT, WC, TC, TG, LDL, HDL
						Placebo	32		
et al. (32)	Iran	Adults, NAFLD	20-60	Ultrasound	Double-blind RCT	Synbiotics	17	12	AST, ALT, BMI
						Probiotics	20		
						Prebiotics	19		
						Placebo	19		
et al. (33)	Iran	Adults, NAFLD	20-60	Ultrasound	Double-blind RCT	Synbiotics	17	12	BMI, WC, TC, TG, LDL, HDL, FBS, HOMA-IR
						Probiotics	20		
						Prebiotics	19		
						Placebo	19		
nalii et al. (34)	Ukraine	Adults, NASH	30–60	Ultrasound and elevated hepatic enzymes	Non-blinded RCT	Synbiotics	38	12	AST, ALT, BMI, TC, TG, LDL, FBS
				- I		Placebo	37		
	Iran	Adults, NAFLD	>18	Fibroscan	Double-blind BCT			28	AST, ALT, TC, TG, LDL, HDL, FBS, HOMA-IR
et al. (35)			- 10			0,	- 1		
uz uri	et al. (31) et al. (46) et al. (32) et al. (33)	et al. (31) Iran et al. (46) Iran et al. (32) Iran et al. (33) Iran lii et al. (34) Ukraine	et al. (31) Iran Adults, NAFLD et al. (46) Iran Children, NAFLD et al. (32) Iran Adults, NAFLD et al. (33) Iran Adults, NAFLD lii et al. (34) Ukraine Adults, NASH	e et al. (31) Iran Adults, NAFLD 20–60 et al. (46) Iran Children, NAFLD 10–18 et al. (32) Iran Adults, NAFLD 20–60 et al. (33) Iran Adults, NAFLD 20–60 lii et al. (34) Ukraine Adults, NASH 30–60	et al. (31) Iran Adults, NAFLD 20–60 Ultrasound   et al. (46) Iran Children, NAFLD 10–18 Ultrasound   at al. (32) Iran Adults, NAFLD 20–60 Ultrasound   at al. (33) Iran Adults, NAFLD 20–60 Ultrasound   it al. (33) Iran Adults, NAFLD 20–60 Ultrasound   it al. (34) Ukraine Adults, NASH 30–60 Ultrasound and elevated hepatic enzymes	et al. (31) Iran Adults, NAFLD 20–60 Ultrasound Double-blind RCT   et al. (46) Iran Children, NAFLD 10–18 Ultrasound Triple-blind RCT   at al. (32) Iran Adults, NAFLD 20–60 Ultrasound Double-blind RCT   at al. (32) Iran Adults, NAFLD 20–60 Ultrasound Double-blind RCT   at al. (33) Iran Adults, NAFLD 20–60 Ultrasound Double-blind RCT   it al. (33) Iran Adults, NAFLD 20–60 Ultrasound Double-blind RCT   iti et al. (34) Ukraine Adults, NASH 30–60 Ultrasound and elevated Non-blinded RCT	an et al. (30) Iran Adults, NAFLD 18-60 Ultrasound Double-blind RCT Synbiotics Placebo et al. (31) Iran Adults, NAFLD 20-60 Ultrasound Double-blind RCT Probiotics Prebiotics Placebo et al. (46) Iran Children, NAFLD 10-18 Ultrasound Triple-blind RCT Probiotics Placebo at al. (32) Iran Adults, NAFLD 20-60 Ultrasound Double-blind RCT Synbiotics Prebiotics Placebo	an et al. (30) Iran Adults, NAFLD 18-60 Ultrasound Double-blind RCT Synbiotics 38 Placebo 36 Placebo 36 Prebiotics 29 Placebo 30 Prebiotics 29 Placebo 30 Prebiotics 29 Placebo 30 Prebiotics 32 Placebo 32 Placebo 32 Placebo 32 Placebo 19 Placebo 19 Place	an et al. (30) Iran Adults, NAFLD 18-60 Ultrasound Double-blind RCT Synbiotics 38 8 Placebo 36 Placebo 30 Prebiotics 29 Placebo 30 et al. (31) Iran Adults, NAFLD 20-60 Ultrasound Double-blind RCT Probiotics 30 t al. (32) Iran Adults, NAFLD 20-60 Ultrasound Triple-blind RCT Probiotics 32 t al. (32) Iran Adults, NAFLD 20-60 Ultrasound Double-blind RCT Probiotics 17 t al. (33) Iran Adults, NAFLD 20-60 Ultrasound Double-blind RCT Probiotics 17 t al. (34) Uran Adults, NAFLD 20-60 Ultrasound Double-blind RCT Probiotics 19 Placebo 32 Placebo 19 Placebo 19 Pl

Treatment

duration (weeks)

Sample size

Synbiotics, Probiotics, and Prebiotics in NAFLD

TABL	TABLE 1   (Continued)									
₽	First author, publication year	Country	Studied population	Age (years)	Diagnosis	Study design	Interventions	Sample size	Treatment duration (weeks)	Outcomes
20	Monem et al. (36)	Egypt	Adults, NASH	44 ± 6	Liver biopsy	RCT	Probiotics	15	4	AST, ALT
							Placebo	15		
21	Bakhshimoghaddam et al. (37)	Iran	Adults, NAFLD	18	Ultrasound	Open-label RCT	Synbiotics	34	24	AST, ALT, HOMA-IR
							Placebo	34		
22	Ahn et al. (38)	South Kores	South Korea Adults, NAFLD	19–75	MRI-PDFF	Double-blind RCT	Probiotics	30	12	AST, ALT, BMI, TC, TG, HDL, FBS, HOMA-IR
							Placebo	35		
23	Duseja et al. (39)	India	Adults, NAFLD	>18	Liver biopsy	Double-blind RCT	Probiotics	17	48	AST, ALT
							Placebo	13		
24	Abhari et al. (40)	Iran	Adults, NAFLD	18-75	Fibroscan	Double-blind RCT	Synbiotics	22	12	AST, ALT, BMI, WC, TC, TG, LDL, HDL, FBS, HOMA-IR
							Placebo	24		
25	Behrouz et al. (41)	Iran	Adults, NAFLD	20-60	Ultrasound	Double-blind RCT	Probiotics	30	12	AST, ALT, BMI, WC, TC, TG, LDL, HDL, FBS
							Prebiotics	29		
							Placebo	30		
26	Chong et al. (42)	United Kingdom	Adults, NAFLD	25-70	Liver biopsy	Double-blind RCT	Probiotics	19	10	AST, ALT, TC, TG, LDL, HDL, HOMA-IR
							Placebo	16		
ALT, aı Iow-de TG, tri <u>ç</u>	ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspart low-density lipoproteins; NAFL, non-alcohoi TG, triglycerides; WC, waist circumference.	ie; AST, aspa <sup>-</sup> L, non-alcoh circumference	irtate aminotran. olic fatty liver; N, e.	sferase; BMI, t ASH, non-alco	body mass index holic steatohepat	;; FBS, fasting blood s titis; MRI-PDFF, protor.	sugar; HDL, high-c n density fat fraction	density lipoprotei. 1 on magnetic rex	ns; HOMA-IR, hon sonance imaging; I	ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase; BMI, body mass index; FBS, fasting blood sugar; HDL, high-density lipoproteins; HOMA-IR, homeostatic model assessment-insulin resistance; LDL, low-density lipoproteins; NAFL, non-alcoholic fatty liver; NASH, non-alcoholic steatohepatitis; MRI-PDFF, proton density fat fraction on magnetic resonance imaging; RCT, randomized controlled trial; TC, total cholesterol; TG, triglycerides; WC, waist circumference.

included Lactobacillus spp., Bifidiobacteriumspp., Streptococcus thermophilies, and Pediococcuspentosaceus. Included prebiotics were fructooligosaccharides, inulin, and oligofructose. Synbiotics were defined as interventions when they contained both probiotics and prebiotics. Details of the general characteristics of all included microbial therapy interventions are given in the Supplementary Appendix 2. The duration of treatment varied between 4 and 48 weeks. The details regarding the interventions and the baseline characteristics of included patients in each study are shown in the Supplementary Appendices 3, 4, respectively. The networks of all option comparisons for primary and secondary outcomes were illustrated in Figure 2 and Supplementary Appendix 5, respectively. A quality assessment of the risk of bias revealed some concern in most of the studies. There were 6 RCTs considered as having a low risk of bias (21, 29, 32, 33, 45, 46) and 3 RCTs had a high risk of bias (26, 34, 37), while the rest (17 studies) was categorized as moderaterisk studies (Supplementary Appendix 6). All data extracted for systematic review and network meta-analyses were detailed in Supplementary Appendices 7, 8.

# Pediatric Patients With Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease

#### Primary Outcomes

Aspartate Aminotransferase and Alanine Aminotransferase [4 Studies]

Only two studies conducted by Miccheli et al. (45) and Famouri et al. (46) investigated the effect of probiotics on AST change in pediatric patients. Both studies indicated AST level was significantly reduced after the treatment as compared to the level of the enzyme at baseline. Moreover, the effect on AST lowering were significantly greater in probiotics group than placebo group. All 4 studies focusing on pediatric patients with NAFLD (43–46) evaluated the ALT change, but 2 out of 4 reported that probiotics might not be capable to reduce ALT level compared with a placebo (44, 45).

#### Secondary Outcomes

#### Body Mass Index [4 Studies]

Half of the studies showed that probiotics did not lower the BMI of the pediatric patients with NAFLD (43, 46). The other two studies (44, 45), which conducted in the same cohort of patients, indicated that BMI of the intervention group was significantly lowered at the end of the trial.

#### Waist Circumference [1 Study]

Only one study by Famouri et al. (46) measured the effect of probiotics on WC change in children with obesity who were diagnosed with NAFLD. They reported that probiotics had a significant effect on WC reduction, as compared to a placebo.

# *Lipid Profile [Total Cholesterol: 2 Studies, Triglycerides: 3 Studies, Low-Density Lipoproteins: 2 Studies, and High-Density Lipoproteins: 2 Studies]*

The study by Miccheli et al. (45) pointed out that probiotics did not have an impact on TC. In addition, even if Famouri et al. (46) reported that their intervention could significantly reduce TC, a



median baseline TC level of the control group was significantly lower than the probiotics group.

All tree studies by Alisi et al. (44), Miccheli et al. (45), and Famouri et al. (46) concluded that probiotics did not provide any additional benefit over a placebo in TG reduction among obese children with NAFLD.

Micheli et al. (45) did not see the effect of probiotics on LDL lowering. Nonetheless, the median LDL of the intervention group of the study by Famouri et al. (46) was significantly lower at the end of the trial than the value at the baseline. Moreover, the magnitude of LDL reduction in the intervention group was larger than the control group.

Both trials by Miccheli et al. (45) and Famouri et al. (46) did not observe any significant change in HDL level of the participants.

#### Fasting Blood Sugar and Homeostatic Model Assessment-Insulin Resistance [1 Study]

Only one of four included studies in children investigated the effect of probiotics on diabetes-related outcomes. Miccheli et al. (45) could not conclude any benefit of probiotics based on the outcomes of the trial.

# Adults Patients With Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease

#### Primary Outcomes

#### Aspartate Aminotransferase and Alanine Aminotransferase

Adults With Non-alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease [18 Studies]. Our NMA found that when compared with a placebo, all three interventions significantly decreased the levels of both AST and ALT. Synbiotics provided the best effect on AST. They reduced the AST by -12.71 IU/L (95% CI: -16.95, -8.47). The second and third best interventions were probiotics (AST: -11.62 IU/L; 95% CI: -17.15, -6.09) and prebiotics (AST: -8.42 IU/L; 95% CI: -16.27, -0.56), respectively (Figure 3A). When the interventions were compared against each other, there was no specific intervention that could be considered better than another (Supplementary Appendix 9).

Probiotics provided the most impact on ALT reduction when compared with placebo (ALT: -14.46 IU/L; 95% CI: -21.33, -7.59). Synbiotics and prebiotics significantly reduced ALT by

-12.60 IU/L (95% CI: -17.22, -7.98) and -13.65 IU/L (95% CI: -22.69, -4.61), respectively (**Figure 3B**). When compared among interventions, the statistical difference did not show in any pair of interventions (**Supplementary Appendix 9**).

When interventions, including placebos, were compared with one another, as shown in SUCRA, synbiotics had the highest likelihood of being ranked first in the analysis of the effects on AST reduction, followed by probiotics, prebiotics, and placebo (**Supplementary Appendix 10**). Contrastingly, SUCRA showed that probiotics had the highest likelihood of being ranked first for ALT reduction, followed by prebiotics and synbiotics. The results indicated no possibility that placebo would provide better outcomes than other interventions (**Supplementary Appendix 10**).

Adults With Biopsy-Proven Non-alcoholic Steatohepatitis [4 Studies]. In the subgroup of patients with biopsy-proven NASH, synbiotics provided the best effects, in terms of AST reductions when compared to placebo (-22.34 IU/L; 95% CI: -38.02, -6.67). However, when synbiotics were compared against probiotics, no significance difference of AST reductions was seen. Probiotics had the most impact on ALT reduction in this subgroup. It significantly decreased more ALT than both placebo (-34.10 IU/L; 95% CI: -46.43, -21.77) and synbiotics (-17.70IU/L; 95% CI: -34.61, -0.79). Synbiotics also significantly reduced ALT in patients with biopsy-proven NASH. When compared with a placebo, they reduced ALT by -16.40 IU/L (95% CI: -27.96, -4.83). More details were shown in **Supplementary Appendices 13, 14**.

Further results of the sensitivity analyses, which were restricted to the effects of interventions in the studies in which durations of treatments were less than 12 weeks and at least 12 weeks, separately, are presented in **Supplementary Appendices 13, 14.** Most of the sensitivity analyses showed similar results to the main analyses. Particularly, the interventions could significantly reduce hepatic enzymes when compared with placebo. However, there was no specific intervention that could considered better than the others in terms of liver enzymes reductions. Prebiotics provided the lowest magnitude of effect on AST reduction. All three microbial treatments did not provide significant effect on AST level



among patients with NAFLD compared to a placebo unless the treatments were given at least 12 weeks. Both probiotics and synbiotics significantly reduced AST in patients with NASH who were treated for not less than 12 weeks, but only synbiotics could significantly decrease ALT in this subgroup.

#### Secondary Outcomes

#### Body Mass Index [13 Studies]

The pooled results showed that the interventions did not have a significant impact on BMI in adult patients with NAFLD, as shown in **Figure 4A** and **Supplementary Appendix 9**. The results from subgroup among patients with biopsy-proven NASH also showed no statistically different effect when a comparison was made between interventions and placebo. The sensitivity analyses, including the analyses among adult patients who were treated for not less than 12 weeks, revealed no statistical differences between all pairs of options. The details are shown in **Supplementary Appendix 15**.

#### Waist Circumference [8 Studies]

Among three microbial therapies, only synbiotics significantly reduced the WC of adults with NAFLD (synbiotics vs. placebo: -2.26 cm; 95% CI: -2.98, -1.54 and synbiotics vs. probiotics: -1.98 cm; 95% CI: -3.84, -0.11), as shown in **Figure 4B** and **Supplementary Appendix 9**. Nonetheless, this statistically significant result was not seen in any sensitivity analysis. Further details are shown in **Supplementary Appendix 16**.

#### Lipid Profile [Total Cholesterol: 13 Studies, Triglycerides: 13 Studies, Low-Density Lipoproteins: 11 Studies, and High-Density Lipoproteins: 12 Studies]

Synbiotics had significant effects on TC, TG, and LDL reduction when compared with a placebo (TC: -22.23 mg/dl; 95% CI: -29.55, -14.90; TG: -12.77 mg/dl; 95% CI: -20.88, -4.66; and LDL: -17.72 mg/dl; 95% CI: -25.23, -10.22), as shown in **Figures 4C-E**. When compared among the interventions, there was no specific one that could be considered significantly better than others (**Supplementary Appendix 9**). Prebiotics also significantly decreased TC by -16.42 mg/dl (95% CI: -31.57, -1.27) and LDL by -15.88 mg/dl (95% CI: -29.34, -2.42) more than placebo. Probiotics provided the largest impact on TG reduction (-20.97 mg/dl, 95% CI: -40.42, -1.53), but did not have an effect on other parameters related to patients' lipid profile. Moreover, this NMA showed that neither prebiotics, probiotics, nor synbiotics had an effect on

increasing the HDL level (Figure 4F). The results are shown in Supplementary Appendix 9.

Surprisingly in the sensitivity analysis involving the biopsyproven NASH, probiotics provided a significant reduction of the HDL level (-3.86 mg/dl; 95% CI: -7.25, -0.47), but this only involved one study. Nevertheless, the other microbial therapies did not show the significant effects on HDL, TC, TG, and LDL in patients with biopsy-proven NASH. The analyses of the studies that treated the patients for at least 12 weeks demonstrated that when compared to a placebo, synbiotics could significantly reduce the TC, TG, and LDL levels among patients with NAFLD (TC -18.04 mg/dl; 95% CI: -33.00, -3.09; TG: -16.16 mg/dl; 95% CI: -31.42, -0.90; and LDL: -14.85 mg/dl; 95% CI: -26.31, -3.38). Probiotics significantly reduced TG by -25.34 mg/dl (95% CI: -46.42, -4.27) and LDL by -11.88 mg/dl (95% CI: -21.69, -2.08) when compared to a placebo. When treated with prebiotics for at least 12 weeks, the pooled outcomes showed that in adult patients with NAFLD, prebiotics could reduce TC by -16.04 mg/dl (95% CI: -32.03, -0.05), and LDL by -16.40 mg/dl (95% CI: -27.16, -5.63) compared to a placebo. Among the studies with treatment duration of less than 12 weeks, only synbiotics could significantly lower TC, TG, and LDL in patients with NAFLD when compared to a placebo. Other details are shown in Supplementary Appendix 17.

#### Fasting Blood Sugar [14 Studies]

The pooled outcomes showed that synbiotics were the only intervention that significantly lowered the FBS by -6.75 mg/dl (95% CI: -10.67, -2.84) in patients with NAFLD when compared to a placebo (**Figure 4G** and **Supplementary Appendix 9**). Nonetheless, when compared to another microbial therapy, synbiotics did not provide any additional favorable effect on FBS. The sensitivity analyses demonstrated that in both groups of cohorts treated with at least 12 weeks and less than 12 weeks of the interventions, synbiotics would still be the only treatment option that provided a significant effect, particularly when comparing their effect with a placebo in adults with NAFLD. Also regarding the sensitivity analysis, none of the interventions had an effect on FBS, specifically for patients with NASH. The magnitudes of effects are shown in **Supplementary Appendix 18**.

#### Homeostatic Model Assessment-Insulin Resistance [12 Studies]

Both main and sensitivity analyses showed that there was no significant difference in the HOMA-IR change in any pair of



the options; neither when compared with a placebo nor among interventions (Figure 4H and Supplementary Appendix 9). Further details can be found in Supplementary Appendix 19.

The rank-bar chart which illustrated SUCRA cumulative probabilities of all outcomes associated with synbiotics, probiotics, prebiotics, and placebo used in patients with NAFLD are illustrated in **Figure 5**.

# Network Consistency and Small-Study Effects

There was no evidence of any inconsistency in the results of our network meta-analysis. The results of the global-inconsistency assessment are shown in the **Supplementary Appendix 11**. The comparison-adjusted funnel plots revealed no evidence of smallstudy effects for AST, ALT, BMI, WC, TC, TG, FBS, and HOMA-IR, but there was evidence of small-study effects on LDL and HDL outcomes (**Supplementary Appendix 12**).

# DISCUSSION

This systematic review summarized the data from 26 RCTs by comparing the effects of synbiotics, probiotics, and prebiotics in 1,389 patients with NAFLD. Trials conducted in adult and pediatric patients were separately analyzed and reported.



The number of studies in pediatric patients was too small to draw any conclusion about the effect of probiotics on NAFLD. Additionally, network meta-analyses were performed to demonstrate the pooled outcomes related to NAFLD among adult patients. There was no evidence of inconsistency in our analysis. Thus, we compared the effects of synbiotics, probiotics, and prebiotics by using a consistency model. Our primary findings were that when compared to a placebo, all three interventions could significantly reduce AST and ALT. The effects of liver enzymes reduction in patients with NAFLD when microbial therapy was competed with one another was inconclusive. According to the results, there was no specific intervention that could be considered better than others. The sensitivity analyses showed similar effects. However, no study had investigated the effect of prebiotics on hepatic enzymes, particularly in patients with NASH. Interestingly, probiotics did provide a significantly superior ability to decrease ALT as compared to synbiotics among patients with biopsy-proven NASH.

The secondary outcomes showed that some interventions might improve WC, lipid profile (only TC, TG, and LDL), and FBS of patients with NAFLD. Synbiotics showed significant effects in most biomarkers including WC, TC, LDL, and FBS. Probiotics could lower only TG in adults with NAFLD. In addition, prebiotics provided the abilities of TC and LDL decrements. Neither of the interventions increased the HDL level of patients.

Regarding AST and ALT reductions, when sensitivity analyses were performed on studies which included only patients with biopsy-proven NASH, the significant results were only seen in synbiotics and probiotics. Furthermore, when sensitivity analyses were exclusively done in trials that examined the effects of interventions which were given at least a 12 week-duration, the microbial therapies significantly performed better than a placebo in most outcomes (i.e., AST, ALT, TC, TG, LDL, and FBS).

Our results are mostly consistent with those of previous studies (47-50) which have demonstrated a significant reduction of AST and ALT by microbial therapies in patients with NAFLD, though our systematic review and NMA included more upto-date RCTs with an overall larger sample size than previous meta-analyses. Five new RCTs were reported after the latest meta-analysis of the efficacy of microbiome-targeted therapies in NAFLD by Sharpton et al. (49) was published. A meta-analysis by Loman et al. (47) indicated that only prebiotics and probiotics, but not synbiotics, significantly decrease ALT in patients with NAFLD. The significant benefit of synbiotics in ALT modification was additionally seen in our present analysis. Moreover, Loman et al. demonstrated that all three microbial interventions could significantly decrease BMI in patients with NAFLD. However, our study showed that when incorporating indirect effects in the analysis, none of the interventions was considered to be an effective treatment for BMI reduction. Currently, the mechanism underlying NAFLD in human is not clearly known and varies with regard to the disease heterogeneity. However, one of the etiologic pathways that has been demonstrated in pre-clinical models is involved with gut microbiota (9-11).

This NMA has several strengths. First, we included both direct and indirect evidence of all comparisons relating to the interested outcomes. Second, we only included RCTs to compare the effects of synbiotics, probiotics, and prebiotics. Finally, sensitivity analyses were performed for every outcome associated with NAFLD. They were likely to yield similar results as those from the main analysis. This confirms the robustness of the study.

There were a few limitations in this study. First, the number of studies focusing on pediatric patients was too small to be pooled and to summarize the effects of microbial therapies on the interested outcomes. The sample size of adult patients was also relatively small for an NMA. Second, we did not explore the effect of each subtype of microbial therapy or the relative dose-response relationship, which may have affected the results. There were multiple types of microbial therapies and dosage recommendations. Furthermore, the dosage varied depending on a type of microbial therapy. We were not able to perform subgroup analyses due to a limited number of studies. However, according to results from the test of global inconsistency, they indicated no heterogeneity. Hence, we could infer that even if there were variations in type and dosage, the effect sizes and outcomes might be interpreted the same way as they were. On the other hand, these results should be able to apply in general. Third, most studies were considered to have at least moderate risk-of-bias. Three of which were considered high-risk-of-bias studies. Finally, our outcomes of interest were surrogate outcomes, such as liver-enzyme levels, which cannot exactly define the severity, prognosis, and treatment outcomes

of NAFLD. Moreover, it is important to remark that some patients may develop the disease through different pathways. Thus, the interventions may not provide good efficacy in every patient with NAFLD. Other numerous risk factors associated with NAFLD and its complications were reported, such as age, sex, ethnicity, genetic variants, comorbidities, sociocultural, and so on (9). This might lead to some difficulty of result interpretations when the data from various studies with a variety of enrolled patients were pooled together. However, these surrogate outcomes are important basic indicators that can primarily monitor status of the disease, and which should result in higher accessibility rates of early appropriate treatment for patients. Liver fibrosis is another unfavorable outcome in patients with NAFLD. Due to limited data, in this study, we did not examine the outcomes of interested interventions on liver fibrosis. In combination with other parameters, these indicators will help both the patients and clinicians make the best choices regarding treatment. Also, currently, there is no evidence pertaining to the adverse events of taking these agents. Nevertheless, we should always carefully consider every factor, including the potential benefits, risks, and costs, before deciding to use these agents.

# CONCLUSION

In conclusion, we found that synbiotics, probiotics, and prebiotics could significantly reduce hepatic enzymes of adult patients with NAFLD. However, the question of which microbial therapy provides the best effect on AST and ALT reduction is yet to be answered. The effect on other clinical parameters including WC, lipid profile, and FBS varied regarding types of microbial therapies. There was limited information about the efficacy of microbial therapy in pediatric patients with NAFLD.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

SK, CK, KL, MN, TS, NC, SS, and PP: study concept and design. SK, KL, MN, TS, and SS: acquisition of data. SK, CK, KL, MN, TS, and SS: analysis and interpretation of data. SK, CK, KL, MN, TS, SS, and PP: drafting of the manuscript. SK, CK, NC, SS, and PP: critical revision of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

This work was supported by a grant from the Unit of Excellence on Clinical Outcomes Research and IntegratioN (UNICORN) [Grant number: FF65-UoE005], School of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Phayao. The funding source had no role in the study design, collection, analysis, and interpretation of data.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the University of Phayao for its financial support of this research project. We are also grateful to Pongpol Nimitpunya

#### REFERENCES

- Younossi ZM, Koenig AB, Abdelatif D, Fazel Y, Henry L, Wymer M. Global epidemiology of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease-meta-analytic assessment of prevalence, incidence, and outcomes. *Hepatology*. (2016) 64:73–84.
- 2. Parlati L, Regnier M, Guillou H, Postic C. New targets for NAFLD. JHEP Rep. (2021) 3:100346.
- European Association for the Study of the Liver [EASL], European Association for the Study of Diabetes [EASD], European Association for the Study of Obesity [EASO]. EASL-EASD-EASO Clinical practice guidelines for the management of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *J Hepatol.* (2016) 64:1388– 402.
- Byrne C, Day C, Fitzmaurice D, McGill I, Moore K, Mullish B. Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease Assessment and Management. London: NICE (2016). p. 1–322. doi: 10.1002/9781118924938.ch1
- Chalasani N, Younossi Z, Lavine JE, Charlton M, Cusi K, Rinella M, et al. The diagnosis and management of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: practice guidance from the american association for the study of liver diseases. *Hepatology*. (2018) 67:328–57. doi: 10.1002/hep.29367
- National Guideline Centre [NGC]. National Institute for Health and Care Excellence: Guidance. Non-Alcoholic Fatty Liver Disease: Assessment and Management. London: National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (2016).
- Rosato V, Masarone M, Dallio M, Federico A, Aglitti A, Persico M. NAFLD and extra-hepatic comorbidities: current evidence on a multi-organ metabolic syndrome. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2019) 16:3415. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph16183415
- Madatali Abuwani A, Priyadarshini Dash S, Ganesan R, Renu K, Vellingiri B, Kandasamy S, et al. Gut microbiome and metabolic response in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Clin Chim Acta*. (2021) 523:304–14. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2021. 10.014
- Arrese M, Arab JP, Barrera F, Kaufmann B, Valenti L, Feldstein AE. Insights into nonalcoholic fatty-liver disease heterogeneity. *Semin Liver Dis.* (2021) 41:421–34. doi: 10.1055/s-0041-1730927
- Arslan N. Obesity, fatty liver disease and intestinal microbiota. World J Gastroenterol. (2014) 20:16452–63. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v20.i44. 16452
- Tarantino G, Citro V, Capone D. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a challenge from mechanisms to therapy. J Clin Med. (2019) 9:15. doi: 10.3390/ jcm9010015
- 12. Markowiak P, Slizewska K. Effects of probiotics, prebiotics, and synbiotics on human health. *Nutrients*. (2017) 9:1021. doi: 10.3390/nu9091021
- Saltzman ET, Palacios T, Thomsen M, Vitetta L. Intestinal microbiome shifts, dysbiosis, inflammation, and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *Front Microbiol.* (2018) 9:61. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.00061
- Hutton B, Salanti G, Caldwell DM, Chaimani A, Schmid CH, Cameron C, et al. The PRISMA extension statement for reporting of systematic reviews incorporating network meta-analyses of health care interventions: checklist and explanations. *Ann Intern Med.* (2015) 162:777–84. doi: 10.7326/M14-2385
- Furthner D, Weghuber D, Dalus C, Lukas A, Stundner-Ladenhauf HN, Mangge H, et al. Nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in children with obesity: narrative review and research gaps. *Horm Res Paediatr.* (2021):239–48. [Online ahead of print], doi: 10.1159/000518595

for validating the data, Miss Pinyapat Ariyakunaphan for coordinating the project, and Keith Fitzgerald for his linguistic editing and proofreading.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2022. 880014/full#supplementary-material

- Higgins JPT, Thomas J, Chandler J, Cumpston M, Li T, Page MJ, et al. Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions version 6.2 (updated February 2021). London: Cochrane (2021).
- Higgins J, Sterne J, Savoviæ J, Page MJ, Hróbjartsson A, Boutron I, et al. A revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomized trials. In: Chandler J, McKenzie J, Boutron I, Welch V editors. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews: Cochrane Methods*. London: Cochrane (2016).
- Kelley GA, Kelley KS. Statistical models for meta-analysis: a brief tutorial. World J Methodol. (2012) 2:27–32. doi: 10.5662/wjm.v2.i4.27
- 19. Lu G, Ades AE. Combination of direct and indirect evidence in mixed treatment comparisons. *Stat Med.* (2004) 23:3105–24.
- Rouse B, Chaimani A, Li T. Network meta-analysis: an introduction for clinicians. *Intern Emerg Med.* (2017) 12:103–11. doi: 10.1007/s11739-016-1583-7
- Aller R, De Luis DA, Izaola O, Conde R, Sagrado MG, Primo D, et al. Effect of a probiotic on liver aminotransferases in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease patients: a double blind randomized clinical trial. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci.* (2011) 15:1090–5.
- Malaguarnera M, Vacante M, Antic T, Giordano M, Chisari G, Acquaviva R, et al. Bifidobacterium longum with fructo-oligosaccharides in patients with non alcoholic steatoheapatitis. *Dig Dis Sci.* (2012) 57:545–53. doi: 10.1007/ s10620-011-1887-4
- Wong V, Wong GL, Chim AM, Chu WC, Yeung DK, Li KC, et al. Treatment of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis with probiotic. a proof-of-concept study. *Ann Hepatol.* (2013) 12:256–62. doi: 10.1016/s1665-2681(19)31364-x
- Eslamparast T, Poustchi H, Zamani F, Sharafkhah M, Malekzadeh R, Hekmatdoost A. Synbiotic supplementation in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a randomized, doubl-blind, placebo-controlled pilot study. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2014) 99:535–42.
- 25. Sepideh A, Karim P, Hossein A, Leila R, Hamdollah M, Mohammad EG, et al. Effects of multistrain probiotic supplementation on glycemic and inflammatory indices in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a double-blind randomized clinical trial. J Am Coll Nutr. (2016) 35:500–5. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2015.1031355
- Akbarzadeh Z, Nourian M, Askari G, Maracy MR. The effect of psyllium on body composition measurements and liver enzymes in overweight or obese adults with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD). *IJBR*. (2016) 7:1545–54.
- 27. Asgharian A, Askari G, Esmailzade A, Feizi A, Mohammadi V. The effect of symbiotic supplementation on liver enzymes, C-reactive protein and ultrasound findings in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a clinical trial. *Int J Prev Med.* (2016) 7:59. doi: 10.4103/2008-7802.178533
- Ekhlasi G, Kolahdouz Mohammadi R, Agah S, Zarrati M, Hosseini AF, Arabshahi SS, et al. Do symbiotic and Vitamin E supplementation have favorite effects in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease? A randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled trial. *J Res Med Sci.* (2016) 21:106. doi: 10.4103/1735-1995.193178
- Ferolla SM, Couto CA, Costa-Silva L, Armiliato G, Pereira C, Martins FS, et al. Beneficial effect of synbiotic supplementation on hepatic steatosis and anthropometric parameters, but not on gut permeability in a population with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Nutrients.* (2016) 8:1–20. doi: 10.3390/ nu8070397
- 30. Asgharian A, Mohammadi V, Gholi Z, Esmaillzade A, Feizi A, Askari G. The effect of synbiotic supplementation on body composition and lipid profile in

patients with NAFLD: a randomized, double blind, placebo-controlled clinical trial study. *Iran Red Crescent Med J.* (2017) 19. doi: 10.5812/ircmj.42902

- Behrouz V, Jazayeri S, Aryaeian N, Zahedi MK, Hosseini F. Effects of probiotic and prebiotic supplementation on leptin, adiponectin, and glycemic parameters in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a randomized clinical trial. *Middle East J Dig Dis.* (2017) 9:150–7. doi: 10.15171/mejdd.2017.66
- 32. Javadi L, Ghavami M, Khoshbaten M, Safaiyan A, Barzegari A, Gargari BP. The effect of probiotic and/or prebiotic on liver function tests in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a double blind randomized clinical trial. *Iran Red Crescent Med J.* (2017) 19:e46017.
- 33. Javadi L, Ghavami M, Khoshbaten M, Safaiyan A, Barzegari A, Gargari BP, et al. The potential role of probiotics or/and prebiotic on serum lipid profile and insulin resistance in alcoholic fatty liver disease: a double blind randomized clinical trial. *Crescent J Med Biol Sci.* (2017) 4:131–8.
- Manzhalii E, Virchenko O, Falalyeyeva T, Beregova T, Stremmel W. Treatment efficacy of a probiotic preparation for non-alcoholic steatohepatitis: a pilot trial. J Dig Dis. (2017) 18:698–703. doi: 10.1111/1751-2980.12561
- Mofidi F, Poustchi H, Yari Z, Nourinayyer B, Merat S, Sharafkhah M, et al. Synbiotic supplementation in lean patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a pilot, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, clinical trial. *Br J Nutr.* (2017) 117:662–8. doi: 10.1017/s0007114517000204
- Monem SMA. Probiotic therapy in patients nonalcoholic steatohepatitis in Zagazig university hospitals. *Euroasian J Hepatogastroenterol*. (2017) 7:101–6. doi: 10.5005/jp-journals-10018-1226
- Bakhshimoghaddam F, Shateri K, Sina M, Hashemian M, Alizadeh M. Daily consumption of synbiotic yogurt decreases liver steatosis in patients with nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a randomized controlled clinical trial. *J Nutr.* (2018) 148:1276–84. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxy088
- Ahn SB, Jun DW, Kang BK, Lim JH, Lim S, Chung MJ. Randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study of a multispecies probiotic mixture in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:5688. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-42059-3
- 39. Duseja A, Acharya SK, Mehta M, Chhabra S, Shalimar, Rana S, et al. High potency multistrain probiotic improves liver histology in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD): a randomised, double-blind, proof of concept study. *BMJ Open Gastroenterol.* (2019) 6:e000315. doi: 10.1136/bmjgast-2019-000315
- Abhari K, Saadati S, Yari Z, Hosseini H, Hedayati M, Abhari S, et al. The effects of Bacillus coagulans supplementation in patients with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: a randomized, placebo-controlled, clinical trial. *Clin Nutr ESPEN*. (2020) 39:53–60. doi: 10.1016/j.clnesp.2020.06.020
- Behrouz V, Aryaeian N, Zahedi MJ, Jazayeri S. Effects of probiotic and prebiotic supplementation on metabolic parameters, liver aminotransferases, and systemic inflammation in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a randomized clinical trial. J Food Sci. (2020) 85:3611–7. doi: 10.1111/1750-3841.1 5367
- 42. Chong PL, Laight D, Aspinall RJ, Higginson A, Cummings MH. A randomised placebo controlled trial of VSL#3((R)) probiotic on biomarkers of

cardiovascular risk and liver injury in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. *BMC Gastroenterol.* (2021) 21:144. doi: 10.1186/s12876-021-01660-5

- Vajro P, Mandato C, Licenziati MR, Franzese A, Vitale DF, Lenta S, et al. Effects of Lactobacillus rhamnosus strain GG in pediatric obesity-related liver disease. *JPGN*. (2011) 52:740–3. doi: 10.1097/MPG.0b013e31821f9b85
- 44. Alisi A, Bedogni G, Baviera G, Giorgio V, Porro E, Paris C, et al. Randomised clinical trial: the beneficial effects of VSL#3 in obese children with nonalcoholic steatohepatitis. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* (2014) 39:1276–85.
- Miccheli A, Capuani G, Marini F, Tomassini A, Pratico G, Ceccarelli S, et al. Urinary 1H-NMR- based metabolic profiling of children with NAFLD undergoing VSL#3 treatment. *Int J Obes.* (2015) 39:1118–25. doi: 10.1038/ijo. 2015.40
- Famouri F, Shariat Z, Hashemipour M, Keikha M, Kelishadi R. Effect of probiotics on nonalcoholic fatty liver disease in obese children and adolescents. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. (2017) 64:413–7. doi: 10.1097/mpg. 000000000001422
- Loman BR, Hernández-Saavedra D, An R, Rector RS. Prebiotic and probiotic treatment of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Nutr Rev.* (2018) 76:822–39. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nuy031
- Ma YY, Li L, Yu CH, Shen Z, Chen LH, Li YM. Effects of probiotics on nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a meta-analysis. World J Gastroenterol. (2013) 19:6911–8. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v19.i40.6911
- Sharpton SR, Maraj B, Harding-Theobald E, Vittinghoff E, Terrault NA. Gut microbiome-targeted therapies in nonalcoholic fatty liver disease: a systematic review, meta-analysis, and meta-regression. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2019) 110:139– 49. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqz042
- Xiaolin G, Yu Z, Yang W, Guanjian L, Chaomin W. Efficacy of probiotics in non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in adult and children: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Hepatol Res.* (2016) 46:1226–33. doi: 10.1111/ hepr.12671

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Kanchanasurakit, Kositamongkol, Lanoi, Nunta, Saetuan, Chaiyakunapruk, Saokaew and Phisalprapa. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Effects of Oral Multi-Vitamin Multi-Mineral Supplement Formulations on Laboratory Outcomes and Quality of Life: A Quasi-Experimental Study

Nawin Jittat<sup>1</sup>, Krit Pongpirul<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>, Bhakanij Tepwituksakit<sup>1</sup>, Pratchayada lammaleerat<sup>4</sup>, Julia Heath<sup>3</sup>, Palita Lungchukiet<sup>1</sup>, Nimit Taechakraichana<sup>1</sup> and Artirat Charukitpipat<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Bumrungrad International Hospital, Bangkok, Thailand, <sup>2</sup> Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkom University, Bangkok, Thailand, <sup>3</sup> Johns Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health, Baltimore, MD, United States, <sup>4</sup> Asia Global Research Co., Ltd., Bangkok, Thailand

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Surasak Saokaew, University of Phayao, Thailand

#### Reviewed by:

Oraluck Pattanaprateep, Mahidol University, Thailand Adinat Umnuaypomlert, University of Phayao, Thailand lain Hargreaves, University of Liverpool, United Kingdom

> \*Correspondence: Krit Pongpirul doctorkrit@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 04 March 2022 Accepted: 19 May 2022 Published: 27 June 2022

#### Citation:

Jittat N, Pongpirul K, Tepwituksakit B, lammaleerat P, Heath J, Lungchukiet P, Taechakraichana N and Charukitpipat A (2022) Effects of Oral Multi-Vitamin Multi-Mineral Supplement Formulations on Laboratory Outcomes and Quality of Life: A Quasi-Experimental Study. Front. Nutr. 9:889910. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.889910 **Background:** Multi-vitamin multi-mineral (MVMM) products often come in several singlesubstance capsules from different manufacturers. However, attempts to mix several vitamins and minerals into one MVMM product have been complicated and often involve legal concerns. This study aimed to comparatively investigate the changes in laboratory parameters and the quality of life (QOL) among individuals who received different MVMM formulations.

**Methods:** This three-arm non-randomized controlled trial was conducted at VitalLife Scientific Wellness Center (VSWC), Bangkok, Thailand. A total of 72 healthy adult individuals with total serum 25-(OH)D level of 20–29 ng/ml were invited to choose from the three available options, namely, (1) Hydro-Cell-Key (HCK<sup>®</sup>, Hepart AG, Switzerland) contains vitamin D3 2,000 IU, vitamin C 1,000 mg, vitamin E 166 mg, vitamin A 1 mg, coenzyme Q10 30 mg, natural carotenoids 8 mg, and citrus flavonoids 200 mg in granule formulation; (2) VTL-7 (VWSC) contains similar vitamins and minerals but in capsule formulation; and (3) placebo capsule (no supplement). The 36-Item Short-Form Health Survey (SF-36) was used to measure QOL at baseline, month 3 and 6. A generalized estimating equation (GEE) was used to compare the repeated-measure outcomes across the three groups. This study was registered at the Thai Clinical Trial Registration (TCTR20190205002) and approved by the Bumrungrad International Institutional Review Board (BI-IRB No.258-10-18PhFub).

**Results:** Both VTL-7 and HCK saw a significantly higher increase in vitamin D than placebo at months 3 and 6, i.e., VTL-7 from  $25.15 \pm 2.13$  to  $35.53 \pm 6.11$  (p < 0.001) and  $33.38 \pm 6.89$  (p < 0.001); HCK from  $24.25 \pm 3.08$  to  $28.43 \pm 5.93$  (p = 0.005) and  $27.40 \pm 5.24$  (p = 0.012); and placebo from  $24.00 \pm 2.73$  to  $23.05 \pm 4.39$  (p = 0.273) and  $22.30 \pm 6.23$  (p = 0.200), respectively. Similarly,  $\beta$ -carotenoids of VTL-7 vs. HCK groups significantly increased from  $0.88 \pm 0.68$  vs.  $0.94 \pm 0.55$  at baseline to  $3.03 \pm 1.79$  (p < 0.001) vs.  $1.09 \pm 0.61$  (p = 0.125) and  $3.26 \pm 1.74$  (p < 0.001) vs.  $1.15 \pm 0.66$  (p = 0.064), respectively. These findings were corroborated through the GEE analysis.

Other micronutrients at months 3 and 6 did not increase significantly from baseline in any group. The overall QOL among the three groups in terms of physical (p = 0.560) and mental (p = 0.750) health increased but was not statistically significant.

**Conclusion:** The supplements of MVMM in capsule formulation increased the serum levels of some micronutrients to a higher extent than that of granule formulation. Participant adherence remains a potential confounder and should be further explored.

Clinical Trial Registration: identifier: TCTR20190205002.

Keywords: multi-vitamin supplement, quality of life, drug formulations, quasi-experiment design, multi-mineral supplement

# BACKGROUND

The human diet requires both macronutrients, including carbohydrates, proteins, and fats, and micronutrients, such as vitamins and minerals. While macronutrients provide the main source of calories, micronutrients are required for developmental processes. Even though they are only required in a small amount, they have a profound impact on health and are vital to body development, disease prevention, immune function, tissue regeneration, and optimizing health (1, 2).

Micronutrient supplementation has gained popularity among individuals who want to ensure and maintain their health and wellness. Consumed by 50% of adults and one-third of children in economically advanced economies, the dietary supplement business is worth more than US\$100 billion annually (3). According to the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) collected between 1999 and 2014, the prevalence of any supplement use has significantly increased from 52 to 58%, whereas that of vitamin and mineral use has increased from 47 to 52% and from 47 to 51%, respectively (4). The trend of any supplement use varied by age, sex, race/ethnicity, or education but not by diabetes duration or comorbidities associated with diabetes. During 2017-2018, 57.6% of adults of at least 20 years of age reported that they had taken a dietary supplement within the past 30 days; individuals with a higher family income were more likely to consume a dietary supplement than those with a lower family income (4). Furthermore, women were significantly more likely than men to use a dietary supplement overall (63.8 vs. 50.8%) (4).

In contrast to mono-substance supplements, supplementation of multiple vitamins and minerals has significantly decreased from 36 to 32%, largely because micronutrient supplements are often manufactured in numerous single-substance capsules, which can decrease compliance. Multi-vitamin multi-mineral (MVMM) supplements, which contain numerous vitamins and minerals within one single-substance capsule, alleviate the issue of non-compliance by making it easier for consumers to supplement with multiple vitamins and minerals. However, attempts to mix several vitamins and minerals into one MVMM product have been both legally and technically complicated. Each MVMM "recipe" must be registered with the national authority of the country, such as the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) (5). Furthermore, product variation of available MVMM

supplements, including varying product formulations, has led to limited evidence on the efficacy of different forms of MVMM supplements. It has been suggested that different MVMM formulations could also impact the degree of nutrient absorption in the body. There is some evidence to suggest that vitamin D buccal spray, for instance, has higher absorption than soft gel capsules (6). However, the lack of evidence looking at the formulation of MVMM supplementation and its effects on laboratory parameters makes it difficult to understand the extent to which MVMM formulation impacts its efficacy. Thus, the objective of this study is to comparatively investigate the effectiveness of different formulations of combined MVMM products, specifically Hydro-Cell-Key (HCK) granules vs. VTL-7 capsules, and their impacts on certain laboratory parameters, including serum micronutrient levels and quality of life (QOL) (focusing on the vitality domain).

A hospital with a qualified production facility might procure raw substances and produce an MVMM product that does not require FDA approval for in-house use. With this in mind, Vital-Life Scientific Wellness Center (VSWC), i.e., a medical anti-aging and wellness center in Bangkok, Thailand, developed an in-house personalized vital-life (VTL-7) MVMM capsules. As several patients preferred fewer capsules per day, along with an absorption concern, VSWC considered switching from capsule to granule formulation. To compare the efficacy of a similar MVMM product in granule formulation, the HCK<sup>®</sup>, i.e., MVMM granules of the Hepart AG Switzerland group, was included in the study. The HCK granule contains vitamin D3, vitamin C, vitamin E, vitamin A, coenzyme Q10, carotenoids, and flavonoids; hence, it was determined to be one of the best available candidates in comparison with the VTL-7 capsules. Built into a plant hydrocolloid matrix, the vitamins and minerals in granules are released in the intestines through the colloid film formed by the colloidal system after ingestion. This process mimics the absorption of micronutrients from natural fruits and vegetables, resulting in optimal nutrient distribution throughout the body, along with prolonged absorption over several hours, prevention of disturbances, and antagonism of various micronutrients. However, the formation of a dry granulation requires many more steps than capsule formulation.

The clinical efficacy (i.e., serum level of the micronutrients) of the original  $HCK^{(\mathbb{R})}$  granules has been anticipated to be higher than conventional capsule formulation; however,



there has been no comparative evidence of the changes in blood vitamins and minerals between the two products. As previously mentioned, product formulation could affect not only individual compliance but also laboratory changes. Thus, the methods used to examine both the effects of MVMM supplementation and the relationship between MVMM product formulation on laboratory parameters and QOL are presented in this study.

# METHODS

# **Study Design and Setting**

This three-arm non-randomized controlled trial was conducted at VSWC, a medical anti-aging and wellness center, focusing on promoting good health and preventing illness and chronic diseases. It is a subsidiary company of Bumrungrad International Hospital Public Company Limited, i.e., one of the largest international hospitals for medical tourism located in Bangkok, Thailand.

# **Participants**

A total of 72 healthy adult individuals with insufficient levels of total serum 25-(OH)D level (20–29 ng/ml) were invited to participate in this study. Individuals with poorly controlled blood pressure, impaired kidney function (eGFR < 30 ml/min/1.73 m<sup>2</sup>), pregnancy, malabsorption, bowel surgery, and currently on medications or supplements that might affect the levels of vitamins were excluded from this study. Individuals who have underlying diseases that require vitamin D treatment (i.e., osteoporosis and hyperparathyroidism) or those who have a deficient level of total serum 25-(OH)D level (<20 ng/ml) were also excluded. As carotenoids could increase the risk of lung cancer (7), current and former smokers were also excluded.

	Overall	HCK	VTL-7	Placebo	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	$35.06 \pm 8.47$	$37.64 \pm 10.04$	36.14 ± 7.09	$31.41 \pm 6.99$	0.037
Women	83.30%	77.30%	77.30%	95.50%	0.175
Systolic BP (mm Hg)	$109.14 \pm 11.24$	$109.95 \pm 11.39$	$111.64 \pm 12.34$	$105.82 \pm 9.51$	0.212
Diastolic BP (mm Hg)	$70.62 \pm 8.72$	$71.27\pm9.38$	$71.05\pm9.73$	$69.55 \pm 7.15$	0.780
Pulse rate	$76.45 \pm 14.28$	$71.77 \pm 10.55$	$76.50 \pm 11.12$	$81.09 \pm 18.73$	0.095
Body temperature (°C)	$36.75 \pm 0.28$	$36.69 \pm 0.18$	$36.90\pm0.35$	$36.67 \pm 0.24$	0.120
Body weight (kg)	$58.27 \pm 11.26$	$58.12 \pm 10.90$	$58.08 \pm 13.16$	$58.60 \pm 10.03$	0.986
BMI	$22.51 \pm 3.57$	$21.95 \pm 3.39$	$22.54 \pm 3.75$	$23.05 \pm 3.62$	0.601

#### TABLE 1 | Characteristics of the participants.

#### **Supplements**

Participants were assigned to one of the three groups (**Figure 1**), namely,  $HCK^{(\mathbb{R})}$  (Hepart AG, Switzerland), VTL-7 (VSWC, Thailand), and placebo group (no supplement). The two study groups have similar micronutrient compositions, namely, vitamin D3 2,000 IU, vitamin C 1,000 mg, vitamin E 166 mg, vitamin A 1 mg, coenzyme Q10 30 mg, natural carotenoids 8 mg, and citrus flavonoids 200 mg; HCK was prepared in granules, while VTL-7 was the capsule formulation of the HCK product. The placebo group was used to allow for a comparison of the effects of each MVMM formulation on specified lab parameters and QOL vs. no supplementation, in addition to providing comparative evidence between the two products. Diet counseling was not included for any group as a part of this trial.

#### **Outcomes**

Primary outcomes (blood levels of the six micronutrients) and secondary outcomes (hs-CRP, homocysteine, lipid profile, ESR, CD4, CD8, and QOL) were measured at baseline, month 3, and 6. Although previous studies have found micronutrient supplementation to have a positive impact on overall mood and QOL, the 36-Items Short Form Health Survey (SF-36) was used to determine if different MVMM formulations impact the QOL in different ways (10–14). Circulatory cholesterol, lipoproteins, and homocysteine were also included as secondary outcomes since MVMM supplementation has been previously found to impact cholesterol levels and decrease homocysteine levels in certain populations (12, 18).

#### Sample Size

Previous trials suggest that a weekly supplementation of 50,000 IU cholecalciferol for 12 weeks resulted in an increase of 25-(OH)D (8). Given the differences in 25-(OH)D levels between the intervention and placebo control groups of 7.90 ng/ml and a pooled standard deviation of 7.85 ng/ml, an alpha SD of 0.05%, and a beta SD of 0.20, approximately 16 subjects were required per arm. Assuming a conservative dropout rate of 30%, 22 subjects were anticipated for each arm of this study.

#### **Statistical Methods**

Descriptive statistics (mean, standard deviation, and percentage) were used for demographic variables. The analysis of variance (ANOVA) and generalized estimating equation (GEE) were used

to compare the changes in cross-sectional and longitudinal laboratory outcomes between the three groups, respectively. No subgroup analysis was performed. The data were analyzed based mainly on the intention to treat (ITT) principle, whereas per-protocol (PP) analysis was also performed to ensure the robustness of the analysis. In case of discrepant findings from both approaches, the ITT analysis was chosen.

# **Trial Registration and Ethical Approval**

This study was registered at the Thai Clinical Trial Registration (Registration No. TCTR20190205002) and approved by the Bumrungrad International Institutional Review Board (BI-IRB No. 258-10-18PhFub). All participants provided written informed consent.

# RESULTS

#### **Characteristics of the Participants**

The age of the participants was  $35.06 \pm 8.47$  years, 83.3% were women, and the BMI of the participants was  $22.51 \pm 3.57$  (**Table 1**). While almost all the characteristics of the participants were not significantly different across the three groups, the placebo control group was significantly younger than the intervention groups (p = 0.037). The baseline micronutrient and biomarker levels were comparable across the three groups (**Table 2** and **Figures 1**, **2**).

#### **Primary Outcomes**

Vitamin D and  $\beta$ -carotenoids levels increased in all three groups (**Figure 2**). Both VTL-7 and HCK observed a significantly higher increase in vitamin D than placebo, i.e., VTL-7 from 25.15 ± 2.13 to 35.53 ± 6.11 at month 3 (p < 0.001) and 33.38 ± 6.89 at month 6 (p < 0.001); HCK from 24.25 ± 3.08 to 28.43 ± 5.93 at month 3 (p = 0.005) and 27.40 ± 5.24 at month 6 (p = 0.012); and placebo from 24.00 ± 2.73 to 23.05 ± 4.39 at month 3 (p = 0.273) and 22.30 ± 6.23 at month 6 (p = 0.200). Similarly,  $\beta$ -carotenoids of VTL-7 vs. HCK groups significantly increased from 0.88 ± 0.68 vs. 0.94 ± 0.55 at baseline to 3.03 ± 1.79 (p < 0.001) vs. 1.09 ± 0.61 (p = 0.125) at month 3 and 3.26 ± 1.74 (p < 0.001) vs. 1.15 ± 0.66 (p = 0.064) at month 6, respectively. GEE analysis revealed a significantly higher increase in vitamin D (p < 0.001) and  $\beta$ -carotenoids (p < 0.001) in VTL-7 (capsule formulation) than HCK (granule formulation), both

#### TABLE 2 | Laboratory outcomes and quality of life at baseline, month 3 and 6.

	Overall	НСК	VTL-7	Placebo	p-value*
Primary outcomes					
Vitamin D (ng/mL)					
Month 0	24.47 ±2.68	24.25 ± 3.08	25.15 ±2.13	24.00 ±2.73	0.325
Month 3	28.90 ±7.47	28.43 ± 5.93	35.53 ±6.11	23.05 ±4.39	<0.001
Month 6	27.61 ±7.60	27.40 ± 5.24	33.38 ± 6.89	22.30 ± 6.23	<0.001
Vitamin C (µmol/L)					
Month 0	88.99 ±32.52	86.20 ± 28.35	87.71 ±35.48	93.07 ±34.40	0.768
Month 3	110.96 ±24.62	113.22 ± 25.84	117.71 ±21.93	102.25 ±24.31	0.103
Month 6	120.24 ±35.82	123.62 ±37.45	126.74 ±36.36	110.82 ±33.29	0.306
Vitamin E (mg/L)					
Month 0	30.33 ±7.86	32.45 ± 10.76	29.11 ±5.81	29.42 ±5.86	0.300
Month 3	34.58 ± 12.39	41.60 ± 16.35	31.89 ±7.85	30.13 ±7.89	0.003
Month 6	36.07 ±9.50	28.60 ± 5.35	29.02 ±7.90	31.19 ±8.39	0.004
Vitamin A (μmol/L)					
Month 0	1.90 ±0.53	$2.05 \pm 0.67$	1.82 ±0.52	1.83 ±0.35	0.283
Month 3	1.86 ±0.53	2.08 ±0.64	1.82 ±0.49	1.66 ±0.33	0.026
Month 6	1.71 ±0.46	$1.85 \pm 0.52$	1.68 ±0.48	1.62 ±0.34	0.230
α-Carotenoid (μmol/L)					
Month 0	0.25 ±0.20	0.27 ±0.15	0.24 ±0.24	0.25 ±0.20	0.895
Month 3	0.27 ±0.24	$0.39 \pm 0.32$	0.20 ±0.17	0.21 ±0.13	0.011
Month 6	0.22 ±0.20	$0.31 \pm 0.25$	0.20 ±0.19	0.16 ±0.10	0.024
β-Carotenoid (μmol/L)					
Month 0	$0.89 \pm 0.55$	$0.94 \pm 0.55$	$0.88 \pm 0.68$	0.84 ±0.43	0.823
Month 3	1.67 ±1.44	1.09 ±0.61	3.03 ±1.79	0.95 ±0.44	<0.001
Month 6	1.76 ±1.52	1.15 ±0.66	3.26 ±1.74	0.93 ±0.52	<0.001
Co-Q10 (μmol/L)					
Month 0	1.61 ±0.75	1.71 ±0.89	1.55 ±0.85	1.57 ±0.48	0.765
Month 3	1.89 ±0.96	2.15 ±1.21	1.98 ±0.94	1.55 ±0.59	0.107
Month 6	1.73 ±0.71	1.96 ±0.72	1.67 ±0.65	1.57 ±0.74	0.181
Secondary outcomes					
hs-CRP (mg/L)					
Month 0	0.28 ±0.60	0.25 ±0.79	0.20 ±0.33	0.40 ±0.60	0.522
Month 3	$0.19 \pm 0.30$	0.15 ±0.15	0.16 ±0.28	0.24 ±0.43	0.559
Month 6	0.22 ±0.37	0.18 ±0.23	0.23 ±0.39	0.25 ±0.46	0.848
Homocysteine (µmol/L)					
Month 0	8.86 ± 2.27	9.01 ±2.20	8.99 ±2.39	8.60 ±2.29	0.800
Month 3	8.67 ±2.20	8.34 ±2.13	9.15 ±2.10	8.53 ±2.38	0.466
Month 6	8.43 ±2.02	8.09 ±1.65	9.00 ±2.31	8.20 ±2.01	0.285
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)					
Month 0	202.22 ±31.16	213.09 ±34.34	190.44 ±28.90	203.13 ±26.85	0.052
Month 3	204.08 ± 28.68	201.38 ± 26.71	200.41 ±27.55	210.30 ±31.76	0.463
Month 6	200.54 ± 33.92	193.93 ±31.14	194.59 ±26.72	212.52 ±40.22	0.123
Triglyceride (mg/dL)					
Month 0	97.23 ± 98.27	125.57 ± 160.99	79.26 ±40.06	86.85 ± 32.82	0.248
Month 3	99.39 ±61.45	126.99 ±84.85	77.96 ±32.59	92.25 ±44.56	0.024
Month 6	81.93 ± 34.84	87.25 ±23.12	70.27 ±32.81	87.98 ± 43.64	0.174
HDL (mg/dL)		-			
Month 0	60.44 ± 14.26	61.04 ± 10.50	60.66 ± 18.44	59.61 ± 13.33	0.944
Month 3	$59.16 \pm 13.31$	58.01 ± 10.32	60.42 ± 16.68	59.10 ± 12.85	0.843
Month 6	$57.70 \pm 14.32$	54.83 ± 12.21	58.84 ± 15.27	$59.34 \pm 15.45$	0.539

(Continued)

#### TABLE 2 | Continued

	Overall	HCK	VTL-7	Placebo	p-value
LDL (mg/dL)					
Month 0	125.30 ±26.37	129.80 ±28.14	117.80 ±25.27	128.29 ±25.17	0.262
Month 3	126.58 ±27.70	123.13 ±27.06	124.40 ±25.68	132.12 ±30.49	0.517
Month 6	123.33 ± 32.56	121.39 ±31.67	115.09 ±35.58	133.05 ±29.11	0.186
LDL (Oxidized) (U/L)					
Month 0	38.89 ±11.30	41.32 ± 14.10	36.55 ± 10.69	38.82 ± 8.38	0.380
Month 3	44.28 ± 14.10	44.18 ± 13.56	45.90 ± 15.56	42.82 ± 13.67	0.778
Month 6	39.50 ±14.46	36.71 ± 12.92	37.95 ± 16.52	43.64 ± 13.42	0.247
ESR (mm/hr)					
Month 0	22.64 ±14.24	20.64 ± 10.89	21.45 ±14.85	25.82 ±16.50	0.438
Month 3	21.11 ± 13.96	17.77 ±8.26	20.10 ± 15.80	25.41 ±16.00	0.179
Month 6	20.41 ± 13.64	18.67 ± 10.53	18.05 ± 12.85	24.32 ±16.46	0.253
CD4 (cells/mm <sup>3</sup> )					
Month 0	772.92 ±236.59	790.95 ±270.73	812.73 ±171.79	715.09 ±254.85	0.362
Month 3	808.77 ±244.93	813.36 ±242.67	836.71 ±219.77	777.50 ±275.89	0.732
Month 6	787.25 ±232.78	751.90 ±217.81	788.48 ±219.61	819.82 ±262.84	0.639
CD8 (cells/mm <sup>3</sup> )					
Month 0	552.20 ±201.81	560.86 ± 158.28	588.05 ±215.45	507.68 ±226.04	0.412
Month 3	552.62 ± 202.54	552.77 ± 197.89	589.29 ±216.07	517.45 ± 196.86	0.516
Month 6	546.94 ±200.19	$509.71 \pm 169.50$	$565.14 \pm 223.15$	$565.09 \pm 208.28$	0.590
CD4/CD8					
Month 0	$1.69 \pm 1.41$	$1.91 \pm 2.32$	1.54 ±0.63	1.62 ±0.50	0.659
Month 3	$1.56 \pm 0.53$	$1.57 \pm 0.52$	$1.56 \pm 0.64$	$1.56 \pm 0.43$	0.998
Month 6	$1.56 \pm 0.52$	$1.55 \pm 0.64$	$1.51 \pm 0.39$	$1.54 \pm 0.51$	0.938
Quality of life					
Physical outcomes					
Month 0	75.63 ±14.30	75.72 ± 13.91	72.57 ± 15.57	78.60 ± 13.33	0.382
Month 3	80.69 ± 14.00	$83.76 \pm 13.74$	81.54 ± 12.18	$76.80 \pm 15.50$	0.246
Month 6	81.66 ± 13.19	85.46 ± 9.76	84.23 ±11.50	$75.58 \pm 15.66$	0.025
Physical functioning					
Month 0	77.12 ±20.44	79.32 ± 16.35	68.64 ±23.31	83.41 ± 18.99	0.044
Month 3	82.46 ± 15.89	$88.64 \pm 12.36$	$82.38 \pm 15.78$	$76.36 \pm 17.33$	0.035
Month 6	86.17 ± 16.49	92.14 ± 9.43	87.14 ± 15.21	$79.55 \pm 20.70$	0.039
Physical role functioning			01111 ± 10121	10100 120110	
Month 0	88.07 ± 17.12	86.08 ± 19.95	86.08 ± 18.49	92.05 ±11.92	0.417
Month 3	$90.00 \pm 16.75$	$90.34 \pm 15.64$	94.94 ± 9.40	84.94 ±21.79	0.147
Month 6	$91.21 \pm 13.53$	$90.77 \pm 12.12$	$95.54 \pm 8.65$	$87.50 \pm 17.47$	0.148
Body pain	01.21 ± 10.00	00.11 ± 12.12	00.01 ±0.00	01.00 ± 11.11	0.110
Month 0	76.67 ±21.06	75.00 ±21.77	77.61 ±20.81	77.39 ±21.48	0.904
Month 3	81.04 ±20.55	80.80 ±22.89	$79.76 \pm 19.90$	$82.50 \pm 19.53$	0.910
Month 6	$77.50 \pm 21.38$	82.14 ± 19.63	$79.05 \pm 18.90$	$71.59 \pm 24.56$	0.252
General health perception	11.00 ±21.00	02.11 ± 10.00	10.00 ± 10.00	11.00 ±21.00	0.202
Month 0	60.67 ± 18.29	62.50 ±21.17	57.95 ± 16.57	61.55 ± 17.34	0.692
Month 3	$69.26 \pm 17.64$	$75.27 \pm 13.92$	$69.10 \pm 16.02$	$63.41 \pm 20.88$	0.081
Month 6	$71.75 \pm 16.76$	$76.76 \pm 15.77$	$75.19 \pm 15.46$	$63.68 \pm 16.53$	0.0017
Mental outcomes	11.10 ± 10.10	10.10 ± 10.11	10.10 ± 10.40	00.00 ± 10.00	0.017
Month 0	71.99 ± 15.17	72.41 ± 16.66	69.98 ± 13.85	73.58 ± 15.35	0.730
Month 3	$76.21 \pm 13.15$	$77.20 \pm 14.42$	$76.85 \pm 11.81$	$73.38 \pm 13.33$ 74.63 ± 13.49	0.788
Month 6	$70.21 \pm 13.13$ 77.80 ± 11.43	$79.51 \pm 12.36$	$80.42 \pm 10.85$	$73.67 \pm 10.35$	0.108
Vitality	11.00 ± 11.43	10.01 ± 12.00	00.42 ± 10.00	10.01 ± 10.00	0.108
Month 0	57.48 ± 16.92	58.24 ± 18.84	56.53 ±14.62	57.67 ±17.78	0.945

(Continued)

#### TABLE 2 | Continued

	Overall	HCK	VTL-7	Placebo	p-value*
Month 3	64.04 ± 15.78	66.48 ± 15.36	65.48 ±15.64	60.23 ±16.31	0.377
Month 6	$68.55 \pm 15.31$	71.13 ±17.51	$69.05 \pm 15.99$	$65.63 \pm 12.31$	0.498
Social role functioning					
Month 0	$77.65 \pm 19.05$	$76.70 \pm 22.59$	76.70 ±17.80	$79.55 \pm 17.05$	0.854
Month 3	80.77 ±17.41	84.66 ± 17.22	$78.57 \pm 19.02$	$78.98 \pm 16.08$	0.441
Month 6	$81.05 \pm 15.59$	$83.33 \pm 13.88$	$84.52 \pm 18.50$	75.57 ±13.07	0.121
Role emotional					
Month 0	$86.62 \pm 19.66$	$85.61 \pm 19.28$	$83.71 \pm 20.49$	$90.53 \pm 19.47$	0.501
Month 3	$88.59 \pm 17.53$	$83.33 \pm 19.42$	$91.67 \pm 14.91$	$90.91 \pm 17.43$	0.225
Month 6	$88.93 \pm 15.00$	$88.10 \pm 15.94$	$95.24 \pm 10.06$	$83.71 \pm 16.36$	0.037
Mental health					
Month 0	$66.21 \pm 16.24$	$69.09 \pm 17.50$	$62.95 \pm 14.20$	$66.59 \pm 17.00$	0.459
Month 3	$71.46 \pm 15.43$	$74.32 \pm 16.71$	71.67 ±12.97	$68.41 \pm 16.36$	0.452
Month 6	72.66 ± 14.42	75.48 ±17.39	72.86 ±11.68	69.77 ±13.76	0.437

\*Analysis of variance.

Bold values indicate outcome values that were statistically significant, with a p-value < 0.05.

of which were significantly higher than the control groups (p < 0.001). Vitamin C, vitamin E, vitamin A,  $\alpha$ -carotenoid, and coenzyme Q10 at months 3 and 6 did not increase significantly from baseline in any of the three groups.

#### **Secondary Outcomes**

All of the secondary laboratory outcomes (hs-CRP, homocysteine, lipid profile, ESR, CD4, and CD8) and QOL did not increase significantly from baseline in any of the three groups (**Figure 3**). The overall QOL among the three groups in terms of physical health (p = 0.560) and mental health (p = 0.750) has increased but is not statistically significant.

# DISCUSSION

Absorption of micronutrients could be affected by several factors such as variants of genetic polymorphisms, underlying health conditions, diet, exercise, smoking, alcohol consumption, age, and form of supplements (9). This quasi-experimental study revealed a comparably significant increase in serum levels of two out of the six micronutrients that were provided to the participants as supplements in two different oral formulations. The significant increase in only two out of the six micronutrients could be due to various reasons, including dose intake of these nutrients or individual absorption capabilities. Further and longer studies are needed to assess the reasoning behind a lack of significant increase among the other four micronutrients observed in this study.

The difference in laboratory results (vitamin D and beta carotene levels) between the study groups could be since vitamin D and beta carotenoid differed between the two products' formulations, representing two common types of Solid Oral Dosage Form (SODF). Some key differences among the differently formulated micronutrients include variations in the physicochemical state of the vitamin D (molecular forms,

potency, and their physiological linkages), the complexity of the food matrix (the amount and type of fatty acids, dietary fibers, and presence/absence of vitamin D enhancer and inhibitor), and its interaction of other fat-soluble compounds with vitamin D, as well as the host-associated factors (e.g., age, disease, surgery, obesity, and genetic variation) (10). The homeostasis of vitamin C is influenced by several factors, including genetic polymorphisms and environmental and lifestyle factors, such as smoking and diet, as well as the presence of diseases (11). Excessive chronic alcohol intake is generally associated with vitamin deficiency (especially folate, thiamine, and vitamin B6) due to malnutrition, malabsorption, and ethanol toxicity. The effects of moderate alcohol use are mainly explained by a lower vitamin intake. In the case of vitamin A and beta-carotene, the effects on post-absorptive (lipoprotein) metabolism have been demonstrated (12).

Besides the effects of vitamins and minerals on blood biomarkers, previous studies showed that supplementation of multivitamin and mineral preparations has beneficial effects on mood and stress (13–15). In addition, the association between serum level of vitamin D and self-rated health in healthy male workers was observed (16). Moreover, results from a previous study revealed that elderly participants with poor physical health status assessed by the SF-36 exhibit lower alphatocopherol blood concentrations (17). The formulation type of the MVMM supplement used differed with each study but included both capsule and granule formulations. None of these studies, however, looked at the difference between MVMM formulation and its effect on the QOL. Nonetheless, our findings did not suggest that supplementation of vitamins and minerals may improve the QOL.

We observed that the participants who preferred no supplement were younger than the study groups. Previous studies revealed that supplement use increased with age, with 72% of adults of 65 years or older of age reporting



an increased use compared with 40% of adults of 20–39 years of age (18). Several lifestyle and behavioral factors were associated with relatively less herb and dietary supplement use in young adults (19) for various reasons. First, they might prefer improving their diet and lifestyle rather than taking an oral supplement. Second, they might

have been concerned about the potential side effects of the supplement (20).

The findings presented in this article could serve to influence the future of micronutrient supplementation, particularly for those with vitamin A or vitamin D deficiency. As the results from the GEE analysis (presented in the Results section) revealed a significantly higher increase in vitamin D and  $\beta$ -carotenoids in VTL-7 than HCK, consumers looking for supplementation of these nutrients may benefit more from capsule formulation than granule formulation. Knowing the composition of different MVMM formulations can help us to better understand the differences in the mechanism of

action through which the nutrients are absorbed, based on the formulation type. Furthermore, expanding our knowledge of the different MVMM formulations can influence what kind of supplements are prescribed by medical providers to help with vitamin and mineral deficiencies, as well as help consumers to determine over-the-counter counter supplements to purchase.





Still, more research should be done in this area to further explore the differences in efficacy between the two formulations by looking at micronutrients not included in this study.

This quasi-experimental study has some limitations. First and most important is the non-randomization nature of the study. Although a random allocation of participants is usually preferred, this study was conducted in a private international hospital setting, in which the participants were healthy and did not receive financial support from a third-party payer for this type of wellness service. Second, the different product formulations, which was the primary objective of this study, could indeed introduce another bias. That is, the participants who were familiar with conventional capsules, as opposed to the new formulation, were health-conscious. Although only two formulations/products were included, the findings from this study could be suggestive of the effect of supplement formulations on the change in laboratory parameters. Finally, it was not required that subjects follow a specific diet during participation in this study and, therefore, it cannot be ascertained that the diet of the subjects did not impact the uptake of CoQ10 or vitamins into the blood. Similarly, there was no method in place to assure that subjects took their supplementation exactly as prescribed, which could also influence the laboratory outcomes. Future studies should be conducted to control these factors.

# CONCLUSION

Micronutrient supplement formulation, specifically granule vs. capsule formulation, was found to impact certain

laboratory outcomes but not QOL. More specifically, MVMM supplements in capsule formulation were found to increase the serum levels of some micronutrients, namely, vitamin D and  $\beta$ -carotenoids, to a higher extent than that of granule formulation. Nonetheless, participant adherence remains a potential confounder and should be further explored.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

# **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Bumrungrad International Institutional Review Board. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

AC conceived of and supervised the study. BT and PI collected and help to analyze the data. KP analyzed the data. PL and NT facilitate the data collection, data analysis, and supervised the study. KP, NJ, BT, PI, and JH drafted the manuscript. All authors read and approved the manuscript.

# REFERENCES

- Angelo G, Drake VJ, Frei B. Efficacy of multivitamin/mineral supplementation to reduce chronic disease risk: a critical review of the evidence from observational studies and randomized controlled trials. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2015) 55:1968–91. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2014.912199
- Shenkin A. Micronutrients in health and disease. Postgrad Med J. (2006) 82:559–67. doi: 10.1136/pgmj.2006.047670
- Binns CW, Lee MK, Lee AH. Problems and prospects: public health regulation of dietary supplements. *Annu Rev Public Health*. (2018) 39:403– 20. doi: 10.1146/annurev-publhealth-040617-013638
- Li J, Li X, Gathirua-Mwangi W, Song Y. Prevalence and trends in dietary supplement use among US adults with diabetes: the national health and nutrition examination surveys, 1999-2014. *BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care.* (2020) 8:e000925. doi: 10.1136/bmjdrc-2019-000925
- Announcement of the Food and Drug Administration Re: Requirement for Use of Vitamins and Minerals as Active Ingredients in Food Supplements (2006).
- Satia MC, Mukim AG, Tibrewala KD, Bhavsar MS. A randomized two way cross over study for comparison of absorption of vitamin D3 buccal spray and soft gelatin capsule formulation in healthy subjects and in patients with intestinal malabsorption. *Nutr J.* (2015) 14:114. doi: 10.1186/s12937-015-0105-1
- Goralczyk R. Beta-carotene and lung cancer in smokers: review of hypotheses and status of research. *Nutr Cancer.* (2009) 61:767–74. doi: 10.1080/01635580903285155
- Alvarez JA, Law J, Coakley KE, Zughaier SM, Hao L, Shahid Salles K, et al. High-dose cholecalciferol reduces parathyroid hormone in patients with early chronic kidney disease: a pilot, randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2012) 96:672–9. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.11 2.040642
- 9. Campbell JA, Morrison AB. Some factors affecting the absorption of vitamins. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1963) 12:162–9. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/12.3.162
- Maurya VK, Aggarwal M. Factors influencing the absorption of vitamin D in GIT: an overview. J Food Sci Technol. (2017) 54:3753-65. doi: 10.1007/s13197-017-2840-0
- Lykkesfeldt J, Tveden-Nyborg P. The pharmacokinetics of vitamin C. Nutrients. (2019) 11:2412. doi: 10.3390/nu11102412
- van den Berg H, van der Gaag M, Hendriks H. Influence of lifestyle on vitamin bioavailability. Int J Vitam Nutr Res. (2002) 72:53–9. doi: 10.1024/0300-9831.72.1.53
- Benton D, Haller J, Fordy J. Vitamin supplementation for 1 year improves mood. *Neuropsychobiology*. (1995) 32:98–105. doi: 10.1159/000119220
- 14. Schlebusch L, Bosch BA, Polglase G, Kleinschmidt I, Pillay BJ, Cassimjee MH, et al. A double-blind, placebo-controlled, double-centre study of the

effects of an oral multivitamin-mineral combination on stress. S Afr Med J. (2000) 90:1216–23.

- White DJ, Cox KH, Peters R, Pipingas A, Scholey AB. Effects of four-week supplementation with a multi-vitamin/mineral preparation on mood and blood biomarkers in young adults: a randomised, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. *Nutrients*. (2015) 7:9005–17. doi: 10.3390/nu7115451
- Tepper S, Dabush Y, Shahar DR, Endevelt R, Geva D, Ish-Shalom S. Vitamin D status and quality of life in healthy male high-tech employees. *Nutrients*. (2016) 8:366. doi: 10.3390/nu8060366
- Capuron L, Moranis A, Combe N, Cousson-Gelie F, Fuchs D, De Smedt-Peyrusse V, et al. Vitamin E status and quality of life in the elderly: influence of inflammatory processes. *Br J Nutr.* (2009) 102:1390– 4. doi: 10.1017/S0007114509990493
- Kantor ED, Rehm CD, Du M, White E, Giovannucci EL. Trends in dietary supplement use among US adults from 1999-2012. JAMA. (2016) 316:1464– 74. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.14403
- Gardiner P, Kemper KJ, Legedza A, Phillips RS. Factors associated with herb and dietary supplement use by young adults in the United States. BMC Complement Altern Med. (2007) 7:39. doi: 10.1186/1472-6882-7-39
- Timbo BB, Ross MP, McCarthy PV, Lin CT. Dietary supplements in a national survey: prevalence of use and reports of adverse events. J Am Diet Assoc. (2006) 106:1966–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jada.2006.09.002

Conflict of Interest: PI was employed by Asia Global Research Co., Ltd.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Jittat, Pongpirul, Tepwituksakit, Iammaleerat, Heath, Lungchukiet, Taechakraichana and Charukitpipat. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Association of Retinol and Carotenoids Content in Diet and Serum With Risk for Colorectal Cancer: A Meta-Analysis

Xiaoyong Han<sup>1,2,3†</sup>, Rangyin Zhao<sup>4†</sup>, Guangming Zhang<sup>4</sup>, Yajun Jiao<sup>1</sup>, Yongfeng Wang<sup>4</sup>, Da Wang<sup>5</sup> and Hui Cai<sup>2,3,6,7\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Graduate School, Ning Xia Medical University, Yinchuan, China, <sup>2</sup> General Surgery Clinical Medical Center, Gansu Provincial Hospital, Lanzhou, China, <sup>3</sup> Key Laboratory of Molecular Diagnostics and Precision Medicine for Surgical Oncology in Gansu Province, Gansu Provincial Hospital, Lanzhou, China, <sup>4</sup> First Clinical Medical College, Gansu University of Chinese Medicine, Lanzhou, China, <sup>5</sup> Medical College of Jiangsu University, Zhenjiang, China, <sup>6</sup> First Clinical College of Medicine, Lanzhou University, Lanzhou, China, <sup>7</sup> NHC Key Laboratory of Diagnosis and Therapy of Gastrointestinal Tumor, Gansu Provincial Hospital, Lanzhou, China

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Ren-You Gan, Institute of Urban Agriculture (CAAS), China

#### Reviewed by:

Bin Li, Shenyang Agricultural University, China Carla Pereira, Centro de Investigação de Montanha (CIMO), Portugal

\*Correspondence:

Hui Cai caialonteam@163.com <sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 13 April 2022 Accepted: 13 June 2022 Published: 30 June 2022

#### Citation:

Han X, Zhao R, Zhang G, Jiao Y, Wang Y, Wang D and Cai H (2022) Association of Retinol and Carotenoids Content in Diet and Serum With Risk for Colorectal Cancer: A Meta-Analysis. Front. Nutr. 9:918777. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.918777 **Background:** Colorectal cancer (CRC) risk is linked to serum and dietary retinol and carotenoids, according to clinical and epidemiological research. However, the findings are not consistent. As a result, we did this meta-analysis to determine the link between them.

**Methods:** From 2000 through 2022, the PubMed, Web of Science, and Embase databases, as well as pertinent article references, were searched and filtered based on inclusion and exclusion criteria and literature quality ratings. High and low intake were used as controls, and OR (odds ratio) or RR (relative risk) and 95% confidence interval were extracted. The extracted data were plotted and analyzed using Stata12.0 software.

**Results:** A total of 22 relevant studies were included, including 18 studies related to diet and 4 studies related to serum. For high and low intake or concentration controls, the pooled OR was as follows:  $\beta$ -carotene (OR = 0.89, 95% CI: 0.78–1.03),  $\alpha$ -carotene (OR = 0.87, 95% CI: 0.72–1.03), lycopene (OR = 0.93, 95% CI: 0.81–1.07), lutein/zeaxanthin (OR = 0.96, 95% CI: 0.87–1.07),  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin (OR = 0.70, 95% CI: 0.48–1.01), total carotenoids (OR = 0.97, 95% CI: 0.81–1.15), retinol (OR = 0.99, 95% CI: 0.89–1.10), serum carotenoids (OR = 0.73, 95% CI: 0.58–0.93), serum retinol (OR = 0.62, 95% CI: 0.26–1.49). Subgroup analysis was performed according to tumor type, study type and sex.

**Conclusion:** Total carotenoid intake and Lutein/Zeaxanthin intake were not associated with CRC risk. High  $\beta$ -carotene,  $\alpha$ -carotene, lycopene, and  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin all tended to reduce CRC risk. Serum carotenoid concentrations were significantly inversely associated with CRC risk.

Keywords: retinol, carotenoids, colorectal cancer, risk, meta-analysis

# INTRODUCTION

In recent years, the incidence and mortality of malignant tumors have been increasing year by year, even exceeding other chronic diseases, becoming a veritable human health killer (1). Although the efficacy of cancer treatment has been improved due to comprehensive therapies such as surgery, chemotherapy, radiotherapy, targeted therapy, and immunotherapy, the prognosis and early diagnosis remain poor and the mortality rate remains high (2). Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the world's third most frequent cancer and the second largest cause of cancer mortality, with a significant number of new cases and deaths every year (3). CRC has caused great burden and harm to the economy and society of the country (4). Economic development and changes in lifestyle and dietary choices have increased the prevalence and mortality of CRC in China in recent years, putting a strain on the health-care system (3, 5). The etiology of CRC is heavily influenced by environmental and genetic factors. Diet, history of benign adenomatous polyps and inflammatory bowel disease, age, diabetes, obesity, lack of physical activity, and a family history of CRC are all risk factors for CRC (6). Therefore, the prevention of CRC by changing dietary habits and lifestyle is an area that we should focus on.

Fruits and vegetables are among the daily foods required for good health since they include high levels of minerals, vitamins, carbs, proteins, dietary fiber, and different substances with nutritional medicinal value that can help prevent a variety of ailments (7). Many studies have indicated that eating fruits and vegetables helps prevent cancer, with vegetable-related protection being more substantial (8, 9). Vitamin A is an unsaturated hydrocarbon group that includes retinol and its derivatives such as retinaldehyde, retinoic acid, and retinyl ester (10). Cell development and differentiation, embryogenesis, reproduction, epithelial cell integrity, and immunological function are all regulated by vitamin A (11, 12). It also has antioxidant properties (13) and helps to reduce oxidative stress damage and inflammation (11, 14). Carotenoids are a good source of vitamin A and may be turned into it by the body (15). Carotenoids are natural pigments found in a wide range of fruits and vegetables, including lycopene, β-carotene, lutein, zeaxanthin, and  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin (16). Carotenoids and retinoids share many biological actions, including antioxidant capabilities, suppression of malignant tumor development, and activation of apoptosis (17). In addition, carotenoids can influence cell development, as well as gene expression and immunological responses (18, 19). Thus, retinol and carotenoids are indispensable in the human body. But retinol cannot be synthesized in the human body, and it must be obtained from the diet (20). As a result, research into the relationship between their consumption and human illnesses, including cancer, is required.

Over the last two decades, researchers have conducted substantial research on the link between nutrition and cancer. Epidemiological studies have found a link between food and cancer incidence and aggressiveness (21). A high intake of dietary carotenoids or vitamin A (retinol) has been linked to a decreased risk of CRC in several studies (22–25). However, other studies have shown no substantial link between their use and the risk of cancer onset (25–27). In addition to diet, there has been interest in the research of serum retinol and carotenoids, and some studies have shown that their levels in the blood are related to the risk of colon cancer. As a result, we completed our meta-analysis in time to incorporate the most recent relevant data, providing more credible scientific support for CRC prevention.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

# Search Strategy for Literature

Two writers (Xiaoyong Han and Rangyin Zhao) separately conducted a literature search for the association between retinol, carotenoids, and related derivatives and the risk of CRC in humans using the PubMed, Web of Science and Embase databases. The following keywords were used in the search: "retinol" or "carotenoids" or "carotene" or  $\alpha$ -carotene or " $\beta$ -carotene" or "cryptoxanthin" or "lycopene" or "lutein" or "zeaxanthin" combined with "colorectal cancer" or "colon cancer" or "rectal cancer." All relevant literature was searched from 2000 to April 2022. In addition, we performed a manual search of the reference lists of reviews, meta-analyses, and other relevant publications to prevent potentially missed articles. The language of included articles was limited to English.

# **Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria**

Studies were included according to the following criteria: (1) patients were diagnosed with colon or rectal cancer; (2) observational studies, including cohort or case-control studies; (3) The associations of interest are about the association of serum or dietary retinol or carotenoids with CRC risk, and there are comparisons of high and low content.; (4) Included studies contained relative risks (RR) or odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence intervals for CRC. The following exclusion criteria were used: (1) reviews or conferences or abstracts or letters to the editor; (2) duplicate study populations; (3) animal studies; (4) other cancer studies; (5) lack of RR or OR data; (6) other vitamin supplement studies.

# **Data Extraction and Quality Evaluation**

All included papers were examined and relevant data were retrieved independently by two researchers. Inclusion basic information included: name of first author, date of publication, country, type of study, vitamin type, cancer type, sample size of cases and controls, RR or OR and 95% CI for cancer, covariate correction. The disagreement between these two researchers was decided jointly by a third author. The quality of the included studies was assessed using the NOS scoring criteria (0–9 points), and those with a score > 6 were included in the meta-analysis.

# **Statistical Analysis**

RR or OR with 95% confidence intervals were extracted from each study to assess the association of high retinol or carotenoids intake with cancer risk. The results generally combined in cohort studies are RR values, and the results generally combined in casecontrol studies are OR values. In order to better calculate and combine the results of studies, the difference between the two
is negligible, and all the results are expressed as OR values. In addition, heterogeneity among studies was assessed by Q-test and  $I^2$  statistic. Q-test ( $P_Q$ ) p-value < 0.1 and  $I^2$  > 50% indicated that there was significant statistical heterogeneity between studies, and the results were analyzed using a random-effects model. Otherwise, a fixed effects model was used. We used forest plots to present the meta-analysis results and used Begg's test as well as Begg's funnel plots to assess publication bias. In addition, by eliminating each study one by one, a sensitivity analysis was performed to check the stability of the results. Analyses were performed using Stata12.0 for Windows (Stata, College Station, TX, United States) and p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

## RESULTS

## Screening Process for Eligible Literatures

The relevant literatures were searched in three main English databases according to the search strategy: PubMed (n = 235), Web of Science (n = 218), Embase (n = 173). After de-duplication

(n = 376), the titles and abstracts of the remaining articles (n = 250) were examined and evaluated. A total of 193 articles were rejected for purpose, article type (review, case study, or conference abstract), or irrelevant findings. Fifty-seven full-text articles were downloaded, of which 35 studies were rejected after initial analysis due to lack of important data or unsatisfactory quality of NOS scores. Finally, the meta-analysis comprised 22 papers that fully fulfilled the inclusion criteria and quality evaluation. **Figure 1** depicts the search flow chart.

## Characteristics of Included Research Projects

**Table 1** shows the main characteristics of the 22 included studies. Regarding dietary aspects, a total of five cohort studies were included, and 399,558 individuals were followed up for 5–15 years, eventually resulting in 6,919 CRC patients. A total of 13 case-control studies involving 11,029 cases and 19,024 controls were included. With respect to serum, two cohort studies were included, with 32,428 participants and, ultimately, 272 patients with CRC. Two case-control studies involving 1,073 cases and 1,116 controls were included. Studies were published between 2000 and 2019. Eight studies were from



#### TABLE 1 | Characteristics of included studies.

References Country	Type of cancer	Type of study	Sample size	Diet/Serum	Nutrient type	Adjustment for covariates.	NOS score
Roswall et al. (27) Denmark	Colon and rectal cancer	Cohort study	56,332/748	Diet	β-carotene	Education, alcohol consumption, consumption of red and processed meat, smoking status	7
Murtaugh et al. 23) Jnited States	Rectal cancer	Case-control study	952/1,205	Diet	Lycopene, β-carotene, lutein	Age, body mass index, physical activity, energy intake, dietary fiber, dietary calcium, and smoking status	7
Williams et al. 53) Jnited States	Colorectal cancer	Case-control study	945/959	Diet	β-carotene	Age, gender, education, smoking status, BMI, physical activity, family history, history of alcohol use	6
Park et al. (26) United States	Colon and rectal cancer	Cohort study	191,004/2,378	Diet	Lycopene, α-carotene, β-carotene, carotenoids, β-cryptoxanthin, Lutein	Gender, age, family history of colorectal cancer, history of intestinal polyps, number of pack-years smoked, body mass index	8
Slattery et al. 54) Jnited States	Colon cancer	Case-control study	1,993/2,410	Diet	Lycopene, α-carotene, β-carotene, β-cryptoxanthin, Lutein, zeaxanthin	Age, gender, smoking, alcohol consumption, BMI and long term strenuous physical activity	7
_eenders et al. (22) Europe	Colon and rectal cancer	Case-control study	1,399/1,399	Diet	Lycopene, α-carotene, β-carotene, carotenoids, retinol	Smoking, alcohol consumption, BMI, physical activity, consumption level	7
Ferry et al. (55) Canada	Colon and rectal cancer	Cohort study	56,837/5,681	Diet	Lycopene, α-carotene, β-carotene, carotenoids	Smoking status, relative body mass (body mass index), total fat intake, energy, alcohol, and folic acid, or menopausal status	7
Nkondjock and Ghadirian (56) Canada	Colon cancer	Case-control study	402/688	Diet	Lycopene, α-carotene, β-carotene, carotenoids, lutein/zeaxanthin, β-cryptoxanthin	Age, history of CC in first-degree relatives, marital status, gender, physical activity, fiber and folate consumption, and total energy intake	7
Wang et al. (57) Japan	Colon and rectal cancer	Case-control study	816/815	Diet	Lycopene, carotenoids	Age, residence, family history of colorectal cancer, smoking, alcohol consumption, BMI, type of work, physical activity	6
Negri et al. (58) Italy	Colorectal cancer	Case-control study	1,953/4,154	Diet	Lycopene, carotenoids, retinol	Sociodemographic characteristics, smoking, physical activity, anthropometric measurements at different ages, family history of cancer	7
∟evi et al. (59) Switzerland	Colorectal cancer	Case-control study	223/491	Diet	Carotenoids, retinol	Age, sex, education, smoking, alcohol, body mass index, physical activity, and total energy and fiber intake	7
Lu et al. (60) China	Colorectal cancer	Case-control study	845/845	Diet	Lycopene, α-carotene, β-carotene, carotenoids, lutein/zeaxanthin, β-cryptoxanthin	Education, marital status, occupation, income, family history of cancer, smoking status, passive smoking, alcohol consumption, occupational activities, family and leisure activities, BMI	7
Paiva et al. (61) Portugal	Colorectal cancer	Case-control study	100/211	Diet	Carotenoids	Age, sex, marital status, work physical activity, family history of cancer, body mass index, fiber, carotene, vitamin C, and total energy	7
Rosato et al. (24) Switzerland	Colorectal cancer	Case-control study	329/1,361	Diet	β-carotene	Age, gender, family history, alcohol use, education, physical activity	6
Key et al. (62)	Colorectal	Case-control	565/1,951	Diet	β-carotene	Height, weight, energy intake, alcohol	

References Country	Type of cancer	Type of study	Sample size	Diet/Serum	Nutrient type	Adjustment for covariates.	NOS score
						consumption, physical activity, education, social class	7
Cook et al. (63) United States	Colon and rectal cancer	Cohort study	22,071/267	Diet	β-carotene	Age, education, marital status, occupation, income, family history of cancer, smoking status, passive smoking, alcohol consumption, occupational activity, BMI	7
Wakai et al. (64) Japan	Colon and rectal cancer	Case-control study	507/2,535	Diet	Carotenoids, retinol	Sex, age, family history, smoking, alcohol use, physical activity, energy intake	7
Shin et al. (25) China	Colon and rectal cancer	Cohort study	73,314/283	Diet	Carotenoids, retinol	Age, menopausal status, education, smoking, alcohol consumption, physical activity, family history of colorectal cancer, use of vitamin supplements, and total energy intake	8
Kabat et al. (65) United States	Colorectal cancer	Cohort study	5,477/88	Serum	Lycopene,α-carotene, β-carotene, Lutein + Zeaxanthin,β- Cryptoxanthin, Retinol	Age, body mass index, waist circumference, alcohol intake, physical activity, family history of colorectal cancer, ethnicity	8
Huang et al. (28) China	Colorectal cancer	Case-control study	538/564	Serum	Lycopene, α-carotene, β-carotene, lutein/zeaxanthin, β-cryptoxanthin	Living conditions, educational level, occupation, income, study, alcohol consumption, family history of colorectal cancer, physical activity	7
Luo et al. (66) China	Colon and rectal cancer	Case-control study	535/552	Serum	Retinol	Age, sex, residence, educational level, marital status, income, family and leisure activities, passive smoking, alcohol consumption, adult height, and BMI	6
Malila et al. (67) Finland	Colorectal cancer	Cohort study	26,951/184	Serum	Retinol, β-carotene	Age, body mass index (BMI), number of cigarettes smoked per day, occupational and leisure time physical activity, serum cholesterol concentration, alcohol intake	8

European countries, eight from North American countries and six from Asian countries. The major nutrient species studied were carotenoids, lycopene,  $\alpha$ -carotene,  $\beta$ -carotene, lutein/zeaxanthin,  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin, and retinol. The included studies were adjusted for covariates, mainly including: gender, age, smoking, alcohol consumption, family history of CRC, and physical activity. The NOS was scored from 6 to 8. The original data of the included studies are found in **Supplementary Table S1**.

# Association Between Dietary Retinol and Various Carotenoids and Colorectal Cancer Risk

#### $\beta$ -Carotene

We combined a total of 20 sets of data from 11 studies. Comparing low intakes, dietary high intake of  $\beta$ -carotene reduced the risk of CRC by 11% (OR = 0.89, 95% CI: 0.78–1.03, **Figure 2A**), but the association between the two was not significant ( $p_t = 0.113$ ), and due to significant heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 63.2\%$ , p < 0.001), we used a random-effects model for pooled analysis. According to subgroup analysis by tumor type, it can be seen that there is no significant correlation between dietary intake and the risk of colon cancer (OR = 0.96, 95% CI: 0.86–1.06, **Figure 3A**) and rectal cancer (OR = 1.06, 95% CI: 0.89– 1.25, **Figure 3A**). In the subgroup analysis by study type, both the cohort study (OR = 0.95, 95% CI: 0.85–1.07, **Figure 4A**) and the case-control study (OR = 0.81, 95% CI: 0.63–1.05, **Figure 4A**) showed a trend of  $\beta$ -carotene to reduce the risk of CRC, but none of them were significantly associated. Finally, according to gender subgroup analysis,  $\beta$ -carotene intake was not significantly associated with the risk of CRC in female (OR = 0.97, 95% CI: 0.79–1.19, **Figure 5A**), but  $\beta$ -carotene intake was negatively associated with the risk of CRC in male (OR = 0.74, 95% CI: 0.55–0.99, **Figure 5A**).

#### α-Carotene

We combined a total of 10 sets of data from 5 studies. Comparing low intakes, dietary high intake of  $\alpha$ -carotene reduced the risk of CRC by 13% (OR = 0.87, 95% CI: 0.72–1.03, **Figure 2B**), but the association between the two was not significant ( $p_t$  = 0.110), and due to significant heterogeneity ( $I^2$  = 55.3%, p = 0.017), we used a random-effects model for pooled analysis. Subgroup analysis by tumor type showed that dietary intake was not significantly associated with the risk of colon cancer (OR = 0.96, 95% CI: 0.84–1.09, **Figure 3B**) and rectal cancer (OR = 1.01, 95% CI: 0.76–1.35, **Figure 3B**). In the subgroup analysis by study

TABLE 1 | (Continued)



type, the cohort study (OR = 1.00, 95% CI: 0.86-1.16, **Figure 4B**) showed no significant association between their intake and CRC, and the case-control studies (OR = 0.69, 95% CI: 0.47-1.02,

**Figure 4B**) showed that their high intake tended to reduce CRC risk, but there was no significant association. Finally, high intake of  $\alpha$ -carotene tended to reduce CRC in male (OR = 0.71, 95% CI:



0.42–1.22, **Figure 5B**) and female (OR = 0.89, 95% CI: 0.61–1.30, **Figure 5B**) according to gender subgroup analysis, but there was no significant association.

#### Lycopene

Seven studies were included to combine a total of 13 sets of data. High lycopene (OR = 0.93, 95% CI: 0.81–1.07, **Figure 2C**) intake



slightly, but not significantly ( $p_t = 0.329$ ), reduced CRC risk. Due to significant heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 65.6\%$ , p = 0.000), pooling was performed with a random-effects model. Subgroup analysis was performed according to tumor type, study type and gender. Colon cancer (OR = 0.97, 95% CI: 0.86–1.09, **Figure 3C**), rectal cancer (OR = 1.09, 95% CI: 0.92–1.30, **Figure 3C**), cohort study (OR = 1.04, 95% CI: 0.92–1.18, **Figure 4C**), case-control study (OR = 0.82, 95% CI: 0.64–1.06, **Figure 4C**), male (OR = 0.88, 95%



CI: 0.65-1.18, **Figure 5C**), female (OR = 0.96, 95% CI: 0.59-1.58, **Figure 5C**). In subgroup analyses, case-control studies showed a non-significant inverse association between lycopene intake and CRC risk. There was also a risk reduction effect in male, although it was not significant.

#### Lutein/Zeaxanthin

Six studies were included and a total of 12 sets of data were combined. There was no significant ( $p_t = 0.508$ ) association between high lutein/zeaxanthin (OR = 0.96, 95% CI: 0.87–1.07, **Figure 2D**) intake and CRC risk. No significant heterogeneity was

found ( $I^2 = 10.6\%$ , p = 0.341), which was summarized using a fixed-effect model. Subgroup analysis was performed according to tumor type, study type and gender. Colon cancer (OR = 0.96, 95% CI: 0.84–1.09, **Figure 3D**), rectal cancer (OR = 1.09, 95% CI: 0.86–1.39, **Figure 3D**), cohort study (OR = 1.04, 95% CI: 0.90–1.21, **Figure 4D**), case-control study (OR = 0.89, 95% CI: 0.76–1.04, **Figure 4D**), male (OR = 0.89, 95% CI: 0.75–1.06, **Figure 5D**), female (OR = 1.08, 95% CI: 0.88–1.32, **Figure 5D**). In subgroup analysis, case-control studies showed a non-significant inverse association between the intake of lutein/zeaxanthin and CRC risk. The risk reduction effect was also present in male, but was not significant.

#### $\beta$ -Cryptoxanthin

Four studies were included and a total of 9 sets of data were combined. High  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin (OR = 0.70, 95% CI: 0.48–1.01, **Figure 2E**) intake was able to reduce CRC risk by 30%, but not statistically significant ( $p_t = 0.058$ ). High heterogeneity was found ( $I^2 = 86.3\%$ , p = 0.000), which was combined using the random-effects model. Subgroup analysis was performed according to tumor type, study type, and gender. Colon cancer (OR = 0.95, 95% CI: 0.81–1.11, **Figure 3E**), rectal cancer (OR = 0.87, 95% CI: 0.65–1.15, **Figure 3E**), cohort study (OR = 0.92, 95% CI: 0.79–1.07, **Figure 4E**), case-control study (OR = 0.36, 95% CI: 0.12–1.08, **Figure 4E**), male (OR = 0.51, 95% CI: 0.21–1.27, **Figure 5E**), female (OR = 0.65, 95% CI: 0.33–1.27, **Figure 5E**). In subgroup analysis, high  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin intake tended to decrease risk of CRC, but this was not significant.

#### **Total Carotenoids**

Eight studies were included and a total of 19 sets of data were combined. There was no significant ( $p_t = 0.717$ ) association between high carotenoids (OR = 0.97, 95% CI: 0.81–1.15, **Figure 2F**) intake and CRC risk. There was significant heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 69.2\%$ , p = 0.000), which was combined using the random-effects model. Subgroup analysis was performed according to tumor type, study type and gender. Colon cancer (OR = 1.05, 95% CI: 0.92–1.20, **Figure 3F**), rectal cancer (OR = 1.01, 95% CI: 0.92–1.24, **Figure 3F**), cohort study (OR = 1.08, 95% CI: 0.94–1.25, **Figure 4F**), case-control study (OR = 0.87, 95% CI: 0.70–1.08, **Figure 4F**), male (OR = 1.08, 95% CI: 0.91–1.27, **Figure 5F**), female (OR = 1.00, 95% CI: 0.84–1.20, **Figure 5F**). No association was found between high carotenoids intake and the risk of CRC in any Subgroup group.

#### Retinol

Seven studies were included and a total of 15 sets of data were combined. There was no significant ( $p_t = 0.850$ ) association between high retinol (OR = 0.99, 95% CI: 0.89–1.10, **Figure 2G**) intake and CRC risk. There was no significant heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 34.5\%$ , p = 0.092), and fixed effect model was used for combination. Subgroup analysis was performed according to tumor type, study type and gender. Colon cancer (OR = 1.01, 95% CI: 0.75–1.37, **Figure 3G**), rectal cancer (OR = 0.98, 95% CI: 0.75–1.28, **Figure 3G**), cohort study (OR = 0.92, 95% CI: 0.60–1.43, **Figure 4G**), case-control study (OR = 0.99, 95% CI: 0.89–1.11, **Figure 4G**),

male (OR = 1.30, 95% CI: 1.02–1.66, Figure 5G), female (OR = 0.79, 95% CI: 0.61–1.01, Figure 5G). Retinol appeared to play a protective role in women, reducing CRC risk by 21%, although there was no significant association. For men, retinol intake was significantly positively associated with the risk of CRC.

### Association of Serum Retinol and Carotenoid Levels With Colorectal Cancer Risk

With regard to serum carotenoids, three studies were included and a total of 11 sets of data were combined. Serum total carotenoids (OR = 0.73, 95% CI: 0.58-0.93, Figure 6A) were significantly ( $p_t = 0.01$ ) negatively associated with CRC risk. The results showed significant heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 67.5\%$ , p = 0.001), which was combined using the random-effects model. The subgroup analysis was performed according to the type of nutrients. Serum  $\alpha$ -carotene (OR = 0.61, 95% CI: 0.37-0.99, Figure 6B) was significantly inversely associated with CRC risk. However, the serum content of  $\beta$ -carotene (OR = 0.83, 95% CI: 0.64-1.08, Figure 6B), Lycopene (OR = 0.58, 95% CI: 0.22-1.54, Figure 6B), and  $\beta$ -Cryptoxanthin (OR = 0.69, 95% CI: 0.28– 1.69, Figure 6B), although negatively correlated with CRC risk, was not significant. There was no correlation between serum Lutein/Zeaxanthin (OR = 0.99, 95% CI: 0.63–1.56, Figure 6B) content and CRC risk.

With regard to serum retinol, three studies were included and a total of four sets of data were combined. High serum retinol (OR = 0.62, 95% CI: 0.26–1.49, **Figure 6C**) was inversely associated with CRC risk, but the association was not significant  $(p_t = 0.284)$ . The results showed significant heterogeneity  $(I^2 = 90.8\%, p = 0.000)$ , and random effects model was used for combination. Subgroup analysis were also performed according to study type. Cohort studies (OR = 1.22, 95% CI: 0.80–1.86, **Figure 6D**) showed no association between serum retinol and CRC risk, but case-control studies (OR = 0.29, 95% CI: 0.16– 0.54, **Figure 6D**) showed a significant inverse association between serum retinol and CRC risk. Meta-analysis results of the above various nutrients are shown in **Table 2**.

## **Publication Bias and Sensitivity Analysis**

Due to the less in serological studies included, bias testing and sensitivity analysis were not necessary. Therefore, we performed bias test and sensitivity analysis on the combined results of dietary retinol and carotenoids. We used Begg's test as well as Begg's funnel plot to assess publication bias. Begg's test results (**Figure 7**):  $\beta$ -carotene (Pr > | z | = 0.417),  $\alpha$ -carotene (Pr > | z | = 0.721), lycopene (Pr > | z | = 0.464),  $\beta$ -Cryptoxanthin (Pr > | z | = 0.075), Lutein/Zeaxanthin (Pr > | z | = 0.304), Carotenoids (Pr > | z | = 0.234), retinol (Pr > | z | = 0.692). The results of bias test showed that all funnel plots were symmetrical and (Pr > | z | > 0.05), indicating that no significant publication bias was found in the combined results. Sensitivity analysis (**Figure 8**) of the results was performed and the pooled OR varied in a limited range without significant change after removing each study, indicating that our results were stable.



							Heterogeneit	У
Nutrient type	Studies (n)	OR	95%CI	P-value	Model	Chi <sup>2</sup>	l <sup>2</sup>	P-value
β-carotene	20	0.89	0.78-1.03	0.113	Random	51.61	63.2%	0.000
α-carotene	10	0.87	0.72-1.03	0.110	Random	20.14	55.3%	0.017
Lycopene	13	0.93	0.81-1.07	0.329	Random	34.83	65.6%	0.000
Lutein/zeaxanthin	12	0.96	0.87-1.07	0.508	Fix	12.31	10.6%	0.341
β-Cryptoxanthin	9	0.70	0.48-1.01	0.058	Random	58.36	86.3%	0.000
Carotenoids	19	0.97	0.81-1.15	0.717	Random	58.44	69.2%	0.000
Retinol	15	0.99	0.89-1.10	0.850	Fix	21.37	34.5%	0.092
Carotenoids (serum)	11	0.73	0.58-0.93	0.010	Random	30.79	67.5%	0.001
Retinol (serum)	4	0.62	0.26-1.49	0.284	Random	30.51	90.8%	0.000

TABLE 2 | Meta-results on intake of various nutrients and colorectal cancer risk.

From this, it can be seen that the relevant conclusions we draw are stable and reliable.

risk. Subgroup analysis was performed according to tumor type, study category and sex.

## DISCUSSION

Although vitamin A (retinol) and carotenoids are widely present in a variety of vegetables and fruits, many people still lack the intake of these nutrients. Therefore, the impact of retinol and carotenoids intake on CRC risk has important public health implications. We included a total of 22 studies that pooled clinical studies on dietary and serum retinol and carotenoids and CRC The results showed that dietary  $\beta$ -carotene intake was not significantly negatively correlated with CRC risk, but  $\beta$ -carotene could significantly lower CRC risk in the male population, showing a protective and preventive effect. The consumption of  $\alpha$ -carotene lowered the risk of CRC, however, the link was not statistically significant. A high lycopene consumption lowered CRC risk marginally but not dramatically. There was no link seen between high lutein/zeaxanthin consumption and CRC risk. High intake of  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin was able to non-significantly reduce the risk of CRC. There was no link found between



high total carotenoids consumption and CRC risk. High retinol consumption had no significant connection with CRC risk, and although it appeared to protect women and reduce CRC risk by 21%, high retinol intake was able to significantly increase the risk of CRC for men, and this difference was very important and could guide dietary matching. In summary, high  $\beta$ -carotene,  $\alpha$ -carotene, lycopene, and  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin all have a tendency to reduce CRC risk, which is more pronounced in the male population, but there is uncertainty that must be explored. Total carotenoids intake and Lutein/Zeaxanthin intake were not



associated with CRC risk. Beta-carotene has a preventive effect on CRC in men and retinol seems to have a preventive effect in women and a carcinogenic effect in men, and this difference has led us to new ideas about adjusting the diet by sex.

In addition to focusing on the risk of dietary retinol and carotenoids on CRC, we also focused on serological aspects of the

study. A significant inverse association was found between serum carotenoids concentrations and CRC risk. Serum  $\beta$ -carotene was shown to have a substantial negative relationship with CRC risk. Other carotenoids, while adversely associated, were not significant. Case-control studies have found a substantial negative link between serum retinol and CRC risk, while cohort studies

have found no significant relationship, hence the relationship between serum retinol and CRC remains unknown and must be confirmed by large prospective investigations. Most previous studies have focused on dietary carotenoids, but in recent years attention has gradually shifted to serum carotenoids, possibly due to the development of serum detection techniques and more stable and accurate quantitative assessment of serum. Serum carotenoids are widely studied, in addition to CRC (28, 29), but also associated with the risk of breast cancer (30), lung cancer (31), prostate cancer (32, 33) and hepatocellular carcinoma (34), which can be used as a key research direction in the future. If the relationship between serum carotenoids and various cancers can be clearly understood, routine admission examination can be performed in high-risk cancer population to preliminarily evaluate and screen related tumors, which has certain application prospects in clinical practice.

We will further explore the mechanisms underlying the prevention and suppression of CRC by carotenoids. β-carotene has been found in animal studies to have anti-colon cancer properties through modulating M2 macrophages and activated fibroblasts (35). By regulating K-ras, PKB, and beta-catenin, dietary lutein can decrease colon carcinogenesis caused by p-dimethylhydrazine in rats (36). Carotenoids isolated from Chlorella ellipsoidea and Chlorella vulgaris have also been shown in cell tests to have antiproliferative and anticancer effects on human colon cancer cells (37). B-carotene has been demonstrated to decrease colon cancer cell development by reducing COX-2 production and down-regulating colon cancer cell homeostasis (38). A growing number of experimental investigations have also proven the mechanism and significance of carotenoids in anti-CRC. Our study surprised us by the finding that a high intake of  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin (OR = 0.70, 95% CI: 0.48–1.01) was able to reduce CRC risk.  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin is one of the six primary carotenoids. It is mostly present in citrus fruits, although it is also found in corn, peas, and other yellow animal products (16, 39).  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin has been demonstrated in animal experiments to have preventative and inhibitory effects on a number of malignancies, including colon cancer (40), gastric cancer (41), lung cancer (42-44), bladder cancer (45), and liver cancer (46) through a variety of molecular mechanisms. It has been demonstrated that  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin in combination with oxaliplatin dramatically increased the apoptosis of colon cancer cells in vitro and in vivo, indicating anti-tumor and therapeutic actions on CRC (40). From this point of view, although there are few studies on  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin, it may have a role in preventing and inhibiting tumors in a variety of cancers, especially CRC. The conclusions about  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin in this meta-analysis should be paid attention to, and strengthening the study of β-cryptoxanthin may bring fruitful results.

There have also been several earlier meta-analyses investigating the relationship between carotenoids and CRC. Männistö et al. performed a meta-analysis of cohort studies on dietary carotenoids and CRC risk in 2006, and discovered no link between any carotenoids and CRC risk (47). Conclusion may be caused by several limitations. On the one hand, we believe that the relevant studies it includes are somewhat old and not suitable for the dietary pattern of modern humans. On the other hand, the studies it included were Caucasian studies in Europe and North America with certain geographical limitations; at the time, communication technology was limited, which easily led to a loss due to follow-up bias. Wang et al. performed a meta-analysis of observational data on lycopene consumption and CRC risk in 2016 (48). The data indicate that lycopene consumption is not related with an increased risk of CRC, which is consistent with our findings. In 2016, Panic et al. performed a meta-analysis of dietary carotenoid consumption and CRC risk, which found no significant link between dietary carotenoid intake and CRC (49). The reason for the inconsistency with our findings is that on the one hand we updated and added several new studies, on the other hand our study was performed in strict accordance with the quality assessment rules and removed several unqualified studies, and his study included these low-quality articles, which may affect the results. Third, we also conducted a gender subgroup analysis that may derive the effect of gender differences, and his study did not consider gender differences. Our findings are not consistent with the above the meta-analyses, but our study is higher credible.

We found clear heterogeneity in the entire summary results for retinol and carotenoids and CRC risk. Heterogeneity is inevitable in meta-analysis, and determining the source of the heterogeneity is an important step. First, where the heterogeneity of the data was considerable, we utilized a random-effects model to combine effect sizes. Second, we conducted a subgroup analysis by tumor type, research type, and gender. Most studies' heterogeneity was greatly decreased after subgroup analysis. Third, we conducted a sensitivity analysis to exclude the one that had the biggest influence on the research outcomes, hence lowering heterogeneity. In addition, there may be many factors that can increase heterogeneity, such as differences in race, region, dietary structure, ideology, and degree of economic development. Finally, heterogeneity may ensue as a result of non-uniform methodologies and research details, as well as inconsistency between meals and vitamin A content measurement instruments or scales. Heterogeneity is exacerbated by the inconsistency of particular dosage limits for high and low intakes. As a result, the conclusions drawn should be treated with caution.

Our meta-analysis provides a number of advantages. First, for the first time, we not only evaluated the association between dietary carotenoids and retinol and CRC risk, but also performed serological aspects. Furthermore, each of the six major groups of carotenoids was thoroughly examined. Second, because this study included a large number of cases and participants, more reliable estimations of the connection between retinol and carotenoids consumption and CRC risk may be obtained. Third, there was no evidence of significant publication bias in our meta-analysis. Fourth, we conducted a detailed subgroup analysis according to tumor type, study type, and gender. Fifth, the results of our included studies were all adjusted for covariates. Sixth, we included studies from the last 20 years, avoiding that old dietary patterns influence the accuracy of study conclusions.

Our study has several limitations. First, we only included English articles, which may cause selection bias. Second, there is a large heterogeneity in the findings, although the sources of heterogeneity have been explored. Third, study results were not subgroup analyzed by region and race. Fourth, the specific doses of retinol and carotenoids were not stated, and no doseresponse meta-analysis was performed. Fifth, detection and transformation tools for retinol and carotenoids contained in ingested foods are not described. Sixth, although all results were adjusted for covariates, it is possible that there are other factors that affect the accuracy of the results.

While the efficacy of early CRC has improved, the prognosis of advanced CRC remains poor, so we must invest more effort in cancer prevention. Through the transformation of scientific research achievements, develop a set of preventive means suitable for the CRC population, strengthen people's health publicity and education from the aspects of diet, exercise, and mental psychology, and eliminate tumors in the bud. From the results of our study, it can be seen that retinol,  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin,  $\beta$ carotene, α-carotene, and lycopene have some value in preventing CRC. We suggest that middle-aged and older adults with a family history of CRC or other risk factors can prevent CRC by modestly increasing carotenoid intake and even by taking supplements. From our gender subgroup analysis, it can be seen that  $\beta$ -carotene has a preventive effect on CRC in men, while retinol seems to have a preventive effect on CRC in women, so we can develop corresponding dietary recipes according to gender, and agents with different allocation ratios can also be made when designing supplement components to make cancer prevention more accurate.

Internationally, most of the research on vitamin prevention of cancer stays at the level of observational studies, and most of them have not been studied more deeply. In the future, on the one hand, perfect inclusion and exclusion criteria can be developed to conduct multicenter large randomized controlled trials (RCTs) to clarify the preventive effect. On the other hand, rigorous animal experiments and tumor cell experiments can be designed to determine the preventive effect, as well as to clarify the preventive mechanism. If validated by multicenter RCT and cell and animal experiments, recipes for relevant populations can be developed and corresponding supplements can be manufactured for promotion and application. Vitamins are one of the essential nutrients for human beings, which contain a wide variety and have different physiological functions and have an important relationship with many diseases. While exploring retinol and carotenoids, we can also try to explore the preventive effects of vitamin B, vitamin C, vitamin D, vitamin E, and folic acid on different cancers. In addition to exploring the value of vitamins in the prevention of cancer, the value of survival and prognosis was explored. In addition, we found that most of the vitamins belong to antioxidants, and in addition to studying the value of vitamins in cancer, the relationship between other antioxidants and cancer can be explored, such as melatonin, anthocyanins, astaxanthin, and quercetin. Finally, it should be noted that excessive use of vitamins will produce corresponding toxic side effects, such as excessive intake of carotenoids will cause loss of appetite, yellow skin, poor sleep, affecting female ovulation and so on (50-52). Therefore, we recommend an appropriate increase in vitamin A intake within a safe dose range, especially an increase in dietary intake of vegetables, fruits, and animal products.

## CONCLUSION

Total carotenoids intake and Lutein/Zeaxanthin intake were not associated with CRC risk. High  $\beta$ -carotene,  $\alpha$ -carotene, lycopene, and  $\beta$ -cryptoxanthin all tended to reduce CRC risk, with a more pronounced effect in the male population. In addition,  $\beta$ -carotene had a significant preventive effect on CRC in men. In the female population, high dietary retinol intake can reduce CRC risk, while it has carcinogenic effects in men. On the other hand, serum carotenoids concentrations were significantly and inversely associated with CRC risk. Finally, due to the limitations, large prospective studies with adequate sample size, well-controlled confounders, and long-term follow-up are needed for further exploration.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in this study are included in the article/**Supplementary Material**, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

XH and RZ conceived the study and wrote the draft. GZ and YJ performed the literature search. DW and YW extracted the required data. XH performed the statistical analyses. HC reviewed the manuscript. All authors viewed and gave permission to publish this manuscript.

## FUNDING

This study was supported by the grants from the Central to Guide Local Scientific and Technological Development (ZYYDDFFZZJ-1), Key talent project of Gansu Province of the Organization Department of Gansu provincial Party committee (2020RCXM076), Key Laboratory of gastrointestinal cancer diagnosis and treatment of National Health Commission (2019PT320005), Gansu Provincial Youth Science and Technology Fund Program (21JR7RA642), Gansu Key Laboratory of molecular diagnosis and precision treatment of surgical tumors (18JR2RA033), Guiding plan for scientific and technological development of Lanzhou (2019-ZD-102), and Natural Science Foundation of Gansu Province (21JR11RA186).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank the researchers and study participants for their contributions.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2022. 918777/full#supplementary-material

## REFERENCES

- Bray F, Laversanne M, Weiderpass E, Soerjomataram I. The ever-increasing importance of cancer as a leading cause of premature death worldwide. *Cancer*. (2021). 127:3029–30. doi: 10.1002/cncr.33587
- Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2017. CA Cancer J Clin. (2017) 67:7–30. doi: 10.3322/caac.21387
- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, et al. Global cancer statistics 2020: globocan estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 Countries. *CA Cancer J Clin.* (2021) 71:209– 49. doi: 10.3322/caac.21660
- Doubeni CA, Major JM, Laiyemo AO, Schootman M, Zauber AG, Hollenbeck AR, et al. Contribution of behavioral risk factors and obesity to socioeconomic differences in colorectal cancer incidence. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* (2012) 104:1353– 62. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djs346
- Zhou J, Zheng R, Zhang S, Zeng H, Wang S, Chen R, et al. Colorectal cancer burden and trends: comparison between China and major burden countries in the world. *Chin J Cancer Res.* (2021) 33:1–10. doi: 10.21147/j.issn.1000-9604. 2021.01.01
- Dekker E, Tanis PJ, Vleugels JLA, Kasi PM, Wallace MB. Colorectal cancer. Lancet. (2019) 394:1467–80. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(19)32319-0
- Sharma S, Katoch V, Kumar S, Chatterjee S. Functional relationship of vegetable colors and bioactive compounds: implications in human health. J Nutr Biochem. (2021) 92:108615. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2021.108615
- Negri E, La Vecchia C, Franceschi S, D'Avanzo B, Parazzini F. Vegetable and fruit consumption and cancer risk. *Int J Cancer*. (1991) 48:350–4. doi: 10.1002/ijc.2910480307
- Riboli E, Norat T. Epidemiologic evidence of the protective effect of fruit and vegetables on cancer risk. Am J Clin Nutr. (2003) 78(Suppl. 3):559s–69s. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/78.3.559S
- Li C, Imai M, Matsuura T, Hasegawa S, Yamasaki M, Takahashi N. Inhibitory effects of retinol are greater than retinoic acid on the growth and adhesion of human refractory cancer cells. *Biol Pharm Bull.* (2016) 39:636–40. doi: 10.1248/bpb.b15-00794
- 11. Huang Z, Liu Y, Qi G, Brand D, Zheng SG. Role of Vitamin A in the immune system. J Clin Med. (2018) 7:258. doi: 10.3390/jcm7090258
- Clagett-Dame M, Knutson D. Vitamin A in reproduction and development. Nutrients. (2011) 3:385–428. doi: 10.3390/nu3040385
- Dao DQ, Ngo TC, Thong NM, Nam PC. Is Vitamin A an antioxidant or a pro-oxidant? J Phys Chem B. (2017) 121:9348–57. doi: 10.1021/acs.jpcb. 7b07065
- Siddikuzzaman, Grace VM. Antioxidant potential of all-trans retinoic acid (ATRA) and enhanced activity of liposome encapsulated ATRA against inflammation and tumor-directed angiogenesis. *Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol.* (2013) 35:164–73. doi: 10.3109/08923973.2012.736520
- Zhang X, Dai B, Zhang B, Wang Z. Vitamin A and risk of cervical cancer: a meta-analysis. *Gynecol Oncol.* (2012) 124:366–73. doi: 10.1016/j.ygyno.2011. 10.012
- Maiani G, Castón MJ, Catasta G, Toti E, Cambrodón IG, Bysted A, et al. Carotenoids: actual knowledge on food sources, intakes, stability and bioavailability and their protective role in humans. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2009) 53(Suppl. 2):S194–218. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.200800053
- 17. Fiedor J, Burda K. Potential role of carotenoids as antioxidants in human health and disease. *Nutrients.* (2014) 6:466–88. doi: 10.3390/nu6020466
- Tanaka T, Shnimizu M, Moriwaki H. Cancer chemoprevention by carotenoids. Molecules. (2012) 17:3202–42. doi: 10.3390/molecules17033202
- Saini RK, Keum YS, Daglia M, Rengasamy KR. Dietary carotenoids in cancer chemoprevention and chemotherapy: a review of emerging evidence. *Pharmacol Res.* (2020) 157:104830. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2020.104830
- Bushue N, Wan YJ. Retinoid pathway and cancer therapeutics. Adv Drug Deliv Rev. (2010) 62:1285–98. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2010.07.003
- Rowles JL III, Erdman JW Jr. Carotenoids and their role in cancer prevention. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids. (2020) 1865:158613. doi: 10.1016/j. bbalip.2020.158613
- 22. Leenders M, Leufkens AM, Siersema PD, van Duijnhoven FJ, Vrieling A, Hulshof PJ, et al. Plasma and dietary carotenoids and vitamins A, C and E and risk of colon and rectal cancer in the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition. *Int J Cancer*. (2014) 135:2930–9. doi: 10.1002/ijc.28938

- Murtaugh MA, Ma KN, Benson J, Curtin K, Caan B, Slattery ML. Antioxidants, carotenoids, and risk of rectal cancer. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2004) 159:32–41. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwh013
- Rosato V, Bosetti C, Levi F, Polesel J, Zucchetto A, Negri E, et al. Risk factors for young-onset colorectal cancer. *Cancer Causes Control.* (2013) 24:335–41. doi: 10.1007/s10552-012-0119-3
- Shin A, Li H, Shu XO, Yang G, Gao YT, Zheng W. Dietary intake of calcium, fiber and other micronutrients in relation to colorectal cancer risk: results from the Shanghai Women's Health Study. *Int J Cancer.* (2006) 119:2938–42. doi: 10.1002/ijc.22196
- Park SY, Nomura AM, Murphy SP, Wilkens LR, Henderson BE, Kolonel LN. Carotenoid intake and colorectal cancer risk: the multiethnic cohort study. J Epidemiol. (2009) 19:63–71. doi: 10.2188/jea.je20080078
- Roswall N, Olsen A, Christensen J, Dragsted LO, Overvad K, Tjønneland A. Micronutrient intake and risk of colon and rectal cancer in a danish cohort. *Cancer Epidemiol.* (2010) 34:40–6. doi: 10.1016/j.canep.2009.12.012
- Huang J, Lu MS, Fang YJ, Xu M, Huang WQ, Pan ZZ, et al. Serum carotenoids and colorectal cancer risk: a case-control study in Guangdong, China. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2017) 61:1700267. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201700267
- Guertin KA, Li XS, Graubard BI, Albanes D, Weinstein SJ, Goedert JJ, et al. Serum trimethylamine N-oxide, carnitine, choline, and betaine in relation to colorectal cancer risk in the alpha tocopherol, beta carotene cancer prevention study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2017) 26:945–52. doi: 10.1158/ 1055-9965.Epi-16-0948
- Yan B, Lu MS, Wang L, Mo XF, Luo WP, Du YF, et al. Specific serum carotenoids are inversely associated with breast cancer risk among Chinese women: a case-control study. Br J Nutr. (2016) 115:129–37. doi: 10.1017/ s000711451500416x
- Asbaghi S, Saedisomeolia A, Hosseini M, Honarvar NM, Khosravi A, Azargashb E. Dietary intake and serum level of carotenoids in lung cancer patients: a case-control study. *Nutr Cancer*. (2015) 67:893–8. doi: 10.1080/ 01635581.2015.1055365
- 32. Kristal AR, Till C, Platz EA, Song X, King IB, Neuhouser ML, et al. Serum lycopene concentration and prostate cancer risk: results from the prostate cancer prevention trial. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2011) 20:638–46. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.Epi-10-1221
- Beilby J, Ambrosini GL, Rossi E, de Klerk NH, Musk AW. Serum levels of folate, lycopene, β-carotene, retinol and vitamin E and prostate cancer risk. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2010) 64:1235–8. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2010.124
- 34. Lai GY, Weinstein SJ, Albanes D, Taylor PR, Virtamo J, McGlynn KA, et al. Association of serum α-tocopherol, β-carotene, and retinol with liver cancer incidence and chronic liver disease mortality. *Br J Cancer*. (2014) 111:2163–71. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2014.365
- Lee NY, Kim Y, Kim YS, Shin JH, Rubin LP, Kim Y. β-Carotene exerts anticolon cancer effects by regulating M2 macrophages and activated fibroblasts. J Nutr Biochem. (2020) 82:108402. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2020.108402
- 36. Reynoso-Camacho R, González-Jasso E, Ferriz-Martínez R, Villalón-Corona B, Loarca-Piña GF, Salgado LM, et al. Dietary supplementation of lutein reduces colon carcinogenesis in DMH-treated rats by modulating K-ras. PKB, and  $\beta$ -catenin proteins. *Nutr Cancer.* (2011) 63:39–45. doi: 10.1080/01635581. 2010.516477
- Cha KH, Koo SY, Lee DU. Antiproliferative effects of carotenoids extracted from Chlorella ellipsoidea and *Chlorella vulgaris* on human colon cancer cells. *J Agric Food Chem.* (2008) 56:10521–6. doi: 10.1021/jf802111x
- Palozza P, Serini S, Maggiano N, Tringali G, Navarra P, Ranelletti FO, et al. beta-Carotene downregulates the steady-state and heregulin-alpha-induced COX-2 pathways in colon cancer cells. *J Nutr.* (2005) 135:129–36. doi: 10.1093/ jn/135.1.129
- Granado F, Olmedilla B, Blanco I, Rojas-Hidalgo E. Major fruit and vegetable contributors to the main serum carotenoids in the Spanish diet. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (1996) 50:246–50.
- 40. San Millán C, Soldevilla B, Martín P, Gil-Calderón B, Compte M, Pérez-Sacristán B, et al.  $\beta$ -Cryptoxanthin synergistically enhances the antitumoral activity of oxaliplatin through  $\Delta$ NP73 negative regulation in colon cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2015) 21:4398–409. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.Ccr-14-2027
- Gao M, Dang F, Deng C. β-Cryptoxanthin induced anti-proliferation and apoptosis by G0/G1 arrest and AMPK signal inactivation in gastric cancer. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2019) 859:172528. doi: 10.1016/j.ejphar.2019.172528

- 42. Iskandar AR, Liu C, Smith DE, Hu KQ, Choi SW, Ausman LM, et al. βcryptoxanthin restores nicotine-reduced lung SIRT1 to normal levels and inhibits nicotine-promoted lung tumorigenesis and emphysema in A/J mice. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila).* (2013) 6:309–20. doi: 10.1158/1940-6207.Capr-12-0368
- Liu C, Bronson RT, Russell RM, Wang XD. β-Cryptoxanthin supplementation prevents cigarette smoke-induced lung inflammation, oxidative damage, and squamous metaplasia in ferrets. *Cancer Prev Res (Phila).* (2011) 4:1255–66. doi: 10.1158/1940-6207.Capr-10-0384
- 44. Iskandar AR, Miao B, Li X, Hu KQ, Liu C, Wang XD. β-Cryptoxanthin reduced lung tumor multiplicity and inhibited lung cancer cell motility by downregulating nicotinic acetylcholine receptor α7 signaling. *Cancer Prev Res* (*Phila*). (2016) 9:875–86. doi: 10.1158/1940-6207.Capr-16-0161
- Miyazawa K, Miyamoto S, Suzuki R, Yasui Y, Ikeda R, Kohno H, et al. Dietary beta-cryptoxanthin inhibits N-butyl-N-(4-hydroxybutyl)nitrosamineinduced urinary bladder carcinogenesis in male ICR mice. *Oncol Rep.* (2007) 17:297–304.
- 46. Lim JY, Liu C, Hu KQ, Smith DE, Wu D, Lamon-Fava S, et al. Xanthophyll β-cryptoxanthin inhibits highly refined carbohydrate dietpromoted hepatocellular carcinoma progression in mice. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2020) 64:e1900949. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.201900949
- Männistö S, Yaun SS, Hunter DJ, Spiegelman D, Adami HO, Albanes D, et al. Dietary carotenoids and risk of colorectal cancer in a pooled analysis of 11 cohort studies. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2007) 165:246–55. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwk009
- Wang X, Yang HH, Liu Y, Zhou Q, Chen ZH. Lycopene consumption and risk of colorectal cancer: a meta-analysis of observational studies. *Nutr Cancer*. (2016) 68:1083–96. doi: 10.1080/01635581.2016.1206579
- Panic N, Nedovic D, Pastorino R, Boccia S, Leoncini E. Carotenoid intake from natural sources and colorectal cancer: a systematic review and metaanalysis of epidemiological studies. *Eur J Cancer Prev.* (2017) 26:27–37. doi: 10.1097/cej.00000000000251
- Saito Y. [Current status of health foods including their interactions with drugs and adverse events]. Yakugaku Zasshi. (2018) 138:1511–6. doi: 10.1248/ yakushi.18-00155-1
- 51. Oliveira MR. The neurotoxic effects of vitamin A and retinoids. *An Acad Bras Cienc*. (2015) 87(Suppl. 2):1361–73. doi: 10.1590/0001-3765201520140677
- Siems W, Wiswedel I, Salerno C, Crifò C, Augustin W, Schild L, et al. Betacarotene breakdown products may impair mitochondrial functions-potential side effects of high-dose beta-carotene supplementation. J Nutr Biochem. (2005) 16:385–97. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2005.01.009
- Williams CD, Satia JA, Adair LS, Stevens J, Galanko J, Keku TO, et al. Antioxidant and DNA methylation-related nutrients and risk of distal colorectal cancer. *Cancer Causes Control.* (2010) 21:1171–81. doi: 10.1007/ s10552-010-9544-3
- Slattery ML, Benson J, Curtin K, Ma KN, Schaeffer D, Potter JD. Carotenoids and colon cancer. Am J Clin Nutr. (2000) 71:575–82. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/71.2. 575
- Terry P, Jain M, Miller AB, Howe GR, Rohan TE. Dietary carotenoid intake and colorectal cancer risk. *Nutr Cancer*. (2002) 42:167–72. doi: 10.1207/ s15327914nc422\_3
- 56. Nkondjock A, Ghadirian P. Dietary carotenoids and risk of colon cancer: case-control study. *Int J Cancer.* (2004) 110:110–6. doi: 10.1002/ijc.20066
- Wang Z, Joshi AM, Ohnaka K, Morita M, Toyomura K, Kono S, et al. Dietary intakes of retinol, carotenes, vitamin C, and vitamin E and colorectal cancer risk: the Fukuoka colorectal cancer study. *Nutr Cancer.* (2012) 64:798–805. doi: 10.1080/01635581.2012.690927

- Negri E, La Vecchia C, Franceschi S. Relations between vegetable, fruit and micronutrient intake. Implications for odds ratios in a case-control study. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2002) 56:166–70. doi: 10.1038/sj.ejcn.1601317
- Levi F, Pasche C, Lucchini F, La Vecchia C. Selected micronutrients and colorectal cancer. a case-control study from the canton of Vaud, Switzerland. *Eur J Cancer*. (2000) 36:2115–9. doi: 10.1016/s0959-8049(00)0 0195-7
- Lu MS, Fang YJ, Chen YM, Luo WP, Pan ZZ, Zhong X, et al. Higher intake of carotenoid is associated with a lower risk of colorectal cancer in Chinese adults: a case-control study. *Eur J Nutr.* (2015) 54:619–28. doi: 10.1007/ s00394-014-0743-7
- Paiva I, Amaral T, Barros H. Influence of individually estimated portion size on the assessment of nutritional risk in colorectal cancer in Portugal. *J Hum Nutr Diet.* (2004) 17:529–36. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-277X.2004.0 0563.x
- Key TJ, Appleby PN, Masset G, Brunner EJ, Cade JE, Greenwood DC, et al. Vitamins, minerals, essential fatty acids and colorectal cancer risk in the United Kingdom dietary cohort consortium. *Int J Cancer.* (2012) 131:E320–5. doi: 10.1002/ijc.27386
- Cook NR, Le IM, Manson JE, Buring JE, Hennekens CH. Effects of betacarotene supplementation on cancer incidence by baseline characteristics in the physicians' health study (United States). *Cancer Causes Control.* (2000) 11:617–26. doi: 10.1023/a:1008995430664
- Wakai K, Hirose K, Matsuo K, Ito H, Kuriki K, Suzuki T, et al. Dietary risk factors for colon and rectal cancers: a comparative case-control study. J Epidemiol. (2006) 16:125–35. doi: 10.2188/jea.16.125
- Kabat GC, Kim MY, Sarto GE, Shikany JM, Rohan TE. Repeated measurements of serum carotenoid, retinol and tocopherol levels in relation to colorectal cancer risk in the Women's health initiative. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2012) 66:549–54. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2011.207
- 66. Luo H, Fang YJ, Lu MS, Pan ZZ, Huang J, Chen YM, et al. Dietary and serum vitamins A and E and colorectal cancer risk in Chinese population: a case-control study. *Eur J Cancer Prev.* (2019) 28:268–77. doi: 10.1097/cej. 000000000000452
- 67. Malila N, Virtamo J, Virtanen M, Pietinen P, Albanes D, Teppo L. Dietary and serum alpha-tocopherol, beta-carotene and retinol, and risk for colorectal cancer in male smokers. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2002) 56:615–21. doi: 10.1038/sj. ejcn.1601366

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Han, Zhao, Zhang, Jiao, Wang, Wang and Cai. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## Vitamin C Intake and Ischemic Stroke

Xiaolong Tang<sup>1</sup>, Hanguang Liu<sup>1</sup>, Yuan Xiao<sup>1</sup>, Lei Wu<sup>2\*</sup> and Peng Shu<sup>3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Internal Neurology, Beilun District People's Hospital, Ningbo, China, <sup>2</sup> Department of Painology, The No. 1 People's Hospital of Ningbo, Ningbo, China, <sup>3</sup> Department of Molecular Laboratory, Beilun District People's Hospital, Ningbo, China

Vitamin C is an essential micronutrient with important antioxidant properties. Ischemic stroke is a major public health problem worldwide. Extensive evidence demonstrates that vitamin C has protective effects against cardiovascular disease, and there is a close relationship between vitamin C intake and ischemic stroke risk. Based on the evidence, we conducted this umbrella review to clarify the relationship between vitamin C intake and ischemic stroke risk, animal experiments, clinical trials, and cohort studies.

Keywords: vitamin C, ischemic stroke, review, micronutrient, CVD

## **INTRODUCTION**

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Manfred Eggersdorfer, University of Groningen, Netherlands

#### Reviewed by:

Gloria Olaso-Gonzalez, University of Valencia, Spain Tanase Corneliu, George Emil Palade University of Medicine, Pharmacy, Sciences and Technology of Târgu Mureş, Romania

#### \*Correspondence:

Peng Shu 17757498873@163.com Lei Wu 3628692481@qq.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

Received: 04 May 2022 Accepted: 22 June 2022 Published: 14 July 2022

#### Citation:

Tang X, Liu H, Xiao Y, Wu L and Shu P (2022) Vitamin C Intake and Ischemic Stroke. Front. Nutr. 9:935991. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.935991 Stroke is the second most common cause of death and the leading cause of disability and, therefore, a major public health concern (1). Stroke is associated with high rates of morbidity, disability, mortality, and recurrence (1). Ischemic stroke is the most common type of stroke, accounting for approximately 80% of all cases of stroke (1). Although the mortality rate of stroke has decreased globally in recent years, the global disease burden of stroke has continued to increase; thus, the prevention and treatment of stroke are important components of global public health management (1). Vitamin C is an essential nutrient with antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties, and has been shown to inhibit the inflammatory response and oxidative reactions, protect the vascular endothelium, and prevent the development of atherosclerosis (2). This review systematically discusses the relationship between vitamin C intake and ischemic stroke risk from four perspectives: cellular mechanisms, animal experiments, clinical trials, and cohort studies.

Vitamin C, also known as ascorbic acid, cannot be synthesized by the human body and must be obtained through the diet (3). It is a water-soluble vitamin that is present in a wide range of fruits and vegetables. As an essential micronutrient in the human body, an adequate intake of vitamin C helps maintain human health (3). Vitamin C is a water-soluble acidic polyhydroxy compound with six carbon atoms and a structure similar to glucose (4). It has many biological functions. It produces  $H^+$  after being oxidized to dehydrovitamin C. The oxidized and reduced forms of vitamin C can be converted into each other to form a redox system in biological tissues (4). Many physiological activities of vitamin C are related to this property. For instance, vitamin C functions as a coenzyme or a substrate for a series of enzymes involved in various metabolic pathways: it is a coenzyme for prolyl and lysyl hydroxylases, which catalyze the hydroxylation of proline and lysine, respectively, during collagen biosynthesis, and a coenzyme in iron metabolism (4).

The circulating vitamin C concentration in healthy people is approximately  $70 \,\mu$ M. Concentrations below  $23 \,\mu$ M indicate vitamin C deficiency, and concentrations below  $11 \,\mu$ M indicate severe vitamin C deficiency with a risk of scurvy (5). The amount of vitamin C intake required by the human body depends on the plasma ascorbic acid concentration (5). While the recommended dietary allowances (RDAs) provide estimates of the required vitamin C intake for humans, the optimal dietary intake is unknown and may be determined by factors such as

123

the dose–function relationship, the availability of vitamin C in dietary sources, the plasma and tissue steady-state concentrations after each dose of vitamin C, urinary excretion, bioavailability, toxicity, and epidemiological observations of vitamin C intake (5). The relationship between the plasma vitamin C concentration and intake dose shows an S-shaped curve (5). Plasma vitamin C concentrations of 50  $\mu$ M and higher are considered to be appropriate. The RDA of vitamin C varies widely among different health organizations. The German, Austrian, and Swiss Institutes of Nutrition have stipulated an RDA of 110 mg/day for men and 95 mg/day for women, whereas the American and Canadian Institutes of Medical Research have set an RDA of 90 mg/day for men and 75 mg/day for women (6, 7).

## THE POSSIBLE MECHANISM WHEREBY VITAMIN C REDUCES THE RISK OF ISCHEMIC STROKE

Vitamin C may reduce the risk of ischemic stroke through various mechanisms, such as inhibiting low-density lipoprotein (LDL) oxidation, increasing intravascular nitric oxide (NO) production, increasing vasodilation and lowering blood pressure, and reducing the adhesion of monocytes to the vascular endothelium, thereby reducing atherosclerosis (8, 9).

## Vitamin C Inhibits the Inflammatory Response

Vitamin C has strong reducing properties due to it being a strong antioxidant. In the human body, it can inhibit the formation of oxygen free radicals, regulate inflammatory factors, inhibit inflammatory cell infiltration, reverse endothelial dysfunction, improve microcirculation, and alleviate the micro-inflammatory state (10). Mohammed et al. (11) found that vitamin C-sufficient mouse macrophages exhibited an obvious anti-inflammatory phenotype, whereas vitamin C-deficient mouse macrophages continued to express interleukin (IL)-1 (IL-1), tumor necrosis alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 mRNAs, indicating a pro-inflammatory phenotype. Block et al. (12) found that the serum C-reactive protein concentrations were significantly reduced in active and passive smokers after oral administration of vitamin C. Mikirova et al. (13) found that the intravenous injection of vitamin C in cancer patients resulted in significant decreases in the serum concentrations of the inflammatory cytokines IL-1a, IL-2, IL-8, and TNF- $\alpha$ ; the eosinophil chemokine eotaxin; and C-reactive protein.

Atherosclerotic plaques are important risk factors for cerebrovascular disease (14). Activation of the inflammatory response reduces the stability of a plaque, leading to its rupture (14). Importantly, secondary thrombosis and embolism are the main mechanisms of ischemic stroke (15). Early in the formation of atherosclerotic plaques, monocytes adhere to the endothelial wall, causing the vessel wall to thicken and lose its elasticity (15). Vitamin C has been found to reduce the adhesion of monocytes to the vascular endothelium (8, 9) by decreasing the expression of intercellular adhesion molecule-1, a surface glycoprotein that mediates the adhesion of monocytes to endothelial cells (16) (**Figure 1**).

## Vitamin C Inhibits Oxidative Reactions

Studies have shown that oxidative stress and its related molecular events play important roles in the pathological process of ischemic stroke (17). Ischemic stroke occurs due to a sudden interruption of the cerebral arterial blood supply due to the occlusion of cerebral arteries, which in turn leads to cerebral hypoxia and the accumulation of reactive oxygen species (18). When blood flow is restored, oxidative stress in the brain may be exacerbated, leading to an imbalance between the production of oxidants and the antioxidant defense mechanisms, resulting in dysregulated cell survival mechanisms and, ultimately, nerve damage (18).

Under normal conditions, the production and elimination of free radicals in the body are balanced. When there are too many free radicals, cholesterol in lipoproteins, especially LDL, easily undergoes peroxidation, which is a risk factor for atherosclerosis and ischemic stroke (19). In addition, oxidized LDL is highly cytotoxic and can accelerate the formation of fatty streaks (20). Monocytes adhered to the endothelium are activated to differentiate into macrophages, which ingest large amounts of oxidized LDL, become enriched in cholesterol, and transform into foam cells, leading to the development of fatty streaks, thereby promoting the development of atherosclerosis (21, 22). Importantly, vitamin C inhibits LDL oxidation (**Figure 1**).

## **Pro-oxidative Effects of Vitamin C**

Regarding the pro-oxidative effect of vitamin C, the most intuitive evidence was obtained from the experiment performed by Griffiths et al. (23). Their results showed that U937 monocytes displayed increased production of reactive oxygen species after they were co-incubated with 150  $\mu$ mol/L ascorbic acid and dihydrochlorofluorescein for 40 min.

The reason for the pro-oxidative effect of vitamin C has not been determined. Some scholars believe that this effect may be the result of the interactions between vitamin C and some metal ions (such as Fe<sup>3+</sup>). In 1996, Andorn et al. (24)confirmed that vitamin C can cause lipid peroxidation in the human brain, and this effect depends on the participation of iron ions, with iron at 100 mg·d<sup>-1</sup> being able to cause uncontrollable lipid peroxidation. Similarly, Lachili et al. (25) found uncontrollable lipid peroxidation in pregnant women taking concurrent vitamin C (500 mg·d<sup>-1</sup>) and iron (100 mg·d<sup>-1</sup>) supplements.

In addition, some scholars believe that the pro-oxidative effect of vitamin C may be related to the ascorbic acid cycle. In this cycle, the dehydroascorbic acid transported into the cell is rapidly converted into ascorbic acid by enzymatic or nonenzymatic catalysis, and the resulting ascorbic acid causes the oxidation of other substances in the cell (23, 26). The oxidation of cellular substances was confirmed by Song et al. through a series of experiments in which the transport of dehydroascorbic acid was blocked with wortmannin (a glucose carrier-specific



blocker), which reduced the vitamin C-induced production of lipid peroxidation products (26).

## Vitamin C Protects the Vascular Endothelium

Vitamin C reduces the inflammatory response by protecting against endothelial dysfunction via many mechanisms, including scavenging oxygen free radicals and inducing the synthesis of NO. Levine et al. (27) found that vitamin C reverses vascular endothelial dysfunction in patients with coronary heart disease. Animal experiments (28) have shown that vitamin C stabilizes tetrahydrobiopterin without dehydrogenation to allow endothelium-derived NO synthase to remain in a normal coupled state and maintain its normal activity. Cell culture experiments (29) have shown that vitamin C increases endothelium-dependent vasodilation by increasing the glutathione concentration in endothelial cells and inducing NO synthesis in these cells in a time- and dose-dependent manner.

Endothelial dysfunction is a main cause of ischemic stroke. After endothelial cell injury, platelet adhesion and aggregation accelerate thrombosis, leading to the development of ischemic stroke (30). Vitamin C stimulates endothelial cell proliferation by increasing the synthesis and deposition of type IV collagen in the basement membrane, thereby inhibiting apoptosis, and by stabilizing the NO produced by endothelial cells to regulate vascular tone and protect the vascular endothelium (31). Vitamin C reduces trihydrobiopterin radicals to tetrahydrobiopterin (Figure 1), which is an important cofactor for endothelial NO synthase (31). Tetrahydrobiopterin deficiency causes endothelial NO "uncoupling" and decreases NO production, leading to endothelial cell dysfunction (31). By maintaining the tetrahydrobiopterin concentration, vitamin C enables endothelial cells to produce normal amounts of NO, thus protecting vascular endothelial cells from damage, inhibiting the development of atherosclerosis, and reducing the risk of ischemic stroke (31).

## ANIMAL EXPERIMENTS ON THE EFFECT OF VITAMIN C ON ISCHEMIC STROKE

Yan et al. showed that simultaneous tetrahydrobiopterin, Larginine, and vitamin C supplementation increased vascular perfusion after ischemia by increasing endothelial NO synthase activity and reducing oxidative stress (32). Through experiments using mice, D'Uscio et al. showed that vitamin C preserved vascular endothelial function by protecting tetrahydrobiopterin and restoring endothelial NO synthase activity (28). Using the Rice-Vannucci model, Miura et al. found that, in immature rats, intracerebroventricular injection of ascorbic acid after hypoxia-ischemia had neuroprotective effects; particularly, ascorbic acid inhibited cell necrosis and apoptosis in the brains of immature rats after hypoxia-ischemia-induced cell death (33, 34). Iwata et al. showed that during middle cerebral artery occlusion and reperfusion in rats with diabetes, ascorbic acid supplementation inhibited apoptosis and proinflammatory responses and alleviated brain injury and neurological deficits in the diabetic state (35). Furthermore, a study on patients with diabetes showed that ascorbic acid supplementation protected the endothelium from ischemiainduced oxidative damage (35). This is closely related to the reduction in intravascular reactive oxygen species levels mediated by ascorbic acid (36). These animal experiments show that vitamin C reduces the risk of ischemic stroke via antioxidant effects, thus protecting vascular endothelial function and inhibiting inflammation.

## CLINICAL TRIALS OF VITAMIN C IN ISCHEMIC STROKE

In recent years, there have been several randomized controlled clinical trials of vitamin C for ischemic stroke. Most of the experimental results have shown that vitamin C has no significant

#### TABLE 1 | Cohort study of vitamin C and ischemic stroke.

References	Research type	Time	Sample size (examples)	Age (years)	Vitamin C intake (mg/ day)	Follow-uptime (years)	Relative risk (95%Cl)	Adjustment factor
Gey et al. (47)	Observational (Measure vitamin C concentration in plasma)	Beginning: 1971–1973 Ending: 1985	2,974 Men	/	"Low""Normal"	12	0.24 (0.10–0.60)	Gender, smoking, blood pressure, cholesterol and beta carotene
Gale et al. (48)	Observational (7 days of dietary records, measurement of plasma vitamin C)	Beginning: 1973–1974 Deadline: Not mentioned	730 (equal number of men and women)	≥65	19.4 (T1) 53.4 (T3)	20	0.5 (0.3–0.8)	Age, sex and determined cardiovascular risk factors
Ascherio et al. (49)	Observational (Food Frequency Questionnaire)	1986–January 31, 1994	43,738 Men	40–75	95.00 (Q1) 1167.00 (Q5)	8	IS: 1.03 (0.66–1.59)	Age, smoking, hypertension, hypercholesterolemia, body mass index, physical activity
Hirvonen et al. (50)	Observational (dietary questionnaire)	Ending: 1993.4.30	26,593 Composition of male smokers	50–69	52.00 (F1) 141.00 (F4)	6.1	0.89 (0.72–1.09)	Age, BMI, blood pressure, cholesterol, height, smoking, history of diabetes or coronary heart disease, alcohol consumption and education
Yochum et al. (51)	Observational (semi-quantitative food frequency questionnaires, vitamin and mineral supplement intake)	1986–december 31, 1997	34,492 Postmenopausal women	55–69	82.40 (Q1) 678.70 (Q5)	11	1.23 (0.76–1.90)	Age, BMI, waist-to-hip ratio, smoking, diabetes, high blood pressure, physical activity, alcohol consumption, marital status and education level, intake of cholesterol, saturated fat, fish, dietary fiber, whole grains and other antioxidants
Yokoyama et al. (52)	Observational (Food Frequency Questionnaire)	1977–1997	2,121 (880 men and 1,241 women)	≥40	44.01 (F1) 52.13 (F4)	20	IS:0.71 (0.59–0.51)	Age, sex
Kurl et al. (53)	Observational (Measure vitamin C in plasma)	1984–1998.12.31	2,419 Middle-aged men	42–60	28.40 (T1) 64.96 (T4)	10.4	0.48 (0.26–0.83)	Age, BMI, systolic blood pressure, smoking, alcohol consumption, total serum cholesterol, diabetes, and exercise-induced myocardial ischemia
Voko et al. (54)	Observational (food frequency data)	1990 to 1993: before 1 January 1999	5,197 Men	≥55	T1 T3	6.4	0.66 (0.46–0.93)	Age, sex, total energy intake, smoking, hypertension, diabetes, coronary artery disease, history of TRANSIENT ischemic attack
Lee et al. (55)	Observational (Food Frequency Questionnaire)	January 1986–December 31, 2000	1,923 Postmenopausal women	55–69	85.00 (Q1) 667.00 (Q5)	15	1.89 (0.73–4.92)	Age, total energy intake, history of hypertension, BMI, waist-to-hip ratio, physical activity score, smoking, alcohol consumption, hormone replacement therapy, major type of diabetes medication use, and duration of diabetes
Myint et al. (56)	Observational (Health and Lifestyle Questionnaire (containing supplements or supplements containing vitamin C)	From 1993 to 1997 until March 2005	20,649 (Men 9,449 Women 11,200)	40–79	35.00 (Q1) 71.50 (Q5)	9.5	0.57 (0.43–0.76)	Age, sex, smoking status, BMI, systolic blood pressure, cholesterol, physical activity, myocardial infarction and diabetes mellitus

(Continued)

An Umbrella Review

#### TABLE 1 | Continued

The first author	Research type	Time	Sample size (examples)	Age (years)	Vitamin C intake (mg/ day)	Follow-uptime (years)	Relative risk (95%Cl)	Adjustment factor
Del Rio et al. (57)	Observational (Semi-quantitative food Frequency Questionnaire)	From 1993 to 1998 to 31 December 2004	41,620 (Not mentioned)	44–61	83.00 (T1) 201.00 (T3)	7.9	IS:0.53 (0.31–0.89)	Age, sex, high blood pressure, smoking, education, alcohol consumption, waist circumference, BMI and total physical activity
Kubota et al. (58)	Observational (Semi-quantitative food Frequency Questionnaire)	From 1988 to 1990 to 2006	23,119 Men/35,611 Women	40–79	M:52.00 (Q1) 145.00 (Q5) F:60.00 (Q1) 150.00 (Q5)	16.5	M:0.84 (0.62–1.13) F:0.7 (0.54–0.92)	Age, history of hypertension and diabetes, smoking, alcohol consumption, body mass index, mental stress, physical activity, education level, total dietary energy intake, cholesterol, saturated fatty acids, n-3 fatty acids and sodium
Uesugi et al. (59)	Observational (Semi-quantitative food Frequency Questionnaire)	From 1995 to 1997–as of the end of 2009	82,044	45–74	60.00 (Q1) 239.00 (Q5)	15	0.76 (0.60–0.96)	Age, sex,BMI, smoking, alcohol consumption, physical activity, medication or history of diabetes, hyperlipidemia, and hypertension
Martín-Calvo et al. (60)	Observational (Semi-quantitative food Frequency Questionnaire)	Prior to March 2014–December 2016	13,421 (Not mentioned)	≥40	148.00 (T1) 445.00 (T3)	11	0.30 (0.12–0.72)	Gender,BMI, total energy intake, total fiber intake, physical activity, TV watching, smoking, cardiovascular disease, family history of stroke, and aspirin treatment
Lee et al. (61)	Observational (Semi-quantitative food Frequency Questionnaire)	Beginning 1995-1996- as of December 31, 2017	875	25–74	F1 F4	22	0.66 (0.52–0.85)	Age, sex, BMI, smoking, hypertension, dyslipidemia, abnormal blood glucose, and baseline history of cardiovascular disease

IS: ischemic stroke; T1: the lowest third of vitamin C intake distribution; T3: the highest third of vitamin C intake distribution; F1: the lowest quartile of vitamin C intake distribution; F4: the highest quartile of vitamin C intake distribution; Q1: The lowest quantile of vitamin C intake distribution; Q5: Highest quartile of vitamin C intake; BMI: BODY mass index; CI: confidence interval; Relative risk: The highest quantile of vitamin C distribution; Q5: Highest quantile of vitamin C intake; BMI: BODY mass index; CI: confidence interval; Relative risk: The highest quantile of vitamin C distribution; Q5: Highest quantile of vitamin C intake; BMI: BODY mass index; CI: confidence interval; Relative risk: The highest quantile of vitamin C distribution; Q5: Highest quantile of vitamin C intake; BMI: BODY mass index; CI: confidence interval; Relative risk: The highest quantile of vitamin C distribution; Q5: Highest quartile of vitamin C intake; BMI: BODY mass index; CI: confidence interval; Relative risk: The highest quantile of vitamin C distribution; Q5: Highest quantile of vitamin C intake; BMI: BODY mass index; CI: confidence interval; Relative risk: The highest quantile of vitamin C distribution; Q5: Highest quantile of vitamin C intake; BMI: BODY mass index; CI: confidence interval; Relative risk: The highest quantile of vitamin C distribution; Q5: Highest quantile distribution; Q5: Highest quan

An Umbrella Review

Tang et al.

effect on reducing the risk of ischemic stroke (37-42). In a study in which 20,536 adults with coronary heart disease, other occlusive arterial disease, or diabetes were randomly assigned to receive vitamin C supplements or placebo, plasma vitamin C concentrations increased by one third in the supplement group during the 5-year intervention period, but there was no significant difference in stroke-related mortality between the two groups (41). In studies of populations with a high risk of stroke, vitamin C supplementation has shown no significant effect on stroke risk (41). In the American Men's Physician's Health Study, an intervention consisting of 400 IU of vitamin E every other day and 500 mg of vitamin C daily was associated with protective effects against cardiovascular disease compared with placebo after 8 years of follow-up (43). However, the occurrence of cardiovascular disease (CVD) was not significantly affected by the intervention, with the overall hazard ratio for stroke in the intervention group being 0.89 [95% confidence interval (CI), 0.74-1.07] (37). Similar results were reported in the Women's Antioxidant Cardiovascular Study, in which the intervention included 500 mg of vitamin C daily, 600 IU of vitamin E on alternate days, and 50 mg of beta-carotene on alternate days in women with a high risk of CVD (38). Vitamin C was found to have no overall effect on CVD or cerebrovascular events in these women (38). Studies by Blot et al., Hercberg et al., and Brown et al. found that vitamin C supplementation did not reduce the risk of stroke (39, 40, 42). These findings are consistent with the results of meta-analyses by Myung et al. and Ye et al. (18, 44). Lena et al. also found no evidence that vitamin C supplementation reduces the risk of stroke (21).

The design, endpoint, observation time, and study population of a clinical trial have important effects on the results. Accumulating evidence indicates that well-designed clinical trials are necessary to evaluate the effects of vitamin C on the risk of stroke and CVD (37–39). The greatest clinical benefit of vitamin C can only be achieved by designing more targeted clinical trials to evaluate its effect on CVD.

## COHORT STUDIES OF VITAMIN C AND ISCHEMIC STROKE

#### Search Strategy for Systematic Review

This systematic umbrella review followed the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) 2020 Statement guidelines (45, 46). Studies were identified through a comprehensive search of ProQuest, MEDLINE (PubMed), EBSCOhost, Web of Science, and ScienceDirect from the inception of the respective databases to June 2022. No language restrictions were applied. The search strategy included several MeSH terms: "Vitamin C" OR "micronutrient" OR "nutrients" AND "Ischemic Stroke" AND "Stroke". The references cited in all of the eligible articles were also manually searched.

#### **Eligibility Criteria**

Cohort studies evaluating vitamin C intake and ischemic stroke risk in humans were included. The inclusion criteria were studies that (1) included adults aged  $\geq 18$  years; (2) reported dietary

vitamin C intakes or measured serum vitamin C levels; and (3) assessed the occurrence of ischemic stroke as the outcome.

#### Study Selection and Data Collection

The selection of articles involved three stages: (1) title screening, (2) abstract screening, and (3) full-text review. Two investigators (XLT and HGL) screened the titles and abstracts independently and selected eligible articles through full-text review. Any discrepancies in selecting articles between the two researchers were resolved by a third investigator (LW).

Data extraction was performed using a data extraction table in which the following types of information were entered: (1) name of the first author, (2) journal, (3) publication year, (4) vitamin C intake, (5) outcome, (6) number of males and females, (7) number of participants in each study, (8) study design, (9) follow-up time, (10) type of comparison (highest vs. lowest intake of vitamin C), and (11) the estimated summary effect (relative risk) and corresponding 95% CIs.

Table 1 lists the cohort studies of vitamin C and ischemic stroke. Most epidemiological studies reported that vitamin C can reduce the risk of ischemic stroke. In Finland, 2,419 middleaged men with no history of stroke were followed up for 10.4 years, and it was found that after adjusting for factors such as age, body mass index, smoking, and alcohol consumption, men with the highest plasma vitamin C concentration (64.96 µmol/L) had a reduced risk of stroke compared with men with the lowest plasma vitamin C concentration (28.40 µmol/L; hazard ratio for stroke: 0.48; 95% CI: 0.26-0.83), indicating that low plasma vitamin C concentrations are associated with an increased risk of stroke (53). A 20-year follow-up study in the United Kingdom confirmed that people with the lowest vitamin C status had the highest risk of stroke and that vitamin C concentrations in older adults were closely associated with stroke risk, regardless of whether vitamin C was measured in terms of plasma concentration or dietary intake (48). Similar findings were obtained in cohort studies in different countries (47, 52, 54-57, 59-61). However, some studies have reported inconsistent findings (49–51, 58).

In an 8-year follow-up study, Ascherio et al. assessed the risk of stroke in the top and bottom quintiles (1,167 and 95 mg/day, respectively) of vitamin C intake among 43,738 men aged 40-75 years without CVD or diabetes. The relative risk of ischemic stroke in the top quintile was 1.03 (95% CI, 0.66-1.59) compared with the bottom quintile, and vitamin C supplementation did not significantly reduce ischemic stroke incidence in this cohort, which may be due to dietary measurement errors or the study subjects being medical professionals who had healthier lifestyles and eating habits than the average man (49). Yochum et al. concluded that vitamin C is not associated with stroke risk, which may be due to the pro-oxidative effect of vitamin C. Vitamin C not only is an antioxidant but also functions as a pro-oxidant in some cases (51, 62). Kubota et al. found that vitamin C was not associated with stroke risk in men, which may be due to the lower antioxidant capacity of dietary vitamin C or other risk factors for stroke in men (58). Hirvonen et al. concluded that the risk of stroke in their study subjects was probably attributable to smoking, and the influence of vitamin C on stroke risk may differ between smokers and non-smokers. Therefore, the results of their study cannot be generalized to non-smokers (50).

These inconsistencies between the results of different studies may be due to differences in the ethnicity of the studied populations and the adjustment of confounders. Moreover, in most cohort studies, vitamin C intake was mainly determined by dietary assessments, which are not accurate indicators of the plasma vitamin C concentration (50). Some scholars believe that the discrepant results may be attributable to the pro-oxidative effect of vitamin C, which, despite being an antioxidant, functions as a pro-oxidant in some cases (60, 62). Furthermore, the results of experimental studies differ from those of observational studies. Experimental studies may have tended to include highrisk groups and use high doses of vitamin C. Thus, from the results of these studies, it may not be possible to determine whether long-term low-dose dietary vitamin C intake affects the risk of ischemic stroke in the general population. The discrepant results may also be due to the poor lifestyle habits of participants with low vitamin C intake in cohort studies. Although most studies adjusted for multiple confounders, such as smoking, alcohol consumption, and a history of diabetes or hypertension, they did not control for key dietary confounding factors, such as the intakes of dietary fiber, whole grains, nuts, or salt, which are known to influence the risk of ischemic stroke (63).

#### CONCLUSIONS

The purpose of this review is to describe the research progress on the relationship between vitamin C and ischemic stroke. As an effective antioxidant, vitamin C plays an important

#### REFERENCES

- Feigin VL, Forouzanfar MH, Krishnamurthi R, Mensah GA, Connor M, Bennett DA, et al. Global and regional burden of stroke during 1990-2010: findings from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2010. *Lancet.* (2014) 383:245–54. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(13)61953-4
- Carr AC, Zhu BZ, Frei B. Potential antiatherogenic mechanisms of ascorbate (vitamin C) and alpha-tocopherol (vitamin E). *Circ Res.* (2000) 87:349–54. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.87.5.349
- Bozonet SM, Carr AC. The role of physiological vitamin c concentrations on key functions of neutrophils isolated from healthy individuals. *Nutrients*. (2019). 11:1363. doi: 10.3390/nu11061363
- Englard S, Seifter S. The biochemical functions of ascorbic acid. *Annu Rev Nutr.* (1986) 6:365–406. doi: 10.1146/annurev.nu.06.070186. 002053
- Polidori MC, Mecocci P, Levine M, Frei B. Short-term and long-term vitamin C supplementation in humans dose-dependently increases the resistance of plasma to ex vivo lipid peroxidation. *Arch Biochem Biophys.* (2004) 423:109– 15. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2003.12.019
- German Nutrition Society (DGE). New reference values for vitamin C intake. *Ann Nutr Metab.* (2015) 67:13–20. doi: 10.1159/000434757
- Frei B, Birlouez-Aragon I, Lykkesfeldt J. Authors' perspective: what is the optimum intake of vitamin C in humans? *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2012) 52:815–29. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2011.649149
- 8. Woollard KJ, Loryman CJ, Meredith E, Bevan R, Shaw JA, Lunec J, et al. Effects of oral vitamin C on monocyte: endothelial cell adhesion

role in reducing the risk of ischemic stroke by protecting the cardiovascular system and preventing atherosclerosis through anti-inflammatory, antioxidant and endothelial protective effects. However, it remains unknown whether the patients with stroke should be administered vitamin C to decrease their level of oxidative stress; whether long-term supplementation of vitamin C is required; what amount of supplementation is optimal; and what is the best source of supplementation. The results of many cohort studies have shown that long-term dietary intake of vitamin C can reduce the risk of ischemic stroke, but the results of the studies so far are not completely consistent; more prospective clinical trials are needed to confirm the role of optimal vitamin C status in stroke management and the effectiveness of this supplementation during stroke.

### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

PS and LW conceived the idea for this initiative. XT contributed to reading the literature, preparation of figures and the table, and writing the manuscript. HL and YX assisted with writing and revising the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all authors for their contributions to the article.

in healthy subjects. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2002) 294:1161–8. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(02)00603-4

- Weber C, Erl W, Weber K, Weber PC. Increased adhesiveness of isolated monocytes to endothelium is prevented by vitamin C intake in smokers. *Circulation*. (1996) 93:1488–92. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.93.8.1488
- Nosewicz J, Spaccarelli N, Roberts KM, Hart PA, Kaffenberger JA, Trinidad JC, et al. The epidemiology, impact, and diagnosis of micronutrient nutritional dermatoses part 1: Zinc, selenium, copper, vitamin A, and vitamin C. J Am Acad Dermatol. (2022) 86:267–78. doi: 10.1016/j.jaad.2021.07.079
- Mohammed BM, Fisher BJ, Huynh QK, Wijesinghe DS, Chalfant CE, Brophy DF, et al. Resolution of sterile inflammation: role for vitamin C. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2014) 2014:173403. doi: 10.1155/2014/173403
- Block G, Jensen C, Dietrich M, Norkus EP, Hudes M, Packer L. Plasma C-reactive protein concentrations in active and passive smokers: influence of antioxidant supplementation. J Am Coll Nutr. (2004) 23:141–7. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2004.10719354
- Mikirova N, Casciari J, Rogers A, Taylor P. Effect of high-dose intravenous vitamin C on inflammation in cancer patients. *J Transl Med.* (2012) 10:189. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-10-189
- Poredos P, Jezovnik MK. Preclinical carotid atherosclerosis as an indicator of polyvascular disease: a narrative review. *Ann Transl Med.* (2021) 9:1204. doi: 10.21037/atm-20-5570
- De Meyer SF, Langhauser F, Haupeltshofer S, Kleinschnitz C, Casas AI. Thromboinflammation in brain ischemia: recent updates and future perspectives. *Stroke.* (2022) 53:1487–99. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.122.038733

- Rayment SJ, Shaw J, Woollard KJ, Lunec J, Griffiths HR. Vitamin C supplementation in normal subjects reduces constitutive ICAM-1 expression. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2003) 308:339–45. doi: 10.1016/S0006-291X(03)01383-4
- Wilson JX. Regulation of vitamin C transport. Annu Rev Nutr. (2005) 25:105– 25. doi: 10.1146/annurev.nutr.25.050304.092647
- Myung SK, Ju W, Cho B, Oh SW, Park SM, Koo BK, et al. Efficacy of vitamin and antioxidant supplements in prevention of cardiovascular disease: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ*. (2013) 346:f10. doi: 10.1136/bmj.f10
- Zhong S, Li L, Shen X, Li Q, Xu W, Wang X, et al. An update on lipid oxidation and inflammation in cardiovascular diseases. *Free Radic Biol Med.* (2019) 144:266–78. doi: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2019.03.036
- Cherubini A, Vigna GB, Zuliani G, Ruggiero C, Senin U, Fellin R. Role of antioxidants in atherosclerosis: epidemiological and clinical update. *Curr Pharm Des.* (2005) 11:2017–32. doi: 10.2174/1381612054065783
- Al-Khudairy L, Flowers N, Wheelhouse R, Ghannam O, Hartley L, Stranges S, et al. Vitamin C supplementation for the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2017) 3:Cd011114. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD011114.pub2
- Padayatty SJ, Katz A, Wang Y, Eck P, Kwon O, Lee JH, et al. Vitamin C as an antioxidant: evaluation of its role in disease prevention. *J Am Coll Nutr.* (2003) 22:18–35. doi: 10.1080/07315724.2003.10719272
- Griffiths H, Lunec J. Ascorbic acid in the 21st century-more than a simple antioxidant. *Environ Toxicol Pharmacol.* (2001) 10:173–82. doi: 10.1016/S1382-6689(01)00081-3
- Andorn AC, Britton RS, Bacon BR. Ascorbate-stimulated lipid peroxidation in human brain is dependent on iron but not on hydroxyl radical. *J Neurochem.* (1996) 67:717–22. doi: 10.1046/j.1471-4159.1996.67020717.x
- Lachili B, Hininger I, Faure H, Arnaud J, Richard M-J, Favier A, et al. Increased lipid peroxidation in pregnant women after iron and vitamin C supplementation. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2001) 83:103–10. doi: 10.1385/BTER:83:2:103
- Song JH, Shin SH, Wang W, Ross GM. Involvement of oxidative stress in ascorbate-induced proapoptotic death of PC12 cells. *Exp Neurol.* (2001) 169:425–37. doi: 10.1006/exnr.2001.7680
- Levine GN, Frei B, Koulouris SN, Gerhard MD, Keaney JF, Vita JA. Ascorbic acid reverses endothelial vasomotor dysfunction in patients with coronary artery disease. *Circulation*. (1996) 93:1107–13. doi: 10.1161/01.CIR.93.6.1107
- d'Uscio LV, Milstien S, Richardson D, Smith L, Katusic ZS. Longterm vitamin C treatment increases vascular tetrahydrobiopterin levels and nitric oxide synthase activity. *Circ Res.* (2003) 92:88–95. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000049166.33035.62
- Heller R, Münscher-Paulig F, Gräbner R, Till U. L-Ascorbic acid potentiates nitric oxide synthesis in endothelial cells. J Biol Chem. (1999) 274:8254–60. doi: 10.1074/jbc.274.12.8254
- Lee NT, Ong LK, Gyawali P, Nassir C, Mustapha M, Nandurkar HH, et al. Role of purinergic signalling in endothelial dysfunction and thromboinflammation in ischaemic stroke and cerebral small vessel disease. *Biomolecules*. (2021). 11:994. doi: 10.3390/biom11070994
- May JM, Harrison FE. Role of vitamin C in the function of the vascular endothelium. *Antioxid Redox Signal.* (2013) 19:2068–83. doi: 10.1089/ars.2013.5205
- 32. Yan J, Tie G, Messina LM. Tetrahydrobiopterin, L-arginine and vitamin C actsynergistically to decrease oxidative stress, increase nitricoxide and improve blood flow after induction of hindlimbischemia in the rat. *Mol Med.* (2012) 18:676–84. doi: 10.2119/molmed.2011.00103
- Miura S, Ishida-Nakajima W, Ishida A, Kawamura M, Ohmura A, Oguma R, et al. Ascorbic acid protects the newborn rat brain from hypoxic-ischemia. *Brain Dev.* (2009) 31:307–17. doi: 10.1016/j.braindev.2008.06.010
- Miura S, Ishida A, Nakajima W, Ohmura A, Kawamura M, Takada G. Intraventricular ascorbic acid administration decreases hypoxicischemic brain injury in newborn rats. *Brain Res.* (2006) 1095:159–66. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2006.04.045
- 35. Iwata N, Okazaki M, Xuan M, Kamiuchi S, Matsuzaki H, Hibino Y. Orally administrated ascorbic acid suppresses neuronal damage and modifies expression of SVCT2 and GLUT1 in the brain of diabetic rats with cerebral ischemia-reperfusion. *Nutrients*. (2014) 6:1554–77. doi: 10.3390/nu6041554

- Sridulyakul P, Wongeak-In N, Patumraj S. Correlations between endothelial functions and ROS detection in diabetic microvascular wall: early and late ascorbic acid supplementation. *Int J Vasc Med.* (2012) 2012:709695. doi: 10.1155/2012/709695
- Sesso HD, Buring JE, Christen WG, Kurth T, Belanger C, MacFadyen J, et al. Vitamins E and C in the prevention of cardiovascular disease in men: the Physicians' Health Study II randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. (2008) 300:2123–33. doi: 10.1001/jama.2008.600
- 38. Cook NR, Albert CM, Gaziano JM, Zaharris E, MacFadyen J, Danielson E, et al. A randomized factorial trial of vitamins C and E and beta carotene in the secondary prevention of cardiovascular events in women: results from the Women's Antioxidant Cardiovascular Study. *Arch Intern Med.* (2007) 167:1610–8. doi: 10.1001/archinte.167.15.1610
- Blot WJ Li JY, Taylor PR, Guo W, Dawsey S, Wang GQ, et al. Nutrition intervention trials in Linxian, China: supplementation with specific vitamin/mineral combinations, cancer incidence, and disease-specific mortality in the general population. J Natl Cancer Inst. (1993) 85:1483–92. doi: 10.1093/jnci/85.18.1483
- 40. Hercberg S, Galan P, Preziosi P, Bertrais S, Mennen L, Malvy D, et al. The SUVIMAX Study: a randomized, placebo-controlled trial of the health effects of antioxidant vitamins and minerals. *Arch Intern Med.* (2004) 164:2335–42. doi: 10.1001/archinte.164.21.2335
- Heart Protection Study Collaborative Group. MRC/BHF Heart Protection Study of antioxidant vitamin supplementation in 20,536 high-risk individuals: a randomised placebo-controlled trial. *Lancet.* (2002) 360:23–33. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)09328-5
- Brown BG, Zhao XQ, Chait A, Fisher LD, Cheung MC, Morse JS, et al. Simvastatin and niacin, antioxidant vitamins, or the combination for the prevention of coronary disease. N Engl J Med. (2001) 345:1583–92. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa011090
- 43. Wang L, Sesso HD, Glynn RJ, Christen WG, Bubes V, Manson JE, et al. Vitamin E and C supplementation and risk of cancer in men: posttrial followup in the Physicians' Health Study II randomized trial. Am J Clin Nutr. (2014) 100:915–23. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.114.085480
- 44. Ye Y, Li J, Yuan Z. Effect of antioxidant vitamin supplementation on cardiovascular outcomes: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e56803. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0056803
- Page MJ, McKenzie JE, Bossuyt PM, Boutron I, Hoffmann TC, Mulrow CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *Int J Surg.* (2021) 88:105906. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2021.105906
- Guyatt G, Oxman AD, Akl EA, Kunz R, Vist G, Brozek J, et al. GRADE guidelines: 1. Introduction-GRADE evidence profiles and summary of findings tables. *J Clin Epidemiol.* (2011) 64:383–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.04.026
- Gey KF, Stähelin HB, Eichholzer M. Poor plasma status of carotene and vitamin C is associated with higher mortality from ischemic heart disease and stroke: Basel Prospective Study. *Clin Investig.* (1993) 71:3–6. doi: 10.1007/BF00210955
- Gale CR, Martyn CN, Winter PD, Cooper C. Vitamin C and risk of death from stroke and coronary heart disease in cohort of elderly people. *BMJ.* (1995) 310:1563–6. doi: 10.1136/bmj.310.6994.1563
- Ascherio A, Rimm EB, Hernán MA, Giovannucci E, Kawachi I, Stampfer MJ, et al. Relation of consumption of vitamin E, vitamin C, and carotenoids to risk for stroke among men in the United States. *Ann Intern Med.* (1999) 130:963–70. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-130-12-199906150-00003
- Hirvonen T, Virtamo J, Korhonen P, Albanes D, Pietinen P. Intake of flavonoids, carotenoids, vitamins C and E, and risk of stroke in male smokers. *Stroke.* (2000) 31:2301–6. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.31.10.2301
- Yochum LA, Folsom AR, Kushi LH. Intake of antioxidant vitamins and risk of death from stroke in postmenopausal women. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2000) 72:476–83. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/72.2.476
- Yokoyama T, Date C, Kokubo Y, Yoshiike N, Matsumura Y, Tanaka H. Serum vitamin C concentration was inversely associated with subsequent 20-year incidence of stroke in a Japanese rural community. The Shibata study. *Stroke.* (2000) 31:2287–94. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.31.10.2287
- 53. Kurl S, Tuomainen TP, Laukkanen JA, Nyyssönen K, Lakka T, Sivenius J, et al. Plasma vitamin C modifies the association between hypertension and

risk of stroke. *Stroke.* (2002) 33:1568–73. doi: 10.1161/01.STR.0000017220. 78722.D7

- Vokó Z, Hollander M, Hofman A, Koudstaal PJ, Breteler MM. Dietary antioxidants and the risk of ischemic stroke: the Rotterdam Study. *Neurology*. (2003) 61:1273–5. doi: 10.1212/01.WNL.0000090458.67821.A3
- Lee DH, Folsom AR, Harnack L, Halliwell B, Jacobs DR. Does supplemental vitamin C increase cardiovascular disease risk in women with diabetes? *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2004) 80:1194–200. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/80.5.1194
- 56. Myint PK, Luben RN, Welch AA, Bingham SA, Wareham NJ, Khaw KT. Plasma vitamin C concentrations predict risk of incident stroke over 10 y in 20 649 participants of the European Prospective Investigation into Cancer Norfolk prospective population study. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2008) 87:64–9. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/87.1.64
- 57. Del Rio D, Agnoli C, Pellegrini N, Krogh V, Brighenti F, Mazzeo T, et al. Total antioxidant capacity of the diet is associated with lower risk of ischemic stroke in a large Italian cohort. *J Nutr.* (2011) 141:118–23. doi: 10.3945/jn.110.125120
- Kubota Y, Iso H, Date C, Kikuchi S, Watanabe Y, Wada Y, et al. Dietary intakes of antioxidant vitamins and mortality from cardiovascular disease: the Japan Collaborative Cohort Study (JACC) study. *Stroke.* (2011) 42:1665–72. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.110.6 01526
- Uesugi S, Ishihara J, Iso H, Sawada N, Takachi R, Inoue M, et al. Dietary intake of antioxidant vitamins and risk of stroke: the Japan Public Health Center-based Prospective Study. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2017) 71:1179–85. doi: 10.1038/ejcn.2017.71
- Martín-Calvo N, Martínez-González M. Vitamin C intake is inversely associated with cardiovascular mortality in a cohort of Spanish graduates: the SUN Project. *Nutrients*. (2017) 9:954. doi: 10.3390/nu9090954

- Lee CH, Chan RSM, Wan HYL, Woo YC, Cheung CYY, Fong CHY, et al. Dietary intake of anti-oxidant vitamins A, C, and E is inversely associated with adverse cardiovascular outcomes in Chinese-A 22-years population-based prospective study. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:1664. doi: 10.3390/nu10111664
- Herbert V. The antioxidant supplement myth. Am J Clin Nutr. (1994) 60:157– 8. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/60.2.157
- Morelli MB, Gambardella J, Castellanos V, Trimarco V, Santulli G. Vitamin C and cardiovascular disease: an update. *Antioxidants*. (2020) 9:1227. doi: 10.3390/antiox9121227

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Tang, Liu, Xiao, Wu and Shu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Piyameth Dilokthornsakul, Chiang Mai University, Thailand

REVIEWED BY Allison Hodge, Cancer Council Victoria, Australia Zivanka Durovic, University of Belgrade, Serbia

\*CORRESPONDENCE Wenbin Li liwenbin@ccmu.edu.cn

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

RECEIVED 04 May 2022 ACCEPTED 11 July 2022 PUBLISHED 29 July 2022

#### CITATION

Zhang W, Jiang J, He Y, Li X, Yin S, Chen F and Li W (2022) Association between vitamins and risk of brain tumors: A systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of observational studies. *Front. Nutr.* 9:935706. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.935706

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Zhang, Jiang, He, Li, Yin, Chen and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

## Association between vitamins and risk of brain tumors: A systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of observational studies

Weichunbai Zhang<sup>1</sup>, Jing Jiang<sup>1</sup>, Yongqi He<sup>1</sup>, Xinyi Li<sup>2</sup>, Shuo Yin<sup>1</sup>, Feng Chen<sup>1</sup> and Wenbin Li<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Neuro-Oncology, Cancer Center, Beijing Tiantan Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China, <sup>2</sup>College of Nursing, University of South Florida, Tampa, FL, United States

**Background:** Brain tumor is one of the important causes of cancer mortality, and the prognosis is poor. Therefore, early prevention of brain tumors is the key to reducing mortality due to brain tumors.

**Objective:** This review aims to quantitatively evaluate the association between vitamins and brain tumors by meta-analysis.

**Methods:** We searched articles on PubMed, Cochrane Library, Web of Science, and Embase databases from inception to 19 December 2021. According to heterogeneity, the fixed-effects model or random-effects model was selected to obtain the relative risk of the merger. Based on the methods described by Greenland and Longnecker, we explored the dose-response relationship between vitamins and the risk of brain tumors. Subgroup analysis, sensitivity analysis, and publication bias were also used for the analysis.

Results: The study reviewed 23 articles, including 1,347,426 controls and 6,449 brain tumor patients. This study included vitamin intake and circulating concentration. For intake, it mainly included vitamin A, vitamin B, vitamin C, vitamin E, *β*-carotene, and folate. For circulating concentrations, it mainly included vitamin E and vitamin D in the serum (25-hydroxyvitamin D and  $\alpha$ -tocopherol). For vitamin intake, compared with the lowest intakes, the highest intakes of vitamin C (RR = 0.81, 95%CI:0.66–0.99,  $I^2 = 54.7\%$ ,  $P_{for heterogeneity} = 0.007$ ),  $\beta$ -carotene (RR = 0.78, 95%CI:0.66-0.93,  $I^2 = 0$ ,  $P_{for heterogeneity} = 0.460$ ), and folate (RR = 0.66, 95%CI:0.55-0.80,  $I^2$  = 0,  $P_{for heterogeneity}$  = 0.661) significantly reduced the risk of brain tumors. For serum vitamins, compared with the lowest concentrations, the highest concentrations of serum  $\alpha$ -tocopherol  $(RR = 0.61, 95\%CI:0.44-0.86, I^2 = 0, P_{for heterogeneity} = 0.656)$  significantly reduced the risk of brain tumors. The results of the dose-response relationship showed that increasing the intake of 100  $\mu$ g folate per day reduced the risk of brain tumors by 7% ( $P_{-nonlinearity} = 0.534$ , RR = 0.93, 95%CI:0.90-0.96).

**Conclusion:** Our analysis suggests that the intake of vitamin C,  $\beta$ -carotene, and folate can reduce the risk of brain tumors, while high serum  $\alpha$ -tocopherol concentration also has a protective effect on brain tumors. Therefore, vitamins may provide new ideas for the prevention of brain tumors.

Systematic Review Registration: PROSPERO, identifier CRD42022300683.

KEYWORDS

vitamin, brain tumor, meta-analysis, β-carotene, folate, observational study

## Introduction

Brain tumors are the primary central nervous system tumors, with an annual incidence rate of 22.6/1,00,000 (1). They are a significant cause of cancer incidence rate and mortality, especially in children, accounting for 30% of cancer deaths (2). Because the prognosis of brain tumors, especially glioma, is poor, early prevention and detection are the keys to reducing brain tumor mortality (3).

Although the etiology of brain tumors had been studied for decades, the risk factors accounting for a large proportion of cases had not been found. In recent years, people had often paid attention to the relationship between diet and brain tumors. Some studies found that a diet rich in antioxidants, such as vegetables and fruits, could prevent brain tumors. Experimental studies had shown that these dietary antioxidants, could significantly inhibit the growth of cancer cells, especially brain tumor cells (4-6). Vitamins had a similar effect. Some vitamins with antioxidant properties, such as vitamin C and vitamin E, could inhibit tumor growth by eliminating free radicals and inducing apoptosis (7-9). In addition, fat-soluble vitamins, such as vitamin A and vitamin D, also played a certain preventive role by regulating cell differentiation and inhibiting cancer cell proliferation (9, 10). However, the current epidemiological results on vitamins and brain tumors were inconsistent. Chen et al. analyzed the diet of 236 patients with brain tumors through a case-control study and found that the intake of vitamin A was negatively correlated with the risk of glioma (odds ratio (OR) = 0.50, 95% confidence interval (95%CI):0.30-0.80) (11). However, Gile et al. arrived at the opposite conclusion (OR = 1.64, 95% CI:1.13-2.37) (12). A meta-analysis of seven articles showed that the highest intake of vitamin A in the diet was significantly associated with a reduced risk of glioma (relative risk (RR) = 0.80, 95% CI = 0.62-0.98,  $P = 0.014, I^2 = 54.9\%$ ) (13). Tedeschi Blok et al. also found that people with a higher intake of carotene, the precursor of vitamin A, had a lower risk of brain tumors (OR = 0.72, 95%CI:0.54-0.98) (14), and vitamin C and vitamin E also had similar results in this study. However, Durrow et al. followed up with 545,770 participants for 7.2 years and found that dietary vitamin C (RR = 1.26, 95% CI: 0.96–1.66) and vitamin E (RR = 1.17, 95% CI:0.90-1.53) were not associated with the risk of brain tumors

(15). Moreover, by detecting the concentrations of vitamin C and vitamin E in participants' serum, it was found that both had protective effects on brain tumors (vitamin C: OR = 0.19, 95% CI: 0.10–0.60, vitamin E: RR = 0.65, 95% CI:0.44–0.96) (16). In addition, the effect of folate on brain tumors had also attracted much attention. Studies had shown that both folate supplementation during pregnancy and children's high intake of folate could significantly reduce the risk of brain tumors (pregnant women OR = 0.60, 95% CI: 0.68–0.98, children: OR = 0.63, 95% CI: 0.41–0.97) (17).

Since the conclusions of previous studies were inconsistent, and most studies on the effects of vitamins on brain tumors included fewer cases, we quantitatively evaluated the relationship between various vitamin intake and *in vivo* exposure concentrations and brain tumor risk through the latest evidence of comprehensive observational studies. We tried to explore the dose-response relationship between vitamins and brain tumors, hoping to provide evidence for preventing brain tumors.

## **Methods**

#### Search strategy

A comprehensive search was conducted for available articles published in English using databases such as the Cochrane Library, PubMed, Web of Science, and Embase up to 19 December 2021. The Cochrane Library search terms used for the title, abstract, and keywords were ("glioma" OR "brain cancer" OR "brain tumor") combined with ("diet" OR "food" OR "lifestyle" OR "nutrition" OR "nutrient" OR "vitamin" OR "carotenoid" OR "carotene" OR "ascorbic acid" OR "thiamine" OR "riboflavin" OR "tocopherol" OR "25 hydroxyvitamin D" OR "folic acid" OR "nicotinic acid" OR "antioxidant"). The same retrieval strategy was also applied to the other databases. No document type or other relevant restrictions were used in the retrieval process, and unpublished articles were excluded. Two investigators independently searched articles and reviewed all retrieved studies. A third author settled any disagreements between the two authors. In addition, we explored the references of published meta-analyses to identify other potential articles.

#### Inclusion and exclusion criteria

The following inclusion criteria were used: (1) the studies were using a cohort design or a case-control design; (2) the exposure of interest was vitamin intake or serum vitamin concentration; and (3) the ending outcome was brain tumors.

The exclusion criteria of the meta-analysis were as follows: (1) non-observational study (reviews, case reports, and clinical trials); (2) lack of effect size and 95%CI which were available for the highest category of vitamin vs. lowest category of vitamin; and (3) If multiple studies used data from the same population, the study with the largest sample size was included in this meta-analysis.

#### Data extraction

Two investigators extracted the following information from the included study independently: the first author, year of publication, country, study population, study type, age, sex, sample size, number of cases, disease, vitamin source, vitamin type, vitamin level, effect size, and 95% CI extracted from the most adjusted model. If there was disagreement between the two authors about the appropriateness of the data, it was resolved by consensus with a third author.

#### Quality assessment

Two investigators evaluated each study and handed it over to a third party for adjudication in case of disagreement. Since the included articles were observational studies, the Newcastle-Ottawa scale (NOS) was used to evaluate the quality of the study and the possible risk of bias (18).

#### Statistical analysis

Stata 14.0 software was used for data analysis. We pooled effect size estimations by combining the multivariable-adjusted effect size and 95%CI of the highest compared with the lowest vitamins.  $I^2$  statistics assessed heterogeneity between the studies. Suppose the heterogeneity was not statistically significant ( $I^2 < 50\%$  and P > 0.10), the fixed-effects model was used to pool them. Otherwise, the random-effects model was used. We conducted a subgroup analysis to determine whether the heterogeneity of the study came from disease (brain tumor and glioma), vitamin source (diet and supplements), study population (pregnancy exposure and self-exposure), study type (case-control study and cohort study), and study quality (>7 points and  $\leq$ 7 points), to explore the potential sources of heterogeneity. We used sensitivity analysis to assess each study's relative impact on the total effect size by successively

omitting one study when determining the effect size. For publication bias, Egger's test and Begg's test were used to detect it.

Subsequently, we also explored the dose-response relationship between vitamins and brain tumor risk. The method developed by Greenland and Longnecker was used to analyze the dose-response relationship in this study (19). For this method, we needed to extract at least three groups of vitamin intakes or serum vitamin concentration, number of participants, number of cases, effect size, and 95% CI in each study. The median or average vitamin corresponding to each group was used for risk estimation for each study. Suppose the median or average vitamin of each group was not provided, the midpoint of each group's upper and lower limits should be designated as the intermediate exposure level. If the highest group was open, we assumed that the interval width was the same as the second-highest category. Q-value was applied to assess between-study heterogeneity. Unless otherwise noted, two-tailed P < 0.05 was accepted as statistically significant.

#### Results

#### Study characteristics

Figure 1 shows the articles screening process of this study. A total of 3,604 articles were retrieved, including 387 from the Cochran Library, 896 from PubMed, 307 from Web of Science, and 2014 from Embase. After excluding duplicates between different databases, titles and abstracts of 2,493 articles were reviewed. A total of 2,340 articles were excluded because they were not related to the aim of the study. Then, 153 articles were reviewed in full text, and 130 articles were excluded due to non-observational studies, animal/cell experiments, reviews, lacked effect size, or duplication of the study population. A total of 23 articles were included (11, 12, 14–17, 20–36).

Table 1 summarizes the 23 articles and characteristics included in this meta-analysis. All studies included 1,347,426 controls and 6,449 patients with brain tumors. Among them, the patients in eight studies were minors, and the participants in the other studies were 18–80 years old. The included studies were mainly concentrated in North America (America and Canada) and Europe (Britain, Germany, and Sweden). A few studies were completed by Australia, China, and Iran, including 20 case-control studies and 4 cohort studies. These studies provided brain tumor-related results for 6 vitamin intakes: vitamin A, vitamin B, vitamin C, vitamin E,  $\beta$ -carotene, and folate. In addition, there were the results of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D and serum  $\alpha$ -tocopherol. Around 50% of the studies had a NOS score of eight or above.



Study	Year	Country	Study type	Age	Sex <sup>a</sup>	<b>Population</b> <sup>b</sup>	Sample size	Case	Disease	Source	Vitamin	Effect size (95%CI)	Quality score
Howe et al. (20)	1989	Canada	Case-control	<19	Both	Self-exposure	146	52	Brain tumor	Supplement	Vitamin C	0.91(0.43-1.93)	8
Boeing et al. (21)	1993	Germany	Case-control	25-75	Both	Self-exposure	470	93	Glioma	Diet	Vitamin C	0.90(0.50-1.70)	7
Bunin et al. (22)	1994	America	Case-control	0-6	Female	Pregnancy exposure	288	144	Glioma	Diet	Vitamin A	0.70(0.30-1.40)	8
											Vitamin C	0.70(0.40-1.50)	
											Vitamin E	0.70(0.30-130)	
											β-carotene	1.00(0.50-2.00)	
											Folate	1.00(0.50-2.10)	
Gile et al. (12)	1994	Australia	Case-control	20-70	Both	Self-exposure	818	409	Glioma	Diet	Vitamin A	1.64(1.13-2.37)	7
											Vitamin C	0.96(0.42-2.15)	
											Vitamin E	1.42(1.00-2.02)	
											$\beta$ -carotene	0.85(0.59-1.23)	
Blowers et al. (23)	1997	America	Case-control	25-74	Female	Self-exposure	188	94	Glioma	Diet	Vitamin A	0.70(0.30-1.90)	7
											Vitamin C	1.50(0.60-4.10)	
											Vitamin E	2.20(0.80-5.70)	
Lee et al. (24)	1997	America	Case-control	>20	Both	Self-exposure	857	419	Glioma	Supplement	Vitamin C	0.76(0.56-1.01)	8
											Vitamin E	0.79(0.55-1.14)	
Preston-Martin et al. (25)	1998	Britain	Case-control	0-19	Female	Pregnancy exposure	952	373	Brain tumor	Supplement	Vitamin A	0.40(0.20-0.80)	7
						exposure					Vitamin C	0.50(0.30-0.90)	
											Vitamin E	0.50(0.30-0.90)	
											Folate	0.50(0.30-0.80)	
Hu et al. (26)	1999	China	Case-control	20-74	Both	Self-exposure	287	129	Brain tumor	Diet	Vitamin C	0.78(0.20-4.10)	6
11u et al. (20)	1999	Cililia	Case-control	20-74	Botti	Sen-exposure	207	129	brain tunioi	Diet	Vitamin E	0.16(0.10-0.50)	0
											β-carotene	0.38(0.10-1.60)	
Schwartzbaum et al. (16)	2000	America	Case-control	36-69	Both	Self-exposure	69	34	Glioma	Serum	α-tocopherol	0.36(0.10-1.10)	8
Chen et al. (11)	2000	America	Case-control	≥21	Both	Self-exposure	685	236	Glioma	Diet	Vitamin A	0.50(0.30-0.80)	7
Cheff et al. (11)	2002	America	Case-control	221	Doui	Self-exposure	085	230	Giloina	Diet	Vitamin C	0.90(0.50-0.80)	/
											Vitamin E	0.80(0.50-1.40)	
											β-carotene	0.50(0.30-0.90)	
											Folate	0.90(0.50-0.90)	
Tedeschi-Blok et al. (14)	2006	America	Case-control	≥20	Both	Self-exposure	1,648	802	Glioma	Diet	Vitamin C	0.70(0.51-0.94)	9
reacterin-plok et al. (14)	2000	2111111111	Case-control	<u>~</u> 20	Dom	5en-exposure	1,010	002	Giloina	Dict	Vitamin E	0.91(0.62-1.34)	,
											β-carotene	0.72(0.54-0.98)	

#### TABLE 1 Characteristics of studies investigating the association between vitamins and brain tumors.

(Continued)

TABLE 1 Continued

Study	Year	Country	Study type	Age	Sex <sup>a</sup>	<b>Population</b> <sup>b</sup>	Sample size	Case	Disease	Source	Vitamin	Effect size (95%CI)	Quality score
Holick et al. (27)	2007	America	Cohort	25-75	Both	Self-exposure	2,29,637	296	Glioma	Diet	β-carotene	0.92(0.64-1.32)	8
Michaud et al. (28)	2009	America	Cohort	25-75	Both	Self-exposure	2,19,334	335	Glioma	Diet	Vitamin C	0.88(0.62-1.26)	8
											Vitamin E	0.98(0.67-1.43)	
Dubrow et al. (15)	2010	America	Cohort	50-71	Both	Self-exposure	5,45,770	585	Glioma	Diet	Vitamin C	1.26(0.96-1.66)	7
											Vitamin E	1.17(0.90-1.53)	
Stalberg et al. (29)	2010	Sweden	Case-control	0-15	Female	Pregnancy exposure	1,037	512	Brain tumor	Supplement	Folate	0.60(0.30-1.10)	9
Miline et al. (17)	2012	Australia	Case-control	0-14	Female	Pregnancy exposure	1,014	287	Brain tumor	Supplement	Vitamin A	1.17(0.72–1.90)	8
						*					Vitamin B	1.03(0.68-1.56)	
											Vitamin C	0.96(0.64-1.46)	
											Folate	0.60(0.38-0.98)	
Greenop et al. (30)	2014	Australia	Case-control	0-15	Female	Pregnancy exposure	1,019	293	Brain tumor	Diet	Vitamin B	1.04(0.72-1.50)	8
											Folate	0.70(0.48-1.02)	
Bhatti et al. (31)	2015	America	Case-control	0-15	Both	Self-exposure	494	247	Brain tumor	Serum	25-	1.30(0.80-2.20)	8
											hydroxyvitamin		
											D		
Greenop et al. (32)	2015	Australia	Case-control	3-15	Both	Self-exposure	739	216	Brain tumor	Diet	Vitamin B	1.23(0.80-1.89)	6
											Folate	0.63(0.41-0.97)	
Zigmont et al. (33)	2015	America	Case-control	20-65	Both	Self-exposure	1,704	592	Glioma	Serum	25-	1.04(0.73-1.47)	7
											hydroxyvitamin D		
Huang et al. (34)	2017	America	Case-control	50-69	Male	Self-exposure	128	64	Glioma	Serum	α-tocopherol	0.65(0.44-0.96)	8
Heydari et al. (35)	2020	Iran	Case-control	20-75	Both	Self-exposure	384	128	Glioma	Diet	Vitamin B	0.35(0.13-0.97)	7
						-					Vitamin C	0.14(0.05-0.36)	
											Vitamin E	0.83(0.35-1.97)	
											β-carotene	0.99(0.45-2.18)	
Yue et al. (36)	2021	America	Cohort	40-69	Both	Self-exposure	3,46,812	444	Glioma	Serum	25-	0.87(0.68-1.11)	8
											hydroxyvitamin		
											D		
Yue et al. (36)	2021	America	Case-control	30-55	Both	Self-exposure	252	84	Glioma	Serum	25-	0.97(0.51-1.85)	8
. /						*					hydroxyvitamin	. ,	
											D		
											α-tocopherol	0.61(0.29-1.32)	

<sup>a</sup>Sex of exposed population. <sup>b</sup>The population was divided into pregnancy exposure and self-exposure.

Vitamins	Number of studies	RR (95%CI)	<i>I</i> <sup>2</sup> (%)	P for heterogeneity
Intake				
Vitamin A	6	0.79(0.48-1.29)	77.9%	< 0.001
Vitamin B	4	1.03(0.82-1.29)	41.1%	0.165
Vitamin C	14	0.81(0.66-0.99)	54.7%	0.007
Vitamin E	11	0.83(0.63-1.10)	73.5%	< 0.001
β-carotene	7	0.78(0.66-0.93)	0	0.460
Folate	7	0.66(0.55-0.80)	0	0.661
Serum				
Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D	4	0.97(0.81-1.16)	0	0.533
Serum $\alpha$ -tocopherol	3	0.61(0.44-0.86)	0	0.656

TABLE 2 A meta-analysis of the association between vitamins and brain tumors.

# Effect size estimations of risk for the association between vitamins and brain tumor

The effect size estimations between all vitamins and risk of brain tumors are shown in Table 2. For vitamin intake, compared with the lowest intakes, the highest intakes of vitamin C (RR = 0.81, 95%CI:0.66-0.99,  $I^2 = 54.7\%$ ,  $P_{for heterogeneity} = 0.007$ ),  $\beta$ -carotene (RR = 0.78, 95%CI:0.66– 0.93,  $I^2 = 0$ ,  $P_{for heterogeneity} = 0.460$ ), and folate (RR = 0.66, 95%CI:0.55–0.80,  $I^2 = 0$ ,  $P_{for heterogeneity} = 0.661$ ) significantly reduced the risk of brain tumor, while the highest intakes of vitamin A (RR = 0.79, 95%CI:0.48–1.29,  $I^2 = 77.9\%$ ,  $P_{for heterogeneity}$  < 0.001), vitamin B (RR = 1.03, 95%CI:0.82– 1.29,  $I^2 = 41.1\%$ ,  $P_{for heterogeneity} = 0.165$ ), and vitamin E (RR = 0.83, 95%CI:0.63-1.10,  $I^2 = 73.5\%$ ,  $P_{for heterogeneity}$ < 0.001) were not related to the incidence of brain tumor. For serum vitamin, compared with the lowest concentrations, the highest concentrations of serum  $\alpha$ -tocopherol (RR = 0.61, 95%CI:0.44–0.86,  $I^2 = 0$ ,  $P_{for heterogeneity} = 0.656$ ), while the highest concentrations of serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D (RR = 0.97, 95%CI:0.81–1.16,  $I^2 = 0$ ,  $P_{for heterogeneity}$ = 0.533) was not related to the incidence of brain tumor (Supplementary Figures 1-8).

#### Subgroup analysis

For disease, vitamin E was statistically significant in the brain tumor subgroup (RR = 0.30, 95%CI:0.10–0.90). For vitamin source, vitamin C was statistically significant in the supplement subgroup (RR = 0.77, 95%CI:0.60– 0.98). For the study population, vitamin E was statistically significant in the pregnancy exposure subgroup (RR = 0.55, 95%CI:0.37–0.83). For the study area, vitamin A was statistically significant in the subgroups of America, Europe, and Australia (America: RR = 0.57, 95%CI:0.39–0.84; Europe: RR = 0.40, 95%CI:0.20–0.80; and Australia: RR = 1.44, 95%CI:1.04–1.99), and the heterogeneity of vitamin A decreased from 77.9 to 15.0%. For study type, vitamin C was statistically significant in the case-control study subgroup (RR = 0.75, 95%CI:0.61–0.93) (Table 3).

For vitamin C, when Heydari's study (35) was excluded, the results of all studies and brain tumor risk remained significant, but the heterogeneity decreased significantly (RR = 0.87, 95%CI:0.77-0.99,  $I^2 = 23.4\%$ ,  $P_{for heterogeneity} = 0.207$ ). Similarly, excluding another study (26), the heterogeneity of vitamin E was also significantly reduced (RR = 0.94, 95%CI:0.76-1.16,  $I^2 = 52.3\%$ ,  $P_{for heterogeneity} = 0.026$ ). It was speculated that these studies might be the main reasons for the heterogeneity of vitamin C and brain tumor risk. The sources of heterogeneity between vitamin B intake and brain tumor effect size estimations were unclear.

The heterogeneity of  $\beta$ -carotene, folate, serum 25hydroxyvitamin D, and serum  $\alpha$ -tocopherol was minimal, so no subgroup analysis was carried out.

#### Sensitivity analysis and publication bias

The sensitivity analysis showed that no individual study had an excessive influence on the association of vitamins and brain tumors when we removed one individual study at a time. This suggested the results of this meta-analysis were relatively stable (Table 4).

Publication bias was evaluated by Egger's regression test and Begg's rank correlation method. The *P*-value of publication bias of vitamins was more significant than 0.1, suggesting that the difference was not statistically significant, thus there was no publication bias (Table 4).

#### Dose-response relationship

Due to the limited number of available articles, only vitamin C, vitamin E, folate, and serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D could TABLE 3 Subgroup analysis for the association between vitamins and brain tumors.

Vitamin	Subgroup	Number	RR (95%CI)	<i>I</i> <sup>2</sup> (%)	$P_{for \ heterogenei}$
Vitamin A	Disease				
	Glioma	4	0.82(0.42-1.61)	81.1	0.001
	Brain tumor	2	0.70(0.25-2.01)	83.8	0.013
	Vitamin source				
	Diet	4	0.82(0.42-1.61)	81.1	0.001
	Supplement	2	0.70(0.25-2.01)	83.8	0.013
	Study population				
	Pregnancy exposure	3	0.71(0.37-1.38)	68.3	0.043
	Self-exposure	3	0.85(0.36-2.03)	86.7	0.001
	Study area				
	America	3	0.57(0.39-0.84)	0	0.692
	Europe	1	0.40(0.20-0.80)	-	-
	Australia	2	1.44(1.04–1.99)	15.0	0.278
	Study quality				
	≤7	4	0.71(0.33-1.52)	85.8	< 0.001
	>7	2	0.99(0.62-1.59)	18.3	0.269
itamin B	Study population				
	Pregnancy exposure	2	1.04(0.79–1.36)	0	0.973
	Self-exposure	2	1.01(0.68-1.50)	80.3	0.024
	Study quality				
	$\leq 7$	2	1.01(0.68-1.50)	80.3	0.024
	>7	2	1.04(0.79–1.36)	0	0.973
itamin C	Disease				
	Glioma	10	0.82(0.64-1.05)	63.5	0.003
	Brain tumor	4	0.77(0.54-1.09)	17.9	0.301
	Vitamin source				
	Diet	10	0.82(0.62-1.09)	62.1	0.005
	Supplement	4	0.77(0.60-0.98)	18.3	0.299
	Study population				
	Pregnancy exposure	3	0.72(0.48-1.08)	43.0	0.173
	Self-exposure	11	0.84(0.66-1.07)	58.8	0.007
	Study area				
	America	8	0.89(0.73-1.08)	38.1	0.126
	Europe	2	0.66(0.37-1.17)	49.1	0.161
	Australia	2	0.96(0.66-1.39)	0	1.000
	Asia	2	0.30(0.06-1.59)	71.3	0.062
	Study type				
	Case-control	12	0.75(0.61-0.93)	39.5	0.077
	Cohort	2	1.07(0.76-1.52)	59.4	0.116
	Study quality				
	≤7	8	0.77(0.50-1.19)	71.8	0.001
	>7	6	0.79(0.68-0.93)	0	0.829
itamin E	Disease				
	Glioma	9	1.02(0.85-1.21)	28.0	0.195
	Brain tumor	2	0.30(0.10-0.90)	82.2	0.018
	Vitamin source			-	

(Continued)

**P**<sub>for heterogeneity</sub>

<0.001 0.142

0.455 <0.001

0.302

0.006

<0.001 0.453

<0.001 0.792

0.272

0.819

0.884

0.667

0.661

0.597

0.317

0.293

0.673

Vitamin	Subgroup	Number	RR (95%CI)	<i>I</i> <sup>2</sup> (%)
	Diet	9	0.89(0.65-1.23)	73.0
	Supplement	2	0.65(0.42-1.01)	53.6
	Study population			
	Pregnancy exposure	2	0.55(0.37-0.83)	0
	Self-exposure	9	0.90(0.67-1.21)	73.6
	Study area			
	America	7	0.97(0.81-1.15)	16.8
	Europe	1	0.50(0.31-0.82)	-
	Australia	1	1.42(1.00-2.02)	-
	Asia	2	0.36(0.07-1.81)	86.6
	Study type			
	Case-control	9	0.77(0.53-1.10)	76.1
	Cohort	2	1.10(0.89-1.37)	0
	Study quality			
	≤7	7	0.80(0.50-1.29)	83.4
	>7	4	0.87(0.71-1.07)	0
β-carotene	Study quality			
	≤7	4	0.73(0.55-0.97)	23.2
	>7	3	0.81(0.65-1.01)	0
Folate	Disease			
	Glioma	2	0.94(0.60-1.45)	0
	Brain tumor	5	0.62(0.50-0.76)	0

5

2

5

2

3

4

#### TABLE 3 Continued

be analyzed for dose-response relationship from nine articles. The dose-response relationship between vitamins and the risk of brain tumor is shown in Figure 2. There was a significant linear dose-response relationship between folate and brain tumor, and increasing 100  $\mu$ g folate per day reduced brain tumor risk by 7% (*P*<sub>-nonlinearity</sub> = 0.534, 95%CI:0.90–0.96). Although vitamin C, vitamin E, and serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D had similar linear trends, the results were insignificant due to insufficient studies.

Vitamin source

**Study population** Pregnancy exposure

Supplement

Self-exposure

Study quality

Diet

≤7 >7

## Discussion

Based on 23 articles on vitamins and brain tumors published from 1989 to 2021, a total of 1,347,426 controls and 6,449 patients with brain tumors were included. Our meta-analysis results showed that for vitamin intake, higher intakes of vitamin C,  $\beta$ -carotene, and folate had a significant protective effect on brain tumors. For vitamin concentration *in vivo*, high serum  $\alpha$ -tocopherol concentration could significantly reduce the risk of brain tumors. There was no significant correlation between vitamin A, vitamin B, vitamin E, and serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D and the incidence of brain tumors. There was a significant linear dose-response relationship between folate and brain tumor, and increasing per 100 µg/day folate intake reduced brain tumor risk by 7%. Although there were similar linear trends between vitamin C, vitamin E, serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D, and brain tumor risk, the results were insignificant. This might be due to the limited number of articles that analyzed the dose-response relationship between these vitamins and brain tumors.

0

0

0

0.3

18.6

0

0.71(0.57-0.88)

0.53(0.36-0.79)

0.64(0.51 - 0.80)

0.72(0.51 - 1.01)

0.64(0.48-0.85)

0.68(0.53-0.88)

We explored the sources of heterogeneity through disease conditions, vitamin sources, study population, study area, study

	Influential analysis	Egger's test	Begg's test
Vitamin A	0.38-1.48	0.169	0.707
Vitamin B	0.74-1.37	0.101	0.734
Vitamin C	0.63-1.03	0.296	0.743
Vitamin E	0.58-1.17	0.170	0.276
β-carotene	0.61-1.00	0.658	0.764
Folate	0.52-0.85	0.462	0.764
Serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D	0.76-1.42	0.300	0.734
Serum $\alpha$ -tocopherol	0.28-1.00	0.302	0.296





type, and study quality. The results of vitamin A were not significant, but through subgroup analysis, it was found that its heterogeneity mainly comes from the study area. The results of European and American studies showed that vitamin A had a protective effect on brain tumors. In contrast, the results of Australian studies suggested that excessive intake of vitamin A could significantly increase the risk of brain tumors. It was speculated that there was a significant difference in the intake of vitamin A due to different eating habits in the northern and southern hemispheres. Heydari's study contributed the most heterogeneity to the meta-analysis of vitamin C and brain tumors (35). It is well-known that the primary dietary sources of vitamin C are vegetables and fruits. Heydari's research showed that about 60% of Iranian adults had low fruit and vegetable intake, and the average intake of vitamin C in the control population was 143 mg/day (35), while half of the American people in Michaud et al.'s (28) study had more than 232 mg/day. Therefore, there were significant differences in vitamin C intake between the Iranian and other populations, resulting in considerable heterogeneity in this study. In addition, in the study of Hu et al. (26) only 57 kinds of food were investigated. In comparison, most of the food types investigated were more than 80 kinds in other studies, which might not obtain accurate vitamin intake, resulting in the heterogeneity of vitamin E.

Compared with other tissues, the brain has active metabolism and can produce many reactive oxygen species.

Still, the brain has low antioxidant defense ability, leading to DNA loss and tumor development (37). A case-control study of dietary antioxidants and glioma conducted by Tedeschi Blok et al. found that a higher intake of vitamin C was associated with a reduced risk of glioma (RR = 0.70, 95% CI:0.51-0.94) (14). Preston-martin et al. found that prenatal vitamin C supplementation could significantly reduce the risk of brain tumors in children (RR = 0.50, 95% CI:0.30-0.90). There was a dose-response relationship between intake and brain tumor risk (25). On the one hand, vitamin C could inhibit and reduce N-acetyltransferase activity and the formation of 2-aminofluorene-DNA adduct in rat C6 glioma cells in a dosedependent manner (38). On the other hand, the rat experiment found that two markers related to brain tumor proliferation, platelet-derived growth factor receptor (PDGFRb), were found in rats fed with antioxidants such as vitamin C. Furthermore, Ki-67 transcripts were significantly reduced, suggesting that vitamin C could limit the invasiveness of brain tumors (39). In addition, some studies had found that vitamin C could inhibit the growth of glioblastoma through the caspase-3 death pathway and then assist the treatment of glioblastoma with methotrexate (40). Although our results did not find the protective effect of vitamin E intake on brain tumors, which was consistent with the results of two cohort studies in the United States (15, 28), the survival rate of patients with high vitamin E intake was higher in patients with grade III malignant glioma (41). Moreover, vitamin E derivatives reduced the incidence of pituitary tumors in X-ray-irradiated mice (42). We could not rule out the individual metabolic differences of vitamin E, resulting in inconsistent results. The results of prospective glioma serum metabolomics showed that serum a-tocopherol (the most bioactive form of vitamin E) concentrations were significantly negatively correlated with glioma risk (34), which was consistent with the results of the meta-analysis of serum α-tocopherol. We found that vitamin A intake had no significant effect on brain tumors. At present, there was no cohort study to explore the association between vitamin A and brain tumors, and the conclusions of case-control studies were inconsistent. Still, the previous meta-analysis showed that vitamin A could reduce the risk of glioma (RR = 0.80, 95% CI = 0.62–0.98,  $I^2$ = 54.9%) (13). There were few studies on the mechanism of vitamin A and brain tumors. Some studies believed that brain tumors were closely related to retinoic acid, the metabolite of vitamin A and the level of retinoic acid-binding protein 2 in brain tumors were low related to the survival rate of patients (43). Although the relationship between vitamin A and brain tumors was not clear,  $\beta$ -carotene, as a precursor of vitamin A, showed a protective effect on brain tumors. Tedeschi Blok et al. found that the average intake of  $\beta$ -carotene in the control population was 252.8 mg/day (RR = 0.72, 95% CI:0.54-0.98) higher than that in patients with brain tumors, and the serum  $\beta$ -carotene concentration in patients with brain tumors was also significantly lower than that in healthy people (44). Cell experiments confirmed that β-carotene could effectively inhibit DNA synthesis in growing C-6 glioma cells (45). In addition, in the study of vegetable intake and brain tumors, it was also found that compared with other vegetables, orange vegetables rich in β-carotene had a stronger protective effect on brain tumors (11, 46). This study was the first time that folate could reduce the risk of brain tumors in the meta-analysis, which was consistent with the results of many epidemiological studies (17, 32). In recent years, the effect of folate on brain tumors had attracted much attention, especially in children. It had been found that the deficiency of folate metabolism might play an important role in the pathogenesis of some specific subtypes of brain tumors in children, especially embryonic central nervous system tumors (47). The mechanism might be related to the folate receptor. On the one hand, the folate receptor was found to be overexpressed in ependymoma, medulloblastoma, and other common malignant tumors of children's central nervous system (48, 49). Moreover, folate supplementation can enhance DNA remethylation through SP1/SP3 mediated transcriptional upregulation of DNMT3a and DNMT3b protein-coding genes to limit the invasiveness of glioma (50). In addition, targeted folate metabolism had selective cytotoxicity to glioma stem cells and can effectively cooperate with differentiation therapy to eliminate tumor-initiating cells in xenogeneic glioma grafts (51). However, only a few studies had reported the association between vitamin B and brain tumors, and the results were not significant. We also did not find any relevant research on dietary vitamin D and brain tumors. Since sunlight could promote vitamin D synthesis in vivo, it seemed more scientific to evaluate its effect on brain tumors through vitamin D concentration in vivo. Although experimental studies had shown that Vitamin D could promote cell cycle arrest and induce cell death to suppress tumor growth in glioblastoma (52, 53). However, no significant effect of vitamin D on brain tumors was found in epidemiological studies (31, 33).

So far, this was the largest meta-analysis of vitamins and brain tumors. Therefore, this study had several advantages. First, this study was the first meta-analysis involving the effects of multivitamins on brain tumors, including seven vitamins. The protective effects of β-carotene and folate on brain tumors were found in a meta-analysis for the first time. The doseresponse relationship between folate and the risk of brain tumors was explored, which provided new evidence for preventing brain tumors. Second, this study also explored the relationship between vitamin concentration in serum and brain tumors to confirm the actual effect of vitamin intake. Third, we thoroughly discussed the sources of heterogeneity of the research results and improved the accuracy of the significant results. However, the study also had limitations. This study failed to further explore the relationship between vitamin and brain tumor subtypes. The incidence rate of brain tumors is very low, and the annual incidence rate was only 22.6/10 million (1). Although our current study included most observational studies of vitamins

and brain tumors, the sample size was still limited compared with other tumor studies. In addition, glioma is the most common brain tumor. Therefore, most of the current related studies focused on gliomas or brain tumors, especially in metaanalyses and systematic reviews (54, 55). In the search process, we did not find any studies that met the inclusion criteria, and the subjects had meningioma, germ cell tumor, or other brain tumor diseases. As a considerable part of the exposed population was pregnant women, and the outcomes of relevant studies were child brain tumors, this might cause some heterogeneity in the analysis process. However, we discussed the results of pregnancy exposure and self-exposure in the subgroup analysis and obtained similar results in some vitamins (such as folate). Most studies could only provide the source of intake of a particular vitamin (diet or supplement), so it was impossible to comprehensively evaluate the relationship between the overall intake of vitamins and brain tumors. Next, for the study of vitamin concentrations in vivo, only vitamin D and vitamin E provide sufficient articles, and there were too few studies on the concentrations of other vitamins to explore their correlation fully. We hope to improve the relevant analysis by adding more articles in future research.

## Conclusion

In summary, the current meta-analysis shows that higher intakes of vitamin C,  $\beta$ -carotene, and folate can reduce the risk of brain tumors. At the same time, high serum  $\alpha$ -tocopherol concentration also has a protective effect on brain tumors. Therefore, vitamins may provide new ideas for the prevention of brain tumors. In the future, we should pay attention to the compounds with antioxidant effects in the diet to further discover their effects on brain tumors.

#### Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

#### References

1. Barnholtz-Sloan JS, Ostrom QT, Cote D. Epidemiology of brain tumors. *Neurol Clin.* (2018) 36:395–419. doi: 10.1016/j.ncl.2018.04.001

2. McNeill KA. Epidemiology of brain tumors. *Neurol Clin.* (2016) 34:981–98. doi: 10.1016/j.ncl.2016.06.014

3. Butowski NA. Epidemiology and diagnosis of brain tumors. *Continuum*. (2015) 21:301–13. doi: 10.1212/01.CON.0000464171.50638.fa

4. D'Archivio M, Santangelo C, Scazzocchio B, Vari R, Filesi C, Masella R, et al. Modulatory effects of polyphenols on apoptosis induction: Relevance for cancer prevention. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2008) 9:213–28. doi: 10.3390/ijms9030213

### Author contributions

WL and WZ contributed to the conception or design of the work, WZ, JJ, and YH contributed to searching the databases. WZ, JJ, and XL contributed to the acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data for the work. WZ, XL, and SY proofread and modified the language. WL and FC reviewed and edited the manuscript. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

## Funding

This study was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of Beijing (No. J200003) and the National Science and Technology Major Project of China (No. 2016ZX09101017).

## **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's Note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

## Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fnut.2022.935706/full#supplementary-material

5. Pouliquen D, Olivier C, Hervouet E, Pedelaborde F, Debien E, Le Cabellec MT, et al. Dietary prevention of malignant glioma aggressiveness, implications in oxidant stress and apoptosis. *Int J Cancer.* (2008) 123:288–95. doi: 10.1002/ijc.23513

6. Khoshyomn S, Nathan D, Manske GC, Osler TM, Penar PL. Synergistic effect of genistein and BCNU on growth inhibition and cytotoxicity of glioblastoma cells. *J Neurooncol.* (2002) 57:193–200. doi: 10.1023/a:1015765616484

7. Pawlowska E, Szczepanska J, Blasiak J. Pro- and antioxidant effects of vitamin c in cancer in correspondence to its dietary and pharmacological concentrations. *Oxid Med Cell Longev.* (2019) 2019:7286737. doi: 10.1155/2019/7286737
8. Abraham A, Kattoor AJ, Saldeen T, Mehta JL. Vitamin E and its anticancer effects. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2019) 59:2831-8. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2018.1474169

9. Bielecka J, Markiewicz-Zukowska R. The influence of nutritional and lifestyle factors on glioma incidence. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:1812. doi: 10.3390/nu12061812

10. Jeon SM, Shin EA. Exploring vitamin D metabolism and function in cancer. *Exp Mol Med.* (2018) 50:1–14. doi: 10.1038/s12276-018-0038-9

11. Chen H, Ward MH, Tucker KL, Graubard BI, McComb RD, Potischman NA, et al. Diet and risk of adult glioma in eastern Nebraska, United States. *Cancer Causes Control.* (2002) 13:647–55. doi: 10.1023/a:1019527225197

12. Giles GG, McNeil JJ, Donnan G, Webley C, Staples MP, Ireland PD, et al. Dietary factors and the risk of glioma in adults: results of a case-control study in Melbourne, Australia. *Int J Cancer*. (1994) 59:357–62. doi: 10.1002/ijc.2910590311

13. Lv W, Zhong X, Xu L, Han W. Association between dietary Vitamin a intake and the risk of Glioma: evidence from a meta-analysis. *Nutrients.* (2015) 7:8897–904. doi: 10.3390/nu7115438

14. Tedeschi-Blok N, Lee M, Sison JD, Miike R, Wrensch M. Inverse association of antioxidant and phytoestrogen nutrient intake with adult glioma in the San Francisco Bay area: a case-control study. *BMC Cancer.* (2006) 6:148. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-6-148

15. Dubrow R, Darefsky AS, Park Y, Mayne ST, Moore SC, Kilfoy B, et al. Dietary components related to N-nitroso compound formation: a prospective study of adult glioma. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2010) 19:1709-22. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-10-0225

16. Schwartzbaum JA, Cornwell DG. Oxidant stress and glioblastoma multiforme risk: serum antioxidants, gamma-glutamyl transpeptidase, and ferritin. *Nutr Cancer*. (2000) 38:40–9. doi: 10.1207/S15327914NC381\_7

17. Milne E, Greenop KR, Bower C, Miller M, van Bockxmeer FM, Scott RJ, et al. Maternal use of folic acid and other supplements and risk of childhood brain tumors. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2012) 21:1933–41. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-12-0803

18. Stang A. Critical evaluation of the Newcastle-Ottawa scale for the assessment of the quality of nonrandomized studies in meta-analyses. *Eur J Epidemiol.* (2010) 25:603–5. doi: 10.1007/s10654-010-9491-z

19. Greenland S, Longnecker MP. Methods for trend estimation from summarized dose-response data, with applications to meta-analysis. *Am J Epidemiol.* (1992) 135:1301–9. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a116237

20. Howe GR, Burch JD, Chiarelli AM, Risch HA, Choi BC. An exploratory case-control study of brain tumors in children. *Cancer Res.* (1989) 49:4349-52.

21. Boeing H, Schlehofer B, Blettner M, Wahrendorf J. Dietary carcinogens and the risk for glioma and meningioma in Germany. *Int J Cancer.* (1993) 53:561–5. doi: 10.1002/ijc.2910530406

22. Bunin GR, Kuijten RR, Boesel CP, Buckley JD, Meadows AT. Maternal diet and risk of astrocytic glioma in children: a report from the childrens cancer group (United States and Canada). *Cancer Causes Control.* (1994) 5:177–87. doi: 10.1007/BF01830264

23. Blowers L, Preston-Martin S, Mack WJ. Dietary and other lifestyle factors of women with brain gliomas in Los Angeles County (California, USA). *Cancer Causes Control.* (1997) 8:5–12. doi: 10.1023/a:1018437031987

24. Lee M, Wrensch M, Miike R. Dietary and tobacco risk factors for adult onset glioma in the San Francisco Bay Area (California, USA). *Cancer Causes Control.* (1997) 8:13–24. doi: 10.1023/a:1018470802969

25. Preston-Martin S, Pogoda JM, Mueller BA, Lubin F, Holly EA, Filippini G, et al. Prenatal vitamin supplementation and risk of childhood brain tumors. *Int J Cancer Suppl.* (1998) 11:17–22.

26. Hu J, La Vecchia C, Negri E, Chatenoud L, Bosetti C, Jia X, et al. Diet and brain cancer in adults: a case-control study in northeast China. *Int J Cancer*. (1999) 81:20–3. doi: 10.1002/(sici)1097-0215(19990331)81:1<20::aid-ijc4>3.0.co;2-2

27. Holick CN, Giovannucci EL, Rosner B, Stampfer MJ, Michaud DS. Prospective study of intake of fruit, vegetables, and carotenoids and the risk of adult glioma. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2007) 85:877–86. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/85.3.877

28. Michaud DS, Holick CN, Batchelor TT, Giovannucci E, Hunter DJ. Prospective study of meat intake and dietary nitrates, nitrites, and nitrosamines and risk of adult glioma. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2009) 90:570–7. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.2008.27199

29. Stalberg K, Haglund B, Stromberg B, Kieler H. Prenatal exposure to medicines and the risk of childhood brain tumor. *Cancer Epidemiol.* (2010) 34:400-4. doi: 10.1016/j.canep.2010.04.018

30. Greenop KR, Miller M, de Klerk NH, Scott RJ, Attia J, Ashton LJ, et al. Maternal dietary intake of folate and vitamins B6 and B12 during

pregnancy and risk of childhood brain tumors. Nutr Cancer. (2014) 66:800-9. doi: 10.1080/01635581.2014.916326

31. Bhatti P, Doody DR, Mckean-Cowdin R, Mueller BA. Neonatal vitamin D and childhood brain tumor risk. Int J Cancer. (2015) 136:2481–5. doi: 10.1002/ijc.29291

32. Greenop KR, Miller M, Bailey HD, de Klerk NH, Attia J, Kellie SJ, et al. Childhood folate, B6, B12, and food group intake and the risk of childhood brain tumors: Results from an Australian case-control study. *Cancer Causes Control.* (2015) 26:871–9. doi: 10.1007/s10552-015-0562-z

33. Zigmont V, Garrett A, Peng J, Seweryn M, Rempala GA, Harris R, et al. Association between prediagnostic serum 25-Hydroxyvitamin d concentration and glioma. *Nutr Cancer.* (2015) 67:1120–30. doi: 10.1080/01635581.2015.1073757

34. Huang J, Weinstein SJ, Kitahara CM, Karoly ED, Sampson JN, Albanes D, et al. prospective study of serum metabolites and glioma risk. *Oncotarget.* (2017) 8:70366–77. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.19705

35. Heydari M, Shayanfar M, Sharifi G, Saneei P, Sadeghi O, Esmaillzadeh A. The association between dietary total antioxidant capacity and glioma in adults. *Nutr Cancer*. (2021) 73:1947–56. doi: 10.1080/01635581.2020.1817954

36. Yue Y, Creed JH, Cote DJ, Stampfer MJ, Wang M, Midttun O, et al. Prediagnostic circulating concentrations of fat-soluble vitamins and risk of glioma in three cohort studies. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:9318. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-88485-0

37. Metodiewa D, Koska C. Reactive oxygen species and reactive nitrogen species: Relevance to cyto(neuro)toxic events and neurologic disorders. *Overv Neurotox Res.* (2000) 1:197–233. doi: 10.1007/BF03033290

 Hung CF, Lu KH. Vitamin C inhibited DNA adduct formation and arylamine N-acetyltransferase activity and gene expression in rat glial tumor cells. *Neurochem Res.* (2001) 26:1107–12. doi: 10.1023/a:1012314705007

39. Hervouet E, Staehlin O, Pouliquen D, Debien E, Cartron PF, Menanteau J, et al. Antioxidants delay clinical signs and systemic effects of ENU induced brain tumors in rats. *Nutr Cancer.* (2013) 65:686–94. doi: 10.1080/01635581.2013.789541

40. Yiang GT, Chen TY, Chen C, Hung YT, Hsueh KC, Wu TK, et al. Antioxidant vitamins promote anticancer effects on low-concentration methotrexate-treated glioblastoma cells via enhancing the caspase-3 death pathway. *Food Sci Nutr.* (2021) 9:3308–16. doi: 10.1002/fsn3.2298

41. DeLorenze GN, McCoy L, Tsai AL, Quesenberry CJ, Rice T. Il'Yasova D, et al. Daily intake of antioxidants in relation to survival among adult patients diagnosed with malignant glioma. *Bmc Cancer*. (2010) 10:215. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-10-215

42. Ueno M, Inano H, Onoda M, Murase H, Ikota N, Kagiya TV, et al. Modification of mortality and tumorigenesis by tocopherol-mono-glucoside (TMG) administered after X irradiation in mice and rats. *Radiat Res.* (2009) 172:519–24. doi: 10.1667/RR1695.1

43. Liu RZ Li S, Garcia E, Glubrecht DD, Poon HY, Easaw JC, et al. Association between cytoplasmic CRABP2, altered retinoic acid signaling, and poor prognosis in glioblastoma. *Glia*. (2016) 64:963–76. doi: 10.1002/glia.22976

44. Aggarwal S, Subberwal M, Kumar S, Sharma M. Brain tumor and role of betacarotene, a-tocopherol, superoxide dismutase and glutathione peroxidase. *J Cancer Res Ther.* (2006) 2:24–7. doi: 10.4103/0973-1482.19771

45. Wang CJ, Lin JK. Inhibitory effects of carotenoids and retinoids on the in vitro growth of rat C-6 glioma cells. *Proc Natl Sci Counc Repub China B.* (1989) 13:176–83.

46. Terry MB, Howe G, Pogoda JM, Zhang FF, Ahlbom A, Choi W, et al. An international case-control study of adult diet and brain tumor risk: a histology-specific analysis by food group. *Ann Epidemiol.* (2009) 19:161–71. doi: 10.1016/j.annepidem.2008.12.010

47. Sirachainan N, Wongruangsri S, Kajanachumpol S, Pakakasama S, Visudtibhan A, Nuchprayoon I, et al. Folate pathway genetic polymorphisms and susceptibility of central nervous system tumors in Thai children. *Cancer Detect Prev.* (2008) 32:72–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cdp.2008.02.004

48. Liu H, Sun Q, Zhang M, Zhang Z, Fan X, Yuan H, et al. Differential expression of folate receptor 1 in medulloblastoma and the correlation with clinicopathological characters and target therapeutic potential. *Oncotarget.* (2017) 8:23048–60. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.15480

49. Guo J, Schlich M, Cryan JF, O'Driscoll CM. Targeted drug delivery via folate receptors for the treatment of brain cancer: Can the promise deliver? *J Pharm Sci.* (2017) 106:3413–20. doi: 10.1016/j.xphs.2017.08.009

50. Hervouet E, Debien E, Campion L, Charbord J, Menanteau J, Vallette FM, et al. Folate supplementation limits the aggressiveness of glioma via the remethylation of DNA repeats element and genes governing apoptosis and proliferation. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2009) 15:3519–29. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-2062

51. Okada M, Suzuki S, Togashi K, Sugai A, Yamamoto M, Kitanaka C. Targeting folate metabolism is selectively cytotoxic to glioma stem cells and

effectively cooperates with differentiation therapy to eliminate Tumor-Initiating cells in glioma xenografts. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2021) 22:1633. doi: 10.3390/ijms2221 11633

52. Lo CS, Kiang KM, Leung GK. Anti-tumor effects of vitamin D in glioblastoma: Mechanism and therapeutic implications. *Lab Invest.* (2022) 102:118–25. doi: 10.1038/s41374-021-00673-8

53. Baudet C, Perret E, Delpech B, Kaghad M, Brachet P, Wion D, et al. Differentially expressed genes in C69 glioma cells during vitamin D-induced

cell death program. Cell Death Differ. (1998) 5:116–25. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd. 4400327

54. Said AK, Essien EE, Abbas M, Yu X, Xie W, Sun J, et al. Association between dietary nitrate, nitrite intake, and site-specific cancer risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutrients*. (2022) 14:666. doi: 10.3390/nu14030666

55. Essien EE, Said AK, Cote A, Mohamed KS, Baig M, Habib M, et al. Drinkingwater nitrate and cancer risk: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Arch Environ Occup Health*. (2022) 77:51–67. doi: 10.1080/19338244.2020.1842313

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Surasak Saokaew, University of Phayao, Thailand

#### REVIEWED BY

Anchalee Rawangkan, University of Phayao, Thailand Karolina Skonieczna-Żydecka, Pomeranian Medical University, Poland

\*CORRESPONDENCE Mohammad Hassan Eftekhari h\_eftekhari@yahoo.com

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Clinical Nutrition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

RECEIVED 13 August 2022 ACCEPTED 01 September 2022 PUBLISHED 28 September 2022

#### CITATION

Mahboobi S, Ghasvarian M, Ghaem H, Alipour H, Alipour S and Eftekhari MH (2022) Effects of probiotic and magnesium co-supplementation on mood, cognition, intestinal barrier function and inflammation in individuals with obesity and depressed mood: A randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial. *Front. Nutr.* 9:1018357. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.1018357

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Mahboobi, Ghasvarian, Ghaem, Alipour, Alipour and Eftekhari. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Effects of probiotic and magnesium

co-supplementation on mood, cognition, intestinal barrier function and inflammation in individuals with obesity and depressed mood: A randomized, double-blind placebo-controlled clinical trial

# Sepideh Mahboobi<sup>1</sup>, Marzieh Ghasvarian<sup>1</sup>, Haleh Ghaem<sup>2</sup>, Hamzeh Alipour<sup>3</sup>, Shohreh Alipour<sup>4</sup> and Mohammad Hassan Eftekhari<sup>5</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Student Research Committee, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran, <sup>2</sup>Department of Epidemiology, Non-communicable Diseases Research Center, School of Health, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran, <sup>3</sup>Department of Vector Biology and Control of Diseases, Research Center for Health Sciences, Institute of Health, School of Health, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran, <sup>4</sup>Department of Pharmaceutics, Department of Pharmaceutical Quality Control, School of Pharmacy, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran, <sup>5</sup>Department of Clinical Nutrition, School of Nutrition and Food Sciences, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran

**Background:** The co-occurrence of obesity and mood impairments named as "metabolic mood syndrome" (MMS) is often neglected in the obesity management. This study aimed to evaluate effects of Probio-Tec <sup>®</sup>BG-VCap-6.5 and magnesium co-supplementation on mood, cognition, intestinal barrier function and serum C reactive protein (CRP) levels in participants with obesity and depressed mood.

**Design:** Seventy-four eligible participants were randomly allocated to either Probio-Tec<sup>®</sup>BG-VCap-6.5 [containing *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* (LGG<sup>®</sup>) and *Bifidobacterium animalis* subsp. *Lactis* (BB-12<sup>®</sup>)] + Magnesium chloride or placebo for 9 weeks. Sociodemographic data were collected in the beginning. Anthropometric, dietary and physical activity (PA) assessments were carried out. Beck Depression Inventory-II (BDI-II) and Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) scores were assessed through validated questionnaires. Fasting plasma zonulin, lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and (CRP) were measured by ELIZA kits.

**Results:** Of seventy-four participants (mean age  $37.51 \pm 8.10$ ), 52 completed the study. Changes in serum LPS and zonulin were not different significantly between groups ( $-3.04 \pm 44.75 \text{ ng/dl}$ ,  $0.11 \pm 5.13$ , ng/dl, p > 0.05 for LPS and  $1.40 \pm 48.78 \text{ ng/dl}$ ,  $-0.17 \pm 6.60$ , p > 0.05 for zonulin, respectively).

CRP levels reduced significantly in intervention group compared to placebo [-474.75 (-1,300.00, -125.00) mg/l vs. 175.20 (-957.75, 1,683.25) mg/l, p = 0.016]. Changes in BDI-II and MoCA scores were not significantly different between intervention (-7.13 ± 5.67, 1.20 ± 2.16, respectively) and placebo (-5.42 ± 6.71, 1.94 ± 1.86, respectively) groups (p > 0.05).

**Conclusion:** Nine weeks of probiotic and magnesium co-supplementation resulted in decreased CRP levels as an indicator of inflammatory state with no significant effects on mood, cognition and intestinal integrity in individuals with obesity and depressed mood.

KEYWORDS

obesity, mood, intestinal integrity, inflammation, cognition, probiotics

### Introduction

Obesity, characterized by excessive body fat accumulation (1), is one of the most important features of metabolic syndrome (METs) associated with multiple comorbidities contributing to a lower life expectancy (2, 3). Obesity was responsible for 120 million disability-adjusted life years (DALYs), equal to 4.9% of all DALYs in 2015 (4).

According to World Health Organization (WHO), the worldwide prevalence of overweight and obesity was 39 and 13%, respectively (5). Obesity prevalence was estimated to be 22.7% in the Iranian population (6).

Research has revealed that obesity is not just a simple imbalance between calorie intake and expenditure, but a more complex neurobiological condition manifesting anxiety, depression, binge eating, and mild cognitive impairment (7, 8). A bidirectional relationship has been shown between obesity and neuropsychiatric status (9), which constitutes an illness subtype named "metabolic-mood-syndrome" (MMS) with distinct pathophysiological mechanisms, different clinical manifestation and treatment response compared to each condition, separately (10–12).

Mood disorders manifest several pathological features most of which overlap with obesity, making them powerful candidates for the etiology of MMS. Gut dysbiosis, impaired intestinal permeability, cytokine imbalances and chronic low grade systemic inflammation can be regarded as some important key players in the etiology of MMS (13–15).

The human gastrointestinal (GI) tract is resided by a large microbial community named as gut microbiota (16). Metagenomic analysis of this microbial population has revealed that intestinal microbiota can act as a metabolic organ with a variety of physiological functions including immune modulation and metabolic function (17). Several studies has reported an association between obesity and changes in both composition and function of gut microbiota including an increase in opportunistic pathogens, reduced short chain fatty acid (SCFA)

producer genera and increased capacity to harvest energy from diet (18). These alterations namely gut dysbiosis (19) can impair gut physiology and disrupt intestinal barrier integrity (20–22). Gut dysbiosis is directly associated with obesity (19) and can negatively impact gut physiology and disrupt intestinal barrier integrity (20–22). Impaired intestinal permeability leads to elevated circulating bacterial derived Lipopolysaccharides (LPS) which activates Toll Like Receptor-4 (TLR-4) located on the surface of macrophages (23–25) which in turn triggers systemic and neuro-inflammation (22). Zonulin reversibly regulates intestinal tight junction proteins (occludin and zonula occludens-1) (26, 27) and is strongly correlated with the lactulose: mannitol ratio (28) which makes it a useful marker of intestinal permeability (26).

Modern world, including developing countries, has experienced a shift to more consumption of high calorie, high fat westernized diets (29, 30) which not only impair gut microbial diversity (19), but also lead to inadequate intake of micronutrients, such as vitamin B-6, magnesium, calcium and zinc, in the long run (31, 32). Magnesium is an essential micronutrient with a variety of functions in metabolism, neurotransmission and immunomodulation (33, 34). Magnesium deficiency can contribute to systemic and neuro-inflammation and involves in the pathogenesis of metabolic and psychiatric disorders (34-36). New studies are indicative of a direct association between gut microbiota and the variations in dietary magnesium intake. Some animal studies have shown that magnesium administration can enhance SCFA concentrations and gut microbiota diversity (37, 38). Magnesium deficient diet on the other hand, resulted in decreased gut Bifidobacterium, lower mRNA levels of tight junction proteins, as well as increased levels of Tumor Necrosis Factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ) and IL-6 (39). Inadequate magnesium intake is also associated with elevated CRP levels, a common indicator of inflammatory state (40). A very recent review focused on studies in the last 3 years, has reported the possibility of adding magnesium orotate and probiotic as an adjunct treatment in individuals suffering from both GI and psychiatric disorders focusing on their ability to modulate gut-brain axis (37).

Probiotics are beneficial micro-organisms that can improve their host's health through restoration of gut microbial communities, improving intestinal barrier integrity and immunomodulation (41, 42) and suppression of body weight gain (43). Some probiotics can positively impact mental health and alleviate depressive symptoms, which are specifically called psychobiotics (44, 45). Based on evidence, several pathways can be hypothesized through which probiotics exert beneficial effects on gut-brain axis making them capable of alleviating MMS; SCFAs as a major metabolite of probiotics, participate in antiinflammatory processes leading to increased production of IL-8 and improved gut barrier tightness (44). These SCFAs can also exert anti-obesity functions by increasing insulin sensitivity and fatty acid oxidation and decreasing fat accumulation, through the activation of AMP kinase (Adenosine Monophosphate activated Kinase) in muscles (46). Probiotic supplements suppress the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-6 and IL-17, and promote the expression of tight junction proteins (Zo-1, claudin-1, and occludin) (47).

Species from *Bifidobacteria* and *Lactobacilli* genera have gained the most interest in probiotic and psychobiotic- related studies (48, 49).

Studies regarding effects of probiotics on weight management, inflammation, intestinal permeability, depression and cognition, have reported inconsistent findings (42, 44, 45, 50-53). Although many clinical trials exist in the field of probiotics and obesity, to our knowledge no clinical study has targeted psychology and gut brain axis for probiotic interventions in MMS management. The anti-depressant role of magnesium has been well established in previous research (54). However, clinical studies investigating its role in improving gut barrier function is scarce. Since both magnesium and probiotics have the ability to improve gut-brain axis, we assumed their combination might exert more beneficial effects than each intervention, separately.

Gathering all these evidence and assumptions together, we designed a clinical trial evaluating effects of probiotic and magnesium co-supplementation on some parameters related to gut-brain axis in individuals with MMS.

#### Subjects, material, and methods

#### Sample size determination

A sample size of 60 (30 per group) was calculated based on a previous study by Steenburgen et al. (55), considering BDI-II as main variable, type I error 0.05 and type II error of 0.20 (power 80%). With a predicted attrition rate of 20%, the sample size was increased to 72 (36 per group).

# Participants, randomization, and procedures

Seventy-four men and women with obesity and depressed mood participated in this 9-week, double-blind, placebo controlled randomized clinical trial. Through local advertisements and social media, recruitment was conducted consecutively from October 2020 to February 2021, in Nutrition clinic, Imam Reza Hospital, affiliated with Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran. In an initial screening phase, volunteers were evaluated for eligibility based on the following criteria: age 18–50 years, body mass index (BMI)  $\ge$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>, waist circumference (WC)  $\geq$  88 cm for women and 102 cm for men, and BDI-II scores between 14 and 28 (with the approval of a clinical psychiatrist). Further criteria were as follows: being non-smoker, non-alcohol/opioid addict, not suffering from any chronic condition (renal/liver/gastrointestinal/lung diseases, diabetes, severe neuropsychological or mental disorders and infections), not having a history of stroke, not taking antidepressants, anti-inflammatory drugs and corticosteroids and not being in pregnancy, lactation and menopause states. Furthermore, participants must have not taken antibiotics, probiotic, magnesium and omega 3 supplements, at least 1 month prior to the study commencement. Because of COVID-19 pandemic, confirmed cases of COVID-19 and those with any usual symptoms of COVID-19 were not included in the study. Exclusion criteria were: any changes in usual diet, medication and physical activity, starting antibiotic therapy, the occurrence of any side effects which would stop by discontinuation of intervention and non-compliance to research instructions. The study protocol was drafted and conducted according to Declaration of Helsinki (56) and CONSORT statements (57), registered in Iranian Registry of Clinical Trials (IRCT ID: IRCT20191127045525N1) and approved by the ethics committee of Shiraz University of Medical Sciences (approval code:IR.SUMS.REC.1398.1375). After providing a written informed consent, subjects started a 2-week run- in period. In this phase, for ethical reasons, all participants were first given a general consultation for lifestyle improvement and were asked to keep their diet, physical activity and usual medications constant during run-in and intervention periods. No weight loss or specific diets were provided. Participants were also asked to avoid taking probiotic products, magnesium and omega3, as well as any anti-inflammatory or pain relieving medications during the study.

After an overnight fast and providing blood samples, participants were assessed for demographic characteristics, diet, physical activity, anthropometric parameters and cognition, and were then randomly allocated into either intervention (n = 39) or placebo (n = 35) groups through block randomization with blocks of four. Allocation order was concealed from research executors by sealed opaque envelopes containing A or B, by

a third party who was not actively involved in recruitment process. Subjects in the intervention group received two separate Probio-Tec<sup>®</sup> BG-VCap-6.5 and magnesium chloride capsules (one capsule each) while those in placebo group received two placebo capsules for 9 weeks, on a daily basis. Subjects were instructed to store the capsules in refrigerator and take one of each after main meal. Products and compliance checklists were distributed in the start and middle (forth week) of the study. Participants were asked to record any adverse events and were in every-day contact with a trained executor through phone calls and text messages to keep compliance and discuss any probable questions. After 9 weeks of intervention a final visit was arranged to obtain post- intervention fasting blood samples, psychological and cognitive assessments, evaluating compliance and gathering dietary and physical activity data.

#### Study products and blinding

Probiotics (Probio-Tec®BG-VCap-6.5) were a research fund received from Chr. Hansen company (Copenhagen, Demark) and contained Lactobacillus rhamnosus (LGG<sup>®</sup>) and Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. Lactis (BB-12<sup>®</sup>) in a ratio of 1:1 with a potency of  $1.8 \times 10^{10}$  CFU (Colony Forming Unit) per cap. Magnesium chloride powder was purchased (Pharmbio Inc., Korea), processed and capsulated in laboratory of pharmacy department, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran. Each capsule contained 500 mg magnesium chloride which provided 125 mg elemental magnesium (~31 and 41% RDA for women and men, respectively). While the original protocol was to provide 250 mg elemental magnesium, which needed participants to take magnesium capsules twice per day, for better compliance we decided to provide 125 mg elemental magnesium once per day. Placebos contained maltodextrin and were similar in shape, color, weight and packaging to either probiotic or magnesium chloride capsules. Therefore, neither participants nor research executors were capable of distinguishing active products vs. placebos until the analyses were completed.

# Demographic, dietary, and physical activity assessment

Data regarding general demographic, medical history and socioeconomic factors were gathered using a questionnaire designed by research team. For dietary assessments, participants filled three 24-h food records (two weekdays and one weekend day) in the start and in the last week of study period. Daily calorie and nutrient intakes were then calculated by Nutritionist IV software (First Databank, San Bruno, CA, USA) using Iranian food composition database. Three 24-h physical activity (PA) dairies were completed by participants before and at the end of study duration (58). PA was then calculated as metabolic equivalents in hour per day (METs-hrs/day). To compute METs for each activity we calculated daily hours a person had spent on that specific activity. MET-hrs of all daily activities were then summed to calculate daily physical activity.

#### Anthropometric assessment

Body weight was measured with 100 g precision using a Seca scale (Seca, Germany) while subjects were in light clothing and barefoot. Height was measured with 0.1 cm precision using wall mountable height rod on a flat surface with barefoot. The narrowest part between lowest rib and iliac crest was marked for measuring WC with an un-stretchable tape with 0.1 cm precision. BMI was calculated by dividing weight (kg) to height squared ( $m^2$ ).

#### Psychologic and cognitive assessments

For mood assessment we used Beck Depression Inventory II (BDI-II), a 21-item self-administered questionnaire. For each item participants were instructed to choose the best option that described their mood during the last 2 weeks. Options of each item are rated from 0 to 3 based on symptom severity and the final score is a sum of all scores ranging from 0 to 63. Scores between 14 and 28 are indicative of mild to moderate depression. BDI-II is the most commonly used instrument for screening of depression in general population. It has a high internal consistency, reliability and structural validity and has shown the capacity to discriminate between depressed and non-depressed subjects and can be applicable for research and clinical practice worldwide (59-61). The reliability and validity of Persian BDI-II was confirmed in previous studies (60). Cognition was evaluated by Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) tool. The scoring is based on Visuospatial and executive functioning (5 points), animal naming (3 points), attention (6 points), language (3 points), abstraction (2 points), delayed recall (5 points), orientation (6 points) plus 1 extra point for those who have <12 years of formal education. Persian MoCA is validated by Z. Nasreddin and is available on www.mocatest.org.

#### **Biochemical analyses**

After an overnight fast (10 h), 5 cc blood samples were collected between 07:30 to 9:30 a.m. Samples were then centrifuged at  $3,000\times$ , serum was separated and stored at  $-70^{\circ}$ C till analysis. Serum Zonulin and LPS were analyzed by Enzyme-linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELIZA) kits (both:

Shanghai Crystal Day Biotech Co., China) following the instruction manual. Serum CRP was analyzed by ELIZA kit (LDN, Nordhorn, Germany) according to the manufacturer's instruction. Serum magnesium was measured by a commercially available kit (ZistChem Diagnostics, Tehran, Iran) using colorimetric method with autoanalyzer.

#### Statistical analysis

Data was analyzed using SPSS software (ver.17, for windows, SPSS Inc., Chicago, USA). Normal distribution of quantitative variables was assessed using Shapiro-Wilk test as well as normality curves. Mean  $\pm$  SD and median (Q1, Q3) were used to present normally and non-normally distributed variables, respectively. Categorical variables were presented as numbers and percentages. To calculate missing data for dropouts, imputation technique was carried out using mean differences obtained from existing data. In case of normal distribution, Within-group and between group comparisons were conducted using paired sample t-test and independent sample t-test, respectively. For skewed variables we applied their equivalent non-parametric tests including Wilcoxon signed ranked test and Mann-Whitney U test. Categorical variables were compared between groups by applying chi-2 test. For all tests, p-value  $\leq$ 0.05 was considered significant.

### Results

Of 207 volunteers, 74 eligible subjects (58 women and 16 men) were randomized to either intervention or placebo groups. Fifty- two participants completed the study and were included in the final analysis. However, due to dropouts, data for missing values were computed based on imputation method explained in the previous section. Figure 1 demonstrates the study CONSORT flowchart. Mean  $\pm$  SD age, BMI and BDI-II scores of study participants were 37.51  $\pm$  8.10, 34.42  $\pm$  3.60, 21.95  $\pm$  7.77, respectively. Participants' baseline characteristics are presented in Table 1 compared by study group. As shown in the table, no significant differences exist between study groups in terms of age, sex BMI, WC, BDI-II, serum magnesium and sociodemographic factors at the baseline which is indicative of appropriate randomization process. Table 2 demonstrates data on calorie and nutrient intakes as well as PA of participants in the beginning and after 9 weeks. No significant withingroup and between group changes were observed regarding calorie, macronutrient and micronutrient intake as well as PA, during the study. Effects of probiotic and magnesium co-supplementation on study outcomes are shown in Table 3. Serum levels of LPS and Zonulin did not significantly change in intervention (-3.04  $\pm$  44.75 ng/dl, p > 0.05; 0.11  $\pm$  5.13 ng/dl, p > 0.05, respectively) or placebo (1.40 ± 48.78 ng/dl, p

> 0.05;  $-0.17 \pm 6.60$ , p > 0.05, respectively) groups during the study. Between-group differences were also non-significant (p > 0.05). Our intervention resulted in reduction in serum CRP levels [-0.047 (-0.13, -0.012) mg/l] which was significantly different from its change in placebo group [0.017 (-0.095, 0.160) mg/l] (p = 0.016). BDI-II and MoCA scores significantly improved in both intervention ( $-7.13 \pm 5.67$ , p < 0.001; 1.20  $\pm 2.16$ , p = 0.001, respectively) and placebo ( $-5.42 \pm 6.71$ , p < 0.001; 1.94  $\pm 1.86$ , p < 0.001, respectively). However, betweengroup differences for these two outcomes were non-significant. Serum magnesium was also measured as a secondary outcome which did not significantly change post-intervention in either groups ( $-0.03 \pm 0.16$ , p > 0.05 for intervention and  $0.03 \pm 0.13$  for placebo group). Furthermore, these changes were not significantly different between groups.

In order to adjust potential confounders, multiple linear regression model was conducted for evaluation of between group comparison. In this model, changes in outcome variable (post-intervention minus baseline) were entered as dependent variable while participants' BMI, education, job, income, BDI-II as well as energy and macronutrient intakes were regarded as covariates. Although after adjustment, no differences were observed in the study results.

### Discussion

### Effects of probiotic and magnesium co-supplementation on intestinal barrier function and systemic inflammation

Our study revealed that 9 weeks' supplementation with probiotic and magnesium in individuals with obesity and depression might improve CRP levels with no significant effects on serum zonulin and LPS concentrations as markers of intestinal integrity. Our findings are consistent with a previous study conducted by Lee et al. evaluating effects of herbal medicine with or without probiotics on gut microbiota, gut permeability and endotoxin levels in subjects with overweight/obesity. Similar to our results, no significant changes were observed in LPS, intestinal barrier function and other metabolic markers (62). In a 12-week trial of post-menopausal women with obesity, it was shown that probiotic supplementation might beneficially affect LPS levels in a dose-response manner (63). In another 4-month clinical trial carried out on individuals undergoing gastric bypass surgery, multispecies probiotic could improve levels of LPS binding protein, TNF- $\alpha$  and weight loss (64). Amirani et al. conducted a metaanalysis on the effects of probiotics on inflammatory markers in participants with psychiatric disorders. A significant reduction in CRP and Interleukine-10 (IL-10) levels was seen following probiotic consumption (65). Exact mechanisms through which probiotics exert beneficial



effects on inflammation and gut barrier function are not completely elucidated. Probiotic strains have the potential to enhance epithelial barrier integrity through modulating gene expression of adhesion proteins (47, 66) and production of health promoting molecules and anti-microbial peptides which prevent pathogen growth (67, 68). Probiotics also modulate host immune system by microbe-associated molecular patterns (MAMPs) which interact with pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) present on the surface of intestinal epithelial and immune cells and maintain immune homeostasis (69, 70) which might not only improve intestinal barrier integrity, but also play a role in regulation of inflammatory state (70). Probiotics produce surface-layer proteins (SLPs) that reduce LPS induced inflammation through decreased translocation of NF-K $\beta$  into nucleus which eventually attenuates TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$  and oxidative stress (70).

Magnesium deficiency is associated with an inflammatory state characterized by elevated levels of acute phase proteins (71). The inverse relationship between magnesium intake and inflammatory state have been reported in several studies as reviewed by Belin and He (72). However, studies regarding direct effects of magnesium intake on intestinal integrity and gut

Variable	Study	groups	<i>p</i> -value
	Group A <sup>a</sup>	Group B <sup>b</sup>	
Sex ( <i>n</i> , %)			0.411 <sup>§</sup>
Male	10, 25.6	6, 17.1	
Female	29, 74.4	29, 82.9	
Age (year)	$38.94\pm7.19$	$35.90\pm8.64$	0.108 <sup>¶</sup>
Education ( <i>n</i> , %)			0.541 <sup>§</sup>
$\leq$ 6 years of official education	3, 7.7	6, 17.1	
6-10 years of official education	18, 46.2	17, 48.6	
B.Sc. degree	14, 35.9	10, 28.6	
M.Sc. degree and above	4, 10.3	2, 5.	
Weight (Kg)	$96.92\pm17.27$	$91.20 \pm 13.73$	0.121 <sup>¶</sup>
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$34.59\pm3.97$	$34.24\pm3.16$	0.685 <sup>¶</sup>
WC (cm)	$115.42\pm10.13$	$113.39 \pm 8.38$	0.337¶
BDI-II	21 (15, 29)	20.50 (15.00, 25.25)	0.685 <sup>R</sup>
MoCA	$24.92\pm2.99$	$24.08\pm3.49$	0.271 <sup>¶</sup>
Serum magnesium (mg/dl)	$2.00\pm0.16$	$1.97\pm0.22$	0.879 <sup>¶</sup>
Serum LPS (ng/ml)	S (ng/ml) 217.00 (179.50, 256.50)		0.860 <sup>R</sup>
Serum zonulin (ng/ml)	13.73 (8.92, 18.88)	13.02 (10.00, 18.25)	0.808 <sup>R</sup>
Serum CRP (ng/ml)	$5705.94 \pm 3583.72$	$6201.82 \pm 4705.63$	0.899

TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics of study participants.

<sup>a</sup>Group A: intervention group, received one probiotic capsule (Probio-Tec<sup>®</sup>BG-VCap-6.5, containing 1.8 × 10<sup>10</sup> CFU Lactobacillus rhamnosus and Bifidobacterium animalis subsp. Lactis) plus one magnesium chloride capsule (containing 125 mg elemental magnesium), on a daily basis for 9 weeks.

<sup>b</sup>Group B: received two placebo capsules containing maltodextrin on a daily basis for 9 weeks.

§ P-values obtained from Chi-2 test.

¶ *p*-values obtained from independent samples t- test.

<sup>R</sup> *p*-values obtained from Mann-Whitney U test.

 $^*P \leq 0.05$  was considered as statistically significant.

B.Sc., bachelor of science; M.Sc., master of science; BMI, body mass index; WC, waist circumference; BDI-II, Beck depression inventory-II test; MoCA, Montreal Cognitive Assessment tool; LPS, lipopolysaccharide; CRP, C-reactive protein; CFU, Colony Forming Unit.

microbiota are rare. Mice fed with magnesium deficient diet had a lower gut *Bifidobacteria* content, lower mRNA levels encoding factors involved with intestinal barrier integrity (zonulaoccludens-1, occluding, proglucagon), increased expression of TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-6 and activating transcription factor-4, a reflection of inflammatory and cellular stress (39).

Based on previous studies, a longer study duration might be needed to observe potential improvements in gut barrier function while inflammatory markers such as CRP levels take less time to be influenced by probiotics or dietary supplements. Furthermore, since our intervention contained magnesium, inflammatory status might be improved by pathways related to weight reduction which occurred in our intervention group; After analyzing anthropometric findings, we realized that participants in intervention group had considerable reductions in weight ( $-4.99 \pm 1.32 \text{ kg}$ , p = 0.012), BMI ( $-1.95 \pm 0.51 \text{ kg/m}^2$ , p = 0.012) and WC ( $-1.58 \pm 1.51 \text{ cm}$ , p < 0.001). Therefore, reduced adiposity might be a potential explanation for at least part of inflammation improvement in our study.

# Effects of probiotic and magnesium co-supplementation on mood and cognition

BDI-II and MoCA as indicators of mood and cognitive performance improved in both groups with no significant between-group differences. This finding can be justified by a couple of logics; As stated by evidence, BDI-II is a standardized self-report measure to identify depressive disorders and categorize the severity of depressive symptoms (73). We assume that subjective nature of this tool and placebo effect might be the reason for significant improvements in control group. Actually a recent 2022 publication has clearly stated that "depression is a highly placebo responsive condition" (74).

Regarding cognitive assessment, MoCA is an excellent and simple tool which evaluates multiple cognitive domains with great sensitivity and specificity for detecting mild cognitive impairment (MCI) (75). However, since participants performed MoCA before and after 9 weeks, and regarding the fact that

10.3389/fnut.2022.1018357

#### **Group** B<sup>b</sup> Variable Group A<sup>a</sup> *P*-value<sup>e</sup> *P*-value<sup>d</sup> Δ<sup>c</sup> *P*-value<sup>d</sup> Δ<sup>c</sup> Baseline Post-intervention Baseline Post-intervention Energy (kcal/d) $2029.24 \pm 452.80$ $2120.24 \pm 468.05$ $91.00\pm429.63$ 0.460 $1734.66 \pm 390.95$ 1805.78 747.49 $71.12 \pm 797.34$ 0.744 0.937 Carbohydrate (g/d) $289.51 \pm 98.72$ $313.33 \pm 76.97$ $57.76 \pm 160.95$ 0.223 $247.71 \pm 58.78$ $258.71 \pm 89.25$ $54.40\pm136.44$ 0.701 0.954 Protein (g/d) $72.78 \pm 15.39$ $75.83 \pm 22.35$ $3.05 \pm 23.08$ 0.642 $70.24 \pm 25.22$ $73.43 \pm 29.64$ $3.18 \pm 43.16$ 0.787 0.992 Fat (g/d) 64.71 (49.71, 84.51) 65.89 (49.87, 83.25) $0.97 \pm 25.91$ 0.917 55.60 (43.68, 71.18) 65.93 (39.69, 88.68) 12.46 59.35 0.397 0.526 SFA (g/d) $17.18\pm 6.68$ $16.04 \pm 4.20$ $-1.13\pm8.00$ 0.620 $13.10\pm3.60$ $16.29\pm8.15$ $3.19\pm7.80$ 0.150 0.168 MUFA (g/d) $17.95 \pm 6.24$ $18.59 \pm 5.78$ $0.64 \pm 7.88$ 0.773 $16.07 \pm 3.77$ $18.26 \pm 7.25$ $2.18 \pm 6.78$ 0.249 0.589 PUFA (g/d) $22.22\pm10.33$ 0.777 $19.99 \pm 5.14$ $23.48 \pm 12.35$ $-1.26 \pm 15.72$ $22.05 \pm 13.97$ $2.06 \pm 14.28$ 0.597 0.569 Magnesium (mg/d) 184.37 (157.59, 227.56) 167.85 (142.18, 226.11) -3.54(-62.69, 25.08)0.507 163.19 (138.64, 222.65) 176.44 (135.19, 238.14) 14.18 (-61.95, 72.24) 0.778 0.192 Fiber (g/d) $12.84 \pm 4.13$ $12.56\pm3.26$ $0.45\pm4.24$ 0.78 $11.87\pm5.46$ $13.70\pm4.16$ $4.38 \pm 11.77$ 0.787 0.267 Sugar (g/d) 42.55 (30.79, 60.31) 46.91 (35.77, 62.56) $-5.75 \pm 21.63$ 0.507 37.64 (23.45, 58.94) 45.66 (38.46, 69.62) $9.51 \pm 38.82$ 0.470 0.223 PA (METs-hr/d) $34.52\pm4.55$ $31.68 \pm 4.66$ $-2.84\pm5.96$ 0.190 $32.91 \pm 4.57$ $31.12\pm 6.67$ $-1.79\pm8.04$ 0.522 0.757

TABLE 2 Dietary intake and physical activity levels at baseline and after 9 weeks' intervention.

Data are presented as mean ± SD and median (Q1, Q3) for normally and non-normally distributed variables, respectively.

<sup>a</sup>Group A: intervention group, received one probiotic capsule (Probio-Tec<sup>®</sup> BG-VCap-6.5 Pla V2, containing 1.8 × 10<sup>10</sup> CFU *Lactobacillus rhamnosus* and *Bifidobacterium animalis* subsp. *Lactis*) plus one magnesium chloride capsule (containing 125 mg elemental magnesium), on a daily basis for 9 weeks.

<sup>b</sup>Group B: received two placebo capsules containing maltodextrin on a daily basis for 9 weeks.

 $^{\rm C}\Delta calculated as: (post-intervention – baseline) in each study group.$ 

<sup>d</sup>P-value for within-group comparisons, obtained from paired samples t-Test and Wilcoxon signed ranked test for normally and non-normally distributed variables, respectively.

eP-value for between-group comparisons, obtained from independent samples t-Test and Mann-Whitney U test for normally and non-normally distributed variables, respectively.

 $^*P \leq 0.05$  was considered as statistically significant.

SFA, saturated fatty acids; MUFA, monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA, polyunsaturated fatty acids; PA, physical activity; METs, metabolic equivalents; CFU, Colony Forming Unit.

Variable		w dnoro							
	Baseline	Post-intervention	Δ <sup>c</sup>	<i>P</i> -value	Baseline	Post-intervention	νc	<i>p</i> -value	
Serum Magnesium (mg/dl)	$2.00 \pm 0.16$	$1.97 \pm 0.16$	$-0.03 \pm 0.16$	0.179\$	$1.97 \pm 0.22$	$2.00 \pm 0.23$	$0.03\pm0.13$	$0.155^{\$}$	0.053
Serum Zonulin (ng/ml)	13.73 (8.92, 18.88)	$15.06\ (9.63,\ 18.53)$	$0.11\pm5.13$	$0.858^{\Omega}$	13.02 (10.00, 18.25)	$13.30\ (10.48,\ 16.80)$	$-0.17\pm 6.60$	$0.455^{\Omega}$	0.873
Serum LPS (ng/ml)	217 (179.50, 256.50)	210.50 (171.75, 262.25)	$-3.04\pm44.75$	$0.485^{\Omega}$	217.00 (181.00, 264.00)	229 (178.75, 264.75)	$1.40\pm48.78$	$0.661^{\Omega}$	0.754
CRP (mg/l)	$5705.95 \pm 3583.72$	$5231.19 \pm 3576.39$	-474.75 (-1300, -125)	0.090 <sup>\$</sup>	6201.82±4705.63	$6701.18 \pm 4235.99$	175.20 (-957.75, 1683.25)	$0.240^{\$}$	$0.016^{R}$
BDI-II (score)	21.00 (15.00, 29.00)	15.00 (7.00, 22.00)	$-7.13\pm5.67$	$< 0.001^{\Omega}$	20.50 (15.00, 25.00)	13 (8.00, 24.50)	$-5.42 \pm 6.71$	$< 0.001^{\Omega}$	$0.246^{\P}$
MoCA (score)	$24.99\pm2.99$	$26.12 \pm 2.66$	$1.20 \pm 2.16$	$0.001^{\$}$	$24.20\pm3.47$	$26.15 \pm 2.88$	$1.94\pm1.86$	$< 0.001^{\$}$	$0.124^{\P}$

Group B: received two placebo capsules containing maltodextrin on a daily basis for 9 weeks  $\Delta$  calculated as: [post-intervention – baseline] in each study group

*p*-values obtained from Wilcoxon signed ranked test. *p*-values obtained from paired samples *t*-test.

*p*-values obtained from independent samples t- test.

p-value obtained from Mann-Whitney U test.

was considered as statistically significant.

154

mass index; WC, waist circumference; Mg, Magnesium; CRP, C-reactive protein; LPS, lipopolysaccharide; MoCA, Montreal cognitive assessment test; BDI-II, Beck depression inventory-II test; CFU, Colony Forming Unit:  $P \le 0.05 \text{ w}$ BMI, body r

several sections of MoCA test are memory based, elevated MoCA scores in control group might be due to participants' task learning and memorization.

Several clinical trials have been conducted in this area with various results. In a 12-week randomized clinical trial, Akbari et al. demonstrated that a mixture of probiotics can significantly improve cognition evaluated by Mini- mental state examination (MMSE) in patients with Alzhimer's disease (AD) (76). Furthermore, a metaanalysis of four randomized trials, revealed beneficial effects of probiotic supplementation in Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HAMD) (65). Probiotic supplementation along with magnesium was carried out in one small pilot study. Eight weeks' consumption of probiotics and magnesium orotate significantly improved depression scores and quality of life in 12 participants with drug resistant depression (77).

Probiotics can exert promoting effects on mood and cognition through several mechanisms. Since persistent low grade inflammation is associated with existence and severity of depressive symptoms, probiotics might relieve such symptoms via anti-inflammatory activities explained earlier in this section (78). Furthermore, gut microbiota and probiotics are known to synthetize neurotransmitters responsible for maintaining proper brain function including gamma amino butyric acid (GABA), serotonin (5-HT), glutamate (Glu), dopamine and norepinephrine (NE). Gut microbiota also regulates the bioavailability of precursors for these neurotransmitters (79). Besides these mechanisms, research has indicated that gut microbiota elicits signals to the brain via vagus nerve and vice versa (80).

Magnesium has long been used to treat depression and relieve a variety of emotional problems even in homeopathic medicine (81). Studies in this area has been going on so far. Tarleton et al. showed that 6 weeks consumption of magnesium chloride can improve depressive symptoms (82). In another study, consumption of 500 mg magnesium oxide for 8 weeks led to improvements in depressive symptoms and serum magnesium levels in participants with depression and hypomagnesemia (83). In the present study, serum magnesium levels did not change significantly following magnesium chloride consumption. It might be due to our finding that mean baseline serum magnesium levels of participants was  $1.99 \pm 0.19$  mg/dl, which already drops within normal range (84).

The role of magnesium in intestinal barrier function remains to be elucidated. In a study by Pachikian et al., 4 days of magnesium deficiency resulted in decreased ileal expression of Occludins, Zo-1 and Zo-2 in mice. Magnesium deficient mice also exhibited discontinuous Zo-1 and Occludin staining in the ileum compared with control group (39). In addition to the crucial role of magnesium in ATP metabolism which is essential for normal neurological function and neurotransmission (85), it has been regarded as one of the modulators of Nmethyl-D-aspartate (NMDA), a receptor complex involved in

TABLE 3 Outcome variables at baseline and after 9 weeks' intervention

pathophysiology of depression and is considered as a target for anti-depressant therapy (86).

Our study has some limitations. Although we started our study with an adequate sample size, our dropout rate was a bit higher than our expectation which was partly due to COVID-19 pandemic. Nevertheless, despite dropouts, an acceptable number of participants remained in each group and for missing data, imputation method was carried out. We had to decrease daily dose of magnesium chloride from two to one 500 mg capsule per day for better compliance, which might have attenuated probable effects of magnesium on study outcomes. Markers such as IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  could be measured besides CRP as parameters of inflammatory status but due to financial limitations we did not include such parameters as outcomes. Although BDI-II and MoCA tools have high reliability and validity due to their subjective nature they might have been affected by different conditions.

In spite of these limitations our study has several strengths. To the best of our knowledge, this was the first study which has evaluated effects of a combination of probiotic and magnesium on markers of intestinal integrity, mood, cognition and serum CRP levels in individuals with obesity and depressed mood. We did our best to control as many potential confounders as possible to increase the validity of our findings. Probiotics used in this study were Probio-Tec<sup>®</sup> BG-VCap-6.5 with accurate product information and analysis manufactured by Chr. Hansen according to food laws and legislations. For magnesium, we used its chloride salt which has a higher bioavailability and tolerability than other magnesium salts (87).

Overall, 9 weeks of probiotic and magnesium supplementation resulted in decreased CRP levels in individuals with obesity and depressed mood. However, this intervention was ineffective in improving intestinal barrier function, mood and cognition. It is suggested that future research in this area consider longer durations, higher doses of magnesium and apply objective tools for neurocognitive assessments.

#### Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### **Ethics statement**

The study protocol was drafted and conducted according to Declaration of Helsinki and CONSORT statements, and approved by the Ethics Committee of Shiraz University of Medical Sciences (approval code: IR.SUMS.REC.1398.1375). All participants provided written informed consent prior to the study commencement.

### Author contributions

SM and ME contributed in research conceptualization. SM, ME, and HG developed study design, methodology, validation, and took part in the manuscript finalization and improvement. SM and MG participated in investigation process, experiments, data collection, data entry, drafted the original manuscript, and contributed to data visualization. HG and SM contributed in data analysis and curation. SA contributed in providing study resources. All study phases were conducted with the supervision of ME. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

### Funding

This manuscript was extracted from a PhD dissertation funded by Vice President of Research and Technology (Research Code: 20052-84-01-98), Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran.

#### Acknowledgments

Authors would like to thank staff members of Imam Reza Clinic, Nutrition Research Laboratory, Boqrat Laboratory and all participants for their valuable cooperation. We would also like to thank Dr. Arvin Hedayati (Research Centre for Psychiatry and Behavioral Sciences, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran) for her valuable consultations in mood and psychiatric assessments. Furthermore, we kindly thank Chr. Hansen company for funding our research by providing probiotic capsules and their placebo.

### Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

# References

1. Johnson AR, Milner JJ, Makowski L. The inflammation highway: metabolism accelerates inflammatory traffic in obesity. *Immunol Rev.* (2012) 249:218–38. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2012.01151.x

2. Flegal KM, Graubard BI, Williamson DF, Gail MHJJ. Excess deaths associated with underweight, overweight, and obesity. *JAMA*. (2005) 293:1861–7. doi: 10.1001/jama.293.15.1861

3. Finer NJM. Medical consequences of obesity. *Medicine*. (2015) 43:88–93. doi: 10.1016/j.mpmed.2014.11.003

4. Collaborators GO. Health effects of overweight and obesity in 195 countries over 25 years. *New Engl J Med.* (2017) 377:13–27. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1614362

5. World Health Organization. *Obesity and Overweight*. Geneva: World Health Organization (2021).

6. Djalalinia S, Saeedi Moghaddam S, Sheidaei A, Rezaei N, Naghibi Iravani SS, Modirian M, et al. Patterns of obesity and overweight in the iranian population: findings of STEPs 2016. *Front Endocrinol.* (2020) 11:42. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00042

7. Jauch-Chara K, Oltmanns KM. Obesity-a neuropsychological disease? Systematic review and neuropsychological model. *Progress Neurobiol.* (2014) 114:84–101. doi: 10.1016/j.pneurobio.2013.12.001

 Castanon N, Lasselin J, Capuron L. Neuropsychiatric comorbidity in obesity: role of inflammatory processes. *Front Endocrinol.* (2014) 5:74. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2014.00074

9. Schachter J, Martel J, Lin C-S, Chang C-J, Wu T-R, Lu C-C, et al. Effects of obesity on depression: a role for inflammation and the gut microbiota. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2018) 69:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2017.08.026

10. Vogelzangs N, Beekman AT, Boelhouwer IG, Bandinelli S, Milaneschi Y, Ferrucci L, et al. Metabolic depression: a chronic depressive subtype? Findings from the InCHIANTI study of older persons. *J Clin Psychiatry.* (2011) 72:598. doi: 10.4088/JCP.10m06559

11. Mansur RB, Brietzke E, McIntyre RSJN, Reviews B. Is there a "metabolic-mood syndrome"? A review of the relationship between obesity and mood disorders. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2015) 52:89–104. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.12.017

12. de Melo LGP, Nunes SOV, Anderson G, Vargas HO, Barbosa DS, Galecki P, et al. Shared metabolic and immune-inflammatory, oxidative and nitrosative stress pathways in the metabolic syndrome and mood disorders. *Progress Neuro Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2017) 78:34–50. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2017.04.027

13. Slyepchenko A, Maes M, Jacka FN, Köhler CA, Barichello T, McIntyre RS, et al. Gut microbiota, bacterial translocation, and interactions with diet: pathophysiological links between major depressive disorder and non-communicable medical comorbidities. *Psychother Psychosom.* (2017) 86:31-46. doi: 10.1159/000448957

14. Qin J, Li R, Raes J, Arumugam M, Burgdorf KS, Manichanh C, et al. A human gut microbial gene catalogue established by metagenomic sequencing. *Nature.* (2010) 464:59–65. doi: 10.1038/nature08821

15. Rogers GB, Keating DJ, Young RL, Wong ML, Licinio J, Wesselingh S. From gut dysbiosis to altered brain function and mental illness: mechanisms and pathways. *Mol Psychiatry.* (2016) 21:738–48. doi: 10.1038/mp. 2016.50

16. Lv Y, Qin X, Jia H, Chen S, Sun W, Wang X. The association between gut microbiota composition and BMI in Chinese male college students, as analysed by next-generation sequencing. *Br J Nutr.* (2019) 122:986–95. doi: 10.1017/S0007114519001909

17. Stephens RW, Arhire L, Covasa M. Gut microbiota: from microorganisms to metabolic organ influencing obesity. *Obesity.* (2018) 26:801-9. doi: 10.1002/oby.22179

18. Shen J, Obin M, Zhao L. The gut microbiota, obesity and insulin resistance. *Mol Aspects Med.* (2013) 34:39–58. doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2012.11.001

19. Martinez KB, Leone V, Chang EB. Western diets, gut dysbiosis, and metabolic diseases: are they linked? *Gut Microbes.* (2017) 8:130-42. doi: 10.1080/19490976.2016.1270811

20. Spadoni I, Zagato E, Bertocchi A, Paolinelli R, Hot E, Di Sabatino A, et al. A gut-vascular barrier controls the systemic dissemination of bacteria. *Science*. (2015) 350:830–4. doi: 10.1126/science.aad0135

21. Skonieczna-Zydecka K, Marlicz W, Misera A, Koulaouzidis A, Łoniewski IJ. Microbiome--the missing link in the gut-brain axis: focus

on its role in gastrointestinal and mental health. J Clin Med. (2018) 7:521. doi: 10.3390/jcm7120521

22. Daulatzai MA. Obesity and gut's dysbiosis promote neuroinflammation, cognitive impairment, and vulnerability to Alzheimer's disease: new directions and therapeutic implications. *J Mol Genet Med S.* (2014) S1:005. doi: 10.4172/1747-0862.S1-005

23. Cani PD, Osto M, Geurts L, Everard A. Involvement of gut microbiota in the development of low-grade inflammation and type 2 diabetes associated with obesity. *Gut Microbes.* (2012) 3:279–88. doi: 10.4161/gmic.19625

24. Cani PD, Amar J, Iglesias MA, Poggi M, Knauf C, Bastelica D, et al. Metabolic endotoxemia initiates obesity and insulin resistance. *Diabetes*. (2007) 56:1761–72. doi: 10.2337/db06-1491

25. Boulangé CL, Neves AL, Chilloux J, Nicholson JK, Dumas M-E. Impact of the gut microbiota on inflammation, obesity, and metabolic disease. *Genome Med.* (2016) 8:1–12. doi: 10.1186/s13073-016-0303-2

26. Moreno-Navarrete JM, Sabater M, Ortega F, Ricart W, Fernandez-Real JM. Circulating zonulin, a marker of intestinal permeability, is increased in association with obesity-associated insulin resistance. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e37160. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0037160

27. Musso G, Gambino R, Cassader M. Gut microbiota as a regulator of energy homeostasis and ectopic fat deposition: mechanisms and implications for metabolic disorders. *Curr Opin Lipidol.* (2010) 21:76–83. doi: 10.1097/MOL.0b013e3283347ebb

28. Fasano A. Gut permeability, obesity, and metabolic disorders: who is the chicken and who is the egg? *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2017) 105:3-4. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.116.148338

29. Nakayama J, Yamamoto A, Palermo-Conde LA, Higashi K, Sonomoto K, Tan J, et al. Impact of westernized diet on gut microbiota in children on leyte island. *Front Microbiol.* (2017) 8:197. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00197

30. Owczarek D, Rodacki T, Domagała-Rodacka R, Cibor D, Mach T. Diet and nutritional factors in inflammatory bowel diseases. *World J Gastroenterol.* (2016) 22:895. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i3.895

31. Zhou B, Stamler J, Dennis B, Moag-Stahlberg A, Okuda N, Robertson C, et al. Nutrient intakes of middle-aged men and women in China, Japan, United Kingdom, and United States in the late 1990s: the INTERMAP study. *J Hum Hypertens*. (2003) 17:623–30. doi: 10.1038/sj.jhh.1001605

32. Ruxton C, Derbyshire E, Toribio-Mateas M. Role of fatty acids and micronutrients in healthy ageing: a systematic review of randomised controlled trials set in the context of European dietary surveys of older adults. *J Hum Nutr Dietetics*. (2016) 29:308–24. doi: 10.1111/jhn.12335

33. Wang J, Um P, Dickerman BA, Liu J. Zinc, magnesium, selenium and depression: a review of the evidence, potential mechanisms and implications. *Nutrients.* (2018) 10:584. doi: 10.3390/nu10050584

34. Winther G, Jørgensen BMP, Elfving B, Nielsen DS, Kihl P, Lund S, et al. Dietary magnesium deficiency alters gut microbiota and leads to depressive-like behaviour. *Acta Neuropsychiatr.* (2015) 27:168–76. doi: 10.1017/neu.2015.7

35. Anjom-Shoae J, Sadeghi O, Keshteli AH, Afshar H, Esmaillzadeh A, Adibi P. The association between dietary intake of magnesium and psychiatric disorders among Iranian adults: a cross-sectional study. *Br J Nutr.* (2018) 120:693–702. doi: 10.1017/S0007114518001782

36. Pelczyńska M, Moszak M, Bogdański P. The role of magnesium in the pathogenesis of metabolic disorders. *Nutrients*. (2022) 14:1714. doi: 10.3390/nu14091714

37. Schiopu C, ?tefănescu G, Diaconescu S, Bălan GG, Gimiga N, Rusu E, et al. Magnesium orotate and the microbiome-gut-brain axis modulation: new approaches in psychological comorbidities of gastrointestinal functional disorders. *Nutrients.* (2022) 14:1567. doi: 10.3390/nu14081567

38. Crowley EK, Long-Smith CM, Murphy A, Patterson E, Murphy K, O'Gorman DM, et al. Dietary supplementation with a magnesium-rich marine mineral blend enhances the diversity of gastrointestinal microbiota. *Mar Drugs*. (2018) 16:216. doi: 10.3390/md16060216

39. Pachikian BD, Neyrinck AM, Deldicque L, De Backer FC, Catry E, Dewulf EM, et al. Changes in intestinal bifidobacteria levels are associated with the inflammatory response in magnesium-deficient mice. *J Nutr.* (2010) 140:509–14. doi: 10.3945/jn.109.117374

40. Nielsen FH. Effects of magnesium depletion on inflammation in chronic disease. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metabolic Care.* (2014) 17:525–30. doi: 10.1097/MCO.00000000000093 41. La Fata G, Weber P, Mohajeri MH. Probiotics and the gut immune system: indirect regulation. *Probiotics Antimicrob Proteins*. (2018) 10:11-21. doi: 10.1007/s12602-017-9322-6

42. Hemarajata P, Versalovic J. Effects of probiotics on gut microbiota: mechanisms of intestinal immunomodulation and neuromodulation. *Therap Adv Gastroenterol.* (2012) 6:39–51. doi: 10.1177/1756283X12459294

43. Kobyliak N, Conte C, Cammarota G, Haley AP, Styriak I, Gaspar L, et al. Probiotics in prevention and treatment of obesity: a critical view. *Nutr Metab.* (2016) 13:1–13. doi: 10.1186/s12986-016-0067-0

44. Trzeciak P, Herbet M. Role of the intestinal microbiome, intestinal barrier and psychobiotics in depression. *Nutrients.* (2021) 13:927. doi: 10.3390/nu130 30927

45. Vaghef-Mehrabany E, Maleki V, Behrooz M, Ranjbar F, Ebrahimi-Mameghani M. Can psychobiotics "mood" ify gut? An update systematic review of randomized controlled trials in healthy and clinical subjects, on anti-depressant effects of probiotics, prebiotics, and synbiotics. *Clin Nutr.* (2020) 39:1395– 410. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2019.06.004

46. Huang SH, He L, Zhou Y, Wu CH, Jong A. Lactobacillus rhamnosus GG suppresses meningitic E. coli K1 penetration across human intestinal epithelial cells in vitro and protects neonatal rats against experimental hematogenous meningitis. *Int J Microbiol.* (2009) 2009;647862. doi: 10.1155/2009/647862

47. Bron PA, Kleerebezem M, Brummer R-J, Cani PD, Mercenier A, MacDonald TT, et al. Can probiotics modulate human disease by impacting intestinal barrier function? *Br J Nutr.* (2017) 117:93–107. doi: 10.1017/S0007114516004037

48. Mayer EA, Knight R, Mazmanian SK, Cryan JF, Tillisch K. Gut microbes and the brain: paradigm shift in neuroscience. *J Neurosci.* (2014) 34:15490-6. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.3299-14.2014

49. Burnet PWJ, Cowen PJ. Psychobiotics highlight the pathways to happiness. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2013) 74:708–9. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2013.08.002

50. Zhu G, Zhao J, Zhang H, Chen W, Wang G. Probiotics for mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Foods*. (2021) 10:1672. doi: 10.3390/foods10071672

51. da Silva TF, Casarotti SN, de Oliveira GLV, Penna ALB. The impact of probiotics, prebiotics, and synbiotics on the biochemical, clinical, and immunological markers, as well as on the gut microbiota of obese hosts. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2021) 61:337–55. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2020.1733483

52. Basso M, Johnstone N, Knytl P, Nauta A, Groeneveld A, Cohen Kadosh K. A systematic review of psychobiotic interventions in children and adolescents to enhance cognitive functioning and emotional behavior. *Nutrients.* (2022) 14:614. doi: 10.3390/nu14030614

53. Romo-Araiza A, Ibarra A. Prebiotics and probiotics as potential therapy for cognitive impairment. *Med Hypotheses.* (2020) 134:109410. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2019.109410

54. Anna S, Aleksandra S, Ewa P. Magnesium and depression. *Magnesium Res.* (2016) 29:112–9. doi: 10.1684/mrh.2016.0407

55. Steenbergen L, Sellaro R, van Hemert S, Bosch JA, Colzato LS. A randomized controlled trial to test the effect of multispecies probiotics on cognitive reactivity to sad mood. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2015) 48:258–64. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2015.04.003

56. Association WM. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. *JAMA*. (2013) 310:2191–4. doi: 10.1001/jama.2013.281053

57. Bennett JA. The consolidated standards of reporting trials (CONSORT): guidelines for reporting randomized trials. *Nurs Res.* (2005) 54:128–32. doi: 10.1097/00006199-200503000-00007

58. Ainsworth B, Cahalin L, Buman M, Ross R. The current state of physical activity assessment tools. *Prog Cardiovasc Dis.* (2015) 57:387–95. doi: 10.1016/j.pcad.2014.10.005

59. Rajabi G, Karjo KS. Psychometric Properties of a Persian-Language Version of the Beck Depression Inventory–Second Edition (BDI-II-Persian) (2013).

60. Ghassemzadeh H, Mojtabai R, Karamghadiri N, Ebrahimkhani N. Psychometric properties of a Persian-language version of the Beck Depression Inventory–Second edition: BDI-II-PERSIAN. *Depress Anxiety.* (2005) 21:185–92. doi: 10.1002/da.20070

61. Wang Y-P, Gorenstein C. Psychometric properties of the Beck Depression Inventory-II: a comprehensive review. *Braz J Psychiatry*. (2013) 35:416– 31. doi: 10.1590/1516-4446-2012-1048

62. Lee SJ, Bose S, Seo J-G, Chung W-S, Lim C-Y, Kim H. The effects of co-administration of probiotics with herbal medicine on obesity, metabolic endotoxemia and dysbiosis: a randomized double-blind controlled clinical trial. *Clin Nutr.* (2014) 33:973–81. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2013.12.006

63. Szulińska M, Łoniewski I, Van Hemert S, Sobieska M, Bogdański P. Dose-dependent effects of multispecies probiotic supplementation on the lipopolysaccharide (LPS) level and cardiometabolic profile in obese postmenopausal women: a 12-week randomized clinical trial. *Nutrients.* (2018) 10:773. doi: 10.3390/nu10060773

64. Mokhtari Z, Karbaschian Z, Pazouki A, Kabir A, Hedayati M, Mirmiran P, et al. The effects of probiotic supplements on blood markers of endotoxin and lipid peroxidation in patients undergoing gastric bypass surgery; a randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled, clinical trial with 13 months follow-up. *Obes Surg.* (2019) 29:1248–58. doi: 10.1007/s11695-018-03667-6

65. Amirani E, Milajerdi A, Mirzaei H, Jamilian H, Mansournia MA, Hallajzadeh J, et al. The effects of probiotic supplementation on mental health, biomarkers of inflammation and oxidative stress in patients with psychiatric disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Complement Ther Med.* (2020) 49:102361. doi: 10.1016/j.ctim.2020.102361

66. Caballero-Franco C, Keller K, De Simone C, Chadee K. The VSL# 3 probiotic formula induces mucin gene expression and secretion in colonic epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol.* (2007) 292:G315–22. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00265.2006

67. O'Shea EF, Cotter PD, Stanton C, Ross RP, Hill C. Production of bioactive substances by intestinal bacteria as a basis for explaining probiotic mechanisms: bacteriocins and conjugated linoleic acid. *Int J Food Microbiol.* (2012) 152:189–205. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2011.05.025

68. Nielsen DS, Cho G-S, Hanak A, Huch M, Franz CM, Arneborg N. The effect of bacteriocin-producing *Lactobacillus plantarum* strains on the intracellular pH of sessile and planktonic *Listeria monocytogenes* single cells. *Int J Food Microbiol.* (2010) 141:S53–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2010.03.040

69. Mazloom K, Siddiqi I, Covasa M. Probiotics: how effective are they in the fight against obesity? *Nutrients.* (2019) 11:258. doi: 10.3390/nu11020258

70. Halloran K, Underwood MA. Probiotic mechanisms of action. *Early Hum Dev.* (2019) 135:58–65. doi: 10.1016/j.earlhumdev.2019.05.010

71. Mazur A, Maier JA, Rock E, Gueux E, Nowacki W, Rayssiguier Y. Magnesium and the inflammatory response: potential physiopathological implications. *Arch Biochem Biophys.* (2007) 458:48–56. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2006.03.031

72. Belin RJ, He K. Magnesium physiology and pathogenic mechanisms that contribute to the development of the metabolic syndrome. *Magnesium Res.* (2007) 20:107–29. doi: 10.1684/mrh.2007.0096

73. von Glischinski M, von Brachel R, Hirschfeld G. How depressed is "depressed"? A systematic review and diagnostic meta-analysis of optimal cut points for the Beck Depression Inventory revised (BDI-II). *Qual Life Res.* (2019) 28:1111–8. doi: 10.1007/s11136-018-2050-x

74. Sonawalla SB, Rosenbaum JF. Placebo response in depression. Dialogues Clin Neurosci. (2002) 4:105–13. doi: 10.31887/DCNS.2002.4.1/ssonawalla

75. Julayanont P, Nasreddine ZS. Montreal cognitive assessment (MoCA): concept and clinical review. In: Larner AJ, editor. *Cognitive Screening Instruments: A Practical Approach*. Cham: Springer International Publishing. (2017). p. 139–95.

76. Akbari E, Asemi Z, Daneshvar Kakhaki R, Bahmani F, Kouchaki E, Tamtaji OR, et al. Effect of probiotic supplementation on cognitive function and metabolic status in Alzheimer's disease: a randomized, double-blind and controlled trial. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2016) 8:256. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2016.00256

77. Bambling M, Edwards SC, Hall S, Vitetta L. A combination of probiotics and magnesium orotate attenuate depression in a small SSRI resistant cohort: an intestinal anti-inflammatory response is suggested. *Inflammopharmacology*. (2017) 25:271–4. doi: 10.1007/s10787-017-0311-x

78. Park C, Brietzke E, Rosenblat JD, Musial N, Zuckerman H, Ragguett R-M, et al. Probiotics for the treatment of depressive symptoms: an anti-inflammatory mechanism? *Brain Behav Immun.* (2018) 73:115–24. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2018.07.006 79. Yong SJ, Tong T, Chew J, Lim WL. Antidepressive mechanisms

of probiotics and their therapeutic potential. *Front Neurosci.* (2020) 13:1361. doi: 10.3389/fnins.2019.01361

80. Borre YE, Moloney RD, Clarke G, Dinan TG, Cryan JF. The impact of microbiota on brain and behavior: mechanisms & therapeutic potential. In: Lyte M, Cryan JF, editors. *Microbial Endocrinology: The Microbiota-Gut-Brain Axis in Health and Disease*. New York, NY: Springer New York (2014). p. 373–403.

81. Eby GA, Eby KL. Rapid recovery from major depression using magnesium treatment. *Med Hypotheses.* (2006) 67:362–70. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2006.01.047

82. Tarleton EK, Littenberg B, MacLean CD, Kennedy AG, Daley C. Role of magnesium supplementation in the treatment of depression: a randomized clinical trial. *PLoS ONE.* (2017) 12:e0180067. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0180067

83. Rajizadeh A, Mozaffari-Khosravi H, Yassini-Ardakani M, Dehghani A. Effect of magnesium supplementation on depression status in depressed

patients with magnesium deficiency: a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. *Nutrition.* (2017) 35:56–60. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2016. 10.014

84. Rajizadeh A, Mozaffari-Khosravi H, Yassini-Ardakani M, Dehghani A. Serum magnesium status in patients subjects with depression in the city of Yazd in Iran 2013-2014. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2016) 171:275-82. doi: 10.1007/s12011-015-0542-x

85. Uysal N, Kizildag S, Yuce Z, Guvendi G, Kandis S, Koc B, et al. Timeline (bioavailability) of magnesium compounds in hours:

which magnesium compound works best? Biol Trace Elem Res. (2019) 187:128-36. doi: 10.1007/s12011-018-1351-9

86. Ryszewska-Pokraśniewicz B, Mach A, Skalski M, Januszko P, Wawrzyniak ZM, Poleszak E, et al. Effects of magnesium supplementation on unipolar depression: a placebo-controlled study and review of the importance of dosing and magnesium status in the therapeutic response. *Nutrients.* (2018) 10:1014. doi: 10.3390/nu10081014

87. Durlach J, Guiet-Bara A, Pagès N, Bac P, Bara M. Magnesium chloride or magnesium sulfate: a genuine question. *Magnesium Res.* (2005) 18:187–92.

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Weimin Ye, Karolinska Institutet (KI), Sweden

REVIEWED BY Jiangbo Du, Nanjing Medical University, China Fen Huang, Anhui Medical University, China

\*CORRESPONDENCE Weiping Teng twp@vip.163.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to

Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

RECEIVED 18 August 2022 ACCEPTED 30 September 2022 PUBLISHED 20 October 2022

#### CITATION

Zhang X, Zhang F, Li Q, Feng C and Teng W (2022) lodine nutrition and papillary thyroid cancer. *Front. Nutr.* 9:1022650. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.1022650

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Zhang, Zhang, Li, Feng and Teng. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or

reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Iodine nutrition and papillary thyroid cancer

Xueqi Zhang, Fan Zhang <sup>(b)</sup>, Qiuxian Li, Chuyao Feng and Weiping Teng <sup>(b)</sup> \*

National Health Commission Key Laboratory of Diagnosis and Treatment of Thyroid Diseases, Department of Endocrinology and Metabolism, Institute of Endocrinology, The First Hospital of China Medical University, Shenyang, China

Thyroid cancer (TC) is the most frequent endocrine malignancy. The incidence of TC, especially papillary thyroid carcinoma (PTC), has continued to rise all over the world during the past few years, for reasons that are not entirely clear. Though the phenomenon of overdiagnosis is occurring, it is not the sole driver of the substantial increase in incidence. Lifestyle, environmental factors, or complications are considered to be potential risk factors. Among these factors, iodine is a micronutrient that is vital to thyroid function. The effect of iodine intake on PTC has been controversial for many years and the epidemiological or experimental studies provided diametrically opposite conclusions. Combining all these studies, we found that iodine nutrition may affect the overall prevalence, distribution of the histological types, and clinicopathological aggressiveness of TC, especially PTC. However, the available evidence is poor due to the impact of various internal and external related factors. Therefore, this article sums up available results from both epidemiological and experimental studies, future studies are also warranted to expound on the relationship between overall PTC prevalence and iodine intake.

#### KEYWORDS

iodine, papillary thyroid cancer, iodine nutrition, thyroid cancer, epidemiological studies

### Introduction

Though the global thyroid cancer (TC) incidence has grown remarkably over the past few years (1-3), the mortality rate remains static (4, 5). There are four main kinds of TC: papillary thyroid carcinoma (PTC), follicular thyroid carcinoma (FTC), medullary thyroid carcinoma (MTC), and anaplastic thyroid cancer (ATC) (6). ATC, one of the fatal and rare forms of TC (1-2%) that generally presents as a rapidly growing neck tumor (7), needs early, accurate identification and timely treatment (8). However, most TC especially PTC differentiates well and has a low risk of becoming malignant. Thus, it is necessary to adjust the treatment plan according to the specific situation to avoid overtreatments and identify controllable risk factors to conduct preventive programs. Risk factors including radiation exposure, dietary nutrition, BMI (9), metabolic syndrome (10), environmental pollutants, family history of thyroid nodules, and overdiagnosis have been reported (11). Despite overdiagnosis, environmental/lifestyle factors do contribute to some increase in TC prevalence (12–16).

Dietary iodine intake has also been speculated as a risk factor that may influence the occurrence and development of PTC (17), but inconsistencies in research results have led to great controversy throughout these years. Iodine is a crucial micronutrient and a vital composition for the biosynthesis of thyroid hormone which plays a part in various biochemical and metabolic pathways throughout the human body (18, 19). The thyroid can maintain normal function, and keep thyroid hormone and thyroid stimulating hormone (TSH) in an appropriate ratio through automatic regulation even though daily iodine intake fluctuates widely. A U curve has been come up by many studies (20-22), both chronic iodine deficiency and excess can lead to thyroid dysfunction by interfering with homeostasis (23, 24), which means that the dose-based effects of iodine nutrition on the prevalence of TC need to be considered.

At the population level, the main sources of iodine intake include salt (25), water, milk, and seaweed (26, 27). The thyroid gland actively uptakes about 120 µg of iodine per day, which is distributed to a reservoir in the thyroid that contains about 5,000-10,000 µg of iodine. Monoiodothyronine and diiodothyronine are deiodinated in the periphery and T4 is converted to T3, resulting in the return of 60  $\mu$ g of iodine per day to the external thyroid reservoir. Approximately 110  $\mu$ g of iodine (about 97% of daily intake) is excreted in the urine, preserving the normal daily equilibrium (28). Thus urinary iodine concentration (UIC) has been considered a sensitive indicator of recent iodine intake (29-31). The status of iodine nutrition can be divided into four stages based on UIC according to WHO iodine recommendations: UIC < 100  $\mu$ g/L (insufficient), 100-199 µg/L (adequate), 200-299 µg/L (above requirements), and  $\geq$  300 µg/L (excessive) (32, 33). To adjust for the influences from dilution of the urine, the proportion of urinary I/Cr is also used to evaluate the iodine status (30). Creatinine-adjusted UIC:  $< 85 \mu g/g$  Cr (deficiency), 85–219  $\mu$ g/g Cr (adequate), and  $\geq$  220  $\mu$ g/g Cr (excessive). So as a satisfying bioindicator of the iodine level (34, 35), UIC and urinary I/Cr ratio have been examined in various epidemiological studies aimed to clarify the association between iodine intake and PTC risk.

Therefore, we overview the standpoints from relevant epidemiological studies and experiments to clarify the correlations between iodine nutrition and PTC.

## **Epidemiological studies**

### Effect of iodine intake on thyroid cancer

Mandatory universal salt iodization (USI) has been put into practice since the 1990s (33), which meets the iodine requirements and gained notable success in preventing iodine deficiency in the general population (36). The ensuing question is whether iodine affects the onset of TC. Numerous epidemiological researches have evaluated the relationship between iodine intake and TC, and have presented a variety of views. Although some studies supported that there is no clear association between iodine nutrition and TC (37-39), a large number of studies these years have provided evidence for the relationship. Most studies were affected by many factors such as ethnic differences, diet customs (23), lifestyle, complications, and other environmental factors which can influence the development of TC. For example, the occurrence rate of TC was increased in two areas of high iodine intake: Iceland (40) and Hawaii (41). However, the natural radiation here is higher than in many other areas, so the radiation here can also drive the development of TC, especially in childhood (42, 43). Therefore, these studies cannot offer persuasive evidence to prove that high iodine intake can be a hazardous factor for TC.

Credible evidence was also presented in some epidemiological studies. A 1992 study evaluated the prevalence of TC in patients with goiter in iodine excess and iodine deficiency areas (44), which proved that individuals with excessive iodine intake had a considerably higher risk of TC than individuals in iodine deficiency regions. What's more, our epidemiological study in 2006 also investigated thyroid diseases over 5 years in three representative regions with insufficient, normal, and excessive iodine intake (45). No cases of TC were diagnosed in insufficient and normal iodine supplementation areas at baseline; however, 10 subjects were found to have PTC in Huanghua, one region with excessive intake of iodine. Between 1999 and 2004, 13 cases of PTC were found in Huanghua but none were identified in the other two areas. A retrospective analysis of the association between daily iodized salt intake and TC conducted by another research group in Hunan province also showed that consuming more than 5 g of iodized salt daily increased the risk of TC (46). Consistent with the above conclusions, a study examining TC trends in populations from three different geographic areas in Thailand between 1990 and 2009 showed an increase in PTC

160

prevalence and a decrease in FTC prevalence as population iodine deficiency levels declined (47).

At the same time, several studies presented other viewpoints. Some studies supported the protective effect of iodine intake on TC risk (48). For example, an ecological study of epidemiology showed that low consumption of iodized salt with mild iodine deficiency may be responsible for the high prevalence of TC in Daishan Country (49). The results of a meta-analysis also suggested that dietary iodine has a protective effect on TC (50). The drawback, however, is the lack of data on iodine intake. French Polynesia, a mild iodine deficiency area, has one of the highest TC occurrence rates in the world, so iodine was suspected to play a part in this phenomenon. In 2012, a case-control study was conducted among the inhabitants of French Polynesia (51), which showed that in this region, higher consumption of seafood and an iodine-rich diet were associated with a reduced risk of TC. However, a limitation of this study that can not be ignored is that their iodine intake was calculated by the amount and composition of the participants' daily food intake, using a composition table established in metropolitan France, which may be unsuitable for French Polynesia. What's more, cooking or other factors also have an uncontrollable influence on the final iodine intake, it would be more accurate by measuring 24-h UIC.

What's more, previous studies have indicated the prevalence of thyroid diseases may raise with both insufficient and overmuch iodine intake (52, 53). A study in 2016 indicated that compared to patients with benign thyroid nodules, TC patients tended to be distributed in UIC < 300  $\mu$ g/L and UIC  $\geq$  2500  $\mu$ g/L, this suggested that UIC may be involved in predicting TC risk in patients with thyroid nodules (54). The study supported that both low and overmuch iodine intakes can be related to TC in the iodine-replete region, so there may exist a U-shaped relationship between iodine intake and TC. Further research in the future also ought to reveal the mechanism of how iodine works and help to guide iodine intake.

A retrospective study based on patients who underwent thyroidectomy at Peking Union Medical College Hospital (PUMCH) from 1986 to 2018 implied that PTC has become the predominant type in TC surgery after USI, while the proportion of other histological subtypes has remained stable during this period (55). Therefore, we focused on the effect of iodine levels on PTC.

# Effect of iodine intake on papillary thyroid carcinoma

Current studies reflected that iodine intake has a significant impact on PTC though some studies did not agree with this conclusion (56). One study that followed TC prevalence before and after iodine prevention in Argentina shows that PTC patients increased significantly after iodine supplementation, PTC/FTC ratio also increased significantly (57). Therefore, it is speculated that high iodine intake may be associated with a high prevalence of PTC (58, 59).

The prevalence of thyroid diseases in Shenyang has also raised obviously with the iodine intake increased since USI was implemented in China in 1996 (60). The diagnosis of TC and the proportion of PTC raised notably, and the proportion of FTC and UTC reduced while the ratio of MTC was not changed after USI. This study did find a correlation between iodine intake and TC, especially PTC, but there are also advances in detection technology and overdiagnosis, which need to be further verified. UIC differences between patients with PTC and nodular goiter were not statistically significant in another study (61), while in female PTC patients, extremely excessive iodine intake was independently related to the increased tumor size. This study supported that high iodine intake may be associated with the increase of tumor volume rather than its oncogenesis. Contrary to the above conclusions, a study conducted in a multiethnic group, investigated dietary iodine exposure among TC women in the San Francisco Bay area and women in the general population and concluded that an increase in dietary iodine is most likely associated with a reduced risk of PTC in those "low-risk" women (women with no risk factors) (62).

# lodine intake and combined factors

Nowadays, some studies have indicated that the combined effect of iodine and other factors plays a certain role in the occurrence and development of PTC. For example, Bisphenol A (BPA) is a kind of organic material that is widely applied to manufacturing processes (63). It has been reported that as an effective endocrine disruptor, free BPA can inhibit the expression of thyroid hormone-regulated genes by binding to thyroid hormone receptors (64). One study investigated whether BPA levels and excessive iodine intake were linked to PTC (65). The results indicated that the PTC groups' UIC and Urinary BPA concentrations (UBC) were higher than those in the control group, which suggested that high levels of UBC and iodine intake may be the predictive factors for PTC. What's more, BPA and iodine may interact with each other through some common pathways in the process of the occurrence and development of PTC.

A 2020 study tested UIC and thyroid function in patients with PTC, patients with benign thyroid tumors, and healthy individuals (66). The median UIC of the PTC and benign thyroid tumor group was markedly higher than that of healthy control groups. The regression analysis in this study also indicated that thyroglobulin antibody (TgAb) was an independent risk factor for PTC (67). What's more,

the association between TgAb and UIC was noteworthy, indicating that excessive iodine in patients with thyroid tumors may affect TgAb, which may contribute to the development of thyroid damage and subsequent malignancy (such as PTC) (68). Another case-control study in 2021 evaluated the cooperative effect of iodine intake and thyroid function on the risk of developing PTC and papillary thyroid microcarcinoma (PTMC) (69), indicating that excessive iodine intake using creatinine-adjusted UIC and high free T4 levels may have a synergistic effect on PTC and PTMC. Therefore, it is of interest to consider thyroid function in addition to iodine intake to predict the risk of PTC and PTMC. This also suggests that the combined effect of UIC and hormones on PTC risk needs to be verified in future larger studies.

# Iodine intake and lymphatic metastasis in papillary thyroid carcinoma

A study in 2014 assessed the median urine iodine (MUI) of participants in Qingdao (70) and found that patients with benign thyroid nodules (MUI = 331.33  $\mu$ g/l) and patients with PTC (MUI = 466.23  $\mu$ g/l) had higher iodine intake than people in the control (MUI = 174.30  $\mu$ g/l), which was in the iodine-replete region. In terms of MUI level, PTC patients with lymph node metastasis were higher than PTC patients without lymph node metastasis. The clinical data of 359 PTC patients who underwent surgical treatment in PUMCH from May 2015 to November 2020 were retrospectively analyzed (71). Consistent with the conclusions of previous studies, they demonstrated that low iodine was a protective factor for central lymph node metastasis in PTC, which indicated that iodine may not only be a promoter of tumorigenesis, but also a predictive factor for the aggressiveness of PTC. Another study also raised the point that high iodine intake does not seem to be a trigger, but may be a weak promoter for PTC progression in women patients, which needs further validation (72). The above data are consistent with most epidemiological studies that show an association between high iodine intake and PTC and its aggressiveness.

# Iodine intake and BRAF mutation in papillary thyroid carcinoma

The familiar PTC mutation types include BRAF mutation, RET rearrangement, and RAS mutation. Among these alterations, BRAF mutations occur most frequently in PTC (73–75). Some studies proved that the BRAF V600E mutation plays a part in the biological behaviors of PTMC ( $\leq 1$  cm) and small PTC (1–1.5 cm) (76). However, the correlation between these alterations and iodine intake remains controversial (77). Kowalska's institution diagnosed an increased prevalence of BRAFV600E alterations in PTC, then they speculated that changes in iodine intake might contribute to the increased prevalence of TC (78). To clarify the above perspective, Guan and her team (79) assessed and compared the prevalence of the T1799A BRAF mutation in 1,032 PTC patients from five areas with different dietary iodine content in China. This study indicated that the frequency of BRAF mutation and the tumorigenesis of PTC are cogently associated with high iodine intake. The BRAF mutation was also confirmed to be a prognostic marker of PTC. Another study in Korea also investigated the correlation between iodine intake and BRAF mutation in PTC patients (80). BRAF mutation was the lowest in the 300–499  $\mu$ g/L UIC group, which was different from that in the rarely low iodine intake (UIC  $< 300 \ \mu g/L$ ) and excessive iodine intake (UIC  $\geq$  500 µg/L) groups, confirming that UIC can be used as the predictor of BRAF mutation in PTC. Their results verified the U-shaped curves again.

Some studies hold contrary views. For instance, one 2016 study conducted molecular analyses of two differentiated TCs, PTC, and FTC in two countries with different iodine intake: the iodine-rich country (Japan) and the iodine-poor country (Vietnam) (77). Their study indicated that there was no difference in genetic mutations between patients from iodinerich and iodine-poor countries, the conclusion may support that iodine status does not influence the genetic changes of PTC and FTC. Another study also investigated the iodine intake of PTC patients with or without BRAFV600E mutation and that of healthy participants in 2018 (81). Though their results indicated that iodine status differs significantly between PTC patients and healthy participants, the correlation between iodine status and BRAF alteration was not statistically significant.

Many epidemiological studies and meta-analyses showed inconsonant conclusions because of dietary information bias, measurement error, and differences in ethnic groups and regions. It is also uncertain whether there is publication bias (82) or other factors influencing thyroid carcinogenesis (83). So definitive epidemiological studies are still warranted in the future.

#### In vitro studies

Most of the current studies focused on epidemiological investigation, the molecular biological effect of iodine promoting PTC is unclear until now. Here we review the mechanism of iodine-induced biological behavior of PTC cells. Studies have supported the protective function of excessive iodine on thyroid follicular cells through specific pathways. For instance, RET, a proto-oncogene involved in the carcinogenesis of PTC, can be activated by the fusion of the tyrosine kinase domain with the 5' region of another gene. This process can produce chimeric products, collectively known as RET/PTC (84–86), leading to the activation of the MAPK pathway, which plays a part in driving PTC. So a study once evaluated the effect

of high iodine concentrations on RET/PTC3-activated thyroid cells and indicated an antioncogenic role for excess iodine during thyroid oncogenic activation (87). Consistent with this viewpoint, another study in 2014 cultured thyroid follicular cells with doxycycline for 2 days, with or without 10  $\mu$ M sodium iodide (88), then they found that high iodine inhibited miR-19, the newly discovered regulator of Smad4, which was activated by BRAFV600E, and restored the response to TGF-β signaling via the Notch pathway. This study indicated that iodine has a protective influence on thyroid cells, alleviating microRNA deregulation mediated by the BRAF oncogene, which contributes to the understanding of the physiological role of iodine on PTC. In addition, a recent study found that BRAF kinase can induce autophagy in PTC cells to participate in anti-apoptosis, and promote cell proliferation and migration under high iodine concentration (89), which support the view that high concentration of iodine can inhibit cell proliferation and promote cell apoptosis and migration.

Other studies have shown that excess iodine has adverse effects on thyroid cells. A study found that with a high iodine treatment, the miR-422a/MAPK1 pathway was complicated in the procedures of cell migration and proliferation, thus regulating tumorigenesis (90). With a high iodine concentration (100  $\mu$ M), the MAPK1 signaling pathway was activated

#### 10.3389/fnut.2022.1022650

significantly in thyroid follicular epithelial cells, which means that in normal thyroid cells, high iodine may lead to the imbalance of the miR-422a/MAPK1 pathway. Considering that they only conducted functional experiments in two iodine concentrations, more studies are in the future.

Several studies have found that iodine has a double influence on thyroid cells' behaviors, depending on the iodine concentration. A study assessed the influences of different iodine concentrations on the proliferation and migration of two well-differentiated thyroid cell lines in vitro (91). The results supported that when iodine concentration was at a certain level, it could play a role in promoting the proliferation of thyroid cells. Iodine under  $1.0 \times 10^{-3}$  mM promotes the growth of thyroid cells while iodine higher than this concentration has the opposite effect. Besides, the mRNA level of VEGF-A was upregulated in thyroid cells cultured in low iodine concentration (1.0  $\times$  10  $^{-5}$  , 1.0  $\times$  10  $^{-4}$  , and 1.0  $\times$  10  $^{-3}$  mM) and downregulated in thyroid cells cultured in high iodine concentration (1.0  $\times$   $10^{-2}$  and 1.0  $\times$   $10^{-1}$  mM), which indicated that the Akt, Erk, and the cytokine VEGF-A are the important mechanisms. However, iodine concentration in the human thyroid is usually from  $1.0 \times 10^{-6}$  to  $1.0 \times 10^{-5}$  mM, so in the human body, the high level of iodine intake may promote the proliferation and migration of PTC cells. Another study

#### TABLE 1 Characteristics of the studies included in this review.

	First author	Publication year	Study period (year/month)	Location	Sample size ( <i>n</i> )	Research type
Prevalence	Belfior et al. (44)	1992	1980–1990	Italy	5637	Retrospective study
	Teng et al. (45)	2006	1999-2004	China	3018	Prospective study
	Wang et al. (46)	2021	2017/01-2019/12	China	51637	Retrospective study
	Mitro et al. (47)	2016	2001-2009	Thailand	2749	Prospective study
	Zhang et al. (49)	2019	2014-2018	China	2495	Prospective study
	Clero et al. (51)	2012	1979-2004	France	600	Retrospective study
	Kim et al. (54)	2016	2010/11-2013/05	Korea	1170	Retrospective study
	Zeng et al. (55)	2020	1986-2018	China	34213	Retrospective study
	Dong et al. (60)	2013	1992/01-2009/12	China	1239	Prospective study
	Zhao et al. (61)	2017	2013/11-2015/03	China	2041	Retrospective study
	Horn-Ross et al. (62)	2001	1992-1998	America	1166	Retrospective study
	Zhou et al. (65)	2017	2013/02-2013/09	China	261	Retrospective study
	Hou et al. (66)	2020	2017/01-2019/03	China	506	Retrospective study
	Kim et al. (69)	2021	2010/04-2014/12	Korea	946	Retrospective study
Lymphatic metastasis	Wang et al. (70)	2014	2010/06-2011/06	China	460	Retrospective study
	Zeng et al. (71)	2021	2015/05-2020/11	China	359	Retrospective study
	Zhao et al. (72)	2019	2013/11-2018/02	China	4040	Retrospective study
BRAF mutation	Vuong et al. (77)	2016	2006-2014	Japan	194	Retrospective study
	Kowalska et al. (78)	2016	2000-2013	Poland	723	Retrospective study
	Guan et al. (79)	2009	-	China	1032	Cross-sectional study
	Kim et al. (80)	2017	2010/11-2015/03	Korea	215	Retrospective study
	Lee et al. (81)	2017	2015/03-2015/12	Korea	300	Retrospective study

in 2019 also illustrated this dual effect, they investigated how iodine affected the physiological features of TC cells in vitro, including proliferation and apoptosis (92). Compared with the control group, extra-high doses of iodine  $(1.0 \times 10^{-3} \text{ mol/l})$ inhibited cell proliferation and promoted cell apoptosis, while extra-low doses of iodine (1.0  $\times$  10<sup>-4</sup>-1.0  $\times$  10<sup>-8</sup> mol/l) showed opposing effects. Their results also indicated that the level of SPANXA1 was increased in cells treated with a certain concentration of iodine. The SPANXA1 (93) can also be one of the key genes, which enhanced the process of tumor growth in cells treated with an extra-low dose of iodine. Cell proliferation can be promoted by high expression of SPANXA1 while cell apoptosis can be inhibited by SPANXA1. In addition, PI3K/AKT was supposed to be a key signaling pathway through which SPANXA1 mediates its effects. Thus, SPANXA1 can be a biomarker in PTC and help in guiding dietary plans for patients with TC, which remind us that patients' iodine intake should be restricted.

Though these studies suggested some possible mechanisms for how iodine affected thyroid carcinogenesis, many other confounding factors cannot be ruled out. The effects of iodine on PTC patients are also complex and influenced by many chemical agents *in vivo*, so it is hard to clarify the interaction and feedback mechanisms of so many hormones by conducting cell experiments. Therefore, more *in vivo* studies are needed to clarify the function and mechanism of iodine on PTC.

#### In vivo studies

Animal studies examining the effect of different levels of iodine intake on the development of PTC were still rare. But earlier studies have shown that the development of iodine deficiency can cause PTC. The long-term effects on the thyroid with low iodine intake were assessed in 98 Sherman albino female rats (94), iodine deficiency was shown to be attributed to the production of tumors in thyroid glands. One study also found that iodine deficiency can cause goiter, hyperplasia, or malignant change as iodine deficiency time goes on (95), which also speculated that iodine deficiency can lead to reduced thyroid hormone synthesis, while the increased TSH drove chronic overstimulation of the thyroid. Proliferating thyroid cells, meanwhile, can also be more susceptible to radiation, chemical carcinogens, and oxidative stress, so more genetic mutations will show up in these cells. In addition, thyroid hyperplasia caused by insufficient iodine can lead to the change of chromosomes in the thyroid and increase the number of aneuploid cells in rats (96). Therefore, it is speculated that chronic stimulation in iodine deficiency may be one of the vital mechanisms of PTC. However, another study proved the U-shaped relationship by investigating the influence of iodine intake on p14ARF and p16INK4a expression of PTC in rats (97). This study suggested that both low and high iodine intake can

decrease the expression of p14ARF and p16INK4a and drive tumor development.

The association between human iodine intake and PTC still cannot be explained because iodine deficiency or excess is much more severe in most animal models than in the human diet.

### Discussion

Over these years, the occurrence rate of TC, especially PTC is increasing significantly in the world (1). Although overdiagnosis has been reported to increase the prevalence of PTC (98), there has also been a true increase. It is therefore meaningful to illustrate the role of these suspected risk factors, especially iodine intake. TC has been reported in iodine deficiency areas in earlier years. The prevalence of PTC also increased after iodine intake increased due to salt iodization (99) and iodine supplementation. In contrast, iodine was a protective factor for PTC in some studies, which lead to controversy about the correlation between iodine intake and PTC. Previous epidemiologic studies' results could be influenced by different test standards, study methods, dietary habits, measurement errors, information bias or so many other factors. For example, it is difficult to measure 24-h UIC, the gold standard for iodine intake (31). Therefore, some studies may use random spot urine UIC as an alternative indicator. While the studies in vitro or in vivo cannot reflect the true human iodine status, the evidence is far from sufficient. Hence it is still unclear the true iodine interval that directly induces PTC development, or indirectly contributes to PTC risk through interaction with other factors.

Many previous studies have addressed this controversial issue, showing that different iodine nutritional status has different effects on the development of PTC. We discuss their views in this article and summarize the basic information in **Table 1** to help readers think objectively. Taking the present studies into consideration, we speculate that the relationship between iodine nutrition and PTC may be intricate and the effect of iodine should be considered dose-based. Besides, the combined action of more variables are ought to be considered in the research of iodine and PTC.

The relationship between iodine and PTC is complex, we are still unclear about the specific role of iodine, let alone the mechanism of its activities due to the disagreement of current research results. The present studies have yielded mixed results which indicated that iodine intake may influence the development or progression of PTC, change the proportion of several subtypes of TC in the crowd, or affect the invasiveness of PTC especially lymphatic metastasis and BRAF mutation. These data provide further evidence supporting that it makes sense to achieve the appropriate level of iodine intake to satisfy the body's normal nutritional needs while avoiding either deficient or excessive iodine supplementation.

# Author contributions

WT supervised the work. XZ drafted the manuscript. FZ provided the major technical support. QL and CF assisted in the literature review. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

## Funding

This study was supported by the Research Fund for Public Welfare, National Health and Family Planning Commission of China (Grant No. 201402005) and the Clinical Research Fund of Chinese Medical Association (Grant No. 15010010589).

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

#### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

### References

1. Cabanillas ME, McFadden DG, Durante C. Thyroid cancer. Lancet. (2016) 388:2783-95. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(16)30172-6

2. Wiltshire JJ, Drake TM, Uttley L, Balasubramanian SP. Systematic review of trends in the incidence rates of thyroid cancer. *Thyroid.* (2016) 26:1541–52. doi: 10.1089/thy.2016.0100

 Us Preventive Services Task Force, Bibbins-Domingo K, Grossman DC, Curry SJ, Barry MJ, Davidson KW, et al. Screening for thyroid cancer: US preventive services task force recommendation statement. *JAMA*. (2017) 317:1882–7. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.4011

4. Chen W, Zheng R, Baade PD, Zhang S, Zeng H, Bray F, et al. Cancer statistics in China, 2015. *CA Cancer J Clin.* (2016) 66:115–32. doi: 10.3322/caac.2 1338

5. Vigneri R, Malandrino P, Vigneri P. The changing epidemiology of thyroid cancer: why is incidence increasing? *Curr Opin Oncol.* (2015) 27:1–7. doi: 10.1097/CCO.000000000000148

6. Prete A, Borges de Souza P, Censi S, Muzza M, Nucci N, Sponziello M. Update on fundamental mechanisms of thyroid cancer. *Front Endocrinol.* (2020) 11:102. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00102

7. Molinaro E, Romei C, Biagini A, Sabini E, Agate L, Mazzeo S, et al. Anaplastic thyroid carcinoma: from clinicopathology to genetics and advanced therapies. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* (2017) 13:644–60. doi: 10.1038/nrendo.2017.76

 Dierks C, Seufert J, Aumann K, Ruf J, Klein C, Kiefer S, et al. Combination of lenvatinib and pembrolizumab is an effective treatment option for anaplastic and poorly differentiated thyroid carcinoma. *Thyroid*. (2021) 31:1076–85. doi: 10.1089/ thy.2020.0322

9. Peterson E, De P, Nuttall R. BMI, diet and female reproductive factors as risks for thyroid cancer: a systematic review. *PLoS One.* (2012) 7:e29177. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0029177

10. Rinaldi S, Lise M, Clavel-Chapelon F, Boutron-Ruault MC, Guillas G, Overvad K, et al. Body size and risk of differentiated thyroid carcinomas: findings from the EPIC study. *Int J Cancer.* (2012) 131:E1004–14. doi: 10.1002/ijc.27601

11. Davies L, Hoang JK. Thyroid cancer in the USA: current trends and outstanding questions. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol.* (2021) 9:11–2. doi: 10.1016/ s2213-8587(20)30372-7

12. Morris LG, Sikora AG, Tosteson TD, Davies L. The increasing incidence of thyroid cancer: the influence of access to care. *Thyroid.* (2013) 23:885–91. doi: 10.1089/thy.2013.0045

13. Lim H, Devesa SS, Sosa JA, Check D, Kitahara CM. Trends in thyroid cancer incidence and mortality in the United States, 1974-2013. *JAMA*. (2017) 317:1338–48. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.2719

14. Udelsman R, Zhang Y. The epidemic of thyroid cancer in the United States: the role of endocrinologists and ultrasounds. *Thyroid.* (2014) 24:472–9. doi: 10. 1089/thy.2013.0257

15. Parad MT, Fararouei M, Mirahmadizadeh AR, Afrashteh S. Thyroid cancer and its associated factors: a population-based case-control study. *Int J Cancer.* (2021) 149:514–21. doi: 10.1002/ijc.33537

16. Liang J, Zhao N, Zhu C, Ni X, Ko J, Huang H, et al. Dietary patterns and thyroid cancer risk: a population-based case-control study. *Am J Transl Res.* (2020) 12:180–90.

17. Blomberg M, Feldt-Rasmussen U, Andersen KK, Kjaer SK. Thyroid cancer in Denmark 1943-2008, before and after iodine supplementation. *Int J Cancer*. (2012) 131:2360–6. doi: 10.1002/ijc.27497

18. Gonzalez A, Paz S, Rubio C, Gutierrez AJ, Hardisson A. Human exposure to iodine from the consumption of edible seaweeds. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2020) 197:361–6. doi: 10.1007/s12011-019-01996-w

19. Pearce EN. Iodine nutrition: recent research and unanswered questions. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* (2018) 72:1226–8. doi: 10.1038/s41430-018-0226-7

20. Sun X, Shan Z, Teng W. Effects of increased iodine intake on thyroid disorders. *Endocrinol Metab.* (2014) 29:240-7. doi: 10.3803/EnM.2014.29.3.240

21. Wang B, He W, Li Q, Jia X, Yao Q, Song R, et al. U-shaped relationship between iodine status and thyroid autoimmunity risk in adults. *Eur J Endocrinol.* (2019) 181:255–66. doi: 10.1530/EJE-19-0212

22. Song J, Zou SR, Guo CY, Zang JJ, Zhu ZN, Mi M, et al. Prevalence of thyroid nodules and its relationship with iodine status in Shanghai: a population-based study. *Biomed Environ Sci.* (2016) 29:398–407. doi: 10.3967/bes2016.052

23. Eveleigh ER, Coneyworth LJ, Avery A, Welham SJM. Vegans, vegetarians, and omnivores: how does dietary choice influence iodine intake? A systematic review. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:1606. doi: 10.3390/nu12061606

24. Laurberg P, Cerqueira C, Ovesen L, Rasmussen LB, Perrild H, Andersen S, et al. Iodine intake as a determinant of thyroid disorders in populations. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2010) 24:13–27. doi: 10.1016/j.beem.2009.08.013

25. Iacone R, Iaccarino Idelson P, Russo O, Donfrancesco C, Krogh V, Sieri S, et al. Iodine Intake from food and iodized salt as related to dietary salt consumption in the italian adult general population. *Nutrients*. (2021) 13:3486. doi: 10.3390/nul3103486

26. Teas J, Pino S, Critchley A, Braverman LE. Variability of iodine content in common commercially available edible seaweeds. *Thyroid.* (2004) 14:836–41. doi: 10.1089/thy.2004.14.836

27. Pearce EN, Pino S, He X, Bazrafshan HR, Lee SL, Braverman LE. Sources of dietary iodine: bread, cows' milk, and infant formula in the Boston area. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2004) 89:3421–4. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-032002

28. Koukkou EG, Roupas ND, Markou KB. Effect of excess iodine intake on thyroid on human health. *Minerva Med.* (2017) 108:136–46. doi: 10.23736/S0026-4806.17.04923-0

29. Prete A, Paragliola RM, Corsello SM. Iodine supplementation: usage "with a grain of salt". *Int J Endocrinol.* (2015) 2015:312305. doi: 10.1155/2015/312305

30. Ahn J, Lee JH, Lee J, Baek JY, Song E, Oh HS, et al. Association between urinary sodium levels and iodine status in Korea. *Korean J Intern Med.* (2020) 35:392–9. doi: 10.3904/kjim.2017.375

31. Vejbjerg P, Knudsen N, Perrild H, Laurberg P, Andersen S, Rasmussen LB, et al. Estimation of iodine intake from various urinary iodine measurements in population studies. *Thyroid.* (2009) 19:1281–6. doi: 10.1089/thy.2009.0094

32. Zimmermann MB, Andersson M. Assessment of iodine nutrition in populations: past, present, and future. *Nutr Rev.* (2012) 70:553–70. doi: 10.1111/j.1753-4887.2012.00528.x

33. Li Y, Teng D, Ba J, Chen B, Du J, He L, et al. Efficacy and safety of long-term universal salt iodization on thyroid disorders: epidemiological evidence from 31 provinces of Mainland China. *Thyroid.* (2020) 30:568–79. doi: 10.1089/thy.2019. 0067

34. Jeon MJ, Kim WG, Kwon H, Kim M, Park S, Oh HS, et al. Excessive iodine intake and thyrotropin reference interval: data from the Korean National health and nutrition examination survey. *Thyroid.* (2017) 27:967–72. doi: 10.1089/thy. 2017.0078

35. Huang L, Zhang L, Rao Z, Huang C, Huang H. Dietary iodine intake and urinary iodine concentration during pregnancy in Chengdu, China. *Asia Pac J Clin Nutr.* (2021) 30:643–50. doi: 10.6133/apjcn.202112\_30(4).0011

36. Dold S, Zimmermann MB, Jukic T, Kusic Z, Jia Q, Sang Z, et al. Universal salt iodization provides sufficient dietary iodine to achieve adequate iodine nutrition during the first 1000 days: a cross-sectional multicenter study. *J Nutr.* (2018) 148:587–58. doi: 10.1093/jn/nxy015

37. Poljak NK, Kontić M, Colović Z, Jeroncić I, Luksić B, Mulić R. Iodine intake and epidemiological characteristics of thyroid cancer: comparison between inland and littoral Croatia. *Acta Clin Croat.* (2011) 50:329–39.

38. Sehestedt T, Knudsen N, Perrild H, Johansen C. Iodine intake and incidence of thyroid cancer in Denmark. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2006) 65:229–33. doi: 10.1111/j. 1365-2265.2006.02580.x

39. Lv C, Yang Y, Jiang L, Gao L, Rong S, Darko GM, et al. Association between chronic exposure to different water iodine and thyroid cancer: a retrospective study from 1995 to 2014. *Sci Total Environ.* (2017) 609:735–41. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv. 2017.07.101

40. Williams ED, Doniach I, Bjarnason O, Michie W. Thyroid cancer in an iodide rich area: a histopathological study. *Cancer*. (1977) 39:215–22. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(197701)39:1<215::aid-cncr2820390134&gt;30.co;2-#

41. Goodman MT, Yoshizawa CN, Kolonel LN. Descriptive epidemiology of thyroid cancer in Hawaii. *Cancer*. (1988) 61:1272–81. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(19880315)61:6<1272::aid-cncr2820610636>3.0.co;2-8

42. Reiners C, Drozd V. Editorial: radiation as risk factor, early diagnosis, therapy, and follow-up of differentiated thyroid cancer. *Front Endocrinol.* (2021) 12:797969. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.797969

43. Abend M, Pfeiffer RM, Port M, Hatch M, Bogdanova T, Tronko MD, et al. Utility of gene expression studies in relation to radiation exposure and clinical outcomes: thyroid cancer in the Ukrainian-American cohort and late health effects in a MAYAK worker cohort. *Int J Radiat Biol.* (2021) 97:12–8. doi: 10.1080/09553002.2020.1748739

44. Belfiore A, La Rosa GL, La Porta GA, Giuffrida D, Milazzo G, Lupo L, et al. Cancer risk in patients with cold thyroid nodules: relevance of iodine intake. *Am J Med.* (1992) 93:363–9. doi: 10.1016/0002-9343(92)90164-7

45. Teng W, Shan Z, Teng X, Guan H, Li Y, Teng D, et al. Effect of iodine intake on thyroid diseases in China. *N Engl J Med.* (2006) 354:2783–93. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa054022

46. Wang Y, Wang J, Chen Z, Ma M, Lin C, He Q, et al. Analysis of the correlation between high iodized salt intake and the risk of thyroid nodules: a large retrospective study. *BMC Cancer*. (2021) 21:1000. doi: 10.1186/s12885-021-08 700-z

47. Mitro SD, Rozek LS, Vatanasapt P, Suwanrungruang K, Chitapanarux I, Srisukho S, et al. Iodine deficiency and thyroid cancer trends in three regions of Thailand, 1990-2009. *Cancer Epidemiol.* (2016) 43:92–9. doi: 10.1016/j.canep.2016. 07.002

48. Hoang T, Lee EK, Lee J, Hwangbo Y, Kim J. Seaweed and iodine intakes and SLC5A5 rs77277498 in relation to thyroid cancer. *Endocrinol Metab.* (2022) 37:513–23. doi: 10.3803/EnM.2021.1306

49. Zhang YL, Li P, Liu ZY, Yi JP, Chen Y, Zhang M, et al. Does relatively low iodine intake contribute to thyroid cancer? An ecological comparison of epidemiology. *Medicine*. (2019) 98:e17539. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000001 7539

50. Cao LZ, Peng XD, Xie JP, Yang FH, Wen HL, Li S. The relationship between iodine intake and the risk of thyroid cancer: a meta-analysis. *Medicine*. (2017) 96:e6734. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000006734

51. Clero E, Doyon F, Chungue V, Rachedi F, Boissin JL, Sebbag J, et al. Dietary iodine and thyroid cancer risk in French polynesia: a case-control study. *Thyroid*. (2012) 22:422–9. doi: 10.1089/thy.2011.0173

52. Chen X, Huang H, Liang B, Zhou J. Abnormal iodine nutrition-induced ER stress upregulates MCP-1 expression through P38/MAPK signaling pathway in thyroid cells. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2019) 191:98–103. doi: 10.1007/s12011-018-1610-9

53. Fan L, Meng F, Gao Y, Liu P. Insufficient iodine nutrition may affect the thyroid cancer incidence in China. *Br J Nutr.* (2021) 126:1852–60. doi: 10.1017/S0007114521000593

54. Kim HJ, Kim NK, Park HK, Byun DW, Suh K, Yoo MH, et al. Strong association of relatively low and extremely excessive iodine intakes with thyroid cancer in an iodine-replete area. *Eur J Nutr.* (2017) 56:965–71. doi: 10.1007/s00394-015-1144-2

55. Zeng Z, Li K, Kang W, Yu J, Wang X, Zhang Z, et al. Changing patterns of thyroid cancer in different stages of Universal Salt Iodization in Peking Union Medical College Hospital, 1986-2018. *Gland Surg.* (2020) 9:1338–45. doi: 10.21037/gs-20-346

56. Choi JY, Lee JH, Song Y. Evaluation of iodine status among Korean patients with papillary thyroid cancer using dietary and urinary iodine. *Endocrinol Metab.* (2021) 36:607–18. doi: 10.3803/EnM.2021.1005

57. Harach HR, Williams ED. Thyroid cancer and thyroiditis in the goitrous region of Salta, Argentina, before and after iodine prophylaxis. *Clin Endocrinol.* (1995) 43:701–6. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2265.1995.tb00538.x

58. Yu Z, Yu Y, Wan Y, Fan J, Meng H, Li S, et al. Iodine intake level and incidence of thyroid disease in adults in Shaanxi province: a cross-sectional study. *Ann Transl Med.* (2021) 9:1567. doi: 10.21037/atm-21-4928

59. Xiu C, He Q, Zhao HJ, Yuan ZN, Guo LH, Wang FQ, et al. Strong correlation of abnormal serum and urinary iodine levels with papillary thyroid cancer: a case-control study. *Biomed Environ Sci.* (2020) 33:62–7. doi: 10.3967/bes2020.009

60. Dong W, Zhang H, Zhang P, Li X, He L, Wang Z, et al. The changing incidence of thyroid carcinoma in Shenyang, China before and after universal salt iodization. *Med Sci Monit.* (2013) 19:49–53. doi: 10.12659/msm.883736

61. Zhao H, Li H, Huang T. High urinary iodine, thyroid autoantibodies, and thyroid-stimulating hormone for papillary thyroid cancer risk. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2018) 184:317–24. doi: 10.1007/s12011-017-1209-6

62. Horn-Ross PL, Morris JS, Lee M, West DW, Whittemore AS, McDougall IR, et al. Iodine and thyroid cancer risk among women in a multiethnic population: the bay area thyroid cancer study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* (2001) 10:979–85.

63. Murata M, Kang JH. Bisphenol A (BPA) and cell signaling pathways. *Biotechnol Adv.* (2018) 36:311–27. doi: 10.1016/j.biotechadv.2017.12.002

64. Yuan N, Wang L, Zhang X, Li W. Bisphenol A and thyroid hormones: bibliometric analysis of scientific publications. *Medicine*. (2020) 99:e23067. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000023067

65. Zhou Z, Zhang J, Jiang F, Xie Y, Zhang X, Jiang L. Higher urinary bisphenol A concentration and excessive iodine intake are associated with nodular goiter and papillary thyroid carcinoma. *Biosci Rep.* (2017) 37:BSR20170678. doi: 10.1042/BSR20170678

66. Hou D, Xu H, Li P, Liu J, Qian Z. Potential role of iodine excess in papillary thyroid cancer and benign thyroid tumor: a case-control study. *Asia Pac J Clin Nutr.* (2020) 29:603–8. doi: 10.6133/apjcn.202009\_29(3).0020

67. Wu X, Lun Y, Jiang H, Gang Q, Xin S, Duan Z, et al. Coexistence of thyroglobulin antibodies and thyroid peroxidase antibodies correlates with elevated thyroid-stimulating hormone level and advanced tumor stage of papillary thyroid cancer. *Endocrine*. (2014) 46:554–60. doi: 10.1007/s12020-013-0121-x

68. Noel JE, Thatipamala P, Hung KS, Chen J, Shi RZ, Orloff LA. Pre-operative antithyroid antibodies in differentiated thyroid cancer. *Endocr Pract.* (2021) 27:1114–8. doi: 10.1016/j.eprac.2021.06.014

69. Kim K, Cho SW, Park YJ, Lee KE, Lee DW, Park SK. Association between iodine intake. Thyroid function, and papillary thyroid cancer: a case-control study. *Endocrinol Metab.* (2021) 36:790–9. doi: 10.3803/EnM.2021.1034

70. Wang F, Wang Y, Wang L, Wang X, Sun C, Xing M, et al. Strong association of high urinary iodine with thyroid nodule and papillary thyroid cancer. *Tumour Biol.* (2014) 35:11375–9. doi: 10.1007/s13277-014-2397-8

71. Zeng Z, Li K, Wang X, Ouyang S, Zhang Z, Liu Z, et al. Low urinary iodine is a protective factor of central lymph node metastasis in papillary thyroid cancer: a cross-sectional study. *World J Surg Oncol.* (2021) 19:208. doi: 10.1186/s12957-021-02302-6

72. Zhao H, Li H, Huang T. High iodine intake and central lymph node metastasis risk of papillary thyroid cancer. *J Trace Elem Med Biol.* (2019) 53:16–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2019.01.015

73. Goh X, Lum J, Yang SP, Chionh SB, Koay E, Chiu L, et al. BRAF mutation in papillary thyroid cancer-Prevalence and clinical correlation in a South-East Asian cohort. *Clin Otolaryngol.* (2019) 44:114–23. doi: 10.1111/coa.13238

74. Scheffel RS, Dora JM, Maia AL. BRAF mutations in thyroid cancer. *Curr Opin Oncol.* (2022) 34:9–18. doi: 10.1097/CCO.00000000000797

75. Rashid FA, Munkhdelger J, Fukuoka J, Bychkov A. Prevalence of BRAF(V600E) mutation in Asian series of papillary thyroid carcinoma-a contemporary systematic review. *Gland Surg.* (2020) 9:1878–900. doi: 10.21037/gs-20-430

76. Silver JA, Bogatchenko M, Pusztaszeri M, Forest VI, Hier MP, Yang JW, et al. BRAF V600E mutation is associated with aggressive features in papillary thyroid carcinomas </= 1.5 cm. J Otolaryngol Head Neck Surg. (2021) 50:63. doi: 10.1186/s40463-021-00543-9

77. Vuong HG, Kondo T, Oishi N, Nakazawa T, Mochizuki K, Inoue T, et al. Genetic alterations of differentiated thyroid carcinoma in iodine-rich and iodine-deficient countries. *Cancer Med.* (2016) 5:1883–9. doi: 10.1002/cam4.781

78. Kowalska A, Walczyk A, Kowalik A, Palyga I, Trybek T, Kopczynski J, et al. Increase in papillary thyroid cancer incidence is accompanied by changes in the frequency of the BRAF V600E mutation: a single-institution study. *Thyroid.* (2016) 26:543–51. doi: 10.1089/thy.2015.0352

79. Guan H, Ji M, Bao R, Yu H, Wang Y, Hou P, et al. Association of high iodine intake with the T1799A BRAF mutation in papillary thyroid cancer. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2009) 94:1612–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-2390

80. Kim HJ, Park HK, Byun DW, Suh K, Yoo MH, Min YK, et al. Iodine intake as a risk factor for BRAF mutations in papillary thyroid cancer patients from an iodine-replete area. *Eur J Nutr.* (2018) 57:809–15. doi: 10.1007/s00394-016-1370-2

81. Lee JH, Song RY, Yi JW, Yu HW, Kwon H, Kim SJ, et al. Case-control study of papillary thyroid carcinoma on urinary and dietary iodine status in South Korea. *World J Surg.* (2018) 42:1424–31. doi: 10.1007/s00268-017-4287-x

82. Schneck A. Examining publication bias-a simulation-based evaluation of statistical tests on publication bias. *PeerJ.* (2017) 5:e4115. doi: 10.7717/peerj.4115

83. Harach HR, Ceballos GA. Thyroid cancer, thyroiditis and dietary iodine: a review based on the Salta, argentina model. *Endocr Pathol.* (2008) 19:209–20. doi: 10.1007/s12022-008-9038-y

84. Li AY, McCusker MG, Russo A, Scilla KA, Gittens A, Arensmeyer K, et al. RET fusions in solid tumors. *Cancer Treat Rev.* (2019) 81:101911. doi: 10.1016/j. ctrv.2019.101911

85. Santoro M, Moccia M, Federico G, Carlomagno F. RET gene fusions in malignancies of the thyroid and other tissues. *Genes.* (2020) 11:424. doi: 10.3390/genes11040424

86. Khan MS, Qadri Q, Makhdoomi MJ, Wani MA, Malik AA, Niyaz M, et al. RET/PTC gene rearrangements in thyroid carcinogenesis: assessment and

clinico-pathological correlations. Pathol Oncol Res. (2020) 26:507-13. doi: 10.1007/s12253-018-0540-3

87. Fiore AP, Fuziwara CS, Kimura ET. High iodine concentration attenuates RET/PTC3 oncogene activation in thyroid follicular cells. *Thyroid.* (2009) 19:1249–56. doi: 10.1089/thy.2008.0408

88. Fuziwara CS, Kimura ET. High iodine blocks a Notch/miR-19 loop activated by the BRAF(V600E) oncoprotein and restores the response to TGFbeta in thyroid follicular cells. *Thyroid.* (2014) 24:453–62. doi: 10.1089/thy.2013.0398

89. Zhang D, Xu X, Li J, Yang X, Sun J, Wu Y, et al. High iodine effects on the proliferation, apoptosis, and migration of papillary thyroid carcinoma cells as a result of autophagy induced by BRAF kinase. *Biomed Pharmacother.* (2019) 120:109476. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2019.109476

90. Wang J, Yang H, Si Y, Hu D, Yu Y, Zhang Y, et al. Iodine promotes tumorigenesis of thyroid cancer by suppressing Mir-422a and up-regulating MAPK1. *Cell Physiol Biochem.* (2017) 43:1325–36. doi: 10.1159/000481844

91. Xiang J, Wang X, Wang Z, Wu Y, Li D, Shen Q, et al. Effect of different iodine concentrations on well-differentiated thyroid cancer cell behavior and its inner mechanism. *Cell Biochem Biophys.* (2015) 71:299–305. doi: 10.1007/s12013-014-0198-8

92. Yang X, Sun J, Han J, Sun L, Wang H, Zhang D, et al. Iodine promotes thyroid cancer development *via* SPANXA1 through the PI3K/AKT signalling pathway. *Oncol Lett.* (2019) 18:637-44. doi: 10.3892/ol.2019.10391

93. Li J, Bo H, Zhu F, Li Q, Chen T, Lei S, et al. Hypomethylated SPANXA1/A2 promotes the metastasis of head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Med Oncol.* (2020) 37:112. doi: 10.1007/s12032-020-01441-2

94. Axelrad AA, Leblond CP. Induction of thyroid tumors in rats by a low iodine diet. *Cancer*. (1955) 8:339–67. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(1955)8:2<339::aid-cncr2820080214&gt;3.0.co;2-m

95. Schaller RTJ, Jk S. Development of carcinoma of the thyroid in iodinedeficient mice. *Cancer.* (1966) 19:1063–80. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(196608)19: 8<1063::aid-cncr2820190804>3.0.co;2-a

96. Al-Saadi AA, Beierwaltes WH. Chromosomal changes in rat thyroid cells during iodine depletion and repletion. *Cancer Res.* (1966) 26:676–88.

97. Sun R, Wang J, Li X, Li L, Yang J, Ren Y, et al. Effect of Iodine Intake on p14ARF and p16INK4a expression in thyroid papillary carcinoma in rats. *Med Sci Monit.* (2015) 21:2288–93. doi: 10.12659/MSM.893486

98. Roman BR, Morris LG, Davies L. The thyroid cancer epidemic, 2017 perspective. *Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes*. (2017) 24:332-6. doi: 10.1097/med.00000000000359

99. Menyanu E, Corso B, Minicuci N, Rocco I, Zandberg L, Baumgartner J, et al. Salt-reduction strategies may compromise salt iodization programs: learnings from South Africa and Ghana. *Nutrition.* (2021) 84:111065. doi: 10.1016/j.nut.2020. 111065

#### Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Piyameth Dilokthornsakul, Chiang Mai University, Thailand

#### REVIEWED BY Fatma Rahmouni, University of Sfax, Tunisia Yusuf Can Gercek, Istanbul University, Turkey

\*CORRESPONDENCE Hassan Barakat haa.mohamed@gu.edu.sa

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Clinical Nutrition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

RECEIVED 27 August 2022 ACCEPTED 27 October 2022 PUBLISHED 11 November 2022

#### CITATION

Barakat H, Alshimali SI, Almutairi AS, Alkhurayji RI, Almutiri SM, Aljutaily T, Algheshairy RM, Alhomaid RM, Aljalis RA, Alkhidhr MF and Abdellatif AAH (2022) Antioxidative potential and ameliorative effects of green lentil (*Lens culinaris* M.) sprouts against CCl<sub>4</sub>-induced oxidative stress in rats. *Front. Nutr.* 9:1029793. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.1029793

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Barakat, Alshimali, Almutairi, Alkhuravii, Almutiri, Aliutaily, Algheshairy, Alhomaid, Alialis, Alkhidhr and Abdellatif. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Antioxidative potential and ameliorative effects of green lentil (*Lens culinaris* M.) sprouts against CCl<sub>4</sub>-induced oxidative stress in rats

Hassan Barakat<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Saleh I. Alshimali<sup>1</sup>, Abdulkarim S. Almutairi<sup>1</sup>, Raghad I. Alkhurayji<sup>1</sup>, Sarah M. Almutiri<sup>1</sup>, Thamer Aljutaily<sup>1</sup>, Reham M. Algheshairy<sup>1</sup>, Raghad M. Alhomaid<sup>1</sup>, Rashed A. Aljalis<sup>3</sup>, Mohammed F. Alkhidhr<sup>3</sup> and Ahmed A. H. Abdellatif<sup>4,5</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Food Science and Human Nutrition, College of Agriculture and Veterinary Medicine, Qassim University, Buraydah, Saudi Arabia, <sup>2</sup>Food Technology Department, Faculty of Agriculture, Benha University, Banha, Egypt, <sup>3</sup>Department of Veterinary Medicine, College of Agriculture and Veterinary Medicine, Qassim University, Buraydah, Saudi Arabia, <sup>4</sup>Department of Pharmaceutics, College of Pharmacy, Qassim University, Buraydah, Saudi Arabia, <sup>5</sup>Department of Pharmaceutics and Pharmaceutical Technology, Faculty of Pharmacy, Al-Azhar University, Assiut, Egypt

The present study is aimed to investigate the antioxidative potential and ameliorative effects of Lens culinaris Medikus sprouts hydroalcoholic extract (LSHE) on CCl<sub>4</sub>-induced oxidative stress in rats. The research has been carried out in two successive stages. Firstly, the highest phenolic content and antioxidant activity of L. culinaris sprouts were assessed at 20  $\pm$ 1°C and 90-93% RH during sprouting. Total phenolic content (TPC), total carotenoids (TC), total flavonoids (TF), total flavonols (TFL), DPPH-RSA, and vitamin C contents of L. culinaris seeds and 6-days sprouts were determined. Subsequently, phenolics by HPLC analysis of L. culinaris seeds, 3rd and 6th-day sprouts were identified and quantified. Results indicated that 6th-day sprouts contained considerable phenolics with superior antioxidant capacity, thus selected to be examined for biological activity in a rat's module consisting of five groups. G1, normal rats orally received distilled water. G2 received 1.0 mL  $kg^{-1}$  of CCl<sub>4</sub> and olive oil (1:1) intraperitoneally (i.p.) twice a week. G3 received CCl<sub>4</sub> (i.p.) and 50 mg GAE  $kg^{-1}$  of LSHE daily/orally. G4 received CCl<sub>4</sub> (i.p.) 100 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> of LSHE orally/daily. G5 (reference group) treated by intramuscular injection (i.m.) of vit. E+Selenium (Vit. E+Se, 50 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> twice a week). The weight gain, relative weight of organs, hypoglycemic and hypolipidemic efficiencies, liver's and kidneys' functions, and antioxidant biomarkers were examined. LSHE enhanced the weight gain recovery % and significantly reduced fasting blood glucose. The hypolipidemic effect of LSHE was dramatically reduced triglycerides (TG), total cholesterol (CHO), high- and low-density lipoproteins (HDL-c and LDL-c), and very-low-density lipoproteins (VLDL-c). Administration of 50 and 100 LSHE mg  $kg^{-1}$  ameliorated liver and kidney function in dose-dependent manure. Intriguingly, LSHE considerably reduced

malondialdehyde (MDA) while significantly raising reduced glutathione (GSH), superoxide dismutase (SOD), and catalase (CAT) in a dose-dependent manner. In conclusion, biochemical examinations confirmed the therapeutic efficacy of LSHE as a functional product. It encouraged us to recommend *L. culinaris* sprout production for attenuating hepatotoxicity and nephrotoxicity, as well as being beneficial and profitable for controlling oxidative stress complications.

KEYWORDS

Lens culinaris, sprouts, antioxidative potential, hepatoprotection, nephroprotection

#### Introduction

An imbalance among the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and the body's detoxification or repair mechanisms is known as oxidative stress. When the cell's redox state is disturbed, toxic peroxides and free radicals are produced, harming lipids and DNA (1). DNA strands can be broken by oxidative stress, which causes underlying damage. Indirect base damage is caused by ROS, which generates the harmful free radicals. Because some reactive oxidative species serve as cellular messengers in redox signaling, oxidative stress can interfere with cellular communication. Oxidative stress is viewed as a potential factor in the development of cancer and Alzheimer's disease in humans (2), atherosclerosis (3), and depression (4). Researchers are looking for safe and effective plant-based bioactive inhibitory compounds to combat oxidative stress.

Pulses demonstrated a significant relationship between total polyphenol and tocopherol concentration and antioxidant activity (5, 6). The amount of polyphenol, carotenoid, and tocopherol bioactive in pulses varies depending on type and cultivar (5). Lentils are among the most nutrient-dense and health-beneficial foods, according to Faris et al. (6). It includes many necessary macronutrients, such as functional proteins and carbs, essential micronutrients, and bioactive phytochemicals. Recent classifications classify lentils as a preventive and therapeutic functional food (6, 7). As one of the top five superfoods, lentils (*L. culinaris*) have recently attracted more and more attention. In addition to being high in protein, they also contain significant amounts of dietary fiber, folate, iron, and potassium (8). The abilities of green lentil extracts to act as an antioxidant and as a radical scavenger were initially documented by Amarowicz et al. (9). Using HPLC-PAD and HPLC-ESI-MS methods, phenolics were also discovered in the crude extracts. Green lentils mainly included quercetin diglycoside, trans-p-coumaric acid, procyanidin dimers, catechin and epicatechin glucosides, quercetin, and epicatechin glucosides. Xu et al. (10) examined 11 samples of Lentils to determine their antioxidant capacities and four main phenolic groups, phenolic acids, anthocyanins, flavones, and flavan-3-ols-in each sample. Different cultivars of lentils showed considerable variations in their unique phenolic compounds and chemical and cellular antioxidant activities. The highest levels of total polyphenol and antioxidant activity were found in the large and small green lentils, while the split red lentil was among the cultivars of pulses with the least amount of antioxidant activity and the lowest overall polyphenol content (5). To make functional foods or nutraceuticals to enhance consumer health, food processors may use lentils with high phenolic content and antioxidant capabilities (7, 10, 11).

A remarkable variety of secondary metabolites, minerals, and bioactive substances found in lentils have shown promise in treating and preventing numerous chronic human diseases. In vivo and in vivo studies confirmed the positive correlation between their bioactive compounds, antioxidant capacity, and related health effects (5, 6, 11, 12). However, lentils' anticancer, hypoglycemic, hypocholesterolemic, and blood pressure-reducing properties and their potential to alleviate disease were examined (6, 7, 13). It has been claimed that lentil extracts have a variety of pharmacological effects both in vivo and in vitro, including antidiabetic, hypotensive, hypolipidemic, and cardioprotective effects (7). A study has also shown that the phenolic extract from lentils possesses direct ROS scavenging abilities (14, 15). According to Jung et al. (15), the phenolic extract of L. culinaris can serve as a possible source of nutraceuticals with hepatoprotective properties since it partially protects liver cells from oxidative stress by triggering the cellular

Abbreviations: ALT, Alanine aminotransferase; AOA, Antioxidant activity; AST, Aspartate aminotransferase; CAT, Catalase; CHO, Total cholesterol; DPPH, 1,1-diphenyl-2-picryl hydrazine; dw, Dry weight; GA, Gallic acid; GAE, Gallic acid equivalent; GSH, Reduced-glutathione; HDL-c, High-density lipoproteins; LDL-c, Low-density lipoproteins; LSHE, *Lens culinaris* Medikus sprouts hydroalcoholic extract; MDA, Malonaldehyde; QE, Quercetin equivalent; RSA, Radical scavenging activity; SE, Standard error; SOD, Superoxide dismutase; TBA, Thiobarbituric acid; TC, Total carotenoids; TE, Trolox equivalent; TF, Total flavonoids; TFL, Total flavonols; TG, Triglycerides; TPC, Total phenolic compounds; VLDL-c, Very Low-density lipoproteins.

antioxidant system. According to Goudarzi et al. (12), sodium arsenite (SA) can significantly increase oxidative stress while also depleting antioxidant reserves and blocking the actions of antioxidant enzymes. The oxidative hepatotoxicity caused by SA may be considerably reduced with red lentil extract (RLE). Its medicinal potential might be a cheap, secure, herbal antioxidative medication to treat SA toxicity.

Researchers struggle to improve the nutritional quality of lentils and ensure their abundant supply of bioactive phytochemicals that have health-promoting activity. Sprouts are a phytonutrient-rich vegetable food that is a good source of proteins, minerals, vitamins, flavonoids, polyphenols, glucosinolates, and isothiocyanates (16). Sprouting processes an applicable procedure to enhance phenolic content, antioxidant capacity, glycemic index, and potential bioaccessibility (17). Swieca et al. (18) confirmed that sprouting improved the nutraceutical value of lentil sprouts regarding their antioxidant potential. Interestingly, according to Reed et al. (19), sprouts are regarded as "functional foods," defined as foods with additional health-promoting or disease-prevention benefits to their primary nutritional value. Studies on sprouts' nutritional value, phytochemical makeup during production or storage, and investigations into their microbiological, bioactive, and technological aspects have been suggested (20). The nutritional advantages and sensory acceptance of food products created with other sprouts were recently reviewed in this context (21).

Until now, nobody has looked into the bio-changes in phytochemicals during lentil sprouting. Therefore, the TPC, AOA, TC, TF, TFL, and vitamin C, as well as HPLC analysis of phenolic compounds during sprouting, were studied first. Consequently, a hydroalcoholic extract of 6-days green lentil sprouts (LSHE) was prepared.

Secondly, the antioxidative potential, hepatoprotective, and nephroprotective efficacy of green lentil sprouts hydroalcoholic extract (LSHE) on CCl<sub>4</sub>-induced oxidative stress were investigated.

## Materials and methods

#### Raw lentil seeds

Green lentil seeds (*L. culinaris* Medikus) were purchased from the Al-Tamimi market (https://www.tamimimarkets.com) in Al Qassim region, K.S.A. Plant expert (Dr. Mokded Rabhi) from the College of Agriculture and Veterinary Medicine at Qassim University in K.S.A., carried out the plant's verification. The broken, sick, and dusty seeds were eliminated. Green lentil sprouts were made from cleaned seeds. Until they were used for analysis, raw or milled seeds (American model laboratory mill, model ES2097) were kept in freezer-plastic bags at a temperature of  $18 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C.

# Sprouting of *L. culinaris* and hydroalcoholic extract preparation

The seeds were sanitized into a solution of sodium hypochlorite (1%) for 3 min before sprouting in batches of 500 g. The seeds were evenly distributed on  $7 \times 35$  cm plastic trays after being rinsed three times in sterilized distilled water (sd.H<sub>2</sub>O). The seed germinator was then filled with the seeds. The germination procedure was done in an atomizer-equipped temperature-controlled seed germinator (Easygreen, Canada) with a relative humidity of 90-93% with faith light. The temperature of the germinator was kept at 20  $\pm$  1°C. For the first 3 days, 10.0 mL of sd.H<sub>2</sub>O/tray was sprayed onto lentil samples thrice daily. Beginning at the germination process and continuing for up to 6 days, appropriate samples were taken daily. Lentil sprouts were frozen overnight at  $-18 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C, then freeze-dried (CHRIST, Alpha 1-2 LD plus, Germany) for 96 h at -48°C under the pressure of 0.032 mbar. Freeze-dried sprouts were crumbled in a small mill (Thomas Wiley, USA) to obtain a homogenous powder, then kept in the dark containers at 4  $\pm$  1°C for HPLC and phytochemical analysis. Lentil sprouts were individually germinated in identical settings for 6 days. Progressively, Lentil sprouts were dried using a 24-hdrying program according to Barakat et al. (22) and Al-Qabba et al. (23). The dried sprouts were milled, sieved, and kept under cold storage until extraction. Lentil sprouts hydroalcoholic extract (LSHE) was carried out by extracting about 500 g of lentil sprouts three times with 2,500 mL of 50% ethanol. The filtered extract was concentrated in a rotary evaporator at 40°C, then frozen overnight and freeze-dried (CHRIST, Alpha 1-2 LD plus, Germany) (24). Freeze-dried samples were powdered by porcelain morsel to make homogeneous powder which was kept under cooling conditions until used.

# Determination of TPC, TC, TF, and TFL in *L. culinaris* seeds and sprouts

According to Yawadio Nsimba et al. (25), the TPC of *L.* culinaris seeds and sprouts was determined using the Folin-Ciocalteu reagent. In brief, a suitable sample was extracted with 70% methanol. Aliquots of clear supernatant were mixed with (1:10) diluted Folin-Ciocalteu reagent for 5 min before being stopped with Na<sub>2</sub>CO<sub>3</sub> (7.5 %). The optical density (OD) was measured after 60 min and compared to the standard curve of Gallic acid (GA) solution ( $R^2 = 0.99$ ), and the TPC content was expressed as milligrams of Gallic acid equivalents (GAE) per 100 g (mg of GAE 100 g<sup>-1</sup> DW). For TC determination, 1 g of the freeze-dried sample was repeatedly extracted with a mixture of acetone and petroleum ether (1:1, v/v), according to Yuan et al. (26). The upper phase was collected, washed with water several times, and combined with crude extracts. The petroleum

ether will be added to the solution to prepare a known volume. The TC content was determined spectrophotometrically at 451 nm and expressed as mg 100  $g^{-1}$  dw. The upper phase was collected, washed with water several times, and combined with crude extracts. The petroleum ether will be added to the solution to prepare a known volume. The TC content was determined spectrophotometrically at 451 nm and expressed as mg 100  $g^{-1}$ dw. The TF content of L. culinaris seeds and sprouts using a methanolic extract was determined. Aliquots of clear extract were mixed with 2% AlCl<sub>3</sub>, then measured after 60 min at 420 nm. The TFL content of L. culinaris seeds and sprouts was determined by combining aliquots of methanolic extracts with sodium acetate (5 %). After 5 min, AlCl3 (2%) was added, and the OD was measured after 150 min at 440 nm, according to Mohdaly et al. (27). The content of TF and TFL were expressed as mg quercetin equivalent (QE) per g $^{-1}$  (mg QE 100 g $^{-1}$ ).

# Vitamin C and antioxidant capacity determination

The vitamin C content using the 2,6-dichloro phenol indophenol titrimetric method was determined according to Silva et al. (28); data were expressed as mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup> fw. The radical scavenging activity (DPPH-RSA) of *L. culinaris* seeds and sprouts was examined spectrophotometrically according to Barakat and Rohn (29), and antiradical activity value was presented as  $\mu$ mol TE 100 g<sup>-1</sup>.

#### Quantification of phenolic compounds in *L. culinaris* and its sprouts by HPLC-DAD

According to Kim et al. (30), using an HPLC system HP1100 (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA, USA) equipped with an autosampler, quaternary pump, and diode array detector DAD, as well as an Altima C18,  $5 \times 150$  mm, 4.6 mm ID column and an Altima C18, 5 mm guard column (Alltech), the phenolic compounds in *L. culinaris* and its sprouts were determined. At a flow rate of 1 mL min-1, 10  $\mu$ l of the extracted samples were injected, and separation was carried out at 25°C. The gradient of acetic acid concentrations in the solvent system was A (acetic acid 2.5%), B (acetic acid 8%), and C (Acetonitrile 100%). For identification and quantification, each peak's retention times and mass spectra were compared to external standards and stored; then, phenolic compounds were expressed in mg Kg<sup>-1</sup>.

#### Animals and experimental design

This study used Wistar rats (40 adult males) weighing 175–200 g. All the experiments received approval from the Institutional Animal Ethics Committee (IAEC) of QU, KSA (No.

21-18-09 on Thursday, May 19, 2022), Qassim University, SA. Under typical laboratory conditions, animals were housed in polypropylene cages with air conditioning and kept at 24°C. Rats were placed in new cages under controlled circumstances of 24°C, 40-45% relative humidity, and a 12-h light/dark cycle after being exposed to the environment for 10 days. Randomly, five groups of eight rats each were assigned to the groups. The rats' body weight (BW) was noted along with their identification labels. Rats were given a commercial standard pellet diet and unlimited access to water (31). The following procedures were used to treat the rats for six consecutive weeks. Group 1 (normal rats, NR) received 2 mL of distilled water orally/daily and an intraperitoneal injection (i.p.) of olive oil (1.0 mL kg<sup>-1</sup>) twice a week. For oxidative stress and hepatotoxicity induction in experimental animals. Rats were administrated (i.p.) with a fresh solution of CCl<sub>4</sub> and olive oil (1:1) at a dose of  $1.0 \text{ mL kg}^{-1}$ twice a week and 2 ml of distilled water orally/daily (32). After 1 week, rats were randomly divided into four groups, eight each, and one of those groups was labeled as Group 2 and located and positive control. Group 3 received CCl<sub>4</sub> (i.p.) twice a week in addition to 50 mg GAE kg<sup>-1</sup> of LSHE given orally daily. Group 4 received CCl<sub>4</sub> (i.p.) twice a week in addition to 100 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> of LSHE administered orally daily. According to Asuku et al. (33) and Gaber et al. (34), Group 5 (reference group) received an intramuscular injection (i.m.) of Vit. E+Se (Selepherol, Vetoquinol Co., France) at 50 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> twice a week and 2 mL distilled water orally daily. At the end of the 6th week, animals fasted for 12 h with free access to water. According to Leila et al. (35), rats were anesthetized. Blood was collected from the heart puncture and then treated to separate blood serum by centrifugation at 4,000 x g for 30 min for use in various biochemical measures. Appropriate kits and a blood chemistry analyzer (HumaLyzer 4000, Germany) were used to determine the biochemical parameters. Rats' liver, kidneys, and spleen were removed during the dissection of sacrificed animals. The following equation was used to determine the relative weight (RW) of the organs:

$$RW = \frac{\text{Weight of the organ}}{\text{Weight of the rat}} x100$$
(1)

#### Determination of liver and kidney functions, lipid profile, and fasting blood glucose level

Alanine aminotransferase (ALT,  $UL^{-1}$ ), aspartate aminotransferase (AST,  $UL^{-1}$ ), alkaline phosphatase (ALP,  $UL^{-1}$ ), and total bilirubin (T. Bili, mg dL<sup>-1</sup>) in blood serum were measured using specific and approved kits following the manufacturing instructions. According to the manufacturer's instructions, kidney functions such as albumin (g dL<sup>-1</sup>), total protein (T. Protein, g dL<sup>-1</sup>), urea (mg dL<sup>-1</sup>), and creatinine (mg dL<sup>-1</sup>) concentrations were measured. Albumin concentrations were subtracted from T. Protein concentrations to calculate globulin (g dL<sup>-1</sup>). Dividing the urea concentration by 0.47, blood urea nitrogen (BUN, mg dL<sup>-1</sup>) was calculated. All biochemical test kits were bought from Human Co. in Wiesbaden, Germany. According to Nwagha et al. (36), the atherogenic index (AI) was calculated. An enzymatic colorimetric test kit was used to determine fasting blood glucose (mg dL<sup>-1</sup>). High-density lipoproteins (HDL-c, mg dL<sup>-1</sup>) and total cholesterol (CHO, mg dL<sup>-1</sup>), and triglycerides (TG, mg dL<sup>-1</sup>), according to manufacturer instructions, were examined. According to Friedewald et al. (37), low-density lipoproteins (LDL, mg dL<sup>-1</sup>) and very-low-density lipoproteins (VLDL, mg dL<sup>-1</sup>) were mathematically calculated.

#### Oxidative stress biomarkers

According to the described method by Beutler et al. (38), reduced-glutathione (GSH,  $\mu$ g dL<sup>-1</sup>) was determined. According to Ohkawa et al. (39), lipid peroxidation was evaluated by detecting thiobarbituric acid reactive substance (TBARS), and the measured malondialdehyde (MDA) concentration was expressed as nmol mL<sup>-1</sup>. Superoxide dismutase (SOD, U L<sup>-1</sup>) activity was determined following the protocol of Giannopolitis and Ries (40). Catalase (CAT, U L-1) activity was assessed using the Aebi technique (41). All oxidative-stress biomarkers were determined using a blood chemistry analyzer (HumaLyzer 4000, Germany).

#### Data analysis

The SPSS (Ver. 22.0 for Windows) was used to conduct the statistical analysis. According to Steel et al. (42), one-way ANOVA was used to assess the statistical significance, *p*-values of 0.05 were used for the *post-hoc* test, and means of the experimental results and standard error were presented.

#### Results

# The phytochemicals and antioxidant activity of *L. culinaris* sprouts

The quantitative analysis of phytochemicals such as TPC, TC, TF, and TFL, as well as related antioxidant activity using DPPH radical scavenging and vitamin C content in *L. culinaris* sprouts, was performed. The TPC content of green lentil seeds (GLS) was 379.76 mg GAE 100 g<sup>-1</sup>, as illustrated in Table 1. The TC content of GLS was 14.15 g 100 g<sup>-1</sup>. Both TF and TFL contents in GLS were 16.32 and 11.17 mg QE 100 g<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. Furthermore, the development of antioxidant

activity was tracked using DPPH-RSA. The results showed 479.42 mol of TE 100 g<sup>-1</sup> in GLS. The vitamin C content of GLS was 42.91 mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup>. On the 6th day, significant increases in TPC, TC, TF, and TFL, as well as Vit. C were observed.

#### Quantification of phenolic compounds in *L. culinaris* seeds and sprouts

The quantitative analysis of phenolics in extracts of L. culinaris seeds and sprouts was carried out; the data are illustrated in Table 2. Thirteen separated phenolic acids and five flavonoids were identified in GLS and its sprouts in detectable amounts. The most abundant phenolics were p-Hydroxy benzoic acid (71.34 mg Kg $^{-1}$ ), followed by *p*-coumaric acid  $(38.46 \text{ mg Kg}^{-1})$  and Vanillic acid  $(21.40 \text{ mg Kg}^{-1})$ . The GLS is abundant in TF content, as demonstrated in Table 2. TF such as Naringenin (112.62 mg  $Kg^{-1}$ ) and Quercetin  $(35.29 \text{ mg Kg}^{-1})$  were identified and found in higher amounts, followed by Myricetin (28.58 mg  $\text{Kg}^{-1}$ ), Resveratrol (19.00 mg  $(\mathrm{Kg}^{-1})$  and Kaempferol (15.27 mg  $\mathrm{Kg}^{-1}$ ). On the 3rd day of sprouting, Benzoic acid, Rosmarinic acid, and Syringic acid as phenolic acids were presented in 42.73, 28.48, and 28.48 mg Kg<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. Similarly, new flavonoids have been shown in reasonable amounts with an increase in detected flavonoids in GLS except for Naringenin. Rutin and Catechin were quantified at 50.02 and  $4.19 \text{ mg Kg}^{-1}$  in the 3rd day's sprouts. Seven flavonoids, eleven phenolic acids, and their derivatives were identified and measured on the 6-day. The most abundant phenolic acids were Rosmarinic acid, p-Hydroxy benzoic acid, and p-coumaric acid. In contrast, the most abundant flavonoids were Kaempferol, followed by Myricetin, Naringenin, Resveratrol, Quercetin, Rutin, and Catechin. On the 6th day, phenolic acids and flavonoids were remarkably increased, whereas the flavonoids recorded increases higher than phenolic acids and their derivatives.

# The weight gain, the RW of organs, and hypoglycemic efficiency

The weight gain, RW of organs, and hypoglycemic efficiency of GLR extracts in CCl<sub>4</sub>-induced oxidative stress and hepatotoxicity in rats were scrutinized; data are presented in Table 3. Injection of CCl4 directly affected the rats' weight during the 1st week; however, virtually little weight gain was observed in G2 rats in the 6th week. The most efficient treatment in recovering rats' weight was administering 100 mg GAE Kg<sup>-1</sup> LSHE compared with G1 or G5 at the end of the 6th week. LSHE significantly improved weight gain associatively in a dose-dependent manner. For organs' relative weight, the injected group exhibited significant increases in organs' weight.

TABLE 1 Total phenolic, carotenoids, flavonoids, flavonols contents, and potential antioxidant capacities of *L. culinaris* during sprouting at  $20 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C and 90-93% RH (mean  $\pm$  SE), n = 6.

Item	Sprouting period (day)								
	0	1	2	3	4	5	6		
TPC (mg meq GAE 100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	$379.76 \pm 14.15^{\rm f}$	$461.78 \pm 20.82^{e}$	$557.55 \pm 11.89^{d}$	$620.45 \pm 14.66^{\circ}$	$678.89 \pm 17.85^{\rm b}$	$770.87\pm6.36^a$	$788.78\pm5.26^a$		
$TC (\mu g \ 100 \ g^{-1})$	$13.00\pm0.83^{\rm d}$	$10.89\pm0.28^{\rm d}$	$16.47\pm0.88^{\text{c}}$	$19.71\pm0.20^{b}$	$21.15\pm0.63^{b}$	$24.48\pm1.16^a$	$25.17 \pm 1.80^a$		
TF (mg QE 100 $g^{-1}$ )	$16.32\pm4.38^{\text{d}}$	$20.43\pm 6.45^{cd}$	$39.47\pm7.42^{bc}$	$52.91 \pm 4.31^{ab}$	$56.88\pm9.50^{ab}$	$64.89\pm10.93^a$	$52.40\pm5.42^{ab}$		
TFL (mg QE 100 $g^{-1}$ )	$11.17\pm3.64^{\rm b}$	$14.41\pm4.50^{\rm b}$	$17.40\pm1.62^{\rm b}$	$36.28\pm 6.75^a$	$38.30\pm3.65^a$	$44.42\pm5.85^a$	$45.59\pm2.29^a$		
DPPH ( $\mu$ mol of TE 100 g <sup>-1</sup> )	$479.42\pm25.39^{c}$	$515.19 \pm 27.58^{bc}$	$547.04 \pm 37.76^{bc}$	$565.01 \pm 22.14^{bc}$	$594.24 \pm 35.74^{bc}$	$679.57 \pm 31.31^{a}$	$539.73 \pm 45.21^{ab}$		
Vitamin C (mg 100 $g^{-1}$ )	$42.91 \pm 1.10^{\text{e}}$	$40.76\pm1.04^{\text{e}}$	$60.07\pm1.54^{\rm d}$	$72.94 \pm 1.87^{c}$	$92.25\pm2.36^{b}$	$93.75\pm2.40^{b}$	$122.54\pm3.14^a$		

TPC, Total phenolic content; TC, Total carotenoids; TFL, Total flavonoids; DPPH, Antioxidant activity using DPPH assay; RH, Relative humidity;  $a_{b,c,d,e,f}$ , Means with the same superscripted letters in the same row are not statistically different at p < 0.05.

TABLE 2 Quantitative analysis of phenolic compounds in *L. culinaris* during sprouting at  $20\pm1$  °C and 90-93% RH (mean  $\pm$  SE), n = 3.

Item	No.	Compound	Phenolics (mg Kg <sup><math>-1</math></sup> ) *				
				Sprouting period (day	y)		
			0	3	6		
Phenolic acids	1	Pyrogallol		-			
	2	Quinol	-	-	-		
	3	3-Hydroxytyrosol catechol	-	-	-		
	4	<i>p</i> -Hydroxy benzoic acid	$71.34\pm3.24$	$82.05\pm1.10$	$73.93 \pm 2.57$		
	5	Caffeic acid	$1.25\pm0.24$	$2.70\pm0.87$	$3.34 \pm 1.24$		
	6	Chlorogenic acid	$2.16\pm0.29$	$2.56\pm0.19$	$4.19\pm0.54$		
	7	Cinnamic acid	$0.69\pm0.12$	$0.41\pm0.21$	$0.28\pm0.08$		
	8	Ellagic acid	-	-	-		
	9	Vanillic acid	$21.40\pm0.21$	$0.91\pm0.14$	$59.20\pm4.25$		
	10	Ferulic acid	$6.45 \pm 1.02$	$2.96\pm0.85$	$10.32 \pm 1.98$		
	11	Gallic acid	-	-	-		
	12	<i>O</i> – coumaric acid	$7.61\pm0.97$	$6.33\pm0.71$	$5.14\pm0.26$		
	13	<i>p</i> -coumaric acid	$38.46\pm2.18$	$76.61 \pm 3.48$	$59.75\pm 6.18$		
	14	Benzoic acid	-	$42.73\pm2.98$	$61.48 \pm 2.78$		
	15	Rosmarinic acid	-	$28.48 \pm 1.97$	$114.88\pm5.19$		
	16	Syringic acid	-	$3.83\pm0.58$	$5.19\pm0.79$		
Flavonoids	1	Catechin	-	$4.19\pm0.25$	$14.90 \pm 2.97$		
	2	Kaempferol	$15.27 \pm 1.57$	$166.86\pm6.27$	$4439.54 \pm 10.24$		
	3	Myricetin	$28.58 \pm 1.25$	$134.72\pm4.97$	$224.16\pm5.27$		
	4	Quercetin	$35.29\pm2.21$	$41.89 \pm 3.19$	$54.12\pm5.27$		
	5	Rutin	-	$50.02 \pm 4.87$	$39.01\pm5.02$		
	6	Resveratrol	$19.00\pm2.75$	$54.62\pm2.97$	$80.64\pm3.97$		
	7	Naringenin	$112.62 \pm 4.21$	$89.78 \pm 6.12$	$142.57\pm8.02$		

\*: Phenolic acids were identified at 280 nm, and flavonoids were identified at 365 nm, Not detected.

Treating rats with LSHE or Vit. E+Se showed a positive attenuation. After the 6th week, LSHE at 50 or 100 mg GAE  $Kg^{-1}$  exhibited a potent efficacy in reducing fasting blood glucose but not better Vit. E+Se at 50 mg  $Kg^{-1}$ , as shown in Table 3.

#### The hypolipidemic efficiency

The hypolipidemic efficiency of LSHE at 50 and 100 mg GAE  $Kg^{-1}$  and Vit. E+Se at 50 mg  $kg^{-1}$  on CCl<sub>4</sub>-induced oxidative stress and hepatotoxicity in rats were determined;

Groups	Weight	gain %	Org	FBG		
	3rd weak	6th weak	Liver	Kidneys	Spleen	
G1	$31.41\pm2.35^a$	$44.23\pm3.27^{a}$	$3.24\pm0.02^{\rm b}$	$0.79\pm0.04^a$	$0.39\pm0.02^{a}$	$78.43 \pm \mathbf{4.63^{b}}$
G2	$-0.33\pm0.24^{\rm d}$	$3.63 \pm 1.25^{d}$	$3.71\pm0.10^{a}$	$0.84\pm0.02^{a}$	$0.42\pm0.01^{a}$	$133.02\pm7.34^a$
G3	$16.08\pm3.24^{\text{c}}$	$22.64\pm2.48^{c}$	$3.24\pm0.02^{b}$	$0.67\pm0.02^{b}$	$0.33\pm0.01^{\text{b}}$	$106.82\pm6.00^{\text{b}}$
G4	$23.67\pm2.87^{b}$	$36.78 \pm \mathbf{4.28^{b}}$	$2.91\pm0.15^{\rm b}$	$0.66\pm0.03^{b}$	$0.33\pm0.01^{\text{b}}$	$94.25\pm5.38^{b}$
G5	$26.59 \pm 1.49^{\text{b}}$	$36.82 \pm 3.98^{b}$	$3.15\pm0.10^{\rm b}$	$0.78\pm0.01^{a}$	$0.39\pm0.01^{\text{a}}$	$84.49\pm5.49^{b}$

TABLE 3 Effect of *L. culinaris* sprouts hydroalcoholic extract on weight gain%, organs' weight, and FBG in CCl<sub>4</sub>-induced oxidative stress and hepatotoxicity in rats (mean  $\pm$  SE), n = 8.

G1-G5, Experimental groups see materials and methods; section 2.6, FBG, Fasting blood glucose,  $a_{i,b,c,d}$ : Means with the same superscripted letters in the same column are not statistically different at p < 0.05.

TABLE 4 Effect of hydroalcoholic extract of *L. culinaris* sprouts on lipid profile and Atherogenic index in CCl<sub>4</sub>-induced oxidative stress and hepatotoxicity in rats (mean  $\pm$  SE), n = 8.

Groups	Lipid profile parameters						
	TG	СНО	HDL-c	LDL-c	VLDL-c	AI	
G1	$85.5{\pm}1.80^{bc}$	$102.30{\pm}\ 10.34^{b}$	$39.29{\pm}~02.80^{bc}$	$45.92{\pm}11.67^{\text{b}}$	$17.10\pm0.36^{bc}$	$0.34{\pm}0.02^{b}$	
G2	$137.19{\pm}~4.4^{a}$	$170.87 \pm 7.71^{a}$	$33.21{\pm}2.58^b$	$110.22{\pm}8.51^{a}$	$27.44{\pm}~0.88^a$	$0.62{\pm}\:0.04^a$	
G3	$92.52{\pm}1.94^{b}$	$114.29{\pm}~4.61^{b}$	$37.50{\pm}~0.82^{b}$	$58.29{\pm}~4.37^{b}$	$18.51{\pm}~0.39^{b}$	$0.39 {\pm}~ 0.03^{b}$	
G4	$89.94{\pm}3.28b^c$	$103.29{\pm}~5.74^{b}$	$47.14{\pm}~1.05^a$	$38.16 \pm 5.42^{b}$	$17.99 {\pm}~0.66^{bc}$	$0.28{\pm}~0.01^{\circ}$	
G5	$80.19{\pm}2.26^c$	$99.78 {\pm}~4.47^{b}$	$44.76{\pm}\ 2.03^a$	$38.97{\pm}~5.45^{\rm b}$	$16.04{\pm}~0.45^{c}$	$0.25{\pm}~0.05^c$	

G1–G5, Experimental groups see materials and methods; TG, Triglycerides; CHO, total cholesterols; HDL-c, High-density lipoprotein-cholesterols; LDL-c, Low-density lipoprotein-cholesterols; VLDL-c, Very low-density lipoprotein-cholesterols; AI, Atherogenic index, <sup>a,b,c</sup>: Means with the same superscripted letters in the same column are not statistically different at p < 0.05.

data are shown in Table 4. The CCl<sub>4</sub>-induced oxidative stress and hepatotoxicity in rats were observed to significantly raise the levels of TG, CHO, LDL-c, and VLDL-c. However, CCl<sub>4</sub> injection resulted in significantly lower HDL-c levels than in control rats (G1). The lipid profile was improved in dosedependent manure by administering LSHE at 50 or 100 mg GAE  $Kg^{-1}$ . The most effective therapy for enhancing the blood profile was LSHE with 100 mg GAE Kg<sup>-1</sup>, which showed no significance when compared to G1 or G5. However, comparing G5 (41.55%), administrating LSHE at 50 or 100 mg GAE Kg<sup>-1</sup> reduced the TG level by 33.56 and 34.44%, respectively. Interestingly, the rate of CHO reduction was 33.11, 39.55, and 41.61% for treating rats with 50, 100 mg GAE  $Kg^{-1}$  of LSHE and 50 mg  $\mathrm{Kg}^{-1}$  Vit. E+Se, respectively. HDL-c increase was recorded as 12.92, 41.95, and 34.78%, whereas LDL-c decrease was noted as 47.12, 65.37, and 64.64% after LSHE at 50, 100 mg GAE  $Kg^{-1}$  or 50 mg  $Kg^{-1}$  Vit. E+Se treatments, respectively. VLDL-c level was improved with treatments associatively in a type and dose-dependent manner. LSHE with 100 mg LSHE  $Kg^{-1}$  was significantly better than 50 mg LSHE  $Kg^{-1}$ . Fascinatingly, when CCl<sub>4</sub> was injected, the AI significantly raised compared to normal rats (G1). Indeed the most efficient treatments for attenuating the atherogenicity complication were those giving 100 mg GAE Kg<sup>-1</sup> of LSHE, which presented better

attenuation than 50 mg GAE  $\text{Kg}^{-1}$  of LSHE and even normal rats. The superior effect was recorded for using 50 mg  $\text{Kg}^{-1}$  Vit. E+Se did not differ significantly from using 100 mg GAE  $\text{Kg}^{-1}$  of LSHE.

#### The liver's functions

CCl<sub>4</sub> injection considerably raised serum AST, ALT, and ALP enzyme levels in G2 rats as oxidative stress and hepatotoxicity complications compared to normal rats (GI). The T. Bili level was significantly increased in CCl<sub>4</sub>-treated rats (Figure 1). Administration of LSHE at 50 or 100 mg GAE  $Kg^{-1}$ and Vit. E+Se at  $50 \text{ mg Kg}^{-1}$  improved the liver's function. A high level of LSHE was better than a low level of LSHE or Vit. E+Se to improve liver functions. Interestingly, giving LSHE reduced the modifications in liver functions caused by CCl<sub>4</sub> injection to be close to typical values in GI (Figure 1). The ALT level attenuated by 28.68, 38.22, and 35.94% when 50 and 100 mg GAE LSHE Kg<sup>-1</sup> and 50 Kg<sup>-1</sup> Vit. E+Se were given, respectively. Similarly, ATS and ALP improved by 20.01, 30.44, and 32.71% and 19.83, 28.48, and 28.80%, respectively. However, in comparison to NR in G1, LSHE, and Vit. E+Se significantly enhanced some liver functions such as T. Bili and



the liver enzymes as shown in (ALT, ALP, and AST). T. Bili level was attenuated by 26.00, 28.67, and 36.67% when rats were administrated when 50 and 100 mg GAE LSHE  $Kg^{-1}$  and 50  $Kg^{-1}$  Vit. E+Se, respectively.

sometimes better than using Vit. E+Se at 50 mg Kg<sup>-1</sup> compared to normal rats (G1).

#### The kidneys' functions

The nephroprotective efficiency of LSHE at 50 or 100 mg GAE Kg<sup>-1</sup> and Vit. E+Se at 50 mg Kg<sup>-1</sup> on CCl<sub>4</sub>-induced oxidative stress and hepatotoxicity in rats were studied; results are demonstrated in Table 5. CCl<sub>4</sub> injection considerably increased serum urea, BUN, and creatinine levels in G2 rats compared to NR in GI. Conversely, albumin, T. Protein, and globulin levels were drastically decreased in CCl<sub>4</sub>-treated rats (Table 5). LSHE at 50 or 100 mg GAE Kg<sup>-1</sup> and Vit. E+Se at 50 mg Kg<sup>-1</sup> treatments significantly attenuated urea, creatinine, and BUN alterations caused by CCl<sub>4</sub> problems. Albumin, T. Protein, and Globulin levels were also raised to nearly normal levels in the GI (Table 5). The most effective enhancement was evidently recorded with LSHE at 100 mg GAE Kg<sup>-1</sup> even

#### Antioxidant biomarkers

Injection of CCl4 dramatically decreased GSH, SOD, and CAT levels and elevated MDA levels in the blood serum of G2 compared to NR in G1, as shown in Figure 2. The activity of the antioxidant enzymes GSH, CAT, and SOD was significantly improved in the treated rats treated with 50 or 100 mg GAE Kg<sup>-1</sup> and Vit. E+Se at 50 mg Kg<sup>-1</sup> and the levels of MDA were significantly decreased, as shown in Figure 2. On the other hand, treatment of 50 mg LSHE Kg<sup>-1</sup> exuded minimal diminution in GSH, CAT, and SOD and inhibited the autoxidation process, resulting in low MDA levels. Compared to the CCl<sub>4</sub>-group (G2), the most effective treatment for GSH, DMA, CAT, and SOD was LSHE with 100 mg Kg<sup>-1</sup>, which showed improved rates of 76.36, 29.47, 37.82, and 31.72 %, respectively. Comparing rats treated with CCl<sub>4</sub> and normal rats (G1), it is interesting to note that

Group			Kidneys' f	unctions		
	T. Protein (g dL <sup>-1</sup> )	Albumin (g dL $^{-1}$ )	<b>Globulin</b> (g dL <sup>-1</sup> )	Creatinine (mg dL <sup><math>-1</math></sup> )	Urea (mg dL <sup>-1</sup> )	BUN (mg dL <sup><math>-1</math></sup> )
G1	$9.80 \pm 1.00^{\mathrm{a}}$	$4.59{\pm}0.23^a$	$5.21{\pm}0.86^a$	$0.89 {\pm}~0.09^{\rm b}$	$86.96 \pm 8.03^{bc}$	40.87± 3.77 <sup>bc</sup>
G2	$7.44 \pm 0.21^{a}$	$3.08{\pm}\:0.27^{b}$	$4.36 {\pm}~0.37^a$	$1.47{\pm}~0.22^{a}$	$156.52 \pm 5.01^{a}$	$73.57{\pm}2.36^a$
G3	$8.72{\pm}0.43^a$	$3.90 {\pm}~ 0.37^{ab}$	$4.82{\pm}0.71^a$	$0.70\pm0.04^{\rm b}$	$105.31{\pm}8.52^{b}$	$49.50{\pm}~4.01^{b}$
G4	$9.51 {\pm}~0.61^{a}$	$4.49 {\pm}~0.62^{ab}$	$5.02{\pm}~0.69^{a}$	$0.76 \pm 0.02^{\rm b}$	$90.10{\pm}\;10.77^{b}$	$42.35 \pm 5.06^{b}$
G5	$9.13 {\pm}~ 0.87^a$	$4.69{\pm}~0.34^a$	$4.44{\pm}~0.88^{a}$	$0.81{\pm}0.03^{b}$	$80.96{\pm}~3.19^{c}$	$38.05\pm1.50~^{b}$

TABLE 5 Effect of hydroalcoholic extract of *L. culinaris* sprouts on kidneys' functions in CCl<sub>4</sub>-induced oxidative stress and hepatotoxicity in rats (mean  $\pm$  SE), n = 8.

G1-G5, Experimental groups see materials and methods, BUN; Blood urea nitrogen, <sup>a,b,c</sup>, Means with the same superscripted letters in the same column are not statistically different at p < 0.05.



rats treated with 50 mg Kg<sup>-1</sup> of vit. E+Se dramatically improved their enzymatic defense system (G2).

### Discussion

Functional foods regulate diabetes through blood pressure regulation, activation of antioxidant enzymes, interaction with gut microbiota, suppressing of pro-inflammatory cytokine overproduction, and presenting antioxidative potential (23, 43, 44). A capable strategy, particularly when phenolics are incorporated, has been described (32) with superior antioxidant activity (45). The valuable phytochemical content and antioxidant activities of LSHE corresponded to Amarowicz et al. and Xu and Chang (9, 10). Indeed, biologically active components, such as phenolic acids and flavonoids, demonstrate antioxidant capacity by stopping lipid oxidation chain reactions *in vitro* and *in vivo* (9, 10). The phenolics' ability to scavenge and inhibit free radicals is caused by the phenolic hydroxyl

groups located in polyphenols (46, 47). An efficient antioxidant component has been presented in various phenolic acids inhibiting hydrogen peroxide formation, superoxide anion, and hydroxyl radicals (48, 49). A direct correlation exists between abundant polyphenols concentration and their antioxidant function (9, 10, 23, 50).

Consumption of sprout extracts could help reduce cellular oxidation, as confirmed in the current study (23, 51). Interestingly during sprouting, phenolics and antioxidants increased (18). Zhang et al. (52) evaluated the total phenolic composition and contents, antioxidant activities (DPPH, FRAP, ORAC), and inhibitory properties of phenolic extracts from 20 Canadian lentil cultivars (*L. culinaris*) against  $\alpha$ -glucosidase and pancreatic lipase (52). All extracts showed antioxidant and radical-scavenging properties as revealed by the total antioxidant activity (TAA) method, a  $\beta$ -carotene-linoleate model system, a reducing power assay, and the DPPH scavenging activity assay (9).

The increased number of phenolics in L. culinaris sprouts increased than its seeds with the progression of the sprouting period; results were agreed with Swieca and Gawlik-Dziki (18). Remarkably, present research noticed a considerable amount of identified phenolics higher than confirmed previously (9). However, Amarowicz et al. (9) indicated increased Rosmarinic acid, p-coumaric acid, and p-Hydroxy benzoic acid, which was consistently observed in the current study. It is worth mentioning that the phenolics profile in the cotyledon and seed coat of lentils vary and are affected by numerous factors (53, 54). L. culinaris seeds and sprouts show superior flavonoids content, similarly presented in 4 lentil varieties (55). Zhang et al. (52) supported our study regarding identified phenolics in L. culinaris seeds. In the present study, twentyone phenolic compounds were identified, with the majority being flavonoids, including catechin/epicatechin glucosides, kaempeferol glycosides, and procyanidins. Amarowicz et al. (9). Twenty compounds (procyanidins, hydroxycinnamates, flavonols, gallates, dihydroflavonols, and dihydrochalcones) were detected and quantified in the crude extracts by HPLC-PAD and HPLC-ESI-MS procedures. The dominant phenolics in GL were epicatechin glucosides, catechin, procyanidin dimers, quercetin diglycoside, and trans-p-coumaric acid.

In addition to being beneficial against various metabolic illnesses, biologically active substances such as phenolic components have been defined as useful antioxidant substances, including hydroxyl radicals, hydrogen peroxide, and superoxide anion (56, 57). Interestingly, quantifying phenolics in *L. culinaris* sprouts indicated considerable numbers of phenolic acids and flavonoids, which increased significantly with increased sprouting time as confirmed (17, 18, 23) to process biological and nutritional benefits (20, 21).

Indeed, oxidative stress is thought to lead to many metabolic impairments, such as hypoglycemia (58–60). Our recent *in vivo* study indicated that LSHE stated substantial reductions in

FBG in rats in a dose-dependent manner, as similarly indicated (13, 23, 51). These results strengthen our analysis, which confirms that LSHE possesses hypoglycemic effects because of rich polyphenols as effective antioxidants capable of modulating glucose levels (9, 15). Practically, the administration of LSHE was extremely beneficial in body weight recovery in a dose-dependent manner (57, 61).

Our results demonstrated the efficacy of LSHE as a rich source of antioxidants that alleviated liver malfunctions and elevated serum lipids among CCl<sub>4</sub>-intoxicated rat groups. It might be due to increasing and supporting rats' serum with bioactive dietary antioxidants (9, 15, 62). Administration of LSHE at 50 or 100 mg GAE Kg<sup>-1</sup> improved the lipid profile in dose-dependent manure. The highly efficient therapy for improving the blood profile was LSHE with 100 mg GAE Kg<sup>-1</sup> which presented no significance compared to normal rats (G1) or (G5). Obviously, administrating 50 mg Kg<sup>-1</sup> Vit. E+Se showed the highest improvement rate (41.55%) in lipid profile because of high antioxidant content, as similarly observed (15, 62). Excitingly, the VLDL-c level was adjusted associatively in a dose-dependent manner with LSHE treatments. Our results align with Morise et al. (63), who explained that flaxseed oil rich in α-linolenic acid caused an elevated cholesterol secretion, causing depletion of the intrahepatic pool of cholesterol resulting in cholesterol synthesis increases. Additionally, alinolenic acid reduced hepatic lipid accumulation by stimulating  $\beta$ -oxidation and suppressing fatty acid synthesis (12, 15, 64). Concerning TG, high antioxidants can be assigned to a decrease in the hepatic synthesis of fatty acids, decreasing the triacylglycerol concentration in the liver and reducing autoxidation, which attenuates VLDL-c accumulation (15, 65). Interestingly, 100 mg GAE Kg<sup>-1</sup> of LSHE was more effective than 50 mg GAE  $Kg^{-1}$  of LSHE or even normal rats in attenuating the atherogenicity issue. Better results were obtained with  $50 \text{ mg Kg}^{-1}$  vit. E+Se, which did not significantly differ from 100 mg GAE  $Kg^{-1}$  of LSHE (15).

CCl<sub>4</sub> insertion in a rat enlarged its liver by accumulating fats inside liver cells (66). Elevated serum enzymes activities levels (AST, ALT) signify cellular leak and loss of efficient integrity of cell membranes in the liver because of CCl<sub>4</sub> intoxication. Administration of LSHE or Vit. E+Se significantly improved the levels of liver enzymes (ALT, AST) which consistently agreed (51, 62). Similarly, Saxena et al. (67) and Jung et al. (15) have confirmed the effects of the plant-based extract on elevated serum AST and ALT enzymes against oxidative stress induced by CCl<sub>4</sub>. T.Bili indicates that liver damage and CCl<sub>4</sub> had a considerably higher level than in treated groups (Vit. E+Si and LSHE) or the NR group. Incidentally, LSHE was also efficient as Vit. E+Se presented. A current study has also indicated that in valuable amounts, LSHE contains rosmarinic acid, p-coumaric acid, vanillic acid, p-Hydroxy benzoic acid, and Benzoic acid, as well as high content of flavonoids such as kaempferol, myricetin, quercetin, resveratrol, Naringenin, and rutin. Antioxidative

and anti-inflammatory efficiency in rats with hepatic damage has been proven with these compounds (68). Due to more polyphenols (20, 21), LSHE effectively attenuated oxidative stress complications. Therefore, LSHE may offer superior liver protection by blocking the development of liver fibrosis and suppressing TGF- $\beta$ 1 (68).

A correlation between nephrotoxicity and oxidative stress has been exhibited in many investigational models (69), and our study's results in kidney functions proved the same pattern as the organ function markers (61). Presented data clearly showed the recovery in all Kidney functions with orally administered LSHE for up to 6 weeks in dose-dependent manure. The elevated levels of Albumin, T. Protein, and Globulin and decreases in Urea, Creatinine, and BUN were highly meaningful in G4 and G5 compared to all other treated groups. An enhancement of kidney function parameters to the normal level in CCl<sub>4</sub>injected rats fed Anastatica hierochuntica ethanolic and aqueous extracts (61) Samsum Ant Pachycondyla sennaarensis Venom (69) was demonstrated. Concerning the positive impact of LSHE on Kidneys' function attenuation, it was previously described that caffeic acid, carnosic acid, rosemarinic acid, and essential oil are accountable for the body's protection against free radical attack through occurred oxidative stress (6, 9, 15).

As established by the catabolite MDA indicator, tissue damage and lipid peroxidation are mediated by generated ROS (70). ROS enhances the risk of tissue injury and causes lipid peroxidation, as ascertained by the catabolite malondialdehyde marker (70). Earlier experiments indicated that CCl<sub>4</sub> i.p. injection drastically decreased SOD, CAT, GPx, and GSH activities but considerably enhanced the MDA level (23, 71). Owning rich polyphenols content and AOA in LSHE, administrating 100 mg LSHE kg<sup>-1</sup> was more efficient in attenuating autoxidation. The enzymatic antioxidant defense system such as SOD, CAT, and glutathione enzymes are essential scavengers of active radicals (68). LSHE attenuated GSH, CAT, SOD, and MDA levels close to the NR and equal to administrating Vit. E+Se. Previous studies have reported that consuming L. culinaris (6, 9, 15) increased serum antioxidant enzymes (51, 72). Concerning the present study's observations, administering LSHE orally increased the antioxidant enzymes SOD and CAT levels and decreased lipid peroxidation in CCl<sub>4</sub>injected rats (57). The efficiency was significantly improved when LSHE was given at 100 mg Kg<sup>-1</sup>. As phenolics and antioxidants increase during sprouting (18), the consumption of sprouts extracts could help reduce cellular oxidation (23, 51). Also, LSHE attenuated the MDA and restored the total antioxidant defense in the CCl<sub>4</sub>-treated rats. This protective efficiency may be due to the potent antioxidative capacity of LSHE in the presence of high polyphenols, which effectively diminishes the complications related to oxidative stress (20, 21, 49, 73, 74).

# Conclusions

This study investigated and confirmed the antioxidative potential of L. culinaris Medikus. The current study looked into a rat module's antioxidative, hepatoprotective and nephroprotective properties of L. culinaris sprouts extract. It is possible to conclude that the L. culinaris sprouts extract is high in phenolic compounds, particularly flavonoids with high antioxidant capacity. Phenolic analysis revealed that L. culinaris sprouts contained significant amounts of TF, which support its functional and therapeutic properties. Compared to vit. E+Se administration of LSHE at 50 and 100 mg Kg<sup>-1</sup> protects rats against CCl<sub>4</sub> oxidative stress. The protective efficacy could be attributed to the high concentration of phenolics (e.g., rosmarinic acid, p-hydroxybenzoic acid, vanillic acid, pcoumaric acid, benzoic acid, kaempferol, naringenin, myricetin, resveratrol, and quercetin) which may modulate glucose levels and reduce hepatotoxicity complications. In addition, biochemical examinations have confirmed this superior activity. As a result, the findings could aid in explaining the therapeutic efficacy of LSHE as a functional product. It encouraged us to recommend L. culinaris sprout production for combining oxidative stress, as well as being beneficial and profitable for controlling oxidative stress complications.

### Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

#### Ethics statement

The animal study was reviewed and approved by the Committee of Research Ethics, Deanship of Scientific Research, Qassim University (No. 21-18-09 on Thursday, May 19, 2022), SA, governed by the Control and Supervision of Experiments on Animals (CPCSEA) Committee of the National Committee of BioEthics (NCBE), which implements regulations related to the ethics of research on living creatures.

### Author contributions

SIA and HB: research design. ASA and RIA: experiment performance. SIA and HB: experiment operation assistance. SIA and RMA: main supervision and research leadership. RAA, RMG, and MA: draft manuscript writing. AAHA: validation and formal analysis. TA and HB: manuscript writing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

### Acknowledgments

The authors extend their appreciation to the Deputyship for Research and Innovation, Ministry of Education, Saudi Arabia for funding this research work through the project number (QU-IF-2-1-2-26891). The authors also thank to Qassim University for technical support.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships

#### References

1. Pizzino GA-OX, Irrera NA-O, Cucinotta MA-O, Pallio GA-O, Mannino F, Arcoraci VA-O, et al. Oxidative stress: harms and benefits for human health. *Oxid Med Cell Longev.* (2017) 5:6763. doi: 10.1155/2017/8416763

2. Romá-Mateo C, Aguado C, García-Giménez JL, Ibáñez-Cabellos JS, Seco-Cervera M, Pallardó FV, et al. Increased oxidative stress and impaired antioxidant response in Lafora disease. *Mol Neurobiol.* (2015) 51:932–46. doi: 10.1007/s12035-014-8747-0

3. Bonomini F, Tengattini S, Fabiano A, Bianchi R, Rezzani R. Atherosclerosis and oxidative stress. *Histology Histopathology*. (2008) 13:129–42. Available online at: http://hdl.handle.net/10201/29669

4. Jiménez-Fernández S, Gurpegui M, Díaz-Atienza F, Pérez-Costillas L, Gerstenberg M, Correll CU. Oxidative stress and antioxidant parameters in patients with major depressive disorder compared to healthy controls before and after antidepressant treatment: results from a meta-analysis. *J Clin Psychiatry.* (2015) 76:1658–67. doi: 10.4088/JCP.14r09179

5. Padhi EMT, Liu R, Hernandez M, Tsao R, Ramdath DD. Total polyphenol content, carotenoid, tocopherol and fatty acid composition of commonly consumed canadian pulses and their contribution to antioxidant activity. *J Funct Foods.* (2017) 38:602–11. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2016.11.006

6. Faris M, Issa AY. Role of Lentils (*Lens culinaris L*) in human health and nutrition: a review. *Med J Nutrition Metab.* (2013) 6:3–16. doi: 10.1007/s12349-012-0109-8

7. Ganesan K, Xu B. Polyphenol-rich lentils and their health promoting effects. Int J Mol Sci. (2017) 18:2390. doi: 10.3390/ijms18112390

8. Kahraman A. Nutritional components and amino acids in lentil varieties. *Selcuk J Agr Food Sci.* (2016) 30:34–8. Available online at: https://dergipark.org. tr/en/pub/selcukjafsci/issue/37961/438425

9. Amarowicz R, Estrella I, Hernández T, Robredo S, Troszyńska A, Kosińska A, et al. Free radical-scavenging capacity, antioxidant activity, and phenolic composition of green lentil (*Lens culinaris*). *Food Chem.* (2010) 121:705–11. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2010.01.009

10. Xu B, Chang SKC. Phenolic substance characterization and chemical and cellbased antioxidant activities of 11 lentils grown in the Northern United States. J Agric Food Chem. (2010) 58:1509–17. doi: 10.1021/jf903532y

11. Hall C, Hillen C, Garden Robinson J. Composition, nutritional value, and health benefits of pulses. *Cereal Chem.* (2017) 94:11-31. doi: 10.1094/CCHEM-03-16-0069-FI

12. Goudarzi M, Kalantari H, Kalantar M. Ameliorative effects of red lentil extract on sodium arsenite induced oxidative stress in experimental rats. *Toxicol Lett.* (2016) 258:S285–S. doi: 10.1016/j.toxlet.2016.06.1994

13. Peñas E, Limón RI, Martínez-Villaluenga C, Restani P, Pihlanto A, Frias J. Impact of elicitation on antioxidant and potential antihypertensive properties of lentil sprouts. *Plant Foods Hum Nutr.* (2015) 70:401–7. doi: 10.1007/s11130-015-0508-3

14. Lee SH, Lee SO. Polyphenol contents and antioxidant activities of lentil extracts from different cultivars. *J Korean Soc Food Sci Nutr.* (2016) 45:973–9. doi: 10.3746/jkfn.2016.45.7.973

that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

#### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

15. Jung Y-S, Lee S-H, Chun SY, Kim DH, Jang BI, Han M-H, et al. *In vitro* and *in vivo* protective effects of lentil (*Lens culinaris*) extract against oxidative stress-induced hepatotoxicity. *Molecules*. (2022) 27:59. doi: 10.3390/molecules27 010059

16. Moreno DA, Pérez-Balibrea S, García-Viguera C. Phytochemical quality and bioactivity of edible sprouts. *Nat Prod Commun.* (2006) 1:1934578X0600101120. doi: 10.1177/1934578X0600101120

17. Swieca M, Gawlik-Dziki U. Effects of sprouting and postharvest storage under cool temperature conditions on starch content and antioxidant capacity of green pea, lentil and young mung bean sprouts. *Food Chem.* (2015) 185:99– 105. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2015.03.108

18. Swieca M, Gawlik-Dziki U, Kowalczyk D, Złotek U. Impact of germination time and type of illumination on the antioxidant compounds and antioxidant capacity of *Lens culinaris* sprouts. *Sci Hortic.* (2012) 140:87–95. doi: 10.1016/j.scienta.2012.04.005

19. Montemurro M, Pontonio E, Gobbetti M, Rizzello CG. Investigation of the nutritional, functional and technological effects of the sourdough fermentation of sprouted flours. *Int J Food Microbiol.* (2019) 302:47–58. doi: 10.1016/j.ijfoodmicro.2018.08.005

20. Peñas E, Martínez-Villaluenga C. Advances in production, properties and applications of sprouted seeds. *Foods.* (2020) 9:790. doi: 10.3390/foods9060790

21. Miyahira RF. Lopes JdO, Antunes AEC. The use of sprouts to improve the nutritional value of food products: a brief review. *Plant Foods Hum Nutr.* (2021) 76:143–52. doi: 10.1007/s11130-021-00888-6

22. Barakat H, Spielvogel A, Hassan M, El-Desouky A, El-Mansy H, Rath F, et al. The antifungal protein AFP from *Aspergillus giganteus* prevents secondary growth of different Fusarium species on barley. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol.* (2010) 87:617–24. doi: 10.1007/s00253-010-2508-4

23. Al-Qabba MM, El-Mowafy MA, Althwab SA, Alfheeaid HA, Aljutaily T, Barakat H. Phenolic profile, antioxidant activity, and ameliorating efficacy of *Chenopodium quinoa* sprouts against CCl4-Induced oxidative stress in rats. *Nutrients.* (2020) 12:2904. doi: 10.3390/nu12102904

24. Hernández-Saavedra D, Pérez-Ramírez IF, Ramos-Gómez M, Mendoza-Díaz S, Loarca-Piña G, Reynoso-Camacho R. Phytochemical characterization and effect of Calendula officinalis, Hypericum perforatum, and Salvia officinalis infusions on obesity-associated cardiovascular risk. *Med Chem Res.* (2016) 25:163– 72. doi: 10.1007/s00044-015-1454-1

25. Yawadio Nsimba R, Kikuzaki H, Konishi Y. Antioxidant activity of various extracts and fractions of *Chenopodium quinoa* and *Amaranthus spp. seeds Food Chem.* (2008) 106:760-6. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2007. 06.004

26. Yuan GF, Sun J, Yuan Q, Wang QM. Effects of different cooking methods on health-promoting compounds of broccoli. *J Zhejiang University-SCIENCE B*. (2009) 10:580–8. doi: 10.1631/jzus.B0920051

27. Mohdaly AAA, Hassanien MFR, Mahmoud A, Sarhan MA, Smetanska I. Phenolics extracted from potato, sugar beet, and sesame processing by-products. *Int J Food Prop.* (2012) 16:1148–68. doi: 10.1080/10942912.2011.578318
28. Silva CR, Simoni JA, Collins CH, Volpe PL. Ascorbic acid as a standard for iodometric titrations. An analytical experiment for general chemistry. *J Chem Edu.* (1999) 76:1421. doi: 10.1021/ed076p1421

29. Barakat H, Rohn S. Effect of different cooking methods on bioactive compounds in vegetarian, broccoli-based bars. *J Funct Foods*. (2014) 11:407–16. doi: 10.1016/j.jff.2014.10.009

30. Kim K-H, Tsao R, Yang R, Cui SW. Phenolic acid profiles and antioxidant activities of wheat bran extracts and the effect of hydrolysis conditions. *Food Chem.* (2006) 95:466–73. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2005.01.032

31. Reeves PG, Nielsen FH, Fahey GC Jr. AIN-93 Purified diets for laboratory rodents: Final report of the american institute of nutrition ad hoc writing committee on the reformulation of the AIN-76a rodent diet. *J Nutr.* (1993) 123:1939–51. doi: 10.1093/jn/123.11.1939

32. Barakat H, Almundarij TI. Phenolic compounds and hepatoprotective potential of Anastatica hierochuntica ethanolic and aqueous extracts against CCl4-induced hepatotoxicity in rats. *J Tradit Chin Med.* (2020) 40:947. doi: 10.3390/nu13092973

33. Asuku O, Atawodi SE, Onyike E. Antioxidant, hepatoprotective, and ameliorative effects of methanolic extract of leaves of Grewia mollis Juss. on carbon tetrachloride-treated albino rats. *J Med Food*. (2012) 15:83–8. doi: 10.1089/jmf.2010.0285

34. El-Desoky G, Abdelreheem M, Abdulaziz AO, ALOthman Z, Mahmoud M, Yusuf K. Potential hepatoprotective effects of vitamin E and selenium on hepatotoxicity induced by malathion in rats. *Af J Pharmacy Pharmacol.* (2012) 6:806–13. doi: 10.5897/AJPP11.628

35. Moradabadi L, Montasser Kouhsari S, Fehresti Sani M. Hypoglycemic effects of three medicinal plants in experimental diabetes: inhibition of rat intestinal  $\alpha$ -glucosidase and enhanced pancreatic insulin and cardiac Glut-4 mRNAs expression. *Iran J Pharm Res.* (2013) 12:387–97. Available online at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3813273/

36. Nwagha U, Ikekpeazu E, Ejezie F, Neboh E, Maduka I. Atherogenic index of plasma as useful predictor of cardiovascular risk among postmenopausal women in Enugu, Nigeria. *Afr Health Sci.* (2010) 10:248–52. Available online at: https://www.ajol.info/index.php/ahs/article/view/62873

37. Friedewald WT, Levy RI, Fredrickson DS. Estimation of the concentration of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in plasma, without use of the preparative ultracentrifuge. *Clin Chem.* (1972) 18:499–502. doi: 10.1093/clinchem/18. 6.499

38. Beutler E. Improved method for the determination of blood glutathione. J Lab Clin Med. (1963) 61:882-8.

39. Ohkawa H, Ohishi N, Yagi K. Assay for lipid peroxides in animal tissues by thiobarbituric acid reaction. *Anal Biochem.* (1979) 95:351-8. doi: 10.1016/0003-2697(79)90738-3

40. Giannopolitis CN, Ries SK. Superoxide dismutases: I. Occurrence in higher plants. *Plant Physiol.* (1977) 59:309–14. doi: 10.1104/pp.59.2.309

41. Aebi H. Catalase in vitro. Meth Enzymol. (1984) 105:121-6. doi: 10.1016/S0076-6879(84)05016-3

42. Steel RG. Pinciples and Procedures of Statistics A Biometrical Approach. 3rd ed. Boston: McGraw-Hill. (1997).

43. Mirmiran P, Bahadoran Z, Azizi F. Functional foods-based diet as a novel dietary approach for management of type 2 diabetes and its complications: a review. *World J Diab.* (2014) 5:267–81. doi: 10.4239/wjd.v5.i3.267

44. Alharbi YM, Sakr SS, Albarrak SM, Almundarij TI, Barakat H, Hassan MFY. Antioxidative, antidiabetic, and hypolipidemic properties of probiotic-enriched fermented camel milk combined with *Salvia officinalis* leaves hydroalcoholic extract in streptozotocin-induced diabetes in rats. *Antioxidants.* (2022) 11:668. doi: 10.3390/antiox11040668

45. Khalifa I, Barakat H, El-Mansy HA, Soliman S. Optimizing bioactive substances extraction procedures from Guava, olive and potato processing wastes and evaluating their antioxidant capacity. *J Food Chem Nanotechnol.* (2016) 2:170–7. doi: 10.17756/jfcn.2016-027

46. Tosun M, Ercisli S, Sengul M, Ozer H, Polat T, Ozturk E. Antioxidant properties and total phenolic content of eight Salvia species from Turkey. *Biol Res.* (2009) 42:175–81. doi: 10.4067/S0716-97602009000200005

47. Ollanketo M, Peltoketo A, Hartonen K, Hiltunen R, Riekkola ML. Extraction of sage (*Salvia officinalis L*) by pressurized hot water and conventional methods: antioxidant activity of the extracts. *Eur Food Res Technol.* (2002) 215:158–63. doi: 10.1007/s00217-002-0545-7

48. Farhat MB, Chaouch-Hamada R, Sotomayor JA, Landoulsi A, Jordán MJ. Antioxidant potential of *Salvia officinalis* L. residues as affected by the harvesting time. *Ind Crops Prod.* (2014) 54:78–85. doi: 10.1016/j.indcrop.2014.01.001

49. Roby MHH, Sarhan MA, Selim KAH, Khalel KI. Evaluation of antioxidant activity, total phenols and phenolic compounds in thyme (*Thymus vulgaris L*), sage (*Salvia officinalis L*), and marjoram (*Origanum majorana L*) extracts. *Ind Crops Prod.* (2013) 43:827–31. doi: 10.1016/j.indcrop.2012.08.029

50. Ebrahimzadeh MA, Nabavi SM, Nabavi SF, Bahramian F, Bekhradnia AR. Antioxidant and free radical scavenging activity of *H*. officinalis L var angustifolius, V odorata, B hyrcana and C speciosum. *Pak J Pharm Sci.* (2010) 23:29–34.

51. Jia L, Wang T, Sun Y, Zhang M, Tian J, Chen H, et al. Protective effect of selenium-enriched red radish sprouts on carbon tetrachloride-induced liver injury in mice. *J Food Sci.* (2019) 84:3027–36. doi: 10.1111/1750-3841.14727

52. Zhang B, Deng Z, Ramdath DD, Tang Y, Chen PX, Liu R, et al. Phenolic profiles of 20 Canadian lentil cultivars and their contribution to antioxidant activity and inhibitory effects on  $\alpha$ -glucosidase and pancreatic lipase. *Food Chem.* (2015) 172:862–72. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2014.09.144

53. Dueñas M, Hernández T, Estrella I. Phenolic composition of the cotyledon and the seed coat of lentils (*Lens culinaris L*). *Eur Food Res Technol.* (2002) 215:478-83. doi: 10.1007/s00217-002-0603-1

54. Singh Ak, Rehal J, Kaur A, Jyot G. Enhancement of attributes of cereals by germination and fermentation: a review. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr.* (2015) 55:1575–89. doi: 10.1080/10408398.2012.706661

55. López-Amorós ML, Hernández T, Estrella I. Effect of germination on legume phenolic compounds and their antioxidant activity. *J Food Compos Anal.* (2006) 19:277–83. doi: 10.1016/j.jfca.2004.06.012

56. Eva Y, Annisa A, Andrafikar. Effectiveness of jicama probiotic yoghurt (*Pachyrhizus erosus*) on blood glucose in diabetic mice. *KnE Life Sci.* (2019) 4:250–61.

57. Hasanein P, Felehgari Z, Emamjomeh A. Preventive effects of *Salvia officinalis* L. against learning and memory deficit induced by diabetes in rats: Possible hypoglycaemic and antioxidant mechanisms. *Neurosci Lett.* (2016) 622:72–7. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2016.04.045

58. Prevention. CfDCa. *Diabetes Report Card 2019*. Atlanta, GA: Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, US Dept of Health and Human Services (2020).

59. Zafar M, Naqvi SN-u-H. Effects of STZ-Induced diabetes on the relative weights of kidney, liver and pancreas in albino rats: a comparative study. *Int J Morphol.* (2010) 28:19. doi: 10.4067/S0717-95022010000 100019

60. Maritim AC, Sanders RA, Watkins III JB. Diabetes, oxidative stress, and antioxidants: a review. *J Biochem Mol Toxicol.* (2003) 17:24–38. doi: 10.1002/jbt.10058

61. Almundarij TI, Alharbi YM, Abdel-Rahman HA, Barakat H. Antioxidant activity, phenolic profile, and nephroprotective potential of *Anastatica hierochuntica* ethanolic and aqueous extracts against ccl4-induced nephrotoxicity in rats. *Nutrients.* (2021) 13:2973.

62. Ismail RS, El-Megeid AA, Abdel-Moemin AR. Carbon tetrachloride-induced liver disease in rats: the potential effect of supplement oils with vitamin E and C on the nutritional status. *Ger Med Sci.* (2009) 7:Doc05. doi: 10.3205/000064

63. Morise A, Sérougne C, Gripois D, Blouquit M-F, Lutton C, Hermier D. Effects of dietary alpha linolenic acid on cholesterol metabolism in male and female hamsters of the LPN strain. *J Nutr Biochem.* (2004) 15:51–61. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2003.10.002

64. Fan JG, Zhong L, Xu ZJ, Tia LY, Ding XD Li MS, et al. Effects of lowcalorie diet on steatohepatitis in rats with obesity and hyperlipidemia. *World J Gastroenterol.* (2003) 9:2045–9. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v9.i9.2045

65. Park Y, Harris WS. Omega-3 fatty acid supplementation accelerates chylomicron triglyceride clearance. *J Lipid Res.* (2003) 44:455–63. doi: 10.1194/jlr.M200282-JLR200

66. De Bleserc PJ, Jannes P, Van Buul-Offers SC, Hoogerbrugge CM, Van Schravendijk CFH, Niki T, et al. Insulinlike growth factor—Ii/Mannose 6-Phosphate receptor is expressed on CCl4-exposed rat fat-storing cells and facilitates activation of latent transforming growth factor-? in cocultures with sinusoidal endothelial cells. *Hepatology*. (1995) 21=:1429-37. doi: 10.1002/hep.1840 210529

67. Saxena S, Shahani L, Bhatnagar P. Hepatoprotective effect of *Chenopodium quinoa* seed against CCL4-induced liver toxicity in Swiss albino male mice. *Asian J Pharmaceutical Clin Res.* (2017) 10:273–6. doi: 10.22159/ajpcr.2017.v10i11. 20918

68. Lin T-A, Ke B-J, Cheng C-S, Wang J-J, Wei B-L, Lee C-L. Red quinoa bran extracts protects against carbon tetrachloride-induced liver injury and fibrosis in mice via activation of antioxidative enzyme systems and blocking TGF-β1 pathway. *Nutrients.* (2019) 11:395. doi: 10.3390/nu11020395

69. Ebaid H, Al-Tamimi J, Hassan I, Alhazza I, Al-Khalifa M. Antioxidant bioactivity of samsum ant *Pachycondyla sennaarensis* venom protects against CCl4-induced nephrotoxicity in mice. *Oxid Med Cell Longev.* (2014) 2014:763061. doi: 10.1155/2014/763061

70. Ng S-C, Anderson A, Coker J, Ondrus M. Characterization of lipid oxidation products in quinoa (*Chenopodium quinoa*). *Food Chem*. (2007) 101:185–92. doi: 10.1016/j.foodchem.2006.01.016

71. Dai N, Zou Y, Zhu L, Wang H-F, Dai M-G. Antioxidant properties of proanthocyanidins attenuate carbon tetrachloride (CCl4)-induced steatosis and liver injury in rats via CYP2E1 regulation. *J Med Food*. (2014) 17:663–9. doi: 10.1089/jmf.2013.2834

72. Watanabe M, Ayugase J. Effects of buckwheat sprouts on plasma and hepatic parameters in type 2 diabetic db/db mice. *J Food Sci.* (2010) 75:H294–H9. doi: 10.1111/j.1750-3841.2010.01853.x

73. Walch SG, Tinzoh LN, Zimmermann BF, Stuhlinger W, Lachenmeier DW. Antioxidant capacity and polyphenolic composition as quality indicators for aqueous infusions of *salvia officinalis* l (sage tea). *Front Pharmacol.* (2011) 2:79. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2011.00079

74. Lima CF, Azevedo MF, Araujo R, Fernandes-Ferreira M, Pereira-Wilson C. Metformin-like effect of *Salvia officinalis* (common sage): is it useful in diabetes prevention? *Br J Nutr.* (2006) 96:326–33. doi: 10.1079/BJN20 061832

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Piyameth Dilokthornsakul, Chiang Mai University, Thailand

#### **REVIEWED BY**

Thanitsara Rittiphairoj, Harvard University, United States Gregory A. Buck, Virginia Commonwealth University, United States Surasak Saokaew, University of Phayao, Thailand

\*CORRESPONDENCE Zhijuan Lin eva1949@163.com Hao Qin qinhao981207@163.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

RECEIVED 11 August 2022 ACCEPTED 07 November 2022 PUBLISHED 22 November 2022

#### CITATION

Ma L, Zhang Z, Li L, Zhang L, Lin Z and Qin H (2022) Vitamin D deficiency increases the risk of bacterial vaginosis during pregnancy: Evidence from a meta-analysis based on observational studies. *Front. Nutr.* 9:1016592. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.1016592

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Ma, Zhang, Li, Zhang, Lin and Qin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC DV). The user distribution ticense

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

## Vitamin D deficiency increases the risk of bacterial vaginosis during pregnancy: Evidence from a meta-analysis based on observational studies

Lirong Ma<sup>1†</sup>, Zhuoran Zhang<sup>1†</sup>, Liyang Li<sup>1†</sup>, Lijie Zhang<sup>2</sup>, Zhijuan Lin<sup>2,3\*</sup> and Hao Qin<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>School of Public Health, Weifang Medical University, Weifang, Shandong, China, <sup>2</sup>School of Basic Medicine, Weifang Medical University, Weifang, Shandong, China, <sup>3</sup>Key Lab for Immunology in Universities of Shandong Province, Weifang Medical University, Weifang, Shandong, China

**Background:** Bacterial vaginosis (BV) is the most common microbiological syndrome in women of childbearing age, causing numerous adverse health issues in pregnant women. Several observational studies have discussed the association between vitamin D deficiency and the risk of BV during pregnancy, but the results were inconclusive. Therefore, this meta-analysis aimed to explore the association between vitamin D deficiency and BV risk in pregnant women.

**Materials and methods:** We searched four databases, including PubMed, Embase, Cochrane Library, and Web of Science, from their inception to July 2022. Pooled odds ratios (OR) with corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CI) were estimated using random effects models. Additionally, we conducted subgroup analyses to identify the potential sources of betweenstudy heterogeneity. Sensitivity analysis was performed using the method of exclusion, one study at a time. Publication bias was examined using Egger's test and funnel plot.

**Results:** A total of 14 studies from 13 articles including 4,793 participants were eligible for this meta-analysis. The outcome showed that vitamin D deficiency may increase the risk of BV during pregnancy by 54% (OR, 1.54; 95% CI, 1.25–1.91; P < 0.001). In subgroup analyses, positive associations were also found in studies that were: conducted in black women (OR, 1.56; 95% CI, 0.98–2.48; P = 0.060), focused on the first trimester of pregnancy (OR, 2.22; 95% CI, 1.35–3.64; P = 0.002), of high quality (OR, 3.05; 95% CI, 1.26–7.41; P = 0.014), and adjusted for confounders (OR, 1.28; 95% CI, 1.06–1.55; P = 0.012). Sensitivity analysis reported that BV risk during pregnancy resulting from vitamin D deficiency increased by 157% (OR, 2.57; 95% CI, 1.50–4.42; P = 0.001) when removing the first two high-weight studies. Publication bias was observed using Egger's test (t = 3.43, P = 0.005) and a visual funnel plot.

**Conclusion:** This meta-analysis showed that vitamin D deficiency is positively associated with the risk of BV during pregnancy. Further high-quality prospective cohort studies are needed to determine whether vitamin D intake reduces the prevalence of BV in pregnant women.

KEYWORDS

bacterial vaginosis, vitamin D deficiency, pregnant women, infections in pregnancy, observational study, meta-analysis

#### Introduction

Bacterial vaginosis (BV), the most common vaginal infection among women of childbearing age, is characterized by the disruption of vaginal flora consisting of dominant physiologic Lactobacillus species to pathologic anaerobic and facultative bacterial species, such as Gardnerella vaginalis, Prevotella bivia, and Atopobium vaginae (1). The estimated prevalence of BV in the general population is between 23 and 26% worldwide and reaches up to 33 and 31% in black and Hispanic women, respectively (2). Pregnant women may be more susceptible to BV than the general population, particularly during early pregnancy (3). Aside from causing urogenital infections and pelvic inflammatory diseases, having BV during pregnancy may lead to numerous adverse obstetric outcomes, such as preterm birth, late miscarriage, intrauterine fetal death, chorioamnionitis, and low birth weight (4, 5). Additionally, the treatment of symptomatic BV leads to an economic burden that amounts to approximately \$4.8 billion worldwide (2). However, the pathogenesis of BV remains poorly understood (5). Given its multiple adverse health outcomes, high recurrence rate, and enormous medical costs, it is pertinent to identify the associated risk factors for this condition, particularly among pregnant women, since this is the first step to preventing infection. Many factors play a role in the development of this infection, such as a higher number of sexual partners, young age at first intercourse, regular vaginal douching, and cigarette smoking (5, 6).

In addition, low vitamin D levels during pregnancy may increase the occurrence of BV (7). Vitamin D not only plays a crucial role in bone development, but also in immunemodulation, which includes triggering anti-inflammatory responses, such as cathelicidin expression and reducing pro-inflammatory cytokine production (e.g., IL-1 $\beta$ ) (8). It was estimated that the prevalence of Vitamin D deficiency was about 30% in children and adults worldwide (9, 10). Considering that vitamin D deficiency is highly prevalent among pregnant women worldwide (10), the role of vitamin D in BV risk needs to be examined. To date, there are only a handful of epidemiological studies that have explored the relationship between vitamin D deficiency and the risk of BV in pregnancy (11–23). However, despite the growing body of research on the relationship between vitamin D and BV risk in pregnancy, the existing literature has yielded inconsistent results. Some studies have reported a positive association between vitamin D deficiency and the occurrence of BV during pregnancy (11–18). Conversely, other studies failed to confirm this association (19–23). Although the association between vitamin D levels and the risk of BV during pregnancy has been mentioned in some systematic review articles (24, 25), these studies have only included a few studies that fulfilled the minimum requirement for meta-analysis. To address this controversial issue further, we gathered relevant data for a meta-analysis that quantitatively assesses the relationship between vitamin D deficiency and BV risk during pregnancy.

#### Materials and methods

#### Search strategy

We carried out an overall literature search from inception up to July 2022 using four databases: PubMed, Embase, Cochrane Library, and Web of Science. A search strategy was developed involving a combination of keywords and MeSH (Medical Subject Headings) or Emtree terms with boolean operators "OR" and "AND" in all databases to enhance the probability of obtaining related studies. The complete electronic search strategy is presented in **Supplementary Table 1**.

#### Inclusion criteria

For studies included in this meta-analysis, the following criteria were met: (1) original papers published in English; (2) the exposure of interest was vitamin D measurement during pregnancy; (3) the outcome of interest was BV; (4) odds ratio (OR), relative risk (RR), or hazard ratio with 95% confidence interval (CI) (or data/figure to estimate them); (5) observational studies (cohort, case-control, or cross-sectional design); and (6) the most recent and complete

study was selected if data from the same population had been published more than once. Meanwhile, if effect sizes were available for meta-analysis in the conference paper, these should also be extracted. In addition, the reference lists of the retrieved articles were carefully examined to avoid missing any relevant literature. All retrieved studies were carefully and independently reviewed by three investigators to determine whether an individual study met the inclusion criteria. If the three investigators (LM, ZZ, and LL) were disputable regarding the eligibility of an article, they were resolved by having a consensus or consultation with a fourth investigator (HQ).

#### Data extraction

During the process of literature screening, the title and abstract were reviewed first, before the full texts were further read to determine whether they should be included in the analysis. The extracted data that were obtained included the following details: the first author's last name, year of publication, country where the study was conducted, research type, sample size, mean age or age range of participants, gestational age when vitamin D was measured, vitamin D and BV determination methods, threshold of vitamin D deficiency, and adjusted confounding factors, the ORs (we used OR to represent the effect size for simplicity) with corresponding CIs of BV for vitamin D deficiency. When multiple ORs (95% CIs) were reported, we only extracted the effect estimates after adjusting for most confounders. In addition, as pregnant women in early stage may be more susceptible to BV and tend to suffer more from BV-induced adverse pregnancy outcomes than women in middle and late pregnancy (3-5), we preferentially used the OR (95% CI) of BV risk for vitamin D deficiency during early pregnancy in individual studies to calculate the pooled effect estimate if several ORs (95% CIs) were provided at different gestational ages (e.g., early, middle, and late pregnancy).

#### Quality assessment

The Newcastle-Ottawa Scale (NOS), a scoring system developed to assess the risk of bias, was used to evaluate the quality of the studies. The NOS covers three domains: selection, comparability, and exposure/outcome. A study can be awarded a maximum of one star for each numbered item within the selection and exposure categories. A maximum of two stars can be assigned for comparability. Each star represents one point; thus, the maximum possible score is nine. Generally, a total score of seven or more indicates high quality and a score of less than seven represents low quality.

#### Statistical analyses

To determine the strength of the association between vitamin D deficiency and the risk of BV during pregnancy, the DerSimonian and Laird random effects model was used to calculate the pooled OR (95% CI) in view of inevitable between-study variance (26). Between-study heterogeneity was assessed using the I<sup>2</sup> statistic (I<sup>2</sup> values of 0-25%, 25-50%, 50-75%, and 75-100% indicate no, low, medium, and high heterogeneity, respectively) (27). To explore the possible sources of heterogeneity, subgroup analyses were performed to examine the role of potential confounding factors, such as study type, geographic location where studies were conducted, race, gestational age, vitamin D assay methods, adjustment for confounders, study quality and climate characteristic of area of included paper. Sensitivity analyses were conducted, with one study excluded at a time, to assess the stability of the pooled OR (95% CI). Additionally, the Egger regression asymmetry test and visual inspection of funnel plots were used to evaluate publication bias (28).

We used Stata 14.2 software (Stata Corporation, College Station, TX, USA) to perform data analyses. All 2-tailed P-values < 0.05 were considered statistically significant.

#### Results

Initially, the database search allowed the investigators collect 617 articles (PubMed 36, Embase 174, Cochrane Library 346, and Web of Science 61). A total of 541 articles were examined through their titles and abstracts after excluding 76 duplicates. Subsequently, 513 articles were removed because they explicitly did not meet the inclusion criteria. From the remaining 28 articles, which were carefully reviewed to assess if they fit the criteria, 15 were rejected for the following reasons: 3 articles focused on non-pregnant women (29-31); 3 articles lacked ORs and corresponding 95% CIs, which could not be obtained from the available data (7, 32, 33). Among these three studies (7, 32, 33), two studies supported that vitamin D deficiency in the first (33) and second (7) trimesters of pregnancy increased BV occurrence, respectively, while one study (32) considered that neither vitamin D deficiency in early pregnancy nor supplementation reduced BV risk during pregnancy. Four studies did not quantitatively evaluate the association between vitamin D deficiency and BV risk (34-37). Among these four studies (34–37), one study was a letter to the editor (34), one was a review (35), one focused on the association between vitamin D status and the vaginal microbiome (36), and one study concentrated on complications of gestation (37). Four articles were not published in English (38-41). One study used a similar population, with the most recent studies included (42). Fourteen studies from 13 articles published from 2009 to 2021 were eligible for this meta-analysis. Detailed information regarding the literature retrieval process is shown in **Figure 1**.

#### **Baseline characteristics**

Among the included studies, eight studies were carried out in North America 8 (11-13, 16, 17, 21, 23), 2 in Asia (15, 20), 3 in Europe (14, 18, 22) and 1 in Africa (19). Regarding the study type, one study had a case-control design (10), four had a cohort design (14, 18, 19, 21), and nine had a crosssectional design (11, 13, 15-17, 20, 22, 23). Regarding the adjustment for confounding factors, 10 were adjusted (11-13, 15, 16, 19-21, 23) and 4 unadjusted (14, 17, 18, 22). With respect to BV determination methods, 10 studies were based on the Nugent score of Gram staining (11-13, 15-17, 19, 21, 22), one used 16S rRNA sequencing technology (23), and three did not report measurement methods (14, 18, 20). For the timing of blood sample collection to measure vitamin D levels, 10 studies focused on the first trimester (11, 13, 15-19, 21, 22), 2 focused on the second trimester (20, 22), and 3 focused on the third trimester (12, 14, 21). According to the scores based on the Newcastle-Ottawa scale, five were considered to be of high quality (11, 13, 15, 17, 19), and nine were classified as low quality (12, 14, 16, 18, 20-23). As for climate characteristic of area of included paper, 12 studies were belonged to temperate zone (11-18, 21-23), two were categorized as tropical zone (19, 20). The baseline characteristics of the included studies are presented in **Table 1**.

#### Quantitative synthesis

This meta-analysis used data from 14 studies in 13 articles covering 4,793 participants to assess the association between vitamin D deficiency and the risk of BV during pregnancy. Of the 14 studies, six reported no relationship between vitamin D deficiency and BV prevalence during pregnancy, while eight showed a positive association between the two. Our results showed a positive association between vitamin D deficiency and the risk of BV during pregnancy (OR, 1.54; 95% CI, 1.25–1.91, P < 0.001;  $I^2 = 84.9\%$ , P<sub>heterogeneity</sub> < 0.01; **Figure 2**).

#### Subgroup analyses

In view of the high heterogeneity among the included studies, subgroup analyses were performed to examine possible confounders. As shown in **Table 2**, the pooled OR (95% CI) for subgroups stratified by study type was 1.78 (0.87–3.64), 5.11



TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics of the included studies.

Ref.	Country	Population	Study design	Age (years)	Gestational age (weeks)	No. of Participants (case)	Measurement method of vitamin D	Determination method of BV	Threshold of vitamin D deficiency	Evaluation of vitamin D	OR (95% CI) for vitamin D deficiency	Adjustment for covariates	Quality assessment
Bodnar et al. (11)	United States	Black and White	Cross- sectional	20–29	<16	469 (192)	RIA	Nugent score of Gram staining	<20 nmol/L	25-hydroxy- vitamin D	Total population: 1.65 (1.01, 2.69); black women: 1.47 (1.02, 2.13); white women: 1.09 (0.62, 1.92)	Sexually transmitted diseases	7
Dunlop et al. (12)	United States	Non-Hispanic black, Non-Hispanic white	Case- control	24.14±6.04	31-37	160 (14)	ELISA	Nugent score of Gram staining	<12 ng/ml	25-hydroxy- vitamin D	Total population: 5.11 (1.19, 21.97)	Race, age, smoking status, BMI, gestational age at delivery, payor source	6
Hensel et al. (13)	United States	Non-Hispanic white, Non-Hispanic black, Mexican American	Cross- sectional	14–49	<13	440 (NR)	Microbiological method	Nugent score of Gram staining	<30 ng/ml	25-hydroxy- vitamin D	Total population: 2.87 (1.13, 7.28)	Age, race, education, poverty index, marital status, age at first sex, number lifetime partners, ever have female sex partner, unprotected sex, pregnancy status, oral contraception use, douching frequency last six months, cotinine level, BMI	7
Skowrońska et al. (14)	Poland	Polish	Cohort	$30.5\pm4.9$	28-40	102 (NR)	ECLIA	NR	<20 ng/ml	Vitamin D supplement	White women: 10.77 (2.09, 55.40)	NR	4
Rahmanpour et al. (15)	Iran	Persian	Cross- sectional	NR	<20	204 (55)	Microbiological method	Nugent score of Gram staining	<20 nmol/L	25-hydroxy- vitamin D	White women: 16.30 (6.00, 45.50)	BMI, maternal age	7
Turner et al. (19)	Zimbabwe	Zimbabwean	Cohort	22-28	<13	141 (38)	RIA	Nugent score of Gram staining	<30 ng/ml	25-hydroxy- vitamin D	Black women: 0.88 (0.51, 1.54)	Age, education, parity, HSV-2 status, circumcision status of primary male partner, sex in the last three months, vaginal hygiene habits, sexual frequency, condom use, number of male sex partners	7
Tabatabaei et al. (16)	Canada	Montrealer	Cross- sectional	NR	8–14	433 (NR)	LC-MS	Nugent score of Gram staining	<50 nmol/L	25-hydroxy- vitamin D	Ethnic minority (black women): 5.60 (1.58, 19.84); non-ethnic minority (white women): 1.31 (0.73, 2.35)	Season of conception, age, pre-pregnancy BMI, parity, marital status, smoking, education, present history of sexually transmitted disease	5

Ref.	Country	Population	Study design	Age (years)	Gestational age (weeks)	No. of Participants (case)	Measurement method of vitamin D	Determination method of BV		Evaluation of vitamin D		Adjustment for covariates	Quality assessment
Powell et al. (17)	United States	African American	Cross- sectional	NR	8-12	245 (63)	Microbiological method	Nugent score of Gram staining	<40 ng/ml	Vitamin D supplement	Black women: 5.26 (3.20, 12.82)	NR	7
Lee et al. (20)	Malaysia	Malay, Chinese, Indian, other ethnicity	Cross- sectional	$30.0\pm4.36$	>37	575 (13)	HPLC	NR	<20 ng/ml	25-hydroxy- vitamin D	Total population: 1.01 (0.95, 1.08)	Maternal age, BMI	4
Dunlop et al. (21)	United States	African American	Cohort	$24.3\pm4.3$	8-14	137 (57)	CLIA	Nugent score of Gram staining	<20 ng/ml	Total and free 25 (OH)D	Black women: 1.04 (0.99, 1.10) First trimester: 1.04 (0.99, 1.10); last trimester: 1.06 (1.01, 1.12)	Maternal age, parity, insurance status, first prenatal BMI, gestational age of visit, receipt of antibiotics in the month prior to the visit	5
Christoph et al. (22)	Switzerland	European, Northern Africa, Middle East, South West Asia, Sub-Saharan Africa, Indian	Cross- sectional	22-38	8–16	1153 (36)	CLIA	Amsel criteria and Nugent scoring	<25 nmol/L	Vitamin D supplements	Total population: 0.69 (0.27, 1.52)	NR	4
Maliar (18)	Ukraine	Ukraninian	Cohort	$25.1\pm2.6$	10-12	100 (19)	ECLIA	Nugent score of Gram staining	<30ng/ml	25-hydroxy- vitamin D	White women: 4.93 (1.50, 16.16)	NR	5
Rosen et al. (23)	United States	Black and White	Cross- sectional	$26.6\pm 6.9$	24-29	634 (76)	FFQ	16S rRNA sequencing technology	NR	Dietary vitamin D	Total population: 0.83 (0.51, 1.37); black women: 0.83 (0.38, 1.85); white women: 0.88 (0.47, 1.67)	Race, age, parity, BMI, maternal stress	5

Ref., reference; CLIA, chemiluminescent immunoassay; ECLIA, electrochemical luminescence immunoassay; ELISA, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay; FFQ, food frequency questionnaire; HPLC, high-performance liquid chromatography; LC-MS, liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry; RIA, radioimmunoassay; NR, not reported; OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; BV, bacterial vaginosis; BMI, body mass index; HSV-2, herpes simplex virus type 2.



Forest plot of included studies on the association between vitamin D deficiency and bacterial vaginosis risk. OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval. The size of the grey box is positively proportional to the weight assigned to each study, which is inversely proportional to the SE of the OR. The horizontal lines represent the 95% CI.

(1.19–21.96), and 2.04 (1.23–3.39) in cohort, case-control, and cross-sectional studies, respectively. The combined OR (95% CI) for subgroups by gestation age was 2.22 (1.35–3.64) in the first trimester, 1.01 (0.95–1.08) in the second trimester, and 3.31 (0.69–15.94) in the third trimester. The pooled OR (95% CI) was 1.56 (0.98–2.48) for studies performed in the black population, 1.92 (1.22–3.03) for studies executed in North America, 2.51 (1.55, 4.06) for studies conducted in temperate zone, and 2.20 (1.34–3.61) for studies using Nugent Score of Gram staining. Additionally, the pooled ORs (95% CIs) in high-quality studies and studies adjusted for confounders were 3.05 (1.26–7.41) and 1.28 (1.06–1.55), respectively.

#### Sensitivity analysis

To assess the robustness of our meta-analysis, a sensitivity analysis was conducted by excluding one study at a time (**Supplementary Figure 1**). The findings of the sensitivity analysis suggest that the first two high-weight studies considerably lowered the pooled effect size (18, 19). After removing the two studies, the pooled OR (95% CI) of BV prevalence for vitamin D deficiency was from 1.54 (1.25–1.91, P < 0.001) to 2.57 (1.50–4.42, P = 0.001) (Supplementary Figure 2) and was relatively stable (Supplementary Figure 3).

#### **Publication bias**

Publication bias was observed using Egger's test (t = 3.43, P = 0.005) and visual inspection of the funnel plot for the effect of vitamin D deficiency on BV risk (**Supplementary Figure 4**).

#### Discussion

The current meta-analysis quantitatively evaluated the association between vitamin D deficiency and BV risk in pregnant women. In contrast, previous published reviews mainly narratively described the findings of original studies, partly due to limiting sample size (each review covering three studies) (24, 25). This meta-analysis, including 14 studies from 13 articles covering 4,793 participants, showed that vitamin D deficiency could increase the risk of BV by 54% during pregnancy. More specifically, for vitamin D deficiency in the first trimester and for black women, the BV risks were elevated

Subgroups	No. of studies (ref.)	Pooled ORs (95% CIs)	P-values for pooled ORs	P-values for subgroup	Study h	eterogeneity
	(1011)	(2070 010)	pooled ons	differences	I <sup>2</sup> (%)	P-value
All studies	14 (11–23)	1.54 (1.25–1.91)	< 0.001	_	84.9	< 0.001
Study design						
Cohort	4 (14, 18, 19, 21)	1.78 (0.87-3.64)	0.117	0.957	79.6	0.002
Case-control	1 (12)	5.11 (1.19–21.96)	0.028		-	-
Cross-sectional	<b>9</b> (11, 13, 15–17, 20, 21, 23)	2.04 (1.23-3.39)	0.006		88.1	< 0.001
Geographic location						
North America	8 (11–13, 16, 17, 21, 23)	1.92 (1.22–3.03)	0.005	0.794	82.9	< 0.001
Asia	2 (15, 20)	3.87 (0.25-58.86)	0.329		96.5	< 0.001
Europe	3 (14, 18, 22)	3.01 (0.55-16.49)	0.203		83.5	0.002
Africa	1 (19)	0.88 (0.51-1.53)	0.650		-	-
Race/Ethnicity						
Total population	6 (11–13, 20, 22, 23)	1.25 (0.86–1.82)	0.234	0.265	65.7	0.012
Black women	<b>6</b> (11, 16, 17, 19, 21, 23)	1.56 (0.98–2.48)	0.060		84.1	< 0.001
White women	<b>6</b> (11, 14–16, 18, 23)	2.77 (1.16-6.59)	0.021		85.5	< 0.001
Trimester of blood collection						
First	10 (11, 13, 15–19, 21, 22)	2.22 (1.35-3.64)	0.002	0.974	87.4	< 0.001
Second	2 (20, 23)	1.01 (0.95-1.08)	0.778		0.0	0.435
Last	3 (12, 14, 21)	3.31 (0.69–15.94)	0.135		83.5	0.002
	- (,,,					
Vitamin D assay methods	10 (11 12 14 16	1 17 (0 00 1 28)	0.060	0.750	71.6	<0.001
Instrumental method	10 (11, 12, 14, 16, 18–22)	1.17 (0.99–1.38)	0.060	0.759	71.6	< 0.001
Microbiological method	3 (13, 15, 17)	6.09 (2.50–14.85)	< 0.001		68.1	0.044
Food frequency questionnaire Determination of BV	1 (23)	0.83 (0.51–1.36)	0.462		-	-
Nugent score of Gram staining	10 (11–13, 15–17, 19, 21, 22)	2.20 (1.34-3.61)	0.002	0.557	87.0	< 0.001
16srDNA sequencing technology	1 (23)	0.83 (0.51-1.36)	0.462		-	-
NR	3 (14, 18, 20)	3.24 (0.70-15.13)	0.134		86.4	0.001
Adjusted for confound factors						
Adjusted	<b>10</b> (11–13, 15, 16, 19–21, 23)	1.28 (1.06–1.55)	0.012	0.386	82.0	< 0.001
Unadjusted	4 (14, 17, 18, 22)	3.44 (1.03-11.44)	0.044		82.1	0.001
Study quality						
High quality	<b>5 (11, 13, 15, 17,</b> 19)	3.05 (1.26–7.41)	0.014	0.382	88.0	< 0.001
Low quality	<b>9</b> (12, 14, 16, 18, 20–23)	1.12 (0.95–1.32)	0.196		72.1	< 0.001
Climate characteristic	*					
Temperate zone	12 (11-18, 21-23)	2.51 (1.55, 4.06)	< 0.001	0.166	86.9	< 0.001
Tropical zone	2 (19, 20)	1.01 (0.95, 1.08)	0.744		0.0	0.620

TABLE 2 Pooled ORs of subgroup analyses for the association between Vitamin D deficiency and the risk of bacterial vaginosis (BV).

Ref., reference; OR, odds ratio; CI, confidence interval; BV, bacterial vaginosis; NR, not reported.

up to 122 and 56%, respectively. Furthermore, a similar trend was found in the high-quality (OR, 3.05; 95% CI, 1.26–7.41; P = 0.014), adjustment for confounders (OR, 1.28; 95% CI, 1.06–1.55; P = 0.012), and cohort study (OR, 1.78; 95% CI,

0.87-3.64; P = 0.117) subgroups. In addition, our findings are partly supported by a randomized clinical trial by Taheri et al., who reported that the treatment of vitamin D deficiency might eliminate asymptomatic BV in non-pregnant women (43). Thus,

according to the recommendations from Institute of Medicine, pregnant women had better ingest on average 600 IUs of vitamin D daily and maintain the serum vitamin D at least 30 ng/mL (10).

The exact biological mechanism by which vitamin D deficiency increases susceptibility to BV is not yet well established. To date, several possible biological pathways have been proposed to elucidate the role of vitamin D in the prevalence of BV. First, vitamin D is implicated in the regulation of the proliferation and differentiation of various cells (44), particularly in stratified squamous epithelium, such as the vaginal epithelium (45). One of the mechanisms underlying this may be that vitamin D triggers the VDR (vitamin D receptor)/p-RhoA (ras homolog gene family)/p-Ezrin (cell junction proteins) pathway, which may increase cell-to-cell junctions of the vaginal epithelium and decrease the PH value of the vaginal microbial environment (46, 47). Additionally, vitamin D deficiency may induce vaginal atrophy, decrease barrier function, and increase BV risk.

Second, vitamin D is linked to diverse immunomodulatory actions, including the enhancement of the innate immune system and regulation of the adaptive immune responses, through binding to VDRs expressed by a number of different immune cell subsets (44). On the one hand, with the activation of toll-like receptors, vitamin D and VDR binding enhances the antimicrobial activities of key innate immunocytes, such as neutrophils, monocytes, and macrophages. These effects are principally mediated by upregulating the synthesis of antimicrobial peptides, such as cathelicidins and beta-defensins, which could prevent and control invasive bacterial infections and increase genital tract immune capacity (44, 48-50). In contrast, VDR ligation by vitamin D enhances anti-inflammatory cytokine production (51, 52), such as interleukin-4 (IL-4) and interleukin-10 (IL-10), and inhibits the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (44), such as interleukin-1ß (IL-1ß), interleukin-6 (IL-6), interleukin-12 (IL-12), tumor necrosis factor-alpha (TNF- $\alpha$ ), and the development of pro-inflammatory T helper 1 (Th1) and T helper 17 (Th17) cells (53). Vitamin D also inhibits the production of interleukin-2 (IL-2), which is essential for lymphocyte clonal expansion and interferon-gamma (IFN- $\gamma$ ) (54). Thus, given the decrease of antimicrobial peptide synthesis and anti-inflammatory cytokine production, and the increase in pro-inflammatory cytokine expression, vitamin D deficiency may promote the occurrence of BV.

Additionally, vitamin D may play a role in influencing the vaginal microbial environment. By elevating calcium concentration, vitamin D may stimulate insulin secretion and increase glycogen synthesis, which induces glycogen deposition in the vagina (36, 55). A higher concentration of free glycogen in the lower genital tract promotes *Lactobacillus* species colonization, decreases vaginal pH, and inhibits the growth of other bacteria (56). A pilot study including black adolescent women also showed that higher vaginal glycogen levels were positively related to the dominance of *Lactobacillus* (57). Therefore, vitamin D deficiency may alter glucose homeostasis in the vagina and enhance BV prevalence.

In the current study, subgroup analyses stratified by race revealed that vitamin D deficiency might increase BV risk in black women. The potential reason may be that most black women usually suffer from a higher burden of vitamin D deficiency than white women (58). Additionally, vitamin D intake from diet and supplementation for black women is relatively low (59). In contrast, darker skin pigmentation may inhibit conversion from 7-dehydrocholesterol (provitamin D<sub>3</sub>) to pre-calciferol (pre-vitamin D3 form) following sun exposure (60). In addition, lifestyle factors such as regular vaginal douching and cigarette smoking, which are known risk factors for BV (5, 6), are likely to differ among races. These findings suggest that race is not an independent factor for BV occurrence. Nonetheless, some studies have reported that race/ethnicity exerts an effect on the diversity and predominance of the vaginal microbiome (61, 62). In addition, it is puzzling that there was statistical association between vitamin D deficiency and BV risk in subgroup analysis on white women. Thus, further studies are needed to clarify the association between race and BV.

#### Strengths and limitations

Our study has several strengths. To our knowledge, this is the first meta-analysis in recent years to examine the relationship between vitamin D deficiency and BV risk during pregnancy. Second, based on potential confounders, such as race and gestational age, and adjustment for confounders, various subgroup analyses were performed.

Our study has some limitations. First, the cross-sectional or case-control design used in some original studies limits the establishment of causality due to inevitable recall and selection biases. Second, the studies included in this metaanalysis were biased toward North America and Europe, which might reduce the generalizability of our outcomes. Third, the threshold for vitamin D deficiency defined in the included studies was inconsistent, which may have underestimated the pooled ORs (95% CIs). Fourth, I<sup>2</sup> values of betweenstudy heterogeneity remained high even though numerous subgroup analyses were conducted, suggesting that unaccounted potential confounders may exist. Thus, we structured a random effects model to minimize the influence of betweenstudy heterogeneity. Fifth, some extracted ORs from the original studies used to calculate combined effect estimates were estimated based on a frequency table or figure, which may lead to unavoidable bias. Sixth, the methods used to measure vitamin D levels and diagnose BV were not entirely consistent, which may have influenced the stability of the results. Seventh, publication bias was observed using Egger's test and funnel plot. Finally, we were unable to investigate a doseresponse relationship between vitamin D levels and BV risk owing to the lack of sufficient data.

#### Conclusion

Our meta-analysis, involving 14 studies, showed that vitamin D deficiency contributes to the risk of BV during pregnancy. Most subgroup analyses also supported this finding, especially in studies that were focused on the first trimester of pregnancy, considered high quality, and adjusted for confounders. Considering the high prevalence and adverse health outcomes of vitamin D deficiency and BV, these findings have potential clinical implications. Additional studies, especially large prospective cohort studies in various races, are required to further assess the association between vitamin D deficiency and BV risk.

#### Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in this study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

#### Author contributions

LM and HQ contributed to conception and design of the study. LM, ZZ, and LL extracted data and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. LM, HQ, and LZ performed the statistical analysis. HQ and ZL reviewed and edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to manuscript revision, read, and approved the submitted version.

#### Funding

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 32000495), National Natural Science Foundation of Shandong Province (No. ZR2020MH202), A Project of Shandong Province Higher Educational Science and Technology Program (No. J18KA290), Doctoral Research Start-up Foundation of Weifang Medical University, and A Project of Quality Course of Shandong Province Graduate Education–Health Management (No. SDYKC20152). The sponsors played no role in study design, collection, analysis or interpretation of the data, writing of the report, or decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

#### Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

#### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

#### Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fnut.2022.1016592/full#supplementary-material

#### References

1. Onderdonk AB, Delaney ML, Fichorova RN. The human microbiome during bacterial vaginosis. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* (2016) 29:223–38. doi: 10.1128/cmr.00075-15

2. Peebles K, Velloza J, Balkus JE, McClelland RS, Barnabas RV. High global burden and costs of bacterial vaginosis: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sex Transm Dis.* (2019) 46:304–11. doi: 10.1097/olq.000000000000972

3. Redelinghuys MJ, Ehlers MM, Dreyer AW, Kock MM. Normal flora and bacterial vaginosis in pregnancy: an overview. *Crit Rev Microbiol.* (2016) 42:352–63. doi: 10.3109/1040841x.2014.954522

4. Juliana NCA, Suiters MJM, Al-Nasiry S, Morré SA, Peters RPH, Ambrosino E. The Association between vaginal microbiota dysbiosis, bacterial vaginosis, and aerobic vaginitis, and adverse pregnancy outcomes of women living in Sub-Saharan

Africa: a systematic review. Front Public Health. (2020) 8:567885. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.567885

5. Abou Chacra L, Fenollar F, Diop K. Bacterial vaginosis: what do we currently know? *Front Cell Infect Microbiol.* (2021) 11:672429. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2021. 672429

6. Bautista CT, Wurapa E, Sateren WB, Morris S, Hollingsworth B, Sanchez JL. Bacterial vaginosis: a synthesis of the literature on etiology, prevalence, risk factors, and relationship with chlamydia and gonorrhea infections. *Mil Med Res.* (2016) 3:4. doi: 10.1186/s40779-016-0074-5

7. Akoh CC, Pressman EK, Cooper E, Queenan RA, Pillittere J, O'Brien KO. Low vitamin D is associated with infections and proinflammatory cytokines during pregnancy. *Reprod Sci.* (2018) 25:414–23. doi: 10.1177/1933719117715124

8. Zughaier SM, Lubberts E, Bener A. Editorial: immune-modulatory effects of vitamin D. *Front Immunol.* (2020) 11:596611. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.596611

9. Holick MF. The vitamin D deficiency pandemic: approaches for diagnosis, treatment and prevention. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord*. (2017) 18:153–65. doi: 10. 1007/s11154-017-9424-1

10. da Silveira EA, Moura L, Castro MCR, Kac G, Hadler M, Noll P, et al. Prevalence of vitamin D and calcium deficiency and insufficiency in women of childbearing age and associated risk factors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutrients.* (2022) 14:4351. doi: 10.3390/nu1420 4351

11. Bodnar LM, Krohn MA, Simhan HN. Maternal vitamin D deficiency is associated with bacterial vaginosis in the first trimester of pregnancy. *J Nutr.* (2009) 139:1157–61. doi: 10.3945/jn.108.103168

12. Dunlop AL, Taylor RN, Tangpricha V, Fortunato S, Menon R. Maternal vitamin D, folate, and polyunsaturated fatty acid status and bacterial vaginosis during pregnancy. *Infect Dis Obstet Gynecol.* (2011) 2011:216217. doi: 10.1155/2011/216217

13. Hensel KJ, Randis TM, Gelber SE, Ratner AJ. Pregnancy-specific association of vitamin D deficiency and bacterial vaginosis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2011) 204:41.e1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2010.08.013

14. Skowrońska-Jóźwiak E, Lebiedzińska K, Smyczyńska J, Lewandowski KC, Głowacka E, Lewiński A. Effects of maternal vitamin D status on pregnancy outcomes, health of pregnant women and their offspring. *Neuro Endocrinol Lett.* (2014) 35:367–72.

15. Rahmanpour H, Haghnazar S, Mazloomzadeh S, Mazloomy S, Sarvi F. Association of bacterial vaginosis and vitamin D deficiency in the first half of pregnancy. *Hum Reprod.* (2014) 29:136. doi: 10.1093/humrep/29.Supplement\_1.1

16. Tabatabaei N, Poirier J, Herba C, Auger N, Allard C, Fraser WD. Vitamin d insufficiency is associated with increased risk of bacterial vaginosis in women of ethnic minority. *Reprod Sci.* (2016) 23:104. doi: 10.1177/19337191166 41257

17. Powell A, Shary J, Ramakrishnan V, Eckard A, Wagner C. Impact of vitamin D supplementation on bacterial vaginosis in pregnancy. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2017) 217:723–4. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2017.08.055

18. Maliar VV. Perinatal aspects of pregnancy and childbirth on the background of vitamin D lack in pregnant women. *Wiad Lek.* (2021) 74:2585–7. doi: 10.36740/ wlek202110210

19. Turner AN, Carr Reese P, Chen PL, Kwok C, Jackson RD, Klebanoff MA, et al. Serum vitamin D status and bacterial vaginosis prevalence and incidence in Zimbabwean women. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2016) 215:332.e1–332.e10. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2016.02.045

20. Lee, CL, Ng BK, Wu LL, Cheah FC, Othman H, Ismail NAM. Vitamin D deficiency in pregnancy at term: risk factors and pregnancy outcomes. *Horm Mol Biol Clin Investig.* (2017) 31:20170005. doi: 10.1515/hmbci-2017-0005

21. Dunlop AL, Jordan SL, Ferranti EP, Hill CC, Patel S, Hao L, et al. Total and free 25-hydroxy-vitamin D and bacterial vaginosis in pregnant African American women. *Infect Dis Obstet Gynecol.* (2019) 2019:9426795. doi: 10.1155/2019/94 26795

22. Christoph P, Challande P, Raio L, Surbek D. High prevalence of severe vitamin D deficiency during the first trimester in pregnant women in Switzerland and its potential contributions to adverse outcomes in the pregnancy. *Swiss Med Wkly.* (2020) 150:w20238. doi: 10.4414/smw.2020.20238

23. Rosen EM, Martin CL, Siega-Riz AM, Dole N, Basta PV, Serrano M, et al. Is prenatal diet associated with the composition of the vaginal microbiome? *Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol.* (2022) 36:243–53. doi: 10.1111/ppe.12830

24. Aghajafari F, Nagulesapillai T, Ronksley PE, Tough SC, O'Beirne M, Rabi DM. Association between maternal serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D level and pregnancy and neonatal outcomes: systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *BMJ.* (2013) 346:f1169. doi: 10.1136/bmj.f1169

25. Harvey NC, Holroyd C, Ntani G, Javaid K, Cooper P, Moon R, et al. Vitamin D supplementation in pregnancy: a systematic review. *Health Technol Assess.* (2014) 18:1–190. doi: 10.3310/hta18450

26. DerSimonian R, Laird N. Meta-analysis in clinical trials. *Control Clin Trials.* (1986) 7:177–88. doi: 10.1016/0197-2456(86)90046-2

27. Higgins JP, Thompson SG, Deeks JJ, Altman DG. Measuring inconsistency in meta-analyses. *BMJ*. (2003) 327:557–60. doi: 10.1136/bmj.327.7414.557

28. Egger M, Davey Smith G, Schneider M, Minder C. Bias in meta-analysis detected by a simple, graphical test. *BMJ*. (1997) 315:629–34. doi: 10.1136/bmj.315. 7109.629

29. Klebanoff MA, Turner AN. Bacterial vaginosis and season, a proxy for vitamin D status. *Sex Transm Dis.* (2014) 41:295–9. doi: 10.1097/olq. 000000000000124

30. Tuddenham S, Ghanem KG, Caulfield LE, Rovner AJ, Robinson C, Shivakoti R, et al. Associations between dietary micronutrient intake and molecular-bacterial vaginosis. *Reprod Health.* (2019) 16:151. doi: 10.1186/s12978-019-0814-6

31. Turner AN, Carr Reese P, Fields KS, Anderson J, Ervin M, Davis JA, et al. A blinded, randomized controlled trial of high-dose vitamin D supplementation to reduce recurrence of bacterial vaginosis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2014) 211:479.e1–479.e13. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2014.06.023

32. Powell AM, Shary JR, Louden C, Ramakrishnan V, Eckard AR, Wagner CL. Association of bacterial vaginosis with vitamin D in pregnancy: secondary analysis from the Kellogg pregnancy study. *AJP Rep.* (2019) 9:e226–34. doi: 10.1055/s-0039-1693163

33. El beltagy NS. The relation between vitamin D deficiency in the first rimester of pregnancy and bacterial vaginosis in Egypt. *Clin Chem.* (2017) 63:S156.

34. Grant WB. Adequate vitamin D during pregnancy reduces the risk of premature birth by reducing placental colonization by bacterial vaginosis species. *mBio.* (2011) 2:e00022-11. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00022-11

35. Harris AL. Vitamin D deficiency and bacterial vaginosis in pregnancy: examining the link. *Nurs Womens Health*. (2011) 15:423–30. doi: 10.1111/j.1751-486X.2011.01667.x

36. Jefferson KK, Parikh HI, Garcia EM, Edwards DJ, Serrano MG, Hewison M, et al. Relationship between vitamin D status and the vaginal microbiome during pregnancy. *J Perinatol.* (2019) 39:824–36. doi: 10.1038/s41372-019-0343-8

37. Manasova GS, Andrievsky AG, Didenkul NV, Shpak IV, Turchyn MI, Kuzmin NV. Role of the hormonal system "vitamin d/vitamin d receptors" in the formation of some pregnancy complications. *Reprod Endocrinol.* (2020) 2020:65–8. doi: 10. 18370/2309-4117.2020.51.60-62

38. Eremkina AK, Mokrysheva NG, Pigarova EA, Mirnaya SS. Vitamin D: effects on pregnancy, maternal, fetal and postnatal outcomes. *Ter Arkh.* (2018) 90:115–27. doi: 10.26442/terarkh20189010115-127

39. Kostinov MP, Ignatieva MA, Novikova SV, Shmitko AD, Polischuk VB, Akhmatova NK, et al. Effect of vitamin D and interferon  $\alpha$ -2b on cytokine profile in pregnant women with vaginal infections. *Russ J Infect Immun.* (2020) 10:524–32. doi: 10.15789/10.15789/2220-7619-EOV-1140

40. Riahinejad S, Ghasemi-Tehrani H, Alipour-Hafshejani E, Ghasemi M, Nourizadeh-Dehkordi F. Valuation of vitamin D level at the end of first trimester and its relation with anemia, bacterial vaginosis, and toothache in pregnant mothers. *J Isfahan Med Sch.* (2015) 32:2015–24.

41. Loia NO, Korchynska OO, Herzanych SO, Hetzko NV. Characteristics of pregnancy and delivery in women with vitamin D deficiency. *Zaporozhye Med J.* (2020) 22:440–5. doi: 10.14739/2310-1210.2020.4.208347

42. Turner AN, Reese PC, Griffen AL, Fields KS, Klebanoff MA, Beall CJ, et al. Vitamin D, bacterial vaginosis, and the vaginal microbiome. *J Investig Med.* (2014) 62:718–9.

43. Taheri M, Baheiraei A, Foroushani AR, Nikmanesh B, Modarres M. Treatment of vitamin D deficiency is an effective method in the elimination of asymptomatic bacterial vaginosis: a placebo-controlled randomized clinical trial. *Indian J Med Res.* (2015) 141:799–806. doi: 10.4103/0971-5916.160707

44. Gil Á, Plaza-Diaz J, Mesa MD. Vitamin D: classic and novel actions. Ann Nutr Metab. (2018) 72:87–95. doi: 10.1159/000486536

45. Yildirim B, Abban G, Erdogan BS. Immunohistochemical detection of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D receptor in rat vaginal epithelium. *Fertil Steril.* (2004) 82:1602–8. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2004.07.949

46. Lee A, Lee MR, Lee HH, Kim YS, Kim JM, Enkhbold T, et al. Vitamin D proliferates vaginal epithelium through RhoA expression in postmenopausal atrophic vagina tissue. *Mol Cells.* (2017) 40:677–84. doi: 10.14348/molcells.2017. 0026

47. Rad P, Tadayon M, Abbaspour M, Latifi SM, Rashidi I, Delaviz H. The effect of vitamin D on vaginal atrophy in postmenopausal women. *Iran J Nurs Midwifery Res.* (2015) 20:211–5.

48. Liu PT, Stenger S, Li H, Wenzel L, Tan BH, Krutzik SR, et al. Toll-like receptor triggering of a vitamin D-mediated human antimicrobial response. *Science*. (2006) 311:1770–3. doi: 10.1126/science.1123933

49. Nizet V, Ohtake T, Lauth X, Trowbridge J, Rudisill J, Dorschner RA, et al. Innate antimicrobial peptide protects the skin from invasive bacterial infection. *Nature*. (2001) 414:454–7. doi: 10.1038/35106587

50. Hoe E, Nathanielsz J, Toh ZQ, Spry L, Marimla R, Balloch A, et al. Antiinflammatory effects of vitamin D on human immune cells in the context of bacterial infection. *Nutrients*. (2016) 8:806. doi: 10.3390/nu8120806

51. Ota K, Dambaeva S, Han AR, Beaman K, Gilman-Sachs A, Kwak-Kim J. Vitamin D deficiency may be a risk factor for recurrent pregnancy losses by increasing cellular immunity and autoimmunity. *Hum Reprod.* (2014) 29:208–19. doi: 10.1093/humrep/det424

52. Olliver M, Spelmink L, Hiew J, Meyer-Hoffert U, Henriques-Normark B, Bergman P. Immunomodulatory effects of vitamin D on innate and adaptive immune responses to *Streptococcus pneumoniae*. J Infect Dis. (2013) 208:1474–81. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jit355

53. Ao T, Kikuta J, Ishii M. The effects of vitamin D on immune system and inflammatory diseases. *Biomolecules*. (2021) 11:1624. doi: 10.3390/biom11111624

54. Christakos S, Dhawan P, Verstuyf A, Verlinden L, Carmeliet G. Vitamin D: metabolism, molecular mechanism of action, and pleiotropic effects. *Physiol Rev.* (2016) 96:365–408. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00014.2015

55. Janjusevic M, Gagno G, Fluca AL, Padoan L, Beltrami AP, Sinagra G, et al. The peculiar role of vitamin D in the pathophysiology of cardiovascular and neurodegenerative diseases. *Life Sci.* (2022) 289:120193. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2021. 120193

56. Kwon MS, Lee HK. Host and microbiome interplay shapes the vaginal microenvironment. *Front Immunol.* (2022) 13:919728. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2022. 919728

57. Nunn KL, Ridenhour BJ, Chester EM, Vitzthum VJ, Fortenberry JD, Forney LJ. Vaginal glycogen, not estradiol, is associated with vaginal bacterial community

composition in black adolescent women. J Adolesc Health. (2019) 65:130-8. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2019.01.010

58. Liu X, Baylin A, Levy PD. Vitamin D deficiency and insufficiency among US adults: prevalence, predictors and clinical implications. *Br J Nutr.* (2018) 119:928–36. doi: 10.1017/s0007114518000491

59. Moore CE, Murphy MM, Holick MF. Vitamin D intakes by children and adults in the United States differ among ethnic groups. *J Nutr.* (2005) 135:2478–85. doi: 10.1093/jn/135.10.2478

60. Ames BN, Grant WB, Willett WC. Does the high prevalence of vitamin D Deficiency in African Americans contribute to health disparities? *Nutrients.* (2021) 13:499. doi: 10.3390/nu13020499

61. MacIntyre DA, Chandiramani M, Lee YS, Kindinger L, Smith A, Angelopoulos N, et al. The vaginal microbiome during pregnancy and the postpartum period in a European population. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:8988. doi: 10.1038/ srep08988

62. Serrano MG, Parikh HI, Brooks JP, Edwards DJ, Arodz TJ, Edupuganti L, et al. Racioethnic diversity in the dynamics of the vaginal microbiome during pregnancy. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:1001–11. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0465-8

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Surasak Saokaew, University of Phayao, Thailand

REVIEWED BY Wasan Katip, Chiang Mai University, Thailand Anchalee Rawangkan, University of Phayao, Thailand

\*CORRESPONDENCE Chaitong Churuangsuk chaitong.c@psu.ac.th

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Nutritional Epidemiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

RECEIVED 31 July 2022 ACCEPTED 27 October 2022 PUBLISHED 25 November 2022

#### CITATION

Kaewdech A, Sripongpun P, Wetwittayakhlang P and Churuangsuk C (2022) The effect of fiber supplementation on the prevention of diarrhea in hospitalized patients receiving enteral nutrition: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials with the GRADE assessment. *Front. Nutr.* 9:1008464. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2022.1008464

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Kaewdech, Sripongpun, Wetwittayakhlang and Churuangsuk. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. The effect of fiber supplementation on the prevention of diarrhea in hospitalized patients receiving enteral nutrition: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials with the GRADE assessment

Apichat Kaewdech<sup>1†</sup>, Pimsiri Sripongpun<sup>1†</sup>, Panu Wetwittayakhlang<sup>1</sup> and Chaitong Churuangsuk<sup>2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Gastroenterology and Hepatology Unit, Division of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Prince of Songkla University, Hat Yai, Thailand, <sup>2</sup>Clinical Nutrition and Obesity Medicine Unit, Division of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, Prince of Songkla University, Hat Yai, Thailand

**Introduction:** Enteral nutrition (EN) in hospitalized patients has several advantages. However, post-feeding diarrhea occurs frequently and has been linked to negative outcomes. The EN formula itself may have an impact on how diarrhea develops, and fiber supplements may theoretically help patients experience less diarrhea. This study aimed to thoroughly evaluate whether adding fiber to EN decreases the likelihood of developing diarrhea and whether different types of fibers pose different effects on diarrhea (PROSPERO CRD 42021279971).

**Methods:** We conducted a meta-analysis on fiber supplementation in hospitalized adult patients receiving EN. We thoroughly searched PubMed, Medline, Embase, Scopus, Web of Science, CENTRAL, and ClinicalTrials.gov databases from inception to 1 September 2022. Only randomized controlled trials (RCTs) were included. Pooled results on the incidence of diarrhea were calculated using a random-effects model. The Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluations (GRADE) approach was applied. Only fiber types from soy polysaccharides (n = 4), psyllium (n = 3), mixed soluble/insoluble fiber (mixed fiber, n = 3), pectin (n = 2), and partially hydrolyzed guar gum (PHGG, n = 2) were examined in the sensitivity analysis.

**Results:** Among the 4,469 titles found, a total of 16 RCTs were included. Overall, compared to fiber-free formulas, fiber supplementation reduced the occurrence of diarrhea in patients receiving EN by 36% (pooled risk ratio [RR] of 0.64 [95% confidence interval (CI): 0.49–0.82, p = 0.005;  $l^2 = 45\%$ ]), with GRADE showing the evidence of moderate certainty. Only mixed fiber and PHGG significantly decreased the incidence of diarrhea according to the sensitivity analyses for fiber types (RR 0.54, 95%CI: 0.39–0.75,  $l^2 = 0\%$  and RR 0.47, 95%CI: 0.27–0.83,  $l^2 = 0\%$ , respectively). The results for the remaining fiber types were unclear.

**Conclusion:** According to a meta-analysis, fiber supplements help lessen post-feeding diarrhea in hospitalized patients receiving EN. However, not all fiber types produced successful outcomes. Diarrhea was significantly reduced by PHGG and mixed soluble/insoluble fiber.

Systematic review registration: https://www.crd.york.ac.uk/PROSPERO/ display\_record.php?RecordID=279971, identifier: PROSPERO CRD 42021279971.

KEYWORDS

nosocomial diarrhea, dietary fiber (DF), soluble fiber, psyllium, guar gum (GG), tube feeding, enteral nutrition

#### Introduction

Enteral nutrition (EN), a form of nutritional support delivered *via* the gastrointestinal tract, is preferred for hospitalized patients whose caloric and nutritional requirements cannot be adequately met by oral intake. EN has been proven to offer several benefits in such patients over parenteral nutrition, e.g., the maintenance of gut mucosal integrity, the reduction of bacterial translocation from the gut lumen to the blood stream, and the prevention of infection. Nonetheless, some gastrointestinal problems may occur in patients receiving EN. Diarrhea is one of the common conditions encountered, as observed in 29–39% of enterally fed patients (1–3), and can lead to unfavorable sequelae, such as volume and electrolyte disturbances, perianal dermatitis, and a longer duration of hospital stay (3–5).

Dietary fibers are parts of carbohydrates derived from plant cell wall components, which are neither digested nor absorbed in the small intestine. They have a degree of polymerization of  $\geq 10$ monomeric units, as defined by the World Health Organization (WHO), or three or more monomeric units, as specified by the European Food Safety Authority and by the US Food and Drug Administration (6). There are a variety of dietary fibers with different physiochemical characteristics. Dietary fibers consist of water-soluble and water-insoluble fibers. Soluble fibers, such as soy polysaccharides, psyllium, partially hydrolyzed guar gum (PHGG), pectin, banana flakes, Shen jia, and polydextrose, have been demonstrated to improve the regularity of bowel movement due to the luminal water-holding property of fibers to form bulky, soft, and easy-to-pass stools (7). In addition to improving regularity, insoluble fibers (e.g., wheat bran) can stimulate water and mucous secretion by irritating the large bowel mucosa (7).

In terms of tube-feeding diarrhea, several mechanisms proposed that dietary fiber supplementation in EN may yield a benefit in reducing the occurrence of diarrhea, e.g., increased viscosity of the stool content leading to bulk formation, prolongation of intestinal transit time, fermentability to produce short-chain fatty acids (SCFA), and exertion of several positive effects on colonocytes and colonic microbiota (6, 8–11). In the present meta-analysis, we aimed to systematically review the evidence from randomized controlled studies evaluating dietary fiber supplementation in the prevention of diarrhea in hospitalized patients requiring tube feeding.

#### **Methods**

This systematic review and meta-analysis was conducted following a protocol registered in PROSPERO (CRD42021279971) and reported in accordance with the Preferred Reporting Items of Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) guideline (12).

#### Search and information sources

We systematically searched the Web of Science Core Collection, PubMed, Medline (OVID), Embase (OVID), and Scopus databases from inception to 1 September 2022. Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL) and ClinicalTrials.gov were also searched for the trial registry. We also searched the reference lists of included full texts for additional articles. The search was limited to adult patients. No language limit was applied.

Search terms as free texts and MeSH terms related to "tube feeding" or "enteral nutrition," "fiber," and "diarrhea" or "bowel movement" were used. The following fibers reported in the literature were also used as search terms: inulin, psyllium, fructooligosaccharides (FOS), oligofructose, oligosaccharides, wheat brans, soy polysaccharides, lignin, and resistant starch. The full search strategy is available in Supplementary Table S1.

#### Eligibility criteria

Studies were included if they were randomized controlled trials (RCTs), comparing fiber supplementation

195

or fiber-enriched EN formula (any fiber type) with fiber-free EN formula and reporting the incidence/event outcome of diarrhea. Study participants were adults (aged  $\geq$ 18 years old) and hospitalized in the intensive care unit (ICU) or non-ICU, receiving EN support with or without parenteral nutrition. Studies were excluded if there was no control arm or if patients received EN of <1,000 kcal/day.

#### Study selection and data extraction

All searched records were exported to EndNote (EndNote X8, Thomson Reuters, NY, USA) and deduplicated. Two reviewers (PS and AK) independently screened the titles and abstracts of eligible papers. When there were disagreements between the two reviewers, a consensus was reached out and the third reviewer (CC or PW) was consulted. Data extraction was performed independently by PS and AK. CC was consulted when there were any problems related to data extraction. Data extraction was performed for authors, years, title, population characteristics and setting, fiber types and dosage, the duration of EN, energy intake, the definition of diarrhea and/or methods for measuring diarrhea, and the incidence or event rate of diarrhea.

#### Risk of bias (quality) assessment

Two reviewers (PS and AK) independently assessed the risk of bias among the included papers using the Cochrane Risk of Bias 2.0 tool (RoB2) for RCTs (13). The RoB2 comprises five domains: bias arising from the randomization process, bias due to deviations from intended interventions, bias due to lack of outcome data, bias in outcome measurement, and bias in the selection of the reported result.

#### Data synthesis

The incidence or event rate of diarrhea was pooled using the Mantel–Haenszel methods (for the binary outcome) and presented as risk ratio (RR) and 95% confidence interval (CI). A random-effects model was applied for pooled estimates due to the increased chance of high heterogeneity among included studies. The  $I^2$  statistic was used to assess heterogeneity. A heterogeneity of >50% will be judged as high, with a *p*-value of < 0.10 for significance. Sources of heterogeneity were explored by subgroup analysis/sensitivity analysis. Pre-priori subgroup analyses were planned for the non-ICU and ICU settings, low vs. high RoB studies, and fiber types. All statistical analyses were performed using R software, version 4.1.0 (R Foundation, Austria) with the Metafor package. A two-sided *p*-value of < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Publication bias was analyzed using the funnel plot and Egger's test for funnel plot asymmetry. The Grading of Recommendations, Assessment, Development, and Evaluations (GRADE) system was applied for pooled results, which comprises types of study, quality of methodology, consistency of outcomes, directness, effect size, and publication bias (14, 15).

#### Results

A total of 4,469 records were retrieved from the literature search, and three records were from additional sources. After removing duplicates, two reviewers independently screened 3,569 records for titles and abstracts, resulting in 27 full texts that were assessed for eligibility criteria. There were 17 RCTs evaluating the role of fiber supplementation on the outcomes of diarrhea in hospitalized tube-fed patients. Of these 17, only one RCT explored the role of fiber (banana flakes) vs. routine medical treatment in patients who already developed diarrhea (16), and the remaining 16 RCTs were conducted in a general tube-feeding setting to evaluate the occurrence of diarrhea. The last 16 RCTs were included in the present meta-analysis (Figure 1). Excluded full texts are shown in Supplementary Table S2, with reasons.

# Study characteristics and bias of included RCTs

Most RCTs were conducted in ICU patients (n = 11) (17– 27), followed by postoperative patients (n = 3) (28–30) and hospitalized patients (n = 2) (31, 32). The majority of RCTs investigated fiber supplements in EN using soy polysaccharides (n = 4), followed by mixed soluble/insoluble fiber (n = 3), psyllium (n = 3), PHGG (n = 2), pectin (n = 2), Shen jia (n = 1), and polydextrose (n = 1). The median duration of fiber supplementation was 10 days, ranging from 5 to 21 days. Diarrhea was defined based on diarrhea score, number of bowel movements per day, and Bristol or King stool chart (Table 1).

More than half of the included RCTs (n = 9) are at high risk of bias (Table 2). Of these, eight RCTs did not report information about whether outcome assessors were aware of the intervention received by study participants. For such reasons, the assessment of the outcome could have been influenced by knowledge of the intervention received. The funnel plot of 16 RCTs shows no publication bias, with Egger's *p*-value being 0.216 (Supplementary Figure S1).

# Effect of fiber supplementation on the incidence of diarrhea

A meta-analysis of all 16 RCTs showed that fiber supplementation prevented the occurrence of diarrhea in



hospitalized patients receiving EN by 36% compared to the fiberfree formula (pooled RR of 0.64 [95%CI: 0.49–0.82, p = 0.005];  $I^2 = 45.1$ %; Figure 2), with the GRADE assessment of moderate certainty (Table 3).

Among the 11 RCTs conducted in the ICU setting, there was a 36% significant reduction in the incidence of diarrhea after fiber supplementation (pooled RR 0.64, 95%CI 0.47–0.87,  $I^2 =$ 41.7%; Figure 2). In the non-ICU setting, a large effect size was observed in reducing the incidence of diarrhea (pooled RR 0.61, 95%CI 0.37–1.02), with high heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 57\%$ , p = 0.05; Figure 2). Similarly, the subgroup analysis between RCTs with a low risk of bias showed a large magnitude of effect size for the prevention of diarrhea (pooled RR 0.59, 95%CI 0.34–1.02), consistent with the pooled result of RCTs with some concerns or a high risk of bias (pooled RR 0.65, 95%CI 0.48–0.88; Figure 3).

According to sensitivity analyses, we analyzed fiber types with at least two RCTs to explore whether fiber types posed different outcomes (Figure 4). These included soy polysaccharides (n = 4), psyllium (n = 3), mixed soluble/insoluble fiber (n = 3), pectin (n = 2), and PHGG (n = 2). There were reductions in post-feeding diarrhea in patients receiving EN containing mixed soluble/insoluble fiber and PHGG (pooled RR 0.54, 95%CI: 0.39–0.75,  $I^2 = 0\%$  and pooled RR 0.47, 95%CI: 0.27–0.83,  $I^2 = 0\%$ , respectively), while the remaining fiber types posed no benefits (Figure 4).

#### Discussion

The current systematic review and meta-analysis examines the efficacy of fiber supplementation on the outcomes of diarrhea in hospitalized patients receiving tube feeding. We included only data from randomized control studies. Overall, fiber supplementation was significantly associated with a reduced risk of developing diarrhea in such patients (pooled RR of 0.64 [95% CI: 0.49–0.82, p = 0.005]), but with moderate heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 45.1\%$ ).

We further performed sensitivity analyses to identify plausible explanations for the heterogeneity of the results. As determined *a priori*, sensitivity analyses regarding patient settings (ICU vs. non-ICU), low vs. high RoB studies, and fiber types were conducted. Regarding the patient settings, the benefit of fiber supplementation was observed in both critically ill patients and patients admitted to general medical or surgical wards, with similarly pooled RRs of 0.64 and 0.61, respectively. Although only patients in the ICU group reached a statistically significant level, patients in the non-ICU setting had a 95% CI slightly above 1 (95%CI: 0.37–1.02). Moreover, moderate heterogeneity persisted in both ICU and non-ICU patients.

Similar results were observed when we conducted sensitivity analyses of studies with low and high RoB; the effect sizes of fiber

#### TABLE 1 Characteristics of included randomized controlled trials (RCTs).

Author	Ir	ntervention		Control			Setting	Outcome time	Diarrhea definition	Route of EN	N Fiber dosage
	Fiber types	No. diarrhea	No. total	Control	No. diarrhea	No. total					
ICU setting											
Frankenfield and Beyer (18)	soy polysaccharide	3	9	Ensure	4	9	ICU head injury	6 days	1/3 criteria	NG	14 gm/L
Dobb and Towler (19)	soy polysaccharide	16	45	Ensure	13	46	ICU	18 days	diarrhea score >12	NG/PEG	21 gm/L
Tuncay et al. (26)	soy polysaccharide	2	23	Osmolite	13	23	Neurological ICU	21 days	not defined	NG/PEG	14.4 gm/L
Chittawatanarat et al. (23)	mixed soluble/insoluble	4	17	Nutren Optimum	8	17	ICU	14 days	diarrhea score >12	no defined	15.1 gm/L
Yagmurdur and Leblebici (24)	mixed soluble/insoluble	22	60	Nutrison	38	60	MICU	5 days	diarrhea score >12	NG	15 gm/L
Hart and Dobb (17)	psyllium	19	35	Osmolite	19	33	ICU	18 days	diarrhea score >12	NG	7 gm/d
Belknap et al. (20)	psyllium hydrophilic mucilloid	8	37	Ensure / Osmolite	7	23	Medical and surgical ICU	7 days	$\geq$ 3 bowel movement a day	NG/PEG	14 gm/d
Schultz et al. (21)	pectin	4	11	Osmolite	1	11	ICU	8 days	diarrhea score >12	feeding tube	1.07 g/d
Xi et al. (25)	pectin	7	62	Peptisorb	16	63	ICU	6 days	not defined	NJ	24 gm/day
Spapen et al. (22)	PHGG	6	13	no label	11	12	Medical ICU	21 days	diarrhea score >12	NG	22 gm/L
Chen et al. (27) Non-ICU	polydextrose	2	24	no label	9	22	ICU	7 days	$\geq$ 3 bowel movement a day	NJ	20 gm/d
de Kruif and Vos (28)	soy polysaccharide	8	30	Osmolite	14	30	post-operative patients	5 days	diarrhea score >6 x 2 days	NG/NJ	20 gm/L
Jakobsen et al. (31)	mixed soluble/insoluble	5	26	no label	12	25	hospitalized patients	14 days	Daily defecation score >15	NG/PEG	15 gm/L
Lertpipopmetha et al. (32)	psyllium	18	42	Blendera	13	41	hospitalized medical patients	10 days	King's stool chart $\ge 15$	NG	15.2 gm/L
Homann et al. (29)	PHGG	2	15	Nutrodrip	6	15	upper gastrointestinal surgery	10 days	$\geq$ 3 bowel movements a day	jejunostomy	20 gm/L
Zhao et al. (30)	Shen jia	12	40	no label	24	40	gastric cancer post distal gastrectomy	7 days	King's stool chart ≥15	NJ	30 gm/day

10.3389/fnut.2022.1008464

ICU, intensive care unit; PHGG, partially hydrolyzed guar gum; EN, enteral nutrition; NG, naso-gastric; PEG, percutaneous endoscopic gastrostomy; NJ, naso-jejunostomy.

#### TABLE 2 Risk of bias of included RCTs.

References	Experimental	Randomization process	Deviations from intended interventions	Missing outcome data	Measurement of the outcome	Selection of the reported result	Overall bas
Hart and Dobb (17)	Psyllium	Some concerns	Low	Low	High	Low	High
Frankenfield and	Soy polysaccharide	Some concerns	Low	Low	High	High	High
Beyer (18)							
Dobb and Towler	Soy polysaccharide	Low	Low	Low	High	Low	High
(19)							
de Kruif and Vos	Soy polysaccharide	Low	Low	Low	High	Low	High
(28)							
Homann et al. (29)	PHGG	Some concerns	Low	Low	Low	Low	Some concerns
Belknap et al. (20)	Psyllium	Low	Some concerns	Low	High	Low	High
Schultz et al. (21)	Pectin	Some concerns	Low	Low	Low	Low	Some concerns
Spapen et al. (22)	PHGG	Some concerns	Low	High	Low	Low	High
Chittawatanarat	Mixed	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
et al. (23)	soluble/insoluble						
Yagmurdur and	Mixed	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
Leblebici (24)	soluble/insoluble						
Jakobsen et al. (31)	Mixed	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
	soluble/insoluble						
Xi et al. (25)	Pectin	Some concerns	Low	High	High	Low	High
Zhao et al. (30)	Shen jia	Low	Low	Low	High	Low	High
Tuncay et al. (26)	Soy polysaccharide	Some concerns	Low	High	High	Low	High
Lertpipopmetha	Psyllium	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low
et al. (32)							
Chen et al. (27)	Polydextrose	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low	Low

PHGG, partially hydrolyzed guar gum.

	Fib		Con						
Author and Year	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight				Risk Ratio [95% Cl]
ICU setting									
Hart, 1988	19	35	19	33	11.1%		F	<b>.</b>	0.94 [0.62, 1.44]
Frankenfield, 1989	3	9	4	9	3.6%		H	<u>н</u>	0.75 [0.23, 2.44]
Dobb, 1990	16	45	13	46	8.4%		F	- <b></b>	1.26 [0.69, 2.31]
Belknap, 1997	8	37	7	23	5.6%		⊢∎	<u> </u>	0.71 [0.30, 1.70]
Schultz, 2000	4	11	1	11	1.4%				 4.00 [0.53, 30.33]
Spapen, 2001	6	13	11	12	8.3%		⊢∎	-	0.50 [0.27, 0.93]
Chittawatanarat, 2010	4	17	8	17	4.7%		⊢∎	<u> </u>	0.50 [0.18, 1.35]
Yagmurdur, 2016	22	60	38	60	11.7%		⊢-∎	4	0.58 [0.39, 0.85]
Xi, 2017	7	62	16	63	6.1%		⊢∎	-i	0.44 [0.20, 1.01]
Tuncay, 2018	2	23	13	23	2.8%	-			0.15 [0.04, 0.61]
Chen, 2021	2	24	9	22	2.7%	-		4	0.20 [0.05, 0.84]
General ward									
	8	30	14	30	7.2%		⊦∎_		0.57 [0.28, 1.16]
de KRUIF, 1993	8 2	30 15	14 6	30 15	7.2% 2.7%	F			0.57 [0.28, 1.16] 0.33 [0.08, 1.39]
de KRUIF, 1993 Homann, 1994						F	·		• •
<b>General ward</b> de KRUIF, 1993 Homann, 1994 Jakobsen, 2017 Zhao, 2017	2	15	6	15	2.7%	F			0.33 [0.08, 1.39]
de KRUIF, 1993 Homann, 1994 Jakobsen, 2017 Zhao, 2017	2 5	15 26	6 12	15 25	2.7% 5.4%	Ŀ			0.33 [0.08, 1.39 0.40 [0.16, 0.97
de KRUIF, 1993 Homann, 1994 Jakobsen, 2017	2 5 12 18	15 26 40 42	6 12 24 13	15 25 40 41	2.7% 5.4% 9.4% 8.9%	Ŀ			0.33 [0.08, 1.39] 0.40 [0.16, 0.97] 0.50 [0.29, 0.86]
de KRUIF, 1993 Homann, 1994 Jakobsen, 2017 Zhao, 2017 Lertpipopmetha, 2019 RE Model for Subgroup RE Model for All Studie	2 5 12 18 0 (Q = 9.3	15 26 40 42 8, df = 4	6 12 24 13 , p = 0.05; 15, p = 0.1	$15 \\ 25 \\ 40 \\ 41 \\ 1^2 = 56.89 \\ 02; 1^2 = 48$	2.7% 5.4% 9.4% 8.9% %, τ <sup>2</sup> = 0.18)	)			0.33 [0.08, 1.39 0.40 [0.16, 0.97 0.50 [0.29, 0.86 1.35 [0.77, 2.39
de KRUIF, 1993 Homann, 1994 Jakobsen, 2017 Zhao, 2017 Lertpipopmetha, 2019 RE Model for Subgroup	2 5 12 18 0 (Q = 9.3	15 26 40 42 8, df = 4	6 12 24 13 , p = 0.05; 15, p = 0.1	$15 \\ 25 \\ 40 \\ 41 \\ 1^2 = 56.89 \\ 02; 1^2 = 48$	2.7% 5.4% 9.4% 8.9% %, τ <sup>2</sup> = 0.18)	)			 0.33 [0.08, 1.39 0.40 [0.16, 0.97 0.50 [0.29, 0.86 1.35 [0.77, 2.39 0.61 [0.37, 1.02]
de KRUIF, 1993 Homann, 1994 Jakobsen, 2017 Zhao, 2017 Lertpipopmetha, 2019 RE Model for Subgroup RE Model for All Studie	2 5 12 18 0 (Q = 9.3	15 26 40 42 8, df = 4	6 12 24 13 , p = 0.05; 15, p = 0.1	$15 \\ 25 \\ 40 \\ 41 \\ 1^2 = 56.89 \\ 02; 1^2 = 48$	2.7% 5.4% 9.4% 8.9% %, τ <sup>2</sup> = 0.18)	) 0.05	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		 0.33 [0.08, 1.39 0.40 [0.16, 0.97 0.50 [0.29, 0.86 1.35 [0.77, 2.39 0.61 [0.37, 1.02]
de KRUIF, 1993 Homann, 1994 Jakobsen, 2017 Zhao, 2017 Lertpipopmetha, 2019 RE Model for Subgroup RE Model for All Studie	2 5 12 18 0 (Q = 9.3	15 26 40 42 8, df = 4	6 12 24 13 , p = 0.05; 15, p = 0.1	$15 \\ 25 \\ 40 \\ 41 \\ 1^2 = 56.89 \\ 02; 1^2 = 48$	2.7% 5.4% 9.4% 8.9% %, τ <sup>2</sup> = 0.18)		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	•	 0.33 [0.08, 1.39 0.40 [0.16, 0.97 0.50 [0.29, 0.86 1.35 [0.77, 2.39 0.61 [0.37, 1.02]

TABLE 3 Summary of findings with the grading of recommendations, assessment, development, and evaluations (GRADE) assessment.

#### Summary of findings

Fiber in EN compared to non-fiber formula for prevention of diarrhea in patients with tube-feeding

Patient or population: prevention of diarrhea in tube-fed patients

Setting: in hospital

Intervention: fiber in EN

Comparison: non-fiber formula

Outcome	Relative effect	Antici	Anticipated absolute effects* (95% CI)		Certainty	What happens
No of participants (studies)	(95% CI)	Without fiber	With fiber	Difference		
Diarrhea	RR 0.64	44.3%	28.3%	15.9% fewer	$\oplus \oplus \oplus \bigcirc$	Fiber supplementation in enteral nutrition
No of participants: 959	(0.49 to 0.82)		(21.7 to 36.3)	(22.6 fewer to 8 fewer)	Moderate <sup>a,b</sup>	likely reduces diarrhea in tube-fed hospitalized
(16 RCTs) <sup>a</sup>						patients

\*The risk in the intervention group (95% CI) is based on the assumed risk in the comparison group and the relative effect of the intervention (95% CI).

EN, enteral nutrition; CI, confidence interval; RR, risk ratio.

GRADE working group grades of evidence.

High certainty: we are very confident that the true effect lies close to that of the estimate of the effect. Moderate certainty: we are moderately confident in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be close to the estimate of the effect, but there is a possibility that it is substantially different. Low certainty: our confidence in the effect estimate is limited: the true effect may be substantially different from the estimate of the effect. Very low certainty: we have very little confidence in the effect estimate: the true effect is likely to be substantially different from the estimate of effect.

<sup>a</sup>Subgroup analysis between "low" and "some concern or high" risk of bias shows a similar direction and magnitude of pooled results. We did not downgrade for this domain.

<sup>b</sup>Downgrade one level due to inconsistency. The pooled result shows moderate heterogeneity, with fiber type as a possible source of heterogeneity.

Author and Year	Events	Total	Events	Total	Weight					F	Risk Ratio [95%	CI]
Low Risk of Bias												
Chittawatanarat, 2010	4	17	8	17	4.7%		H	L i			0.50 [0.18, 1.	.35]
Yagmurdur, 2016	22	60	38	60	11.7%		⊢	∎→			0.58 [0.39, 0.	.85]
Jakobsen, 2017	5	26	12	25	5.4%		⊢∎	<u> </u>			0.40 [0.16, 0.	.97]
_ertpipopmetha, 2019	18	42	13	41	8.9%			⊢∔∎	4		1.35 [0.77, 2.	.39]
Chen, 2021	2	24	9	22	2.7%	-					0.20 [0.05, 0.	.84]
RE Model for Subgrou	o (Q = 10	).69, df =	= 4, p = 0.	03; I <sup>2</sup> = 6	$4.4\%, \tau^2 = 0.2$	23)					0.59 [0.34, 1.	.02]
High Risk of Bias & So	me Con	cerns										
Hart, 1988	19	35	19	33	11.1%			<b>⊢</b> ∎, - I			0.94 [0.62, 1.	.44]
Frankenfield, 1989	3	9	4	9	3.6%		H	-	-		0.75 [0.23, 2.	-
Dobb, 1990	16	45	13	46	8.4%			⊢	4		1.26 [0.69, 2.	.31]
de KRUIF, 1993	8	30	14	30	7.2%			∎			0.57 [0.28, 1.	.16]
Homann, 1994	2	15	6	15	2.7%	⊢					0.33 [0.08, 1.	.39]
Belknap, 1997	8	37	7	23	5.6%						0.71 [0.30, 1.	.70]
Schultz, 2000	4	11	1	11	1.4%			<u>⊢ ∔</u>		•	4.00 [0.53, 30.	.33]
Spapen, 2001	6	13	11	12	8.3%		⊢	<b></b> -			0.50 [0.27, 0.	.93]
Xi, 2017	7	62	16	63	6.1%		⊢				0.44 [0.20, 1.	.01]
Zhao, 2017	12	40	24	40	9.4%		H				0.50 [0.29, 0.	-
Tuncay, 2018	2	23	13	23	2.8%	-	-	-			0.15 [0.04, 0.	.61]
RE Model for Subgrou	o (Q = 18	3.17, df =	= 10, p = 0	0.05; I <sup>2</sup> =	37.7%, $\tau^2 = 0$	.09)		◆			0.65 [0.48, 0.	.88]
RE Model for All Studie Fest for Subgroup Differ	es (Q = 2	28.92, df	= 15, p =	0.02; I <sup>2</sup> =	= 45.1%, τ <sup>2</sup> =	0.11)		•			0.64 [0.49, 0.	.82]
rest for Subgroup Differ	ences: Q	<sub>M</sub> = 0.04,	ai = 1, p	- 0.65				— i —		٦		
						0.05	0.25	1	4	8		
							Risk Rati	o (log scal	e)			
URE 3												

supplementation in reducing the risk of occurrence of diarrhea were allied and reached a statistically significant in the high RoB study group with moderate heterogeneity, while the upper level of 95%CI in the low RoB study group was only 1.02, with high heterogeneity.

Interesting findings were observed in sensitivity analyses by fiber type. Soy polysaccharides, the most frequently studied fiber in the literature, resulted in a non-significant reduction in the outcome of diarrhea, with a high degree of heterogeneity. Psyllium and mixed soluble/insoluble fiber were evaluated in the following order, and each had three RCT data. Intriguingly, the pooled RR of both types of fiber showed no heterogeneity  $(I^2 = 0\%)$  when sensitivity analyses were executed, and psyllium consistently showed no benefits in reducing the occurrence of diarrhea in patients receiving tube feeding, whereas mixed soluble/insoluble fiber significantly reduced the risk of developing diarrhea in such patients by 46% (RR 0.54 [95% CI: 0.39, 0.75]). The PHGG fiber type also showed a significant reduction in the incidence of diarrhea by 53% without heterogeneity. Compared with a recent meta-analysis by Cara et al. (33), mixed soluble/insoluble fiber did not reduce the incidence of diarrhea (RR 0.61 [95% CI: 0.37, 1.00]). However, such findings might be due to the high rate of diarrhea in a study by Schultz et al. (21).

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to show a novel finding of the significance of fiber types on the outcomes of diarrhea in hospitalized patients receiving EN. Our study results contradict a previous meta-analysis published in 2015, in which the benefit of fiber supplementation was observed only in non-critically ill patients and not in the ICU setting (34). Nevertheless, the current study results on the benefit of fiber supplementation in critically ill patients were consistent with a recent meta-analysis of dietary fiber in critical care patients published in 2021 (35). From our point of view, differences in the results between our meta-analysis and the prior meta-analysis by Kamarul Zaman et al. (34) might be due to differences in the study inclusion criteria, as we only included randomized control studies, and seven RCTs conducted after 2015 were added to our recent meta-analysis. Moreover, as shown in the aforementioned sensitivity analysis, the root cause of a variety of outcomes among RCTs might lay in the different types of fiber rather than in the critical care setting of patients.

Author and Year	Fibe Events T		Con Events		Weight				I	Risk Ratio [	95% CI]
<b>Mixed Fiber</b> Chittawatanarat, 2010 Yagmurdur, 2016 Jakobsen, 2017	22	17 60 26	8 38 12	17 60 25	4.7% 11.7% 5.4%			-1		0.50 [0.18 0.58 [0.39 0.40 [0.16	9, 0.85]
RE Model for Subgrou	p (Q = 0.5	58, df = 2	2, p = 0.	75; I <sup>2</sup> = 0	$.0\%, \tau^2 = 0.00$	)	•			0.54 [0.39	9, 0.75]
Pectin											
Schultz, 2000 Xi, 2017		11 62	1 16	11 63	1.4% 6.1%		, <b>⊢</b>		•	4.00 [0.53 0.44 [0.20	
RE Model for Subgrou	p (Q = 3.8	89, df = 1	l, p = 0.	05; I <sup>2</sup> = 7	4.3%, τ <sup>2</sup> = 1.7	9)				1.09 [0.13	3, 9.02]
<b>PHGG</b> Homann, 1994 Spapen, 2001		15 13	6 11	15 12	2.7% 8.3%	F		-1		0.33 [0.08 0.50 [0.2]	
RE Model for Subgrou	-					)	-			0.47 [0.2]	
Polydextrose											
Chen, 2021		24	9	22	2.7%	-				0.20 [0.0	5, 0.84]
RE Model for Subgrou	p (Q = 0.0	00, df = 0	), p = 1.	00; $I^2 = 0$	$.0\%, \tau^2 = 0.00$	)				0.20 [0.0	5, 0.84]
<b>Psyllium</b> Hart, 1988 Belknap, 1997		35 37	19 7	33 23	11.1% 5.6%					0.94 [0.62 0.71 [0.30	
_ertpipopmetha, 2019	18	42	13	41	8.9%		· •	<b>_</b>		1.35 [0.7]	
RE Model for Subgrou	p (Q = 1.7	'4, df = 2	2, p = 0.	42; I <sup>2</sup> = 0	.0%, $\tau^2 = 0.00$	)	-			1.02 [0.74	4, 1.39]
Shen jia											
Zhao, 2017		40	24	40	9.4%		⊢-∎1			0.50 [0.29	
RE Model for Subgrou	p (Q = 0.0	00, df = 0	), p = 1.	00; $I^2 = 0$	$.0\%, \tau^2 = 0.00$	)	•			0.50 [0.29	9, 0.86]
<b>Soy polysaccharide</b> Frankenfield, 1989 Dobb, 1990 de KRUIF, 1993 Tuncay, 2018	8	9 45 30 23	4 13 14 13	9 46 30 23	3.6% 8.4% 7.2% 2.8%	•		1 ■1		0.75 [0.23 1.26 [0.69 0.57 [0.28 0.15 [0.04	9, 2.31] 3, 1.16]
RE Model for Subgrou						9)		-		0.62 [0.29	9, 1.33]
RE Model for All Studie Fest for Subgroup Differ	es (Q = 28	3.92, df =	= 15, p =	= 0.02; I <sup>2</sup>	= 45.1%, τ <sup>2</sup> =	0.11)	•			0.64 [0.49	9. 0.821
Test for Subgroup Differ	ences: Q <sub>N</sub>	= 8.77,	df = 6, p	= 0.19		,					,]
						1	0.05 4	1	0		
						0.05	0.25 1	4	8		
							Risk Ratio (log	scale)			
URE 4	Laura Alexa 1	a fala sa s	- 6 - I' -	I							
ect of fiber types in EN	l on the in	cidence	of diarr	hea.							

Theoretically, soluble fibers have the beneficial properties of reducing diarrhea with their water-holding capacity and increasing gut transit time, and they can be fermented by colonic bacteria to produce SCFAs and stimulate the uptake of water and electrolytes in the colon (8, 9, 11). However, when it comes to the results of clinical studies, not all soluble fibers yielded the same benefit on the outcomes of diarrhea. This might be due to the diversity of physiochemical characteristics of each fiber type. The presence of either a soluble or insoluble fiber in the ileum can stimulate the ileal brake, resulting in decreased gastric emptying and increased small intestinal transit time, making the whole gut to be delayed (6). Despite being a soluble fiber, psyllium is considered to have moderate viscosity and low fermentability (6). Guar gum, on the other hand, owes the characteristics of medium to high viscosity and high fermentability (6). A higher degree of viscosity may result in increased stool volume and longer colonic transit time, and increased fermentability, as well as increased integrity of colonic tight junctions, may provide a better microbiota environment in the colon, together leading to a better outcome for some types of fiber over others. This benefit may further minimize patients' morbidity, length of hospital stay, investigation cost, and healthcare burden (3–5). Additionally, fiber supplementation is safe in hospitalized patients with stable hemodynamics (33). As such, our findings encourage healthcare professionals to recognize the beneficial effects of fiber supplementation in hospitalized patients receiving EN.

The strengths of our systematic review and meta-analysis are that we only included randomized controlled studies with a high-quality study design, from inception to the most recent timeframe, with over 700 patients from both critical and noncritical care settings, both surgical and medical patients. The source of heterogeneity can also be identified and minimized to the level of no heterogeneity in psyllium, PHGG, and mixed soluble/insoluble fiber subgroups using sensitivity analyses on fiber types. This novel finding and possible underlying mechanisms can be important in aiding the management of diarrhea in patients receiving EN in the future and for further studies.

Our meta-analysis also has limitations. There is a variation in the definition of diarrhea; some studies used scoring systems, while others counted the frequency of bowel movements or did not mention the definition of diarrhea in the study. This may influence the rates of occurrence of diarrhea in the included studies. Additionally, the fiber dosage varied; in some studies, the daily dosage of fiber was fixed in all patients in the fiber arm, whereas the fiber dosage administered to patients was dependent on the amount of calorie intake in a day in many studies, making an evaluation of the fiber dosage and the outcomes of diarrhea unattainable. Furthermore, there was a small number of participants in each fiber type; therefore, the power of performance assessment to determine the efficacy of different fiber types may be limited. Lastly, the variety of causes of critically ill patients could potentially affect the severity of post-feeding diarrhea, so further studies with a homogenous population should be conducted.

In conclusion, our recent systematic review and meta-analysis demonstrated a beneficial effect of fiber supplementation in minimizing diarrhea in hospitalized patients receiving tube feeding. However, not all fiber types yielded the same benefit; mixed soluble/insoluble fiber and PHGG are associated with a significant reduction in the risk of developing diarrhea, whereas studies on psyllium consistently showed no benefit over the fiber-free formula. For other types of fiber, no conclusion can be drawn at this time.

#### References

1. McFarland LV. Epidemiology of infectious and iatrogenic nosocomial diarrhea in a cohort of general medicine patients. *Am J Infect Control.* (1995) 23:295–305. doi: 10.1016/0196-6553(95)90 060-8

#### Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

#### Author contributions

Protocol development: PS, PW, CC, and AK. Systematic literature search: PW and CC. Study selection and data extraction and risk of bias assessment: PS and AK. Data analysis and manuscript writing: PS and CC. Critical revision of the manuscript: AK, PS, and CC. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript.

#### Acknowledgments

The content of this manuscript has been presented in part at the Digestive Disease Week 2022, San Diego, CA, USA (36).

#### Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

#### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

#### Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fnut.2022.1008464/full#supplementary-material

2. Tirlapur N, Puthucheary ZA, Cooper JA, Sanders J, Coen PG, Moonesinghe SR, et al. Diarrhoea in the critically ill is common, associated with poor outcome, and rarely due to Clostridium difficile. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:24691. doi: 10.1038/srep24691

3. Sripongpun P, Lertpipopmetha K, Chamroonkul N, Kongkamol C. Diarrhea in tube-fed hospitalized patients: feeding formula is not the most common cause. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. (2021) 36:2441–7. doi: 10.1111/jgh.15484

4. Pitta MR, Campos FM, Monteiro AG, Cunha AGF, Porto JD, Gomes RR. Tutorial on diarrhea and enteral nutrition: a comprehensive step-by-step approach. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr.* (2019) 43:1008–19. doi: 10.1002/jpen.1674

5. Thibault R, Graf S, Clerc A, Delieuvin N, Heidegger CP, Pichard C. Diarrhoea in the ICU: respective contribution of feeding and antibiotics. *Crit Care.* (2013) 17:R153. doi: 10.1186/cc12832

6. Gill SK, Rossi M, Bajka B, Whelan K. Dietary fibre in gastrointestinal health and disease. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2021) 18:101–16. doi: 10.1038/s41575-020-00375-4

7. McRorie JW, McKeown NM. Understanding the physics of functional fibers in the gastrointestinal tract: an evidence-based approach to resolving enduring misconceptions about insoluble and soluble fiber. *J Acad Nutr Diet.* (2017) 117:251–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2016.09.021

8. Cummings JH, Stephen AM. The role of dietary fibre in the human colon. *Can Med Assoc J.* (1980) 123:1109–14.

9. Burkitt DP, Walker AR, Painter NS. Effect of dietary fibre on stools and the transit-times, and its role in the causation of disease. *Lancet*. (1972) 2:1408-12. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(72)92974-1

10. Chang SJ, Huang HH. Diarrhea in enterally fed patients: blame the diet? *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care.* (2013) 16:588–94. doi: 10.1097/MCO.0b013e328363bcaf

11. Eswaran S, Muir J, Chey WD. Fiber and functional gastrointestinal disorders. *Am J Gastroenterol.* (2013) 108:718–27. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2013.63

12. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, Group P. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *BMJ.* (2009) 339:b2535. doi: 10.1136/bmj.b2535

13. Sterne JAC, Savovic J, Page MJ, Elbers RG, Blencowe NS, Boutron I, et al. RoB 2: a revised tool for assessing risk of bias in randomized trials. *BMJ.* (2019) 366:14898. doi: 10.1136/bmj.14898

14. Guyatt G, Oxman AD, Akl EA, Kunz R, Vist G, Brozek J, et al. GRADE guidelines: 1. Introduction-GRADE evidence profiles and summary of findings tables. *J Clin Epidemiol.* (2011) 64:383–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.04.026

15. Santesso N, Glenton C, Dahm P, Garner P, Akl EA, Alper B, et al. GRADE guidelines 26: informative statements to communicate the findings of systematic reviews of interventions. *J Clin Epidemiol.* (2020) 119:126-35. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2019.10.014

16. Emery EA, Ahmad S, Koethe JD, Skipper A, Perlmutter S, Paskin DL. Banana flakes control diarrhea in enterally fed patients. *Nutr Clin Pract.* (1997) 12:72–5. doi: 10.1177/011542659701200272

17. Hart GK, Dobb GJ. Effect of a fecal bulking agent on diarrhea during enteral feeding in the critically ill. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr.* (1988) 12:465-8. doi: 10.1177/0148607188012005465

18. Frankenfield DC, Beyer PL. Soy-polysaccharide fiber: effect on diarrhea in tube-fed, head-injured patients. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1989) 50:533–8. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/50.3.533

19. Dobb GJ, Towler SC. Diarrhoea during enteral feeding in the critically ill: a comparison of feeds with and without fibre. *Intensive Care Med.* (1990) 16:252-5. doi: 10.1007/BF01705161

20. Belknap D, Davidson LJ, Smith CR. The effects of psyllium hydrophilic mucilloid on diarrhea in enterally fed patients. *Heart Lung.* (1997) 26:229-37. doi: 10.1016/S0147-9563(97)90060-1

21. Schultz AA, Ashby-Hughes B, Taylor R, Gillis DE, Wilkins M. Effects of pectin on diarrhea in critically ill tube-fed patients receiving

antibiotics. Am J Crit Care. (2000) 9:403-11. doi: 10.4037/ajcc2000. 9.6.403

22. Spapen H, Diltoer M, Van Malderen C, Opdenacker G, Suys E, Huyghens L. Soluble fiber reduces the incidence of diarrhea in septic patients receiving total enteral nutrition: a prospective, double-blind, randomized, and controlled trial. *Clin Nutr.* (2001) 20:301–5. doi: 10.1054/clnu.2001.0399

23. Chittawatanarat K, Pokawinpudisnun P, Polbhakdee Y. Mixed fibers diet in surgical ICU septic patients. *Asia Pac J Clin Nutr.* (2010) 19:458–64. doi: 10.6133/apjcn.2010.19.4.02

24. Yagmurdur H, Leblebici F. Enteral nutrition preference in critical care: fibre-enriched or fibre-free? *Asia Pac J Clin Nutr.* (2016) 25:740–6. doi: 10.6133/apjcn.122015.12

25. Xi F, Xu X, Tan S, Gao T, Shi J, Kong Y, et al. Efficacy and safety of pectinsupplemented enteral nutrition in intensive care: a randomized controlled trial. *Asia Pac J Clin Nutr.* (2017) 26:798–803. doi: 10.6133/apjcn.082016.07

26. Tuncay P, Arpaci F, Doganay M, Erdem D, Sahna A, Ergun H, et al. Use of standard enteral formula versus enteric formula with prebiotic content in nutrition therapy: a randomized controlled study among neuro-critical care patients. *Clin Nutr ESPEN*. (2018) 25:26–36. doi: 10.1016/j.clnesp.2018.03.123

27. Chen T, Ma Y, Xu L, Sun C, Xu H, Zhu J. Soluble dietary fiber reduces feeding intolerance in severe acute pancreatitis: a randomized study. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr.* (2021) 45:125–35. doi: 10.1002/jpen.1816

28. de Kruif JT, Vos A. The influence of soyfibre supplemented tube feeding on the occurrence of diarrhoea in postoperative patients. *Clin Nutr.* (1993) 12:360–4. doi: 10.1016/0261-5614(93)90033-Z

29. Homann HH, Kemen M, Fuessenich C, Senkal M, Zumtobel V. Reduction in diarrhea incidence by soluble fiber in patients receiving total or supplemental enteral nutrition. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr.* (1994) 18:486–90. doi: 10.1177/0148607194018006486

30. Zhao R, Wang Y, Huang Y, Cui Y, Xia L, Rao Z, et al. Effects of fiber and probiotics on diarrhea associated with enteral nutrition in gastric cancer patients: a prospective randomized and controlled trial. *Medicine (Baltimore).* (2017) 96:e8418. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000008418

31. Jakobsen LH, Wirth R, Smoliner C, Klebach M, Hofman Z, Kondrup J. Gastrointestinal tolerance and plasma status of carotenoids, EPA and DHA with a fiber-enriched tube feed in hospitalized patients initiated on tube nutrition: randomized controlled trial. *Clin Nutr.* (2017) 36:380-8. doi: 10.1016/j.clnu.2016.02.001

32. Lertpipopmetha K, Kongkamol C, Sripongpun P. Effect of psyllium fiber supplementation on diarrhea incidence in enteral tube-fed patients: a prospective, randomized, and controlled trial. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr.* (2019) 43:759–67. doi: 10.1002/jpen.1489

33. Cara KC, Beauchesne AR, Wallace TC, Chung M. Safety of using enteral nutrition formulations containing dietary fiber in hospitalized critical care patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Parent Enteral Nutri*. (2021) 45:882–906. doi: 10.1002/jpen.2210

34. Kamarul Zaman M, Chin KF, Rai V, Majid HA. Fiber and prebiotic supplementation in enteral nutrition: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *World J Gastroenterol.* (2015) 21:5372–81. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i17.5372

35. Liu T, Wang C, Wang YY, Wang LL, Ojo O, Feng QQ, et al. Effect of dietary fiber on gut barrier function, gut microbiota, short-chain fatty acids, inflammation, and clinical outcomes in critically ill patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JPEN J Parenter Enteral Nutr.* (2022) 46:997–1010. doi: 10.1002/jpen.2319

36. Sripongpun P, Kaewdech A, Wetwittayakhlang P, Churuangsuk C. Tu1060: Effect of fiber supplementation on the development of diarrhea in hospitalized patients receiving enteral nutrition: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. AGA Abstracts. (2022) 162:S-867. doi: 10.1016/S0016-5085(22)62049-3 Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Sakineh Shab-Bidar, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Iran

#### REVIEWED BY

Anneke Hertig-Godeschalk, Swiss Paraplegic Center, Switzerland Anke Scheel-Sailer, Swiss Paraplegic Center, Switzerland

\*CORRESPONDENCE Deqiang Lei Idqtz@163.com; 2009XH0838@hust.edu.cn Lei Wang Ieiwang\_ns@hust.edu.cn; Ieiwang\_ns@hotmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Clinical Nutrition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

RECEIVED 15 April 2022 ACCEPTED 18 January 2023 PUBLISHED 14 February 2023

#### CITATION

Wang L, Gan J, Wu J, Zhou Y and Lei D (2023) Impact of vitamin D on the prognosis after spinal cord injury: A systematic review. *Front. Nutr.* 10:920998. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.920998

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Wang, Gan, Wu, Zhou and Lei. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Impact of vitamin D on the prognosis after spinal cord injury: A systematic review

Lei Wang\*, Jinlu Gan, Jingnan Wu, Yingchun Zhou and Deqiang Lei\*

Department of Neurosurgery, Union Hospital, Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology, Wuhan, Hubei, China

Vitamin D (VitD) insufficiency is a worldwide health problem and affects billions of people. Spinal cord injury (SCI) patients seem more susceptible to developing suboptimal levels of VitD. However, the literature regarding its impact on the prognosis of SCI is limited. Thus, in this review, we systematically investigated the published studies via a combination of keywords associated with SCI and VitD in four medical databases (Medline, Embase, Scopus, and Web of Science). All included studies were analyzed, and selected clinical data on the prevalence of VitD insufficiency (serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D < 30 ng/ml) and deficiency (serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D < 20 ng/ml) were collected for further meta-analysis via random effects. Through literature review, a total of 35 studies were eligible and included. The meta-analysis of VitD status (13 studies, 1,962 patients) indicated high prevalence of insufficiency (81.6% [75.7, 87.5]) and deficiency (52.5% [38.1, 66.9]) after SCI. Besides, low levels of VitD were reported to be associated with a higher risk of skeletal diseases, venous thromboembolism, psychoneurological syndromes, and chest illness after injury. Existing literature suggested that supplemental therapy might act as an adjuvant treatment to facilitate post-injury rehabilitation. Non-human experimental studies highlighted the neuroprotective effect of VitD, which was associated with enhancing axonal and neuronal survival, suppressing neuroinflammation, and modulating autophagy. Therefore, the current evidence suggests that the prevalence of VitD insufficiency is high in the SCI population, and low-level VitD may impair functional restoration after SCI. VitD supplemental treatment may have potential benefits to accelerate rehabilitation in mechanistically related processes after SCI. However, due to the limitation of the available evidence, more well-designed randomized controlled trials and mechanism experimental research are still needed to validate its therapeutic effect, elucidate its neuroprotective mechanism, and develop novel treatments.

#### KEYWORDS

spinal cord injury, vitamin D, deficiency, neuroprotection, progonosis, insufficiency

#### 1. Introduction

Vitamin D (VitD) insufficiency and deficiency are described as a pandemic associated with various chronic diseases in all age populations despite the commercialization of VitD supplements and ongoing prophylaxis projects in the general population (1, 2). The national health and nutrition examination survey in the United States indicated that 23–24% and 64% population had a serum total of 25(OH)D less than 20 and 30 ng/mL, respectively (3, 4). In the European Union, Cashman et al. (5) summarized multiple national surveys and indicated that 40.4% of European individuals had serum 25(OH)D concentrations less than 20 ng/ml on average. Spinal

cord injury (SCI) is a potentially devastating event featured by severe sensorimotor deficits and autonomic dysfunction with a high burden on both family and society. SCI patients seem to be more susceptible to VitD insufficiency and deficiency due to an unbalanced diet, co-existing diseases, obesity, and lack of sunlight exposure secondary to physical inactivity (6, 7). Besides, several researchers indicated that post-injury autonomic dysfunction usually caused malfunctioning of endocrinological feedback systems, such as VitD-parathyroid hormone axis, and impaired VitD absorption through skin gastrointestinal tract, which directly led to low levels of VitD in SCI individuals (8–10). However, the mechanism underlying post-SCI VitD level alternation is still poorly understood, and literature summarizing its status and impact on the post-injury prognosis is limited.

Despite its classical role in calcium and phosphorus metabolism, VitD is a neurosteroid and exerts a neuroprotective effect in various neurological diseases. In an animal model of Parkinson's disease, VitD treatment attenuated the injury of dopaminergic neurons *via* suppressing the release of proinflammatory cytokines and upregulating anti-inflammatory signaling (11). Similar protective findings were also observed in the facial nerve injury model, in which the administration of VitD<sub>3</sub> could facilitate functional restoration by increasing myelination after 12 weeks of treatment (12).

Recent evidence highlighted the unique value of VitD in post-SCI rehabilitation. VitD deficiency in individuals with SCI has been implicated as a primary etiologic, and environmental factor responsible for multiple musculoskeletal issues (e.g., osteoporosis, fracture, chronic pain, etc.) (6, 7). At the same time, low-level VitD is associated with an increased risk of several neuropsychic diseases (e.g., chronic pain, depression, anxiety, PTSD, etc.) (13, 14). New findings also suggest that VitD insufficiency and deficiency were associated with malfunctioning of autonomic nerve system (e.g., a change of endocrinological feedback systems, impaired cardiac autonomic functions, etc.), which might delay the SCI rehabilitation (8, 15). In addition, the pressure injury, an often-occurring complication after SCI, was also reported to be associated with VitD status (16). Notably, Aminmansour et al. (17) applied a combination therapy of progesterone and VitD in a randomized, double-blinded, placebo-controlled study of acute traumatic SCI. They observed that this treatment plan was associated with better functional outcomes. Nevertheless, the published clinical and experimental studies regarding the effect of VitD in SCI are few, and its therapeutic effect remains to be determined.

In this review, we hypothesized that VitD might play an essential role in post-SCI rehabilitation. To validate this hypothesis, we performed a meta-analysis of published studies regarding the prevalence of VitD insufficiency and deficiency in SCI patients, and systematically summarized the clinical and experimental evidence of VitD's effect in post-SCI rehabilitation.

#### 2. Methods

## 2.1. Search strategy, study selection, and eligibility criteria

This study was performed according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses guidelines (PRISMA, PRISMA 2020 checklist in supplement materials), and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Tongji Medical College, Huazhong University of Science and Technology (18). Details of this systematic review and meta-analysis were registered on PROSPERO (registration number 2021: CRD42021262207), and can be accessed at<sup>1</sup>. It was a secondary analysis of the completed studies, and the written consent was waived, respectively. A combination of keywords on VitD and SCI and Boolean Operators were applied in four medical databases (Medline, Embase, Scopus, and Web of Science) to retrieve English literature in September 2021. Per the formulated literature search (search strategy in supplement materials), we sought studies (published between 1974 and August 31, 2021) on the VitD status and its impact on the prognosis after spinal cord injury. Both clinical and non-human experimental studies were included in this review to investigate the impact of VitD on the prognosis of SCI and its underlying neuroprotective mechanism.

The retrieved studies were verified and quantified before merging *via* Endnote X9 software (Clarivate Analytics), and the duplicates were removed accordingly. The titles, abstracts, and full texts of identified publications were further evaluated to search for eligible studies. The search was supplemented by the reference list of review articles and selected publications. Reviews, book chapters, case reports, small case series (case number less than 10), conference abstracts, editorial notes, and letters were excluded. Other exclusion criteria included repeated research on the same cohort of patients and unavailable full text. Two independent investigators comprehensively reviewed all selected publications to ensure their eligibility for inclusion in the review. Any disagreement regarding the eligibility of the literature was resolved by thoroughly discussing the publication with a third independent investigator.

# 2.2. Inclusion and exclusion criteria, data extraction, and quality evaluation of meta-analysis

Among the eligible articles, the studies that reported VitD status (VitD deficiency and insufficiency) in the SCI population were selected for meta-analysis. The spinal cord injury (SCI) is defined as damage to the spinal cord resulting from trauma (e.g., result of accident, fall, etc.) or from nontraumatic disease (e.g., degeneration of the spinal column, tumor, etc.). Both traumatic and non-traumatic SCI were included in this review.

The exclusion criteria include (1) studies in a specific population (i.e., athletes), (2) research without qualified data, (3) and the majority of the patients already received VitD treatment. We applied the assessment tool for case series studies from the National Institutes of Health (NIH) to rate the quality of eligible studies in the metanalysis (19). There are nine criteria in the score. For each item, we scored one

Abbreviations: BDNF, Brain-derived neurotrophic factor; CNS, Central nerves system; IL, Interleukin; NIH, National Institutes of Health; NMDA, N-methyl-D-aspartic acid; PTH, Parathyroid hormone; RXR, Retinoid X receptor; SCI, Spinal cord injury; TNF- $\alpha$ , Tumor necrosis factor-alpha; VDBP, Vitamin D binding protein; VDR, Vitamin D receptor; VDRE, Vitamin D response element; VEGF, Vascular endothelial growth factor; VitD, Vitamin D; UVB, Ultraviolet B.

<sup>1</sup> www.crd.york.ac.uk/prospero/display\_record.php?RecordID=262207

point for "yes" and zero point for "no," "not available," "not reported," and "cannot determine." The scores are gauged from all nine criteria (0–9) and generated to represent the overall quality of the study. Data were extracted by two reviewers and included: first author; publication year; country; case number; mean or media age; gender ratio; study design; VitD measure parameter; mean or media injury duration; injury type (acute and chronic); injury extent (incomplete and complete motor function impairment); injury level (paraplegia and tetraplegia); serum VitD status (insufficiency and deficiency).

Based on the international standard for neurological classification spinal cord injury (ISNCSCI), the ASIA Impairment Scale (AIS) is applied to evaluate the injury extent. Unless otherwise stated, complete motor function impairment is used when no motor preserved below the neurological level (AIS A and B) with incomplete motor function impairment referring to AIS C and D (20). Unless otherwise stated, tetraplegia is defined as the impairment or loss of sensorimotor function in the cervical levels of the spinal cord, and paraplegia refers to the impairment or loss of sensorimotor function in the thoracic, lumbar or sacral (but not cervical) segments of the spinal cord (20).

Per clinical practice guidelines of Endocrine Society, we used the serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D [25(OH)D] level to evaluate VitD status in SCI patients (21). We defined VitD insufficiency as serum concentration of 25(OH)D less than 30 ng/ml and VitD deficiency as serum concentration of 25(OH)D less than 20 ng/ml in this study (21, 22).

#### 2.3. Statistical analysis

A single-arm meta-analysis was performed *via* Stata (version 15.1). The combined prevalence and 95% confidence interval of VitD deficiency and insufficiency were calculated by the random-effects model. Egger's and Begger's tests were performed to assess publication bias, and p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Subgroup analyses (i.e., case number, age, gender, in/out-patient, acute/chronic injury, injury level, injury duration, injury extent, etc.) were carried out to discuss and clarify the source of heterogeneity.

#### 3. Results

#### 3.1. Literature selection

We initially identified 1,341 publications after the systematic search in the four databases, including 135 from Medline, 491 from Embase, 429 from Scopus, and 286 from Web of Science. Among these, 634 papers were removed as duplicates and 707 unique studies were assessed for eligibility according to article type, title, abstract, and full texts (Figure 1). Two papers were supplemented from the references list of existing publications. Ultimately, 35 studies were included for the further systematic review and meta-analysis and presented in the supplemental material. There were 21 studies showing post-SCI VitD status (Table 1, (22–34) and Table 2, (35–42)), seven studies regarding the adverse effects associated with a low level of VitD (Table 3, (22, 23, 27, 28, 33, 43, 44)), eight studies that evaluated the potential therapeutic effect of VitD supplement (Table 4 (17, 35, 45–50)), and five non-human experimental researches exploring the underlying mechanism of VitD after SCI (Table 5, (51–55)).

# 3.2. Meta-analysis of vitamin D status in the patients with SCI

#### 3.2.1. Included literature for the meta-analysis

In the 21 studies regarding VitD status after SCI, three studies investigated specific populations (e.g., children, athletes, etc.), one study involved patients receiving extra VitD supplements, and four studies were unqualified for meta-analysis, which were excluded accordingly. Thus, the remaining 13 investigations were included for further analysis, and their details were summarized in Table 1.

### 3.2.2. The prevalence of insufficient and deficient VitD status after SCI

Among the selected articles, 12 studies reported the incidence of VitD insufficiency, and 11 studies recorded the prevalence of VitD deficiency, which were analyzed, respectively. The quality score of the selected studies varied from 3 to 7 points (Supplementary Table S1).

The prevalence of insufficient VitD status after SCI was reported from 61.2% to 96.0% in the 12 eligible studies with 1,920 participants. The pooled prevalence determined by the random-effects model was 81.6% (95% CI: 75.7–87.5) with significant heterogeneity ( $I^2 = 92.5\%$ , p = 0.00, Figure 2A). The p values of Egger's and Begg's tests were 0.091 and 0.537 respectively, suggesting no significant publication bias. Subgroup analysis was performed as described (Supplementary Tables S2-S8) to further investigate potential heterogeneity sources. There was more substantial heterogeneity among studies with less than 200 patients, and years of injury less than 10 years. Additionally, insufficient VitD status were more prevalent in the studies with participants less than 200 (patients  $\leq$  200, *p*=0.01), more female patients (male/female  $\leq$  3, *p* < 0.01) and media or mean years of injury less than 10 years (p < 0.01).

Regarding the prevalence of VitD deficiency after SCI, 11 articles with 1,580 participants were involved in the meta-analysis. The reported incidence ranged from 24.9 to 83.3%. The overall incidence calculated *via* the random-effects model was 52.5% (95% CI: 38.1–66.9). The I<sup>2</sup> was 97.6%, which suggested significant heterogeneity among selected studies (p < 0.01, Figure 2B). The Egger's and Begg's tests exhibited that p values were 0.051 and 0.213 respectively, suggesting no significant publication bias. A similar subgroup analysis was performed to evaluate potential heterogeneity (Supplementary Tables S2–S8). More substantial heterogeneity was also observed in the research with less than 200 patients, and years of injury less than 10 years. Besides, VitD deficiency was more severe in the studies with smaller sample size (patients  $\leq 200$ , p < 0.01), younger patients (mean or media Age  $\leq 46$  years, p < 0.01), more female patients (male/female  $\leq 3$ , p < 0.01), and media or mean years of injury less than 10 years (p < 0.01).

# 3.3. Potential adverse impact of VitD insufficiency and deficiency on the post-SCI complications

Through this systematic literature search, we found seven eligible studies regarding on the post-SCI complications which might be associated with low levels of VitD (Table 3). The potential adverse impact included poor physical function (23), depressive symptoms (43), venous thromboembolism (28), heterotopic ossification and hyperparathyroidism (44), chest and respiratory symptoms (22, 27, 33).



# 3.4. Therapeutic effects of vitamin D supplements on the outcome of SCI

Earlier research suggested insufficient levels of VitD were prevalent among persons with SCI. The recommended dietary allowance for VitD is 600 IU/d for ages 1-70 years and 800 IU/d for those >70 years per the dietary reference intake report for calcium and VitD from the Institute of Medicine (56). Supplemental treatments with a dose similar to or higher than the VitD recommended dietary intakes were adopted in SCI patients to maintain an appropriate VitD level. Among the selected studies, there was eight clinical reports exhibiting the therapeutic effects of VitD supplements on the outcome of acute and chronic SCI. The existing literature suggested the VitD supplements had multiple beneficial effects on post-SCI rehabilitation, including correcting dysregulation of VitD-PTH axis (35, 45, 49, 50), reducing bone resorption (46, 48), facilitating motor and sensory functional restoration (17, 35, 50), improving carbohydrate metabolism (47), etc. (Table 4).

# 3.5. Neuroprotective effect of vitamin D in non-human experimental SCI

In the non-human experimental SCI, we retrieved five studies supporting the neuroprotective effect of VitD supplementation (51–55). The proposed mechanisms are multidimensional, involving promoting axonal survival (51, 52), reducing neuronal loss by attenuating oxidative stress (53, 55), suppressing neuroinflammation (54) and modulation of autophagy ((55), Table 5).

#### 4. Discussion

In this systematic review, we included a total of 35 studies regarding its impact on the prognosis of SCI. The limited available studies suggest that the prevalence of VitD insufficiency and deficiency is relatively high in the SCI population, which may be associated with delayed neurofunctional restoration and several systematic complications. Besides, the current evidence from clinical and experimental studies

Author, year	Country	Case	Age	Gender (M/F)	Design	Measure.	Participants	Year of injury	Spinal c	ord injury		extent otor)	Injury	/ level	VitD	levels
									Acute	Chronic	Comp.	Incomp.	Tetra.	Para.	Ins.	Def.
Barbonetti, 2016 (23)	Italy	100	51.7	72/28	Cross-section	25(OH)D	Outpatients	6.4	0	100	60	40	39	61	96	78
Bassuino, 2018 (24)	Brazil	39	35.5	39/0	Cross-section	25(OH)D	Outpatients	6.1	0	39	23ª	16ª	9	30	34	24
Bauman, 1995 (25)	USA	100	51.0	N.A.	Cross-section	25(OH)D; 1, 25(OH) <sub>2</sub> D	N.A.	20	0	100	N.A.	N.A.	51	49	78	48
Coskun, 2016 (26)	Turkey	42	33.5	28/14	Case-Control	25(OH)D	N.A.	1.4	N.A.	N.A.	10	32	14	28	N.A.	35
Clark, 2020 (27)	USA	253	53.1	208/45	Cohort study	25(OH)D	Outpatients	13.8	0	253	N.A.	N.A.	59	194	195	64
Ehsanian 2019 (28)	USA	282	45.0	202/80	Cohort study	25(OH)D	Inpatients	N.A.	282	0	123	159	144	138	227	N.A.
Garshick, 2019 (22)	USA	312	53.9	260/52	Cross-section	25(OH)D	Outpatients	17.4	0	312	N.A.	N.A.	76	236	237	84
Khammeree 2016 (29)	Thailand	85	N.A.	64/21	Cross-section	25(OH)D	N.A.	N.A.	21	64	34	51	30	55	52	27
Nemunaitis, 2010 (30)	USA	100	48.4	70/30	Case series	25(OH)D	Inpatients	N.A.	100	0	47ª	53ª	57	43	93	21 <sup>b</sup>
Oleson, 2010 (31)	USA	96	36.8	67/29	Cohort study	25(OH)D	Inpatients & outpatients	N.A.	42 <sup>d</sup>	54	96	0	41	55	78 <sup>c</sup>	55
Özgirgin, 2016 (32)	Turkey	125	35.2	76/49	Case-control	25(OH)D	Inpatients & outpatients	1.4	45 <sup>d</sup>	80	86	39	31	94	119	103
Walia, 2018 (33)	USA	343	54.2	282/61	Cross-section	25(OH)D	Outpatients	17.4	0	343	N.A.	N.A.	82	261	257	93
Waliullah, 2021 (34)	India	85	30.8	60/25	Cross-section	25(OH)D	Inpatients	N.A.	85	0	28ª	57ª	0	85	65	50

TABLE 1 The summarization of included studies in meta-analysis regarding the prevalence of vitamin D insufficiency and deficiency in SCI patients.

<sup>a</sup>It represents the number of patients with complete and incomplete injury.

 $^bThis$  number refers to the patients with severe VitD deficiency (serum 25(OH)D  $\leq$  10 ng/mL).

'This number refers to the patients with VitD insufficiency (serum 25(OH)D  $\leq$  32 ng/mL).

<sup>d</sup>Acute SCI duration < 6 months.

25(OH)D, 25-hydroxyvitamin D; 1, 25(OH)<sub>2</sub>D, 1,25-hydroxyvitamin D; Comp., complete injury; incomp., incomplete; N.A., not available; Ins., insufficiency; Def., deficiency; Tetra, tetraplegia; Para, paraplegia.

#### TABLE 2 The summary of the literature regarding VitD status after spinal cord injury (not involved in the meta-analysis).

Author, year	Case No.	Design	Population	Main findings
Flueck, 2016 (35)	19	PCS	Elite Athletes with SCI	All participants in the study showed an insufficient or deficient VitD status at the baseline measurement.
Hummel, 2012 (36)	65	CSS	Chronic and traumatic SCI	Disruption of the VitD-PTH axis was prevalent in SCI patients, which might lead to bone loss.
Javidan, 2014 (37)	160	CSS	Chronic and traumatic SCI	In Iranian patients with SCI, there was a high prevalence of VitD deficiency.
Mechanick, 1997 (38)	49	CCS	SCI	The suppressed levels of $1,25(OH)_{2-}$ VitD were more frequently observed in the SCI population (66%).
Pritchett, 2016 (39)	39	CSS	Elite Athletes with SCI	A substantial proportion (~60%) of elite athletes with SCI have insufficient and deficient levels of 25(OH)-VitD in the autumn and winter.
Vaziri, 1994 (40)	40	CCS	Chronic SCI	The serum concentration of calcitriol was significantly lower in the SCI patients. However, there was no significant difference in plasma concentration of 25(OH)-VitD between the SCI and the control group.
Zebracki, 2013 (41)	82	CSS	Pediatric SCI	In comparison with the general pediatric population, pediatric SCI patients exhibited a higher prevalence of VitD insufficiency.
Zhou, 1993 (42)	92	CSS	Chronic SCI	Lower concentration of 25(OH)-VitD was observed in SCI patients, especially in the patients with pressure ulcers.

VitD, vitamin D; SCI, spinal cord injury; CCS, case-control study; CSS, cross-sectional study; PCS, prospective cohort study; PTH, parathyroid hormone.

TABLE 3 Literature summarization of the adverse effects associated with low levels of vitamin D after spinal cord injury.

Author, year	Case No.	Design	Population	Main findings
Barbonetti, 2016 (23)	100	CSS	Chronic SCI	In chronic SCI, low levels of 25(OH)D predicted poor physical function.
Barbonetti, 2017 (43)	100	CSS	Chronic SCI	Among the patients with chronic SCI, serum 25(OH)D levels were inversely associated with depressive symptoms.
Clark, 2020 (27)	253	PCS	Chronic SCI in veterans	In chronic SCI, patients with VitD deficiency had a higher risk of future chest diseases.
Ehsanian, 2019 (28)	282	RCS	Acute inpatient SCI	In acute SCI, without adequate VitD supplement, individuals with low levels of VitD had a higher risk of venous thromboembolism.
Garshick, 2019 (22)	312	CSS	Chronic SCI veterans	No cross-section relationship between VitD deficiency and reduced pulmonary function was observed in this cohort with chronic SCI.
Oleson, 2013 (44)	96	CSS	Acute and chronic SCI	The authors reported a significant correlation between hyperparathyroidism and heterotopic ossification as well as hyperparathyroidism and vitamin D deficiency.
Walia, 2018 (33)	343	CSS	Chronic SCI	The levels of VitD were not associated with respiratory symptoms in chronic SCI.

SCI, spinal cord injury; CSS, cross-sectional study; PCS, prospective cohort study; RCS, retrospective cohort study.

shows that VitD supplement treatment may have potential benefits to accelerate rehabilitation in mechanistically related processes after SCI.

# 4.1. The prevalence of insufficient and deficient VitD status after SCI

Previous literature regarding the VitD status after SCI was limited, and existing data remains controversial. Several reports from Veterans Affairs hospitals in the US observed that the prevalence of VitD deficiency was around 25% in chronic SCI populations (22, 27). In contrast, Coskun Benlidayi et al. (26) and Özgirgin et al. (32) reported the rate could reach 80%–90% in SCI participants. We thus performed the meta-analysis in this review to estimate the prevalence of insufficient and deficient VitD status in the general SCI population worldwide. Overall, we retrieved 13 eligible papers with 1,962 participants. Among them, 81.6% of SCI patients had a serum total 25(OH)D less than 30 ng/ml and 52.5% of participants with

VitD deficiency. Compared with the general population, pediatric SCI patients exhibited a higher prevalence of VitD insufficiency (41). Additionally, Pritchett et al. (39) noticed that a substantial proportion (~60%) of elite athletes with SCI also had insufficient and deficient levels of 25(OH)D in the autumn and winter. Taken together, there was a high prevalence of VitD insufficiency and deficiency in the SCI population.

# 4.2. Potential adverse impact of VitD insufficiency and deficiency on the post-SCI complications

VitD plays a fundamental role in calcium and phosphate metabolism. Its insufficiency or deficiency is associated with a higher risk of bone diseases (57). Histological investigations recently indicated that VDRs have a wide distribution in non-skeletal tissues, including vessels, skin, muscles, endocrine glands, kidneys, neural tissue, etc.,

#### TABLE 4 The summary of clinical studies administrating different vitamin D supplemental regimens in SCI patients.

Author, year	Age (case No)	Gender (M/F)	Design	Injury (years)	Treatment	Therapeutic effect
Aminmansour, 2016 (17)	T: 42 ± 14 (n = 32); C: 45 ± 14 (n = 32)	T: 19/14; C: 16/16	RCT	Acute SCI within 8 h	Intramuscular injection of progesterone $0.5 \text{ mg/kg}$ and oral $25(OH)D_3 200 \text{ IU/kg}$ twice a day for 5 days on admission	The treatment group had significantly higher motor and sensory function after 6 months of therapy. Early administration (<4 h) showed additional benefits in motor and sensory function recovery.
Bauman, 2005 (45)	Study1: 53 ± 15 ( <i>n</i> = 10); Study2: 43 ± 13 ( <i>n</i> = 40)	N.A.	PCS	Study 1: 26±13 years; Study 2: 12±10 years	Study 1: Twice a week 2,000 IU 25(OH)D <sub>3</sub> for 2 weeks; Study 2: daily 800 IU 25(OH)D <sub>3</sub> supplementation for 12 months	Serum 25(OH)D₃ †; Serum parathyroid hormone ↓
Bauman, 2005 (46)	T: 43±11 (n = 19); C: 42±14 (n = 21)	T: 19/0; C: 20/1	RCT	T: 14 ± 10 years C: 9 ± 9 years	$4 \mu g 1 \alpha (OH) D_2$ with calcium (1.3 g/d) and 25(OH) D_3 (800 IU/d) supplementation	Bone mineral density with reduced bone resorption was observed in th lower limb of the treatment group.
Beal, 2018 (47)	47±10 (n = 20)	20/0	CCS	17±12 years	Oral intake of 25(OH)D <sub>3</sub> (213±166 IU, [66–573])	A significant decrease in total cholesterol and improvement in glucose homeostasis were observed in the patients with a high dietary intake of vitamin D.
Chen, 2001 (48)	34 (16–78, <i>n</i> = 21)	17/4	RCS	Acute and subacute SCI with bone hyper-resorption: 26 days (6–122)	0.5 μg oral calcitriol once daily throughout the treatment with intravenous administration of 30 mg pamidronate on days 4 through 6 (total of 3 doses)	Serum 1, 25(OH)D₃ ↑; Serum parathyroid hormone ↑; Bone resorption↓
Flueck, 2016 (35)	37±12 ( <i>n</i> = 19)	19/0	PCS	Chronic SCI Athletes	6,000 IU daily cholecalciferol supplement over 12 weeks	Serum 25(OH)D <sub>3</sub> $\uparrow$ . The treatment improved upper body performance and muscle strength.
Mailhot, 2018 (49)	44.2±16.1 (n = 29)	21/8	PCS	Acute and subacute SCI: 29 days (15–90)	1,000 IU daily vitamin $D_3$ with weekly additional administration of 10,000 IU vitamin $D_3$ in the patients with Vit D insufficiency	The treatment increased serum $25(OH)D_3$ but was unsuccessful in improving the impaired VitD status during inpatient rehabilitation of individuals with a recent SCI.
Pritchett, 2019 (50)	33±15 (n = 35)	30/5	PCS	Chronic SCI Athletes:	Patients with sufficient 25(OH)D: 15,000 IU/week of vitamin D <sub>3</sub> for 12– 16 weeks. Patients with insufficiency status: 35,000 IU/week of vitamin D <sub>3</sub> for the first 4 weeks and 15,000 IU/week for the rest of the study. Patients with deficient status: 50,000 IU/ week of vitamin D <sub>3</sub> for the first 8 weeks and 15,000 IU/ week for the rest of the study.	The treatment increased serum 25(OH)D <sub>3</sub> and improved handgrip strength post supplementation.

T, treatment; C, control; RCT, Randomized Controlled Trial; PCS, prospective cohort study; CCS, case-control study; RCS, retrospective case series; 25(OH)D, 25-hydroxyvitamin D; 1, 25(OH)2D, 1,25-hydroxyvitamin D.

which highlights its unique role in extra-skeletal disease (58). In the SCI population, the previous analysis showed a high prevalence of VitD insufficiency, and deficiency was associated with poor physical

functions (23, 59). More importantly, this systematic review showed that VitD abnormality might be associated with several complications, which hampered functional restoration (Table 3).

Author, year	Species and Cells	Injury	Treatment	Duration	Effect	Mechanism
Bianco, 2011 (51)	Female SD Rats	Compression SCI at T10	Oral delivery of 50 or 200 IU/kg vitamin D <sub>3</sub>	Daily dose for 12 weeks after injury	Ventilatory response to fatigue↑; Normalization of Hoffman reflex	Axon survival within lesion epicenter and distal region
Gueye, 2015 (52)	Male SD Rats	Hemisection SCI at C2	Oral delivery of 500 IU/kg vitamin D <sub>3</sub>	Weekly dose form day 1 or 7 after injury (total for 12 weeks)	Locomotor Function <sup>†</sup> ; Ventilatory response to fatigue <sup>†</sup> ; Phrenic nerve response <sup>†</sup>	Axon survival in the proximal stump
Gurer, 2017 (53)	Rabbits	I/R injury of spinal cord	Intraperitoneal injections of 0.5 μg/kg calcitriol	Administration for 7 days before SCI	Improvement of histopathological change; Demyelination↓ Neurological function↑;	Caspase-3, Apoptosis↓; Serum and tissue MPO, Inflammation↓; MDA, lipid peroxidation↓; CAT↑ and XO↓, ROS↓
Khajoueinejad, 2019 (54)	Female SD Rats	Contusion SCI at T9-10	Intraperitoneal injections of 1 µg/kg calcitriol	Administration for 7 days after SCI	Improvement of histopathological change; Immunomodulatory effects Neurological function <sup>†</sup> ;	Motoneurons survival↑; IFN-γ and IL-17A ↓; Leukocytes infiltration↓
Zhou, 2016 (55)	Female SD Rats	Crushing SCI at T9	Intraperitoneal injections of 2 µg/kg calcitriol	Administration for 7 days after SCI	Improvement of histopathological change; Neurological function↑	Motoneurons survival <sup>†</sup> ; MDA <sup>↓</sup> , GSH and SOD <sup>†</sup> , Oxidative stress <sup>↓</sup> ; Caspase-3, Apoptosis <sup>↓</sup> ; LC3-II and Beclin <sup>↑</sup> , Autophagy <sup>†</sup> ;

TABLE 5 The literature investigating the neuroprotective mechanism of Vitamin D in non-human experimental spinal cord injury.

SD rats, Sprague–Dawley rats; SCI, spinal cord injury; I/R, ischemia/reperfusion; MPO, myeloperoxidase; MDA, malondialdehyde; CAT, catalase; XO, xanthine oxidase; ROS, reactive oxygen species; GSH, glutathione.

The low serum VitD is associated with a higher risk of skeletal diseases after SCI (60). In the subjects with long-standing complete SCI, Frotzler et al. (61) observed considerable declines in bone density and a higher risk of historical fractures. Their findings demonstrated that bone loss after SCI could persist for an extended period. The mechanism underlying post-SCI skeletal abnormality is complicated, and recent evidence suggests that the disruption of the VitD-parathyroid hormone (PTH) axis contributes to this pathological process (36, 60). First of all, via interaction with VDR, lack of VitD may affect these osteoblasts and osteoclasts and lead to the disruption of bone microstructure and mass. Besides, low-level VitD results in dysregulation of calcium and phosphate homeostasis and abnormal fluctuations of PTH, which has an adverse effect on bones. In the chronic stage of SCI (more than 1 year), Bauman et al. (25) demonstrated a depressed level of VitD and reduction of the serum calcium concentration, which might lead to mild secondary hyperparathyroidism and accelerate the development of osteoporosis. Furthermore, in a study involving 96 SCI individuals, Oleson et al. (44) found that there was a correlation between hyperparathyroidism and heterotopic ossification as well as hyperparathyroidism and VitD deficiency, in which they inferred that low VitD and elevated PTH might increase the risk of heterotopic ossification.

VitD insufficiency and deficiency were also associated with a high risk of venous thromboembolism. Experimental data exhibited that VitD and VDR modulate the expression and activity of multiple coagulation-related proteins (e.g., plasminogen activator inhibitor-1, thrombospondin-1, etc.), which serve as adjunctive antithrombotic agents (62, 63). In a retrospective cohort study involving 282 acute SCI patients, a higher incidence of venous thromboembolism was noted in the subjects with VitD levels <30 ng/ml and an absence of VitD supplementation, which was consistent with the findings in other neurological injuries (28, 64).

Another emerging field of interest regarding VitD-related complications is secondary neurological disorders. VDR is known to express in both neuronal and glial cells in CNS, and VitD is involved in the regulation of neural differentiation and development, modulation of neuroinflammation, maintaining neuroplasticity, and expression of neurotrophins in various physiological and pathological contexts, which provide a rationale for the link between VitD and neurological comorbidities after SCI (65). Barbonetti et al. (43) recently looked into depression after SCI, and they observed that serum 25(OH)D levels were inversely associated with the psychiatric symptoms in the chronic stage. Whereas data is still limited, and future research is needed to clarify the impact of VitD on neurological comorbidity after SCI.

Previous studies in non-SCI populations reported a positive correlation between low VitD levels and increased risk of respiratory diseases (66, 67). Based on this, several research groups looked into the potential association between chest illness and VitD status after SCI. In 2018, Garshick et al. (22) and Walia et al. (33) accessed the crosssectional associations between respiratory symptoms/pulmonary function and serum VitD levels in chronic SCI patients, and their analysis failed to establish the association. However, the researchers indeed observed that chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and low VitD levels coexisted in some SCI individuals and VitD supplementation might be beneficial in maintaining respiratory health (22, 33). Therefore, to further investigate the association between VitD levels and chest illness, Clark et al. (27) performed a prospective observational study, and they revealed that the reduction of VitD levels might be associated with an increased risk of future chest illness in chronic SCI, particularly in persons with deficient levels. Currently, high-quality evidence is still

lacking in the field, and more clinical studies with rigorous design are needed to validate the association between VitD levels and chest illness.

Taken together, we think that SCI patients are at higher risk of developing VitD insufficiency and deficiency, and its underlying mechanism may be associated with the lifestyle change, post-SCI complications, and the corresponding vicious cycle (Figure 3). First of all, the primary and secondary injury in the spinal cord leads to severe motor and sensory dysfunction. Due to the impaired mobility and pain, adequate exposure to sunlight is difficult to achieve in those individuals as most have to stay indoors with decreased physical activity, which has a negative impact on the VitD<sub>3</sub> synthesis in the skin (68). Secondly, there is converging evidence indicating that dramatic changes in social and family environments after SCI may trigger significant psychiatric stress, which may lead to comorbid psychiatric disorders (such as depression, anxiety, post-traumatic stress disorder, etc.) and makes them more vulnerable to VitD insufficiency (69, 70). It is noteworthy that the researchers also indicated that VitD was a negative acute phase reactant, and post-SCI systematic inflammation might decrease the levels of plasma VDBP, which exacerbated VitD insufficiency (71). Thirdly, SCI patients usually develop multiple complications and comorbidities, such as skeletal diseases, chest illness, neurological sequela, venous thromboembolism, intestinal dysfunction, etc., which may directly result in the lack of VitD or change the lifestyle and affect the level of VitD secondarily (72, 73). For example, persons with SCI are likely to develop pressure ulcers and dysregulation of intestinal microflora with significant diet change, which may affect VitD level synergically via impairing its food supply and absorption (42, 74). Notably, the low levels of VitD can also aggravate functional deficits, psychological stress and co-existing diseases, which start up a vicious cycle and hamper functional restoration after SCI.

## 4.3. The therapeutic effects of vitamin D supplements on the outcome of SCI

In the acute and chronic stages of SCI, VitD supplemental treatment can substantially increase VitD concentration and modulate abnormal PTH fluctuation. In 2005, Bauman et al. (45) postulated two supplemental regimens for chronic SCI: the short-term regimen, 2,000 IU 25(OH)D3 twice a week for 2 weeks, and the long-term regimen,  $800 \text{ IU } 25(\text{OH})D_3$  daily for 12 months, both of which led to a significant increase of plasma 25(OH)D levels and suppression of plasma PTH. However, they also noticed that the two plans failed to normalize serum VitD levels, which indicated higher doses and longer administration periods were required for the supplementation (45). Notably, later in 2013, they successfully developed an oral regimen for VitD replacement in the chronic SCI population. The patients were administered VitD<sub>3</sub> at a dose of 2,000 IU daily for 3 months with 1.3 g oral calcium supplementation per day. Normal levels of VitD with a significant decrease in PTH in six of seven participants were restored at the end of the experiment (75). Meanwhile, in recent SCI with complete or incomplete sensorimotor impairments, Mailhot et al. (49) evaluated a VitD repletion protocol, in which participants were given 1,000 IU 25(OH)D3 daily for approximately 6 weeks with extra weekly administration of 10,000 IU 25(OH)D3 in the patients with VitD insufficiency. They found that the treatment increased serum 25(OH)D<sub>3</sub> but was unsuccessful in improving the impaired VitD status.

Administration of VitD in SCI facilitates motor and sensory functional restoration. Recently, clinicians performed a randomized trial

to assess the effects of progesterone and VitD on functional restoration after acute traumatic SCI. Their findings indicated that the synergic administration improved motor and sensory function after SCI (17). VitD treatment in wheelchair athletes with chronic SCI not only helps them maintain an adequate level of serum VitD but also improves their muscle strength. In a double-blinded study involving 20 indoor wheelchair athletes with VitD insufficiency, researchers administrated 6,000 IU cholecalciferol supplements daily over 12 weeks. The supplemental therapy restored VitD status to an optimal level and seemed to improve upper body performance and muscle strength (35). Similarly, Pritchett et al. (50) adopted a refined and hierarchical protocol pending on the baseline VitD status that exhibited VitD supplementation could increase the serum level of VitD, and improve handgrip strength in the elite athletes with chronic SCI.

There was also evidence supporting the beneficial effect of VitD supplementation on skeletal diseases. The addition of  $1\alpha(OH)D_2$  on the basis of routine calcium and VitD supplementation for 1 year was reported to increase the bone mineral density of lower limbs in chronic SCI at 6 months after treatment when compared with the placebo administration (46). In acute and subacute SCI, Chen et al. (48) combined calcitriol and pamidronate therapy, and the treatment significantly inhibited bone hyper-resorption *via* normalization of the VitD-PTH axis. Additionally, a case–control study investigating dietary VitD intakes in chronic SCI suggested that a higher dietary intake of VitD could influence cholesterol and glucose homeostasis, which improved carbohydrate metabolism (47).

# 4.4. Neuroprotective effect of vitamin D in non-human experimental SCI

In the non-human experimental SCI, we retrieved five studies supporting the neuroprotective effect of VitD supplementation (51-55). The proposed mechanisms are multidimensional, involving promoting axonal survival (51, 52), reducing neuronal loss by attenuating oxidative stress (53, 55), suppressing neuroinflammation (54) and modulation of autophagy ((55), Table 5). Oral delivery of VitD for 4 months in a compression SCI model at T10 level improved respiratory adjustment to fatigue and normalized Hoffman reflex via increasing the number of axons crossing the lesion site (51). Later, the same research group replicated the findings in a hemisection SCI model at a higher level (C2) (52). Notably, the short-term administration of calcitriol immediately after SCI was also reported to attenuate the histological damage and neuron loss by reducing oxidative stress, inhibiting apoptosis, and promoting autophagy. In addition, pretreatment of calcitriol before SCI also exhibited a protective effect on the ischemia/reperfusion injury of the spinal cord, which was mediated by inhibiting neuronal apoptosis and suppressing regional and general oxidative stress (53). The immunomodulatory property of VitD raises the potential that it may alter the functional status of microglia/macrophages and astrocytes, the key players in the post-SCI neuroinflammation, to improve repairment. Indeed, Khajoueinejad et al. (54) observed that VitD had an immunomodulatory effect on the proliferative response of lymphocytes in the spleen and lymph nodes, which was associated with reduced secretion of proinflammatory cytokines (IFN-y and IL-17A) and less leukocyte infiltration into the lesion center. However, our knowledge regarding the neuroprotective mechanism of VitD is still limited, and well-designed mechanistic research is needed to elucidate its underlying mechanism.



FIGURE 2

Meta-analysis of the prevalence of insufficient and deficient Vitamin D status after SCI. (A) the prevalence of Vitamin D insufficiency after SCI. (B) the prevalence of Vitamin D deficiency after SCI.

From the evidence of VitD's effect in both SCI and other neurological disease models, we speculated that the potential neuroprotective effect of Vitamin D might be mediated by its genomic and non-genomic effects (Figure 4). First of all, VitD diffuses through the cell membrane, binds to VDR, and dimerizes with RXR, which then translocates into the nucleus and binds to VitD response element (VDRE). VDRE locates on a large number of genes and its binding with VitD-VDR-RXR complex leads to the transcription of target genes, which could modulate inflammatory response (54, 76), attenuate oxidative stress *via* Nrf2 and

Klotho pathway (53, 55, 77, 78), maintain intracellular calcium homeostasis (79), enhance the expression of multiple growth factors and neurotrophins (e.g., vascular endothelial growth factor [VEGF], brainderived neurotrophic factor [BDNF], etc.) (80), promote axonal regeneration, angiogenesis and neurogenesis (51, 52) (81), modulation of autophagy (55), etc. (Figure 4). Besides, it was recognized that VitD could exert an immediate non-genomic effect through membrane VDR in CNS, which then modulated the functional status of calcium-and kinase-activated signaling pathways (82).



#### 4.5. Future direction

In this systematic review, we retrieved a multi-level of evidence supporting the beneficial effects of VitD on post-SCI rehabilitation. However, the neuroprotective mechanisms of VitD have not been elucidated by current experimental studies, and most clinical studies in the field are observational and small-scale, which limits its wide application.

In the experimental research, more in-depth in vitro and in vivo investigations are needed to explicate the precise molecular mechanism underlying the neuroprotective effect of VitD. In the adult brain, VitD has both genomic and non-genomic actions on various neurological functions (82). It remains to be seen whether VitD could exert neuroprotection via similar VDR-depended mechanisms in the context of SCI. In particular, VitD modulated inflammatory response in CNS and immune systems (83). Future researchers should elucidate the exact effect of VitD in the systematic inflammation and neuroinflammation after SCI (84). Furthermore, VitD can enhance neural stem cell proliferation and differentiation into neurons and oligodendrocytes (85, 86). It would be interesting to explore whether VitD could interact with neural stem cells to promote neurons and myelin regeneration after SCI via enhancing and modulating endogenous neurogenesis (87-89). Recent literature indicated that small molecules combined with collagen hydrogel directed neurogenesis and migration of neural stem cells after implantation in the lesioned spinal cord (90). As consecutive systematic administration of VitD is known to have poor delivery efficiency in the lesion site and lead to adverse effects in a large dose, topical application of VitD treatment *via* a combination of hydrogel, small molecules, cells, and other small-releasing systems is a promising therapeutic strategy towards SCI.

In future clinical studies, clinicians should design large-scale, double-blinded, and random-control trials to validate the therapeutic effect of VitD as an adjuvant treatment on the functional restoration following SCI. We should explore and standardize the administration protocol of VitD monitoring and supplementation (e.g., dose, therapeutic window, duration, etc.) in the acute and chronic stages of SCI. Another interesting direction is combining VitD treatment with other micronutrients and medicine (e.g., progesterone, Vitamin E, Vitamin C, etc.) and determining whether they have a synergic effect on the improvement of SCI rehabilitation (17, 91).

#### 4.6. Limitations

Our systematic review with meta-analysis has several limitations. First, in the meta-analysis of the prevalence of VitD insufficiency and deficiency, there is high heterogeneity among included studies. To diminish its impact on the validity of the results, a single-arm metaanalysis with random effect was applied. We also performed the subgroups analysis to explore the source of heterogeneity and identified more substantial heterogeneity among studies with patients less than 200 and years of injury less than 10 years. However, the high


#### FIGURE 4

The potential neuroprotective effect of Vitamin D in SCI. After SCI, the primary impact and secondary injury lead to persistent inflammatory response, enhanced oxidative stress, neuronal apoptosis, and necrosis, which results in permanent functional deficits and delays neurofunctional restoration. Besides, due to lifestyle change and systematic complications, the VitD levels were significantly reduced in the SCI individuals. VitD treatment can combat secondary injury after SCI and exert a neuroprotective effect. In the glial cells and neurons, VitD treatment can facilitate its diffusion across the cell membrane. Then VitD binds to VDR and dimerizes with RXR. The VitD-VDR-RXR complex then translocates into the nucleus, binds to VDRE, and promotes the transcription of target genes, which can modulate inflammatory response, attenuate oxidative stress, maintain intracellular calcium homeostasis, enhance the expression of multiple growth factors and neurotrophins, promote angiogenesis and neurogenesis. Created with BioRender.com.

heterogeneity inevitably limits the outcomes of this meta-analysis. Second, in the systematic review, most of the included clinical papers are observational, hospital-based, and performed in different countries, which can introduce potential bias. Third, in the clinical studies, the inclusion and exclusion criteria vary, and the participants have different baseline levels of VitD, which may bias the results.

### 5. Conclusion

Based on the discovered protective and bioactive effect of VitD on neurological disorders, we hypothesize that VitD might play an essential role in post-SCI rehabilitation. Through this meta-analysis and systematic review, we retrieved multi-level evidence that supported this hypothesis, including (1) there was a high prevalence of VitD insufficiency and deficiency in the SCI population, (2) low-level of VitD was associated with several complications, which hampered the functional restoration, (3) the supplement treatment might have potential benefits to accelerate rehabilitation in mechanistically related processes after SCI. However, due to the limitation of the evidence, our results should be interpreted carefully, and more well-designed randomized controlled trials and mechanism experimental research are needed to validate its therapeutic effect, neuroprotective elucidate its mechanism, and develop novel treatments.

### Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

### Author contributions

LW and DL: conceptualization, data curation, funding acquisition, project administration, supervision, writing-original draft, and writing-review and editing. LW, JG, JW, and YZ: formal analysis, investigation, methodology, resources, software, validation, and visualization. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

### Funding

This work was supported by National Nature Science Foundation of China (grant number 81771334), Natural Science Foundation of Hubei Province of China (grant number 2017CFB706) and Free Innovation Fund of Wuhan Union Hospital (grant number 2021xhyn105). The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the paper.

## **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

#### References

1. Xu, L, Liu, B, Li, P, Li, J, Wang, J, Han, J, et al. Correlations of serum hormones and bone mineral density with fracture and balance ability of postmenopausal patients and effects of calcitriol. *Med Sci Monit.* (2018) 24:7309–15. doi: 10.12659/MSM.910792

2. Palacios, C, and Gonzalez, L. Is vitamin D deficiency a major global public health problem? *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol.* (2014) 144:138–45. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2013.11.003

3. Schleicher, RL, Sternberg, MR, Looker, AC, Yetley, EA, Lacher, DA, Sempos, CT, et al. National Estimates of serum Total 25-Hydroxyvitamin D and metabolite concentrations measured by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry in the US population during 2007–2010. *J Nutr.* (2016) 146:1051–61. doi: 10.3945/jn.115.227728

4. Herrick, KA, Storandt, RJ, Afful, J, Pfeiffer, CM, Schleicher, RL, Gahche, JJ, et al. Vitamin D status in the United States, 2011–2014. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2019) 110:150–7. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/nqz037

5. Cashman, KD, Dowling, KG, Škrabáková, Z, Gonzalez-Gross, M, Valtueña, J, De Henauw, S, et al. Vitamin D deficiency in Europe: pandemic? *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2016) 103:1033–44. doi: 10.3945/ajcn.115.120873

6. Lazo, MG, Shirazi, P, Sam, M, Giobbie-Hurder, A, Blacconiere, MJ, and Muppidi, M. Osteoporosis and risk of fracture in men with spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord.* (2001) 39:208–14. doi: 10.1038/sj.sc.3101139

7. Boonen, S, Bischoff-Ferrari, HA, Cooper, C, Lips, P, Ljunggren, O, Meunier, PJ, et al. Addressing the musculoskeletal components of fracture risk with calcium and vitamin D: a review of the evidence. *Calcif Tissue Int.* (2006) 78:257–70. doi: 10.1007/s00223-005-0009-8

8. Wecht, JM, Krassioukov, AV, Alexander, M, Handrakis, JP, McKenna, SL, Kennelly, M, et al. International standards to document autonomic function following SCI (ISAFSCI): second edition. *Top Spinal Cord Inj Rehabil.* (2021) 27:23–49. doi: 10.46292/sci2702-23

9. Boehl, G, Raguindin, PF, Valido, E, Bertolo, A, Itodo, OA, Minder, B, et al. Endocrinological and inflammatory markers in individuals with spinal cord injury: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord*. (2022) 23:1035–50. doi: 10.1007/s11154-022-09742-9

10. Naftchi, NE. Alterations of neuroendocrine functions in spinal cord injury. *Peptides*. (1985) 6:85–94. doi: 10.1016/0196-9781(85)90015-4

11. Calvello, R, Cianciulli, A, Nicolardi, G, De Nuccio, F, Giannotti, L, Salvatore, R, et al. Vitamin D treatment attenuates Neuroinflammation and dopaminergic Neurodegeneration in an animal model of Parkinson's disease, shifting M1 to M2 microglia responses. *J Neuroimmune Pharmacol.* (2017) 12:327–39. doi: 10.1007/s11481-016-9720-7

12. Montava, M, Garcia, S, Mancini, J, Jammes, Y, Courageot, J, Lavieille, JP, et al. Vitamin D3 potentiates myelination and recovery after facial nerve injury. *Eur Arch Otorhinolaryngol.* (2015) 272:2815–23. doi: 10.1007/s00405-014-3305-y

13. Eyles, DW, Burne, THJ, and McGrath, JJ. Vitamin D, effects on brain development, adult brain function and the links between low levels of vitamin D and neuropsychiatric disease. *Front Neuroendocrinol.* (2013) 34:47–64. doi: 10.1016/j.yfrne.2012.07.001

14. Tallqvist, S, Kauppila, AM, Vainionpää, A, Koskinen, F, Bergman, P, Anttila, H, et al. Prevalence of comorbidities and secondary health conditions among the Finnish population with spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord.* (2022) 60:618–27. doi: 10.1038/ s41393-021-00704-7

15. Canpolat, U, Özcan, F, Özeke, Ö, Turak, O, Yayla, Ç, Açıkgöz, SK, et al. Impaired cardiac autonomic functions in apparently healthy subjects with vitamin D deficiency. *Ann Noninvasive Electrocardiol.* (2015) 20:378–85. doi: 10.1111/anec.12233

16. Otero, TMN, Canales, C, Yeh, DD, Elsayes, A, Belcher, DM, and Quraishi, SA. Vitamin D status is associated with development of hospital-acquired pressure injuries in critically ill surgical patients. *Nutr Clin Pract.* (2019) 34:142–7. doi: 10.1002/ncp.10184

#### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

### Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2023.920998/full#su pplementary-material

17. Aminmansour, B, Asnaashari, A, Rezvani, M, Ghaffarpasand, F, Amin Noorian, SM, Saboori, M, et al. Effects of progesterone and vitamin D on outcome of patients with acute traumatic spinal cord injury; a randomized, double-blind, placebo controlled study. *J Spinal Cord Med*. (2016) 39:272–80. doi: 10.1080/10790268.2015. 1114224

18. Page, MJ, McKenzie, JE, Bossuyt, PM, Boutron, I, Hoffmann, TC, Mulrow, CD, et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ*. (2021) 372:n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71

19. National Institutes of Health (2014). Study quality assessment tools: quality assessment tool for case series studies. Bethesda, MD, U.S.A. Available at: https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health-topics/study-quality-assessment-tools.

20. Kirshblum, SC, Burns, SP, Biering-Sorensen, F, Donovan, W, Graves, DE, Jha, A, et al. International standards for neurological classification of spinal cord injury (revised 2011). *J Spinal Cord Med.* (2011) 34:535–46. doi: 10.1179/20457721 1x13207446293695

21. Holick, MF, Binkley, NC, Bischoff-Ferrari, HA, Gordon, CM, Hanley, DA, Heaney, RP, et al. Evaluation, treatment, and prevention of vitamin D deficiency: an Endocrine Society clinical practice guideline. *J Clin Endocrinol Metabol.* (2011) 96:1911–30. doi: 10.1210/ jc.2011-0385

22. Garshick, E, Walia, P, Goldstein, RL, Teylan, MA, Lazzari, AA, Tun, CG, et al. Associations between vitamin D and pulmonary function in chronic spinal cord injury. *J Spinal Cord Med.* (2019) 42:171–7. doi: 10.1080/10790268.2018. 1432305

23. Barbonetti, A, Sperandio, A, Micillo, A, D'Andrea, S, Pacca, F, Felzani, G, et al. Independent Association of Vitamin D with Physical Function in people with chronic spinal cord injury. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2016) 97:726–32. doi: 10.1016/j. apmr.2016.01.002

24. Bassuino, MS, Kaminski, EL, Garcia, LO, Linden, R, Antunes, MV, Schneider, RH, et al. Factors related to decreased vitamin D levels in men with spinal cord injury living in a subtropical region. *Scientia. Medica.* (2018) 28:28381. doi: 10.15448/1980-6108.2018. 2.28381

25. Bauman, WA, Zhong, YG, and Schwartz, E. Vitamin D deficiency in veterans with chronic spinal cord injury. *Metab Clin Exp*. (1995) 44:1612–6. doi: 10.1016/0026-0495(95) 90083-7

26. Coskun Benlidayi, I, Basaran, S, Seydaoglu, G, and Guzel, R. Vitamin D profile of patients with spinal cord injury and post-stroke hemiplegia: all in the same boat. *J Back Musculoskelet Rehabil.* (2016) 29:205–10. doi: 10.3233/BMR-150615

27. Clark, K, Goldstein, RL, Hart, JE, Teylan, M, Lazzari, AA, Gagnon, DR, et al. Plasma vitamin D, past chest illness, and risk of future chest illness in chronic spinal cord injury (SCI): a longitudinal observational study (vol 10, pg 125, 2020). *Spinal Cord.* (2020) 58:513–3. doi: 10.1038/s41393-020-0437-3

28. Ehsanian, R, Timmerman, MA, Wright, JM, McKenna, S, Dirlikov, B, and Crew, J. Venous thromboembolism is associated with lack of vitamin D supplementation in patients with spinal cord injury and low vitamin D levels. *PM R*. (2019) 11:125–34. doi: 10.1016/j. pmrj.2018.09.038

29. Khammeree, T, Vichiansiri, R, Sawanyawisuth, K, and Manimmanakorn, N. Vitamin D abnormalities in Thai patients with spinal cord injuries. *Asian Biomed.* (2016) 10:595–601. doi: 10.5372/1905-7415.1006.528

30. Nemunaitis, GA, Mejia, M, Nagy, JA, Johnson, T, Chae, J, and Roach, MJ. A descriptive study on vitamin D levels in individuals with spinal cord injury in an acute inpatient rehabilitation setting. *PM R.* (2010) 2:202-208; quiz 228. doi: 10.1016/j. pmrj.2010.01.010

31. Oleson, CV, Patel, PH, and Wuermser, L-A. Influence of season, ethnicity, and chronicity on vitamin D deficiency in traumatic spinal cord injury. *J Spinal Cord Med.* (2010) 33:202–13. doi: 10.1080/10790268.2010.11689697

32. Özgirgin, N, Koyuncu, E, Nakipoğlu Yüzer, GF, Taşoğlu, Ö, and Yenigün, D. Is spinal cord injury a risk factor for vitamin D deficiency? *Turkiye Fiziksel Tip ve Rehabilitasyon Dergisi*. (2016) 62:57–63. doi: 10.5606/tftrd.2016.39260

33. Walia, P, Goldstein, RL, Teylan, M, Lazzari, AA, Hart, JE, Tun, CG, et al. Associations between vitamin D, adiposity, and respiratory symptoms in chronic spinal cord injury. *J Spinal Cord Med.* (2018) 41:667–75. doi: 10.1080/10790268.2017.1374020

34. Waliullah, S, Kumar, D, Kumar, D, Tewari, PG, Kumar, V, and Srivastava, RN. Prevalence of vitamin D deficiency in a young adult with acute spinal cord injury. *Cureus*. (2021) 13:e13791. doi: 10.7759/cureus.13791

35. Flueck, JL, Schlaepfer, MW, and Perret, C. Effect of 12-week vitamin D supplementation on 25 OH D status and performance in athletes with a spinal cord injury. *Nutrients.* (2016) 8:586. doi: 10.3390/nu8100586

36. Hummel, K, Craven, BC, and Giangregorio, L. Serum 25(OH)D, PTH and correlates of suboptimal 25(OH)D levels in persons with chronic spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord.* (2012) 50:812–6. doi: 10.1038/sc.2012.67

37. Javidan, AN, Sabour, H, Latifi, S, Vafa, M, Shidfar, F, Khazaeipour, Z, et al. Calcium and vitamin D plasma concentration and nutritional intake status in patients with chronic spinal cord injury: a referral center report. *JRMS*. (2014) 19:881–4.

38. Mechanick, JI, Pomerantz, F, Flanagan, S, Stein, A, Gordon, WA, and Ragnarsson, KT. Parathyroid hormone suppression in spinal cord injury patients is associated with the degree of neurologic impairment and not the level of injury. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (1997) 78:692–6. doi: 10.1016/S0003-9993(97)90075-7

39. Pritchett, K, Pritchett, R, Ogan, D, Bishop, P, Broad, E, and LaCroix, M. 25(OH)D status of elite athletes with spinal cord injury relative to lifestyle factors. *Nutrients*. (2016) 8:374. doi: 10.3390/nu8060374

40. Vaziri, ND, Pandian, MR, Segal, JL, Winer, RL, Eltorai, I, and Brunnemann, S. Vitamin D, parathormone, and calcitonin profiles in persons with long-standing spinal cord injury. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (1994) 75:766–9. doi: 10.1016/0003-9993(94)90133-3

41. Zebracki, K, Hwang, M, Patt, PL, and Vogel, LC. Autonomic cardiovascular dysfunction and vitamin D deficiency in pediatric spinal cord injury. *J Pediatr Rehabil Med.* (2013) 6:45–52. doi: 10.3233/PRM-130236

42. Zhou, XJ, Vaziri, ND, Segal, JL, Winer, RL, Eltorai, I, and Brunnemann, SR. Effects of chronic spinal cord injury and pressure ulcer on 25(OH)-vitamin D levels. J Am Paraplegia Soc. (1993) 16:9–13. doi: 10.1080/01952307.1993.11735877

43. Barbonetti, A, Cavallo, F, D'Andrea, S, Muselli, M, Felzani, G, Francavilla, S, et al. Lower vitamin D levels are associated with depression in people with chronic spinal cord injury. *Arch Phys Med Rehabil.* (2017) 98:940–6. doi: 10.1016/j.apmr.2016.11.006

44. Oleson, CV, Seidel, BJ, and Zhan, T. Association of vitamin D deficiency, secondary hyperparathyroidism, and heterotopic ossification in spinal cord injury. *J Rehabil Res Dev.* (2013) 50:1177–86. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2012.11.0206

45. Bauman, WA, Morrison, NG, and Spungen, AM. Vitamin D replacement therapy in persons with spinal cord injury. *J Spinal Cord Med.* (2005) 28:203–7. doi: 10.1080/10790268.2005.11753813

46. Bauman, WA, Spungen, AM, Morrison, N, Zhang, R-L, and Schwartz, E. Effect of a vitamin D analog on leg bone mineral density in patients with chronic spinal cord injury. *J Rehabil Res Dev.* (2005) 42:625–34. doi: 10.1682/JRRD.2004.11.0145

47. Beal, C, Gorgey, A, Moore, P, Wong, N, Adler, RA, and Gater, D. Higher dietary intake of vitamin D may influence total cholesterol and carbohydrate profile independent of body composition in men with chronic spinal cord injury. *J Spinal Cord Med.* (2018) 41:459–70. doi: 10.1080/10790268.2017.1361561

48. Chen, B, Mechanick, JI, Nierman, DM, and Stein, A. Combined calcitriolpamidronate therapy for bone hyperresorption in spinal cord injury. *J Spinal Cord Med.* (2001) 24:235–40. doi: 10.1080/10790268.2001.11753580

49. Mailhot, G, Lamarche, J, and Gagnon, DH. Effectiveness of two vitamin D3 repletion protocols on the vitamin D status of adults with a recent spinal cord injury undergoing inpatient rehabilitation: a prospective case series. *Spinal Cord Ser Cases*. (2018) 4:96. doi: 10.1038/s41394-018-0129-9

50. Pritchett, K, Pritchett, RC, Stark, L, Broad, E, and LaCroix, M. Effect of vitamin D supplementation on 25(OH)D status in elite athletes with spinal cord injury. *Int J Sport Nutr Exerc Metab.* (2019) 29:18–23. doi: 10.1123/ijsnem.2017-0233

51. Bianco, J, Gueye, Y, Marqueste, T, Alluin, O, Risso, JJ, Garcia, S, et al. Vitamin D3 improves respiratory adjustment to fatigue and H-reflex responses in paraplegic adult rats. *Neuroscience.* (2011) 188:182–92. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2011.04.066

52. Gueye, Y, Marqueste, T, Maurel, F, Khrestchatisky, M, Decherchi, P, and Feron, F. Cholecalciferol (vitamin D-3) improves functional recovery when delivered during the acute phase after a spinal cord trauma. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol.* (2015) 154:23–31. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2015.06.007

53. Gurer, B, Karakoc, A, Bektasoglu, PK, Kertmen, H, Kanat, MA, Arikok, AT, et al. Comparative effects of vitamin D and methylprednisolone against ischemia/reperfusion injury of rabbit spinal cords. *Eur J Pharmacol.* (2017) 813:50–60. doi: 10.1016/j. ejphar.2017.07.028

54. Khajoueinejad, I., Askarifirouzjaei, H., Namazi, F., Mohammadi, A., Pourfathollah, A.A., Rajaian, H., et al. Immunomodulatory effects of Calcitriol in acute spinal cord injury in rats. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2019) 74:105726. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2019.105726

55. Zhou, KL, Chen, DH, Jin, HM, Wu, K, Wang, XY, Xu, HZ, et al. Effects of calcitriol on experimental spinal cord injury in rats. *Spinal Cord.* (2016) 54:510–6. doi: 10.1038/ sc.2015.217

56. Ross, AC, Manson, JE, Abrams, SA, Aloia, JF, Brannon, PM, Clinton, SK, et al. The 2011 report on dietary reference intakes for calcium and vitamin D from the Institute of Medicine: what clinicians need to know. *J Clin Endocrinol Metabol.* (2011) 96:53–8. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-2704

57. Ferrari, S, Manen, D, Bonjour, JP, Slosman, D, and Rizzoli, R. Bone mineral mass and calcium and phosphate metabolism in young men: relationships with vitamin D receptor allelic Polymorphisms1. *J Clin Endocrinol Metabol.* (1999) 84:2043–8. doi: 10.1210/jcem.84.6.5790

58. Wang, Y, Zhu, J, and DeLuca, HF. Where is the vitamin D receptor? Arch Biochem Biophys. (2012) 523:123–33. doi: 10.1016/j.abb.2012.04.001

59. Barbonetti, A, D'Andrea, S, Martorella, A, Felzani, G, Francavilla, S, and Francavilla, F. Low vitamin D levels are independent predictors of 1-year worsening in physical function in people with chronic spinal cord injury: a longitudinal study. *Spinal Cord.* (2018) 56:494–501. doi: 10.1038/s41393-017-0058-7

60. Lamarche, J, and Mailhot, G. Vitamin D and spinal cord injury: should we care? Spinal Cord. (2016) 54:1060–75. doi: 10.1038/sc.2016.131

61. Frotzler, A, Krebs, J, Göhring, A, Hartmann, K, Tesini, S, and Lippuner, K. Osteoporosis in the lower extremities in chronic spinal cord injury. *Spinal Cord.* (2020) 58:441–8. doi: 10.1038/s41393-019-0383-0

62. Koyama, T, Shibakura, M, Ohsawa, M, Kamiyama, R, and Hirosawa, S. Anticoagulant effects of 1alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 on human myelogenous leukemia cells and monocytes. *Blood.* (1998) 92:160–7. doi: 10.1182/blood.V92.1.160.413k16\_160\_167

63. Wu-Wong, JR, Nakane, M, and Ma, J. Vitamin D analogs modulate the expression of plasminogen activator inhibitor-1, thrombospondin-1 and thrombomodulin in human aortic smooth muscle cells. *J Vasc Res.* (2007) 44:11–8. doi: 10.1159/0000 97812

64. Moore, M, Goldin, Y, Patel, H, and Greenwald, BD. Low vitamin D level is associated with acute deep venous thrombosis in patients with traumatic brain injury. *Brain Sci.* (2021) 11:849. doi: 10.3390/brainsci11070849

65. Mpandzou, G, Aït Ben Haddou, E, Regragui, W, Benomar, A, and Yahyaoui, M. Vitamin D deficiency and its role in neurological conditions: a review. *Rev Neurol.* (2016) 172:109–22. doi: 10.1016/j.neurol.2015.11.005

66. Martineau, AR, Jolliffe, DA, Hooper, RL, Greenberg, L, Aloia, JF, Bergman, P, et al. Vitamin D supplementation to prevent acute respiratory tract infections: systematic review and meta-analysis of individual participant data. *BMJ*. (2017) 356:i6583. doi: 10.1136/bmj. i6583

67. Monlezun, DJ, Bittner, EA, Christopher, KB, Camargo, CA, and Quraishi, SA. Vitamin D status and acute respiratory infection: cross sectional results from the United States National Health and nutrition examination survey, 2001–2006. *Nutrients*. (2015) 7:1933–44. doi: 10.3390/nu7031933

68. Farrell, SW, Meyer, KJ, Leonard, D, Shuval, K, Barlow, CE, Pavlovic, A, et al. Physical activity, adiposity, and serum vitamin D levels in healthy women: the Cooper Center longitudinal study. *J Womens Health (Larchmt).* (2022) 31:957–64. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2021.0402

69. Schönenberg, M, Reimitz, M, Jusyte, A, Maier, D, Badke, A, and Hautzinger, M. Depression, posttraumatic stress, and risk factors following spinal cord injury. *Int J Behav Med.* (2014) 21:169–76. doi: 10.1007/s12529-012-9284-8

70. Milaneschi, Y, Hoogendijk, W, Lips, P, Heijboer, AC, Schoevers, R, van Hemert, AM, et al. The association between low vitamin D and depressive disorders. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2014) 19:444–51. doi: 10.1038/mp.2013.36

71. Waldron, JL, Ashby, HL, Cornes, MP, Bechervaise, J, Razavi, C, Thomas, OL, et al. Vitamin D: a negative acute phase reactant. *J Clin Pathol.* (2013) 66:620–2. doi: 10.1136/ jclinpath-2012-201301

72. Shin, JI, Lee, NJ, and Cho, SK. Pediatric cervical spine and spinal cord injury: a National Database Study. *Spine*. (2016) 41:283–92. doi: 10.1097/BRS.000000000001176

73. Kreinest, M, Ludes, L, Biglari, B, Küffer, M, Türk, A, Grützner, PA, et al. Influence of previous comorbidities and common complications on motor function after early surgical treatment of patients with traumatic spinal cord injury. *J Neurotrauma*. (2016) 33:2175–80. doi: 10.1089/neu.2016.4416

74. Fakhoury, HMA, Kvietys, PR, AlKattan, W, Anouti, FA, Elahi, MA, Karras, SN, et al. Vitamin D and intestinal homeostasis: barrier, microbiota, and immune modulation. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol.* (2020) 200:105663. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2020.105663

75. Bauman, WA, Emmons, RR, Cirnigliaro, CM, Kirshblum, SC, and Spungen, AM. An effective oral vitamin D replacement therapy in persons with spinal cord injury. *J Spinal Cord Med.* (2011) 34:455–60. doi: 10.1179/2045772311Y.000000032

76. Evans, MA, Kim, HA, Ling, YH, Uong, S, Vinh, A, De Silva, TM, et al. Vitamin D(3) supplementation reduces subsequent brain injury and inflammation associated with ischemic stroke. *NeuroMolecular Med.* (2018) 20:147–59. doi: 10.1007/s12017-018-8484-z

77. Cui, C, Wang, C, Jin, F, Yang, M, Kong, L, Han, W, et al. Calcitriol confers neuroprotective effects in traumatic brain injury by activating Nrf2 signaling through an autophagy-mediated mechanism. *Mol Med.* (2021) 27:118. doi: 10.1186/s10020-021-00377-1

78. Berridge, MJ. Vitamin D cell signalling in health and disease. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. (2015) 460:53-71. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2015.01.008

79. Brewer, LD, Thibault, V, Chen, KC, Langub, MC, Landfield, PW, and Porter, NM. Vitamin D hormone confers neuroprotection in parallel with downregulation of L-type calcium channel expression in hippocampal neurons. *J Neurosci.* (2001) 21:98–108. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.21-01-00098.2001

80. Koshkina, A, Dudnichenko, T, Baranenko, D, Fedotova, J, and Drago, F. Effects of vitamin D(3) in long-term Ovariectomized rats subjected to chronic unpredictable mild stress: BDNF, NT-3, and NT-4 implications. *Nutrients.* (2019) 11:1726. doi: 10.3390/nu11081726

81. Morello, M, Landel, V, Lacassagne, E, Baranger, K, Annweiler, C, Féron, F, et al. Vitamin D improves neurogenesis and cognition in a mouse model of Alzheimer's disease. *Mol Neurobiol.* (2018) 55:6463–79. doi: 10.1007/s12035-017-0839-1

82. Cui, X, Gooch, H, Petty, A, McGrath, JJ, and Eyles, D. Vitamin D and the brain: genomic and non-genomic actions. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2017) 453:131–43. doi: 10.1016/j. mce.2017.05.035

83. Yeh, WZ, Gresle, M, Jokubaitis, V, Stankovich, J, van der Walt, A, and Butzkueven, H. Immunoregulatory effects and therapeutic potential of vitamin D in multiple sclerosis. *Br J Pharmacol.* (2020) 177:4113–33. doi: 10.1111/bph.15201

84. Wang, L, Gunduz, MA, Semeano, AT, Yılmaz, EC, Alanazi, FAH, Imir, OB, et al. Coexistence of chronic hyperalgesia and multilevel neuroinflammatory responses after experimental SCI: a systematic approach to profiling neuropathic pain. *J Neuroinflammation*. (2022) 19:264. doi: 10.1186/s12974-022-02628-2

85. Gomez-Pinedo, U, Cuevas, JA, Benito-Martín, MS, Moreno-Jiménez, L, Esteban-Garcia, N, Torre-Fuentes, L, et al. Vitamin D increases remyelination by

promoting oligodendrocyte lineage differentiation. Brain Behav. (2020) 10:e01498. doi: 10.1002/brb3.1498

86. Shirazi, HA, Rasouli, J, Ciric, B, Rostami, A, and Zhang, GX. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 enhances neural stem cell proliferation and oligodendrocyte differentiation. *Exp Mol Pathol.* (2015) 98:240–5. doi: 10.1016/j.yexmp.2015.02.004

87. Teng, YD, Wang, L, Zeng, X, Wu, L, Toktas, Z, Kabatas, S, et al. Updates on human neural stem cells: from generation, maintenance, and differentiation to applications in spinal cord injury research. *Results Probl Cell Differ*. (2018) 66:233–48. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-93485-3\_10

88. Thakor, DK, Wang, L, Benedict, D, Kabatas, S, Zafonte, RD, and Teng, YD. Establishing an Organotypic system for investigating multimodal neural repair effects of human Mesenchymal stromal stem cells. *Curr Protoc Stem Cell Biol.* (2018) 47:e58. doi: 10.1002/cpsc.58

89. Wang, L, Gu, S, Gan, J, Tian, Y, Zhang, F, Zhao, H, et al. Neural stem cells overexpressing nerve growth factor improve functional recovery in rats following spinal cord injury via modulating microenvironment and enhancing endogenous neurogenesis. *Front Cell Neurosci.* (2021) 15:773375. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2021.773375

90. Yang, Y, Fan, Y, Zhang, H, Zhang, Q, Zhao, Y, Xiao, Z, et al. Small molecules combined with collagen hydrogel direct neurogenesis and migration of neural stem cells after spinal cord injury. *Biomaterials.* (2021) 269:120479. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials. 2020.120479

91. Kadri, A, Sjahrir, H, Juwita Sembiring, R, and Ichwan, M. Combination of vitamin a and D supplementation for ischemic stroke: effects on interleukin-1ß and clinical outcome. *Med Glas (Zenica).* (2020) 17:425–32. doi: 10.17392/1137-20

#### ( Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Surasak Saokaew, University of Phayao, Thailand

REVIEWED BY Paul Hegarty, Mater Misericordiae University Hospital, Ireland Mahdieh Khodarahmi, Isfahan University of Medical Sciences, Iran Ralph Mücke, Self-Employed, Bad Kreuznach, Germany

\*CORRESPONDENCE Hongjun Li ⊠ lihongjun@pumch.cn

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Clinical Nutrition, a section of the journal Frontiers in Nutrition

RECEIVED 11 August 2022 ACCEPTED 13 February 2023 PUBLISHED 27 February 2023

#### CITATION

Lu Y, Su H, Wang Y and Li H (2023) Micronutrients and risks of three main urologic cancers: A mendelian randomization study. *Front. Nutr.* 10:1016243. doi: 10.3389/fnut.2023.1016243

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Lu, Su, Wang and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Micronutrients and risks of three main urologic cancers: A mendelian randomization study

#### Yi Lu, Hao Su, Yutao Wang and Hongjun Li\*

Department of Urology, Peking Union Medical College, Peking Union Medical College Hospital, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences, Beijing, China

**Background:** The effect of micronutrients on urologic cancers has been explored in observational studies. We conducted the two-sample mendelian randomization (TSMR) study to investigate whether micronutrients could causally influence the risk of urologic cancers.

**Methods:** Summary statistics for four micronutrients and three main urologic cancers outcomes were obtained from genome-wide association studies (GWAS). MR analyses were applied to explore the potential causal association between them. Sensitivity analyses using multiple methods were also conducted.

**Results:** Genetically predicted one SD increase in serum copper and iron concentrations was causally associated with increased risks of renal cell carcinoma (RCC) (OR = 3.021, 95%CI = 2.204-4.687, P < 0.001, male; OR = 2.231, 95%CI = 1.524-3.953, P < 0.001, female; OR = 1.595, 95%CI = 1.310-1.758, P = 0.0238, male; OR = 1.484, 95%CI = 1.197-2.337, P = 0.0210, female, respectively) and per SD increase in serum zinc levels was related to decreased risks of RCC (OR = 0.131, 95%CI = 0.0159-0.208, P < 0.001, male; OR = 0.124, 95%CI = 0.0434-0.356, P < 0.001, female). No significant results were observed between micronutrients and the risk of bladder cancer after Bonferroni correction. Additionally, per SD increase in serum zinc level was associated with a 5.8% higher risk of prostate cancer (PCa) [OR = 1.058, 95%CI = 1.002-1.116, P = 0.0403, inverse-variance weight (IVW)].

**Conclusions:** Micronutrients play a vital role in the development of urological tumors. Future studies are required to replicate the findings, explore the underlying mechanisms, and examine the preventive or therapeutic role of micronutrients in clinical settings.

#### KEYWORDS

micronutrients, prostate cancer, renal cell carcinoma, bladder cancer, Mendelian randomization

### 1. Introduction

Urologic tumor refers to tumors that affect the organs and structures of the urinary system of both men and women and the reproductive system of men. Three most prevalent types of urologic tumors are: prostate cancer (PCa), renal cell carcinoma (RCC), and bladder cancer (BCa) (1). The incidence of kidney, bladder, and prostate cancers cases increased between 1990 and 2013 and mortality increased 1.6-fold during the same time period. Urologic cancer burden has increased globally amid population growth and aging (2). Efforts to expand the global oncologic workforce and reduce preventable factors may contribute to cancer management (3). Nowadays, several risk factors have been established, such as lipid composition, obesity, and cigarette, etc (4). However, the role of nutrition in urologic cancer development is still unclear.

Dietary trace metals, including zinc, copper, iron, and selenium, etc. have been shown to influence the risk of cancer through oxidative stress, DNA injury and repair, regulating cell cycle, and angiogenesis (5). Some observational studies using food frequency questionnaires (FFQs) indicated the anti-tumor role of nutrients or dietary intake of nutrients in urologic cancer, while these results are conflicting and concerns about potential biases from confounding factors can't be dispelled (6).

Mendelian randomization (MR) that uses genetic variants as instrumental variables is widely used in epidemiological studies to examine whether a potential factor could casually influence an outcome. Different from traditional observational studies, this method could dramatically lower the effect of confounders and reverse causation (7). Two-sample Mendelian randomization (TSMR), which belongs to MR methodology and uses two samples drawn from the same underlying population with no overlap of participants between the two samples, is a method to estimate the causal effect of an exposure on an outcome using only summary statistics from genome-wide association studies (GWAS). Some large-scale GWAS on micronutrients and urologic cancers have also been published, providing high-quality genetic instruments to conduct MR study (8, 9). These GWAS have been used and validated in several previous MR studies (10, 11). To fill in the gap, we conducted the TSMR study to identify the potential effect of microelement levels on urologic cancer risk.

### 2. Method

#### 2.1. Study design

The MR analysis was designed to evaluate the associations between microelement levels and risks of urologic tumors (RCC, BCa, and PCa). Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) for common microelements (Cu, Zn, Fe, and Se) were selected as instrumental variables from previously published genome-wide association study (GWAS) analyses. Three key assumptions need to be satisfied: (a) the SNPs should have strong associations with microelement levels; (b) the chosen SNPs should be independent of confounders; (3) the SNPs should affect cancer only *via* microelement levels. The diagram of the TSMR was shown in Figure 1 (12).

#### 2.2. Data sources

The study utilized summarized genetic data from the Genetics of Iron Status (GIS) consortium (13), Prostate Cancer Association Group to Investigate Cancer Associated Alterations in the Genome (PRATICAL) (8), International Academic & Research Consortium (IARC) (14), and UK Biobank (UKB) (9). Details about the sources were shown in Table 1. The original GWAS had been approved by corresponding ethics committee, and the approval of current study was obtained from the Medical Research Ethics Committee of Peking Union Medical College Hospital.

#### 2.3. Instrumental variable selection

Instrumental variable selection for Cu, Zn, and Se levels (serum), iron levels, and blood and toenail Se levels were based on a GWAS with 2,603 adults from Australia and the UK., a GWAS involving 48,972 individuals of European ancestry (GIS Consortium), and the UK Biobank study, respectively (13, 15, 16). Instrumental variables for RCC, BCa, and PCa were



Exposure	Consortium	Total population	Cases/controls	Ethnicity	References
Copper	NA	2,603	NA	European	Genome-wide association study identifies loci affecting blood copper, selenium and zinc PubMed id: 23720494
Zinc	NA	2,603	NA	European	Genome-wide association study identifies loci affecting blood copper, selenium and zinc PubMed id: 23720494
Iron	GIS	23,986	NA	European	Novel loci affecting iron homeostasis and their effects in individuals at risk for hemochromatosis PubMed id: 25352340
Blood and toenail selenium	NA	4,162	NA	European	Genome-wide association Study of selenium concentrations. PubMed id: 25343990
Blood selenium	NA	2,603	NA	European	Genome-wide association study identifies loci affecting blood copper, selenium and zinc PubMed id: 23720494
Outcome	Consortium	Total population	Cases/controls	Ethnicity	References
Overall PCa	PRATICAL	140,254	79,148/61,106	European	Association analyses of more than 140,000 men identify 63 new prostate cancer susceptibility loci. PubMed id: 29892016
RCC in female	IARC	5,087	1,992/3,095	European	Sex-specific associations in genome-wide association analysis of renal cell carcinoma PubMed id: 31231134
RCC in male	IARC	8,143	3,227/4,916	European	Sex-specific associations in genome-wide association analysis of renal cell carcinoma PubMed id: 31231134
Bladder Cancer	UKB	462,933	1,101/ 461,832	European	UK Biobank: An Open Access Resource for Identifying the Causes of a Wide Range of Complex Diseases of Middle and Old Age PubMed id: 25826379

TABLE 1 The characteristics of GWAS studies on the exposures and outcomes.

N.A., not available; GIS, Genetics of Iron Status; PRATICAL, Prostate Cancer Association Group to Investigate Cancer Associated Alterations in the Genome; IARC, International Academic and Research Consortium; UKB, UK Bioban.

obtained from IARC (5,219 RCC cases and 8,011 controls of European ancestry), UKB (1,101 BCa cases and 461,832 controls of European ancestry), and PRATICAL consortium (79,148 PCa cases and 61,106 controls of European ancestry), respectively (8, 9, 14). Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) that met the locus-wide significance level ( $P < 10^{-5}$ ) and have genomewide statistical significance ( $P < 5 \times 10^{-8}$ ) were proposed as instrumental variables. Phenoscanner website was used to examine the pleiotropic effects of selected IVs and all used IVs were validated in previous studies (17, 18). All the SNPs selected in the study were shown in the Supplementary Table 1.

#### 2.4. Study outcomes

RCC, BCa, and PCa were the outcomes. The latest GWAS involving the most complete available data on three types of cancers was selected. The sources were presented in Table 1.

#### 2.5. Statistical analysis

Five different statistical methods were used to conduct the MR analyses. Firstly, the inverse-variance weight (IVW) approach was applied for the primary TSMR to quantify the causal associations between micronutrient (Cu, Fe, Se, and Zn) concentrations and the risk of three types of cancers (19). In the process, the ratio of coefficients was calculated to evaluate the causal effects. MR-Egger regression was used to examine the horizontal pleiotropy between IVs and three types of cancers, which adjusted micronutrients levels. Additionally, weighted median method (WM) only needs half of the effective SNPs was used as a supplement for the IVW approach (20). Finally, weighted mode and simple mode analyses were used to estimate the causal effect (21). https:// shiny.cnsgenomics.com/mRnd/ was used for sample size test. This required four parts data: (a) Proportion of cases in the (intended) study; (b) Total sample size; (c) True odds ratio of the outcome variable per standard deviation of the exposure variable; (d) Proportion of variance in exposure variable explained by SNPs. Results indicated that with all the given sample size, analysis in each subgroup has strong statistical power (22). All traits related to screened SNPs were searched on the PhenoScanner website. Statistical analyses were performed repeatedly after removing confounder-related SNPs to improve the robustness and handle potential horizontal pleiotropy. Sensitivity analysis was also performed to assess whether some SNPs had a significantly independent influence on results via leave-one-out approach and the remaining estimate effect was shown when one SNP was excluded (23). The level of heterogeneity was estimated by using Cochran's Q statistics. All analyses were conducted in R software (version 4.1.2; http://www.rproject.org) with the "TwoSampleMR"

Exposure	MR Method	Prostate cancer			Bladder cancer		Renal cell cancer (Female)			Renal cell cancer (Male)			
		No. of SNPs	OR (95% CI)	<i>P</i> -Value	No. of SNPs	OR (95% CI)	<i>P</i> -Value	No. of SNPs	OR (95% CI	<i>P</i> -Value	No. of SNPs	OR (95% CI	<i>P</i> -Value
Copper	IVW	2	1.005 (0.952–1.061)	0.867	2	NA	NA	2	2.231 (1.524-3.953)	<0.001	2	3.021 (2.204–4.687)	<0.001
Iron	IVW	3	0.951 (0.896–1.011)	0.106	2	1.000 (0.999–1.001)	0.794	2	1.484 (1.197–2.337)	0.0210	2	1.595 (1.310-1.758)	0.0238
	MR-Egger	3	0.917 (0.814–1.034)	0.392	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
	WM	3	0.954 (0.892-1.020)	0.170	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Zinc	IVW	2	1.058 (1.002–1.116)	0.0403	NA	NA	NA	2	0.124 (0.0434–0.356)	<0.001	2	0.131 (0.0159–0.208)	<0.001
	Wald ratio	NA	NA	NA	1	1.001 (1.000-1.002)	0.0841	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
_	IVW	22	0.996 (0.975-1.017)	0.676	9	0.998 (0.997–0.999)	0.0317	22	0.790 (0.0779–8.030)	0.842	22	0.702 (0.0712–6.919)	0.762
	MR-Egger	22	1.023 (0.943–1.110)	0.595	9	0.999 (0.997–1.000)	0.560	22	1.070 (0.0991–1.9652)	0.166	22	3.858 (0.584-8.340)	0.203
	WM	22	1.003 (0.976-1.031)	0.835	9	1.000 (0.999–1.000)	0.0612	22	1.851 (0.918–2.977)	0.201	22	2.135 (1.940-2.387)	0.073
Blood and toenail selenium	IVW	12	0.985 (0.946-1.025)	0.458	4	0.999 (0.998–1.002)	0.182	12	0.175 (0.004-8.244)	0.375	11	0.0960 (0.00173-5.319)	0.253
	MR-Egger	12	1.044 (0.912–1.196)	0.545	4	1.000 (0.997–1.003)	0.213	12	0.08715 (0.0052-0.1597)	0.0257	11	1.7553 (0.4133–2.9804)	0.0570
	WM	12	0.985 (0.946-1.025)	0.452	4	0.999 (0.998–1.000)	0.986	12	0.224 (0.085–0.397)	<0.001	11	0.283 (0.0173-0.537)	0.0408

TABLE 2 Two-sample MR estimates of relationship between genetically predicted micronutrients and cancer.

OR, odds ratio; CI, confidential interval; IVW, inverse-variance weight; WM, weighted median; SNP, single nucleotide polymorphisms; N.A., not available.



package (version 0.5.6). Associations were considered as strong between micronutrients levels and cancer risks if they surpassed a stringent Bonferroni-corrected *P*-value threshold of  $1.67 \times 10^{-3}$  (0.05/3 cancer outcomes). The reporting of the MR study followed the existed rule (24).

### 3. Results

# 3.1. Associations between micronutrients and risk of RCC

For the four micronutrients, the primary estimate by IVW indicated that genetically predicted one SD increase in serum copper and iron concentrations was causally associated with increased risks of RCC (OR = 3.021, 95%CI = 2.204-4.687, P < 0.001, male; OR = 2.231, 95%CI = 1.524-3.953, P < 0.001, female; OR = 1.595, 95%CI = 1.310-1.758, P = 0.0238, male; OR = 1.484, 95%CI = 1.197-2.337, P = 0.0210, female, respectively) and per SD increase in serum zinc levels was related to decreased risks of RCC (OR = 0.131, 95%CI = 0.0159-0.208, P < 0.001, male; OR = 0.124, 95%CI = 0.0434-0.356, P < 0.001, female). However, no causal effect was observed in serum selenium and serum and toenail selenium (Table 2). Not all sensitivity analysis supported the

causation between these micronutrients and RCC risk (Table 2 and Supplementary Figures 1–4).

# 3.2. Associations between micronutrients and risk of BCa

No causal associations were observed between risks of BCa and serum iron level (OR = 1.000, 95%CI = 0.999–1.001, P = 0.794, IVW), zinc level (OR = 1.001, 95%CI = 1.000–1.002, P = 0.0841, Wald ratio), serum selenium (OR = 0.998, 95%CI = 0.997–0.999, P = 0.0317, IVW), and blood and toenail selenium (OR = 0.999, 95%CI = 0.998–1.002, P = 0.182, IVW) (Figures 2, 3). Sensitivity analyses revealed consistent results (Table 2 and Supplementary Figures 5–8).

# 3.3. Associations between micronutrients and risk of PCa

Per SD increase in serum zinc level was associated with a 5.8% higher risk of PCa (OR = 1.058, 95%CI = 1.002-1.116, P = 0.0403, IVW). No causal associations were observed between



risks of PCa and serum copper level (OR = 1.005, 95%CI = 0.952– 1.061, P = 0.867, IVW), iron level (OR = 0.951, 95%CI = 0.896– 1.011, P = 0.106, IVW), serum selenium (OR = 0.996, 95%CI = 0.975–1.017, P = 0.676), and blood and toenail selenium (OR = 0.985, 95%CI = 0.946–1.025, P = 0.458, IVW) (Figures 4–6). Consistent results were also achieved in sensitivity analysis (Table 2 and Supplementary Figures 9–14).

### 4. Discussion

In the current study, we investigated the causal effects of four micronutrients (Copper, Iron, Selenium, and Zinc) on risks of 3 urological tumors. The findings indicated that genetically increased Zinc levels were related to increased risk of PCa, while reduced risk of RCC. Furthermore, increased Copper and iron level were associated with increased risk of RCC. In terms of BCa, no causal effects were observed.

Prostate cancer is a common malignancy that affects millions of men globally (1). Prior observational and mendelian studies have indicated that serum calcium and selenium levels were not associated with the risk of PCa (10, 11), which was consistent with our results. A former study indicated that decreased zinc or increased copper level might play important role in the initiation of PCa, while no mendelian studies ever investigated the genetic causation between them (25). We found that increased serum zinc level was causatively related to increased risk of PCa, which was in accordance with a population-based study (26). A possible explanation for the phenomenon is the redistribution of zinc, leading to increased serum zinc and reduced intracellular zinc in prostate (27). However, no GWAS about intracellular zinc were available, the underlying mechanisms require further investigation.

RCC is another common urologic malignancy (1). No mendelian study ever investigated the effect of micronutrients on the risk of RCC. Previous studies focus on exploring the role of zinc-finger protein in RCC (28, 29), demonstrating that these zinc-finger proteins could suppress the proliferation, invasion and improve long-term prognosis. Only one study indicated that Zn in the medulla was significantly lower in RCC cases than in controls (30). The result is consistent with what we found. Greene et al. demonstrated that RCC development is commonly represented by accumulated iron and Wu et al. conducted an in vivo study that indicated that STEAP3 played a crucial role in the iron dysfunction in ccRCC (31, 32). Few clinical studies had showed the association between iron level and ccRCC risk in humans to date. Sridhar et al. indicated that a significantly higher copper concentration is noted in the blood and urine in RCC patients as compared to healthy controls (33). In accordance with this, we found that increased



serum copper levels could genetically increase the risk of RCC. It might be attributed to oxidative stress responses to accumulation of heavy metals, while the exact underlying mechanism requires further studies.

For bladder cancer, former studies indicated that increased copper or zinc levels in the blood of patients were associated with angiogenesis in BCa and the risk of BCa (34, 35). However, we found no genetic associations between copper or zinc levels and BCa risk. Two reasons might explain the difference. Firstly, the small number of available SNPs may cause statistical biases. Secondly, the results of former observational studies were influenced by confounders. More GWAS and experimental studies are warranted.

Two uncommon diseases featured by the pathological accumulation of micronutrients should be mentioned. Wilson disease (WD) is an inherited disorder of copper metabolism, which is caused by homozygous or compound heterozygous mutations (the presence of two different mutant alleles) in *ATP7B* (36). Copper absorbed from the diet and copper released from hepatocytes with exhausted endogenous copper storage capacity progressively accumulate in other organs, most notably in the brain, eyes, kidneys, bones, and heart, exerting extrahepatic toxicity. Almost 90% of patients with WD has reduced level of serum copper and copper is mainly accumulated in organs. The most frequently reported cancer in WD patients is hepatocellular carcinoma

(37). Few studies have reported WD patients complicated with urologic cancers, while the anti-copper therapy has been used and verified as a validated treatment in several cancers (38, 39). Haemochromatosis is a systemic iron overload of genetic origin, caused by a reduction in the concentration of the iron regulatory hormone hepcidin, or a reduction in hepcidin-ferroportin binding. Similar to WD, haemochromatosis featured by the accumulation of iron in the liver, is associated with elevated serum ferritin and increased serum transferrin saturation rather than serum iron level and it is mostly reported to have an association with hepatocellular carcinoma (40). The association between the two diseases and urologic tumors still requires further investigation.

Our findings have some clinical and research implications. Firstly, we firstly indicated the genetic associations between micronutrients and three main urologic tumors by using mendelian randomization. Some of the micronutrients we identified in this study can be used as cancer biomarkers for risk prediction. While the prerequisite to achieving this is the clear association between the serum micronutrient level and cancer risks (linear or U-shape or ...). Based on this, we can further make a classification strategy, for example, using the median level as the cut-off. Given current evidence, there is still a long way to go. Secondly, appropriate therapy that could adjust micronutrient levels in the blood will contribute to the prevention of urologic tumors and, eventually, of the cancer-associated disease burden and mortality. However,



it should be noted that no clear evidence (the number of RCTs is <20) about the micronutrient intervention and cancer risk or cancer progression can be found. While more research is needed to assess whether micronutrients may modify the risk of cancer in individuals with a specific genetic background or nutritional status, and to investigate possible differential effects of various forms of micronutrients. Thirdly, the bias caused by limited numbers of SNPs should be validated in experimental studies. Fourthly, the conflicting findings on the effect of Zinc on PCa and RCC should be examined in experimental studies. According to currently available literature, we supposed that different zinc-related protein expressions in the kidney and the prostate might play a role in the development of the two cancers. Moreover, the balance between the zinc influx protein family and zinc efflux transporters on different organs might make a difference (27).

Our study has some strengths. Firstly, the study was the first MR study to investigate the casual association between micronutrient levels and the risk of urologic tumors. Effects of confounders in observational studies are avoided. Secondly, all the included individuals were of European-descent, which could minimize the potential bias from population stratification. Additionally, four common micronutrients and three main urologic tumors were analyzed, which is comprehensive and informative. Finally, limitations should be pointed out. Firstly, findings achieved from the MR study consisted of European-descent population limited the generativity to other races. Secondly, serum micronutrients might have associations with nutrition status, intelligence, income, and education level, etc (41). All these factors might play as a confounder between micronutrients and urologic tumors, while a concrete role of these factors was not the aim of the study and it requires further research.

In conclusion, we found that genetically increased Zinc levels were related to increased risk of PCa, while reduced risk of RCC. Furthermore, increased Copper and iron level were associated with increased risk of RCC, no causal effects were observed in BCa. The results indicate that micronutrients play a vital role in urological tumors. Future studies are therefore warranted to validate our findings and examine whether micronutrient concentration surveillance or supplements could be potential interventions for urologic cancer prevention and treatment.

### Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.



### **Ethics statement**

Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

### Author contributions

YL, YW, and HL: conception and design. HL: administrative support. YL, HS, and YW: collection and assembly of data. YW and HS: data analysis and interpretation. All author manuscript writing and final approval of manuscript.

### Funding

This work was supported by the grant from National Population Health Science Data Sharing Service Platform Clinical Medical Science Data Center (NCMI-ABD02-201906) to HL.

### **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

### Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fnut.2023. 1016243/full#supplementary-material

#### References

1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2021. CA Cancer J Clin. (2021) 71:7–33. doi: 10.3322/caac.21654

2. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2016. CA Cancer J Clin. (2016) 66:7–30. doi: 10.3322/caac.21332

3. Dy GW, Gore JL, Forouzanfar MH, Naghavi M, Fitzmaurice C. Global burden of urologic cancers, 1990-2013. *Eur Urol.* (2017) 71:437–46. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2016.10.008

4. Thuener JE. Urologic malignancies. Prim Care. (2019) 46:275-85. doi: 10.1016/j.pop.2019.02.009

5. Valko M, Rhodes CJ, Moncol J, Izakovic M, Mazur M. Free radicals, metals and antioxidants in oxidative stress-induced cancer. *Chem Biol Interact.* (2006) 160:1–40. doi: 10.1016/j.cbi.2005.12.009

6. Masko EM, Allott EH, Freedland SJ. The relationship between nutrition and prostate cancer: is more always better? *Eur Urol.* (2013) 63:810–20. doi: 10.1016/j.eururo.2012.11.012

7. Minică CC, Boomsma DI, Dolan CV, de Geus E, Neale MC. Empirical comparisons of multiple Mendelian randomization approaches in the presence of assortative mating. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2020) 49:1185–93. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyaa013

8. Schumacher FR, Al Olama AA, Berndt SI, Benlloch S, Ahmed M, Saunders EJ, et al. Association analyses of more than 140,000 men identify 63 new prostate cancer susceptibility loci. *Nat Genet.* (2018) 50:928–36. doi: 10.1038/s41588-018-0142-8

9. Sudlow C, Gallacher J, Allen N, Beral V, Burton P, Danesh J, et al. UK biobank: an open access resource for identifying the causes of a wide range of complex diseases of middle and old age. *PLoS Med.* (2015) 12:e1001779. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001779

10. Yarmolinsky J, Berryman K, Langdon R, Bonilla C, Davey Smith G, Martin RM, et al. Mendelian randomization does not support serum calcium in prostate cancer risk. *Cancer Causes Control.* (2018) 29:1073–80. doi: 10.1007/s10552-018-1081-5

11. Yarmolinsky J, Bonilla C, Haycock PC, Langdon RJQ, Lotta LA, Langenberg C, et al. Circulating selenium and prostate cancer risk: a mendelian randomization analysis. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* (2018) 110:1035–8. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djy081

12. Little M. Mendelian randomization: methods for using genetic variants in causal estimation. J R Stat Soc Ser A Stat Soc. (2018) 181:549–50. doi: 10.1111/rssa.12343

13. Benyamin B, Esko T, Ried JS, Radhakrishnan A, Vermeulen SH, Traglia M, et al. Novel loci affecting iron homeostasis and their effects in individuals at risk for hemochromatosis. *Nat Commun.* (2014) 5:4926. doi: 10.1038/ncomms5926

14. Laskar RS, Muller DC Li P, Machiela MJ, Ye Y, Gaborieau V, et al. Sex specific associations in genome wide association analysis of renal cell carcinoma. *Eur J Hum Genet.* (2019) 27:1589–98. doi: 10.1038/s41431-019-0455-9

15. Cornelis MC, Fornage M, Foy M, Xun P, Gladyshev VN, Morris S, et al. Genome-wide association study of selenium concentrations. *Hum Mol Genet.* (2015) 24:1469–77. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddu546

16. Evans DM, Zhu G, Dy V, Heath AC, Madden PA, Kemp JP, et al. Genome-wide association study identifies loci affecting blood copper, selenium and zinc. *Hum Mol Genet.* (2013) 22:3998–4006. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddt239

17. Papadimitriou N, Dimou N, Gill D, Tzoulaki I, Murphy N, Riboli E, et al. Genetically predicted circulating concentrations of micronutrients and risk of breast cancer: a mendelian randomization study. *Int J Cancer.* (2021) 148:646–53. doi: 10.1002/ijc.33246

18. Ruth KS, Day FR, Tyrrell J, Thompson DJ, Wood AR, Mahajan A, et al. Using human genetics to understand the disease impacts of testosterone in men and women. *Nat Med.* (2020) 26:252–8. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0751-5

19. Burgess S, Butterworth A, Thompson SG. Mendelian randomization analysis with multiple genetic variants using summarized data. *Genet Epidemiol.* (2013) 37:658–65. doi: 10.1002/gepi.21758

20. Bowden J, Davey Smith G, Haycock PC, Burgess S. Consistent estimation in mendelian randomization with some invalid instruments using a weighted median estimator. *Genet Epidemiol.* (2016) 40:304–14. doi: 10.1002/gep i.21965

21. Hemani G, Bowden J, Davey Smith G. Evaluating the potential role of pleiotropy in Mendelian randomization studies. *Hum Mol Genet.* (2018) 27:R195-r208. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddy163

22. Brion MJ, Shakhbazov K, Visscher PM. Calculating statistical power in mendelian randomization studies. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2013) 42:1497-501. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyt179

23. Hemani G, Zheng J, Elsworth B, Wade KH, Haberland V, Baird D, et al. The MR-Base platform supports systematic causal inference across the human phenome. *Elife.* (2018) 7:e34408. doi: 10.7554/eLife.34408

24. Skrivankova VW, Richmond RC, Woolf BAR, Yarmolinsky J, Davies NM, Swanson SA, et al. Strengthening the reporting of observational studies in epidemiology using mendelian randomization: the STROBE-MR statement. *JAMA*. (2021) 326:1614–21. doi: 10.1001/jama.2021.18236

25. Saleh SAK, Adly HM, Abdelkhaliq AA, Nassir AM. Serum levels of selenium, zinc, copper, manganese, and iron in prostate cancer patients. *Curr Urol.* (2020) 14:44–9. doi: 10.1159/000499261

26. Gutiérrez-González E, Castelló A, Fernández-Navarro P, Castaño-Vinyals G, Llorca J, Salas D, et al. Dietary zinc and risk of prostate cancer in Spain: MCC-Spain study. *Nutrients.* (2018) 11:18. doi: 10.3390/nu11010018

27. To PK, Do MH, Cho J-H, Jung C. Growth modulatory role of zinc in prostate cancer and application to cancer therapeutics. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2020) 21:2991. doi: 10.3390/ijms21082991

28. Liang W, Chen S, Yang G, Feng J, Ling Q, Wu B, et al. Overexpression of zinc-finger protein 677 inhibits proliferation and invasion by and induces apoptosis in clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *Bioengineered.* (2022) 13:5292–304. doi: 10.1080/21655979.2022.2038891

29. Ren LX, Qi JC, Zhao AN, Shi B, Zhang H, Wang DD, et al. Myc-associated zinc-finger protein promotes clear cell renal cell carcinoma progression through transcriptional activation of the MAP2K2-dependent ERK pathway. *Cancer Cell Int.* (2021) 21:323. doi: 10.1186/s12935-021-02020-9

30. Hardell L, Wing AM, Ljungberg B, Dreifaldt AC, Degerman A, Halmans G. Levels of cadmium, zinc and copper in renal cell carcinoma and normal kidney. *Eur J Cancer Prev.* (1994) 3:45–8. doi: 10.1097/00008469-199401000-00006

31. Greene CJ, Attwood K, Sharma NJ, Balderman B, Deng R, Muhitch JB, et al. Iron accumulation typifies renal cell carcinoma tumorigenesis but abates with pathological progression, sarcomatoid dedifferentiation, and metastasis. *Front Oncol.* (2022) 12:923043. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2022.923043

32. Wu J, Bi Q, Zheng X, Cao H, Hao C, Sun Z, et al. STEAP3 can predict the prognosis and shape the tumor microenvironment of clear cell renal cell carcinoma. *BMC Cancer.* (2022) 22:1204. doi: 10.1186/s12885-022-10313-z

33. Panaiyadiyan S, Quadri JA, Nayak B, Pandit S, Singh P, Seth A, et al. Association of heavy metals and trace elements in renal cell carcinoma: a case-controlled study. *Urol Oncol.* (2022) 40:111.e11–8. doi: 10.1016/j.urolonc.2021.11.017

34. Mao S, Huang S. Zinc and copper levels in bladder cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Biol Trace Elem Res.* (2013) 153:5-10. doi: 10.1007/s12011-013-9682-z

35. Mortada WI, Awadalla A, Khater S, Ahmed A, Hamam ET, El-Zayat M, et al. Copper and zinc levels in plasma and cancerous tissues and their relation with expression of VEGF and HIF-1 in the pathogenesis of muscle invasive urothelial bladder cancer: a case-controlled clinical study. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int.* (2020) 27:15835–41. doi: 10.1007/s11356-020-08113-8

36. Bandmann O, Weiss KH, Kaler SG. Wilson's disease and other neurological copper disorders. *Lancet Neurol.* (2015) 14:103–13. doi: 10.1016/S1474-4422(14)70190-5

37. Członkowska A, Litwin T, Dusek P, Ferenci P, Lutsenko S, Medici V, et al. Wilson disease. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. (2018) 4:21. doi: 10.1038/s41572-018-0018-3

38. Brewer GJ. Copper control as an antiangiogenic anticancer therapy: lessons from treating Wilson's disease. *Exp Biol Med.* (2001) 226:665–73. doi: 10.1177/153537020222600712

39. Brewer GJ, Dick RD, Grover DK, LeClaire V, Tseng M, Wicha M, et al. Treatment of metastatic cancer with tetrathiomolybdate, an anticopper, antiangiogenic agent: phase I study. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2000) 6:1–10.

40. Brissot P, Pietrangelo A, Adams PC, De Graaff B, McLaren CE, Loréal O. Haemochromatosis. *Nat Rev Dis Primers*. (2018) 4:18016. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2018.16

41. Singer P, Manzanares W, Berger MM. What's new in trace elements? Intensive Care Med. (2018) 44:643-5. doi: 10.1007/s00134-017-4955-1

# Frontiers in Nutrition

Explores what and how we eat in the context of health, sustainability and 21st century food science

# Discover the latest **Research Topics**



#### Contact us



